بحار الأنوار

BIHAR AL-ANWAAR

الجزء الحادي والسبعون

Volume 71

بحار الانوار الجامعة لدرر أخبار الائمة الاطهار

Bihar Al-Anwaar – The summary of the pearls of the Ahadeeth of the Pure Imams^{--asws}

تأليف العلامة فخر الامة المولى الشيخ محمد باقر المجلسيي

Author – The Allama, the pride of the community, the Mullah, the Sheikh Muhammad Baqir Al Majlisi

Table of Contents

Γŀ	HE BOOK OF RELATIONSHIPS4
	CHAPTER 1 – A SUMMARY OF RIGHTS4
	HAPTERS ON THE ETIQUETTES OF THE COMMUNITY BETWEEN ONES WITH KINSHIP, AND HE SLAVES, AND THE SERVANTS, PARTICIPANTS WHO ARE MOSTLY AT HOME
	CHAPTER 2 – KINDNESS WITH THE PARENTS, AND THE CHILDREN, AND RIGHTS OF SOME UPON OTHERS, AND THE PROHIBITION FROM BEING DISLOYAL
	CHAPTER 3 – MAINTAINING THE KINSHIP, AND ASSISTING THEM, AND THE FAVOURING TO THEM, AND THE FORBIDDANCE FROM CUTTING CONNECTIONS OF THE KINSHIP AND WHAT IS APPROPRIATE TO IT
	CHAPTER 4 – THE DEALINGS WITH THE SLAVES AND THE SERVANTS 133
	CHAPTER 5 – OBLIGATION OF OBEDIENCE OF THE SLAVE TO THE MASTER AND PUNISHMENT OF DISOBEYING HIM
	CHAPTER 6 – WHAT SERIVCES ARE APPROPRIATE TO LOAD UPON THE SERVANTS AND OTHERS
	CHAPTER 7 – CARRYING THE LUGGAGE FOR THE FAMILY 147
	CHAPTER 8 – CARRYING DEBTS ON BEHALF OF THE PEOPLE AND GOODLY DEALINGS WITH THEM
	CHAPTER 9 – RIGHTS OF THE NEIGHBOUR
	HAPTER ON ETIQUETTES OF THE DEALING WITH THE FRIENDS, AND THEIR MERITS, AND HEIR TYPES, AND OTHER THAN THAT FROM WHAT IS RELATED WITH THEM159
	CHAPTER 10 – GOODLY DEALING, AND GOODLY ACCOMPANIMENT, AND GOODLY NEIGHBOURLINESS, AND THE FRIENDLY FACE, AND GOODLY MEETINGS, AND GOODLY SMILE
	CHAPTER 11 – MERIT OF THE FRIEND, AND LIMIT OF THE FRIENDSHIP AND ITS ETIQUETTES AND ITS RIGHTS, AND TYPES OF FRIENDSHIPS, AND THE PROHIBITION FROM EXCESSIVE INDULGENCE AND THE COMFORTING WITH THEM
	CHAPTER 12 – RECOMMENDATION OF INFORMING THE BROTHER REGARDING ALLAH-azwj OF HIS-azwj LOVE FOR HIM, AND THE HEART GUIDES TO THE HEART193
	CHAPTER 13 – ONE IT IS BEFITTING TO SIT WITH HIM, AND ACCOMPANY HIM, AND FRIENDSHIP WITH HIM, AND MERIT OF THE COMPATIBLE COMFORTER, AND THE RIGHTEOUS PAIR, AND LOVING THE RIGHTEOUS
	CHAPTER 14 – ONE WHOSE GATHERING, AND HIS FRIENDSHIP, AND HIS COMPANY IS NOT BEFITTING, AND THE GATHERING IS IT NOT BEFITTING TO BE SITTING IN IT 206
	HAPTER ON RIGHTS OF THE MOMINEEN UPON EACH OTHER, AND SOME OF THEIR TUATIONS231

THEM, AND WHAT PURPOSE IS APPROPRIATE TO THAT 231
CHAPTER 16 – PROTECTING THE BROTHERS AND TAKING CARE OF CORDIAL ONES OF THE FATHER
CHAPTER 17 – MERIT OF THE BROTHERHOOD FOR THE SAKE OF ALLAH-azwi, AND THE MOMINEEN ARE BROTHERS OF EACH OTHER, AND A REASON OF THAT
CHAPTER 18 – MERIT OF LOVING THE MOMINEEN AND LOOKING AT THEM 290
CHAPTER 19 – REASON FOR THE MOMINEEN LOVING EACH OTHER, AND TYPES OF BROTHERS
CHAPTER 20 – FULFILLING NEEDS OF THE MOMINEEN, AND THE STRIVING IN IT, AND DIGNIFYING THEM, AND ENTERING THE HAPPINESS UPON THEM, AND HONOURING THEM, AND BEING COMPASSIONATE TO THEM, AND RELIEVING THEIR DISTRESS, AND CONSIDERING THEIR AFFAIRS AS IMPORTANT
CHAPTER 21 – VISITING THE BRETHREN, AND MEETING THEM, AND SITTING WITH THEM IN REVIVING THE MATTER OF THEIR IMAMS ^{-asws}
CHAPTER 22 – GETTING THE MOMIN MARRIED, OR PAYING OFF HIS DEBTS, OR PROVIDING SERVANT TO HIM OR SERVING HIM, AND ADVISING HIM
CHAPTER 23 – FEEDING THE MOMIN, AND QUENCHING HIM, AND CLOTHING HIM, AND PAYING OFF HIS DEBTS
CHAPTER 24 – REWARD OF THE ONE SUFFICING FOR AN EMERGENCY NEED 417
CHAPTER 25 – MERITS OF LISTENING TO THE DEAF WITHOUT GETTING WEARY 417
CHAPTER 26 – REWARD OF THE ONE WHO SUPPORTS A FAMILY FROM THE MOMINEEN418
CHAPTER 27 – ONE WHO SETTLES A MOMIN IN A HOUSE, AND PUNISHMENT OF THE ONE WHO PREVENTS HIM FROM THAT
CHAPTER 28 – SHOWING THE MERCY, AND THE KINDNESS, AND THE CORDIALITY, AND THE HELPING, AND THE PREFERRING, AND THE CONSOLATION, AND MODESTRY OF THE MOMIN
CHAPTER 29 – ONE WHO IS DESERVING OF BEING MERCIED
CHAPTER 30 – MERIT OF THE FAVOUR, AND THE GRACE, AND THE ACT OF KINDNESS,

كتاب العشرة

THE BOOK OF RELATIONSHIPS

باب 1 جوامع الحقوق

CHAPTER 1 – A SUMMARY OF RIGHTS

الخصال عَلِيُّ بْنُ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُوسَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ الْأَسَدِيِّ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَالِكٍ الْفَرَارِيِّ عَنْ حَيْرَانَ بْنِ دَاهِرٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ الجُبَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ فُضَيْلٍ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ التُّمَالِيِّ قَالَ: هَذِهِ رِسَالَةُ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ الحُسَيْنِ ع إِلَى بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ

(The book) 'Al-Khisaal' – Ali Bin Ahmad Bin Musa, from Muhammad Al Asady, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Malik Al-Fazary, from Khayran Bin Dahir, from Ahmad Bin Ali Bin Suleyman Al Jabaly, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Fuzeyl, from Abu Hamza Al Sumali who said,

'This is a letter of Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws to one of his-asws companions: -

اعْلَمْ أَنَّ لِلَهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَلَيْكَ حُقُوفاً مُحِيطَةً بِكَ فِي كُلِّ حَرَكَةٍ تَحَرُّتَهَا أَوْ سَكَنَةٍ سَكَنْتَهَا أَوْ حَالٍ خُلْتَهَا أَوْ مَنْزِلَةٍ نَزَلْتَهَا أَوْ جَارِحَةٍ فَلَبْنَهَا أَوْ الَةٍ تَصَرَّفْتَ فِيهَا

'Know that there are rights for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic upon you, encompassing you in every movement you make, or a stillness you are still in, or a situation you are in, or a status you are accorded, or an injury you turn in, or a tool you utilise.

فَأَكْبَرُ مُقُوقِ اللّهِ تَعَالَى عَلَيْكَ مَا أَوْجَبَ عَلَيْكَ لِنَفْسِهِ مِنْ حَقِّهِ الَّذِي هُوَ أَصْلُ الْحُقُوقِ ثُمَّ مَا أَوْجَبَ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَلَيْكَ لِنَفْسِكَ مِنْ قَوْنِكَ إِلَى قَدَمِكَ عَلَى الحَيْلَافِ جَوَارِجِكَ

The greatest of rights of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted upon you is what He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you for Himself^{-azwj}, from His^{-azwj} right which is the origin of the rights, then what Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Obligated upon you for yourself, from your head to your feet based upon interchange of your body parts.

فَجَعَلَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لِلِسَانِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَصْمِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَصَرِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَطْنِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَطْنِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَطْنِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِيَكِ فَعَالُ لَعُرْجِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا فَهَذِهِ الْجُوَارِحُ السَّبْعُ الَّتِي هِمَا تَكُونُ الْأَفْعَالُ

He^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Made a right for your tongue upon you, and a right for your ears upon you, and a right for your eyes upon you, and a right for your hand upon you, and a right for your leg upon you, and a right for your belly upon you, and a right for your private part upon you. So these are seven body parts which the actions happen to be, by these.

ثُمُّ جَعَلَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لِأَفْعَالِكَ عَلَيْكَ حُقُّوقاً فَجَعَلَ لِصَلَاتِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِصَوْمِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِصَوْمِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِصَوْمِكَ عَلَيْكَ حَقًا وَ لِأَفْعَالِكَ عَانَاكَ حُقُّمَةاً Then the Mighty and Majesty Made rights for your actions upon you. He^{-azwj} Made a right for your Salat upon you, and a right for your fasting upon you, and a right for your charity upon you, and a right for your (sacrificial) offering upon you, and rights for your (other) actions upon you.

Then He^{-azwj} Extracted the rights from you to others, from besides the rights upon you. He^{-azwj} Obligated these upon you – rights of your leaders, the rights of your citizens, then rights of your kinship. So these are rights (other) rights branch from these.

The rights of your leaders are three. He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you, right of your guide (leader) with the authority, then right of your guide (teacher) with the knowledge, then right of your guide (ruler) with the governing.

And right of your citizens are three. He^{-azwj} has Obligated these upon you, right of your citizen with the authority, then right of your citizen with the knowledge, for the ignorant one is a citizen of the scholar, then right of your citizen with the governing from the spouses and what the right hands possess (slaves).

And rights of your kinship are many connected in accordance with the kinship regarding the relationship, and He^{-azwj} has Obligated these upon you, right of your mother, then right of your father, then right of your child, then right of your brother, then relatives, so the closest, and the foremost, so the foremost.

Then there is a right of your master of the conferring upon you, then a right of your master of the maid he confers upon you, then a right of the ones with an act of kindness to you, then right of your Muezzin for your Salat, then right of your prayer leader regarding your Salat, then right of your gatherer, then right of your neighbour, then right of your companions, then right of your associate, then right of your owner, then right of your debtor whom you seek, then right of your creditor who seeks you.

Then right of the one mingling with you, then right of your contender, the claimant upon you, then right of your contender whom you are claiming upon, then right of one you consult, then right of the one consulting you, then right of the one your advisor, then right of the one seeking advice to you, then right of the one who is older than you, then right of the one who is younger than you, then a right of your beggar, then a right of the one who you ask.

Then there is a right of the one an offence to you has flowed upon his hands, either by a word or an action, either from a deliberation from him or unintentionally, then a right of the people of your religion upon you, then a right of the people under your responsibility, then the rights of the occurrences in accordance with the reason of the situations, and disposition of the causes.

Beatitude be for the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Assists upon what He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon him of His^{-azwj} rights and Harmonised him to that and Guided him.

As for the greatest right of Allah^{-azwj} upon you is that you should worship Him^{-azwj}, not associating anything with Him^{-azwj}. When you were to do that with the sincerity, He^{-azwj} Makes for you upon Himself^{-azwj} to Suffice you the matters of the world and the Hereafter.

And a right of yourself upon you is that you should utilise it in the obedience of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. So, you should fulfil to your tongue of its right, and to your hearing of its right, and to your sight of its right, and to your hand of its right, and to your leg of its right, and to your belly of its right, and to your private part of its right, and you should seek Assistance of Allah^{-azwj} upon that.

And a right of the tongue is to honour it to be away from the betrayal and accustom it to the good and neglect the surplus which there is no benefit in it, and the righteousness with the people, and goodly words among them.

And a right of the hearing is that you remove it from hearing the backbiting and listening to what is not Permissible to hear.

And a right of the sight is that you close it from what is not Permissible for you and take a lesson with the looking by it.

And a right of your hand is that you do not extend it to what is not Permissible for you.

And a right of your legs is that you do not walk with them to what is not Permissible for you regarding what you will be paused by these at the Bridge. Therefore consider that they should not slip with you so you may fall into the Fire.

And a right of your belly is that you do not make it a container of the Prohibited (substances) and do not increase upon the satiation.

And a right of your private parts is that you fortify these from the adultery and preserve it from being looked at.

And a right of the Salat is that you know that it is a delegation to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and in it you are standing in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. When you know that, you will stand in a position of the humiliated, the belittled, the dreading, the desirous, the hopeful, the fearful, the submissive, the beseeching, the revering to the One^{-azwj} in front of Whom you are, with the calmness, and the dignity, and being attentive upon it with your heart, and you will establish it with its limits, and its rights.

And a right of Hajj is that you should that it is a delegation to your Lord^{-azwj} and fleeing to Him^{-azwj} from your sins, and by it your repentance is Accepted, and fulfilling the Imposition which Allah^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you.

And a right of the fasting is that you know it is a veil Allah^{-azwj} has Struck upon your tongue, and your hearing, and your sight, and your belly, and your private parts in order for you to curtain by it from the Fire. If you were to neglect the fast, the curtain of Allah^{-azwj} will be torn upon you.

And a right of the charity is that you know it is your hoard in the Presence of your Lord^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and your deposit which is not needy to the testifying upon it, and it is more trusting from you with what you deposit secretly than what you deposit openly, and you should know that it repels the afflictions and the diseases away from you in the world and repels the Fire away from you in the Hereafter.

And a right of the (sacrificial) offering upon you is that you should intend Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic with it and not intend His^{-azwj} creatures by it, and not intend by it except the exposure to His^{-azwj} Mercy and salvation of your soul on the Day you meet Him^{-azwj}.

And a right of the ruler is that you are made to be a Fitna for him and he is being Tried regarding you with what Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Made for him upon you, from the authority, and that upon you is that you do not get exposed to his anger for you will be casting with your own hands to the destruction and you would become an associate for him regarding what he will come to you of evil.

And a right of your guide (teacher) with the knowledge is the reverence to him and according the dignity to his gathering, and goodly listening to him, and the facing to him, and you should not raise your voice over him nor should you answer anyone who asks him about anything until he happens to be the one who answers, nor discuss with anyone in his gathering, nor backbite anyone in his presence, and that you should defend him whenever he is mentioned with evil, and you should cover his faults and reveal his virtues, and not get an enemy to sit to him, nor be inimical to a friend of his.

When you were to do that, the Angels of Allah^{-azwj} will testify for you that you had had aimed for him and had learnt his knowledge for Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Name, not for the people.

As for a right of your guide (ruler) with the kingdom is that you should obey him and not disobey him except in what Annoys Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, for there is no obedience to a created being in disobedience to the Creator.

And as for a right of your citizen with the authority is that you should know they have become your citizens due to their weakness and your strength. It obligates that you dispense justice among them and be for them like the merciful parent, and forgive their ignorance for them, and not be hasty to them with the punishment, and you should thank Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic upon what strength He^{-azwj} has Given you upon them.

And as for a right of your citizens with the knowledge, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has rather Made you as a custodian for them regarding what knowledge He^{-azwj} has Given you and has Opened His^{-azwj} treasures (of wisdom) for you. If you were to be good in teaching the people, and do not break them and do not infringe upon them, Allah^{-azwj} will Increase you from His^{-azwj} Grace.

And if you were to prevent the people from your knowledge or infringe with them during their seeking the knowledge from you, there would be a right upon Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic that He^{-azwj} Confiscates the knowledge and its glory and Drop down your position from the hearts.

And as for a right of the wife, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Made her to be for you as a tranquillity and a comfort. You should know that is a bounty from Allah^{-azwj} to you, therefore you should honour her and be kind with her, and even though your right upon her is more obligating. Surely for her, upon you, is that you should be merciful to her because she is your captive, and you should feed her and clothe her, and when she is ignorance, you should pardon her.

And as for a right of your slave, you should know that he is a creature of your Lord^{-azwj}, and a son of your father (Adam^{-as}) and your mother (Hawwa^{-as}), and your flesh and your blood that you are owning. You did not make him from besides Allah^{-azwj} nor have you created anything from his limbs, nor do you extract sustenance, but Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Suffices you of that, then He^{-azwj} has Subdued him to you, and has Entrusted you upon him, and has Deposited him to you for he to preserve for you what you would give him from the goodness.

So be good to him just as Allah^{-azwj} has been Good to you, and if you were to dislike him, replace him, but do not punish a creature of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ أَتِكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَكِمًا حَمَلَتْكَ حَيْثُ لَا يَخْتَمِلُ أَحَدٌ أَحَداً وَ أَعْطَنْكَ مِنْ ثَمَرَةٍ قَلْبِهَا مَا لَا يُعْطِي أَحَدٌ أَحَداً وَ وَقَتْكَ الْجَرِيحِهَا وَ لَمْ ثَبَالِ أَنْ بَجُوعَ وَ تُطْعِمَكَ وَ تُطْعِمَكَ وَ تَعْطَشَ وَ تَعْقِيكَ وَ تَعْرَى وَ تَكْمُنُوكَ وَ تَصْحَى وَ تُظِلَّكَ وَ تَعْجُرَ النَّوْمَ لِأَجْلِكَ وَ وَقَتْكَ الْحَرُّ وَ الْبَرُدَ لِتَكُونَ لَمَا فَإِنَّكَ لَا تُطِيقُ شُكْرَهَا إِلَّا يِعَوْنِ اللّهِ وَ تَوْفِيقِهِ

And as for a right of your mother, you should know that she had borne you whereby no one bears anyone, and gave you from the fruit of her heart what no one give anyone, and strengthened you with entirety of her limbs, and she did not care if she were hungry and she fed you, and she were thirsty and quenched you, and she was need of clothes and she clothed you, and made sacrifices, and shaded you, and forsake the sleep for your sake, and saved you from the heat and the cold for you to be for her, for you will not be able to thank her except by the Assistance of Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Inclination.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ أَبِيكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ أَصْلُكَ وَ أَنَّهُ لَوْلَاهُ لَمْ تَكُنْ فَمَهْمَا رَأَيْتَ فِي نَفْسِكَ مِمَّا يُعْجِبُكَ فَاعْلَمْ أَنَّ أَبِكَ أَصْلُ النِّعْمَةِ عَلَيْكَ فِيهِ فَاحْمَدِ اللّهَ وَ اشْكُرُهُ عَلَى قَدْر ذَلِكَ وَ لَا قُوْةَ إِلّا بِاللّهِ

And as for the right of your father, you should know that he is your origin, and had it not been for him, you would not exist. Whatever you see to be within yourself from a bounty which fascinates you, know that your father is the origin of the bounty upon you regarding it. Therefore praise Allah-azwj and then Him-azwj upon a measurement of that, and there is no strength except with Allah-azwj.

And as for a right of your child, you should know that he is from you, and an addition to you in the current world with his goodness and his evil, and you will be questioned about what you had been in charge with him, from the good education, and the pointing to his Lord^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and the assistance to him upon obeying Him^{-azwj}. Therefore work regarding his affairs the world of the one who knows that he will be Rewarded upon the goodness to him, punished upon the evil to him.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ أَخِيكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ يَدُكَ وَ عُوَّلُكَ فَلَا تَتَّخِذْهُ سِلَاحاً عَلَى مَعْصِيَةِ اللَّهِ وَ لَا عُدَّةَ لِلظُّلْمِ لِخَلْقِ اللَّهِ وَ لَا تَدَعْ نُصْرَتَهُ عَلَى عَدُوّهِ وَ النَّصِيحَةَ لَهُ فَإِنْ أَطَاعَ اللَّهَ وَ إِلَّا فَلْيَكُن اللَّهُ أَكْرَمَ عَلَيْكَ مِنْهُ وَ لَا قُوَّةً إِلَّا باللَّهِ

And as for a right of your brother, you should know that he is your hand, and your honour, and your strength, so do not take him as a weapon upon disobeying Allah^{-azwj} nor as a tool for oppressing the people, nor leave helping him against his enemy, and the good advice to him. Either he obeys Allah^{-azwj}, or else Allah^{-azwj} would be more honourable upon you than him, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ مَوْلَاكَ الْمُنْعِمِ عَلَيْكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ أَنْفَقَ فِيكَ مَالَهُ وَ أَخْرَجَكَ مِنْ ذُلِّ الرِّقِّ وَ وَحْشَتِهِ إِلَى عِزِّ الحُوِيَّةِ وَ أَنْسِهَا فَأَطْلَقَكَ مِنْ أَسْرِ الْمَلَكَةِ وَ فَكَّ عَنْكَ قَيْدَ الْعُبُودِيَّةِ وَ أَخْرَجَكَ مِنْ السِّجْنِ وَ مَلَّكَكَ نَفْسَكَ وَ فَرَّغَكَ لِعِبَادَةِ رَبِّكَ وَ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ أَوْلَى الْخُلُقِ بِكَ فِي حَيَاتِكَ وَ مَوْتِكَ وَ أَنَّ نُصْرَتُهُ عَلَيْكَ وَاجِبَةً بِنَفْسِكَ وَ مَا الْحَبَّحِ إِلَيْهِ مِنْكَ وَ لا قُوَّةً إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ

And as for a right of your master, the benefactor upon you, you should know that he spends his wealth regarding you and extracts you from the disgrace of the slavery and loneliness to the honour of freedom and its comfort. So he liberates you from captivity of the slavery and removes from you the shackles of servitude, and extracts you from the prison, and owns you himself, and frees you for worship of your Lord^{-azwj}. And know that he is the foremost of the people with you during regarding your life and your death, and that his help upon you is obligatory with yourself and what he is needy to than you are, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ مَوْلَاكَ الَّذِي أَنْعَمْتَ عَلَيْهِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّ اللَّهَ عَرُّ وَ جَلَّ جَعَلَ عِتْقَكَ لَهُ وَسِيلَةً إِلَيْهِ وَ حِجَابًا لَكَ مِنَ النَّارِ وَ أَنَّ ثَوَابَكَ فِي الْعَاجِلِ مِيرَاثُهُ إِذَا لَمَّ يَكُنْ لَهُ رَحِمٌ مُكَافَاةً بِمَا أَنْفَقْتَ مِنْ مَالِكَ وَ فِي الْآجِلِ الجُنَّةُ

And as for a right of your slave which you are conferring upon, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Made your liberating him as a means to Him^{-azwj} and a veil for you from the Fire, and that your Rewards in the current of his inheritance when there does not happen to be a kindred for him as a sufficing with what you have spent from your wealth, and in the future, it is the Paradise.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ ذِي الْمَعْرُوفِ عَلَيْكَ فَأَنْ تَشْكُرُهُ وَ تَذْكُرَ مَعْرُوفَهُ وَ تَكْسِبَهُ الْمَقَالَةَ الْحَسَنَةَ وَ تُخْلِصَ لَهُ الدُّعَاءَ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فَإِذَا فَعَلْتَ ذَلِكَ كُنْتَ قَدْ شَكَرْتَهُ سِرَّاً وَ عَلَائِيَةً ثُمُّ إِنْ قَدَرْتَ عَلَى مُكَافَاتِهِ يَوْماً كَافَأْتُهُ

And as for a right of the one with an act of kindness upon you is that you should thank him and mention his act of kindness, and earn the goodly words for him, and be sincere to him of the supplication regarding what is between you and Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. When you were to do that, you would have thanked him secretly and openly. Then if you are able upon sufficing (reciprocating) him one day, suffice him.

وَ حَقُّ الْمُؤَذِّنِ أَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ مُذَكِّرٌ لَكَ رَبَّكَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ دَاعٍ لَكَ إِلَى حَظِّكَ وَ عَوْنِكَ عَلَى قَضَاءِ فَرْضِ اللَّهِ عَلَيْكَ فَاشْكُرُهُ عَلَى ذَلِكَ شُكْرَكَ لِلْمُحْسِنِ إِلَيْكَ:

And a right of the Muezzin, you should know that he is a reminder for you of your Lord^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and a caller to you to your share, and your assistant upon fulfilling an

Imposition of Allah^{-azwj} upon you. Therefore thank him upon that, your thanking to the good doer to you.

وَ حَقُّ إِمَامِكَ فِي صَلَاتِكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ تَقَلَّدَ السِتَفَارَةَ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ رَبِّكَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ تَكَلَّمَ عَنْكَ وَ لَمْ تَتَكَلَّمْ عَنْكُ وَ مَا لَكُ وَ كَفَاكَ هَوْلَ الْمُقَامِ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ فَإِنْ كَانَ نَفْسِكَ كِانَ بِهِ دُونَكَ وَ إِنْ كَانَ تَمَاماً كُنْتَ شَرِيكَهُ وَ لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ فَوَقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ بِصَلَاتِهِ فَتَشْكُرُ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَصْلُ فَوْقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ بِصَلَاتِهِ فَتَشْكُرُ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ فَوقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ بِعَلْمَ أَنْهُ بَتُكُولُ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ فَوقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ بَعْشَوهُ وَ لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ فَوقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ بَعْشَوهُ وَلَا اللّهُ فَالِكُ وَ لَهُ كُنْ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ فَوْقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ فَلْ اللّهُ عَلَيْكَ فَضْلُ وَ اللّهُ عَلَيْكَ فَصْلًا فَوَقَى نَفْسَكَ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ صَلَاتَكَ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَيْكُولُ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلَوْ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْمَ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلَمْ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلَوْلَ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ فَلَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ فَلْعَلْلُ فَقَلْ عَلْمُ لَكُولُكُ فَلْ وَلَكُولُكُ فَلَاللّهُ عَلْكُ فَلْ لَهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ فَلَاللّهُ عَلَيْكُ فَلْكُ فَلْ عَلْكُ فَلْكُ فَلْ لَلْ

And a right of your prayer leader in your Salat is that you should know he is collared the ambassadorship regarding what is between you and your Lord^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and is talking on your behalf and is not talking on his behalf, and he is supplicating for you, and you are not supplicating for him, and he is sufficing you of the might of the position in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. If he were to be deficient, he would be with it besides you, and if he were to be complete, you would be his associate, and there does not happen for be a merit for him above you. So save yourself through his self, and your Salat through his Salat. Be thankful to him upon a measurement of that.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ جَلِيسِكَ فَأَنْ تُلِينَ لَهُ جَانِبَكَ وَ تُنْصِفَهُ فِي مُجَارَاةِ اللَّفْظِ وَ لَا تَقُومَ مِنْ مَجْلِسِكَ إِلَّا بِإِذْنِهِ وَ مَنْ يَجْلِسُ إِلَيْكَ يَجُوزُ لَهُ الْقِيَامُ عَنْكَ بِغَيْرِ إِذْنِهِ وَ تَنْسَى زَلَّاتِهِ وَ تَحْفَظَ حَيْرَاتِهِ وَ لَا تُسْمِعَهُ إِلَّا حَيْرًا

And as for a right of your gatherer, you should soften your side to him and be fair to him in the flow of words, and do not stand from your seat except by his permission, and the one who sits to you, his standing from you is allowed for him without his permission, and you should forget his slips, and preserve his goodness and do not name him except with goodness.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ جَارِكَ فَحِفْظُهُ غَائِياً وَ إِكْرَامُهُ شَاهِداً وَ نُصْرَتُهُ إِذَا كَانَ مَظْلُوماً وَ لَا تَتَبَعْ لَهُ عَوْرَةً فَإِنْ عَلِمْتَ عَلَيْهِ سُوءاً سَتَرَتُهُ عَلَيْهِ وَ إِنْ عَلِمْتَ أَنَّهُ يَقْبَلُ نَصِيحَتَكَ نَصَحْتَهُ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ وَ لَا تُسْلِمْهُ عِنْدَ شَدِيدَةٍ وَ تُقِيلُ عَثْرَتُهُ وَ تَغْفِرُ ذَنْبُهُ وَ تُغْشِرُهُ مُعَاشِرَةً كُوبَةً وَ لا فُؤَةً إِلَّا باللهِ

And as for a right of your neighbour, protect him in absence and honour him in presence, and help him if he were to be oppressed, and do not pursue an exposure to him. If you were to know an evil upon, cover it upon him, and if you were to know he will be accepting your advice, advise him regarding what is between you and him, and do not yield him during hardships, and minimise his stumbles, and forgive his sins (wrong doings), and accompany him in an honourable companionship, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الصَّاحِبِ فَأَنْ تَصْحَبَهُ بِالتَّفَضُّلِ وَ الْإِنْصَافِ وَ تُكْرِمَهُ كَمَا يُكْرِمُكَ وَ لَا تَدَعُهُ يَسْبِقُ إِلَى مَكْرُمَةٍ فَإِنْ سَبَقَ كَافَأْتُهُ وَ تَوَدَّهُ كَمَا يَوَدُّكَ وَ تَرْجُرُهُ عَمَّا يَهُمُّ بِهِ مِنْ مَعْصِيَةٍ وَ كُنْ عَلَيْهِ رَحْمَةً وَ لَا تَكُنْ عَلَيْهِ عَذَابًا وَ لا قُوَّةَ إِلّا باللهِ

And as for a right of the companion, is that you should accompany him with the grace, and the fairness, and you should honour him like what he honours you, and do not leave him to precede to an honouring. If he has preceded, then suffice (reciprocate) him, and be cordial to him just as he is cordial to you and rebuke him from what act of disobedience he may be thinking of and be merciful to him and do not be a torment upon him, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the partner (associate), if he were to be absent, suffice him, and if he is present, take care of him, and do not decide with other than his decision, and do not act by your opinion without a debate, and protect his wealth for him, and do not betray him regarding what is might or weak from his affairs, for the Hand of Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted is upon the hands of the associates for as long as they do not betray, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of your wealth, you should not take it except from its Permissible means, nor spend it except in its (Permissible) aspect, nor prefer with it upon yourself someone who will not praise (thank) you. Work with it in obedience of your Lord^{-azwj} and do not be miserly with it for it will lead you to the remorse and the regret along with the exhaustion, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of your creditor who demands you, if you were to be affluent, give it to him, and if you were to be bankrupt, satisfy him with the goodly word and return him from yourself with a subtle returning.

And a right of one mingling with you is that you should neither defraud him, nor cheat him, nor deceive him, and fear Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted regarding his affairs.

And a right of the contender, the claimant upon you, if what he is claiming upon you were to be true, you should be his witness against yourself, and do not oppress him, and fulfil his right, and if what he is claiming with upon you were to be false, be kind with him and do not deal in his matter with other than the kindness, and do not Dissatisfy your Lord^{-azwj} regarding his matter, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And a right of your contender, the one you are claiming upon, if you were to be rightful regarding your claim, beautify your dealing and do not reject his right, and if you were to be

false in your claim, fear Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and repent to Him^{-azwj}, and leave the claim.

And a right of the consultee is that if you were to know that there is an opinion for him, indicate upon it, and if you do not know, guide him to the one who knows, and a right of the consulter to you is that you should not accuse him regarding what is not compatible with you from his opinions, and if it were to be compatible, praise Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic.

And a right of them seeker of advice is that you should fulfil the advice to him and let your doctrine be the mercy to him and the kindness with him.

And a right of the adviser is that you should soften your wings to him and listen intently to him with your ears. If he comes with the correctness, praise Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and if he is no compatible, be merciful to him, and do not accuse him, and know that he has erred and do not seize him with that, except if he happens to be deserving of the accusation, then do not toil with anything from his matters upon any situation, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And a right of the elder is that you should accord him dignity due to his age and revere him due to his being ahead in Al-Islam before you, and leave the duelling during the dispute, and do not precede him to a road, nor be in front of him, nor deem him to be ignorant and even if he were to be ignorant to you. Tolerate him and honour him due to the right of Al-Islam and its sanctity.

And a right of the young is you should teach him, and pardon him, and cover upon him, and the kindness with him, and the assistance to him.

And a right of the beggar is that you give him in accordance with his need, and a right of the one begged is that if he is given, he should be faced from him with the thanks and the recognition of his grace, and if he prevents, his excuse should be accepted.

And a right of the one whom Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted has cheered you through him is that you should praise Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic firstly, then thank him.

And a right of the one who offends you is that you should pardon him, and even if you were to know that the pardoning is harmful, you will have won. Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Said: **And the one who triumphs after having been oppressed, so those ones, they is no way (to blame) upon them [42:41]**.

And a right of the people of your religion is making the safety to be for them, and the mercy to them, and the kindness at their offences, and uniting them, and reconciling them, and thanking their good doers, and restrain the harm from them, and loving for them what you love for yourself, and disliking for them what you dislike for yourself.

And that you should make their elders to be at the status of your father, and their youth at the status of your brothers, and their old women at the status of your mother, and the young ones at the status of your children.

And a right of the one under responsibility is that you should accept from them what Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Accepts from them, and not oppress them for as long as they're loyal to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic with His^{-azwj} Covenant''.¹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Musa, from Al Asady, from Al Barmakky, from Abdullah Bin Ahmad, from Ismail Bin Al Fazl, from Al Sumali,

'From chief of the worshippers Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws having said: 'A right of yourself upon you is that you should utilise it in obedience of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic, and a right of the tongue is to honour is to be away from the betrayal' – up to the end of the Hadeeth''.²

(The book) 'Tuhaf Al Uqool' -

¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 1 H 1 a

² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 1 H 1 b

'A letter of Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws well known as 'The letter of rights' -

'Know, may Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you, that there are rights for Allah^{-azwj} upon you, encompassing you in every movement you make, or a stillness you are still in, or a status you are accorded, of a limb you use, or a tool you utilise with. Some of these are bigger than some.

And the greatest rights of Allah^{-azwj} upon you is what He^{-azwj}, Blessed and Exalted, has Obligated for Himself^{-azwj} of His^{-azwj} right, which is the origin of the rights, and there are branches from it. Then, what He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you for Himself, from your head to your feet, upon the interchange of your limbs.

He^{-azwj} has Made a right for your sight upon you, and a right for your hearing upon you, and a right for your tongue upon you, and a right for your hand upon you, and a right for your leg upon you, and a right for your belly upon you, and a right for your private parts upon you. So these are the seven body parts by which the actions take place.

Then the Mighty and Majestic Make rights for your actions, so He^{-azwj} Made a right for your Salat upon you, and a right for your fasting upon you, and a right for your charity upon you, and a right for your (sacrificial) offering upon you, and a right for your actions upon them.

Then He^{-azwj} Extracted the rights from you to others, from the ones of the obligatory rights upon you, and He^{-azwj} Obligated a right of your leaders upon you, then rights of your citizens upon you, then right of your kindred. So these are rights from which rights branch out.

The rights of your leaders are three. He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you - right of your leader with the authority, then right of your leader with the knowledge, then right of your leader with the ownership, and every leader is an imam.

وَ حُقُوقُ رَعِيَّتِكَ ثَلَاثَةٌ أَوْجَبُهَا عَلَيْكَ حَقُ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِالسُّلْطَانِ ثُمُّ حَقُّ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِالْعِلْمِ فَإِنَّ الجُّاهِلَ رَعِيَّةُ الْعَالِمِ وَ حَقُّ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِالْمِلْكِ مِنَ الْأَزْوَاجِ وَ مَا مَلَكْتَ مِنَ الْأَيْمَان

And rights of your citizens are three. He^{-azwj} has Obligated these upon you – right of your citizen with the authority, then right of your citizen with the knowledge, for the ignorant one is a citizen of the knowledgeable one, and right of your citizen with the ownership, from the spouses, and whatever is possessed from the right hands (slaves and maids).

And rights of your kinship are many, connected in accordance with the connection of the kinship in the relationship. He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon you right of your mother, then right of your father, then right of your children, then right of your brother, then closest of the relatives, and foremost of the foremost ones.

The there is a right of your master, the benefactor upon you, then right of your master, the flower of his bounties upon you, then right of the one with the act of kindness to you, then right of your Muezzin with the Salat, then right of your prayer leader in your Salat, then right of your gatherer, then right of your neighbour, then right of your companion, then right of your partner, then right of your owner, then right of your creditor who seeks (demands) you, then right of your debtor whom you seek (demand), then right of your associate.

Then there is a right of your contender, the claimant upon you, then a right of your contender whom you are claiming upon, then right of your consultant, then a right of the one who give you counsel, then right of one whose advice you seek, then a right of the one seeking your advice, then right of the one who is older than you, then right of the one who is younger than you.

Then a right of the one who begs you, then a right of the one you beg, then a right of the one an offense has flowed to you upon his hands, either by word or action, or he is pleased with that by word or action, either intentionally from him or unintentionally from him, then a right of the people of your religion, the generality, then a right of the people under the responsibility.

Then there are rights of the newly occurring events in accordance with the reasons of the situations and interchanging of the causes. Therefore, beatitude be for the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Assists upon fulfilling what He^{-azwj} has Obligated upon him of His^{-azwj} right, and Harmonises him, and Guides him.

As for the greatest right of Allah^{-azwj}, you should worship Him^{-azwj} not associating anything with Him^{-azwj}. When you do that with sincerity, He^{-azwj} will Make upon Himself^{-azwj} to Suffice you the matters of the world and the Hereafter, and He^{-azwj} will Preserve for you what you love from it.

And as for a right of yourself upon yourself is that you should complete it in obedience of Allah^{-azwj}. So you should fulfil to your tongue of its right, and to your hearing of its right, and to your sight of its right, and to your hand of its right, and to your leg of its right, and to your belly of its right, and to your private part of its right, and you should seek Assistance of Allah^{-azwj} upon that.

And as for a right of your tongue, is to honour it to be away from the betrayal, and accustom it to the good, and carry it upon the etiquette and relaxing it, and the benefit for the religion and the world, and excuse it from the vain obscenities of little benefit which there is no safety from its harm, along with little of its return, and it returns the testimony of the intellect and the evidence upon it, and it adorns the intellectual with his intellect and the goodness of his conduct in his tongue, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}, the Exalted, the Magnificent.

And as for a right of the hearing, you should remove it from making it a path to your heart except for an honourable opening you discuss good with it in your heart, or you earn an honourable mannerism, for it is a door of the speech to the heart, depositing to it a variety of meanings based upon what is in it, either from good or evil, and there is no strength except with Allah-azwj.

And as for a right of your sight, close it from what is not Permissible for you and leave it's triviality except for a place of taking a lesson accepting an insight with it, if there is a benefit with it of knowledge, for the sight is a door of taking the lesson.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ رِجْلَيْكَ فَأَنْ لَا تَمْشِيَ بِمِمَا إِلَى مَا لَا يَحِلُ لَكَ وَ لَا بَمْعَلَهَا مَطِيَّتَكَ فِي الطَّرِيقِ الْمُسْتَخِفَّةِ بِأَهْلِهَا فِيهَا فَإِنَّمَا حَامِلَتُكَ وَ سَالِكَةٌ بِكَ مَسْلَكَ الدِّينِ وَ السَّبْقِ لَكَ وَ لا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللهِ

And as for a right of your legs, you should not walk with these to what is not Permissible for you, nor make it your mount in the road taking its people lightly in it for it is your carrier and it travels with you the path of religion, and the preceding for you, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ يَدِكَ فَأَنْ لَا تَبْسُطَهَا إِلَى مَا لَا يَحِلُ لَكَ فَتَنَالَ بِمَا تَبْسُطُهَا إِلَيْهِ مِنَ اللَّهِ الْعُقُوبَةَ فِي الْآجِلِ وَ مِنَ النَّاسِ بِلِسَانِ اللَّائِمَةِ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَّا الْتَرْضَ اللهُ عَلَيْهَا فَإِذَا هِيَ قَدْ عُقِلَتْ وَ شُرِّفَتْ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَّا لَحْبَرٍ مِمَّا الْمُتَرَضَ اللهُ عَلَيْهَا فَإِذَا هِيَ قَدْ عُقِلَتْ وَ شُرِّفَتْ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَّا لَمُ عَلَيْهِا فَإِذَا هِيَ قَدْ عُقِلَتْ وَ شُرِّفَتْ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَّا لَمُعْتَرِ مِمَّا اللهُ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَّا لَعُنْ اللهُ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي اللهِ فِي الْعَاجِلِ وَاللهِ فَي الْعَاجِلِ وَجَبَ لَمَ

And as for a right of your hands is that you should not extend these to what is not Permissible for you, for you will attain Punishment from Allah^{-azwj} due to what you had extended to these in the future, and the blames from the people for the tongue, in the current, and do not hold these back from what Allah^{-azwj} has Obligated upon it, but you should dignify it by holding these back from most of what is not Permissible for it and extended these from what isn't (obligated) upon these. So when these are reasonable and noble in the current, the goodly Reward from Allah^{-azwj} would be obligated for these in the future.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ بَطْنِكَ فَأَنْ لَا بَخْعَلَهُ وِعَاءً لِقَلِيلٍ مِنَ الْحَرَامِ وَ لَا لِكَثِيرٍ وَ أَنْ تَقْتَصِدَ لَهُ فِي الْحَلَالِ وَ لَا تُخْرِجَهُ مِنْ حَدِّ التَّقْوِيَةِ إِلَى حَدِّ التَّهْوِينِ وَ ذَهَابِ الْمُرُوَّةِ فَإِنَّ الشِّبَعَ الْمُنْتَهِيَ بِصَاحِبِهِ إِلَى التُّحْمِ مَكْسَلَةٌ وَ مَثْبَطَةٌ وَ مَقْطَعَةٌ عَنْ كُلِّ بِرِّ وَكَرْمٍ وَ إِنَّ الرأي [الرِّيَ] الْمُنْتَهِيَ بِصَاحِبِهِ إِلَى السُّكْرِ مَسْحَفَةٌ وَ مَجْهَلَةٌ وَ مَذْهَمَةُ للمُهُوَّةَ

And as for a right of your belly, you should not make it a container, neither for little from the Prohibitions nor for more, and you should be moderate for it regarding the Permissible and not take it out from a limit of strengthening to a limit of weakening and the loss of manliness, for the satiation ends with its owner to the fringe of laziness and inhibition, and cutting off from every righteousness, and honour; and the saturation ends up with its owner to the intoxication, incredulity and ignorance, and the loss of manliness.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ فَرْجِكَ فَحِفْظُهُ مِمَّا لَا يَحِلُ لَكَ وَ الإسْتِعَانَةُ عَلَيْهِ بِغَضِ الْبَصَرِ فَإِنَّهُ مِنْ أَعْوَنِ الْأَعْوَانِ وَ ضَبْطُهُ إِذَا هَمَّ بِالجُّوعِ وَ الظَّمَإِ وَ كَثْرُة ذِكْرِ الْمَوْتِ وَ التَّهْدِدِ لِنَفْسِكَ باللهِ وَ التَّخْويفِ لَمَا بِهِ وَ باللهِ الْعِصْمَةُ وَ التَّأْبِيدُ وَ لَا حَوْلَ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِهِ

And as for a right of your private part, you should preserve it from what is not Permissible for you, and the be assisted upon it by closing the sight, for it is from the most assisting of the assistants, and controls when there is worry of the hunger and the thirst, and frequent the remembrance of death, and threaten yourself with Allah^{-azwj} and intimidating to it by it, and by Allah^{-azwj} is the fortification and the emphasis, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Him^{-azwj}.

ثُمُّ حُقُوقُ الْأَفْعَالِ فَأَمَّا حَقُ الصَّلَاةِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أُغَّا وِفَادَةٌ إِلَى اللَّهِ وَ أَنَّكَ قَائِمٌ كِمَا بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللَّهِ فَإِذَا عَلِمْتَ ذَلِكَ كُنْتَ حَلِيقاً أَنْ تَغْوَمَ فِيهَا مَقَامَ الدَّلِيلِ التَّاعِبِ الرَّاهِبِ النَّاهِبِ النَّاهِبِ النَّاهِبِ النَّاهِبِ النَّاهِبِ النَّامِي الْمُعَظِمِ مَنْ قَامَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ بِالسُّكُونِ وَ الْإِطْرَاقِ وَ خُشُوعِ الْأَطْرَافِ وَ لِينِ الجُنَاحِ وَ خُسْنِ الْمُنَاجَاةِ لَهُ فَي الرَّاهِبِ النَّاهِ فِي فَكَاكِ رَقَبَتِكَ الَّتِي الْمُعَظِمِ مَنْ قَامَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ بِالسُّكُونِ وَ الإِطْرَاقِ وَ خُشُوعِ الْأَطْرَافِ وَ لِينِ الجُنَاحِ وَ خُسْنِ الْمُنَاجَاةِ لَهُ فَي نَفْسِهِ وَ الطَّلَبِ إِلَيْهِ فِي فَكَاكِ رَقَبَتِكَ الَّتِي الْمُعَظِّمِ مَنْ قَامَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ إِللللَّهُ اللَّهِ وَ النَّهُ اللَّهِ وَ النَّهُ الْمُعَلِّمِ مَنْ قَامَ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ وَ النَّهُ الْمُعَلِّمِ مَنْ قَامَ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ الْمُعَلِّمِ مَنْ قَامَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ إِلللللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَلَوْلُ وَالْعَالِمِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمَاقِيلِ الللَّهُ وَاللَّلُونُ وَ اللَّهُ الْمُعَلِّمِ اللللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْلِ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَقِيلُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعَلِّمُ الللَّهُ الْمُعْلِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَقِيلُ اللَّهُ الْ

Then there are rights of actions. As for a right of the Salat, you should know that it is a delegation to Allah^{-azwj} and you are standing with it in front of Allah^{-azwj}. When you know that you would be ethical. You will be standing in it in a position of the humiliated, the desirous, the dreadful, the fearful, the hopeful, the poor, the beseecher, the revering, someone who stands in front of Him^{-azwj} with the calmness, and the lowered head, and the humbleness of the acknowledgment, and soft wings, and goodly whispering to Him^{-azwj} within himself, and the seeking to Him^{-azwj} in liberating your neck which your mistakes have surrounded it, and your sins have destroyed it, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الصَّوْمِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ حِجَابٌ ضَرَبَهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى لِسَانِكَ وَ سَمْعِكَ وَ بَصَرِكَ وَ فَرْجِكَ وَ بَطْنِكَ لِيَسْتُرُكَ بِهِ مِنَ النَّارِ وَ هَكَذَا جَاءَ فِي الْحَدِيثِ الصَّوْمُ مُخَنَّةٌ مِنَ النَّار

And as for a right of the fasting, you should know that it is a veil Allah^{-azwj} has Struck upon your tongue, and your hearing, and your sigh, and your private parts, and your belly for Him^{-azwj} Curtain you with it from the Fire, and like this it has come in the Hadeeth, 'the Fast is a shield from the Fire'.

فَإِنْ سَكَنَتْ أَطْرَافُكَ فِي حَجَيَتِهَا رَجَوْتَ أَنْ تَكُونَ مُحْجُوباً وَ إِنْ أَنْتَ تَرَكْتَهَا تَضْطَرِبُ فِي حِجَايِمَا وَ تَرْفَعُ جَنَبَاتِ الْحِجَابِ فَتَطَّلِعُ إِلَى مَا لَيْسَ لَهَا بِالنَّظْرَةِ الدَّاعِيَةِ لِلشَّهْوَةِ وَ الْقُوَةِ الْخَارِجَةِ عَنْ حَدِّ التَّقِيَّةِ بِلِّهِ لَمْ يُؤْمَنْ أَنْ تَخْرَق الْحِجَابَ وَ تَخْرُجَ مِنْهُ وَ لا قُوَةً إِلَّا باللَّهِ

So, if your sides were to be calm in your veils, you should hope to be veiled, and if you were to neglect it, you will be restless in hits veils, and raise the sides of the veil and you will be notified to what isn't for it with the looking, the called to the lustful desires, and the strength external from a limit of the fear of Allah^{-azwj}. There is no safety that it would tear the veil and you will come out from it, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الصَّدَقَةِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَثَمَّا ذُخْرُكَ عِنْدَ رَبِّكَ وَ وَدِيعَتُكَ الَّتِي لَا تَحْتَاجُ إِلَى الْإِشْهَادِ فَإِذَا عَلِمْتَ ذَلِكَ كُنْتَ بِمَا اسْتَوْدَعْتَهُ سِرًا أَوْثَقَ بِمَا اسْتَوْدَعْتَهُ سِرًا أَوْثَقَ بِمَا اسْتَوْدَعْتَهُ وَكُنْتَ جَدِيراً أَنْ تَكُونَ أَسْرَرْتَ إِلَيْهِ أَمْراً أَعْلَنْتَهُ وَكَانَ الْأَمْرُ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ فِيهَا سِرًا عَلَى كُل حَال وَ لَمْ يَسْتَظْهِمْ عَلَيْهِ فِيمَا اسْتَوْدَعْتَهُ

And as for a right of the charity, you should know that it is your hoard in the Presence of your Lord^{-azwj}, and your deposit which is not needy to the witnesses. When you know that, you would be more trusting with what you have deposited secretly than what you have deposited openly, and you would be more deserving to have been secretive to Him^{-azwj} of a matter you had been open with, and the matter between you and Him^{-azwj}, wherein is secrecy, could have been upon all situation, and (if only) you would not have revealed upon it, regarding what you had deposited.

مِنْهَا إِشْهَادَ الْأَسْمَاعِ وَ الْأَبْصَارِ عَلَيْهِ كِمَا كَأَهَّا أَوْثَقُ فِي نَفْسِكَ وَكَأَنَّكَ لَا تَثِقُ بِهِ فِي تَأْدِيَةِ وَدِيعَتِكَ إِلَيْكَ ثُمٌّ لَمْ تُمْتَنَّ كِمَا عَلَى أَحَدٍ لِأَهَّا لَكَ

From these are testimonies of the hearing and the sights upon it with these. It is as if these are more trusting with yourself, and it is as if you are not trusting with it regarding your

depositing your deposit to you, then you do not entrust with it to anyone because these are for you.

When you were to be prevented with, there is no safety that you would be with it as a combination of your state from it to the one you have prevented with upon him, because there is evidence in that upon that you had not intended yourself with it, and had you intended yourself with it, you would not have prevented it upon anyone, and there is no strength except with Allah-azwj.

```
وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمُدْيِ فَأَنْ كُفْلِصَ بِمَا الْإِرَادَةَ إِلَى رَبِّكَ وَ التَّعَرُّضَ لِيَرْمُمَّتِهِ وَ قَبُولِهِ وَ لَا تُرِدْ عُيُونَ النَّاظِرِينَ دُونَهُ فَإِذَا كُنْتَ كَذَلِكَ لَمَّ تَكُنْ مُتَكَلِّفاً وَ لَا مُتَصَيِّعاً وَ
كُنْتَ إِنَّمَا تَقْصِدُ إِلَى اللَّهِ
```

And as for a right of the (sacrificial) offering, you should be sincere with it in the intention, to your Lord^{-azwj}, and the exposure to His^{-azwj} Mercy, and (His^{-azwj}) Accepting it, and do not intend eyes of the beholders besides His^{-azwj}. When you were to be like that, you will not be encumbered, nor a pretender, and rather you would be aiming to Allah^{-azwj}.

And know that Allah^{-azwj} is wanted for the ease and not wanted for the hardships, just as He^{-azwj} Wanted the ease with His^{-azwj} creatures and does not Want the hardship with them.

And like that, the humiliation is foremost with you than the arrogance, because the costs and the provisions are in the arrogance. As for the humbleness and the neediness, there is no cost in these two, nor any provision upon them, because these are a trait, and these are existing in the nature, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

```
ثُمُّ حُقُوقُ الْأَثِمَّةِ فَأَمَّا حَقُ سَائِسِكَ بِالسُّلْطَانِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّكَ جُعِلْتَ لَهُ فِتْنَةً وَ أَنَّهُ مُبْتَلَى فِيكَ بِمَا جَعَلَهُ اللهُ لَهُ عَلَيْكَ مِنَ السُّلْطَانِ وَ أَنْ كُفُلِصَ لَهُ فِي التَّمِيحَةِ وَ أَنْ لَا ثُمَاحِكُهُ وَ قَدْ بُسِطَتْ يَدُهُ عَلَيْكَ فَتَكُونَ سَبَبَ هَلَاكِ نَفْسِكَ وَ هَلَاكِهِ وَ تَذَلَّلُ وَ تَلَطَّفْ لِإِعْطَائِهِ مِنَ الرِّضَى مَا يَكُفُّهُ عَنْكَ وَ لَا يُضِرُّ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ أَنْ لا ثُعَانِهِ وَ لَا تُعَانِدُهُ لِمِيكَ وَ لَا يُعْزِبُونُ وَ لَا تُعَانِدُهُ
```

Then there are rights of the leaders. As for a right of your guide (leader) with the authority, you should know that you have been Made to be a Fitna for him, and he is being Tried regarding you with what authority Allah^{-azwj} has Made to be for him upon you, and that you should be sincere to him in the advising, and you should not find faults with him and he has extended his hand upon you, for it would become a cause of destruction of yourself and his destruction, and humiliation, and be kind in giving him from the satisfaction what would restrain him from you, and not harm your religion, and seek assistance with Allah^{-azwj} against him regarding that, and neither console him nor oppose him.

فَإِنَّكَ إِنْ فَعَلْتَ ذَلِكَ عَقَقْتَهُ وَ عَقَقْتَ نَفْسَكَ فَعَرَّضْتَهَا لِمَكْرُوهِهِ وَ عَرَّضْتَهُ لِلْهَلَكَةِ فِيكَ وَ كُنْتَ خَلِيقاً أَنْ تَكُونَ مُعِيناً لَهُ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ وَ شَرِيكاً لَهُ فِيمَا أَتَى إِلَيْكَ وَ كُنْتَ خَلِيقاً أَنْ تَكُونَ مُعِيناً لَهُ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ وَ شَرِيكاً لَهُ فِيمَا أَتَى إِلَيْكَ وَ لَا قُوْةَ إِلَّا بِاللّهِ

You, if you were to do that, you would liberate him and liberate yourself. By exposing to his abhorrence and exposing him to the destruction regarding you, and you would be ethical in becoming an assistant to him against yourself, and a partner for him regarding what comes to you, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ سَائِسِكَ بِالْعِلْمِ فَالتَّعْظِيمُ لَهُ وَ التَّوْقِيرُ لِمَجْلِسِهِ وَ حُسْنُ الِاسْتِمَاعِ إِلَيْهِ وَ الْإِقْبَالُ عَلَيْهِ وَ الْمُعُونَةُ لَهُ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ فِيمَا لَا غِنَى بِكَ عَنْهُ مِنَ الْعِلْمِ بَأَنْ تُفَرِّعَ لَهُ عَقْلَكَ وَ تُحْتِرَهُ فَهْمَكَ وَ تُنكِّيَ لَهُ قَلْبَكَ وَ تُجْلِي لَهُ بَصَرَكَ بَرَّكِ اللَّذَاتِ وَ نَقْضِ الشَّهَوَاتِ

And as for a right of your guide (teacher) with the knowledge, it is the reverence to him, and dignity to his gathering, and goodly listening to him, and being attentive to him, and the assisting to him against yourself in what he is not needless with you from him, of the knowledge, by freeing your intellect to him, and present your understanding to him, and purify your heart to him, and polishing your sight for him by neglecting the pleasures and breaking the lustful desires.

وَ أَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّكَ فِيمَا أَلْقَى رَسُولُهُ إِلَى مَنْ لَقِيَكَ مِنْ أَهْلِ الجُهْلِ فَلَزِمَكَ حُسْنُ التَّأْدِيَةِ عَنْهُ إِلَيْهِمْ وَ لَا تَخْنُهُ فِي تَأْدِيَةِ رِسَالَتِهِ وَ الْقِيَامِ بِمَا عَنْهُ إِذَا تَقَلَّدُكَنَا وَ لَا حَوْلَ وَ لا قُوْةَ إِلّا باللّهِ:

And you should know that regarding what his messenger casts to the one from the people of ignorance who were to meet you, it necessitates you the goodly etiquette on his behalf to them, and do not betray him in delivering his message, and the standing with it on his behalf when you are collared with it, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah-azwj.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ سَائِسِكَ بِالْمِلْكِ فَنَحْوٌ مِنْ سَائِسِكَ بِالسُّلْطَانِ إِلَّا أَنَّ هَذَا يَمْلِكُ مَا لا يَمْلِكُهُ ذَاكَ تَلْزَمُكَ طَاعَتُهُ فِيمَا دَقَّ وَ جَلَّ مِنْكَ إِلَّا أَنْ تُخْرِجَكَ مِنْ وُجُوبِ حَقِّ اللّهِ فَإِنَّ حَقَّ اللّهِ يَحُولُ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ حَقِّهِ وَ حُقُوقِ الْحُلْقِ فَإِذَا قَضَيْتُهُ رَجَعْتَ إِلَى حَقِّهِ فَتَشَاغَلْتَ بِهِ وَ لا قُوَّةَ إِلّا بِاللّهِ

And as for a right of your guide (ruler) with the ownership, is approximate from your guide (ruler) with the authority, except that this one owns what that one does not own. It necessitates your obeying him regarding what is small and large from you except if it were to exit you from the obligatory right of Allah^{-azwj}, for a right of Allah^{-azwj} is a barrier between you and his right and rights of the created beings. When you have fulfilled it, return to his right and pre-occupy with it, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

ثُمُّ حُقُوقُ الرَّعِيَّةِ فَأَمَّا حُقُوقُ رَعِيَّكَ بِالسُّلْطَانِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّكَ إِنَّا اسْتَرْعَيْتَهُمْ بِفَصْلِ قُوْتِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ فَإِنَّهُ إِنَّهُ إِنَّا الرَّعِيَّةِ لَكَ ضَعْفُهُمْ وَ ذُلُّهُمْ فَمَا أَوْلَى مَنْ كَفَاكَهُ ضَعْفُهُ وَ ذُلُّهُ حَتَّى صَيَّرُهُ لَكَ رَعِيَّةً وَ صَيَّرَ حُكْمَكَ عَلَيْهِ نَافِذاً–

Then there are rights of the citizens. As for rights of your citizens with the authority, you should know that rather you are to take care of them with the grace of your strength upon them. But rather, their weakness has positioned them at the position of the citizen to you and humiliated them. So what is foremost, the one whose weakness and his humiliation suffices you until he has become a citizen to you and your wisdom has become enforceable upon him.

لَا يَمْتَنِعُ مِنْكَ بِعِرَّةٍ وَ لَا يَسْتَنْصِرُ فِيمَا تَعَاظَمَهُ مِنْكَ إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ بِالرَّمْةِ وَ الْحِيَاطَةِ وَ الْأَنَاةِ وَ مَا أَوْلَاكَ إِذَا عَرَفْتَ مَا أَعْطَكَ اللَّهُ مِنْ فَضْلِ هَذِهِ الْعِزَّةِ وَ الْحَيَاطَةِ وَ الْأَنَاةِ وَ مَا أَنْعَمَ عَلَيْهِ وَ لا فُؤَةَ إِلّا باللّهِ

He can neither prevent from you with might nor strength, nor can he seek help regarding what he revered from you except by Allah^{-azwj} with the Mercy, and the prudence and the patience, and is your priority when you recognise what Allah^{-azwj} have Given you, from the merit of this might and strength which you have subdued by it, that you would be thankful to Allah^{-azwj}, and the one who is thankful, Allah^{-azwj} will Give him among what He^{-azwj} Confers upon him, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِالْعِلْمِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّ اللَّهَ قَدْ جَعَلَكَ لَهُمْ فَتِيماً فِيمَا آتَاكَ مِنَ الْعِلْمِ وَ وَلَاكَ مِنْ خِزَانَةِ الْحِكْمَةِ فَإِنْ أَحْسَنْتَ فِيمَا وَلَاكَ اللَّهُ مِنْ ذَلِكَ وَ قُمْتَ بِهِ لَهُمْ مَقَامَ الْخَازِنِ الشَّفِيقِ النَّاصِحِ لِمَوْلاهُ فِي عَبِيدِهِ الصَّابِرِ الْمُحْتَسِبِ الَّذِي إِذَا رَأَى ذَا حَاجَةٍ أَخْرَجَ لَهُ مِنَ الْأَمْوالِ الَّتِي فِي يَدَيْهِ رَاشِداً وَ كُنْتَ لِذَلِكَ آمِلًا مُعْتَقِداً وَ إِلَّا كُنْتَ لَهُ خَائِناً وَ لِخَلْقِهِ ظَالِماً وَ لِسَلَبِهِ وَ غَيْرِهِ مُتَعَرِّضاً

And as for a right of your citizen with knowledge, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} has made you as a custodian for them regarding what He^{-azwj} has Given you of the knowledge and has Mad you in charge of treasures of the wisdom. So if you were to be good regarding what Allah^{-azwj} has Place you in charge of that, and you stand with it for them in a position of the treasurer, the compassionate, the adviser to his master among his slaves, the patient, the accountant who when he sees one with a need, extracts for him from the wealth which is in his hands, rightfully; and due to that you would be hopeful, believing, or else you will be a betrayer to Him^{-azwj} and unjust to His^{-azwj} creatures, and not objecting to His^{-azwj} Confiscation.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِمِلْكِ النِّكَاحِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّ اللَّهَ جَعَلَهَا سَكَناً وَ مُسْتَرَاحاً وَ أُنْساً وَ وَاقِيَةً وَ كَذَلِكَ كُلُّ أَحَدٍ مِنْكُمَا بَجِبُ أَنْ يَخْمَدَ اللَّهَ عَلَى صَاحِبِهِ وَ يَعْلَمَ أَنَّ ذَلِكَ نِعْمَةً مِنْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَ وَجَبَ أَنْ يُحْسِنَ صُحْبَةَ نِعْمَةِ اللَّهِ وَ يُكْرِمَها وَ يَرْفَقَ بِمَا

And as for a right of your citizen with owner of the marriage, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} has made her as a tranquillity, and a rest, and a comfort, and partner, and like that it every one married. It obligates that one praises Allah^{-azwj} upon his companion, and he knows that it is a bounty from Him^{-azwj} upon him, and it obligates that he should be of goodly companionship of a bounty of Allah^{-azwj}, and honour her, and be kind with her.

وَ إِنْ كَانَ حَقُّكَ عَلَيْهَا أَغْلَظَ وَ طَاعَتُكَ لَهَا أَلْزَمَ فِيمَا أَحْبَبْتَ وَكَرِهْتَ مَا لَمْ تَكُنْ مَعْصِيَةً فَإِنَّ لَهَا حَقَّ الرَّحْمَةِ وَ الْمُؤَانَسَةِ وَ مَوْضِعُ السُّكُونِ إِلَيْهَا قَضَاءُ اللَّذَةِ الَّتِي لَا بُدَّ مِنْ فَضَائِهَا وَ ذَلِكَ عَظِيمٌ وَ لا قُوَةَ إِلَّا باللهِ

And even though your right upon her is greater and her obedience to you is necessitated regarding what is liked and disliked, for as long as it does not happen to be an act of disobedience (to Allah-azwi, for there is a right for her of the mercy, and the comfort, and a place of tranquillity to her to fulfil the pleasure which there is no escape from fulfilling it, and that Is mighty, and there is no strength except with Allah-azwi.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ رَعِيَّتِكَ بِمُلْكِ الْيَمِينِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ حَلْقُ رَبِّكَ وَ خَمْكَ وَ دَمْكَ وَ أَنَّكَ تَمْلِكُهُ لَا أَنْتَ صَنَعْتَهُ دُونَ اللّهِ وَ لَا حَلَقْتَ لَهُ سَمْعاً وَ لَا بَصَراً وَ لَا أَجْرِيْتَ لَهُ رِزْقاً– وَ لَكِنَّ اللّهَ كَفَاكَ ذَلِكَ بِمَنْ سَخَرَهُ لَكَ وَ اثْتَمَنَكَ عَلَيْهِ وَ اسْتؤدَعَكَ إِنَّاهُ لِيَحْفَظُهُ فِيهِ وَ تَسِيرَ فِيهِ بِسِيرَتِهِ And as for a right of your citizen with ownership of the right hand (slaves and maids), you should know that he is a creature of your Lord^{-azwj}, and your flesh and your blood, and you own him. You have not made him besides Allah^{-azwj}, nor have you created the hearing for him, nor sight, nor have you flow any sustenance for him, but Allah^{-azwj} has Sufficed that for you with Conferment He^{-azwj} has Subdued for you, and has Entrusted you upon him, and has Deposited him to you for you to protect him in it and conduct regarding him with His^{-azwj} Conduct.

You should feed him from what you eat, and clothe him from what you wear, and not encumber him what he cannot endure. If you were to dislike him, then exit from him to Allah^{-azwj} and replace him, and do not punish a creature of Allah^{-azwj}, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as a right of the kinship, a right of your mother is that you should know she had carried you whereby no one carried anyone and fed you from the fruit of her heat what no one feeds anyone, and she had saved you with her hearing, and her sight, and her hands, and her legs, and her hair, and her skin, and entirety of her body parts.

She was smiling with that, happy of carrying (in her belly) although there were abhorrences in it, and its pains, and its weight, and its sorrow, until the Hand of Power Defended her from you and Extracted you to the ground. She was satisfied with satiating you while she was hungry, and clothing you while needing clothes, and saturating you while she was thirsty, and shading you while she was exposed to heat, and giving you bounties while being in her hardship, and giving you pleasure with the sleep by keeping awake.

And her belly was a container for you, and her lap was a cradle for you, and her breasts were a quencher for you, saving from the exposure to heat of the world and its coldness, and besides you. So you should thank her based upon a measurement of that, and there is no ability upon it except by Assistance of Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Inclination.

And as for a right of your father, you should know that he is your root and you are his branch, and had it not been for him, you would not have existed. So whatever you see within yourself

from what fascinates you, then know that your father is the original bounty upon you regarding it, and praise Allah^{-azwj} and thank Him^{-azwj} upon a measurement of that, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ وَلَدِكَ فَتَعْلَمُ أَنَّهُ مِنْكَ وَ مُصَافٌ إِلَيْكَ فِي عَاجِلِ الدُّنْيَا بِخَيْرِهِ وَ شَرِّهِ وَ أَنَّكَ مَسْقُولٌ عَمَّا وُلِيَتَهُ مِنْ مُحسُنِ الْأَدَبِ وَ الدَّلَالَةِ عَلَى رَبِّهِ وَ الْمَعُونَةِ لَهُ عَلَى طَاعِبِهِ فِيكَ وَ فِي نَفْسِهِ

And as for a right of your child, know that he is from you and an addition to you in the current world, with his good and his evil, and you will be questioned about what you are in charge of him of the goodly etiquette and the pointing upon his Lord^{-azwj}, and the assisting to him upon obeying Him^{-azwj} regarding you and regarding himself.

فَمُثَابٌ عَلَى ذَلِكَ وَ مُعَاقَبٌ فَاعْمَلْ فِي أَمْرِهِ عَمَلَ الْمُتَزَيِّنِ بِحُسْنِ أَثَرِهِ عَلَيْهِ فِي عَاجِلِ الدُّنْيَا الْمُعَذِّرِ إِلَى رَبِّهِ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ بِحُسْنِ الْقِيَامِ عَلَيْهِ وَ الْأَخْذِ لَهُ مِنْهُ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ

The Rewarding and the Punishing is based upon that, therefore work regarding his affairs the world of the of the adorner of goodly impacts upon him in the current world, the excuser to his Lord^{-azwj} regarding what is between you and him with the goodly standing upon him, and the taking for him from it, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ أَخِيكَ فَتَعْلَمُ أَنَّهُ يَدُكَ الَّتِي تَبْسُطُهَا وَ ظَهْرُكَ الَّذِي تَلْتَجِي إِلَيْهِ وَ عِزُّكَ الَّذِي تَعْتَمِدُ عَلَيْهِ وَ فُوَتُكَ الَّتِي تَصُولُ بِمَا فَلَا تَتَّخِذُهُ سِلاحاً عَلَى مَعْضِيَةِ اللَّهِ وَ لَا عُدَّةً لِلظُلْمِ بِحُلْقِ اللَّهِ وَ لَا تَدَعْ نُصْرَتَهُ عَلَى نَفْسِهِ وَ مَعُونَتَهُ عَلَى عَدُوهٍ وَ الْحُوْلَ بَيْنَهُ وَ بَيْنَ شَيَاطِينِهِ وَ تَأْدِيَةَ النَّصِيحَةِ إِلَيْهِ وَ الْإِقْبَالَ عَلَيْهِ في اللَّهِ فَإِنِ انْقَادَ لِرَبِّهِ وَ أَحْسَنَ الْإِجَابَةَ لَهُ وَ إِلَّا فَلْيَكُنِ اللَّهُ آثَرَ عِنْدَكَ وَ أَكْرَمَ عَلَيْكَ مِنْهُ –

And as for a right of your brother, you should know that he is your hand which you are extending, and your backbone which you are sheltering to, and your might/strength which you can rely upon, and your strength which you can connect with. Therefore do not take him as a weapon upon disobeying Allah^{-azwj}, nor as a tool for oppressing the creatures of Allah^{-azwj}, and do not lead helping him upon himself and assisting him against his enemies, and being the barrier between him and his Satan^{-la}, and giving the good advice to him, and being attentive to him regarding Allah^{-azwj}, for the leading it to his Lord, and the goodly responding to Him^{-azwj}, or else let Allah^{-azwj} be preferred with you and more honourable unto you than he is.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمُنْعِمِ عَلَيْكَ بِالْوَلَاءِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ أَنْفَقَ فِيكَ مَالَهُ وَ أَحْرَجَكَ مِنْ ذُلِّ الرِّقِّ وَ وَحْشَتِهِ إِلَى عِرِّ الْخُرِيَّةِ وَ أَنْسِهَا وَ أَطْلَقَكَ مِنْ أَسْرِ الْمَلَكَةِ وَ فَكَ عَنْكَ حَلَقَ الْعُبُودِيَّةِ وَ أَوْجَدَكَ رَائِحَةَ الْعِزِ وَ أَحْرَجَكَ مِنْ سِجْنِ الْقَهْرِ وَ دَفَعَ عَنْكَ الْعُسْرَ وَ بَسَطَ لَكَ لِسَانَ الْإِنْصَافِ وَ أَبَاحَكَ الدُّنْيَا كُلَّهَا

And as for a right of the conferrer upon you with the master-ship, you should know that he is spending his wealth regarding you, and he has extracted you from the disgrace of the slavery and its loneliness to the honour of the freedom and its comfort, and he has liberated you from captivity of the ownership and has removed from you the shackle of servitude, and he has made you feed the aroma of honour, and has extracted you from the prison of compulsion, and has dispelled the hardship from you, and has extended to you the tongue of fairness, and has legalised the world for you, all of it.

فَمَلَّكُكَ نَفْسَكَ وَ حَلَّ أَسْرِكَ وَ فَرَّغَكَ لِعِبَادَةِ رَبِّكَ وَ احْتَمَلَ بِذَلِكَ التَّقْصِيرَ فِي مَالِهِ فَتَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ أَوْلَى الْخُلْقِ بِكَ بَعْدَ أُولِي رَجِكَ فِي حَيَاتِكَ وَ مَوْتِكَ وَ أَحَقُ الْخُلْقِ بَنصْرِكَ وَ مَعُونَتِكَ وَ مُكَانَفَتِكَ فِي ذَاتِ اللَّهِ فَلَا تُؤْثِرُ عَلَيْهِ نَفْسَكَ مَا احْتَاجَ إِلَيْكَ أَبُداً

He has made you own yourself, and released your captivity, and freed you for worshipping of your Lord^{-azwj}, and he tolerated the reduction in his wealth due to that. You should know that he is foremost of the people with you, foremost of your kindred during your life and at your death, the most rightful of the people with your help and your support, and your recompense regarding the Self of Allah^{-azwj}. Therefor do not prefer yourself over him whatever he is needy to, ever!

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ مَوْلَاكَ الجَّارِيَةِ عَلَيْهِ نِعْمَتُكَ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّ اللَّهَ جَعَلَكَ حَامِيَةً عَلَيْهِ وَ وَاقِيَةً وَ نَاصِراً وَ مَعْقِلًا وَ جَعَلَهُ لَكَ وَسِيلَةً وَ سَبَباً بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ فَبِالْحَرِيِّ أَنْ يَحْجُبَكَ عَنِ النَّارِ فَيَكُونَ فِي ذَلِكَ ثَوَابُكَ مِنْهُ فِي الْآحِل

And as for a right of your slave, the flowing of your favours upon him, you should know that Allah^{-azwj} has Made you as a protector upon him, and a saver, and a helper, and a stronghold, and Made him a means for you, and a cause between you and him. By freeing him He^{-azwj} Veils you from the Fire, so in that would be your Reward from Him^{-azwj} in the future.

وَ يَحْكُمَ لَكَ بِمِيرَاثِهِ فِي الْعَاجِلِ إِذَا لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ رَحِمٌ مُكَافَاةً لِمَا أَنْفَقْتَهُ مِنْ مَالِكَ عَلَيْهِ وَ قُمْتَ بِهِ مِنْ حَقِّهِ بَعْدَ إِنْفَاقِ مَالِكَ فَإِنْ لَمْ تَخَفْهُ خِيفَ عَلَيْكَ أَنْ لَا يَطِيت لَكَ مِيرَاثُهُ وَ لَا قُوَةً إِلَّا بِاللّهِ

And He^{-azwj} will Judge for you with His^{-azwj} Inheritance in the current (world) when there does not happen to have any kindred for him sufficing to what you have spent from your wealth upon him and stood with him for his rights after having spent your wealth. If you do not fear Him^{-azwj}, there will be fear upon you that His^{-azwj} Inheritance may not be good for you, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ ذِي الْمَعْرُوفِ عَلَيْكَ فَأَنْ تَشْكُرُهُ وَ تَذْكُرَ مَعْرُوفَهُ وَ تَنْشُرَ بِهِ الْقَالَة الْحُسَنَةَ وَ تُخْلِصَ لَهُ اللَّعَاءَ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ اللَّهِ سُبْحَانَهُ فَإِنَّكَ إِذَا فَعَلْتَ دُلِكَ كُنْتَ مُرْصِداً لَهُ مُوطِّناً نَفْسَكَ عَلَيْهَا

And as for a right of the one with an act of kindness upon you, you should thank him and mention his act of kindness, publicise with it in goodly words, and be sincere to him in the supplication regarding what is between you and Allah-azwj the Glorious, for where you were to do that, you would have thanked him secretly and openly. Then if you are enabled to reciprocate with the action, reciprocate him, or else you should lie in wait for him in place of yourself upon it.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُ الْمُؤَذِّنِ فَأَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَنَّهُ مُذَكِّرِكَ بِرَبِّكَ وَ دَاعِيكَ إِلَى حَظِّكَ وَ أَفْضَلُ أَغْوَانِكَ عَلَى قَضَاءِ الْفَرِيضَةِ الَّتِي افْتَرَضَهَا اللَّهُ عَلَيْكَ فَتَشْكُرهُ عَلَى ذَلِكَ شُكْرِكَ لِلْمُحْسِنِ إِلَيْكَ وَ إِنْ كُنْتَ فِي بَيْبِكَ مُتَّهَماً لِذَلِكَ لَمْ تَكُنْ لِلَّهِ فِي أَمْرِه

And as for a right of the Muezzin, you should know that he is reminding you of your Lord^{-azwj} and calling you to your share and is a best of your assistants upon fulfilling the Imposition which Allah^{-azwj} has Imposed upon you. Therefore thank him upon that, your thanking to the one favouring to you, and even if you were to be accused in your house, your will not be accused regarding his matter for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}.

And know that he is a bounty from Allah^{-azwj} upon you, there is no doubt in it, so be a good companion of a bounty of Allah^{-azwj} by praising Allah^{-azwj} upon it in every situation, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of your prayer leader in your Salat, you should know that he is collared with the ambassadorship regarding what is between you and Allah^{-azwj}, and the delegating to your Lord^{-azwj}, and speaking on your behalf, and you are not speaking on his behalf, and he is supplication for you and you are not supplicating for him, and he is requesting regarding you and you are not requesting regarding him, and he is sufficing you of the concern of the standing in front of Allah^{-azwj} and asking Him^{-azwj} regarding you and you are not sufficing him of that.

So, if there were to be a deficiency regarding anything from that, he would be with it besides you, and if he were to be a sinner, you would not be an associate of his regarding it, and there does not happen to be any merit for you upon him, therefore save yourself with his self, and save your Salat with his Salat. Be thankful to him upon that, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah-azwj.

And as for a right of the gatherer, you should soften your shoulders to him, and make good your sides for him, and be fair to him in the flow of words, and do not drown in the glance when you are glancing, and aim regarding the world to understand it when you utter; and if you were seated to him, you would be with the choice in standing up from him, and if he were to be seated to you, he would be with the choice, and you should not stand except by his permission, and there is no strength except with Allah-azwj.

And as for a right of the neighbour, protect him in absence, and honour him when present, and help him, and assist him in the two situations altogether. Neither pursue an exposure to him nor search of an evil for him for you to recognise it. If you were to recognise it from him, from without an intention from you, and there is no encumberment, you should be for what you have come to now, a fortified fortress, and curtain to veil.

لَوْ بَحَثَتِ الْأَسِنَةُ عَنْهُ صَمِيراً لَمْ تَتَّصِلْ إِلَيْهِ لِانْطِوَائِهِ عَلَيْهِ لِانْطِوَائِهِ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ حَيْثُ لَا يَعْلَمُ – لَا تُسْلِمُهُ عَنْدَ شَدِيدَةٍ وَ لَا تَخْسُدُهُ عِنْدَ نِعْمَةٍ تَقِيلُهُ عَثْرَتُهُ وَ لَا تَخْرُخُ أَنْ تَكُونَ سِلْماً لَهُ تَرُدُّ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَوْدَ سِلْماً لَهُ تَرُدُّ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَرُدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَرُدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَرُدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَرُدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَرُدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ تُعَاشِرُهُ مُعَاشَرَةً كَوْلَ لَهُ عَلْهِ لَا عَنْهُ لَهُ عَلْهُ مَلُولُ اللَّهُ لِلْعَلَالُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ حَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ لَا عَلَيْهُ عَنْهُ لِمَا لَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَنْمَةً وَ لَا عَنْهُ لِمَالًا لَكُونَ سِلْما لَهُ عَرْدُ عَنْهُ لِسَانَ الشَّتِيمَةِ وَ تُبْطِلُ فِيهِ كَيْدَ خَامِلِ النَّصِيحَةِ وَ لَا عَلَيْهُ مُعْاشَرَةً وَ لَا عَلْمَا لَهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ لِللْعَالَ الْعَلَيْدِ عَلَيْكُولُ لَهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ لَهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَنْمَ لَوْلُ

If the tongues were to search for a conscience about him, it would not arrive to it due to its inclination upon it — not listening to him from whereby he does not know, nor yielding (abandoning) him during the hardship, nor envying him during a bounty, minimise his stumbles and forgive his slips, and do not withhold your leniency from him when he is ignorant upon you, and do not give up from being a ladder for him. Repel the gloating tongue away from him, and invalidate any plots regarding him, carry the good advice and accompany him an honourable company, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah-azwj.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الصَّاحِبِ فَأَنْ تَصْحَبَهُ بِالْفَصْلِ مَا وَجَدْتَ إِلَيْهِ سَبِيلًا وَ إِلَّا فَلَا أَقَلَّ مِنَ الْإِنْصَافِ وَ أَنْ تُكْرِمَهُ كَمَا يُكْرِمُكَ وَ تَخْفَظُهُ كَمَا يَخْفَظُكَ وَ لَا يَسْبِقَكَ فِي الْمَوَدَّةِ فِيمَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ إِلَى مَكْرُمَةِ فَإِنْ سَبَقَكَ كَافَأْتَهُ وَ لَا تُقَصِّرَ بِهِ عَمَّا يَسْتَجِقُّ مِنَ الْمَوَدَّةِ

And as for a right of the companion, you should accompany him with the best of what you can find a means to him, or else so not less than the fairness, and you should honour him just as he honours you, and protect him just as he protects you, and he should not precede you regarding what is between you and him to any honour. If he were to precede you, then reciprocate him, and do not be deficient from what he deserves of the cordiality.

تُلْزِمْ نَفْسَكَ نَصِيحَتَهُ وَ حِيَاطَتَهُ وَ مُعَاضَدَتَهُ عَلَى طَاعَةِ رَبِّهِ وَ مَعُونَتَهُ عَلَى نَفْسِهِ فِيمَا يَهُمُّ بِهِ مِنْ مَعْصِيَةِ رَبِّهِ ثُمَّ تَكُونُ عَلَيْهِ رَحْمَةً وَ لَا تَكُونُ عَلَيْهِ عَذَابًا وَ لا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا باللَّهِ

Necessitate yourself to advising him, and helping him, and supporting him upon obeying his Lord^{-azwj} and assist him against himself regarding whatever he thinks with of disobeying his Lord^{-azwj}, then you would be a mercy to him and will not be a torment to him, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الشَّرِيكِ فَإِنْ غَابَ كَفَيْتَهُ وَ إِنْ حَضَرَ سَاوَيْتَهُ- لَا تَعْزِمْ عَلَى حُكْمِكَ دُونَ حُكْمِهِ وَ لَا تَعْمَلْ بِرَأْيِكَ دُونَ مُنَاظَرَتِهِ تَخْفَظُ عَلَيْهِ مَالَهُ وَ تَنْفِي عَنْهُ خِيَانَتَهُ فِيمَا عَزَّ أَوْ هَانَ فَإِنَّهُ بَلَغَنَا أَنَّ يَدَ اللهِ عَلَى الشَّرِيكَيْنِ مَا لَمْ يَتَحَاوَنَا وَ لا فُؤَةَ إِلَّا باللهِ

And as for a right of the partner, if he is absent, suffice him, and if he is present, equalise him. Do not determine upon your decision besides his decision, nor work with your opinion besides debating him. Protect his wealth upon him and negate from him his betrayers regarding what is strong or weak, for it has reached us^{-asws} that a Hand of Allah^{-azwj} is upon the partners for as long as they do not betray each other, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمَالِ فَأَنْ لَا تَأْخُذَهُ إِلَّا مِنْ حِلِهِ وَ لَا تُنْفِقَهُ إِلَّا فِي حِلِهِ وَ لَا تُحْرِفَهُ عَنْ مَوَاضِعِهِ وَ لَا تَصْرِفَهُ عَنْ حَقَائِقِهِ وَ لَا تَجْعَلَهُ إِذَا كَانَ مِنَ اللَّهِ إِلَا إِلَيْهِ وَ سَبَبًا إِلَى اللَّهِ وَ لَا تُؤْثِرَ بِهِ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ مَنْ لَعَلَّهُ لَا يَخْمَدُكَ

And as for a right of the wealth, you should not take it except from its Permissible means, nor spend it except in its Permissible ways, and do not alter it from its (rightful) places, nor change

it away from its realities, and when it were to be from Allah^{-azwj} do not make it except to Him^{-azwj} and a means to Allah^{-azwj}.

And do not prefer with it over yourself, someone who will perhaps not thank you, and rather he will not be good as your replacement in your estate, nor will be act regarding it in obedience to your Lord^{-azwj}, so you would have assisted him upon that, or with what he would have done regarding your wealth, looking out for himself, so he will act in obedience to his Lord^{-azwj}. So he will go with the gains while you will be holding the sins, and the regret and the remorse, along with the liability, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the creditor seeking to you, if you were affluent, then pay him, and suffice him, and enrich him, and do not repel him and delay him, for Rasool-Allah-saww had said: 'Procrastinating by the rich is injustice'.

And if you were bankrupt, satisfy him with goodly words, and request to him a beautiful request (for more time), and return him from yourself a kindly returning, and do not gather against him the loss of his wealth, and his evil dealings, for that is reprehensible, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the one mingling with you, you should neither defraud him, nor cheat him, nor belie him, nor deceive him, nor work in breaking him, the work of an enemy which does not remain upon its owner; and if he is assured to you, investigate for him against yourself, and know than embezzlement is a flowing usury, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the contender, the claimant upon you, if what he is claiming upon you is true, do not break his argument, and do not work in invalidating his claim and you will be contending yourself for him, and the judge upon it, and the witness for him of his right beside the testimonies of any witnesses.

وَ إِنْ كَانَ مَا يَدَّعِيهِ بَاطِلًا رَفَقْتَ بِهِ وَ رَوَّعْتَهُ وَ نَاشَدْتُهُ بِدِينِهِ وَ كَسَرْتَ حِدَّتَهُ عَنْكَ بِذِكْرِ اللَّهِ وَ أَلْقَيْتَ حَشْوَ الْكَلَامِ وَ لَفْظَةَ السُّوءِ اللَّهِ عَنْكَ الشَّرَ وَ الْخَيْرُ مَقْمَعَةٌ لِلشَّرِ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ عَدُووَتِهِ لِأَنَّ لَفْظَةَ السُّوءِ تَبْعَثُ الشَّرَ وَ الْخَيْرُ مَقْمَعَةٌ لِلشَّرِ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ

And if what he is claiming is false, be kind with him, and frighten him and adjure him with his religion, and break his sharpness from you by mentioning Allah^{-azwj}, and throw away the vague talk and the evil words which do not repel from you the return of your enemy, but it earns its sin, and the sword of his enmity will be sharpened upon you, because the evil word dispatches the evil while the good is a depressant of the evil, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُ الْخُصْمِ الْمُدَّعَى عَلَيْهِ فَإِنْ كَانَ مَا تَدَّعِيهِ حَقًا أَجْمُلْتَ فِي مُقَاوَلَتِهِ بِمَحْرَجِ الدَّعْوَى فَإِنَّ لِلدَّعْوَى غِلْظَةً فِي سَمْعِ الْمُدَّعَى عَلَيْهِ وَ قَصَدْتَ فَصْدَ حُجَّتِكَ بِالْقِيلِ وَ الْقَالِ فَتَذْهَبَ عَنْكَ حُجَّتُكَ وَ لَا يَكُونَ لَكَ حُجَّتِكَ بِالْقِيلِ وَ الْقَالِ فَتَذْهَبَ عَنْكَ حُجَّتُكَ وَ لَا يَكُونَ لَكَ وَ لَا قُوْةً إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ وَ أَمْهَلِ الْمُهْلَةِ وَ أَبْيَنِ الْبَيَانِ وَ أَلْطَفِ اللَّطْفِ وَ لَمْ تَتَشَاعَلْ عَنْ حُجَّتِكَ بِمُنَازَعَتِهِ بِالْقِيلِ وَ الْقَالِ فَتَذْهَبَ عَنْكَ حُجَّتُكَ وَ لَا يَكُونَ لَكَ وَ لَا قُوْةً إِلَّا بِاللَّهِ

And as for a right of the contender, the one claimed upon, if what you are claiming were to be true, be nice in your word with bring out the claim, for the claim there is harshness in the ears of the one claimed upon, and be moderate in aiming your argument with the kindness, and respite with more time, and clarify the explanation, and with the kindest kindness, and do not pre-occupy your argument by contending with him with the hearsay words (It is said, and he said), for your argument will go away from you, and there will not happen to be any achievement for you in that, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمُسْتَشِيرِ فَإِنْ حَضَرَكَ لَهُ وَجْهُ رَأْيٍ جَهَدْتَ لَهُ فِي النَّصِيحَةِ وَ أَشَرْتَ عَلَيْهِ بِمَا تَعْلَمُ أَنَّكَ لَوْ كُنْتَ مَكَانَهُ عَمِلْتَ بِهِ وَ ذَلِكَ لِيَكُنْ مِنْكَ فِي رَحْمَةٍ وَ لَيْنِ فَإِنَّ الْعِلَظَ يُوحِشُ مِنْ مَوْضِع الْأَنْسِ

And as for a right of the consultee, if there is present with you an aspect of an opinion for him, strive for him in the advice, and indicate to him with what you do know, had you been in his place you would have acted with it, and let that happen from you in mercy and gentleness, for the gentleness comforts loneliness, and harshness is loneliness from a place of comfort.

وَ إِنْ لَمْ يَحْضُرْكَ لَهُ رَأْيٌ وَ عَرَفْتَ لَهُ مَنْ تَثِقُ بِرَأْيِهِ وَ تَرْضَى بِهِ لِنَفْسِكَ دَلَلْتَهُ عَلَيْهِ وَ أَرْشَدْتَهُ إِلَيْهِ فَكُنْتَ لَمْ تَأَلُهُ خَيْرًا وَ لَمْ تَدَّخِرُهُ نُصْحاً وَ لَا حَوْلَ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللّهِ

And if an opinion for him is not present with you, and you know for him someone you trust his opinion and are satisfied with him for yourself, point him to him and guide him to him. So, you would not have done good to him and not have held back goodly advice, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمُشِيرِ عَلَيْكَ فَلَا تَتَّهِمْهُ فِيمَا يُوَافِقُكَ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ رَأْيِهِ إِذَا أَشَارَ عَلَيْكَ فَإِثَمَا هِيَ الْآرَاءُ وَ تَصَرُّفُ النَّاسِ فِيهَا وَ احْتِلَاقُهُمْ فَكُنْ عَلَيْهِ فِي رَأْيِهِ إِذَا أَشَارَ عَلَيْكَ فِي رَأْيِهِ بِالْخِيَارِ إِذَا اتَّكَمْتَ رَأْيَهُ فَأَمَّا هُمَتُهُهُ فَلا تَجُورُ لَكَ إِذَاكَانَ عِنْدَكَ مِّمَّنْ يَسْتَجِقُّ الْمُشَاوَرَةَ

And as for a right of the one consulting to you, do not accuse him in what you agree upon of his view when he does consult to you, for rather these are the opinions, and the people are interchanging in these and their differences. So be with the choice to him regarding his

opinion when you accuse his view. As for accusing him, it is no allowed for you, if he were to be from the ones who deserving of the consultation.

And do not leave thanking him based upon whatever comes to you, from personalising his view and goodly aspect of his consultation. When it is compatible to you, praise Allah^{-azwj} and accept that from your brother with the thanks and be in wait for reciprocating similar to it, if the opportunity presents to you, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the seeker of the advice, his right is that you give the good advice to him based upon the truth which you see for him that he will tolerate, and the way out can come out which is soft upon his ears, and you should talk to him from the speech with what his intellect can tolerate. For every intellect there is a layer of speech it recognises and responds to, and let your doctrine be the mercy, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the adviser, you should soften your wings to him, then stretch out your heart to him and open your ears for him until you understand his advice from him. Then you should look into it. If there is compatibility in it to the correctness, praise Allah^{-azwj} upon that and accept from him and recognise his advice for him.

And if it does not happen to be compatible to it, there is mercy in it, and do not accuse him, and know that he did not give you advice except he was mistaken, unless he happens to be deserving of the accusation in your view, therefore do not be fed up with anything from his matters upon every situation, and there is no strength except Allah^{-azwj}.

As for a right of the elder, his right is that you dignify his age, and revere his Islam when he were to be from the people of merit in Al Islam due to his precedence in it, and neglect facing him in the dispute.

Neither precede him to a road, nor lead him in a road, nor consider him ignorant and even if he is ignorant upon you. Tolerate and honour him due to a right of his Islam with his age, for it is a right of the age by worth of Al Islam, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الصَّغِيرِ فَرَحْمُتُهُ وَ تَعْلِيمُهُ وَ الْعَفْوُ عَنْهُ وَ السَّتُرُ عَلَيْهِ وَ الرِّفْقُ بِهِ وَ الْمَعُونَةُ لَهُ وَ السَّتُرُ عَلَى جَرَائِرِ حَدَاثَتِهِ فَإِنَّهُ سَبَبٌ لِلتَّوْبَةِ وَ الْمُدَارَاةُ لَهُ وَ تَرْكُ مُمَاحَكَتِهِ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ أَدْبَى لِمُشْدِه

And as for a right of the young, be merciful to him, and educate him, and teach him, and pardon him, and cover upon him, and be kind with him, and give the assistance to him, and cover upon the audacity of his young age for it is a cause for the repentance, and politeness towards him, and leave from what is argumentative, for that is least for his guidance.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ السَّائِلِ فَإِعْطَاؤُهُ إِذَا تَمِبَّات [هَيَّأَتْ] صَدَقَةٌ وَ قَدَرْتَ عَلَى سَدِّ حَاجَتِهِ وَ الدُّعَاءُ لَهُ فِيمَا نَزَلَ بِهِ وَ الْمُعَاوَنَةُ لَهُ عَلَى طَلِبَتِهِ وَ إِنْ شَكَكْتَ فِي صِدْقِهِ وَ سَبَقَتْ إِلَيْهِ التُّهَمَةُ لَهُ لَمُ تَعْزِمْ عَلَى ذَلِكَ وَ لَمُ تَأْمَنْ أَنْ يَكُونَ مِنْ كَيْدِ الشَّيْطَانِ أَرَادَ أَنْ يَصُدَّكَ عَنْ حَظِّكَ وَ يَحُولَ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ التَّقُرُّبِ إِلَى رَبِّكَ وَ سَبَقَتْهُ بِسَتْرِهِ وَ رَدَدْتُهُ رَدَّا جَمِيلًا وَ إِنْ غَلَبَتْ نَفْسُكَ فِي أَمْرِهِ وَ أَعْطَيْتُهُ عَلَى مَا عَرَضَ فِي نَفْسِكَ مِنْهُ – فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنْ عَرْمِ الْأَمُورِ وَ تَرَدِّتُهُ رِبَاتُهُ اللّهُ وَاللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الل

And as for a right of the beggar, give him when charity is prepared, and measure upon blocking his need, and the supplication to him regarding what has befallen with him, and the assisting to him upon seeking it, and if you were to doubt in his truthfulness, and the accusation has preceded to him, do not determine upon that, and do not feel safe that it might be from a plot of Satan^{-la} intending to block you from his share and is a barrier between you and the drawing closer to your Lord^{-azwj}, and leave him with his veil, and return him a beautiful returning and even if yourself overcomes you regarding his matter, and give him based upon what has presented within yourself about him, for that is from the determined matters.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ الْمَسْثُولِ إِنْ أَعْطَى فَاقْبَلْ مِنْهُ مَا أَعْطَى بِالشُّكْرِ لَهُ وَ الْمَعْرِفَةِ لِفَصْلِهِ وَ اطْلُبْ وَجْهَ الْعُذْرِ فِي مَنْعِهِ وَ أَحْسِنْ بِهِ الظَّنَّ وَ اعْلَمْ أَنَّهُ إِنْ مَنَعَ مَالَهُ مَنعَ وَ أَنْ لَيْسَ التَّثْرِيبُ فِي مَالِهِ وَ إِنْ كَانَ ظَالِماً فَ إِنَّ الْإِنْسَانَ لَظَلُومٌ كَفَّالٌ

And as for a right of the one begged if he were to give, accept from him whatever he gives with the thanking to him, and the recognition of his merit, and seek an aspect of excuse in his refusal, and have goodly thoughts with him, and know that if he has prevented his wealth he is (himself) prevented, and that the benevolence isn't in his wealth, and even if he were to be unjust. *Surely the human being is unjust, ungrateful* [14:34].

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ مَنْ سَرَّكَ اللَّهُ بِهِ وَ عَلَى يَدَيْهِ فَإِنْ كَانَ تَعَمَّدَهَا لَكَ حَمِدْتَ اللَّهَ أَوْلًا ثُمُّ شَكْرْتَهُ عَلَى ذَلِكَ بِقَدْرِهِ فِي مَوْضِعِ الجُزَاءِ وَ كَافَأْتَهُ عَلَى فَصْلِ الإبْتِدَاءِ وَ أَمَصَدْتَ لَهُ الْهُكَافَاةَ

And as for a right of the one whom Allah^{-azwj} cheers you through him, and upon his hand, if he were to be intentional to you, praise Allah^{-azwj} first, then thank him upon that by a measurement of the reward and reciprocate him based upon the merit of having initiated and lie in wait for him for the reciprocation.

وَ إِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ تَعَمَّدَهَا حَمِدْتَ اللَّهَ وَ شَكَرْتَهُ وَ عَلِمْتَ أَنَّهُ مِنْهُ تَوَحَّدَكَ كِمَا وَ أَحْبَبْتَ هَذَا إِذْ كَانَ سَبَباً مِنْ أَسْبَابِ نِعَمِ اللَّهِ عَلَيْكَ وَ تَرْجُو لَهُ بَعْدَ ذَلِكَ خَيْراً فَإِنَّ أَسْبَابِ النِّعَم بَرَكَةٌ حَيْثُ مَاكَانَتْ وَ إِنْ كَانَ لَمْ يَتَعَمَّدُ وَ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِاللّهِ And he had not been intentional, praise Allah^{-azwj} and thank Him^{-azwj} and know that it was from him particularising you with it, and this is beloved if it were to be a means from the means of bounties of Allah^{-azwj} upon you, and hope good for him after that, for the means of bounties are a Blessing wherever they may happen, and even if they were not intentional, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of the one who offends you of the decision upon his hands, either by word or deed, if he were to be intentional, the pardon is foremost with you due to what is in it for him of the repression, and goodly etiquette along with the greatness of his example from the people, for Allah^{-azwj} Says: *And the one who triumphs after having been oppressed, so those ones, they is no way (to blame) upon them [42:41]* – up to His^{-azwj} Words: *from the matters requiring determination [42:43]*.

And the Mighty and Majestic Said: And if you punish, then retaliate with the like of that which you were punished with; and if you are patient, it will be best for those who are patient [16:126]. This is regarding the deliberation (intentional).

If there does not happen to be intentional, you would not have been unjust to him by the deliberate triumphing from him, so you would have reciprocated him regarding the intention upon mistake and be kind with him and return him with the gentleness whatever you are able upon him, and there is no strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

And as for a right of your family members in general, embracing the safety and spreading the wings of mercy, and the kindness with their evil ones, and uniting them, and reconciling them, and thanking their good doers to himself and to you, for his doing good to himself is doing good to you when his harm is restrained from you, and has sufficed you of his assistance, and has withheld himself from you.

Generalise them all with your supplication, and help them all with your help, and status them all from you at their status(es) – their elder at the status of the parent, and their young one at the status of the son, and their middle one at the status of the brother. The one who comes to you, deal with him with gentleness and mercy, and connect your brother with what is obligate for the brother to his brother.

وَ أَمَّا حَقُّ أَهْلِ الذِّمَّةِ فَاكْحُمُ فِيهِمْ أَنْ تَقْبَلَ مِنْهُمْ مَا قَبِلَ اللَّهُ وَ تَفِيَ بِمَا جَعَلَ اللَّهُ لَهُمْ مِنْ ذِمَّتِهِ وَ عَهْدِهِ وَ تُكَلِّمَهُمْ إِلَيْهِ فِيمَا طُلِبُوا مِنْ أَنْفُسِهِمْ وَ أُجْيِرُوا عَلَيْه

And as for a right of the people under the responsibility, the decision regarding them is that you should accept from them what Allah^{-azwj} has Accepted and be loyal with what Allah^{-azwj} has Made for them of His^{-azwj} Responsibility, and His^{-azwj} Covenant, and speak for them to Him^{-azwj} regarding what they are seeking from themselves and have been coerced upon.

وَ تَحْكُمَ فِيهِمْ بِمَا حَكَمَ اللهُ بِهِ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ فِيمَا جَرَى بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُمْ مِنْ مُعَامَلَةٍ وَ لَيْكُنْ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ ظُلُمِهِمْ مِنْ رِعَايَةِ ذِمَّةِ اللهِ وَ الْوَفَاءِ بِعَهْدِهِ وَ عَهْدِ رَسُولِهِ صَ حَائِلٌ فَإِنَّهُ بَلَغَنَا أَنَّهُ قَالَ مَنْ ظَلَمَ مُعَاهَداً كُنْتُ حَصْمَهُ فَاتَق اللهَ وَ لَا حَوْلَ وَ لَا قُوّةَ إِلَّا بِاللهِ

And decision regarding them with what Allah^{-azwj} has Judged with upon yourself, regarding what flows between you and them of the dealings, and let their injustices be between you and them from the Patronage of the Responsibility of Allah^{-azwj}, and the loyalty with His^{-azwj} Covenant, and pact of His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww} as a barrier, for it has reached us^{-asws} that he^{-saww} said: 'One whoever wrongs a covenant, it would dispute him (on the Day of Qiyamah)'. Therefore fear Allah^{-azwj}, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah^{-azwj}.

فَهَذِهِ خُمْسُونَ حَقّاً مُجِيطَةً بِكَ- لَا تَخْرِجُ مِنْهَا فِي حَالٍ مِنَ الْأَحْوَالِ يَجِبُ عَلَيْكَ رِعَايَتُهَا وَ الْعَمَلُ فِي تَأْدِيَتِهَا وَ الاِسْتِعَانَةُ بِاللّهِ جَلَّ ثَنَاؤُهُ عَلَى ذَلِكَ وَ لَا حَوْلُ وَ لَا قُوّةً إِلّا بِاللّهِ- وَ الْحَمْلُ لِلّهِ رَبّ الْعالَمِينَ.

So these are fifty rights surrounding you. Do not exit from these in any situation from the situations. It is obligatory upon you to take care of these and working in fulfilling these, and the assistance is with Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Praise, upon that, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah^{-azwj}, and the Praise is for Allah^{-azwj}, Lord^{-azwj} of the worlds".³

إنما أوردناه مكررا للاختلاف الكثير بينهما و قوة سند الأول و كثرة فوائد الثاني.

<u>Note –</u> (Majlisi says, 'But rather we have referred it repeating due to the many differences between the two, and strength of the attribution of the first, and many benefits of the second')

3- ضا، فقه الرضا عليه السلام رُوِي لَا تَقْطَعْ أُودًاءَ أَبِيكَ فَيُطْفَى نُورُكَ

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}. It is reported: 'Do not cut of cordialities of your father for your Noor will be extinguished'.

وَ رُويَ أَنَّ الرَّحِمَ إِذَا بَعُدَتْ غُبِطَتْ وَ إِذَا تَمَاسَّتْ عَطِبَتْ

And it is reported, 'The kinship, when it is distant, it is happy, and when it touches, it is spoilt'.

³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 1 H 2

.

And it is reported, 'Walk two years in righteousness of your parents; walk a year in helping your kindred; walk a mile to console a sick one; walk two miles to escort a funeral; walk three miles to answer an invitation; walk four miles to visit your brother regarding Allah^{-azwj}; walk five miles to help an oppressed; and walk six miles to help a worried one; walk ten miles in fulfilling the need of a Momin, and upon you is with seeking the Forgiveness'.

And we are reporting: 'Be rightful to your fathers, your sons will be righteous with you. Refrain from women of the people, your women will be chaste'.

And I am reporting: 'The elder brother is at the status of the father'.

And I am reporting, 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} used to apportion his^{-saww} glances between his^{-saww} gatherers, and he^{-saww} was not asked about anything at all, so he^{-saww} had said: 'No, by my^{-saww} father^{-as} and my^{-saww} mother^{-as}!', and he^{-saww} did not fault anyone upon a sin he had sinned'.

And we are reporting: 'One who exposes his Momin brother regarding his narration, so it is as if he has scratched his face'.

And we are reporting: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} had cursed three – eater of his provision alone, a rider in the wilderness alone, and the one sleeping along in a house'.

And I am reporting: 'Give to your families during every Friday with something from the fruits and the meat until they are joyful with the Friday''.⁴

٠

⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 1 H 3

أبواب آداب العشرة بين ذوي الأرحام و المماليك و الخدم المشاركين غالبا في البيت

CHAPTERS ON THE ETIQUETTES OF THE COMMUNITY BETWEEN ONES WITH KINSHIP, AND THE SLAVES, AND THE SERVANTS, PARTICIPANTS WHO ARE MOSTLY AT HOME

باب 2 بر الوالدين و الأولاد و حقوق بعضهم على بعض و المنع من العقوق

CHAPTER 2 – KINDNESS WITH THE PARENTS, AND THE CHILDREN, AND RIGHTS OF SOME UPON OTHERS, AND THE PROHIBITION FROM BEING DISLOYAL

الآيات

The Verses -

البقرة وَ إِذْ أَحَذْنا مِيثاقَ بَنِي إِسْرائِيلَ لا تَعْبُدُونَ إِلَّا اللَّهَ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً

(Surah) Al Baqarah - And when We Took a Covenant with the Children of Israel: "You will not be worshipping but Allah, and the kindness with the parents, [2:83]

الأنعام قُلْ تَعالَوْا أَتْلُ مَا حَرَّمَ رَبُّكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ أَلَّا تُشْرِكُوا بِهِ شَيْعًا وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً وَ لا تَقْتُلُوا أَوْلادَكُمْ مِنْ إِمْلاقٍ خَنْ نَرْزُقُكُمْ وَ إِيَّاهُمْ

(Surah) Al Anaam - Say: 'Come, I shall recite (regarding that) which your Lord has Prohibited upon you all — that you will not be associating anything with Him, and kindness with the parents, and you will not be killing your children due to destitution' - We are Sustaining you and them [6:151]

التوبة يا أَيُّهَا الَّذِينَ آمَنُوا لا تَتَّخِذُوا آباءَكُمْ وَ إِحْوانَكُمْ أَوْلِياءَ إِنِ اسْتَحَبُّوا الْكُفْرَ عَلَى الْإِيمانِ وَ مَنْ يَتَوَهُّمْ مِنْكُمْ فَأُولِيكَ هُمُ الظَّالِمُونَ –

(Surah) Al Tawbah - O you who believe! Do not take your fathers and your brothers as friends if they love the Kufr over the Eman, and the ones from you who befriend them, so these, they are the unjust ones [9:23]

قُلْ إِنْ كَانَ آباؤُكُمْ وَ أَبْناؤُكُمْ وَ إِخْوانُكُمْ وَ أَزْواجُكُمْ وَ عَشِيرَئُكُمْ وَ أَمْوالَ اقْتَرْفَتُمُوها وَ تجارَةٌ كَخْشَوْنَ كسادَها وَ مَساكِنُ تَرْضَوْهَا أَحَبَّ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ اللّهِ وَ رَسُولِهِ وَ جِهادٍ فِي سَبِيلِهِ فَتَرَبَّصُوا حَتَّى يَأْتِيَ اللّهُ بِأَمْرِهِ وَ اللّهُ لا يَهْدِي الْقَوْمَ الْفاسِقِينَ Say: 'If it was your fathers, and your sons, and your brethren, and your wives, and your clan, and your acquired wealth, and the slowdown in trade you fear, and the dwellings you are pleased with are more beloved to you than Allah and His Rasool and the Jihad in the Way of Allah, then wait until Allah Comes with his Command; and Allah does not Guide the mischief making people' [9:24]

الإسراء وَ قَضى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً إِمَّا يَبْلُغَنَّ عِنْدَكَ الْكِبَرَ أَحَدُهُما أَوْ كِلاهُما فَلا تَقُلْ لَهُما أُفِّ وَ لا تَنْهَرْهُما وَ قُلْ لَهُما قَوْلًا كريماً–

(Surah) Al Isra - And your Lord has Decreed that you shall not worship except Him, and goodness with the parents. If they reach old age with you, one of them or both of them, then do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them nor chide them, and say gracious words to them [17:23]

And lower to them the wings of humbleness from the mercy and say, 'Lord! Mercy them just as they nourished me (when I was) little' [17:24]

Your Lord is more Knowing with what is within your selves; if you become righteous, then He would always be Forgiving to the penitent [17:25]

(Surah) Maryam^{-as} - **And rightful with his parents, and he was not insolent, disobedient** [19:14]

And Said: And righteousness with my mother, and did not Make me tyrannous, wretched [19:32]

(Surah) Al Ankabout - And We Enjoined the human being kindness with his parents. And if they contend with you for you to associate with Me but (regarding) that you do not have knowledge with you, then do not obey them. To Me is your return, and I will Inform you with what you had been doing [29:8]

(Surah) Luqman^{-as} - And We Bequeathed the human being (goodness) regarding his parents – his mother carried him with weakness upon weakness, and his weaning during two years: "Be thankful to Me and to your parents! To Me is the destination" [31:14]

And if they both strive against you upon that you should associate with Me, what there isn't any knowledge for you of it, then do not obey them, and accompany them kindly in the world; [31:15]

(Surah) Al Ahqaf - And We Bequeathed the human with being kind to his parents. His mother bore with abhorrence and gave birth to him with abhorrence; and his bearing and his weaning is of thirty months; [46:15].

1 - كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ بَحْرٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَمَّنْ رَوَاهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَقْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ بَحْسِاناً فَظَنَنَّا أَكَّا الْآيَةُ الَّتِي فِي بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ وَ قَضَى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ الْوَالِدَيْنِ إِحْسَاناً فَظَنَنَّا أَكَّا الْآيَةُ الَّتِي فِي بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ وَ قَضَى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْسَاناً فَظَنَنَّا أَكَّا الْآيَةُ الَّتِي فِي بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ وَ قَضَى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْسَاناً فَظَنَنَّا أَكَّا الْآيَةُ الَّذِي فِي اللَّهِ عَنْ الْبَرَقِي عَنْ الْبَرِقِي عَنْ الْبَرِقِي اللَّهِ عَنْ الْمُؤْمِنَّالُوالِدَيْنِ إِنْ الْوَالِدَيْنِ إِنْ وَالْعَلْمَ اللَّهِ عَنْ الْمُؤْمِنَّالُوالِدَيْنِ إِنْ الْوَالِدَيْنِ إِنْ وَالْمُؤْمِنَا أَنَّا اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ عَلَى إِنْ الْوَالِدَيْنِ فِي قَوْلِ اللَّهِ عَزِّ وَ جَلَ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْسَاناً وَمِنْ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَبُدُ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ اللللّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللللّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Abdullah Bin Bahr, from Abdullah Bin Muskan, from the one who reported it,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'He-asws said while I was in his-asws presence, to Abdul Wahid Al-Ansari regarding kindness with the parents in Words of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic: and the kindness with the parents, [2:83]. We thought that it is the Verse which is in (Surah) Bani Israeel: And your Lord has Decreed that you shall not worship except Him, and goodness with the parents. [17:23].

When it was afterwards, I asked him^{-asws}, so he^{-asws} said: 'It is which is in (Surah) Luqman^{-as}: And We Bequeathed the human being (goodness) regarding his parents [31:14] And if they both strive against you upon that you should associate with Me, what there isn't any knowledge for you of it, then do not obey them, [31:15]'.

He^{-asws} said: 'That is mightier rather than Him^{-azwj} Commanding with connecting with them and their rights upon all situations'.

And if they both strive against you upon that you should associate with Me, what there isn't any knowledge for you of it, then do not obey them, [31:15] – He^{-asws} said: 'No but He^{-azwj} has Commanded with connecting with them, and if they were to strive against him upon the Shirk, their rights will not increase except in might''.⁵

•

⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 1

بيان

Explanation (Ahadeeth only) -

رَوَاهُ مُؤَلِّفُ كِتَابِ تَأْوِيلِ الْآيَاتِ الظَّاهِرَةِ نَقْلًا مِنْ تَفْسِيرِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْعَبَّاسِ بْنِ مَاهْيَارَ بِسَنَدِهِ الصَّحِيحِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ جَابِرَ الجُّغْفِيِّ عِنْدَ أَبِي جَعْفَر ع وَ هُوَ يُحَدِّثُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ وَ عَلِيّاً ع الْوَالِدَانِ

It is reported by compiler of the book 'Taweel Al Ayaat Al Zaahira', copying from Tafseer of Muhammad Bin Al Abbas Bin Mayar, by his correct chain from Abdullah Bin Suleyman who said,

'I witnessed Jabir Al-Jufy being in the presence of Abu Ja'far^{-asws} and he^{-asws} narrated: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} and Ali^{-asws} are the two parents'.

قَالَ عَبْدُ اللَّهِ بْنُ سُلَيْمَانَ وَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ عَ يَقُولُ مِنَّا الَّذِي أَحَلَّ الله لَهُ الحُمُسَ وَ الَّذِي جَاءَ بِالصِّدْقِ وَ مِنَّا الَّذِي صَدَّقَ بِهِ وَ لَنَا الْمَوَدَّةُ فِي كِتَابِ اللهِ جَلَّ وَ عَزَّ وَ عَلِيٌّ وَ رَسُولُ اللهِ صَلَوَاتُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِمَا الْوَالِدَانِ وَ أَمَرَ اللهُ ذُرَيَّتَهُمَا بالشُّكْرِ لَهُمَا.

Abdullah Bin Suleyman (narrator) said, 'And I heard Abu Ja'far^{-asws} saying: 'From us^{-asws} is the one whom Allah^{-azwj} has Made the Khums to be Permissible for him, and the one who came with the truthfulness, and from us^{-asws} is the one whom ratified him^{-saww}, and for us^{-asws} is the cordiality in the Book of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon them^{-asws} both, are the two fathers (parents), and Allah^{-azwj} has Commanded their^{-asws} offspring to be thanking them^{-asws}".

And it is reported as well by another correct chain, from Ibn Muskan, from Zurara, from Abdul Wahid Bin Mukhtar who said,

'I entered to see Abu Ja'far^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said: 'Don't you know that Ali^{-asws} is one of the two parents (fathers), the ones for whom Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: '"Be thankful to Me and to your parents! [31:14]?'

Zurara said, 'I didn't know which Verse it was, that which is in (Surah) Bani Israeel or that which is in (Surah) Luqman^{-as}'.

He (Zurara) said, 'It was Decreed for me that I performed Hajj, so I entered to see Abu Ja'far^{asws}. I isolated with him^{-asws}. I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! There is a Hadeeth which Abdul Wahid has come with'.

قَالَ نَعَمْ

He-asws said: 'Yes'.

قُلْتُ أَيَّةُ آيَةٍ هِيَ الَّتِي فِي لُقْمَانَ أَو الَّتِي فِي بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ

I said, 'Which Verse is it, that which is in (Surah) Luqman^{-as}, or that which is in (Surah) Bani Israeel?'

فَقَالَ الَّتِي فِي لُقْمَانَ.

He-asws said: 'That which is in (Surah) Luqman-as''.

2-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ خَالِدِ بْنِ نَافِعٍ الْبَجَلِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ يَقُولُ إِنَّ رَجُلًا أَتَى النَّبِيَّ صِ فَقَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللّهِ أَوْصِنِي

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad and Ali, from his father, altogether from Ibn Mahboub, from Khalid Bin Nafie Al Bajali, from Muhammad Bin Marwan who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Advise me'.

فَقَالَ لَا تُشْرِكْ بِاللَّهِ شَيْئًا وَ إِنْ حُرِّفْتَ بِالنَّارِ وَ عُذِّبْتَ إِلَّا وَ قَلْبُكَ مُطْمَئِنٌّ بِالْإِيمَانِ وَ وَالِدَيْكَ فَأَطِعْهُمَا وَ بَرَّهُمَا حَيَّيْنِ كَانَا أَوْ مَيَتَيْنِ وَ إِنْ أَمَرَاكَ أَنْ تَخْرُجَ مِنْ أَهْلِكَ وَ مَالِكَ فَافْعَلْ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنَ الْإِيمَانِ.

He^{-saww} said: 'Do not associate anything with Allah^{-azwj} and even if you are incinerated by the fire and tormented, except and your heart will be reassured with the Eman, and your parents, so feed them be kind to them whether they are alive or dead, and if they were to order you to get out from your family, and your wealth, then do so, for that is from the Eman''.⁶

3-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْنِي عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى وَ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي وَلَادٍ الْحَنَّاطِ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ قَوْلِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَارً- وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْسَاناً مَا هَذَا الْإِحْسَانُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa and Ali from his father, altogether from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Wallad Al Hannat who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *and goodness with the parents [17:23]*, 'What is this goodness?'

فَقَالَ الْإِحْسَانُ أَنْ تُحْسِنَ صُحْبَتَهُمَا وَ أَنْ لَا تُكَلِفَهُمَا أَنْ يَسْأَلَاكَ شَيْئًا مِمَّا يَخْتَاجَانِ إِلَيْهِ وَ إِنْ كَانَا مُسْتَغْنِيَيْنِ أَ لَيْسَ يَقُولُ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- لَنْ تَنالُوا الْبِرَّ حَمَّى تُنْفِقُوا مِمَّا تُجِبُّونَ

He^{-asws} said: 'The goodness is that you should be a good companion to them, and you should not encumber them, if they were to ask you of anything from whatever they are need to, and

⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 2

-

even if they were needless. Isn't Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Saying: 'You will never attain to righteousness until you are spending from what you are loving; [3:92]'.

قَالَ ثُمُّ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ وَ أَمَّا قَوْلُ اللّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ- إِمَّا يَبْلُغَنَّ عِنْدَكَ الْكِبَرَ أَحَدُهُما أَوْ كِلاهُما فَلا تَقُلْ لَهُما أُفَّ وَ لا تَنْهَرْهُما قَالَ إِنْ أَضْجَرَاكَ فَلا تَقُلْ لَهُمَا أُفَّ وَ لا تَنْهَرْهُمَا إِنْ ضَرَبَاكَ

He (the narrator) said, 'Then Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'And as for the Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *If they reach old age with you, one of them or both of them, then do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them nor chide them, [17:23]*. If they were to rebuke you, do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them and do not chide them if they were to hit you'.

He (the narrator) said, 'and say gracious words to them [17:23]'. He-asws said: 'If they were to hit you, then say, 'May Allah-azwj Forgive you both', so that would be a gracious word from you'.

قَالَ وَ الحَفِضْ لَهُما جَناحَ الذُّلِّ مِنَ الرَّمْمَةِ قَالَ لَا تَمْلَ عَيْنَيْكَ مِنَ النَّظَرِ إِلَيْهِمَا إِلَّا بِرَحْمَةٍ وَ رِقَّةٍ وَ لَا تَرْفَعْ صَوْتَكَ فَوْقَ أَصْوَاتِهِمَا وَ لَا يَدَكَ فَوْقَ أَيْدِيهِمَا وَ لَا تَقَدَّمْ قُدَّامَهُمَا.

He (the narrator) said, 'And lower to them the wings of humbleness from the mercy [17:24]'. He^{-asws} said: 'Do not fill your eyes from looking at them except with Mercy, and do no raise your voice above their voices, nor your hand above their hands, nor proceed ahead of them''.⁷

4-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ سَيْفٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: يَأْتِي يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ شَيْءٌ مِثْلُ الْكَبَّةِ فَيَدْفَعُ فِي ظَهْرِ الْمُؤْمِنِ فَيُدْخِلُهُ الْجَنَّةُ فَلَقَالُ هَذَا الْبُّرُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Sayf,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'They shall bring on the Day of Qiyamah something like the globe. It would push in the back of the Momin and enter him into the Paradise. It will be said: 'This is the kindness (with the parents)''.⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla, from Al Washa, from Mansour Bin Hazim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Which of the deeds is superior?'

قَالَ الصَّلَاةُ لِوَقْتِهَا وَ بِرُّ الْوَالِدَيْنِ وَ الْجِهَادُ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ.

 $^{^{7}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 3

⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 4

He^{-asws} said: 'The Salat at its timings, and kindness with the parents, and the Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}''. ⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Dorost,

'From Abu Al-Hassan Musa-asws having said: 'A man asked Rasool-Allah-saww, 'What is a right of the father upon his son?'

He^{-asws} said: 'He should neither name him with his name, nor walk in front of him, nor sit before he does, nor let him be insulted".¹⁰

تبيان

Clarification (Ahadeeth only)

وَ فِي رَوْضَةِ الْكَافِي فِي حَدِيثِ عَرْضِ الْخَيْلِ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ص لَعَنَ جَمَاعَةً إِلَى أَنْ قَالَ وَ مَنْ لَعَنَ أَبَوَيْهِ فَقَالَ رَجُلٌ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ أَ يُوجَدُ رَجُلٌ يَلْعَنُ أَبَوَيْهِ فَقَالَ نَعَمْ يَلْعَنُ آبَاءَ الرَّجَالِ وَ أُمَّهَا يَعِمُ فَيَلْعَنُونَ أَبَوَيْهِ.

And in (the book) 'Rowzat Al Kafi' – In a Hadeeth of presentation of the cavalry horses, Rasool-Allah^{-azwj} cursed a group until he^{-saww} said: 'And the one who curses his parents'. A man said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Can one find a man who curses his own parents?' He^{-saww} said: 'Yes. He curses fathers of the (other) men and their mothers, so he is cursing his own parents''.

He said in (the book) 'Al Nihaya' (non-Shia source), in a Hadeeth by Abu Hureyra: 'Do not walk in front of your father and do not be seated before he does, nor call him by his name, nor let him be exposed to the insults''.

7 - كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْحُكَمِ بْنِ مِسْكِينٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ قَالَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع مَا يَمْتُعُ الرَّجُلَ مِنْكُمْ أَنْ يَبَرُّ وَالِدَيْهِ حَيَّيْنِ أَوْ مَيَّتَيْنِ يُصَلِّي عَنْهُمَا وَ يَتَصَدَّقُ عَنْهُمَا وَ يَحُجُّ عَنْهُمَا وَ يَصُومُ عَنْهُمَا فَيَكُونَ الَّذِي صَنَعَ لَهُمَا وَ لَهُ مِثْلُ ذَلِكَ فَيَزِيدَهُ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِبِرِّهِ وَ صَلاتِهِ خَبْرًا كَثِيرًا.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al Hakam Bin Miskeen, from Muhammad Bin Marwan who said,

 $^{^{9}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 5

¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 6

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'What prevents the man from you to be kind with his parents, whether they are alive or dead. He should pray Salat on their behalf, and give charity on their behalf, and perform Hajj on their behalf, and he should fast on their behalf. That which he does for them, there would be similar to that for him. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic due to his kindness, and his Salat is of a lot of good''.¹¹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Moammar Bin Khallad who said,

'I said to Abu Al-Hassan Al-Reza^{-asws}, 'Should I supplicate for my parents when they had not recognised the truth?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Supplicate for them, and give charity on their behalf, and if they were to be alive not recognising the truth, then introduce them (to it), for Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Sent me^{-saww} with the mercy, not with the ingratitude''.¹²

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Salim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Who shall I be kinder with?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother'.

قَالَ ثُمَّ مَنْ قَالَ أُمَّكَ

He said, 'Then who?' He-saww said: 'Your mother'.

قَالَ أُمَّ مَنْ قَالَ أُمَّكَ

He said, 'Then who?' He-saww said: 'Your mother'.

قَالَ أُمُّ مَنْ قَالَ أَبَاكَ.

He said, 'Then who?' He-saww said: 'Your father''. 13

¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 7

¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 8

¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 9

تبيان

Clarification (Ahadeeth) only

It is reported by Muslim (non-Shia source), 'A man said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-azwj}! Who is the most deserving of the people with goodly accompaniment?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother, then your mother, then your father''.

It is reported by Muslim (non-Shia source) as well, 'A man said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-azwj}! Who is the most deserving of the people with goodly accompaniment?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother'. He said, 'Then who?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother'. He said, 'Then who?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your father''.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Salim, from Ahmad Bin Al Nazr, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! I am desirous regarding the Jihad actively'.

He (the narrator) said, 'The Prophet^{-saww} said to him: 'Then do Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}. If you were to be killed, you would be alive in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} being sustained, and if you were to die, your Recompense will fall upon Allah^{-azwj}, and if you were to return, you will be returning from the sins like what you had been (re) born'.

He said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! There are two old parents for me. They are comforted by me and dislike my going out'.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Then stay with your parent, for by the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is my^{-saww} soul! Their being comforted by you for a day and a night is better your Jihad for a year''.¹⁴

11-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنْ مُعَاوِيَةَ بْنِ وَهْبٍ عَنْ زُكْرِيًّا بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ قَالَ: كُنْتُ نَصْرَانِيًّا فَأَسْلَمْتُ وَ حَجَجْتُ فَدَخَلْتُ عَلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع فَقُلْتُ إِنِّ كُنْتُ عَلَى النَّصْرَانِيَّةِ وَ إِنِي أَسْلَمْتُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Muawiya Bin Wahab, from Zakariya Bin Ibrahim who said,

'I used to be a Christian. I became a Muslim and performed Hajj. I entered to see Abu Abdullah-asws. I said, 'I used to be upon the Christianity, and I have become a Muslim'.

فَقَالَ وَ أَيَّ شَيْءٍ رَأَيْتَ فِي الْإِسْلَامِ

He-asws said: 'And which have you seen in Al-Islam?'

قُلْتُ قَوْلُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ مَا كُنْتَ تَدْرَى مَا الْكِتَابُ وَ لَا الْإِيمَانُ وَ لَكِنْ جَعَلْنَاهُ نُوراً غَدْرِي بِهِ مَنْ نَشَاءُ

I said, 'Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **You (people) did not know what the Book was, nor the Eman, but We Made it a 'Noor' (Light) We Guide with one We so Desire from [42:52]**'.

فَقَالَ لَقَدْ هَدَاكَ اللَّهُ ثُمُّ قَالَ اللَّهُمَّ اهْدِهِ ثَلَاثاً سَلْ عَمَّا شِئْتَ يَا بُنَيَّ

He^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Guided you!' Then he^{-asws} said: 'O Allah^{-azwj}, Guide him!' – three times – 'Ask about whatever comes to you, O my son!'

فَقُلْتُ إِنَّ أَبِي وَ أُتِي عَلَى النَّصْرَانِيَّةِ وَ أَهْلَ بَيْتِي وَ أُتِي مَكْفُوفَةُ الْبَصَر فَأَكُونُ مَعَهُمْ وَ آكُلُ فِي آنِيتِهِمْ

I said, 'My father and my mother are upon the Christianity, and so are my family members, and my mother is blind of sight. I happen to be with them and eat in their utensils'.

فَقَالَ يَأْكُلُونَ كَمْ الْخِنْزِير

He-asws said: 'Are they eating the flesh of swine?'

فَقُلْتُ لَا وَ لَا يَمَسُّونَهُ

I said, 'No, nor are they touching it'.

فَقَالَ لَا بَأْسَ فَانْظُرُ أُمَّكَ فَبَرَهَا فَإِذَا مَاتَتْ فَلَا تَكِلْهَا إِلَى غَيْرِكَ كُنْ أَنْتَ الَّذِي تَقُومُ بِشَأْنِهَا وَ لَا تُخْبِرَنَّ أَحَداً أَنَّكَ أَتَيْتَنِي حَتَّى تَأْتِيَنِي بِمِنَّى إِنْ شَاءَ اللَّهُ

Page 45 of 462

¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 10

He^{-asws} said: 'There is no problem. Look at your mother and be kind with her. When she dies, do not allocate her to someone else. You be the one who stands with her affairs (funeral etc.) and do not inform anyone you have come to me^{-asws} until you come to me^{-asws} at Mina if Allah^{-azwj} so Desires'.

He said, 'I came to him^{-asws} at Mina and the people were around him^{-asws}. It was as if he^{-asws} was a teacher of the children. This one was asking him^{-asws}, and this one was asking him^{-asws}. When I arrived at Al-Kufa I was kind to my mother, and used to feed her, and wash her clothes and her head, and I served her.

She said to me, 'O my son! You have not been doing this with me while you were upon my religion. So what is that which I see with you since you emigrated and entered into the uprightness?'

I said, 'A man from the sons-asws of our Prophet-saww had instructed me with this'.

فَقَالَتْ هَذَا الرَّجُلُ هُوَ نَيٌّ

She said, 'This man, is he a Prophet^{-as}?'

فَقُلْتُ لَا وَ لَكِنَّهُ ابْنُ نَبِيّ

I said, 'No, but he-asws is a son-asws of a Prophet-saww'.

فَقَالَتْ يَا بُنَيَّ هَذَا نَبِيٌّ إِنَّ هَذِهِ وَصَايَا الْأَنْبِيَاءِ

She said, 'O my son! This one is a Prophet-saww! These are advices of the Prophets-as'.

فَقُلْتُ يَا أُمَّهْ إِنَّهُ لَيْسَ يَكُونُ بَعْدَ نَبِيِّنَا نَبِيٌّ وَ لَكِنَّهُ ابْنُهُ

I said, 'O mother! There isn't going to be any Prophet^{-as} after our Prophet^{-saww}, but he^{-asws} is his^{-saww} son^{-asws}'.

فَقَالَتْ يَا بُنَيَّ دِينُكَ حَيْرُ دِينِ اعْرِضْهُ عَلَيَّ

She said, 'O my son! Your religion is the best religion. Present it unto me!'

فَعَرَضْتُهُ عَلَيْهَا فَدَخَلَتْ فِي الْإِسْلَامِ وَ عَلَّمْتُهَا فَصَلَّتِ الظُّهْرَ وَ الْعَصْرَ وَ الْمَغْرِبَ وَ الْعِشَاءَ الْآخِرَةَ ثُمَّ عَرَضَ لَمَا عَارِضٌ فِي اللَّيْل

I presented it to her. She entered into Al-Islam, and I taught her. She prayed Al-Zohr, and Al-Asr, and Al-Maghrib, and Al-Isha the last Salats. Then a presenter presented to her (in a dream) during the night.

فَقَالَتْ يَا بُنِيَّ أُعِدْ عَلَيَّ مَا عَلَّمْتَني

She said, 'O my son! Repeat unto me what you have taught me'.

فَأَعَدْتُهُ عَلَيْهَا فَأَقَرَتْ بِهِ وَ مَاتَتْ فَلَمَّا أَصْبَحَتْ كَانَ الْمُسْلِمُونَ الَّذِينَ غَسَّلُوهَا وَ كُنْتُ أَنَا الَّذِي صَلَّيْتُ عَلَيْهَا وَ نَزَلْتُ في قَرْهَا.

I repeated it to her. She acknowledged with it, and she died. When it was morning, the Muslims were the ones who washed her, and I was the one whom prayed Salat upon her and descended into her grave". ¹⁵

12-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الحُكَمِ وَ عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرِّقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مِهْرَانَ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الحُكَمِ وَ عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرِّقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مِهْرَانَ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ إِسْمَاعِيلَ ابْنِي بِي فَقَالَ لَقَدْ كُنْتُ أُحِبُّهُ وَ قَدِ ازْدَدْتُ لَهُ حُبَّا إِنَّ رَسُولَ اللّهِ صِ أَتَتْهُ أَخْتُ لَهُ مِنَ الرَّضَاعَةِ عَمَّالِ اللهِ عَبِرِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ ابْنِي بِي فَقَالَ لَقَدْ كُنْتُ أُحِبُهُ وَ قَدِ ازْدَدْتُ لَهُ حُبَّا إِنَّ رَسُولَ اللّهِ صِ أَتَتْهُ أَخْتُ لَهُ مِنَ الرَّضَاعَةِ فَلَا اللهِ عَلَيْهَا عَلَيْهَا

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, and from the number, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mihran, altogether from Ibn Ameyra, from Ibn Muskan, from Ammat Bin Hayyan who said,

'I informed Abu Abdullah^{-asws} of the kindness of my son with me. He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} used to love him, and this has increased my^{-asws} love for him. Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, a sister from the breast-feeding (step sister) came to him^{-saww}. When he^{-saww} looked at her, was cheered by her, and he^{-saww} spread out his^{-saww} rug for her and seated her upon it.

ثُمُّ أَقْبَلَ يُحَدِّثُهَا وَ يَضْحَكُ فِي وَجْهِهَا ثُمُّ قَامَتْ فَذَهَبَتْ وَ جَاءَ أَخُوهَا فَلَمْ يَصْنَعْ بِهِ مَا صَنَعَ كِمَا فَقِيلَ لَهُ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ صَنَعْتَ بِأَخْتِهِ مَا لَمْ تَصْنَعْ بِهِ وَ هُوَ رَجُلٌ

Then he-saww faced discussing with her and smiling in her face. Then she stood up and went away, and her brother came. He-saww do with him what he had done with her. It was said to him-saww, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! You-as did her his sister what you did not do with him, and he is a man!'

فَقَالَ لِأَنَّهَا كَانَتْ أَبَرَّ بِوَالِدَيْهَا مِنْهُ.

 $\mbox{He}^{\mbox{\tiny -saww}}$ said: 'Because she was kinder with her parents than he was''. 16

13-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحْمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع إِنَّ أَبِي قَدْ كَبِرَ حِدًّا وَ ضَعُفَ فَنَحْنُ ثُخْمِلُهُ إِذَا أَرَادَ الْحُاجَةَ

 $^{^{15}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 11

¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 12

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Ibn Ameyra, from Ibn Muskan, from Ibrahim Bin Shueyb who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'My father has become very old and has weakened. We carry him whenever he wants the need (toilet)'.

He^{-asws} said: 'If are able to be in charge of that from him, then do so, and feed him with your own hand for it will be a shield for you tomorrow''.¹⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Ibn Ameyra, from Abu Al Sabbah, from Jabir who said,

'I heard a man saying to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'There are parents for me (who are) adversaries'. He^{-asws} said: 'Be kind with them just as you are kind to the Muslims who are from the ones who befriend us^{-asws}'.¹⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father and Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad bin Muhammad, altogether, from Ibn Mahboub, from Malik Bin Atiyya, from Anbasa Bin Mus'ab,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Three (matters), Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has not Made any allowance for anyone regarding these – paying the entrustment to the righteous and the immoral, and the loyalty with the covenant with the righteous and the immoral, and righteousness with the parents, whether they were to be righteous or immoral''.¹⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the Sunnah and the righteousness is that a man should teknonym his father (not call him by his name)".²⁰

¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 13

¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 14

¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 15

²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 16

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla and Ali Bin Muhammad, from Salih Bin Abu Hammad, altogether, from Al Washa, from Ahmad Bin A'aiz, from Abu Khadeeja, from Moalla Bin Khuneys,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came and asked the Prophet^{-saww} about kindness with the parents. He^{-saww} said: 'Be kind with your mother, be kind with your mother, be kind with your father, be kind with your father, be kind with your father, and begin with the mother before the father''.²¹

18-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنْ أَبِي حَدِيجَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: جَاءَ رَجُلِّ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ صَ قَالَ إِنِّي وَلَدْتُ بِنْتًا وَ رَبَّيْتُهَا حَتَّى إِذَا بَلَغَتْ فَأَلْبَسْتُهَا وَ حِمْ تَقُولُ بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: جَاءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى قَلِيبِ فَدَفَعْتُهَا فِي جَوْفِهِ وَكَانَ آخِرُ مَا سَجِعْتُ مِنْهَا وَ هِمْ تَقُولُ يَا أَبْتَاهُ فَمَا كَفَّارُةُ ذَلِكَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain, from Abu Khadeeja,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'A daughter was born for me. I nourished her and adorned her until when she had grown up. I clothed her and ornamented her. Then I came with her to a well and pushed her into its interior, and the last of what I heard from her was she said, 'O father!' So what is an expiation of that?'

قَالَ أَ لَكَ أُمٌّ حَيَّةٌ قَالَ لَا

He-saww said: 'Is there for you a mother who is alive?' He said, 'No'.

قَالَ فَلَكَ حَالَةٌ حَيَّةٌ قَالَ نَعَمْ

He^{-saww} said: 'Is there for you a maternal aunt who is alive?' He said, 'Yes'.

قَالَ فَابْرَرْهَا فَإِنَّمَا بِمُنْزِلَةِ الْأُمِّ تُكَفِّرُ عَنْكَ مَا صَنَعْتَ

He^{-saww} said: 'Be kind with her, for she is at the status of the mother. It shall be expiated from you what you have done'.

قَالَ أَبُو خَدِيجَةَ فَقُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ مَتَى كَانَ هَذَا

Abu Khadeeja said, 'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'When had this happened?'

قَالَ كَانَ فِي الْجَاهِلِيَّةِ وَكَانُوا يَقْتُلُونَ الْبَنَاتِ مَخَافَةً أَنْ يُسْبَيْنَ فَيَلِدْنَ فِي قَوْمِ آحَرِينَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'It happened during the pre-Islamic period, and they were killing the daughters fearing they might be taken captive and give birth among other people".²²

19-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ بَرِيعٍ عَنْ حَنَانِ بْنِ سَدِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع هَلْ يَجْزِي الْوَلَدُ وَالِدَهُ

 $^{^{21}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 17

²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 18

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Bazie, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father who said,

'I said to Abu Ja'far-asws, 'Can the son reward (recompense) his father?'

He^{-asws} said: 'There is no reward for him except in two characteristics. The father might happen to be a slave, so his son buys him and liberates him, or there might happen to be debts upon him, so he would pay it off on his behalf".²³

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir who said,

'A man came to Rasool-Allah-saww. He said, 'I am an active youth and I love the Jihad, and there is a mother for me disliking that'.

The Prophet^{-saww} said to him: 'Return and be with your mother, for by the One^{-azwj} Who Sent me^{-saww} with the truth as a Prophet^{-saww}! Her being comforted by you for one night is better than your Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} for a year''.²⁴

21-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الْمُعَلَّى بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الْمُعَلِّى عَنِ الْمُعَلِّى عَنِ الْمُعَلِّمَ وَلَا يَسْتَغْفِرُ لَمُمَا فَيَكُثَبُهُ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ مُعَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ لَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ لَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ اللّهُ عَزَ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ اللّهُ عَزَ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَنْ اللّهُ عَزَ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُمَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَلَى اللّهُ عَزَ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَلَى اللّهُ عَزَ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا عَلَيْ عَلَى اللّهُ عَنْ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَالِي اللّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَا فِي حَيَاتِمِمَا وَ السَّعَاقَ مُعَلِي عَلَيْكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَالِمُ لِي عَلَيْكُونُ عَاقاً لَمُعَالَقِي عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَنْ وَ جَلَّ عَاقاً وَاللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَوْلًا فَا عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُونُ عَاقالَا لَمُعَلِّى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُونُ عَامَا فِي عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى الللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَمُ عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا اللّهُ عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَا

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla Bin Muhammad, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Abdullah in Sinan, from Muhammad Bin Muslim,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The servant happens to be righteous with his parents during their lifetimes, then they die, but he does not pay off their debts on their behalf, nor does he seek Forgiveness for them, so Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Writes him as disloyal; and he tends to be disloyal to them during their lifetimes not being righteous to them, then they die, so he pays off their debts and seeks Forgiveness for them, so Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Writes him as righteous".²⁵

22-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ حَدِيدِ بْنِ حَكِيمٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: أَدْنَى الْعُقُوقِ أُفَّ وَ لَوْ عَلِمَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ شَيْعاً أَهْوَنَ مِنْهُ لَنَهَى عَنْهُ.

²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 19

 $^{^{24}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 20 $\,$

²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 21

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad, from Ahmad, from Ibn Sinan, from Hadeed Bin Hakeem,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The lease disloyalty is (saying) 'Ugh!' and had Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Known of anything lesser than it, He^{-azwj} would have Forbidden from it''.²⁶

23–كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ الْمُغِيرَةِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص كُنْ بَارًاً وَ اقْتَصِرْ عَلَى الجُنَّةِ وَ إِنْ كُنْتَ عَاقًا فَظَاً فَاقْتَصِرْ عَلَى النَّارِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Abdullah Bin Al Mugheira,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Be righteous and shorten (your way) to the Paradise, and if you were to be disloyal, hard-hearted, you will shorten (your way) to the Fire''.²⁷

24-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنِ الْخُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ عُبَيْسِ بْنِ هِشَامٍ عَنْ صَالِحٍ الْخُذَّاءِ عَنْ يَعْقُوبَ بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: إِذَا كَانَ يُومُ الْقِيَامَةِ كُشِفَ غِطَاءٌ مِنْ أَغْطِيَةِ الْجُنَّةِ فَوَجَدَ رِيحُهَا مَنْ كَانَتْ لَهُ رُوحٌ مِنْ مَسِيرَةِ خَسِيمِائَةِ عَامٍ إِلَّا صِنْفاً وَاحِداً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Ashari, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Al Kufi, from Ubeys Bin Hisham, from Salih Al Haza'a, from Yaqoub Bin Shueyb,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'When it will be the Day of Qiyamah, a layer from the layers of Paradise will be uncovered, the one who has a soul for him will find its aroma from a travel distance of five hundred years, except for one type (of people)'.

قُلْتُ مَنْ هُمْ قَالَ الْعَاقُ لِوَالِدَيْهِ.

I said, 'Who are they?' He-asws said: 'The one disowned by his parents''.²⁸

25-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنِ السَّكُويِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص فَوْقَ كُلِّ ذِي بِرِّ بَرٌّ حَتَّى يُقْتَلَ الرَّجُلُ فِي عَنْ اللَّهِ عَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَ فَوْقَهُ عُقُوقٌ. اللَّهِ فَلَيْسَ فَوْقَهُ بُرٌّ وَ إِنَّ فَوْقَ كُلِّ عُقُوقً عُقُوقًا حَتَّى يَقْتُلُ الرَّجُلُ أَحَدُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَإِذَا فَعَلَ ذَلِكَ فَلَيْسَ فَوْقَهُ عُقُوقٌ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Above every one with righteousness, there is a righteousness, to the extent the man is killed in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}, so there isn't any righteousness above it; and above every disowning there is a disowning, to the extent the man kills one of his parents. When he does that, there isn't any disowning above it''.²⁹

²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 22

 $^{^{27}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 23

²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 24

²⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 25

26-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ نَظَرَ إِلَى أَبَوَيْهِ نَظَرَ مَاقِتٍ وَ هُمَا ظَالِمَانِ لَهُ لَمْ يَقْبَلِ اللهُ لَهُ صَلَاةً.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Bargy, from Ibn Mihran, from Ibn Ameyra,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who looks at his parent with an abhorrent look, and (even if) they are both unjust to him, Allah^{-azwj} will not Accept any Salat for him''.³⁰

27-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ فُرَاتٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص فِي كَلَامٍ لَهُ إِيَّاكُمْ وَ عُقُوقَ الْوَالِدَيْنِ -27 كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ فُرَاتٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسِعَ الْجَنَّرِ وَ لَا جَارُ إِزَارَهُ خُيَلَاءَ إِنَّمَا الْكِبْرِيَاءُ لِلَّهِ رَبِّ الْعَالَمِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Furat,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said in a speech of his-saww: 'Beware of being disloyal to the parent, for the aroma of Paradise will be found from a travel distance of a thousand years and a disloyal one will not find it, nor one cutting off a relationship, nor an elderly adulterer, nor a tyrant whose trouser (mannerism) is snobbery. But rather, the greatness is for Allah-azwj, Lord-azwj of the worlds''. 31

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Yahya Bin Ibrahim Bin Abu Al Balaad, from his father, from his grandfather,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Had Allah^{-azwj} Known of anything less than 'Ugh!', He^{-azwj} would have Prohibited from it, and it is from the least of the disloyalties; and from the disloyalties is that the man looks at his parents and sharpens (hardens) the look to them".³²

29-كا، الكافي عَنْهُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ الجُنْهُمِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عِ قَالَ: إِنَّ أَبِي نَظَرَ إِلَى رَجُلٍ وَ مَعَهُ ابْنُهُ يَمْشِي وَ الاِبْنُ مُتَّكِئٌ عَلَى ذِرَاعِ الْأَبِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From him, from his father, from Haroun Bin Al Jahm, from Abdullah Bin Suleyman,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} looked at a man and his son was walking with him, and the son was leaning upon a forearm of the father'.

قَالَ فَمَا كَلَّمَهُ أَبِي مَقْتاً لَهُ حَتَّى فَارَقَ الدُّنْيَا.

He^{-asws} said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} did not speak to him, hating him, until he^{-asws} separated from the world".³³

³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 26

³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 27

³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 28

³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 29

30- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الْقُرْشِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنِ ابْنِ ظَبْيَانَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: بَيْنَا مُوسَى بْنُ عِمْرَانَ يُنَاحِى رَبَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِذْ رَأَى رَجُلًا تَحْتَ ظِلِّ عَرْشِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فَقَالَ يَا رَبِّ مَنْ هَذَا الَّذِي قَدْ أَظَلَهُ عَرْشُكَ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Waleed, from Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Qarshy, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al Mufazzal, from Ibn Zabyan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'While Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as} was whispering to his^{-as} Lord^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, when he^{-as} saw a man beneath the shade of the Throne of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Who is this one whom Your^{-azwj} Throne has Shaded?'

فَقَالَ هَذَا كَانَ بَارّاً بِوَالِدَيْهِ وَ لَمْ يَمْشُ بِالنَّمِيمَةِ.

He^{-azwj} Said: 'This one had been righteous with his parent and did not walk with the gossip''.³⁴

31- لي، الأمالي للصدوق الفارمي [الْفَامِيُ] عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الجُبَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي غَبْرَانَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَسَنِ بْنِ رِبَاطٍ عَنِ الحُضْرَمِيّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَ قَالَ: بَرُّوا آبَاءَكُمْ يَبَرُّكُمْ أَبْنَاؤُكُمْ وَ عِفُوا عَنْ نِسَاءِ النَّاس تَعِفَّ نِسَاؤُكُمْ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Al Famy, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Abu Najran, from Ali Bin Al-Hassan Bin Ribat, from Al Hazramy,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Be righteous with your fathers, your sons will be righteous with you, and be chaste from women of the people, your women will be chaste''.³⁵

32- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ شَاذَوَيْهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ عَنِ ابْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ وَسُولُ اللهِ ص رَحِمَ اللهُ الْمَثَلُ وَلَدَهُ عَلَى بِرِّهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ خَلِيطاً أَعَانَ وَالِدَهُ عَلَى بِرِّهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ خَلِيطاً أَعَانَ وَالِدَهُ عَلَى بِرِّهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ خَلِيطاً أَعَانَ خَارَهُ عَلَى بِرِّهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ خَلِيطاً أَعَانَ عَلَى بِرِهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ وَالِداً أَعَانَ سُلْطانَهُ عَلَى بِرِهِ رَحِمَ اللهُ خَلِيطاً أَعَانَ جَارُهُ عَلَى برّهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Shazawayh, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Haroun, from Ibn Ziyad,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-azwj} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a person who assists his father upon his righteous act! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a father assisting his son upon his righteous act! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a neighbour assisting his neighbour upon his righteous act! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a friend assisting his friend upon his righteous act! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on an associate assisting his associate upon his righteous act! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a man assisting his ruler upon his righteous act!''³⁶

33- لي، الأمالي للصدوق الْعَطَّارُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الجُبَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْبَطَائِنِيِّ عَنِ الرَّقِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَحَبَّ أَنْ يُخَفِّفَ اللَّهُ عَنَّ وَ جَلَّ عَنْهُ سَكَرَاتِ الْمَوْتِ وَ لَمْ يُصِبْهُ فِي حَيَاتِهِ فَقْرٌ أَبَداً.

³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 30

 $^{^{35}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 31

³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 32

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Al Attar, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Al Batainy, from Al Raqy,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who loves for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic to lessen from him the pangs of death, then let him be connecting (helping) to his relatives and righteous with his parent. When he will be like that, Allah^{-azwj} will Ease upon him the pangs of death and will not hit him with poverty during his lifetime, ever!''³⁷

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Barqy, from his father, from his grandfather, from Ahmad Bin Al Nazar, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! I am desirous regarding the Jihad actively!'

He^{-saww} said: 'Then do Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}. If you were to be killed, you would be alive being sustained in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}, and if you were to die, your Recompense will fall upon Allah^{-azwj}, and if you were to return (victorious), you will have exited from the sins (and be) like when you were born'.

He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! There are old parents for me. They claim that they are being comforted by me and are disliking my going out (to fight)'.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Stay with your parents. By the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is my^{-saww} soul! Their being comforted with you for a day and a night is better than your Jihad for a year''.³⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Sa'adabady, from Al Barqy, from Abu Al Qasim Al Kufy, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father who said,

'I said to Abu Ja'far-asws, 'Can the son reward (recompense) the father?'

³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 33

³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 34

He^{-asws} said: 'There is no reward for him except in two characteristics. The father might happen to be a slave, so his son buys him and liberates him, or there might happen to be debts upon him, so he would pay it off on his behalf''³⁹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Majaylawiya, from Muhammad Al Attar, from Ibn Aban, from Ibn Awrama, from Amro Bin Usman, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}, Advise me^{-as}!' He^{-azwj} Said: "I^{-azwj} Advise you^{-as} with Me^{-azwj}!"

He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}, Advise me^{-as}!' He^{-azwj} Said: "I^{-azwj} Advise you^{-as} with Me^{-azwj}!" – three times.

He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}, Advise me^{-as}!' He^{-azwj} Said: "I^{-azwj} Advise you with your^{-as} mother^{-as}!"

He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}, Advise me^{-as}!' He^{-azwj} Said: "I^{-azwj} Advise you with your^{-as} mother^{-as}!"

He^{-as} said: 'Advise me^{-as}!' He^{-azwj} Said: "I^{-azwj} Advise you with your^{-as} father^{-as}!"

He^{-asws} said: 'So it has been said due to that reason, for their mother there is two-thirds righteousness, and for the father there is a third".⁴⁰

37- فس، تفسير القمي وَ قَضَى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً إِمَّا يَبْلُغَنَّ عِنْدَكَ الْكِبَرَ أَحَدُهُما أَوْ كِلاهُما فَلا تَقُلْ لَهُما أُفٍ قَالَ وَ لَوْ عَلِمَ أَنَّ شَنْهًا أَقَارً مِنْ أَفِّ لَقَالُهُ- وَ لا تَنْهُرُهُما أَيْ لَا تُخْلَصِمْهُمَا.

Tafseer Al-Qummi - And your Lord has Decreed that you shall not worship except Him, and goodness with the parents. If they reach old age with you, one of them or both of them, then do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them [17:23]. He said, 'And had He^{-azwj} Known of anything

 $^{^{39}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 35

⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 36

less than 'Ugh', He^{-azwj} would have Said it - *nor chide them, [17:23]* – i.e. do not quarrel with them'.

And in another Hadeeth: 'If you don't care, so do not say 'Ugh' to them - and say gracious words to them [17:23] – i.e. goodly - 'And lower to them the wings of humbleness from the mercy [17:24], he said: 'Be humble to them and do not strut upon them, and say, 'Lord! Mercy them just as they nourished me (when I was) little' [17:24]". 41

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnad' -

Ali, from his brother^{-asws} (7th Imam^{-asws}), said, 'I asked him^{-asws} about a Muslim man and his parents are Kafir. It is correct if he were to seek Forgiveness for them in the Salat?'

He said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'If he had separated from them while he was young, not knowing where they had become Muslims or not, there is no problem, but if he were to know of their Kufr, he should not seek Forgiveness for them, and if he does not know, then let him supplicate for them''.⁴²

39- ب، قرب الإسناد أَحْمُدُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ جُنْدَبٍ قَالَ: كَتَبْتُ إِلَى أَبِي الْحُسَنِ مُوسَى عَ أَسْأَلُهُ عَنِ الرَّجُلِ يُرِيدُ أَنْ يَجْعَلَ أَعْمَالَهُ مِنَ الصَّلَاةِ وَ الْبِرِّ وَ الْخَيْرِ أَثْلَاثًا ثُلُثاً لَهُ وَ ثُلُتَيْنِ لِأَبَوَيْهِ أَوْ يُفْرِدَهُمَا مِنْ أَعْمَالِهِ بِشَيْءٍ مِمَّا يَتَطَوَّعُ بِهِ بِشَيْءٍ مَعْلُومٍ وَ إِنْ كَانَ أَحَدُهُمَا حَيّاً وَ الْآحَرُ مَيّناً

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnad' – Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Jundab who said,

'I wrote to Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} asking him^{-asws} about the man wanting to make his deed, from the Salat, and the righteous acts, and the good deed into three – a third being for him, and two-thirds being for his parents, or individualise them with something from his deed from what he had been volunteered with something known, and even if one of them is alive and the other one dead'.

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} wrote to me: 'As for the dead (parent), a good deed is allowed, and as for the living one, no, except the righteous act and the helping''.⁴³

⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 37

 $^{^{42}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 38

⁴³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 39

40- ل، الخصال ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام مَاجِيلَوْيْهِ عَنِ الْبَرَّقِيِّ عَنِ السَّيَّارِيِّ عَنِ الْخَارِثِ بْنِ دِلْمَاثٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الرِّضَا ع قَالَ: إِنَّ اللّه عَزَّ وَ جَارً أَمَرَ بِثَلَاثَةٍ مَقْرُونٍ بِمَا ثَلَاثَةٌ أُخْرَى

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' (and) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}'**, may the greeting be upon him^{-asws} – Majaylawiya, from Al Sayyari, from Al Haris Bi Dilhat, from his father,

'From Abu Al-Hassan Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Commanded with three, pairing three others with these: -

أَمَرَ بِالصَّلَاةِ وَ الزَّكَاةِ فَمَنْ صَلَّى وَ لَمَ يُرَكِّ لَمَ تُقْبَل مِنْهُ صَلَاتُهُ وَ أَمَرَ بِالشُّكْرِ لَهُ وَ لِلْوَالِدَيْنِ فَمَنْ لَمَّ يَشْكُرْ وَالِدَيْهِ لَمَّ يَشْكُرِ اللَّهَ وَ أَمَرَ بِالشُّكْرِ لَهُ وَ لِلْوَالِدَيْنِ فَمَنْ لَمَّ يَشْكُرْ وَالِدَيْهِ لَمَّ يَشَّكُرِ اللَّهَ وَ أَمَرَ بِاتِقَاءِ اللَّهِ وَ صِلَةِ الرَّجِم فَمَنْ لَمَّ يَصِلُ رَجِمُهُ لَمَّ يَتَّقِ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ.

He^{-azwj} Commanded with the Salat and the Zakat, so the one who prays Salat and does not give Zakat, his Salat will not be Accepted from him; and He^{-azwj} Commanded with thanking Him^{-azwj} and to the parents, so the one who does not thank his parents, he has not thanked Allah^{-azwj}; and He^{-azwj} Commanded with fearing Allah^{-azwj} and connecting (helping) the kindred, so the one who does not connect his kindred has not feared Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic".⁴⁴

41- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام أَبِي عَنِ الْكُمُنْدَايِيَّ وَ مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ مَعاً عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْبَزَنْطِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ الرِّضَا ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ رَجُلًا مِنْ بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ قَتَلَ قَرَابَةً لَهُ ثُمَّ أَخَذُهُ فَطَرَحَهُ عَلَى طَرِيقِ أَفْضَل سِبْطٍ مِنْ أَسْبَاطِ بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ ثُمُّ جَاءَ يَطْلُبُ بِدَمِهِ

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza**' may the greetings be upon him - My father, from Al Kumundany, and Muhammad Al Attar, both together from Ibn Isa, from Al Bazanty who said,

'I heard Al-Reza^{-asws} saying: 'A man from the children of Israel killed a relative of his, then he took him and dropped him upon a path of a superior tribe from the tribes of the children of Israel. Then he came seeking his blood (compensation).

فَقَالُوا لِمُوسَى ع إِنَّ سِبْطَ آلِ فُلَانٍ قَتَلُوا فُلَاناً فَأَخْبِرْنَا مَنْ قَتَلَهُ

They said to Musa^{-as}, 'A tribe of the progeny of so and so have killed so and so. Inform us who killed him!'

قَالَ اثْتُونِي بِبَقَرَةٍ - قالُوا أَ تَتَّخِذُنا هُزُواً قالَ أَعُوذُ بِاللَّهِ أَنْ أَكُونَ مِنَ الجاهِلِينَ وَ لَوْ أَنَّكُمْ عَمَدُوا إِلَى بَقَرَةٍ أَجْزَأُكُمْمْ وَ لَكِنْ شَدَّدُوا فَشَدَّدَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِمْ -

He^{-as} said; 'Bring me^{-asws} a cow'. *They said: 'Are you taking us for mockery?' He said: 'I seek Refuge with Allah from becoming one of the ignorant ones'. [2:67]*?' And had they deliberated to a cow, it would have sufficed them, but they were difficult, so Allah^{-azwj} was Difficult upon them.

قالُوا ادْعُ لَنا رَبَّكَ يُبَيِّنْ لَنا ما هِيَ قالَ إِنَّهُ يَقُولُ إِضًا بَقَرَةٌ لا فارِضٌ وَ لا بِكْرٌ يَعْنِي لَا صَغِيرَةٌ وَ لَا كَبِيرَةٌ عَوانٌ بَيْنَ ذلِكَ وَ لَوْ أَثَمَّمْ عَمَدُوا إِلَى بَقَرَةٍ أَجْرَأَهُمْمُ وَ لا بِكْرٌ يَعْنِي لَا صَغِيرَةٌ وَ لَا كَبِيرَةٌ عَوانٌ بَيْنَ ذلِكَ وَ لَوْ أَثَمَّمْ عَمَدُوا إِلَى بَقَرَةٍ أَجْرَأَهُمْمُ

-

⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 40

They said: 'Supplicate for us to your Lord to clarify for us what it is'. He said: He is Saying, "It is a cow neither with calves nor a virgin, - meaning neither young nor old - of an age between that; [2:68]. And had they deliberated to a cow it would have sufficed them, but they were difficult, so Allah^{-azwj} was Difficult upon them.

قالُوا ادْعُ لَنا رَبَّكَ يُبَيِّنْ لَنا ما لَوْهُما قالَ إِنَّهُ يَقُولُ إِنَّمَا بَقَرَةٌ صَفْراءُ فاقِعٌ لَوْهُما تَسُرُّ النَّاظِرِينَ وَ لَوْ أَثَمَّمْ عَمَدُوا إِلَى بَقْرَةٍ لَأَجْزَأَهُمْ وَ لَكِنْ شَدَّدُوا فَشَدَّدَ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِمْ –

They said: 'Supplicate for us to your Lord to Clarify for us what its colour is'. He said, 'He-azwj is Saying: "It is bright yellow, such that its colour delighting the beholders". [2:69]. And had they deliberated to a cow, it would have sufficed them, but they were difficult, so Allah-azwj was difficult upon them.

قالُوا ادْعُ لَنا رَبَّكَ يُبَيِّنْ لَنا ما هِيَ إِنَّ الْبَقَرَ تَشابَهَ عَلَيْنا وَ إِنَّا إِنْ شاءَ اللهُ لَمُهْتَدُونَ- قالَ إِنَّهُ يَقُولُ إِضَّا بَقَرَةٌ لا ذَلُولٌ ثُثِيرُ الْأَرْضَ وَ لا تَسْقِي الْحُرْثَ مُسَلَّمَةٌ لا شِيَةَ فِيها قالُوا الْآنَ جِئْتَ بالْحَق

They said: 'Supplicate for us to your Lord to Clarify for us what it is. The cows are alike upon us, and we will if Allah so Desires, be guided aright. [2:70] He said: 'He is Saying: "It is neither a cow trained to plough the land, nor irrigate the farm, sound, there being no blemish in it". They said: 'Now you have come with the Truth'. [2:71].

فَطَلَبُوهَا فَوَجَدُوهَا عِنْدَ فَتَّى مِنْ بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلِ فَقَالَ لَا أَبِيعُهَا إِلَّا عِلْءِ مَسْكِهَا ذَهَباً

They sought is and found it in the possession of a youth from the children of Israel. He said, 'I will not sell it except for a bull skin filled with gold'.

فَجَاءُوا إِلَى مُوسَى ع فَقَالُوا لَهُ ذَلِكَ فَقَالَ اشْتَرُوهَا فَاشْتَرُوهَا وَ جَاءُوا كِمَا فَأَمَرَ بِذَبْحِهَا ثُمَّ أَمَرَ أَنْ يَضْرِبُوا الْمَيِّتَ بِذَنبِهَا فَلَمَّا فَعَلُوا ذَلِكَ حَيِيَ الْمَقْتُولُ وَ قَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللّهِ إِنَّ ابْنَ عَمِّى قَتَلَىٰ دُونَ مَنْ يُدَّعَى عَلَيْهِ قَتْلِي فَعَلِمُوا بذَلِكَ قَاتِلَهُ

They came over to Musa^{-as} and they said that to him^{-as}. He^{-as} said: 'Buy it'. So they bought it and came over with it. He^{-as} ordered them with slaughtering it, then instructed that they strike the deceased with its tail. So when they did that, the killed ones (became) alive and said, 'O Rasool^{-as} of Allah^{-azwj}! A son of my uncle killed me besides the one who invited me over it for my killing'. Thus, they knew by that, his killer.

فَقَالَ لِرَسُولِ اللَّهِ مُوسَى ع بَعْضُ أَصْحَابِهِ إِنَّ هَذِهِ الْبَقَرَةَ لِمَّا نَبَأُ فَقَالَ وَ مَا هُوَ قَالَ إِنَّ فَقَى مِنْ بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ كَانَ بَارًا بِأَبِيهِ وَ إِنَّهُ الشَّرَى تَبِيعاً فَجَاءَ إِلَى أَبِيهِ فَرَّأَى أَنَّ الْأَقَالِيدَ تَحْثَ رَأْسِهِ فَكَرَهَ أَنْ يُوقِظُهُ فَتَرَكَ ذَلِكَ الْبَيْعَ فَاسْتَنِيقَظَ أَبُوهُ فَأَخْبَرُهُ فَقَالَ أَحْسَنْتَ حُذْ هَذِهِ الْبَقْرَةَ فَهِي لَكَ عِوْضاً لِمَا فَاتَكَ

Some of his-as companions said to Rasool-as of Allah-azwj Musa-as: 'This cow, there is some news for it?' He-as said, 'And what is it?'. They said, 'A youth from the Children of Israel was rightful with his father, and he had bought something. He came over to his father and the keys (to the money) was beneath his head, and he disliked waking him. He left that sale. His father woke up (later one), and he informed him. He said to him, 'Excellent! Take this cow, for it is for you instead of what (deal) you had lost'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool^{-as} of Allah^{-azwj} Musa^{-as} said to him: 'Look at the righteousness, what (benefits) reach its performer!''⁴⁵

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Marouf, from Ismail Bin Hammam, from Ibn Gazwan, from Al Sakuny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'Above every righteous act there is a righteous act to the extent of the man getting killed in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}. When he is killed in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, then there isn't any righteous act above it.

And above every act of disloyalty, there is an act of disloyalty (to be disowned by his parents), until the man kills one of his parents. When he kills one of them, then there isn't any act of disloyalty above it".⁴⁶

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Al Sindy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Shureys Al Wabishy, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Paradise, it's aroma will be found from a travel distance of five hundred years, and neither a disloyal one (to his parents) nor a cuckold will find it' – the Hadeeth''.⁴⁷

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Al Attar, from Ayoub Bin Nuh, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Musa Bin Bakr Al Wasity who said,

'I said to Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, 'The man says to his son or to his daughter, 'May my father and my mother be (sacrificed for) you', of 'By my parents', do you see any problem with that?'

⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 41

 $^{^{\}rm 46}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 42

⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 43

He^{-asws} said: 'If his parents were alive, I^{-asws} see than as disloyalty, and if they had died, then there is no problem'.

He (the narrator) said, 'Then he^{-asws} said: 'Ja'far^{-asws} had said: 'Fortunate is the man who does not dies until he sees his replacement (posterity) from after him, and by Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} has Shown me^{-asws} my^{-asws} replacement (Imam^{-asws}) from after me^{-asws}''.⁴⁸

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The parents are necessitated the disloyalty to their son, if he were to be righteous, what necessitates the son for them''.⁴⁹

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Al Kumandany, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Al Husayn Bin Mus'ab who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Three (matters), there is no excuse for anyone regarding these – fulfilling the entrustment to the righteous and the immoral, and the loyalty with the pact to the righteous and the immoral, and righteousness to the parents, whether they were to be righteous or immoral".⁵⁰

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Al Himeyri, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Atiyya, from Anbasa Bin Mus'ab,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Three (matters), Allah^{-azwj} has not Made any allowance to be for anyone regarding these – being righteous to the parents whether they were to be righteous or immoral, and loyalty with the pact to the righteous and the immoral and fulfilling the entrustment to the righteous and the immoral".⁵¹

⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 44

⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 45

⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 46

⁵¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 47

Bihar Al-Anwaar Volume 71 www.hubeali.com

48- ل، الخصال الخُلِيلُ عَنْ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ الْبَغَوِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ الجُنْغِدِ عَنْ شُعْبَةَ عَنِ الْوَلِيدِ بْنِ الْغَيْزَارِ عَنْ أَبِي عَمْرٍو الشَّيْبَائِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ صَ أَيُّ الْأَعْمَالِ أَحَبُ إِلَى اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Khaleed, from Abu Al Qasim Al Bagwy, from Ibn Al Ja'ad, from Shueyb, from Al Waleed Bin Al Ayzar, from Abu Amro Al Shaybani, from Ibn Masoud,

'I asked Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, 'Which of the deeds is the most Beloved to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic?'

قَالَ الصَّلاةُ لِوَقْتِهَا

He-asws said: 'The Salat (performed) at its timings'.

قُلْتُ ثُمَّ أَيُّ شَيْءٍ

I said, 'Then which thing?'

قَالَ بِرُّ الْوَالِدَيْنِ

He-asws said: 'Righteousness to the parent'.

قُلْتُ ثُمَّ أَيُّ شَيْءٍ

I said, 'Then which thing?'

قَالَ الْجِهَادُ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ

He^{-asws} said: 'The Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic''.

قَالَ فَحَدَّثَنِي هِمَذَا وَ لَوِ اسْتَزَدْتُهُ لَزَادَنِي.

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} narrated to me with this, and had I sought the increase, he^{-asws} would have increased for me''.⁵²

49- ل، الخصال الْعِجْلِيُّ عَنِ ابْنِ زَكْرِيًّا عَنِ ابْنِ حَبِيبٍ عَنِ ابْنِ بُمْلُولٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْفَضْلِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ ثَلَاثَةٌ مَنْ عَازَّهُمْ ذَلَّ الْوَالِدُ وَ السُّلْطَانُ وَ الْغَرِيمُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Ijaly, from Ibn Zakariya, from Ibn Habeeb, from Ibn Bahloul, from his father, from Abdullah Bin Al Fazl who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Three (persons), one who opposes them will be disgraced – the parent, and the ruling authority, and the creditor''.⁵³

⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 48

⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 49

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - From Abu Umama who said,

'Four (persons), Allah^{-azwj} will not look at them on the Day of Qiyamah – disowned one (by his parents), and one who reproaches on the giving, and a belier of the pre-determination, and one habitual of wine''.⁵⁴

51- ل، الخصال مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَقِهِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الثُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: أَرْبَعْ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ بَنَي اللَّهُ لَهُ بَيْدًا في الجُنَّةِ مَنْ آوَى الْيَتِيمَ وَ رَحِمَ الضَّعِيفَ وَ أَشْفَقَ عَلَى وَالِدَيْهِ وَ رَفْقَ بِمَمْلُوكِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (matters), one who has these in him, Allah^{-azwj} will Build a house for him in the Paradise – one who shelters the orphan, and is merciful to the weak, and is compassionate to his parents, and is kind with his slave".⁵⁵

52- ل، الخصال أَحْمُدُ بْنُ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ عَنِ الْقَدَّاحِ عَنْ جَعْفَرٍ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص أَرْبَعٌ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ نَشَرَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ كَنَفَهُ وَ أَدْحُلُهُ الْجُنَّةُ فِي رَحْمَتِهِ حُسْنُ خُلُق يَعِيشُ بِهِ فِي النَّاسِ وَ رَفْقٌ بالْمَكْرُوبِ وَ شَفَقَةٌ عَلَى الْوَالِدَيْنِ وَ إِحْسَانٌ إِلَى الْمَمْلُوكِ.

The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ahmad Bin Ali Bin Ibrahim, from his father, from his grandfather, from Al Qaddah,

'From Ja'far-asws, from his-asws forefathers-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'Four (matters) one who has these in him, Allah-azwj will Spread His-azwj Shade upon him and Enter him into the Paradise into His-azwj Mercy – good manners he lives by among the people, and kindness with the distressed one, and compassion upon the parents, and being good to the slaves". 56

53- ل، الخصال في حَبَرِ الْأَعْمَشِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: بِرُّ الْوَالِدَيْنِ وَاجِبٌ فَإِنْ كَانَا مُشْرِكَيْنِ فَلَا تُطِعْهُمَا وَ لَا غَيْرُهُمَا فِي الْمَعْصِيَةِ فَإِنَّهُ لَا طَاعَةَ لِمَحْلُوقٍ في مَعْصِيَةِ الْخَالِقِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – In a report of Al Amsh,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Righteousness with the parents is obligatory, but if they were to be Polytheists, then don't obey them nor others in the disobedience, for there is no obedience to a created being in disobeying the Creator''.⁵⁷

54 ل، الخصال الْأَرْبَعُمِائَةِ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع مَنْ أَحْزَنَ وَالِدَيْهِ فَقَدْ عَقَّهُمَا.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' –

⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 50

 $^{^{55}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 51

⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 52

⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 53

'(The Hadeeth) 'Al-Arbamiya' – Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'One who aggrieves his parents, so he has been disowned by them''.⁵⁸

55– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْأَسَانِيدِ الثَّلَائَةِ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: أَدْنَى الْعُقُوقِ أُفٍَّ وَ لَوْ عَلِمَ اللَّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ شَيْمًا أَهْوَنَ مِنْ أُفِّ لَنَهَى عَنْهُ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}' may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Least of the disloyalties is (saying) 'Ugh' and had Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Known of anything lesser than 'Ugh', He^{-azwj} would have Prohibited from it''.⁵⁹

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greeting be upon him^{-asws} – Among what Al-Reza^{-asws} had written to Al-Mamoun: 'Being righteous with the parents is obligatory, and even if they were to be Polytheists, and there is no obedience to them in disobedience to the Creator''.⁶⁰

57 ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَيِهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَنِ الثَّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَنْ أَبِي عَنْ أَبِي عَنْ اللَّمُونِينَ أَسْكَنَهُ اللَّهُ فِي أَعْلَى عِلِيِّينَ فِي غُرَفٍ فَوْقَ غُرَفٍ فِي مَحَلِّ الشَّرَفِ كُلِّ الشَّرَفِ مَنْ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ أَسْكَنَهُ اللَّهُ فِي أَعْلَى عِلِيِّينَ فِي غُرَفٍ فَوْقَ غُرَفٍ فِي مَحْلِ الشَّرَفِ كُلِّ الشَّرَفِ مَنْ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ أَسْكَنَهُ اللَّهُ فِي أَعْلَى عَلِيتِينَ فِي غُرَفٍ فَوْقَ عُرَفٍ فَي عُرَفٍ فِي مَعْلِ الشَّرَفِ كُلِّ الشَّرَفِ مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ أَسْكَنَهُ اللَّهُ فِي عَلَى مَا يُكَلِّفُهُ وَ لَمْ لَهُ يَخْرُهُمُنَا وَ مَنْ لَمْ يَخْرُقُ بِمَمْلُوكِهِ وَ أَعَانَهُ عَلَى مَا يُكَلِّفُهُ وَ لَمْ يَعْمُونَ وَمَنْ لَمْ يَخْرُقُ بِمَمْلُوكِهِ وَ أَعَانَهُ عَلَى مَا يُكَلِّفُهُ وَ لَمْ يَسْمُعِهِ فِيمَا لَمْ يُطِقْ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Ayoub, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (matters), one from the Momineen who has these in him, Allah^{-azwj} will Settle him in the high Illiyeen in a chamber above a chamber in the place of nobility of all nobilities – one who shelters an orphan and looks out for him so he would be a father for him, and one who shows mercy to a weak one and assists him and suffices him, and one who spends upon his parents and is kind with them and is righteous with them and does not aggrieve them, and one who does not violate his slave and assists him upon what he encumbers him with, and does not overburden him in what he cannot endure".⁶¹

58- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْفَحَّامُ عَنِ الْمَنْصُورِيِّ عَنْ عَمِّ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الظَّالِثِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ قَالَ قَالَ الصَّادِقُ عَ ثَلَاثُ دَعَوَاتٍ لَا يُحْجَبُنَ عَنِ اللهِ لَهِ لَهِ عَنْ عَمِّ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ إِذَا عَقَّهُ وَ دُعَاءُ الْمَظْلُومِ عَلَى ظَالِمِهِ وَ دُعَاؤُهُ لِمَنِ انْتُصَرَ لَهُ مِنْهُ وَ رَجُلٌ مُؤْمِنٌ دَعَا لِأَحْ لَهُ مُؤْمِنٍ وَاسَاهُ فَيَاهُ وَ دُعَاءُ الْمَظْلُومِ عَلَى ظَالِمِهِ وَ دُعَاؤُهُ لِمَنِ انْتُصَرَ لَهُ مِنْهُ وَ رَجُلٌ مُؤْمِنٌ دَعَا لِأَحْ لَهُ مُؤْمِنٍ وَاسَاهُ فَيَالِهِ لِوَلَدِهِ إِذَا مَنْ الْمُدُرَة عَلَيْهِ وَ اضْطِرَار أَخِيهِ إلَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Tusi – Al Fahham, from Al Mansoury, from an uncle of his father,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Three supplications are not veils from Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted – supplication of the parent for

⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 54

⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 55

⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 56

⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 57

his child when he is righteous with him and his supplication against him when he is disloyal; and a supplication of the oppressed against his oppressor and his supplication for his helper; and a Momin man supplicating for a Momin brother of his enjoining him regarding us^{-asws} and his supplication against him when he does not enjoin him with the pre-determination upon him, and restlessness of his brother to him".⁶²

59- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي ابْنُ مَنْصُورٍ السُّكَّرِيُّ عَنْ جَدِّهِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنْ عِيسَى بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُمَيْدٍ عَنْ زَافِرِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنِ الْمُسْلِم بْن سَعِيدٍ عَن الْحَكَم بْن أَبَانٍ عَنْ عِكْرِمَةَ عَن ابْن عَبَّاس قَالَ وَسُولُ اللهِ ص مَا وَلَدٌ بَارٌ نَظَرَ إِلَى أَبَوَيْهِ بِرَحْمَةٍ إِلَّا كَانَ لَهُ بِكُلِّ نَظْرَةٍ حِجَّةٌ مَبْرُورَةٌ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Mansour Al Sukry, from his grandfather Ali Bin Umar, from Isa Bin Suleyman, from Muhammad Bin Humeyd, from Zafir Bin Suleyman, from Muslim Bin Saeed, from Al Hakam Bin Aban, from Ikrimah (Bin Abu Jahl-Ia), from Ibn Abbas who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'A righteous son will not look at his parents with mercy except there would be for him, for every glance, an accomplished Hajj'.

فَقَالُوا يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ وَ إِنْ نَظَرَ فِي كُلِّ يَوْمٍ مِائَةَ نَظْرَةٍ

They said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! And even if he were to look during every day with one hundred glances?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ اللَّهُ أَكْبَرُ وَ أَطْيَبُ.

He-saww said: 'Yes! Allah-azwj is the Greatest and the best".63

60- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ الرَّزَازِ عَنْ أَيُوبَ بْنِ نُوحٍ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ عَنِ الْعَلَاءِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ الْعَلَاءِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ الْعَلَمُ إِلَى الْمُفَصِّلِ عَنْ كُمَّةٍ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْإَمَامِ الْمُفْسِطِ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْمُقْسِطِ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةً وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْمُقَالِمِ عَنَا وَاللَّهُ عَنْ عَبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَاللَّهُ عَنْ الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَ جَارًا عَبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلْمُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَ جَارًا عَبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَ جَارًا عَبْدُولُ إِلَى الْمُعَلِّمِ عَلَيْ الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنَّ وَ جَارًا عَبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلُولِ إِلَى الْمُقَالِمُ اللَّهُ عَنَّ وَ جَارًا عَبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلْمُ الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنَّ وَ جَارًا عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَنَّالَ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُلْعَلِمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْع

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Razzaz, from Ayoub Bin Nuh, from Safwan, from Al A'ala, from Muhammad,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The looking at the scholar is (an act of) worship, and the looking and the equitable Imam^{-asws} is (an act of) worship, and the looking the parents with kindness and mercy is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the brother you are being cordial to for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, is (an act of) worship''.⁶⁴

61- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ أَبِي اللَّيْثِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُعَاذٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْمُنْذِرِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْوَهَابِ بْنِ هَمَّامٍ بْنِ الْمُنْذِرِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْوَهَابِ بْنِ هُمَّامٍ بْنِ الْمُنْذِرِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْوَهَابِ بْنُ مُنَافِعٍ عَنْ هَمَّامٍ بْنِ مُنَتِهٍ عَنْ هُمَّامٍ بْنِ مُنَتِهٍ عَنْ حُجْرٍ يَغْنِي الْمَذْرِيَّ قَالَ: قَدِمْتُ مَكَّةً وَ بِهَا أَبُو الذَّرِ رَحِمَهُ اللهُ جُنْدَبُ بْنُ جُنَادَةً وَ قَدِمَ فِي ذَلِكَ الْعَامِ عُمَرُ بْنُ الْخُطَّابِ حَاجًا وَ مَعَهُ طَائِفَةٌ مِنَ الْمُهَاجِرِينَ وَ الْأَنْصَارِ فِيهِمْ عَلِيُّ بْنُ أَبِي طَالِبٍ صَلَوَاتُ اللّهِ عَلَيْهِ

⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 58

 $^{^{63}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 59

⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 60

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Abu Al Lays Muhammad Bin Muaz, from Ahmad Bin Al Munzir, from Abdul Wahab Bin Hammam, from his father Hammam Bin Nafie, from Hammam Bin Munabbih, from Hujr, meaning Al Mazry who said,

'I arrive at Makkah and at it was Abu Al-Zarr^{-ra}, may Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on him^{-ra}, Jundab Bin Junada, and Umar Bin Al Khattab had arrived during that year to perform Hajj and with him were a party from the Emigrants and the Helpers, and among them was Ali^{-asws} Bin Abu Talib^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon him^{-asws}.

فَبَيْنَا أَنَا فِي الْمَسْجِدِ الْحَرَامِ مَعَ أَبِي الذَّرِّ جَالِسٌ إِذْ مَرَّ بِنَا عَلِيٍّ ع وَ وَقَفَ يُصَلِّي بِإِزَائِنَا فَرَمَاهُ أَبُو الذَّرِّ بِبَصَرِهِ فَقُلْتُ رَحِمَكَ اللَّهُ يَا بَا ذَرِّ إِنَّكَ لَتَنْظُرُ إِلَى عَنْهُ عَنْهُ

While I was in the Sacred Masjid with Abu Al-Zarr^{-ra} when Ali^{-asws} passed by us, and he^{-asws} paused and prayed Salat parallel to us. Abu Al-Zarr^{-ra} shot at him^{-asws} with his^{-ra} sight (kept looking at him^{-asws}). I said, 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you^{-ra}, Abu Zarr^{-ra}! You are looking at Ali^{-asws}, so what will you^{-ra} achieve from it?'

قَالَ إِنِيّ أَفْعَلُ ذَلِكَ فَقَدْ سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص يَقُولُ النَّطُرُ إِلَى عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ ع عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظَرُ إِلَى عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ ع عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْكَعْبَةِ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْكَعْبَةِ عِبَادَةٌ.

He^{-ra} said, 'I^{-ra} am doing that, for I^{-asws} have hear Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'The looking at Ali^{-asws} Bin Abu Talib^{-asws} is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the parent with kindness and mercy is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the Parchment, meaning Parchment of the Quran is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the Kabah is (an act of) worship''.⁶⁵

62- ع، علل الشرائع عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ الذُّنُوبُ الَّتِي تُظْلِمُ الْهُوَاءَ عُقُوقُ الْوَالِدَيْن.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' -

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The sins which darken the air is being disowned by the parents''.⁶⁶

63- ثو، ثواب الأعمال لي، الأمالي للصدوق أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنِ الدِّفَقَانِ عَمَّنْ سَمِعَ أَبَا عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْدِفَقَانِ عَمَّنْ سَمِعَ أَبَعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ ذُكِرْتُ عِنْدَهُ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَدْرَكَ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُغْفَرْ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ ذُكِرْتُ عِنْدَهُ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَدْرَكَ عَنْدَهُ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرْ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَدْرَكَ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُغْفَرْ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَدْرِكَ عَنْدَهُ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ عَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ عَلَى اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَدْرَكَ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَمَنْ أَدْرِكُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُغْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ ذُكِرْتُ عِنْدَهُ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَمَنْ أَدُولُكُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُغْفِرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَمَنْ أَدُولُكُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُغْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَمَنْ أَدُولُكُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَمَنْ أَدْرَكُ فَاللهُ عَلَى عَلَى اللهُ وَالِدَيْهِ فَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَلَمُ يُعْفَرُ لَلُهُ فَأَنْ عُلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَهُ فَأَنْ عُلَامُ يُعْفَرُ لَلُهُ فَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ لَهُ فَالَعُهُ لِللَّهُ وَلِلَّهُ عُلْكُ وَلِلَّهُ عَلَمْ يُعْفَرُ لَلُهُ فَلَامُ يُعْفَرُ لَلْهُ فَاللَّهُ وَلِلَّهُ عَلَمْ الللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَلَا لَعْلَامُ لِلْعُلْمُ لِلْمُ لِللَّهُ وَلَالِمُ لَعْفَالِهُ لِللَّهُ وَلِلَّالِكُ فَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ لِللَّهُ عَلَالِهُ لِللللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَالًا لِلللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَالِمُ لِلْمُ لَلِمُ لَلْ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal', (and) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Al Husayn Bin Saeed, from Fazalah, from Ibn Ameyra, from Al Dihqan,

'From the one who heard Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'One who comes across a month of Ramazan and (his sins) are not Forgiven for him, so Allah-azwj has Distanced him; and one who comes across his parents but (his sins) are not Forgiven for him, so Allah-azwj

Page 65 of 462

⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 61

⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 62

has Distanced him; and one I^{-saww} am mentioned in his presence but he does not send Salawaat upon me^{-saww}, (his sins) are not Forgiven for him, so Allah^{-azwj} has Distanced him".⁶⁷

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Haroun, from Ibn Ziyad,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'He will not enter the Paradise, one disloyal to his parents, and the one habitual of wine, and the reproacher with the good deed when he does it''.⁶⁸

65- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ مُحُمَّدٍ الرَّيَّاتِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ مِسْعَرِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنْ شَرِيكٍ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ الْهُمْدَائِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَمِيرِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ ثَلَاثَةٌ مِنَ الذُّنُوبِ تُعَجَّلُ عُقُوبَتُهَا وَ لَا تُؤَخَّرُ إِلَى الْآخِرَةِ عُقُوقُ الْوَالِدَيْنِ وَ الْبَغْيُ عَلَى النَّاسِ وَ كُفْرُ الْإِحْسَانِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Umar Bin Muhammad Al Zayyat, from Abdullah Bin Ja'far, from Mis'ar Bin Yahya, from Shareek, from Abu Is'haq Al Hamdany, from his father,

'From Amir Al-Momineen-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saws said: 'Three (matters) are from the sins which hasten their punishments, not delayed to the Hereafter – disowned by the parents, and the rebelling against the people, and Kufr with the favour''.⁶⁹

66- ع، علل الشرائع ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ السَّعْدَآبَادِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرِقِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحُسَنِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ الظَّابِي عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: عُقُوقُ الْوَالِدَيْنِ مِنَ الْكَبَائِرِ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ جَعَلَ الْعَاقَ عَصِيّاً شَقِيّاً.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Sa'adabady, from Al Bargy, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Being disowned by the parents is from the major sins, because Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has made the disowned ones as disobedient, wretched".⁷⁰

67- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام ع، علل الشرائع في عِلَلِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الرِّضَا عِ قَالَ: حَرَّمَ اللَّهُ عُقُوقَ الْوَالِدَيْنِ لِمَا فِيهِ مِنَ الْخُرُوجِ مِنَ التَّوْفِيقِ لِطَاعَةِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ التَّوْفِيرِ لِلْوَالِدَيْنِ وَ تَجَنُّبِ كُفْرِ النِّعْمَةِ وَ إِبْطَالِ الشُّكْرِ وَ مَا يَدْعُو مِنْ ذَلِكَ إِلَى قِلَّةِ النَّسْلِ وَ انْقِطَاعِهِ لِمَا فِي الْعُقُوقِ مِنْ قِلَّةٍ تَوْقِيرِ الْعَالِدَيْنِ وَ الْعُقُوقِ مِنْ الْوَالِدَيْنِ فِي الْوَلَدِ وَ تَرْكِ النَّرْبِيَةِ بِعِلَّةٍ تَرْكِ الْوَلَدِ بِرَّهُمَا.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza-asws', may the greetings be upon him-asws, (and), 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – Ibn Sinan,

From Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Prohibited disloyalty to (to be disowned by) the parents due to what is in it of the exiting from the inclination to obedience of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and giving the dignity to the parents, and shunning ungratefulness (Kufr) with the bounties, and invalidates the thanking, and what calls from that to lack of the lineage and its termination, due to what is in the disloyalty of lack of dignity to the parents and the recognition of their rights, and cutting off the kinship, and the abstention from the parents

⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 63

⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 64

⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 65

⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 66

regarding the child, and neglecting the upbringing due to neglecting by the child of being righteous with them". 71

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Muhammad in Al Husayn, from Ali Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Husayn, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Zakariya Al Momin, from Saeed Bin Yasaar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} attended a youth at his expiry. He^{-saww} said to him: 'Say, 'There is no god except Allah^{-azwj}''.

He^{-asws} said: 'His tongue got caught repeatedly, so he^{-saww} said to a woman by his head: 'Is there a mother for this one?' She said, 'Yes, I am his mother'.

He^{-saww} said: 'Are you annoyed upon him?' She said, 'Yes. I have not spoken to him since six Hajj (years)'.

He^{-saww} said to her: 'Be satisfied from him'. She said, 'May Allah^{-azwj} be Pleased with him due to your^{-saww} satisfaction, O Rasool-Allah^{-azwj}!'

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said to him: 'Say, 'There is not god except Allah^{-azwj}''. He said it.

The Prophet-saww said: 'What do you see?'

He said, 'I see a dark man of ugly appearance, dirty clothes, stingy smell having taken charge of me at the moment. He is grabbing my shoulders'.

٠

⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 67

The Prophet^{-saww} said to him: 'Say, 'O One^{-azwj} Who Accepts the little and Pardons from a lot! Accept the little from me and Pardon the many from me, surely You^{-azwj} are the Forgiver, the Merciful!' The youth said it.

The Prophet-saww said to him: 'Look at what you see!'

He said, 'I see a man of bright colour, handsome face, goodly aroma, excellent clothes, he has taken charge of me, and I see the dark one to have turned away from me'.

He^{-as} said: 'Repeat!' So he repeated. He^{-saww} said: 'What do you see?'

He said, 'I don't see the dark one, and I see the bright one who has taken charge of me'. Then he died upon that state''. 72

69- ص، قصص الأنبياء عليهم السلام بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى الصَّدُوقِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْوَشَّاءِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَالَ: كَانَ في بَني إِسْرَائِيلَ عَابِدٌ يُقَالُ لَهُ جُرِيْحٌ وَكَانَ يَتَعَبَّدُ فِي صَوْمَعَةٍ فَجَاءَتْهُ أُمُّهُ وَ هُوَ يُصَلِّى فَدَعَتْهُ فَلَمْ بُجِبْهَا فَانْصَرَفَتْ ثُمَّ أَتَتْهُ وَ دَعَتْهُ فَلَمْ يَلْتَفِتْ إِلَيْهَا فَانْصَرَفَتْ

(The book) 'Qasas Al Anbiya^{-as}', may the greetings be upon them^{-as} – By the chain to Al Sadouq, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Al Washa, from Abu Jameela,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'There was a worshipper among the children of Israel call Jureyh, and he used to worship in his praying place. His mother came to him while he was praying. She called out to him, but he did not answer her, so she left. Then she came to him and called him, but he did not turn to her, so she left.

Then she came to him and called him, but he did not answer her and did not speak to her, so she left, and she was saying, 'I shall ask the God-azwj of the children of Israel to Forsake you!'

فَلَمَّا كَانَ مِنَ الْغَدِ جَاءَتْ فَاحِرَةٌ وَ قَعَدَتْ عِنْدَ صَوْمَعَتِهِ قَدْ أَحْذَهَا الطَّلْقُ فَادَّعَتْ أَنَّ الْوَلَدَ مِنْ جُرَيْحٍ فَفَشَا فِي بَنِي إِسْرَائِيلَ أَنَّ مَنْ كَانَ يَلُومُ النَّاسَ عَلَى الرِّنَا قَدْ زَنِي وَ أَمَرَ الْمَلِكُ بِصَلْبِهِ

When it was the next morning, an immoral woman came and sat by his praying place, the pangs of pregnancy had seized her. She claimed that the child was from Jureyh. It spread

٠

⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 68

among the children of Israel that the one who used to blame the people upon the adultery, has committed adultery, and the ruler ordered with crucifying him.

His mother came to him. She slapper her face. He said to her, 'Be quiet! But rather, this is due to your supplication!'

The people said when they heard that from him, 'And how can it be for us, with (believing) that?' He said, 'Bring the child!'

They came with him. He said, 'Who is your father?' He said, 'So and so, the shepherd of the clan of so and so! May Allah^{-azwj} Belie those who said what they have said regarding Jureyh!'

Jureyh swore that he will not separate from his mother, serving her".73

(The book) 'Basaair Al Darajaat' – Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Al-Hassan Bin Al Husayn, from Ahmad Bin Al-Hassan Al Meyshami, from Ibrahim Bin Mihzam who said,

'I went out from the presence of Abu Abdullah-asws one night at evening time. I came to my house at Al Medina, and my mother was with me. (Heated) talk occurred between me and her. I was harsh to her.

When it was the next morning, I prayed the morning Salat and came to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. When I entered to see him^{-asws}, he^{-asws} said to me initiating: 'O Abu Mihzam! What is the matter with you and for Khalida you had spoken to her harshly yesterday? Don't you know that her belly is a house you had dwelt in, and her lap was a cradle you had clutched at, and her breast was a container you had drunk from?'

قَالَ قُلْتُ بَلَى

_

⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 69

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes'.

قَالَ فَلَا تُغْلِظْ لَهَا.

He said, 'Do not be harsh to her!"74

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Haroun Bin Al Jahm, from Al Husayn Bin Suweyr, from Abu Khadeeja,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! I have come to you^{-saww} to pledge allegiance to you^{-asws} upon Al-Islam'.

Rasool-Allah-saww said to him: 'I-saww shall take your allegiance based upon that you will kill your father'. He said, 'Yes'.

فَقَالَ لَهُ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَ إِنَّا وَ اللَّهِ لَا نَأْمُرُكُمْ بِقَتْلِ آبَائِكُمْ وَ لَكِنَّ الْآنَ عَلِمْتُ مِنْكَ حَقِيقَةَ الْإِيمَانِ وَ أَنَّكَ لَنْ تَتَّخِذَ مِنْ دُونِ اللَّهِ وَلِيجَةً أَطِيعُوا آبَاءَكُمْ فِيمَا أَمْرُوكُمْ وَ لَا تُطِيعُوهُمْ فِي مَعَاصِي اللَّهِ.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said to him: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! I^{-saww} am not instructing you with killing your fathers, but now I^{-saww} know from you the reality of the Eman, and that you should not take any confidence from besides Allah^{-azwj}. Obey your fathers in whatever they order you with but do not obey them in disobedience of Allah^{-azwj}".⁷⁵

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}: 'Upon you is with obeying the father, and be righteous to him, and the reverence, and the submission, and the reverence, and the honouring to him, and lower the voice in his presence, for the father is the origin of the son and the son is his branch. Had it not been for him, he would have existed.

Allah^{-azwj} has Determined for him that he should be spending the wealth for them, and his body and his soul, and it has been reported that you and your wealth are for your father. So make the self and the wealth for him and following them (parents) in the world in the best of the followings with the righteousness.

 $^{^{74}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 70 $\,$

⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 71

And after the death with the supplicating for them, and seeking the Mercy upon them, for it is reported that the one who is righteous with his father during his lifetime and does not supplicate for him after his death, Allah-azwj will Name him as disloyal.

And a teacher of good and the religion stands in the position of the father, and it obligates for him similar to that which obligates for him, therefore recognise his rights, and know that a right of the mother is the most necessitated of the rights and most obligatory because she shad carried whereby no one carries anyone and saved by the ears and the sight and entirety of the limbs, happily, smiling with that.

She carried him with whatever was in it of the abhorrences, and that which no one (else) can be patient upon. She was pleased with being hungry and satiated (her child), and being thirsty and saturating (her child), and needing the clothes and clothed (her child) and shaded him and she was exposed to heat.

So let the thanking be for her, and the righteousness, and the kindness with her based upon a measurement of that, and you will not be (able to) endure the lease of her rights except by Assistance of Allah^{-azwj}, and Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Paired her rights with His^{-azwj} Right. He^{-azwj} Said: "Be thankful to Me and to your parents! To Me is the destination" [31:14]".⁷⁶

And it is reported: 'Every righteous deed, the servant can reach it's peak from it except three rights – Right of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, (and rights of People^{-asws} of the Household), and right of the parents. We ask Allah^{-azwj} for the Assistance upon that''.⁷⁷

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, 'It is reported from the scholar^{-asws} having said to a man: 'Are there parents (alive) for you?' He said, 'No'. He^{-asws} said: 'Is there a son for you?' He said, 'Yes'.

 $^{^{76}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 72 a

⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 72 b

قَالَ لَهُ بَرَّ وَلَدَكَ يُحْسَبْ لَكَ بِرُّ وَالِدَيْكَ.

He^{-asws} said to him: 'Be righteous to your son that will be calculated (counted) for you as being righteous with your parents''.⁷⁸

And it is reported that he^{-asws} said: 'Be righteous to your children and be good to them, for they are thinking that you are sustaining them''.⁷⁹

And it is reported that he^{-asws} said: 'But rather, the righteous have been names are such because they are righteous to the fathers and the sons''.⁸⁰

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a parent assisting his son upon the righteousness''.⁸¹

(The book) 'Misbah Al Sharia' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Righteousness to the parents is from the good recognition with Allah^{-azwj} by the servant when there is no (act of) worship quicker reaching with its owner to the Satisfaction of Allah^{-azwj}.

From sanctity of the Muslim parents is a Face of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted because a right of the parents is derived from a Right of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, when they were to be upon the manifesto of the religion and the Sunnah, and they do not happen to be preventing the son from obeying Allah^{-azwj} to disobeying Him^{-azwj}, and from the certainty to the doubt, and from the ascetism to the world, and they are not calling him to beyond that.

When they were to be like that, then disobeying them is obedience (to Allah^{-azwj}) and obeying them is disobedience (to Allah^{-azwj}. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: *And if they both strive*

⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 73 a

 $^{^{79}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 73 b

 $^{^{80}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 73 c

⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 73 d

against you upon that you should associate with Me, what there isn't any knowledge for you of it, then do not obey them, [31:15].

وَ أَمَّا فِي الْعِشْرَةِ فَدَارِ بِهِمَا وَ اوْفُقْ بِمِمَا وَ احْتَمِلُ أَذَاهُمَا لِحَقِّ مَا احْتَمَلَا عَنْكَ فِي حَالِ صِغَرِكَ وَ لَا تَقْبِضْ عَلَيْهِمَا فِيمَا قَدْ وَسَّعَ اللهُ عَلَيْكَ مِنَ النَّعُظِيمِ لِأَمْرِ اللهِ وَ قُلْ لَمُمَا بِأَحْسَنِ الْقَوْلِ وَ أَلْطَفِهِ - فَإِنَّ اللهَ لا يُضِيعُ وَ الْمَلْبُوسِ وَ لَا تَحَوَّقُ عَنْهُمَا وَ لَا تَرْفَعْ صَوْتَكَ فَوْقَ أَصُواتِهِمَا فَإِنَّهُ مِنَ التَّعْظِيمِ لِأَمْرِ اللهِ وَ قُلْ لَمُمَا بِأَحْسَنِ الْقَوْلِ وَ أَلْطَفِهِ - فَإِنَّ اللهَ لا يُضِيعُ أَجْرَ اللهُ حَسِينَ.

And as for regarding the living, so rotate with them and be kind with them, and tolerate their harm due to a right of what they had borne from you during the state of your childhood, and do not seize upon them regarding what Allah^{-azwj} has Made capacious upon you, from the food and the clothing, and do not turn with your face away from them, and do not raise your voice above their voice, for it is from the reverence of a Command of Allah^{-azwj}, and say to them the goodly words and the gentle, *surely Allah does not Waste a Recompense of the good doers* [9:120]".82

75- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ مَسْعَدَةَ بْنِ صَدَقَةَ قَالَ قَالَ جَعْفَرُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ قَالَ وَالِدِي ع وَ اللَّهِ إِنِّ لَأْصَانِعُ بَعْضَ وُلْدِي وَ أُجْلِسُهُ عَلَى فَخِذِي وَ أُنْكِرُ لَهُ الْمُحْ وَ أَكْسِرُ لَهُ السُّكَرِ وَ إِنَّ الحُقَّ لِغَيْرِهِ مِنْ وُلْدِي وَ لَكِنْ مِخالفة [مُحَافَظَةً] عَلَيْهِ مِنْهُ وَ مِنْ غَيْرِهِ لِ لَ إِلِقَالًا يَصْنَعُوا بِهِ مَا فَعَلَ بِيُوسُفَ و إِخْوَتُهُ

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Mas'ada Bin Sadaqa who said,

'Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! I^{-asws} deal with one of my^{-asws} son and have him seated upon my^{-asws} thigh, and I^{-asws} dislike the bone marrow for him, and break the sugar for him, and the right is for someone else from my^{-asws} sons, but it is a protection upon him^{-asws} from him, and from others, lest they do with him^{-asws} what was done with Yusuf^{-as} and his^{-as} brother.

وَ مَا أَنْزَلَ اللّهُ سُورَةً إِلّا أَمْثَالًا لَكِنْ لَا يَجِدُ بَعْضُنَا بَعْضاً كَمَا حَسَدَ يُوسُفَ إِخْوَتُهُ وَ بَعَوْا عَلَيْهِ فَجَعَلَهَا رَحْمَةً عَلَى مَنْ تَوَلّانَا وَ دَانَ بِحُبِّنَا وَ حُجَّةً عَلَى أَعْدَائِنَا مَنْ نَصَبَ لَنَا الْحَرْبَ وَ الْعَدَاوَةَ.

And Allah^{-azwj} has not Revealed any Chapter except as a parable, but some of us do not find other just what Yusuf^{-as} had been envied by his^{-as} brothers and had rebelled against him^{-as}. So He^{-azwj} has Made is as a Mercy upon the one who befriends us^{-asws} and makes it a religion with our^{-asws} love, and an argument against our^{-asws} enemies, ones who install the war to us^{-asws} and the enmity".⁸³

76- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَحَدِهِمَا أَنَّهُ ذَكَرَ الْوَالِدَيْنِ فَقَالَ هُمَا اللَّذَانِ قَالَ اللَّهُ- وَ قَضَى رَبُّكَ أَلَّا تَعْبُدُوا إِلَّا إِيَّاهُ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Abu Baseer,

'From one of the two (5th or 6th Imam^{-asws}), the parents were mentioned, so he^{-asws} said: 'They are those Allah^{-azwj} Said: 'And your Lord has Decreed that you shall not worship except Him, and goodness with the parents [17:23]''.⁸⁴

⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 74

⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 75

⁸⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 76

77- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع فِي قَوْلِ اللهِ إِمَّا يَبْلُغَنَّ عِنْدَكَ الْكِبَرَ أَحَدُهُما أَوْ كِلاهُما فَلا تَقُلْ لَهُما أُفَّ وَ لا تَنْهَرْهُما قَالَ هُوَ أَدْنَى الْأَذَى حَرَّمَ اللّهُ فَمَا فَوْقَهُ.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} regarding Words of Allah^{-azwj}: *If they reach old age with you, one of them or both of them, then do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them, nor chide them [17:23]*. He^{-asws} said: 'It is the least harm Allah^{-azwj} has Prohibited, and whatever is above it''.⁸⁵

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Hareyz who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Least of the disloyalties is (saying) 'Ugh' and had Allah^{-azwj} Known of anything lesser than it, He^{-azwj} would have Prohibited from it''.⁸⁶

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Abu Al Wallad Al Hannat who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj}: *and goodness with the parents* [17:23]. He^{-asws} said: 'The goodness is that you be of good accompaniment to them, and do not encumber them of anything they are needy to, and even if they were to be needless (from it. Isn't Allah^{-azwj} Saying: 'You will never attain to righteousness until you are spending from what you are loving; [3:92]?'

Then Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'And as for His^{-azwj} Words: *If they reach old age with you, one of them or both of them, then do not (even) say 'Ugh' to them* – he^{-asws} said: 'If they rebuke you, do not say, 'Ugh' to them - *nor chide them, [17:23]*, if they were to hit you.

He (the narrator) said, 'and say gracious words to them [17:23]'. He^{-asws} said: 'You should say, 'There are (Rewards) for you both in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj'}, so that would be a gracious word from you'.

وَ قَالَ وَ الحَفِضْ لَهُما جَناحَ الذُّلِّ مِنَ الرَّمْةِ قَالَ لَا تَمْلَأْ عَيْنَيْكَ مِنَ النَّظَرِ إِلَيْهِمَا إِلَّا بِرَحْمَةٍ وَ رِقَّةٍ وَ لَا تَرْفَعْ صَوْتَكَ فَوْقَ أَصْوَاتِهِمَا وَ لَا يَدَيْكَ فَوْقَ أَيْدِيهِمَا وَ لَا يَدَيْكَ فَوْقَ أَيْدِيهِمَا وَ لَا يَدَيْكَ فَوْقَ أَيْدِيهِمَا وَ لَا يَدَيْكَ فَوْقَ أَيْدِيهِمَا

And he (the narrator) said, 'And lower to them the wings of humbleness from the mercy [17:24]'. He-asws said: 'Do not fill your eyes from the looking at them except with mercy and

⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 77

⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 78

kindness, and do not raise your voice above their voices, nor your hand above their hands, nor precede in front of them".87

80- جا، المجالس للمفيد أَحْمُدُ بْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّقَارِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَعْرُوفٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ قَالَ: كَتَبَ صِهْرٌ لِي إِلَى أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ السَّقَادِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَعْرُوفٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ قَالَ: كَتَبَ صِهْرٌ لِي إِلَى أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ السَّالِيٰ عِ أَنَّ أَكَاشِفَهُ أَمْ النَّايِيٰ عِ أَنَّ أَبِي نَاصِبٌ حَبِيثُ الرَّأْيِ وَ قَدْ لَقِيثُ مِنْهُ شِدَّةً وَ جَهْداً فَرَأَيْكَ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ فِي الدُّعَاءِ لِي وَ مَا تَرَى جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ أَ فَتَرَى أَنْ أَكَاشِفَهُ أَمْ أَلْا لَيْ عَالِي وَ مَا تَرَى جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ أَ فَتَرَى أَنْ أَكَاشِفَهُ أَمْ أَلُولُكُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ فِي الدُّعَاءِ لِي وَ مَا تَرَى جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ أَ فَتَرَى أَنْ أَكَاشِفَهُ أَنْ

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Marouf, from Ibn Mahziyar, from Bakr Bin Salih who said,

'A brother-in-law of mine wrote to Abu Ja'far^{-asws} the 2nd, 'My father is a Nasibi (hostile one) of the wicked views, and I am facing hardship from him and struggle. So what is your^{-asws} view, may I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}, regarding the supplicating for me, and what do you^{-asws} view, may I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}, shall I expose him or manage him (my nasibi father)?'

فَكَتَبَ قَدْ فَهِمْتُ كِتَابَكَ وَ مَا ذَكُرْتَ مِنْ أَمْرِ أَبِيكَ وَ لَسْتُ أَدَعُ الدُّعَاءَ لَكَ إِنْ شَاءَ اللهُ وَ الْمُدَارَاةُ حَيْرٌ لَكَ مِنَ الْمُكَاشَفَةِ وَ مَعَ الْعُسْرِ يُسْرٌ فَاصْبِرْ إِنَّ الْعاقِبَةَ لِلْمُتَّقِينَ ثَبَتَكَ اللهُ عَلَى وَلَايَةِ مَنْ تَولَّيْتَ نَحْنُ وَ أَنْتُمْ فِي وَدِيعَةِ اللهِ الَّتِي لَا يَضِيعُ وَدَائِعُهُ

He^{-asws} wrote: 'I^{-asws} have understood your letter and what you mentioned from the matter of your father, and I^{-asws} wouldn't leave supplicating for you, if Allah^{-azwj} so Desires, and the managing is better for you than the exposing (your father), and with the difficulty there is ease. Be patient, for the end-result is for the pious. May Allah^{-azwj} affirm you upon the friendship of the one you have befriended. We^{-asws} and you are in a deposit of Allah^{-azwj} Who does not Waste His^{-azwj} deposits'.

قَالَ بَكْرٌ فَعَطَفَ اللَّهُ بِقُلْبِ أَبِيهِ حَتَّى صَارَ لَا يُخَالِفُهُ فِي شَيْءٍ.

Bakr (the narrator) said, 'Allah^{-azwj} Turned the heart of his father until he became not opposing him regarding anything''.⁸⁸

81–كشف،كشف الغمة مِنْ كِتَابِ الْحَافِظِ عَبْدِ الْعَزِيزِ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ نَظَرُ الْوَلَدِ إِلَى وَالِدَيْهِ حُبّاً لَهُمَا عَادَةٌ.

(The book) 'Kashf Al Ghumma', from the book of Al Hafi Abdul Aziz, from Ismail,

'From his father^{-asws} Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'A look of the son to his parents out of love for them is (an act of) worship".⁸⁹

82–كِتَابُ الْإِمَامَةِ وَ التَّبْصِرَةِ، لِعَلِيِّ بْنِ بَابَوَيْهِ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عِ مِثْلَهُ.

⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 79

⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 80

⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 81

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' of Ali Bin Babuwayh, from Sahl Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ash'as,

'From Musa Bin Ismail son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} – similar to it''.⁹⁰

(The book) 'Rowzat Al Waizeen' -

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'I^{-saww} saw in the dream, a man from my^{-saww} community, the Angel of death had come to capture his soul, but his righteousness with his parents came to him and prevented him (Angel) from him''.⁹¹

And he^{-saww} said: 'The Satisfaction of Allah^{-azwj} is with satisfaction of the parents, and Annoyance of Allah^{-azwj} is with annoyance of the parents''.⁹²

And he-saww said: 'There is none from a son who is righteously looking at his parents with a look of mercy, except there will be for him, with every glance, an accomplished Hajj'.

They said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! And even if he were to look during every day, one hundred times?'

He-saww said: 'Yes! Allah-azwj is Greatest and best!"93

And he-saww said: 'When the father looks at his son and it cheers him, for the father would be (Reward of) liberating a person'.

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww, and even if he were to look three hundred and sixty glances?'

⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 82

⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 a

⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 b

⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 c

قَالَ اللَّهُ أَكْبَرُ.

He-saww said: 'Allah-azwj is the Greatest!''94

And he-saww said: 'From a right of the son upon his father are three – He should (give him) a good name, and teach him the writing, and get him married when he matures''. 95

And he^{-saww} said: 'He^{-azwj} will Say to the disloyal one: "Work whatever you so desire to, I^{-azwj} will not Forgive (your sins) for you!" And He^{-azwj} will Say to the righteous one (to his parents): "Work whatever you so desire to, for I^{-azwj} shall Forgive (your sins) for you!"⁹⁶

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'One who loves for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic to Lighten the pangs of death from him, then let him be connecting (heling) to his relatives and be righteous with his parents. If he were to be like that, Allah^{-azwj} will Ease the pangs of death from him, and poverty will not hit him during his lifetime, ever!"⁹⁷

And he^{-asws} said: 'A man came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'I am desirous regarding the Jihad actively!'

He^{-saww} said: 'Then do Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}. If you were to be killed, you will be alive being sustained in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}, and if you were to die, your Recompense will fall upon Allah^{-azwj}, and if you were to return, you will have exited from the sins like what you had been born'.

He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! There are old parents for me who claim that they are comforted with me and as disliking my going out (for Jihad)'.

⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 d

⁹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 e

⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 f

⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 g

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Stay with your parents. By the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is my^{-saww} soul! Their being comforted by you for a day and a night is better that (your) Jihad for a year''. ⁹⁸

84- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر صَفْوَانُ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ غَالِبٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: الْبِرُّ وَ صَدَقَةُ السِّرِ يَنْفِيَانِ الْفَقْرَ وَ يَرِيدَانِ فِي الْعُمُر وَ يَدُفَعَانَ عَنْ سَبْعِينَ مِيتَةَ سَوْءٍ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Safwan, from Is'haq Bin Ghalib, from his father,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The righteous act and the charity in secret negate the poverty and increase in the life-span, and they repel seventy (types of) evil death''.⁹⁹

85- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر النَّصْرُ وَ فَصَالَةُ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ حَفْصٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيُهُ اللَّهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيَمْ عَنْهُمَا الدَّيْنَ وَ لَا يَسْتَغْفِرُ لَهُمَا فَيَكْتُبُهُ اللَّهُ عَاقاً وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَكُونُ فِي حَيَاتِهِمَا غَيْرَ بَارٍّ لَهُمَا فَإِذَا مَاتَا قَضَى عَنْهُمَا الدَّيْنَ وَ لَا يَسْتَغْفِرُ لَهُمَا الدَّيْنَ وَ اللَّهُ تَبَارَكُ وَ تَعَالَى بَارَّاً.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Al Nazr and Fazalat, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Hafs, from Muhammad Bin Muslim,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'The servant tends to be righteous with his parents during their lifetime, then they die, but he neither pays off their debts nor seeks Forgiveness for them, so Allah-azwj Writes him as disloyal; and he tends to be un-righteous during their lifetime. When they die, he prays off their debts, and seeks Forgiveness for them, so Allah-azwj Blessed and Exalted Writes him as righteous''. 100

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'And if you love for Allah^{-azwj} to Increase in your lifespan, then cheer your parents''.¹⁰¹

He said, 'And I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'The righteous act (with the parents) increases in the sustenance''. 102

86- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر فَضَالَةُ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ حَيَّانَ قَالَ: أَخْبَرَنِي أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع بِيرِّ ابْنِهِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ لَهُ وَ قَالَ لَقَدْ كُنْتُ أُحِبُّهُ وَ قَدِ ازْدَادَ إِلَيَّ حُبَّا إِنَّ رَسُولَ اللّهِ ص أَتَتْهُ أُحْتٌ لَهُ مِنَ الرَّضَاعَةِ فَلَمَّا أَنْ نَظَرَ إِلَيْهَا سُرَّ بِمَا وَ بَسَطَ رِدَاءَهُ لَمَا فَأَجْلَسَهَا عَلَيْهِ ثُمَّ أَقْبَلَ يُحَدِّثُهَا وَ يَضْحَكُ فِي وَجُهِهَا ثُمَّ قَامَتْ فَذَهَبَتْ ثُمَّ جَاءَ أَخُوهَا فَلَمْ يَصْنَعْ بِهِ مَا صَنَعَ بِهَا

 $^{^{98}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 83 h

⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 84

 $^{^{100}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 85 a

¹⁰¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 85 b

 $^{^{102}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 85 c

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalatm from Ibn Ameyra, from Ibn Muskan, from Hammad Bin Hayyan who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} informed me with the righteousness of his^{-asws} son Ismail to him^{-asws} and said: 'I^{-asws} used to love him, and he has increased love to me^{-asws}. Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, a (step) sister of his^{-saww} from the breast-feeding came to him^{-saww}. When he^{-saww} looked at her, he^{-saww} was cheered by her and spread a rug for her and had her seated upon it. Then he^{-saww} went on to discuss with her and smiling in her face. Then she stood up and went. Then her brother came, but he^{-saww} did not do with him what he^{-saww} had done with her.

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! You^{-saww} did with his sister what you^{-saww} did not do with him, and he is a man!'

He^{-saww} said: 'Because she was more righteous with her father than him". 103

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Muhammad Al Fazary,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The people of a household tend to be righteous (to their parents), so their wealth grows, and (although) they are immoral''.¹⁰⁴

The book of Husayn in Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalat, from Ibn Ameyra, from Ibn Muskan, from Ibrahim Bin Shueyb who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'My father has become very old and weak, so we have to carry him, whenever he wants the need (toilet)'.

He^{-asws} said: 'If you are able to be in charge of that from him, then do so, and feed him with your own hands for it will be a shield for you tomorrow''.¹⁰⁵

¹⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 86

¹⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 87

¹⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 88

89- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر فَضَالَةُ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ عَنْ حَكَم بْنِ مُستيْنِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْخُستيْنِ ع قَالَ: جَاءَ رَجُلِّ إِلَى النَّبِيّ ص فَقَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ مَا مِنْ عَمَل قَبِيح إِلَّا قَدْ عَمِلْتُهُ فَهَلْ لِي مِنْ تَوْبَةٍ

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalat, from Ibn Ameyra, from Muhammad Bin Marwan, from hakam Bin Husayn,

'From Ali Bin Al Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! There is none from an ugly deed except and I have done it. Is there any repentance for me?'

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said to him: 'Is there anyone of your parents still alive?' He said, 'My father is'. He^{-saww} said: 'Then go and be righteous with him!'

When he turned around, Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'If only it had been his mother". 106

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalat, from Ibn Ameyra, from Abu Al Sabbah, from Jabir who said,

'I heard a man saying to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'There are parents for me (who are) adversaries'.

He^{-asws} said to him: 'Be righteous with them just as you are righteous with the Muslims, from the one who befriend us^{-asws}".¹⁰⁷

And by this chain, from Jabir, from Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Charity (given in) the secret extinguishes the Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj}, while righteousness with the parents and connecting the kinship increase in the life-span". ¹⁰⁸

91- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر ابْنُ أَبِي الْبِلَادِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ رَفَعَهُ قَالَ: رَأَى مُوسَى بْنُ عِمْرَانَ ع رَجُلًا تَحْتَ ظِلِّ الْعَرْشِ فَقَالَ يَا رَبِّ مَنْ هَذَا الَّذِي أَدْنَيْتَهُ حَتَّى جَعَلْتَهُ تَحْتَ ظِلِّ الْعَرْشِ

¹⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 89

 $^{^{\}rm 107}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 90 a

¹⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 90 b

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Ibn Abu Al Bilad, from his father, raising it, said,

'Musa Bin Imran^{-as} saw a man beneath shade of the Throne. He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Who is this whom You^{-azwj} have Drawn near unto the Throne shades Him^{-azwj}?'

Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Said: "O Musa^{-as}! This one did not happen to be disloyal to his parents, nor did he envy the people upon what Allah^{-azwj} had Given them from His^{-azwj} Grace!"

He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! So, from Your^{-azwj} creatures there is one who is disloyal to his parents?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "From the disloyalties to them is that he insults to them!" 109

92- ير، بصائر الدرجات ابْنُ أَبِي الْبِلَادِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: لَوْ عَلِمَ اللّهُ شَيْعًا أَدْنَى مِنْ أُفِّ لَنَهَى عَنْهُ وَ هُوَ مِنَ الْعُقُوقِ وَ هُوَ أَدْنَى الْعُقُوقِ وَ مِنَ الْعُقُوقِ أَنْ يَنْظُرَ الرَّجُلُ إِلَى أَبَوَيْهِ يُحِدُّ إِلَيْهِمَا النَّظَرَ.

(The book) 'Basaair Al Darajaat' – Ibn Abu Al Bilad, from his father,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Had Allah^{-azwj} Known of anything lesser than (saying) 'Ugh', He^{-azwj} would have Prohibited from it, and it is from the disloyalties, and it is the least disloyalty; and from the disloyalties is that the man looks at his parents hardening the looking at them".¹¹⁰

93- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر ابْنُ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ هِشَام بْنِ سَالِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: جَاءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ص فَقَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللّهِ مَنْ أَبُرُّ قَالَ أُمَّكَ قَالَ ثُمَّ مَنْ قَالَ أُمُّدَ مَنْ قَالَ أُمَّدً مَنْ قَالَ أُمَّدً مَنْ قَالَ أَبُكَ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al-Nawadir' – Ibn Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Salim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Whom shall I be righteous to? He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother'. He said, 'Then who?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your mother'. He said, 'Then who?' He^{-saww} said: 'Your father''. ¹¹¹

94– نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص سِرْ سَنَتَيْنِ بَرَّ وَالِدَيْكَ سِرْ سَنَةً صِلْ رَحِمَكَ سِرْ مِيلًا عُدْ مَرِيضًا سِرْ مِيلَيْنِ شَيِّعْ جَنَازَةً سِرْ ثَلَائَةً أَمْيَالٍ أَجِبْ دَعْوَةً سِرْ أَرْبَعَةَ أَمْيَالٍ أَغِثْ مَلْهُوفًا وَ عَلَيْكَ بِالاسْتِغْفَارِ فَإِثِّمَا الْمَنْجَاةُ.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy – By his chain,

¹⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 91

 $^{^{110}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 92

¹¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 93

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Travel for two year for righteousness with your parents, and travel for a year for connecting your kinship, and travel a mile to console a sick one, travel two miles in escorting a funeral, travel three miles to answer an invitation, travel four miles to help a distressed, and upon you is with seeking the Forgiveness, for it is a saviour". ¹¹²

95-كِتَابُ الْإِمَامَةِ وَ التَّبْصِرَة، لِعَلِيِّ بْنِ بَابَوَيْهِ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ مِثْلَهُ إِلَّا أَنَّ فِيه فَإِنَّمَا مُحْدَةً.

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' of Ali Bin Baubawyh, from Sahl Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ash'as,

'From Musa Bin Ismail son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws} – similar to it, except that in it is: 'For it is an eraser (of sins)". 113

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Above every (act of) righteousness there is (an act of) righteousness, until the man is killed as a martyr in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}; and above every disowning there is a disowning, until the man kills one of his parents''.¹¹⁴

وَ بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صِ إِيَّاكُمْ وَ دَعْوَةَ الْوَالِدِ فَإِنَّمَا تُرْفَعُ فَوْقَ السَّحَابِ حَتَّى يَنْظُرَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى إِلَيْهَا فَيَقُولَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى ارْفَعُوهَا إِلَيَّ حَتَّى أَسْتَجِيبَ لَهُ فَإِيَّاكُمْ وَ دَعْوَةَ الْوَالِدِ فَإِنَّمَا أَحَدُّ مِنَ السَّيْفِ.

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Beware of the supplication of a father for it rises above the clouds until Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Looks at it, so Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Says: "Raise it to Me^{-azwj} until I^{-azwj} Answer it for him!" Therefore, beware of the supplication of a father, for it is sharper than the sword".¹¹⁵

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three (persons), Allah^{-azwj} not Look at them – the one who reproaches with the deed, and the disowned by his parents, and a habitual of wine''. ¹¹⁶

وَ كِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ ثَلَاثُ دَعَوَاتٍ مُسْتَجَابَاتٌ لَا شَكَّ فِيهِنَّ دَعْوَةُ الْمَظْلُومِ وَ دَعْوَةُ الْمُسَافِرِ وَ دَعْوَةُ الْوَالِدِ عَلَى وَلَدِهِ.

 $^{^{\}rm 112}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 94

¹¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 a

¹¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 b

 $^{^{\}rm 115}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 c

¹¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 d

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three supplications are Answered, there is no doubt in these – The supplication of an oppressed, the supplication of a traveller, and the supplication of a parents against his son''.¹¹⁷

And by this chain, He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The look of a son to his parents out of love for them is (an act of) worship''.¹¹⁸

And he-saww said: 'One who aggrieves his parents, so he has been disowned by them''. 119

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'From a bounty of Allah^{-azwj} upon the man is that he resembles his father''.¹²⁰

And by this chain,

He^{-asws} said: 'Ali^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} sighted a man having two sons for him. He kissed one of them and neglected the other, He^{-saww} said: 'Equalise between the two!''¹²¹

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Abu Al-Hassan-asws the 3rd said: 'The disloyalty bereaves the one who is not bereaved''. 122

And he^{-asws} said: 'The disloyalty, it's consequence is the scarcity, and it leads to the disgrace''. 123

¹¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 e

 $^{^{118}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 f

¹¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 g

¹²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 h

 $^{^{121}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 95 i

¹²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 96 a

¹²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 96 b

97- دَعَوَاتُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، عَنْ حَنَانِ بْنِ سَدِيرٍ قَالَ: كُنَّا عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع وَ فِينَا مُيَسِّرٌ فَذَكَرَ وَاصِلَةَ الْقَرَابَةِ فَقَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَا مُيَسِّرُ قَدْ حَضَرَ أَنْ يُزَادَ فِي عُمُرِكَ فَبَرَّ شَيْحَيْكَ يَعْنَي أَبَوَيْهِ. أَنْ يُزَادَ فِي عُمُرِكَ فَبَرَّ شَيْحَيْكَ يَعْنَي أَبَوَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Dawaat' of Al Rawandy – From Hanan Bin Sadeyr who said,

'We were in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, and Muyassir was among us. He mentioned connecting with the relatives. Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'O Muyassir! Your term (death) has presented many a time, not once or twice. During all that Allah^{-azwj} had Delayed your death due to your connecting with your relative, and if you want an increase in your lifespan, then be righteous to your sheykh' – meaning his father".¹²⁴

And from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'The man could have been disowned by his parents during their lifetimes, then he fasts on their behalf after their death, and he prays Salat, and pays off the debts. He does not cease to be like that until he is Written as having been righteous with them.

And he could be righteous with them during their lifetimes, but when they die, he neither pays off their debts, nor does he do any righteous act with an aspect from the aspects of the righteous deeds. He does not cease to be like that until he is Written as having been disowned".¹²⁵

And the Prophet^{-saww} said: 'One whom it cheers to have an extension for him in his lifespan and expansion in his sustenance, then let him connect (help) his parents, for connecting with them is obedience to Allah^{-azwj} and let him connect the ones with kinship''.¹²⁶

And he-asws said: 'Being righteous with the parents and connecting (helping) the kindred ease the Reckoning'.

¹²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 97 a

 $^{^{\}rm 125}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 97 b

¹²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 97 c

Then he^{-asws} recited this Verse: **And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]**. Connect your kindred, and even if it were to be with a greeting". ¹²⁷

And Abu Ja'far-asws said: '(Performing) the Hajj negates the poverty, and (giving) the charity repels the affliction, and the righteousness (with the parents) increases in the lifespan''.¹²⁸

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He-asws said: 'There is no obedience to a created being in disobedience to the Creator''. 129

(The book) 'Kanz' of Al Karajaky – By a chain mentioned in (the book) 'Al Manahy' – from Yusuf Bin Yaqoub,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Accursed! Accursed is the one hitting his father or his mother. Accursed! Accursed is the one disowned by his parents. Accursed! Accursed is the one cutting off a kinship''.¹³⁰

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The most superior of deeds is praying the Salat at its timings, and being righteous to the parents, and the Jihad in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}". 131

And it is reported,

'Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as}, when he^{-as} was whispering to his^{-as} Lord^{-azwj}, saw a man beneath a Base of the Throne, standing, praying Salat. So he^{-as} envied him of his position. He^{-as} said: 'Due to what has this servant of Yours^{-azwj} reached what I^{-as} see?'

 $^{^{127}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 97 d

¹²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 97 e

¹²⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 98

¹³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 99

¹³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 100 a

He^{-azwj} Said: 'O Musa^{-as}! He was righteous with his parents and did not walk with the gossip". ¹³²

And the Prophet-saww said: 'One whom it cheers to have an extension for him in his lifespan and an expansion for him in his sustenance, let him connect with his parents, for connecting with them is from the obedience to Allah-azwj". 133

And a man said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'My father has become old, so we have to carry him whenever he intends the need (WC)'.

He^{-asws} said: 'If you are able to be in charge of that from him, then do so, for it will be a shield for you tomorrow'.

And a man said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! What is a right of this son of mine?' He^{-asws} said: 'Give him a good name, and educate him, and place him in a good place (position)''.¹³⁴

(The book) 'Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' of Ali Bin Babuwayh, from Sahl Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ash'as,

'From Musa Bin Ismail son of Musa Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on the one who assists his son upon his righteousness''.¹³⁵

And from him, by this chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'May the nose be rubbed of a man I^{-saww} am mentioned in his presence but he does not send Salawaat upon me^{-saww}! May the nose be rubbed of a man who comes across his parents during old age, but they do not enter him into the Paradise! May the nose

¹³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 100 b

 $^{^{133}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 100 c

 $^{^{\}rm 134}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 100 d

¹³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 101 a

be rubbed of a man, a month of Ramazan enters to him, then it goes away before (his sins) are Forgive for him!"136

And from him, from Ahmad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan, from Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan Al Saffar, from Ibrahim Bin Hashim, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Chief of the righteous ones on the Day of Qiyamah will be a man who had been righteous with his parents after their death''.¹³⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Numan, from Ibn Muskan, from Suleyman Bin Khalid who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'There are family members for me, and they are listening to me. Shall I invite them to this matter (Al-Wilayah)?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes! Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says in His^{-azwj} Book: *O you who believe! Save yourselves and your families from a Fire whose fuel are the people and the stones. [66:6]*".¹³⁸

Page 87 of 462

 $^{^{136}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 101 b

 $^{^{\}rm 137}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 101 c

¹³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 2 H 102

باب 3 صلة الرحم و إعانتهم و الإحسان إليهم و المنع من قطع صلة الأرحام و ما يناسبه

CHAPTER 3 – MAINTAINING THE KINSHIP, AND ASSISTING THEM, AND THE FAVOURING TO THEM, AND THE FORBIDDANCE FROM CUTTING CONNECTIONS OF THE KINSHIP AND WHAT IS APPROPRIATE TO IT

الآيات

The Verses

البقرة وَ إِذْ أَحَذْنا مِيثاقَ بَنِي إِسْرائِيلَ لا تَعْبُدُونَ إِلَّا اللَّهَ وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً وَ ذِي الْقُرْي

(Surah) Al Baqarah: And when We Took a Covenant with the Children of Israel: "You will not be worshipping but Allah, and the kindness with the parents, and the ones with relationship, [2:83]

و قال تعالى وَ آتَى الْمالَ عَلى حُبِّهِ ذَوي الْقُرْبي

And the Exalted Said: and gives the wealth over his own love (for it) to the ones with relationships, [2:177]

الرعد وَ الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ مَا أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يَخْشَوْنَ رَبُّكُمْ وَ يَخافُونَ سُوءَ الحِسابِ

(Surah) Al Ra'ad: And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining, and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]

إلى قوله تعالى وَ الَّذِينَ يَنْقُضُونَ عَهْدَ اللَّهِ مِنْ بَعْدِ مِيثاقِهِ وَ يَقْطَعُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يُفْسِدُونَ فِي الْأَرْضِ أُولئِكَ لَهُمُ اللَّهُ تُو لَمُمْ سُوءُ الدَّار

Up to Words of the Exalted: And those who are breaking the Pact of Allah from after its Covenanting and are cutting off relationships what Allah has Commanded with to be maintained, and they are corrupting in the land. They, for them is the Curse and for them would be the evil abode [13:25]

النحل إنَّ اللَّهَ يَأْمُرُ بِالْعَدْلِ وَ الْإِحْسانِ وَ إِيتَاءِ ذِي الْقُرْبِي

(Surah) Al Nahl: Surely Allah Commands with the justice, and the kindness, and giving to the near of kin, [16:90]

الإسراء و آتِ ذَا الْقُرْبِي حَقَّهُ

Surah Al Isra: And give to the one with kinship his right, [17:26]

الروم فَآتِ ذَا الْقُرْبي حَقَّهُ

(Surah) Al Roum: Therefore, give to the near of kin his due, [30:38]

(Surah) Muhammad^{-saww}: **So** if perhaps you were to be rulers, you would make mischief in the land and cut off your relationships [47:22]

1- ب، قرب الإسناد ابْنُ عِيسَى عَنِ الْبَرَنْطِيِّ عَنِ الرِّضَاعِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع صِلْ رَحِمَكَ وَ لَوْ بِشَرْبَةٍ مِنْ مَاءٍ وَ أَفْضَلُ مَا يُوصَلُ بِهِ الرَّحِمُ كَفُّ الْأَذَى عَنْهَا.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnad' - Ibn Isa, from Al Bazanty -

'From Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Maintain your relationships, and even if it is with a drink of water, and superior of what one can maintain the kinship with is to restraining the harm from it''.¹³⁹

And he^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining the kinship is a postponer regarding the term (death), an enricher in the wealth, love in the family''. ¹⁴⁰

2- ب، قرب الإسناد هَارُونُ عَنِ ابْنِ صَدَقَةَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمَعْرُوفَ يَمْنُعُ مَصَارِعَ السَّوْءِ وَ إِنَّ الصَّدَقَةَ تُطْفِئُ غَضَبَ الرَّبِّ وَ صِلَةَ الرَّحِم تَزِيدُ فِي الْعُمُر وَ تَنْفِي الْفَقْرَ وَ قَوْلَ لَا حَوْلَ وَ لَا قُوقَ إِلَّا باللَّهِ فِيهَا شِفَاءٌ مِنْ تِسْعَةِ وَ تِسْعِينَ دَاءً أَذْنَاهَا الْهُمُ.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqa,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The act of kindness prevents the evil death, and (giving) the charity extinguishes Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj}, and maintaining the kinship increases in the lifespan and negates the poverty, and the word, 'There is neither any might nor strength except with Allah^{-azwj}, there is a healing in it from ninety-nine diseases, the least of these being the worries''.¹⁴¹

Tafseer Al Qummi -

'And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining, [13:21].

¹³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 1 a

 $^{^{140}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 1 b

¹⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 2

حَدَّثَنِي أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ عَ قَالَ: إِنَّ رَحِمَ آلِ مُحُمَّدٍ ص مُعَلَّقَةٌ بِالْعَرْشِ يَقُولُ اللَّهُمَّ صِلْ مَنْ وَصَلَنِي وَ اقْطَعْ مَنْ قَطَعَنِي وَ هِيَ بَحْرِي فِي كُلِّ رَحِم.

It is narrated to me by my father, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} having said: 'Kinship of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} will be hanging with the Throne saying: 'O Allah^{-azwj}! Maintain with the one who maintained with me and Cut-off with who had cut me off!' And it flows regarding every kinship''.¹⁴²

4- لي، الأمالي للصدوق قَالَ أُمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع لِنَوْفٍ الْبِكَالِي يَا نَوْفُ صِلْ رَحِمَكَ يَزِيدُ اللَّهُ فِي عُمُركَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadoug -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said to Nowf Al-Bakaly: 'O Nowf! Maintain your kinship, Allah^{-azwj} will Increase in your lifespan".¹⁴³

5- ل، الخصال ابْنُ بُنْدَارَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُحُمُّهُورٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ شَبِيبٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنِ ابْنِ شِهَابٍ عَنْ أَنسٍ عَن النَّيِّ صِ قَالَ: مَنْ سَرَّهُ أَنْ يُبْسَطَ لَهُ فِي رَبْقِهِ وَ يُنْسَأَ لَهُ فِي أَجَلِهِ فَلْيُصِلْ رَحْهُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Bundar, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Jamhour, from Muhammad Bin Ali Bin Zayd, from Ahmad Bin Shabeeb, from his father, from Yunus, from Ibn Shihab, from Anas (well-known fabricator),

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One whom it cheers for an expansion to be for him in his sustenance, and a postponement to be for him in his death, then let him maintain his kinship''.¹⁴⁴

6- لي، الأمالي للصدوق في مَناهِي النَّبِيِّ قَالَ: مَنْ مَشَى إِلَى ذِي قَرَاتَةٍ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ مَالِهِ لِيَصِلَ رَحِمَهُ أَعْطَاهُ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ أَجْرَ مِائَةِ شَهِيدٍ وَ لَهُ بِكُلِّ حُطْوَةٍ أَرْبَعُونَ أَلْفَ حَسَنَةٍ وَ يُمْحَى عَنْهُ أَرْبَعُونَ أَلْفَ سَيِّئَةٍ وَ يُوْفَعُ لَهُ مِنَ الدَّرَجَاتِ مِثْلُ ذَلِكَ وَ كَأَنَّمَا عَبَدَ اللَّهَ مِائَةَ سَنَةٍ صَابِراً مُخْتَسِباً.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'Among the prohibitions by the Prophet-saww, he-saww said: 'One who walks to one with relationship by himself and (with) his wealth to help a kindred, Allah-azwj will Give him Recompense of one hundred martyrs, and for him would be forty thousand good deeds for every step taken, and forty thousand evils deeds will be deleted from him, and the ranks will be raised for him similar to that, and it is as if he has worshipped Allah-azwj for one hundred years, patiently, anticipating''. 145

7- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ مَنْصُورِ بْنِ يُونُسَ عَنِ الثَّمَالِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عَ قَالَ: مَا مِنْ حُطُوّةٍ أَحَبَّ إِلَى اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مِنْ خُطُوّتَيْنِ خُطُوّةٍ يَسُدُّ بِجَا الْمُؤْمِنُ صَفّاً فِي اللّهِ وَ خُطُوّةٍ إِلَى ذِي رَحِم قَاطِع الْخَبَرَ.

¹⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 3

 $^{^{143}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 4

 $^{^{144}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 5

¹⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 6

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Al Husayn Bin Saeed, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Mansour Bin Yunus, from Al Sumali,

'From Ali-asws Bin Al Husayn-asws having said: 'There are no footsteps more Beloved to Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic that two footsteps – a step the Momin blocking a row with it in the Way of Allah-azwj (in the army), and a step he takes to one with kinship having been cut off' – the Hadeeth''. 146

Tafseer Al-Imam (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) – And as for Words of the Exalted: *and the ones with relationship, [2:83]*, they are from your relatives from your father and your mother. It will be said to you: 'Recognise their rights just as the Covenant has been Taken with it from the children of Israel, and it has been Taken upon you all, community of Muhammad^{-saww}, with recognising the right of the relatives of Muhammad^{-saww}, the ones who are the Imams^{-asws} after him^{-saww}, and ones following them afterwards from the good ones of their^{-asws} offspring''.¹⁴⁷

The Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who takes care of the relatives of his father will be Given a million ranks in the Paradise, the distance of what is between every two ranks is the galloping of the race horse for one hundred years.

One of the ranks is of silver, and another of gold, and another of pearls, and another of emeralds, and another of aquamarine, and another of Musk, and another of Ambergris, and another of camphor. So these ranks are from these types.

And the one who takes care of the rights of the relatives of Muhammad^{-saww} and Ali^{-asws}, would be Given from the superior ranks and additional Rewards based upon a measurement of additional merit of Muhammad^{-saww} and Ali^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon them^{-asws}, over the fathers of his lineage". ¹⁴⁸

 $^{^{146}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 7

 $^{^{\}rm 147}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 8 a

¹⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 8 b

9- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ الْبَرَهِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ النَّصْرِ عَنْ زُرْعَةَ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِنَّ فِي الجُنَّةِ دَرَجَةً لَا يَبْلُغُهَا إِلَّا إِمَامٌ عَادِلٌ أَوْ ذُو رَحِم وَصُولٍ أَوْ ذُو عِيَالٍ صَبُورٍ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Al Nazr, from Zur'ah, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'In the Paradise there is a rank which cannot be attained except by a just Imam^{-asws}, or one with kinship who has maintained, or one with dependants who had been patient". ¹⁴⁹

From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'Three (persons) will not be entering the Paradise – one habitual of wine, and a Momin sorcerer, and a cutter of kinship''. ¹⁵⁰

10- ل، الخصال الْعَطَّارُ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِيْ عَنْ الْحُسَنِيْ عَلَيْكِ وَ رُجُلٌ عَاهَدْتَهُ أَبِيهِ عَلَيْهِ وَ هُوَ يَبْغِي عَلَيْكِ وَ رُجُلٌ عَاهَدْتَهُ وَ يَكُافِيكَ بِالْإِحْسَانِ إِلَيْهِ إِسَاءَةً وَ رَجُلٌ لَا تَبْغِي عَلَيْهِ وَ هُوَ يَبْغِي عَلَيْكَ وَ رَجُلٌ عَاهَدْتَهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ وَ مُعْ أَمْرِهِ الْعَدُّرُ بِكَ وَ رَجُلٌ عَصِلُ قَرَابَتَهُ وَ يَقْطِعُونَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Attar, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Al Husayn Bin Saeed, from Al-Hassan Bin Al Husayn, from Musa Bin Al Qasim, from Safwan from Ibn BUkeyr, from his father,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (matters) and the quickest of things in punishment – A man whom you have favoured to and he reciprocates you for your favour to him with evil; and a man you have not rebelled against, and he rebels against you; and a man you have a pact with him upon a matter, so from your affair is the loyalty to him and from his affairs is the betrayal of you, and a man you maintain his kinship and he cuts it off''. ¹⁵¹

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Among what the Prophet^{-saww} bequeathed with to Ali^{-asws} – similar to it, and it has passed repeatedly''.¹⁵²

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Among the advice of Abu Zarr^{-ra}, by the chains (of attribution), said, 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} had advised me^{-ra} that I^{-ra} should maintain my^{-ra} kinship and even if he has turned his back''. ¹⁵³

 $^{^{149}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 9 a

¹⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 9 b

¹⁵¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 10 a

¹⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 10 b

¹⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 11 a

And it has passed in the chapters on the equal manners and others, by the chains,

'From the Prophet-saww having said: 'He will not enter the Paradise, a cutter of kinship". 154

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – From Saeed Bin Ilaga,

'From Amir Al-Momineen-asws having said: 'Cutting-off the kinship inherits the poverty". 155

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}'**, (and) 'Al-Khisaal' – My father, from Al Himeyri, from Ibn Isa, from Al Washa,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When there was an ascension with me^{-saww} to the sky, I^{-saww} saw a kinship hanging with the Throne complaining of kinship to its Lord^{-azwj}. I^{-saww} said to it: 'How much is there between you and it of fathers (generations)?' It said, 'We are cast among forty fathers (generations)". ¹⁵⁶

14- ل، الخصال الْأَرْبَعُمِائَةِ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع صِلُوا أَرْحَامَكُمْ وَ لَوْ بِالسَّلَامِ يَقُولُ اللَّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى- وَ اتَّقُوا اللَّهَ الَّذِي تَسائَلُونَ بِهِ وَ الْأَرْحَامَ إِنَّ الله كان عَلَيْكُمْ رَقِيباً.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'(The Hadeeth) 'Al-Arbamiya', Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Maintain your kinships and even if it be with a greeting. Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Says; and fear Allah, Who you are asking for the relationships by; Allah will always be Watchful over you [4:1]". 157

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Al Husayn^{-asws} said: 'One whom it cheers for there to be a postponement in his death and an increase in his sustenance, let him maintain his kinship''.¹⁵⁸

 $^{^{154}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 11 b

¹⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 12

¹⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 13

¹⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 14

¹⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 15

16- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِمَدَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص مَنْ ضَمِنَ لِي وَاحِدَةً ضَمِنْتُ لَهُ أَرْبَعَةً يَصِلُ رَحِمُهُ فَيُحِبُّهُ اللهُ تَعَالَى وَ يُوسِّعُ عَلَيْهِ رِزْقَهُ وَ يَرِيدُ فِي عُمُره وَ يُدْخِلُهُ الجُنَّةَ الَّتِي وَعَدَهُ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, by this chain, said, 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who guarantees one to me, I shall guarantee four to him. He should maintain his kinship, so Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted will Love him, and Expand his sustenance upon him, and Increase in his lifespan, and Enter him into the Paradise which He^{-azwj} has Promised him''.¹⁵⁹

17– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص إِنّي أَخَافُ عَلَيْكُمُ اسْتِحْفَافاً بِالدِّينِ وَ بَيْعَ الحُكْمِوَ قَطِيعَةَ الرَّحِمِ وَ أَنْ تَتَّخِذُوا الْقُرْآنَ مَرَامِيرَ ثُقْدِيُمُونَ أَحَدَكُمْ وَ لَيْسَ بَأَفْصَلِكُمْ فِي الدِّينِ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, by this chain, 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'I^{-saww} am fearing upon you all taking lightly with the religion, and selling the judgment (through bribery etc.), and cutting the kinship, and you're taking the Quran as a flute (reciting in melodious tunes), (and) advancing one of you and (although) he isn't the best of you in the religion''.¹⁶⁰

18- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام الْعَسْكَرِيُّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْفَصْلِ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ الْكَاتِبِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَبْدِهِ قَالَ: أُحْضِرْنَا مُجِّلِسَ الرَّضَا ع فَشَكَا رَجُالٌ أَخَاهُ فَأَنْشَأَ يَقُولُ-

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Al Askari, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad al Fazl, from Ibrahim Bin Ahmad the scribe, from Ahmad Bin Al Husayn, from his father who said,

'We attended a gathering of Al-Reza^{-asws}. A man complained of his brother, so he^{-asws} prosed (a poem) saying:

```
    أَعْذِرْ أَخَاكَ عَلَى ذُنُوبِهِ-
    وَ اسْئُرْ وَ غَطِّ عَلَى عُبُوبِهِ-
    وَ اسْئُرْ عَلَى جُسْتِ السَّفِيهِ-
    وَ كَالِ الطَّلُومَ إِلَى حَسِيبِهِ.
    وَ كَالِ الظَّلُومَ إِلَى حَسِيبِهِ.
```

'Excuse your brother upon his sins and veil and cover upon his faults, and be patient upon slandering the foolish, and for a (long) time upon his address, and leave the answering graciously, and allocate the injustice to his Reckoner''. 161

19- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ الْجِعَابِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ عَمَّ أَبِيهِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ أَمِيرِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ قَالَ: صِلُوا أَرْحَامَكُمْ وَ إِنْ قَطَعُوكُمْ الْخَبَرَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Al Jiany, from Ibn Uqdah, from Muhammad Bin Ismail Bin Ibrahim, from an uncle of his father Al Husayn,

¹⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 16

 $^{^{160}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 17

¹⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 18

'Son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} having said: 'Maintain your kinships and even if these have been cut off from you' – the Hadeeth''.¹⁶²

20- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ بِلَالٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ بِلَالٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ أَحْمَدُ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ أَحْمَدُ السَّيَّارِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَالِدٍ عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ جَالِدٍ عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ جَالِدٍ عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ دَاوُدُ الشَّدِعِ قَالَ: كُنْتُ جَالِساً عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عِ إِذْ قَالَ لِي مُبْتَدِناً مِنْ قِبَلِ نَفْسِهِ يَا دَاوُدُ لَقَدْ عُرِضَتْ عَلَيَّ أَعْمَالُكُمْ يَوْمَ الْخُمِيسِ فَرَأَيْتُ فِي مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ دَاوُدُ الرَّقِيِّ قَالَ كِي مُبْتَدِناً مِنْ قِبَلِ نَفْسِهِ يَا دَاوُدُ لَقَدْ عُرِضَتْ عَلَيَّ أَعْمَالُكُمْ يَوْمَ الْخُمِيسِ فَرَأَيْتُ فِي عَنْ مَاكِنَ عَبِكُ فَلَانٍ فَسَرَّيْ ذَلِكَ إِنِّ عَلِمْتُ أَنَّ صِلْتَكَ لَهُ أَسْرَعُ لِفَاءٍ عُمُوهِ وَ قَطْع أَجَلِهِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ali Bin Bilal, from Ali Bin Suleym, from Ahmad Bin Al Qasim, from Ahmad Al Sayyari, from Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Saeed Bin Muslim, from Dawood Al Raqqy who said,

'I was seated in the presence of Abu Abdullah-asws when he-asws said to me initiating from his-asws own self: 'O Dawood! Your deeds were presented unto me-asws on the day of Thursday and I-asws saw among what had been presented to me-asws from your deeds, your maintaining to a son of your uncle so and so. That cheered me-asws. I-asws knew that your maintaining (helping) to him is quicker for annihilating his lifespan and cutting off his term!'

قَالَ دَاوُدُ وَ كَانَ لِي ابْنُ عَمِّ مُعَانِداً حَبِيثاً بَلَغَنِي عَنْهُ وَ عَنْ عِيَالِهِ سُوءُ حَالٍ فَصَكَكْتُ لَهُ نَفَقَةً قَبْلَ حُرُوجِي إِلَى مَكَّةَ فَلَمَّا صِرْتُ بِالْمَدِينَةِ حَبَّرَينِ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع بِذَلِكَ.

Dawood said, 'And for me there was a son of an uncle who was obstinate, wicked. And evil state had reached me about him and about his dependants. So I had taken a bag of money for him for expenditure before my going out to Makkah. When I came to Al Medina, Abu Abdullah^{-asws} had informed me of that''. ¹⁶³

21- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الصَّمَدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَبْدِ الصَّمَدِ بْنِ مُوسَى عَنْ عَقِهِ عَبْدِ الْهُو جَعْفَرٍ الْمُنْصُولُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ ع وَ أَمَرَ بِفُرْشٍ فَطُرِحَتْ لَهُ إِلَى جَانِيهِ فَأَجْلَسَهُ عَلَيْهَا بُنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ قَالَ: بَعَثَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ الْمُنْصُولُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ جَعْفَرٍ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ ع وَ أَمَرَ بِفُرْشٍ فَطُرِحَتْ لَهُ إِلَى جَانِيهِ فَأَجْلَسَهُ عَلَيْهَا مُنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ قَالَ: بَعَثَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ الْمُنْصُولُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ جَعْفَرٍ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ ع وَ أَمَرَ بِفُرْشٍ فَطُرِحَتْ لَهُ إِلَى جَانِيهِ فَأَجْلَسَهُ عَلَيْهَا مُعْدَى عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْمَ بِنُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ قَالَ: بَعَثَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ الْمُنْصُولُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ جَعْفَرٍ بْنِ عُجْدَهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَنْهُ اللهِ عَنْهُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ فَأَجْلَسَهُ عَلَيْهَا إِلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلْمَالِهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلْمُ اللهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَى جَانِهِ فَأَجْلَسَهُ عَلَيْهَا إِلَى اللهِ عَلَى عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلْمُ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلْمَ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَيْهُ اللهِ اللهِلْمِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِلْمِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِلَا اللهِلَا اللهِلَمِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِلَا اللهِلَّةُ اللهِلَا اللهِلَا اللهِلَا اللهِلْ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ibrahim Bin Abdul Samad, from his father, Abdul Samad Bin Musa, from his uncle Abdul Wahhab Bin Muhammad Bin Ibrahim, from his father Muhammad Bin Ibrahim who said.

'(The caliph) Abu Ja'far Al-Mansour sent for Abu Abdullah Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} and ordered with furnishing. It was dropped for him to his side, and he seated him^{-asws} upon it, then he said, 'To me with Muhammad! To me with Al-Mahdi!' – saying that repeatedly.

فَقِيلَ لَهُ السَّاعَةَ السَّاعَةَ يَأْتِي يَا أُمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَا يَحْبِسُهُ إِلَّا أَنَّهُ يَتَبَحَّرُ

It was said to him, 'Just now! He will come just now, O commander of the faithful! Nothing is withholding him except that he is being perfumed'.

 $^{^{162}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 19 $\,$

¹⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 20

It was not long before he arrived, and his aroma was preceding him. Al-Mansour faced towards Ja'far^{-asws}. He said, 'O Abu Abdullah^{-asws}! There is a Hadeeth you^{-asws} have narrated regarding maintaining the kinship which I remember, make Al-Mahdi hear it!'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes. My^{-asws} father^{-asws} narrated to me^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The man maintains his kinship, and there had remained three years from his lifespan, so Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Makes it to be thirty years, and he cuts if off and there had remained thirty years from his lifespan, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be three years'. Then he^{-asws} recited: *Allah Deletes and Affirms whatever He so Desires to, and with Him is the Mother of the Book [13:39]* – the Verse.

He said, 'This is good, O Abu Abdullah-asws, and it isn't what I had wanted'.

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Yes. My^{-asws} father^{-asws} narrated to me^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintaining the kinship builds the households, and increases in the lifespans, and even if its people were not good'.

He said, 'This is good, O Abu Abdullah-asws, and this isn't what I had wanted'.

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Yes. My^{-asws} father^{-asws} narrated to me^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintaining kinship eases the Reckoning and saves from the evil death'.

قَالَ الْمَنْصُورُ نَعَمْ هَذَا أَرَدْتُ.

Al-Mansour said, 'Yes, this is what I had wanted". 164

.

¹⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 21

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – By a chain of Al Majashie,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} having said: 'It was said, 'O Prophet^{-saww} of Allah^{-azwj}! Is there any right (to fulfil) besides the Zakat?'

He^{-saww} said: 'Righteousness with the kindred having turned his back and maintaining (helping) the Muslim neighbour. He has not believed in me^{-saww}, the one who spends a night satiated while the Muslim neighbour is hungry'.

Then he^{-saww} said: 'Jibraeel^{-as} has not ceased to advise me^{-saww} with the neighbour until I^{-saww} thought that he would inherit (from) me^{-saww}''. ¹⁶⁵

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' -

'In a sermon of (Syeda) Fatima^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon her^{-asws}: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Imposed maintaining the kinship as a grower (of wealth) for the servants''. ¹⁶⁶

From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}: 'When the kinships are cut off, the wealth is made to be in hands of the evil ones''.¹⁶⁷

And from Abu Abdullah^{-asws}: 'The sins which hasten the annihilation are cutting off the kinship''. 168

24- مع، معاني الأخبار ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي الْخُطَّابِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبْ الْخُطَّابِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَسْبَاطٍ عَنِ الْبَطَائِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيمٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِلَةُ الرَّحِمِ تَوْيِدُ فِي الْخُمُرِ وَ صَدَقَةُ السِّرِ تُطْفِئُ عَضَبَ الرَّبِّ وَ إِنَّ قَطِيعَةَ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَانِ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنَّ قَطِيعَةَ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَانِ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنَّ قَطِيعَةَ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَانِ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنَّ قَطِيعَةً الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَلَانِ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَانِ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَانِ الرَّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الْكَاذِبَةَ لَتَذَرَانِ الدِّيَارَ بَلَاقِعَ مِنْ أَهْلِهَا وَ يُثْقِلَلَانِ الرِّحِمِ وَ الْيَمِينَ الرَّعِمِ انْفُطَاعُ الرَّعِمِ اللَّهِ اللَّ

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Ibn Asbaat, from Al Batainy, from Abu Baseer,

¹⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 22

¹⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 23 a

¹⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 23 b

¹⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 23 c

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintaining the kinship increases in the lifespan, and (giving) the charity in secret extinguishes Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj} and cutting the kinship and the false oath leaves the houses scattered from its people, and it heavies the kinship (with disease and laziness and apathy), and in the heaviness of the kinship is termination of the lineage''.¹⁶⁹

25- مع، معاني الأخبار ابْنُ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جُدِّهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ خَلَفٍ عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنْ عَمْرِهِ بْنِ جُمِيْعٍ قَالَ: كُنْتُ عِنْدُ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ خُمَّدٍ سَ لَيَتَعَلَّقُ بِالْعَرْشِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ تَتَعَلَّقُ بِهَا أَرْحَامُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ تَقُولُ يَا رَبِّ صِلْ مَنْ فَصُعَنَا وَ الْقَيَامَةِ وَ تَتَعَلَّقُ بِهَا أَرْحَامُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ تَقُولُ يَا رَبِّ صِلْ مَنْ وَصَلَنَا وَ الْقَطَعْ مَنْ قَطَعَنَا

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbaar' – Ibn Al Barqy, from his father, from his grandfather, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Khalaf, from Yunus, from Amro Bin Jumies who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} along with a number of his^{-asws} companions. I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'Kinship of the Imams^{-asws} from the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} will hang with the Throne on the Day of Qiyamah, and the kinship of the Momineen will be attached with it. It shall say: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Maintain the one who had maintained us^{-asws} and Cut-off the one who had cut us^{-asws} off!''

He^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted will Say: "I^{-azwj} am the Beneficent, and you are the kinship I^{-azwj} had Derived from My^{-azwj} Name. So the one who had maintained you, I^{-azwj} shall Maintain him, and the one who have cut you off, I^{-azwj} shall Cut him off!"

And for that (reason) he^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The kinship is an (intertwined) attachment from Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Mighty and Majestic''.¹⁷⁰

And the Prophet^{-saww} had said: '(Syeda) Fatima^{-asws} is an intertwined attachment from me^{-saww}. It hurts me^{-saww} what hurts her^{-asws}, and it cheers me^{-saww} what cheers her^{-asws}'. ¹⁷¹

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbaar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Ahmad Bin Al Nazr, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Jibraeel^{-as} informed me^{-saww} that the aroma of Paradise will be felt from a travel distance of a thousand years. It will neither be

¹⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 24

¹⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 25 a

¹⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 25 b

found by one disowned (by the parents), nor a cuter of kinship, nor an elderly adulterer' – the Hadeeth". 172

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' - My father, from Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When the knowledge appears while the deeds are withheld, and the tongues are united while the hearts are differing, and the kinships are cut off, over there (then) *Allah has Cursed, so He Made Deafened them and Blinded their visions [47:23]*".¹⁷³

(The book) 'Basaair Al Darajaat' – Ibn Yazeed, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam, from Muyassir who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'There has been an increase in your lifespan, so which thing have you done?'

I said, 'I was hired for five Dirhams when I was a young boy, so I gave to my maternal uncle." 174

(The book) 'Al Ghayba' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Al Bazoufary, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Jameel Bin Salih, from Hisham Bin Ahmad,

'From Salimah a slave of Abu Abdullah-asws who said, 'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah Ja'far-asws Bin Muhammad-asws when the expiry presented to him-asws and there was unconsciousness upon him-asws.

When he^{-asws} woke up, he^{-asws} said: 'Give seventy Dinars to Al-Hassan Bin Ali son of Ali^{-asws} Bin Al Husayn^{-asws}, and he is Al-Aftas, and give so and so such and such, and so and so such and such (amount)'.

¹⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 26

 $^{^{173}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 27

¹⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 28

I said, 'Are you giving to a man who had carried a blade to attack upon you-asws intending to kill you-asws?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Are you wanting me^{-asws} not to be from the ones Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: **And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining, and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]**?

Yes, O Salimah! Allah^{-azwj} Created the Paradise, so He^{-azwj} Made it good and Perfumed its aroma, and it's aroma will be felt from a travel distance of two thousand years, but it's aroma will not be felt, neither by one disowned (by his parents), nor a cutter of kinship''.¹⁷⁵

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan and Abdullah Bin Al Mugheira, from Talha Bin Zayd,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}: 'A man from Khas'am came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said to him^{-saww}, 'Inform me, what is the best Al-Islam?'

فَقَالَ الْإِيمَانُ بِاللَّهِ

He-saww said: 'The Eman with Allah-azwj'.

قَالَ ثُمُّ مَا ذَا

He said, 'Then what?'

قَالَ صِلَةُ الرَّحِم

He-saww said: 'Maintaining the kinship'.

قَالَ ثُمُّ مَا ذَا

He said, 'Then what?'

فَقَالَ الْأَمْرُ بِالْمَعْرُوفِ وَ النَّهْيُ عَنِ الْمُنْكَرِ.

¹⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 29

He-saww said: 'The instructing with the act of kindness and the forbidding from the evil". 176

(The book) 'Saheefa Al-Reza^{-asws}', from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Maintain the kinship and the goodly manners increase in the lifespans''.¹⁷⁷

(The book) 'Saheefa' Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Muhammad Bin Ali^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining the kinship and good neighbourliness increase in the lifespans''.¹⁷⁸

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – It is reported that the kinship, when it is distant, it is happy, and when it touches, it is spoilt'.¹⁷⁹

And it is reported: 'Travel for two years to be righteous with your parents and travel a year to maintain your kinship'. And it is reported that the older brother is at the status of the father''. 180

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Al Asbagh Bin Nubata who said,

'I heard Amir Al-Momineen-asws saying: 'One of you gets angry, and he is not satisfied until he enters the Fire due to it. Whichever man from you gets angry upon one with his kinship, let him go near to him, for the kinship, when the kindred touches it, it calms down.

And it will be hanging with the Throne banging on it (like) banging of iron. It shall say: 'O Allah^{-azwj}! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut-off the one who had cut me off!' And that is the Word of Allah^{-azwj} in His^{-azwj} Book: *and fear Allah, Who you are asking for the relationships by; Allah will always be Watchful over you [4:1]*.

 $^{^{176}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 30

¹⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 31

 $^{^{178}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 32

 $^{^{\}rm 179}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 33 a

¹⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 33 b

وَ أَيُّمَا رَجُل غَضِبَ وَ هُوَ قَائِمٌ فَلْيَلْزَمِ الْأَرْضَ مِنْ فَوْرِهِ فَإِنَّهُ يُذْهِبُ رِجْزَ الشَّيْطَانِ.

And whichever man gets angry while he is standing, so let him stick to the ground (sit down) immediately, for it will get rid of the rebuke of Satan-la". 181

35- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ حَنْظَلَةَ عَنْهُ عَنْ قَوْلِ اللَّهِ اتَّقُوا اللَّهَ الَّذِي تَساتَلُونَ بِهِ وَ الْأَرْحامَ قَالَ هِيَ أَرْحَامُ النَّاسِ إِنَّ اللَّهَ أَمَرَ بِصِلَتِهَا وَ عَظَّمَهَا أَ لَا تَهِى أَنَّهُ جَعَلَهَا مَعَهُ.

Tafseer Al-Ayyashi – From Umar Bin Hanzala, from him-asws about the Words of Allah-azwj: *fear Allah, Who you are asking for the relationships by; [4:1]*. He-asws said: 'It is the kinships of the people Allah-azwj has Commanded with maintaining these and revering it. Don't you see that He-azwj has Made (Linked) it with Him-azwj?''182

36- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ دَرَّاجٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: سَأَلْتُهُ عَنْ قَوْلِ اللهِ- اتَّقُوا اللهَ الَّذِي تَساقَلُونَ بِهِ وَ الْأَرْحامَ قَالَ هِيَ أَرْحَامُ النَّاسِ أَمَرَ اللهُ تَبَارَكُ وَ تَعَالَى بصِلَتِهَا وَ عَظَمَهَا أَ لَا تَرَى أَنَّهُ جَعَلَهَا مَعَهُ.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Jameel Bin Darraj,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he said, 'I asked him^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj}: *fear Allah, Who you are asking for the relationships by; [4:1]*. He^{-asws} said: 'It is kinships of the people. Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted has Commanded with maintaining these and revering it. Don't you see that He^{-azwj} has Made (Linked) it with Him^{-azwj}?''¹⁸³

37– شي، تفسير العياشي عَنِ الْعَلَاءِ بْنِ الْفُصَيْلِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ الرَّحِمُ مُعَلَّقَةٌ بِالْعَرْشِ تَقُولُ اللَّهُمَّ صِلْ مَنْ وَصَلَنِي وَ اقْطَعْ مَنْ قَطَعْنِي وَ هِيَ رَحِمُ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ رَحِمُ كُلِّ مُؤْمِنِ وَ هُوَ قَوْلُ اللّهِ وَ الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Al A'ala Bin Al Fuzeyl,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'The kinship will be hanging with the Throne saying: 'O Allah-azwj! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut-off the one who had cut me off!' And it is the kinship of the Progeny-asws of Muhammad-saww, and kinship of every Momin, and it is the Word of Allah-azwj: *And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining,* [13:21]?"¹⁸⁴

38- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص بِرُّ الْوَالِدَيْنِ وَ صِلَةُ الرَّحِمِ يُهَوِّنَانِ الْحِسَابَ ثُمُّ تَلَا هَذِهِ الْآيَةَ وَ الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يَخْشُونَ رَهِّمْ وَ يَخَافُونَ سُوءَ الْحِساب.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Righteousness with the parents and maintaining the kinship will ease the Reckoning'. Then he^{-asws} recited this Verse: **And those**

¹⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 34

¹⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 35

¹⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 36

¹⁸⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 37

who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]". 185

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Muhammad Bin Al Fazl who said,

'I heard Al-Abd Al-Salih-asws (7th Imam-asws) saying: 'And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining [13:21]. He-asws said: 'It is kinship of the Progeny-asws of Muhammad-saww hanging with the Throne, saying: 'O Allah-azwi! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut-off the one who had cut me off!' And it (the principle) flows regarding every kinship''.¹⁸⁶

40- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ مَرْيَمَ قَالَ سَأَلْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ قَوْلِ اللَّهِ الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ مَا أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ قَالَ مِنْ ذَلِكَ صِلَةُ الرَّحِمِ وَ غَايَةُ تُأُويلِهَا صَلَتُكَ إِيَّانَا.

(The book) 'Tafseer Al Ayyashi' - From Umar Bin Maryam who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj}: **And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining [13:21]**. He^{-asws} said: 'From that is maintaining the kinship, and a peak of its interpretation is your maintaining (connecting with) us^{-asws}'.¹⁸⁷

41- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ الجُمَّالِ قَالَ: وَقَعَ بَيْنَ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ وَ بَيْنَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع كَلَامٌ حَتَّى ارْتَفَعَتْ أَصْوَاتُهُمَا وَ اجْتَمَعَ النَّاسُ عَلَيْهِمَا حَتًى افْتَرَقَا تِلْكَ الْعَشِيَّةَ

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Safwa Bin Mihran who said,

'(Heated) talk occurred between Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan and Abu Abdullah-asws to the extent that their voices were raised, and the people gathered to them until they separated that evening.

When it was morning, I went out regarding a need, and there was Abu Abdullah^{-asws} at the door of Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan, and he^{-asws} was saying, 'O maid! Tell Abu Muhammad, this is Abu Abdullah^{-asws} at the door!'

فَحْرَجَ عَبْدُ اللَّهِ بْنُ الْحَسَنِ وَ هُوَ يَقُولُ يَا أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ مَا بَكَّرَ بِكَ

¹⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 38

 $^{^{\}rm 186}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 39

¹⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 40

Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan came out, and he was saying, 'O Abu Abdullah-asws! What made you-asws come in the morning?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Last night I^{-asws} passed by A verse from the Book of Allah^{-azwj}, so it worried me^{-asws}'.

قَالَ وَ مَا هِيَ

He said, 'And what is it?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Words of Mighty and Majestic: **And those who are maintaining the relationships** what Allah has Commanded with maintaining and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]'.

He (the narrator) said, 'They hugged each other and cried together. Then Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan said, 'You^{-asws} speak the truth. By Allah^{-azwj}, O Abu Abdullah! It is as if I had not read this Verse at all!'¹⁸⁸

42- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِنَّ الْمَرْءَ لَيَصِلُ رَحِمَهُ وَ مَا بَقِيَ مِنْ عُمُرِهِ إِلَّا ثَلَاثُ سِنِينَ فَيَمُدُّهَا اللَّهُ إِلَى ثَلَاثٍ وَ ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً وَ إِنَّ الْمَرْءَ لَيُقْطَعُ رَحِمَهُ وَ قَدْ بَقِيَ مِنْ عُمُره ثَلَاثُونَ سَنَةً فَيَقْصُوْهَا اللَّهُ إِلَى ثَلَاثُونَ سَنَةً فَيَقْصُوْهَا اللَّهُ إِلَى ثَلَاثِ

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Al Husayn Bin Zayd,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When man tends to maintain his kinship and there does not remain from his age except three years, so Allah^{-azwj} Extends it to thirty-thirty years; and the man tends to cut off his kinship, and there remains thirty-three years of his age, so Allah^{-azwj} Shortens it to three years, or less".¹⁸⁹

Al Husayn said, 'And Ja'far^{-asws} had recited this Verse: **Allah Deletes and Affirms whatever He** so Desires to, and with Him is the Mother of the Book [13:39]". 190

¹⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 41

 $^{^{\}rm 189}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 42 a

¹⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 42 b

(The book) 'Al Majalis' of Al Mufeed – Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Atiyya, from Al Haza'a,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'In the book of Amir Al-Momineen-asws there are (written) three qualities, their owner will not be dying until he sees their scourge – the immoral, and the cutter of kinship, and the one taking false oath.

And they quickest of Reward for an (act of) obedience is maintaining the kinship. The people could be immoral, but their wealth grows, and they get enriched; and the false oath and cutting the kinship calls the households to be vacant from its people". ¹⁹¹

The book Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' of Ibn Mahboub,

'Similar to it, and there is an increase in its end, 'And transfer of the kinship, and in the transfer of the kinship there is termination of the lineage''. 192

(The book) 'Kitab Al Nujoun' – Abdullah Bin Ja'far Al Himeyri in 'The book of Al Dalail', by his chain to Muyassir who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to me: 'O Muyassir! Your death has presented many a time. During all that, Allah^{-azwj} had Delayed it due to your maintaining your kinship and your righteousness with your relatives''.¹⁹³

(The book) 'Rijal' of Al Kashy – Ibn Masoud, from Abdullah Bin Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Al Washa, from one of our companions, from Muyassir,

'From one of the two (5th or 6th Imam^{-asws}). He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said to me: 'O Muyassir! I^{-asws} think you do help your relatives'.

¹⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 43

 $^{^{192}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 44

¹⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 45

I said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! I used to be in the market, and I was a young boy, and my wages were two Dirham, and I used to give one to my paternal auntie and one to my maternal auntie'.

He^{-asws} said; 'But, by Allah^{-azwj}, your death had presented twice. During each of that it was delayed''.¹⁹⁴

(The book) 'Rijal' of Al Kashy – Ibrahim Bin Ali Al Kufy, from Is'haq Bin Ibrahim, from Yunus, from Hanan and Ibn Muskan, from Muyassir who said,

'We entered to see Abu Ja'far-asws, and we were a group. They mentioned maintaining the kinship and the relatives. Abu Ja'far-asws said: 'O Muyassir! But your death had presented not once, nor twice, during all that it was delayed due to your maintaining (helping) your relatives''. 195

(The book) 'Rowzat Al Waizeen' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Be good, you will be good to, and be merciful, you will be merciful to, speak goodly you will be mentioned with goodness, maintain your kinship, Allah^{-azwj} will Increase in your age''.¹⁹⁶

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'In the dream, I^{-saww} saw a man from my^{-saww} community speaking to the Momineen, but they were not speaking to him. His maintenance of kinship came to him. It said, 'O community of Momineen! Speak to him, for he used to maintain his kinship!' So, the Momineen spoke to him, and they shook his hand, and he was with them".¹⁹⁷

49- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر ابْنُ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ حُسَيْنِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَمَّنْ ذَكَرَهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عِ قَالَ: إِنَّ صِلَةَ الرَّحِمِ تُزَكِّي الْأَعْمَالَ وَ تُنْمِى الْأَمْوَالَ وَ تُيَسِّرُ الْحِسَابَ وَ تَدْفَعُ الْبُلُوَى وَ تَزِيدُ فِي الْعُمُرِ.

¹⁹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 47

¹⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 46

 $^{^{\}rm 196}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 48 a

¹⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 48 b

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Husayn Bin Usman, from the one who mentioned it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Maintaining the kinship purifies the deeds, and grows the wealth, and eases the Reckoning, and repels the afflictions, and increases in the lifespan''.¹⁹⁸

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ali Bin Ismail Al Tameemi, from Abdullah Bin Talha who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'A man came to the Prophet^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! There are family members for me. I have been helping them and they are hurting me, and I am intending to reject them'.

Rasool-Allah-saww said to him: 'Then Allah-azwj will Reject you all!'

قَالَ وَكَيْفَ أَصْنَعُ

He said, 'And what should I do?'

He^{-asws} said; 'Give to the one who deprives you, and connect with the one who cuts you off, and pardon the one who is unjust to you. When you were to do that, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will be a Backer to you against them'.

Ibn Talha (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'What is the backing?' He^{-asws} said: 'The assistance''.¹⁹⁹

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' -Ibn Mahboub, from Malik Bin Atiya, from Yunus Bin Affan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The first of the body parts to speak on the Day of Qiyamah will be the womb (kinship). It will say, 'O Lord^{-azwj}! One who had maintained me in

¹⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 49

¹⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 50

the world, so Maintain today between You^{-azwj} and him, and one who had cut me off in the world, then Cut off today what is between You^{-azwj} and him".²⁰⁰

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Al Nazar, from Zur'ad, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'He-asws said: 'The kinship will be hanging with the Throne, calling out on the Day of Qiyamah: 'O Allah-azwi! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut-off the one who had cut me off!'

I said, 'Is it kinship of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}?' He^{-asws} said: 'But, the kinship of Rasool-Allah^{-saww} is from it''. ²⁰¹

And he^{-asws} said: 'The kinship will come on the Day of Qiyamah like a round dome, and it is the spindle. The one who comes to it having maintained it, it will scatter Noor for him until it enters him into the Paradise; and the one who comes to her as a cutter of it, it will withhold from him until he is thrown into the Fire due to it''.²⁰²

Kitab Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ali Bin Al Numan, from Ibn Muskan, from Yahya Bin Umm Al Taweel who said,

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} addressed the people. He^{-asws} praised Allah^{-azwj} and extolled upon Him^{-azwj}, then he^{-asws} said: 'A man cannot be needless from his clan and even if he were to be with wealth and children, and from managing them, and honouring them, and their defending him with their hands and their tongues.

They are mightier of the people in guarding him from behind him, and their being pained due to his shagginess, and their mightiest of them in affection to him if a calamity were to hit him, or if one of the abhorrences were to befall him one day.

²⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 51

 $^{^{201}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 52 a

²⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 52 b

وَ مَنْ يَقْبِضْ يَدَهُ عَنْ عَشِيرَتِهِ فَإِكَمَا يَقْبِضُ عَنْهُمْ يَداً وَاحِدَةً وَ تُقْبَضُ عَنْهُ مِنْهُمْ أَيْدِي كَثِيرَةٍ وَ مَنْ مَخَضَ عَشِيرَتَهُ صَدَقَ الْمَوَدَّةَ وَ بَسَطَ عَلَيْهِمْ يَدَهُ بِالْمَعْرُوفِ إِذَا وَجَدَهُ البِّغَاءَ وَجُهِ اللَّهِ أَخْلَفَ اللَّهُ لَهُ مَا أَنْفَقَ فِي دُنْيَاهُ وَ ضَاعَفَ لَهُ الْأَجْرَ فِي آجِزَتِهِ

And one who withholds his hand from his clan, so rather he has withheld one hand from them and many hands are withheld from him; and one who is pure to his clan with sincere cordiality and extends his hand to the with the act of kindness when they find him seeking the Face of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} will Replace whatever he had spent in his world and Double the Recompense for him in his Hereafter.

وَ إِخْوَانُ الصِّدْقِ فِي النَّاسِ حَيْرٌ مِنَ الْمَالِ يَأْكُلُهُ وَ يُورِّثُهُ- لَا يَزْدَادَنَّ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي أَخِيهِ زُهْداً وَ لَا يَجْعَلْ مِنْهُ بَدِيلًا إِذَا لَمَّ يَرَ مِنْهُ مُرْفَقاً أَوْ يَكُونُ مَقْفُوراً مِنَ الْمَالِ- لَا يَغْفُلُ أَنْ عَلَيْهُ إِنْ أَمْسَكُهُ. الْمَالِ- لَا يَغْفُلُ أَنْ فَعُدُ وَ لَا يَنْفَعُهُ إِنْ أَمْسَكُهُ.

And the sincere brotherhood among the people is better than the wealth he consumes and inherits. Not one of you should be abstemious regarding his brother nor make a replacement from him when he does not see any friendliness, or he happens to be devoid of the wealth. Not one of you should be heedless from the relatives he sees destitution being with him from blocking by what will not harm him if he were to spend it, nor benefit him if he were to withhold it".²⁰³

54- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر الْقاسِمُ عَنْ عَبْدِ الصَّمَدِ بْنِ بَشِيرٍ عَنْ مُعَاوِيَةَ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ إِنَّ صِلَةَ الرَّحِمِ تُمَوِّنُ الحِّسَابَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ ثُمَّ قَرَأَ الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يَخْشَوْنَ رَكُمْمُ وَ يَخافُونَ سُوءَ الحِسابِ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Al Qasim, from Abdul Samad Bin Bashir, from Muawiya who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to me: 'Maintaining the kinship will ease the Reckoning on the Day of Qiyamah'. Then he^{-asws} recited: **And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]**".²⁰⁴

55– ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر الْقَاسِمُ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ هِلَالٍ عَنْ رَجُلٍ مِنْ أَصْحَابِنَا قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع إِنَّ آلَ فُلَانٍ يَبَرُّ بَعْضُهُمْ بَعْضاً وَ يَتَوَاصَلُونَ

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Al Qasim, from Abdullah Bin Hilal, from a man from our companions who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'The family of so and so, they are righteous to each other and are helping each other'.

قَالَ إِذًا يَنْمُونَ وَ تَنْمُو أَمْوَالْهُمْ وَ لَا يَزَالُونَ فِي ذَلِكَ حَتَّى يَتَقَاطَعُوا فَإِذَا فَعَلُوا ذَلِكَ انْعَكُسَ عَنْهُمْ.

 $^{^{203}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 53

²⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 54

He^{-asws} said: 'Then they will grow (in number), and their wealth will grow, and they will not cease to be in that until they cut off from each other. When they do that, it will be reversed from them". 205

Kitab Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Ibn Abu Al Bilad, from his father, raising it, said,

'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'Shall I-saww point you all upon a good moral of the world and the Hereafter?'

قَالُوا بَلَى يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ

They said, 'Yes, O Rasool-Allah-saww!'

He^{-saww} said: 'One who connects the one who cuts him off, and gives to the one who deprives him, and pardons from the one who oppresses him; and the one whom it cheers him for there to be a postponement in his age (death), and expansion for him in his sustenance, let him fear Allah^{-azwj}, and let him maintain his kinship''.²⁰⁶

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ibn Sadeyr, from his father,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'He-asws said: 'A man came to Abu Zarr-ra, giving him glad tidings to him-ra of a sheep having been born for him-ra. He said, 'O Abu Zarr-ra! Receive glad tidings, for your sheep has given birth and have become more'.

He^{-ra} said, 'Their large number does not cheer me^{-ra}. I^{-ra} do not like that, so what is less? And sufficient is more beloved to me than what is more making me^{-ra} busy. I^{-ra} heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'Upon the two sides of the Bridge on the Day of Qiyamah will be the kinship and the entrustment. When the maintainer of the kinship, the fulfiller of the entrustment passes by it, they will not make him fall into the Fire''.²⁰⁷

58- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر بَعْضُ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ حَنَانٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّمْمَنِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ سَهْلٍ عَنْ روات قَالَ سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ص يَقُولُ إِنَّ صِلَةَ الرَّحِم مَثْزَاةٌ فِي الْمَالِ وَ مُحَبَّةٌ فِي الْأَهْلِ وَ مَنْسَأَةٌ فِي الْأَجْلِ.

²⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 55

 $^{^{\}rm 206}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 56

²⁰⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 57

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – One of our companions, from Hanan, from Abdul Rahman Bin Suleyman, from Amro Bin Sahl, from Rawat who said,

'I heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'Maintaining the kinship increases in the wealth, and love among the family, and postpones in the term (death)".²⁰⁸

59- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر بَعْضُ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ حَنَانٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنْ رَجُلٍ أَفَّمْ كَانُوا فِي مَنْزِلِ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع وَ فِيهِمْ مُيَسِّرٌ فَتَذَاكُرُوا صِلَةَ الْقَرَابَةِ فَقَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَا مُيَسِّرُ لَقَدْ حَضَرَ أَجَلُكَ غَيْرُ مَرَّة كُلَّ ذَلِكَ يُؤَخِّرُكَ اللّهُ لِصِلَتِكَ لِقَرَابَتِكَ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – One of our companions, from Hanan, from Ibn Muskan, from a man,

'They were in the house of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} and among them was Muyassir. They discussed maintaining the kinship. Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to him: 'O Muyassir! Your death has presented more than once. During all that, Allah^{-azwj} Delayed you due to your having maintained your relationships''.²⁰⁹

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Al-Hassan Bin Ali,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said, 'The man, there happens to remain thirty years from his term (lifespan). He helps his relatives, maintaining his kinship, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be thirty-three years; and there happens to remain from his term, thirty-three years, so he is disloyal to his relatives, cutting off his kinship, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be three years".²¹⁰

61-كِتَابُ النَّوَادِرِ، لِفَضْلِ اللَّهِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْوَاحِدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ الرُّويَائِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ النَّصِيمِيِّ الْبَكْرِيِّ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ الدِّيمَاجِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ مُوسَى عَنْ أَبِيهِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص صِلَةُ الرَّحِمِ تَزِيدُ فِي الْعُمْرِ وَ تَنْفِي الْفَقْرَ.

The book 'Al Nawadir' of Fazlullah Bin Ali Al Rawandy, from Abdul Wahid Bin Ismail Al Rowbany, from Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan Al Tameemi Al Bakry, from Sahl Bin Ahmad Al Diyyaji, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ashas, from Musa Bin Ismail,

'Son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his father, from his grandfather^{-asws} Musa^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintaining the kinship increases in the age (lifespan) and negates the poverty".²¹¹

وَ بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَ لِسُرَاقَةَ بْنِ مَالِكِ بْنِ جُعْشُمٍ أَ لَا أَدُلُكَ عَلَى أَفْضَلِ الصَّدَقَةِ

²⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 58

²⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 59

 $^{^{210}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 60

²¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 61 a

And by this chain,

'He-asws said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said to Suraqah Bin Malik Bin Al-Ju'sham: 'Shall I-saww point you upon the best charity?'

He said, 'Yes, may my father and my mother be (sacrificed) for you-saww, O Rasool-Allah-saww!'

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The best charity is to (spend) upon your sister, or your daughter, and it shall be returned to you, and there is no earner for her other than you''.²¹²

And by this chain,

'From Ali-asws having said: 'It was said to Rasool-Allah-saww, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! Which charity is the best?' He-asws said: 'Upon the one with kinship, the inimical (with a grudge)''. 213

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Travel two years to be righteous to your parents, travel for a year to maintain your kinship' – the Hadeeth''.²¹⁴

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Doing the act of kindness repels the evil death, and the charity (given) in the secret extinguishes Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj}, and maintaining the kinship increases in the lifespan and negates the poverty''.²¹⁵

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imama Wa Al Tabsira' – From Al-Hassan Bin Hamza Al Alaway, from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from his father, from Harou Bin Muslim, from Ma'ada Bin Sadaqa,

²¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 61 b

 $^{^{213}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 61 c

²¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 61 d

²¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 61 e

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from the Prophet^{-saww} – similar to it''.²¹⁶

And from him, by this chain,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintain your kinship and even if it be with a drink of water, and the best of what the kinship can be maintained with is to restrain the harm from it''.²¹⁷

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The charity is with ten, and the loan is with eighteen, and helping the brethren is with twenty, and maintaining the kinship is with twenty-four (multiple Rewards)''.²¹⁸

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Maintain your kinships in the world, and even if it is with a greetings''.²¹⁹

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imama Wa Al Tabsira' – By the preceding chain,

'Similar to it, and he-saww said: 'Do not betray the one who betrays you for you will be similar to him, and do not cut off your kinship and even if he cuts it off you''. 220

(The book) 'Dawaat' of Al Rawandy -

'It is reported that Musa Bin Ja'far^{-asws} had entered to see (the caliph Haroun) Al-Rasheed. Haroun said to him^{-asws}, 'By Allah^{-azwj}, I will kill you^{-asws}!'

فَقَالَ لَا تَفْعُلْ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ فَإِنِي سَمِعْتُ أَبِي عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيَكُونُ وَاصِلًا لِرَحِمِهِ وَ قَدْ بَقِيَ مِنْ أَجَلِهِ ثَلَاثُ سِنِينَ فَيَجْعَلُهَا ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً وَ يَكُونُ الرَّجُلُ فَاطِعاً لِرَحِمِهِ وَ قَدْ بَقِيَ مِنْ أَجَلِهِ ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً فَيَجْعَلُهَا اللهُ ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً وَيَجُعَلُهَا اللهُ ثَلَاثُ سِنِينَ

 $^{^{\}rm 216}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 62 a

²¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 62 b

²¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 62 c

²¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 62 d

²²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 63

He^{-asws} said: 'Do not do it, O commander of the faithful, for I^{-asws} heard my^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The servant tends to maintain his kinship and there remains three years from his term (lifespan), so He^{-azwj} Makes it to be thirty years; and the man becomes a cutter of his kinship and there remains thirty years from his term, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be three years''.

فَقَالَ الرَّشِيدُ اللَّهَ سَمِعْتَ هَذَا مِنْ أَبِيكَ

Al-Rasheed said, 'You-asws have heard this from your-asws father-asws?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ فَأَمَرَ لَهُ بِمِائَةِ أُلْفِ دِرْهَمٍ وَ رَدَّهُ إِلَى مَنْزِلِهِ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes'. So he ordered for a hundred thousand Dirhams for him and returned him^{-asws} to his^{-asws} house''.²²¹

وَ قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع صِلَةُ الرَّحِم ثُمَّوِّنُ الحِسمَابَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ هِيَ مَنْسَأَةٌ فِي الْعُمُرِ وَ تَقِي مَصَارِعَ السَّوْءِ وَ صَدَقَةُ اللَّيْلِ تُطْفِئُ غَضَبَ الرَّبِّ.

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining the kinship will eases the Reckoning on the Day of Qiyamah, and it is a postponer in the age (of the death), and it saves (from) the evil death, and (giving) charity at night extinguishes Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj''}.²²²

وَ فِي روايَةٍ صَدَقَةُ السِّرّ.

And in a report: 'The charity (given) in secret". 223

وَ قَالَ مَنْ حَسُنَ بِرُّهُ بِأَهْل بَيْتِهِ زِيدَ فِي رِزْقِهِ.

And he-asws said: 'One who is righteous with his family members will have an increases in his sustenance''.224

65- نهج، نهج البلاغة قَالَ ع مَنْ ضَيَّعَهُ الْأَقْرَبُ أُتِيحَ لَهُ الْأَبْعَدُ.

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'One whom the near ones abandon, the far ones are dear to him''.²²⁵

وَ قَالَ عَ إِنَّهُ لَا يَسْتَغْنِي الرَّجُلُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ ذَا مَالٍ عَنْ عَشِيرَتِهِ وَ دِفَاعِهِمْ عَنْهُ بِأَيْدِيهِمْ وَ أَلْسِنَتِهِمْ وَ هُمْ أَعْظَمُ النَّاسِ حَيْطَةً مِنْ وَرَائِهِ وَ أَلَمُّهُمْ لِشَعَثِهِ وَ أَعْطَفُهُمْ عَلَيْهِ عِنْدَ نَازِلَةٍ إِنْ نَزَلَتْ بِهِ وَ لِسَانُ الصِّدْقِ يَجْعَلُهُ اللّهُ لِلْمَرْءِ في النَّاسِ حَيْرٌ لَهُ مِنَ الْمَالِ يُورَزِّئُهُ غَيْرُهُ.

And he^{-asws} said: 'The man is not needless from his clan and even if he were to be with wealth, and their defending him with their hands and their tongues, and they are mightiest of the

 $^{^{\}rm 221}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 64 a

²²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 64 b

²²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 64 c

²²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 64 d

²²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 65 a

people is supporting him from behind him, and their most affectionate to him at his shagginess, and their mightiest upon him during a calamity if it befalls with him; and a truthful tongue Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be for the man, among the people, is better for him than the wealth he causes others to inherit it".²²⁶

66- وَ مِنْهَا أَلَا لَا يَعْدِلَنَّ أَحَدُكُمْ عَنِ الْقَرَابَةِ يَرَى كِمَا الْخُصَاصَةَ بِأَنْ يَسُدَّهَا بِالَّذِي لَا يَزِيدُهُ إِنْ أَمْسَكُهُ وَ لَا يَنْقُصُهُ إِنْ أَهْلَكُهُ وَ مَنْ يَقْبِضْ يَدُهُ عَنْهُ أَيْدِ كَثِيرَةٌ وَ مَنْ تَلِنْ خَاشِيتُهُ يَسْتَدِمْ مِنْ قَوْمِهِ الْمُوَدَّةَ.

And from it: 'Indeed! Not one of you should turn away from the relative he sees destitution being with him. He should block it by that which will not increase for him if he were to withhold it, nor reduce if he were to spend it; and the one who holds back his hand from his clan, so rather he will be holding back one hand from them, and many hands will be held back from him; and the one who softens his sides will have constant cordiality from his people".²²⁷

67- نهج، نهج البلاغة قَالَ أُمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع وَ أَكْرِمْ عَشِيرَتَكَ فَإِنَّهُمْ جَنَاحُكَ الَّذِي بِهِ تَطِيرُ وَ أَصْلُكَ الَّذِي إِلَيْهِ تَصِيرُ وَ يَدُكَ الَّتِي بِمَا تَصُولُ.

(The book) 'Nahi Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Honour your clan for they are your wings by which you fly, and your origin to which you become, and your hand by which you maintain''. ²²⁸

88- عُدَّةُ الدَّاعِي، قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ص أُوصِي الشَّاهِدَ مِنْ أُمَّتِي وَ الْغَائِبَ مِنْهُمْ وَ مَنْ فِي أَصْلَابِ الرِّجَالِ وَ أَرْحَامِ النِّسَاءِ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ أَنْ يَصِلَ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنْ كَانَ مِنْهُ عَلَى مَسِير سَنَةِ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنَ الدِّين.

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'I^{-saww} advise the attendee of my^{-saww} community and the absentee from them, and the one in the loins of the men and wombs of the women up to the Day of Qiyamah, that they should maintain the kinship and every even if he were to be at a travel distance of a year, for that is from the religion!"²²⁹

وَ قَالَ ص حَافَتَا الصِّرَاطِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ الْأَمَانَةُ وَ الرَّحِمُ فَإِذَا مَرَّ الْوَصُولُ لِلرَّحِمِ وَ الْمُؤَدِّي لِلْأَمَانَةِ نَفَذَ إِلَى الْجُنَّةِ وَ إِذَا مَرَّ الْخَائِنُ لِلْأَمَانَةِ وَ السَّرَاطُ فِي النَّارِ. يَنْفَعْهُ مَعَهُمَا عَمَلٌ وَ يَكُفَأُ بِهِ الصِّرَاطُ فِي النَّارِ.

And he-saww said: 'The entrustment and the kinship will be on the two sides of the Bridge on the Day of Qiyamah. When the maintainer of the kinship and the fulfiller of the entrustment passes by, he will be sent to the Paradise, and when the betrayer of the entrustment and the cutter of the kinship passes by, no deed will benefit him with these two, and they will both collapse with him into the Fire''.²³⁰

²²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 65 b

²²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 66

²²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 67

 $^{^{\}rm 229}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 68 a

²³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 68 b

69-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لَمَّا حَرَجَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع يُرِيدُ الْبَصْرَةَ نَزَلَ بِالرَّبَذَةِ فَأَتَاهُ رَجُلٌّ مِنْ مُحَارِبٍ فَقَالَ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ إِنِي خَمَّلْتُ فِي قَوْمِي حَمَالَةً وَ إِنِي سَأَلْتُ فِي طَوَائِفَ مِنْهُمُ الْمُوَاسَاةَ وَ الْمَعُونَةَ فَسَبَقَتْ إِلَيَّ أَلْسِنتُهُمُ بَاللَّهُ فِي مَنْهُمُ يَا أُمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ بِمُعُونَتِي وَ خُتَهُمْ عَلَى مُوَاسَاق

(The book) 'Al-Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from one of his companions, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'When Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} went out intending Al-Basra, he^{-asws} descended at Al-Rabza. A man from the fighters came to him^{-asws}. He said, 'O Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}! I bore the burdens (responsibilities) of my people, and I asked among their groups for the sympathy and the assistance by their tongues preceded to me with the temper. So order them, O Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} for assisting me and urge them upon sympathising with me'.

فَقَالَ أَيْنَ هُمْ

He-asws said: 'Where are they?'

فَقَالَ هَؤُلَاءِ فَرِيقٌ مِنْهُمْ حَيْثُ تَرَى

He said, 'There is a group from them where you-asws can see!"

قَالَ فَنَصَّ رَاحِلَتَهُ فَادَّلَفَتْ كَأَثَمَا ظَلِيمٌ فَأَدْلَفَ بَعْضَ أَصْحَابِهِ فِي طَلَبِهَا فَلَأْياً بِلَأْيٍ مَا لُحِقَتْ فَانْتَهَى إِلَى الْقُوْمِ فَسَلَّمَ عَلَيْهِمْ وَ سَأَهُمْ مَا يَمُنُعُهُمْ مِنْ مُوَاسَاةِ صَاحِبِهِمْ فَشَكُوْهُ وَ شَكَاهُمْ

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} spurred on his riding animal and galloped it as if it was a male ostrich, and some of his^{-asws} companions galloped (their animals) in seeking it (his^{-asws} ride) in hot pursuit but could not catch up. He^{-asws} ended up to the group of people and greeted them and asked them what prevented them from sympathising with their companion. They complained about him, and he complained about them.

فَقَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع وَصَلَ امْرُوٌ عَشِيرَتَهُ فَإِنَّمُمْ أَوْلَى بِيرِّهِ وَ ذَاتِ يَدِهِ وَ وَصَلَتِ الْعَشِيرَةُ أَحَاهَا إِنْ عَثَرَ بِهِ دَهْرٌ وَ أَدْبَرَتْ عَنْهُ دُنْيَا فَإِنَّ الْمُتَوَاصِلِينَ الْمُتَبَاذِلِينَ مَأْجُورُونَ وَ إِنَّ الْمُتَقَاطِعِينَ الْمُتَدَابِرِينَ مَوْزُورُونَ

Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'A person should help his clan, for they are foremost with the righteousness, and that is in his hands, and the clan should help its brother if the time is hard with him, and the world turns away from him. The maintainers of the relationships, the helpers would be Recompensed, and that the cutters-off of relationships, the ones who turn around, would be burdened (with sins)'.

قَالَ ثُمُّ بَعَثَ رَاحِلَتَهُ وَ قَالَ حَلْ.

He (the narrator) said, 'Then he-asws went away with his-asws riding animal and said: 'Resolved''.²³¹

70-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحْمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحْمَّدٍ عَنِ الْبَرَنْطِيِّ عَنْ مُحْمَّدِ بْنِ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو الْحُسَنِ الرِّضَا ع يَكُونُ الرَّجُلُ يَصِلُ رَحِمُهُ فَيَكُونُ قَدْ بَقِبَي مِنْ عُمُره ثَلَاثُ سِنِينَ فَيُصَيِّرُهَا اللَّهُ ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً- وَ يَفْعَلُ اللَّهُ مَا يَشاءُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al Bazanty, from Muhammad Bin Ubeydullah who said,

'Abu Al-Hassan Al-Reza^{-asws} said: 'The man happens to maintain his kinship and there happens to remain three years from his age, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be thirty years, and Allah^{-azwj} Does whatever He^{-azwj} so Desires to''.²³²

71-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الحُكَمِ عَنْ حُطَّابٍ الْأَعْوَرِ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع صِلَةُ الْأَرْحَامِ تُزَكِّي الْأَجَلِ. الْأَعْمَالَ وَ تُنْسِئُ فِي الْأَجَلِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Khattab Al Awr, from Abu Hamza who said,

'Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining kinship purifies the deeds and grows the wealth, and repels the afflictions, and will ease the Reckoning, and postpone the death''.²³³

72-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ قَالَ قَالَ: بَلَغَنِي عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ أَنْ رَجُلًا أَتَى النَّبِيَّ ص فَقَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ أَهْلُ بَيْتِي أَبَوًا إِلَّا تَوْتُبًا عَلَيَّ وَ قَطِيعَةً لِي وَ شَتِيمَةً فَأَرْفُضُهُمْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Numan, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

'It has reached me from Abu Abdullah-asws that a man came to the Prophet-saww. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! My family members refuse except to leap upon me and cut me off and accuse me. Shall I reject them?'

قَالَ إِذاً يَرْفُضَكُمُ اللَّهُ جَمِيعاً

He-saww said: 'Then Allah-azwj would Reject you all'.

قَالَ فَكَيْفَ أَصْنَعُ

He said, 'So how shall I deal with it?'

قَالَ تَصِلُ مَنْ قَطَعَكَ وَ تُعْطِى مَنْ حَرَمَكَ وَ تَعْفُو عَمَّنْ ظَلَمَكَ فَإِنَّكَ إِذَا فَعَلْتَ ذَلِكَ كَانَ لَكَ مِنَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِمْ ظَهِيرٌ.

²³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 69

 $^{^{\}rm 232}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 70

²³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 71

He^{-saww} said: 'Maintain good relationship with the one who cuts you off, and give to the one who deprives you, and excuse the one who oppresses you, for when you do that, there would be a Backing for you against them, from Allah^{-azwj}".²³⁴

73-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ أَبِي الْمِقْدَامِ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهُ أُوصِي الشَّاهِدَ مِنْ أُمْتِي وَ الْعَائِبِ مِنْهُمْ وَ مَنْ فِي أَصْلَابِ الرِّجَالِ وَ أَرْحَامِ النِّسَاءِ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ أَنْ يَصِلَ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنْ كَانَتْ مِنْهُ عَلَى مَسِيرَةِ سَنَةٍ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنَ الشَّاهِدَ مِنْ أُمْتِي وَ الْعَائِبِ مِنْهُمْ وَ مَنْ فِي أَصْلَابِ الرِّجَالِ وَ أَرْحَامِ النِّسَاءِ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ أَنْ يَصِلَ الرَّحِمَ وَ إِنْ كَانَتْ مِنْهُ عَلَى مَسِيرَةِ سَنَةٍ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنَ اللَّهُ اللهَ اللَّهِ اللهُ اللهُ أَوْمِي اللهَ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Amro Bin Abu Al Migdam, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'I-saww hereby advise the attender from my-saww community and the absentee from them, and the ones in the loins of the men and wombs of the women up to the Day of Qiyamah to maintain the kinship, and even if from it were (someone) at a travel distance of a year, for that is from the religion''.²³⁵

74–كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الحُكَمِ عَنْ حَفْصٍ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عِ قَالَ: صِلَةُ الْأَرْحَامِ ثُحَيِّتُنُ الحُّلُقُ وَ تُسْمِحُ الْكَفَّ وَ تُطَيِّبُ النَّفْسِ وَ تَرِيدُ فِي الرِّزْقِ وَ تُنْسِئُ فِي الْأَجَلِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Hafs, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Maintaining the kinships improve the morals, and makes the palm to be generous, and betters the self, and increases in the sustenance, and postpones the death''.²³⁶

75-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الْمُعَلَّى عَنِ الْوَشَّاءِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ إِنَّ الرَّحِمَ مُعَلَّقَةٌ بِالْعُرْشِ يَقُولُ اللَّهِ عَلَّ صَلْ مَنْ وَصَلَفِي وَ هِيَ رَحِمُ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ هُوَ قَوْلُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ رَحِمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ فَطَعَنِي وَ هِيَ رَحِمُ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ هُوَ قَوْلُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ رَحِمُ اللَّهُ عِنْ اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ وَ هِيَ رَحِمُ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ هُوَ قَوْلُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- الَّذِينَ يَصِلُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ رَحِمُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَالْعَلَى عَنِ الْمُعَلِّي وَ الْعَلْمُ عَلَى عَنِي الْمُعَلِّي عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ اللَّهِ عَنْ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ وَاللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ عَلَى عَنْ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُولُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُولُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَيْكُولُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَيْكُولُ إِلَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُولُ إِلَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُولُ إِلَّالِهُ عَلَيْكُولُ إِلَّا اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَقَلَا اللَّهُ الللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla, from Al Washa, from Ali Bin Abu Hamza, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'The kinship will hand with the Throne saying: 'O Allah-azwj! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut off the one who had cut me off', and it is the kinship of the Progeny-asws of Muhammad-saww, and it is the Word of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic: *And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining [13:21]*, the kinship is of every one with kinship''.²³⁷

Page 118 of 462

²³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 72

 $^{^{\}rm 235}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 73

²³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 74

²³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 75

76-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ دَرَّاجٍ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللهِ ع عَنْ قَوْلِ اللهِ جَلَّ دِكْرُهُ- وَ اتَّقُوا اللهَ الَّذِي تَسائلُونَ بِهِ وَ الْأَرْحامَ إِنَّ اللهَ كَانَ عَلَيْكُمْ رَقِيباً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Jameel Bin Darraj who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Mention: **and fear Allah**, **Who you are asking for the relationships by; Allah will always be Watchful over you** [4:1]'.

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'It is kinships of the people. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Commanded with maintaining these and revering it. Don't you see that He^{-azwj} has Made it to be from Him^{-azwj}?''²³⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Malik Bin Atiya, from Yunus Bin Ammar who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The first of the body parts to speak on the Day of Qiyamah is the womb (kinship). It shall say, 'O Lord^{-azwj}! The one who had maintained me in the world, so today Maintain what is between You^{-azwj} and him, and one who had cut me off in the world, so today Cut off what is between You^{-azwj} and him".²³⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al Bazanty,

'From Abu Al-Hassan Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Maintain your kinship and even if by a drink of water, and the best of what the kinship can be maintained with is to restrain the harm from it; and maintaining the kinship postpones the death, causes love among the family".²⁴⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Hammad, from Hareyz, from Al Fuzeyl Bin Yasaar who said,

²³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 76

 $^{^{\}rm 239}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 77

²⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 78

'Abu Ja'far-asws said: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the kinship will hand with the Throne, saying: 'O Allah-azwi! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut off the one who had cut me off!''²⁴¹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Bazie, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Abu Zarr^{-ra} said, 'I^{-ra} heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the kinship and the entrustment will be on the two sides of the Bridge. When the maintainer of the kinship and the fulfiller of the entrustment passes by, he will be sent to the Paradise, and when the betrayer of the entrustment, the cutter of the kinship passes by, no deeds will benefit him with these two, and they will slide with him on the Bridge, into the Fire''.²⁴²

81-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ خَطَّابٍ الْأَعْوَرِ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع صِلَةُ الْأَرْحَامِ تُزَكِّي الْأَعْمَالَ وَ تَدْفَعُ الْبَلُوى وَ تُنْمِي الْأَمْوَالَ وَ تُنْسِئُ لَهُ فِي عُمُرِهِ وَ تُحَرِّبُ فِي رِزْقِهِ وَ تُحَبِّبُ فِي أَهْلِ بَيْتِهِ فَلْيَتَّقِ اللّهَ وَ لْيَصِلْ رَحِمَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Khattab Al Awr, from Abu Hamza who said,

'Maintaining the kinship purifies the deeds, and repels the afflictions, and grows the wealth, and there is a postponement for him regarding the death, and an expansion for him in his sustenance, and causes loved among his family members. Therefore, let him fear Allah^{-azwj} and let him maintain his kinship!''²⁴³

82-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنِ الْفَضْلِ بْنِ شَاذَانَ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْحَمِيدِ عَنِ الْخَكَمِ الْحُنَّاطِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع صِلَةُ الرَّحِم وَ حُسْنُ الجِّوَار يَعْمُرَانِ الدِّيَارَ وَ يَزِيدَانِ فِي الْأَعْمَارِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father and Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Al Fazl Bin Shazan, altogether from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ibrahim Bin Abdul Hameed, from Al Hakam Al Hannat who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining the kinship and goodly neighbourliness brother build the households and increase in the lifespans''.²⁴⁴

83-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ الْقَدَّاحِ عَنْ أَبِي عُبَيْدَةَ الْحَدَّاءِ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص إِنَّ أَعْجَلَ الْخَيْرِ ثَوَاباً صِلَةُ الرَّحِم.

²⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 79

 $^{^{242}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 80 $\,$

 $^{^{243}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 81

²⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 82

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Ashary, from Abdullah Al Qaddah, from Abu Ubeyda Al Haza'a,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The most hastening of the good deeds in Rewards is maintaining the kinship''.²⁴⁵

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One whom it cheers to have a postponement in the death, and increase in the sustenance, so let him maintain his kinship''.²⁴⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Safwan Bin Yahya, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'We^{-asws} do not know of anything increasing in the lifespan except maintaining the kinship, to the extent that if a man happens to have three years for him (remaining), so he becomes maintaining the kinship, Allah^{-azwj} Increases in his lifespan by thirty years, so He^{-azwj} Makes it to be thirty-three years.

And his term happens to be thirty-three years, so he happens to cut off the kinship, Allah^{-azwj} Reduces it by thirty years and Makes his term to be three years".²⁴⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Usman Bin Isa, from Yahya,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said: 'The man should never turn away from his clan, and even if he were to be with wealth and children, and (being needless) from their cordiality, and their honour, and their defending with their hands and their tongues.

²⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 83

 $^{^{246}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 84

²⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 85

They would be the most intense of the people to watch out for him from behind him and the most compassionate upon him to escort him if a difficulty were to hit him, or if one of the abhorrences of his matters were to descend upon him.

The one who withholds his hand from his clan, so rather he would be withholding one hand from them, and there would be withheld from him, a lot of hands, and the one who is soft with his inner circle would recognise the cordiality from his friends; and the one who extends his hand with the goodness when he finds it, Allah^{-azwj} would Replace it for him whatever he spends regarding his world, and He^{-azwj} would Multiply it for him in his Hereafter.

And a truthful tongue of a person, Allah^{-azwj} Makes it for him among the people is better than the wealth he consumes and he causes to inherit. Not one of you should exceed in arrogance and greatness regarding himself and distance himself from his clan even if he was affluent regarding the wealth.

And not one of you should exceed in ascetism (staying away) regarding his brother, nor be remote from him when he does not see magnanimity from him, and he was needy regarding the wealth; and not one of you should be heedless from the relatives having destitution with it from blocking it with what will not benefit him if he were to withhold it, nor harm him if he were to spend it".²⁴⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Abu Abdullah, from Usman Bin Isa, from Suleyman Bin Hilal who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'The family of so and so are being righteous with each other and helping each other'.

 $^{\rm 248}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 86

_

He^{-asws} said: 'Then their wealth will grow and they will grow (in number). They will not cease to be like that until they cut off from each other. When they do that, it will be reversed from them''. 249

88-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ غَيْرِ وَاحِدٍ عَنْ زِيَادٍ الْقَنْدِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص إِنَّ الْقَوْمَ لَيَكُونُونَ فَجَرَةً وَ لَا يَكُونُونَ بَرَرَةً فَيَصِلُونَ أَرْحَامَهُمْ فَتَنْمِي أَمْوَالْهُمْ وَ تَطُولُ أَعْمَارُهُمْ فَكَيْفَ إِذَا كَانُوا أَبْزَاراً بَرَرَةً.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from someone else, from Ziyad Al Qandy, from Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The (some) people tend to be immoral and do not happen to be righteous, but maintain their kinship, so their wealth grows and their lifespans are long. So how would it be if they were to be righteous, doing righteous deeds?"²⁵⁰

89-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ جَدِّهِ الْحُسَنِ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع صِلُوا أَرْحَامَكُمْ وَ لَوْ بِالتَّسْلِيمِ يَقُولُ اللَّهُ تَبَازَكَ وَ تَعَالَى- وَ اتَّقُوا اللَّهَ الَّذِي تَسائَلُونَ بِهِ وَ الْأَرْحَامَ إِنَّ اللَّهَ كَانَ عَلَيْكُمْ رَقِيبًا.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Al Qasim Bin Yahya, from his grandfather Al-Hassan, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Maintain your kinships and even if it were to be with the greeting. Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Says: *and fear Allah*, Who you are asking for the relationships by; Allah will always be Watchful over you [4:1]". ²⁵¹

90-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُمَّالِ قَالَ: وَقَعَ بَيْنَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ وَ بَيْنَ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ كَلَامٌ حَتَّى وَقَعَتِ الضَّوْضَاءُ بَيْنَهُمْ وَ اجْتَمَعَ النَّاسُ فَافْتَرَقَا عَشِيَّتُهُمَا بِذَلِكَ وَ غَدَوْتُ فِي حَاجَةٍ فَإِذَا أَنَا بِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع عَلَى بَابِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ وَ هُو يَقُولُ يَا جَارِيَةُ قُولِي لِأَبِي مُحَمَّدٍ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Safwan Al Jammal who said,

'There occurred (heated) talk between Abu Abdullah-asws and Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan to the extent clamour occurred between them, and the people gathered. They separated in their evening with that, and in the morning, I came regarding a need and there was Abu Abdullah-asws at the door of Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan, and he-asws was saying, 'O maid! Tell Abu Muhammad!'

قَالَ فَحْرَجَ فَقَالَ يَا أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ مَا بَكَّرَ بِكَ

²⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 87

 $^{^{250}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 88

²⁵¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 89

He (the narrator) said, 'He came out. He said, 'O Abu Abdullah-asws! What has made you-asws come early morning?'

He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} read a Verse in the Book of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic last night, and it worried me^{-asws}'.

فَقَالَ وَ مَا هِيَ

He said, 'And what is it?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Words of Allah^{-azwj}, Mighty and Majestic is His^{-azwj} Mention: **And those who are** maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining and are in awe of their Lord and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]'.

He said, 'You^{-asws} speak the truth, but it is as if I have not read this Verse from the Book of Allah^{-azwj}, at all!'

فَاعْتَنَقًا وَ بَكَيَا.

They hugged and cried".252

بيان

Explanation (Ahadeeth only)

And it is reported by Jabir, from Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Righteousness with the parents and maintaining the kinship will both ease the Reckoning'. Then he recited this Verse (13:21)".

وَ رَوَى مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنِ الْكَاظِمِ ع فِي هَذِهِ الْآيَةِ قَالَ هِيَ رَحِمُ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ ص مُعَلَّقَةً بِالْعَرْشِ نَقُولُ اللَّهُمَّ صِلْ مَنْ وَصَلَنِي وَ اقْطَعْ مَنْ قَطَعْنِي وَ هِيَ بَحْرِي فِي كُلِّ رَحِمٍ.

²⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 90

And it is reported by Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Al-Kazim^{-asws} regarding this Verse (13:21), said: 'This is kinship of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} hanging with the Throne. It shall say: 'O Allah^{-azwi}! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut off the one who had cut me off!' And it (the principle) flows regarding every kinship''.

And it is reported by Al Waleed, from Al-Reza^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'Is there upon the man, anything in his wealth besides the Zakat?' He^{-asws} said: 'Yes! Where is what Allah^{-azwj} Said: **And those who are maintaining [13:21]** – the Verse?''

And it is reported by Hisham Bin Salim, from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The evil Reckoning is that the evil deeds will be Reckoned against them while the good deeds will not be Reckoned for them, and it is the (thorough) investigation''.

And it is reported by Hammad, from him^{-asws} having said to a man: 'O so and so! What is the matter with you and your brother?'

He said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! There is something for me upon him, so I demanded my right from him'.

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Infor me about Words of Allah^{-azwj}: **and are fearing the evil Reckoning** [13:21]. Do you see them fearing that He^{-azwj} will be Tyrannical upon them or be Unjust to them? No, by Allah^{-azwj}! But they are fearing the (thorough) investigation and the demanding".

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Abdullah Bin Sinan who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'There is a son of an uncle of mine I connect (with), but he cut off from me and I connect (with) him, and he cut off from me, until I am thinking of cutting him off due to his having cut me off'.

He^{-asws} said: 'You, when you connect (with him) and he cuts you off, Allah^{-azwj} will Maintain both of you together, and if you were to cut him off and he cuts you off, Allah^{-azwj} will Cut off both of you''.²⁵³

<u>Clarification (Hadeeth only) –</u> And in the words of Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}: 'Take upon your enemy with the grace for it is one of the two victories''.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Ali, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Dawood Bin Farqad who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to me: 'I^{-asws} love it for Allah^{-azwj} to Know that I^{-asws} have humbled my^{-asws} neck among my^{-asws} kindred, and I^{-asws} manage the people of my^{-asws} household, and I^{-asws} maintain them before they become needless of me^{-asws}''.²⁵⁴

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Al Washa, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'Kinship of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} and of the Imams^{-asws} will be hanging with the Throne saying: 'O Allah^{-azwj}! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut off the one who had cut me off!'

Then it flows after it regarding kinships of the Momineen'. Then he-asws recited this Verse: and fear Allah, Who you are asking for the relationships by; Allah will always be Watchful over you [4:1]".255

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Abu Abdullah, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ibn Bukeyr, from Umar Bin Yazeed who said,

²⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 91

 $^{^{254}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 92

²⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 93

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining [13:21]**. He^{-asws} said: 'Your relatives''.²⁵⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hammad Bin Usman, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam and Dorost, from Umar Bin Yazeed who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'And those who are maintaining the relationships what Allah has Commanded with maintaining [13:21]. He^{-asws} said: 'It was Revealed regarding kinship of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} and has come to be regarding your relatives'.

Then he-asws said: 'Do not be from the ones saying for the thing, 'It is regarding one thing''. 257

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Abu Abdullah, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Abu Jameela, from Al Wassafy,

'From Ali Bin Al Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One whom it cheers for Allah^{-azwj} to Extend regarding his lifespan, and Expand regarding his sustenance, then let him maintain his kinship, for there will be an eloquent tongue for the kinship on the Day of Qiyamah saying: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Maintain the one who had maintained me and Cut off the one who had cut me off!'

And the man shall see by the way of good, when the kinship he had cut off will come to him and collapse with him to the lowest bottom in the Fire".²⁵⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Muhammad, from Salih Bin Abu Hammad, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Safwan, from Al Jahm Bin Humeyd who said,

²⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 94

 $^{^{257}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 95

²⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 96

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'There happen to be relatives for me upon other than my matter. Is there any right for them upon me?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes. A right of the kinship is, nothing should cut it off, and when they were to be upon your matter, there will be two rights for them – a right of the kinship and a right of Al-Islam''.²⁵⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Maintaining the kinship and righteousness will both ease the Reckoning and protect from the sins, therefore maintain your kinships and be righteous to your brethren, and even if with goodly greetings and responding the answer''.²⁶⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Abdul Samad Bin Bashir who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Maintaining the kinship will ease the Reckoning on the Day of Qiyamah, and it is a postponer in the age (death), and it saves (from) the evil death, and (giving) charity at night extinguishes Wrath of the Lord^{-azwj''}.²⁶¹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Husayn Bin Usman, from the one who mentioned it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Maintaining the kinship purifies the deeds, and grows the wealth, and eases the Reckoning, and repels the afflictions, and increases in the sustenance''.²⁶²

101- كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أُذَيْنَةَ عَنْ مِسْمَعٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص فِي حَدِيثٍ أَلَا إِنَّ فِي التَّبَاغُض الْحَالِقَةَ لَا أَعْنِي حَالِقَةَ الشَّعْرِ وَ لَكِنْ حَالِقَةَ الدِّينِ.

²⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 97

²⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 98

 $^{^{261}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 99 $\,$

²⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 100

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ibn Uzina, from Misma'a,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said in a Hadeeth: 'Indeed! In the hatred (of each other) there is baldness. I^{-saww} don't mean baldness of the hair, but baldness (bareness) of the religion''.²⁶³

102-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ مُحَذَيْفَةَ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ مُحَذَيْفَةَ بْنِ الْمُنْصُورِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع اتَّقُوا الْحَالِقَةَ فَإِثَّمَا تُميتُ الرّجَالَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Huzeyfa Bin Al Mansour who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'Fear the baldness (bareness), for it kills off the men!'

قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْحَالِقَةُ

I said, And what is the baldness (bareness)?'

قَالَ قَطِيعَةُ الرَّحِمِ.

He^{-saww} said: 'Cutting off the kinship''.²⁶⁴

103- كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: قُلْتُ لَهُ إِنَّ إِلَّا وَالْجُنُونِ مِنْهَا إِلَى بَيْتٍ وَ لَوْ تَكَلَّمْتُ أَخَذْتُ مَا فِي أَيْدِيهِمْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Isa, from Usman Bin Isa, from one of our companions,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'My brothers and the sons of my uncle have constricted the house upon me and thrown me out from it to (another) house, and were I to speak to them, I could take what is in their hands'.

قَالَ فَقَالَ لِيَ اصْبِرْ فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ سَيَجْعَلُ لَكَ فَرَجاً

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said to me: 'Be patient, for Allah^{-azwj} would be Making a relief to be for you!'

قَالَ فَانْصَرَفْتُ وَ وَقَعَ الْوَبَاءُ فِي سَنَةِ إِحْدَى وَ ثَلَاثِينَ وَ مِائَةٍ فَمَاتُوا وَ اللّهِ كُلُّهُمْ فَمَا بَقِيَ مِنْهُمْ أَحَدٌ قَالَ فَخَرَجْتُ فَلَمَّا دَحَلْتُ عَلَيْهِ قَالَ مَا حَالُ أَهْلِ بَيْتِكَ

He (the narrator) said, 'So I left, and a plague occurred in the year one hundred and thirty-one, and they (all) died, by Allah^{-azwj}, all of them, and there did not remain (even) one from

 $^{^{263}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 101

²⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 102

them. I went out, and when I came over to him^{-asws}, he^{-asws} said: 'What is the state of your family?'

I said to him^{-asws}, 'They have died, by Allah^{-azwj}, all of them, and there does not remain (even) one'.

He^{-asws} said: 'It is due to what they did with you and their disloyalty to you and severing your relationship with a cutting off. Would you love it if they were to remain (alive) and they had constricted (life) upon you?'

قَالَ قُلْتُ إِي وَ اللَّهِ.

He said, 'I said, 'Yes, by Allah-azwj''. 265

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad, from Al-Hassan Bin Mahboub, from Malik Bin Atiya, from Abu Ubeyda,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'In the book of Ali^{-asws} there are three characteristics. Their owner will not be dying, ever, until he sees their scourge - the immoral, and the cutter of kinship, and the false oath duelling Allah^{-azwj} with it.

And they quickest of Reward for an (act of) obedience is maintaining the kinship. The people could be immoral, but their wealth grows, and they get enriched; and the false oath and cutting the kinship calls the households to be vacant from its people, and the transferring the kinship, and if the kinship is transferred, the lineage is terminated".²⁶⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Salih Bin Al Sindy, from Ja'far Bin Bashir, from Anbasah Al Aabid who said,

 $^{^{\}rm 265}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 103

²⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 104

'A man came and complained to Abu Abdullah-asws of his relatives. He-asws said: 'Swallow their anger and do it'.

فَقَالَ إِنَّهُمْ يَفْعَلُونَ وَ يَفْعَلُونَ

He said, 'They are doing and doing (harming)'.

فَقَالَ أَ تُرِيدُ أَنْ تَكُونَ مِثْلَهُمْ فَلَا يَنْظُرَ اللَّهُ إِلَيْكُمْ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Do you want to be like them? Then Allah^{-azwj} will not Look at you all!"²⁶⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Do not cut off your kinship and even if they were to cut you off''. ²⁶⁸

107-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ رَفَعَهُ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ الثُّمَالِيِّ قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ فِي خُطْبَتِهِ أَعُوذُ بِاللهِ مِنَ الذُّنُوبِ الَّتِي تُعَجَّا ُ الْقَنَاءَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Abu Abdullah, from his father, raising it from Abu Hamza Al Sumali who said,

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said in his^{-asws} sermon: 'I^{-asws} seek Refuge with Allah^{-azwj} from the sins which hasten the annihilation'.

Abdullah Bin Al Kawa Al Yashkury stood up to him^{-asws}. He said, 'O Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}! And can the sins happen to hasten the annihilation?'

فَقَالَ نَعَمْ وَيْلَكَ قَطِيعَةُ الرَّحِم إِنَّ أَهْلَ الْبَيْتِ لَيَجْتَمِعُونَ وَ يَتَوَاسَوْنَ وَ هُمْ فَجَرَةٌ فَيَرْزُقْهُمُ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ إِنَّ أَهْلَ الْبَيْتِ لَيَتَفَرَّقُونَ وَ يَقْطَعُ بَعْضُهُمْ بَعْضًا فَيَحْرِمُهُمُ اللّهُ وَ هُمْ أَتْقِيَاءُ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, woe be unto you, cutting off the kinship does! The family members tend to be united, and they are helping each other, and there are immoral, so Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Graces them; and (other) family members are divided and cut off from each other, so Allah^{-azwj} Deprives them and (even though) they are pious''.²⁶⁹

²⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 105

 $^{^{268}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 106

²⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 107

108-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عَطِيَّةَ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْقَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع إِذَا قَطَّعُوا الْأَرْحَامَ مُجعِلَتِ الْأَمْوَالُ في أَيْدِي الْأَشْرَارِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Atiyya, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'When they cut off the kinships, the wealth is made to be in the hands of evil ones''.²⁷⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'He has committed Kufr with Allah^{-azwj}, the one who disavows from a lineage, and even if it was lowly''.²⁷¹

110-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحُمَّدٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ أَبِي حَمَّادٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ وَ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ رِجَالٍ شَتَّى عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ وَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَخَمَا قَالاً كُفْرٌ بِاللَّهِ الْعَظِيمِ الِانْتِفَاءُ مِنْ حَسَبِ وَ إِنْ دَقَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Muhammad, from Salih Bin Abu Hammad, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, and Ibn Fazzal, from various men.

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} and Abu Abdullah^{-asws} both having said: 'Kufr with Allah^{-azwj} the Magnificent is the disowning from a lineage and even if it was lowly". ²⁷²

 270 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 108

_

²⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 109

²⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 3 H 110

باب 4 العشرة مع المماليك و الخدم

CHAPTER 4 – THE DEALINGS WITH THE SLAVES AND THE SERVANTS

1- لي، الأمالي للصدوق في حَبَرِ مَناهِي النَّبِيِّ ص أَنَّهُ قَالَ: مَا زَالَ جَبْرِثِيلُ يُوصِينِي بِالْمَمَالِيكِ حَتَّى ظَنَنْتُ أَنَّهُ سَيَجْعَلُ لَهُمْ وَقْتاً إِذَا بَلَغُوا ذَلِكَ الْوَقْتَ أُعْتَقُوا.

(The book) 'Al-Amaali' of Al-Sadoug -

'In a Hadeeth of the prohibitions by the Prophet-saww, he-saww said: 'Jibraeel-as has not ceased to advise me-saww regarding the slaves until I-saww thought he-as will make a timing (limit) for them, when they were to reach that, they would be liberated (free)". 273

2- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ الْجِمْيَرِيِّ عَنِ الْفُصْلِ بْنِ عَامِرٍ عَنِ الْبَجَلِيِّ عَنْ ذَرِيحٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص ثَلَاثَةٌ إِنْ لَمْ تَظْلِمْهُمْ ظَلَمُوكَ السَّفِلَةُ وَ رَوْجَتُكَ وَ حَادِمُكَ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Himeyri, from Al Fazl Bin Aamir, from Al Bajali, from Zareeh,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three (types of persons), if you do not oppress them, they will oppress you – the lowly, and your wife, and your servant".²⁷⁴

3- أَقُولُ قَدْ مَضَى فِي بَابِ مَكَارِمِ أَخْلَاقِ النَّبِيِّ ص بِأَسَانِيدَ كَثِيرَةٍ أَنَّهُ ص قَالَ: خَمْسٌ لَا أَدَعُهُنَّ حَتَّى الْمَمَاتِ الْأَكْلُ عَلَى الْخُضِيضِ مَعَ الْعَبِيدِ وَ رُكُوبِيَ الْعَبْرِ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَبِيدِ وَ رُكُوبِيَ الْعَبْرِ اللَّهُونِ وَ التَّسْلِيمُ عَلَى الصِّبْيَانِ لِتَكُونَ سُنَّةً مِنْ بَعْدِي.

And I (Majlisi) am saying,

'It has passed in the chapter on honourable manners of the Prophet^{-saww} by many chains that he^{-saww} said: 'Three (matters), I^{-saww} will not leave these until the death – the eating upon the low ground with the slaves, and my^{-saww} riding the saddled donkey, and my^{-saww} milking my^{-saww} goat with my^{-saww} own hands, and wearing the wool, and the greeting unto the children for it would be a Sunnah (conduct to be followed) from after me^{-saww}''.²⁷⁵

4- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ عَيْمُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ عَنِ الثُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: أَرْبَعٌ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ أَسْكَنَهُ اللَّهُ فِي أَعْلَى عِلِيِّينَ فِي غُرَفٍ فَوْقَ غُرَفٍ فِي تحَلّ الشَّرَفِ كُلّ الشَّرَفِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Ayoub, from Al Sumali,

²⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 1

 $^{^{\}rm 274}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 2

²⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 3

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (characteristics), one from the Momineen who has these in him, Allah^{-azwj} will Settle him in the high Illiyeen in a chamber above a chamber, in the noble in a place of every nobility –

One who shelters an orphan and looks out for him, so he would be a father for him; and one who is merciful to the weak and assists him and suffices him; and one who spends upon his parents and is kind with them and righteous with them and does not chide them; and one who does not violate his slave and does not burden him regarding what he cannot endure".²⁷⁶

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Hammawiya, from Abu Al-Husayn, from Abu Haneefa, from Muslim Bin Ibrahim, from Furrah bin Abdullah Bin Utba who said,

'Abu Zarr^{-ra} covered with two cloaks. He^{-ra} trousered with one of them and cloaked with a cloak and clothed his^{-ra} slave with one of them. Then he^{-ra} came out to the people. They said to him^{-ra}, 'O Abu Zarr^{-ra}! If you^{-ra} could have worn them both together, it would have been more beautiful!'

He^{-ra} said, 'Yes, but I^{-ra} heard the Prophet^{-saww} saying: 'Feed them (slaves) from what you are eating and clothe them from what you are wearing!''²⁷⁷

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Ali Bin Uqba, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (characteristics), one who has these in him, Allah^{-azwj} will Build a house for him in the Paradise – one who shelters an orphan, and mercies the weak, and is compassionate upon his parents, and is kind with his slave''.²⁷⁸

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ibn Asbaat, from Abdul Malik Bin Maslama, from Al Sindy Bin Khalid,

²⁷⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 4

 $^{^{277}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 5

²⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 6

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Shall I^{-saww} inform you all with evilest of the people?'

قَالُوا بَلَى يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ

They said, 'Yes, O Rasool-Allah-saww!'

فَقَالَ مَنْ سَافَرَ وَحْدَهُ وَ مَنَعَ رِفْدَهُ وَ ضَرَبَ عَبْدَهُ.

He^{-saww} said: 'One who travels alone, and prevents his support, and beats his slave".²⁷⁹

8- سن، المحاسن نُوحُ بْنُ شُعَيْبٍ عَنْ يَاسِرٍ الْحَادِمِ وَ نَادِرٍ قَالا قَالَ لَنَا أَبُو الْحَسَنِ ع إِنْ قُمْتُ عَلَى رُءُوسِكُمْ وَ أَنْتُمْ تَأْكُلُونَ فَلَا تَقُومُوا حَتَّى تَفْرُغُوا وَ لَوْبَمَا دَعَا بَعْضَنَا فَيُقَالُ هُمْ يَأْكُلُونَ فَيَقُولُ دَعُوهُمْ حَتَّى يَفْرُغُوا.

(The book) Al Mahasin - Nuh Bin Shueyb, from Yasir Al Khadim and Nadir, both said,

'Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said to us: 'If I^{-asws} were to stand by your heads while you are eating, do not stand until you are free, and sometimes one of us would call, so it will be said to him, 'They are eating', he should say, 'Leave them until they are free''.²⁸⁰

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Nuh Bin Shueyb, from Nadir Al Khadim (the servant) who said,

'Abu Al-Hassan Al-Reza^{-asws} used to place a 'Jowzeynaja' (sweet dish made from walnuts) upon the other and give me''. ²⁸¹

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Ibrahim Bin Muhammad Al Ashary, from Ibn Bukeyr, from Zurara who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'May Allah-azwj Keep you-asws well! What is your-asws view regarding beating the slave?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Whatever he commits upon his hands, so there is nothing upon him, and as for what he has disobeyed you in, there is no problem'.

فَقُلْتُ كَمْ أَضْرِبُهُ

²⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 7

 $^{^{\}rm 280}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 8

²⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 9

I said, 'How much can I hit him?'

قَالَ ثَلَاثَةً أَرْبَعَةً خَمْسَةً.

He^{-asws} said: 'Three, four, five (hits)''.²⁸²

11– نبه، تنبيه الخاطر الْمَعْذُورُ بْنُ سُوَيْدٍ دَحُلْنَا عَلَى أَبِي ذَرِّ بِالرَّبَذَةِ فَإِذَا عَلَيْهِ بُرْدٌ وَ عَلَى غُلَامِهِ مِثْلُهُ فَقُلْنَا لَوْ أَحُدْتَ بُرْدَ غُلَامِكَ إِلَى بُرُدِكَ كَانَتْ حُلَّةً وَكَسَوْتَهُ نُوْبًا غَيْرُهُ

(The book) 'Tanbeeh Al Khatir' – Al Mazour Bin Suweyd,

'We entered to see Abu Zarr^{-ra} at Al-Rabza, and there he was having a cloak upon him^{-ra}, and a similar one was upon his^{-ra} slave. We said, 'If you^{-ra} could take the cloak of your^{-ra} slave to your^{-ra} cloak, it would be good, and clothe him with another cloth!'

قَالَ سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللّهِ ص يَقُولُ إِحْوَانُكُمْ جَعَلَهُمُ اللّهُ تَخْتَ أَيْدِيكُمْ فَمَنْ كَانَ أَحْوهُ تَخْتَ يَدِهِ فَلْيُطْعِمْهُ مِّمَّا يَأْكُلُ وَ لَيَكْسُهُ مِمَّا يَلْبَسُ وَ لَا يُكَلِّفُهُ مَا يَغْلِبُهُ فَإِنْ كَلَّفَهُ مَا يَغْلِبُهُ فَلْيُعِنْهُ.

He^{-ra} said, 'I^{-ra} heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: '(The slaves are) your brothers. Allah^{-azwj} has Made them to be under your hands. So the one whose brother was under him, let him feed him from what he eats, and clothe him from what he wears, and not encumber him what would overwhelm him. If he were to encumber him what overwhelms him, let him assist him''.²⁸³

أَبُو مَسْعُودٍ الْأَنْصَارِيُ كُنْتُ أَضْرِبُ غُلَاماً فَسَمَّعَنِي مَنْ حَلْفِي صَوْتاً اعْلَمْ أَبَا مَسْعُودٍ اعْلَمْ أَبَا مَسْعُودٍ اقْلَمْ أَبَا مَسْعُودٍ اللَّهَ أَفَدَرُ عَلَيْكَ مِنْكَ عَلَيْهِ فَالْتَفَتُّ فَإِذَا هُوَ النَّبِيُ ص فَقُلْتُ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّه هُوَ حُرُّ لِوَجُه اللَّه

Abu Masoud Al Ansary -

'I used to beat a slave. Someone made me hear from behind me, 'Know, Abu Masoud! Know, Abu Masoud! Allah^{-azwj} is more Able upon you that you are upon him!' I turned around, and there, it was the Prophet^{-saww}. I said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! He is hereby free for the Face of Allah^{-azwj}!'

فَقَالَ أَمَا لَوْ لَمْ تَفْعَلْ لَلَفَعَتْكَ النَّارُ.

He-saww said: 'But, had you not done so, the Fire would have caught you!"284

أراد رجل بيع جارية فبكت فسألها فقالت لو ملكت منك ما ملكت مني ما أخرجتك من يدي فأعتقها. عَنْهُ ع عَاتِبُوا أَرِقَاكُمْ عَلَى قَدْرِ عُقُولِهِمْ.

²⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 10

 $^{^{\}rm 283}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 11 a

²⁸⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 11 b

<u>Note</u> – 'A man wanted to sell a slave girl. She cried. He asked her. She said, 'Had I owned from you what you own from me, I would not have taken you out from my hands'. So he freed her. He^{-asws} said: 'Reproach your slaves in accordance with their intellects''.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Al Jowhary, from Al Batainy, from Abu Baseer,

'Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'My father beat a slave of his, one strike with a whip, and he had sent him regarding a need, and he had delayed to him. The slave cried and said: 'Allah^{-azwj}, O Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws}! You^{-asws} sent me regarding your need, then you^{-asws} are hitting me!'

He (Abu Ja'far^{-asws}) said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} wept and said: 'O my^{-asws} son! Go to the grave of Rasool-Allah^{-saww} and pray two Cycles of Salat, then said, 'O Allah^{-azwj}! Forgive the mistake of Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} on the Day of Religion (Qiyamah)''.

Then he-asws said to the slave: 'Go, for you are hereby free for the Face of Allah-azwj!"

Abu Baseer (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! Was the liberation (of the slave) and expiation of the beating?' He^{-asws} was silent''.²⁸⁵

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalah, from Ibn Farqad,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'In a letter of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}: 'Whenever you utilise what your right hands own (slaves) regarding anything which is difficult upon you, they work with them in it'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And whenever my^{-asws} father^{-asws} would instruct them, he^{-asws} would say, 'Stay as you are!' He^{-asws} would come and look. If it was heavy (work), he^{-asws} would say: 'In the Name of Allah^{-azwj}', then work with them, and if it was light (work), he^{-asws} would stay away from them''.²⁸⁶

²⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 12

²⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 13

14- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر فَضَالَةُ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ زِيَادِ بْنِ أَبِي رَجَاءٍ عَنْ أَبِي عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ أَبِي سُحَيْلَةَ عَنْ سَلْمَانَ قَالَ: بَيْنَا أَنَا جَلْدَ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ عَنْ أَبِي رَجُاءٍ عَنْ اللَّهِ عَنْ رَبُولَ اللَّهِ الْمَمْلُوكُ جَالِسٌ عِنْدَ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ عَنْ رَبُولَ اللَّهِ الْمَمْلُوكُ

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalah, from Aban Bin Usman, from Ziyad Bin Abu Raja'a, from Abu Ubeydullah, from Abu Sukheyla,

'From Salman^{-ra} having said, 'While I^{-ra} was seated in the presence of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, when a man aimed for him^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! The slave'.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'He is being Tried by you and you are being Tried by him, for Allah^{-azwj} to Look how you are being grateful, and He^{-azwj} can Look how patient you are!''²⁸⁷

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalah, from Aban, from Abdullah Bin Talha,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} faced a man from the clan of Fahad and he was beating a slave of his, and the slave was saying, 'I seek Refuge with Allah^{-azwj}!' But the man did not leave from him. When the slave sighted Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, he said, 'I seek refuge with Muhammad^{-saww}!' The man stayed away from beating him.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'He sought Refuge will Allah^{-azwj}, but you did not shelter him, and he sought refuge with Muhammad^{-saww}, so you sheltered him, while Allah^{-azwj} is more rightful to Shelter him than Muhammad^{-saww} is?'

The man said, 'He is hereby free for the Face of Allah-azwj!'

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'By the One^{-azwj} Who Sent me^{-saww} with the truth as a Prophet^{-saww}! Had you not done so, you face would have fallen in the heat of the Fire!''²⁸⁸

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' -

²⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 14

²⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 15

'Al Hassan Bin Ali asws said: 'Abu Al Hassan asws said: 'Ali asws Bin Al Husayn asws hit a slave, then he asws entered into his asws house and brought out the whip, then he asws bared (his asws back) for him. He asws said: 'Whip Ali asws Bin Al Husayn asws!' He refused to him asws. So he asws gave him fifty Dinars (compensation instead)''. 289 (derogatory)

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Four (persons), there is no excuse for them – a man having debt upon him, staying in his city. There is no excuse for him until he emigrates in the earth seeking what he can pay off his debts with.

And a man, (another) man attaining from his wife. There is no excuse for him until he divorces, lest he participates in the child of someone else'.

And a man having an evil slave for him, so he punishes him. There is no excuse for him except if either he sells him or he frees him.

And two men accompany in a journey cursing each other. There is no excuse for them until they separate". ²⁹⁰

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Upon you all is with having short servants, for it is stronger for you regarding what you want''.²⁹¹

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

²⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 16

 $^{^{290}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 17 a

²⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 17 b

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said in a bequest to his^{-asws} son^{-asws} Al-Hassan^{-asws}: 'Make a (type of) work to be for every person from your^{-asws} servants he can be taking with (performing), for it is more appropriate if he does not interfere (with other servants) in your service''.²⁹²

(The book) 'Kitab Al Gharaat' of Ibrahim Bin Muhammad Al Saqafy, by his chain from Mukhtar Al Tammar who said,

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} came to the fabric market. He^{-asws} purchased two clothes, one of them for three Dirhams, and the other for two Dirhams. He^{-asws} said: 'O Qanbar (his^{-asws} slave)! Take the one which is for three (Dirhams)!'

He said, 'You^{-asws} are foremost with it, O Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}! You^{-asws} (tend to) ascend the pulpit and address the people'.

He^{-asws} said: 'O Qanbar! You are a youth, and for you is the vitality of youth, and I^{-asws} am embarrassed from my^{-asws} Lord^{-azwj} to prefer myself^{-asws} over you, because I^{-asws} heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'Clothe them from what you are wearing and feed them from what you are eating''.²⁹³

Page 140 of 462

 $^{^{\}rm 292}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 18

²⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 4 H 19

باب 5 وجوب طاعة المملوك للمولى و عقاب عصيانه

CHAPTER 5 – OBLIGATION OF OBEDIENCE OF THE SLAVE TO THE MASTER AND PUNISHMENT OF DISOBEYING HIM

1- ل، الخصال مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ ابْنِ بَقَاحٍ عَنْ زَكْرِيًّا بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: أَرْبَعَةٌ لَا تُقْبَلُ لَمُمْ صَلَاةٌ الْإِمَامُ الْجَائِرُ وَ الرَّجُلُ يَوُمُ الْقَوْمَ وَ هُمْ لَهُ كَارِهُونَ وَ الْعَبْدُ الْآبِقُ مِنْ مَوَالِيهِ مِنْ غَيْرٍ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ تَخُرُجُ مِنْ بَيْتِ زَوْجِهَا بِغَيْرٍ إِاللهِ عَنْ مَوَالِيهِ مِنْ غَيْرٍ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ تَخُرُجُ مِنْ بَيْتِ زَوْجِهَا بِغَيْرٍ إِنْ مَوَالِيهِ مِنْ غَيْرٍ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ تَخُرُجُ مِنْ بَيْتِ زَوْجِهَا بِغَيْرٍ إِلَيْهِ مِنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَلَمْ الْقَوْمَ وَ هُمْ لَهُ كَارِهُونَ وَ الْعَبْدُ اللهِ عَلْمَ مَوَالِيهِ مِنْ غَيْرٍ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ تَخُرُجُ مِنْ بَيْتِ زَوْجِهَا بِغَيْرِ إِلَيْ بَعْ مِنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْهِ مَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ عَيْدِ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ كُورُجُ مِنْ بَيْتِ زَوْجِهَا بِغَيْرٍ اللهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ عَيْدٍ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ عَرْبُ عُمْ اللّهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْهُ لَا تُقْبَلُ هُمُ صَلَاةً الْإِمَامُ الْجُعْرِدُ وَ الرَّجُلُ لِيَّهُ مُ اللّهُ وَلَهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلْ مَالُولِهُ اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى إِنْ عَلَيْ ضَرُورَةٍ وَ الْمَرْأَةُ عَلَى عُولِيهِ مِنْ عَبْدِهِ اللّهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Ibn Baqqah, from Zakariya Bin Muhammad, from Abdul Malik Bin Umeyr,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Four (persons), Salat is not Accepted for them - a tyrannical imam (leader), and the man leading the people and they are disliking him, and the slave absconding from his masters without necessity, and the woman going out from the house of her husband without his permission".²⁹⁴

2– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْأَسَانِيدِ الثَّلاَثَةِ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص أَوَّلُ مَنْ يَدْحُلُ الجُنَّةَ شَهِيدٌ وَ عَبْدٌ مُمْلُوكُ أَحْسَنَ عِبَادَةَ رَبِّهِ وَ نَصَحَ لِسَيِّدِهِ وَ رَجُلٌ عَفِيفٌ مُتَعَفِّفٌ ذُو عِبَادَةٍ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}, may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The first one to enter the Paradise is a martyr, and an owned slave of excellent worship of his Lord^{-azwj} and advising to his master, and a chaste man, virtuous with worship''.²⁹⁵

3- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ الجِّعَابِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ غَالِبٍ عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ رِبَاحٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنِ الْجُنَائِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عَهْدَةً لَا يَقْبَلُ اللَّهُ لَهُمْ صَلَاةً عَبْدٌ أَبْقَ مِنْ مَوَالِيهِ حَتَّى يَرْجِعَ إِلَيْهِمْ فَيَضَعَ يَدَهُ فِي أَيْدِيهِمْ وَ رَجُلِّ أَمَّ قَوْماً وَ هُمْ لَهُ كَارِهُونَ وَ امْرَأَةٌ بَاتَتْ وَ رَوْجُهَا عَلَيْهَا سَاخِطٌ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Al Jiany, from Ibn Uqdah, from Muhammad Bin Abdullah Bin Ghalib, from Al-Husayn Bin Ribah, from Ameyra, from Muhammad Bin Marwan, from Ibn Yafour,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Three (persons), Allah^{-azwj} will not Accept any Salat for them – a slave absconding from his masters until he returns to them and places his hand in their hands, and a man leading a people and they are disliking him, and a wife spending a night while her husband is annoyed with her".²⁹⁶

4– مع، معاني الأخبار ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ وَ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ مَعاً عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص ثَمَانِيَةٌ لَا تُقْبَلُ لَهُمْ صَلَاةٌ الْعَبْدُ الْآبِقُ حَتَّى يَرْجِعَ إِلَى مَوَالِيهِ.

Page 141 of 462

 $^{^{294}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 1

 $^{^{\}rm 295}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 2

²⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 3

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Muhammad Al Attar and Ahmad Bin Idrees, both together from Al Ashary, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, raising it to,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Eight (persons), no Salat will be Accepted for them – the absconding slave, until he returns to his masters''.²⁹⁷

I (Majlisi) am saying, 'I shall bring the Hadeeth with its completeness along with others in the book of Salat'.

From a handwriting of the martyr, from Musa bin Bakr,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Three (persons), Allah^{-azwj} will not Raise any deed for them – an absconding slave, and a woman her husband is annoyed upon her, and the man who drags the tail of his trouser".²⁹⁸

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' – It is reported by Shueyb Al Ansari and Haroun Bin Kharjah, both said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Musa^{-as} went to look into the deeds of the servants. He^{-as} came to a man from the most worshipping of the people. When it was evening, the man moved a tree to his sides, and there were two pomegranates in it'.

He^{-asws} said: 'So he^{-as} said: 'O servant of Allah^{-azwj}! Who are you? You are a righteous servant. I^{-as} have been here since Allah^{-azwj} so Desires. I^{-as} have not found in this tree except for one pomegranate, and had you not been a righteous servant, you would not have found two pomegranates'.

He said, 'I am a man dwelling in the land of Musa Bin Imran-as".

قَالَ فَلَمَّا أَصْبَحَ قَالَ تَعْلَمُ أَحَداً أَعْبَدَ مِنْكَ

²⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 4

 $^{^{298}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 5

He^{-asws} said: 'When it was morning, he^{-as} said: 'Do you know anyone more worshipping than you are?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ فُلَانٌ الْفُلَايِيُّ

He said, 'Yes, so and so, the one who is such and such!"

قَالَ فَانْطَلَقَ إِلَيْهِ فَإِذَا هُوَ أَعْبَدُ مِنْهُ كَثِيراً فَلَمَّا أَمْسَى أَيِّ بِرَغِيفَيْنِ وَ مَاءٍ فَقَالَ يَا عَبْدَ اللَّهِ مَنْ أَنْتَ إِنَّكَ عَبْدٌ صَالِحٌ أَنَا هَاهُنَا مُنْدُ مَا شَاءَ اللَّهُ وَ مَا أُوتَى إِلَّا يَرْغِيفَيْنِ وَمَاءٍ فَقَالَ يَا عَبْدَ اللَّهِ مَنْ أَنْتَ إِنَّكَ عَبْدٌ صَالِحٌ مَا أُوتِيتُ بِرَغِيفَيْنِ فَمَنْ أَنْتَ

He^{-asws} said: 'He^{-as} went to him, and there he was much more worshipping than him. When it was evening, he was brought two loaves and water. He^{-as} said: 'O servant of Allah^{-azwj}! Who are you? You are a righteous servant. I^{-as} have been over here since Allah^{-azwj} so Desires, and I^{-as} have not been brought except one loaf, and had you not been a righteous servant, you would not have been brought two loaves! Who are you?'

قَالَ أَنَا رَجُلُ أَسْكُنُ أَرْضَ مُوسَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ:

He said, 'I am a man dwelling in the land of Musa Bin Imran-as'.

ثُمَّ قَالَ مُوسَى هَلْ تَعْلَمُ أَحَداً أَعْبَدَ مِنْكَ

Then Musa^{-as} said, 'Do you know of anyone wore worshipping than you are?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ فُلَانٌ الْحَدَّادُ في مَدِينَةِ كَذَا وَ كَذَا

He said, 'So and so the blacksmith in such and such city".

قَالَ فَأَتَاهُ فَنَظَرَ إِلَى رَجُٰلٍ لَيْسَ بِصَاحِبِ عِبَادَةٍ بَلْ إِنَّمَا هُوَ ذَاكِرٌ لِلَهِ تَعَالَى وَ إِذَا دَحَلَ وَقْتُ الصَّلَاةِ قَامَ فَصَلَّى فَلَمَّا أَمْسَى نَظَرَ إِلَى غَلَّتِهِ فَوجَدَهَا قَدْ أُضْعِفَتْ

He^{-asws} said: 'He^{-as} came to him. He^{-as} looked at a man who wasn't a performer of worship, but rather he was a mentioner (Zakir) of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, and when the time of Salat entered, he stood up and prayed Salat. When it was evening, he looked at his yield and found it to have doubled.

قَالَ يَا عَبْدَ اللَّهِ مَنْ أَنْتَ إِنَّكَ عَبْدٌ صَالِحٌ أَنَا هَاهُنَا مُنْذُ مَا شَاءَ اللَّهُ غَلَّتِي قرِيبٌ بَعْضُهَا مِنْ بَعْضِ وَ اللَّيْلَةَ قَدْ أُضْعِفَتْ فَمَنْ أَنْتَ

He^{-as} said: 'O servant of Allah^{-azwj}! Who are you? You are a righteous servant. I^{-as} have been over here since as long as Allah^{-azwj} so Desired. My^{-as} yield is nearby from each other, and tonight it has doubled. So who are you?'

قَالَ أَنَا رَجُلُ أَسْكُنُ أَرْضَ مُوسَى بْن عِمْرَانَ

He said, 'I am a man dwelling in the land of Musa Bin Imran-as''.

He^{-asws} said: 'He took a third of his yield and gave in charity with it, and he gave a third to a slave of his, and a third he prepared food with it, so he and Musa^{-as} ate'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Musa^{-as} smiled. He said, 'From which thing did you^{-as} smile?'

He^{-as} said: 'A Prophet^{-as} from the children of Israel pointed me^{-as} to so and so. I^{-as} found him from the most worshipping of the people. He pointed me^{-as} to so and so. I^{-as} found him to be more worshipping that he was. That so and so pointed me^{-as} to you and he claimed that you are more worshipping than him, and I^{-as} haven't seen you (even) resembling the group (of worshippers)'.

He said, 'I am a slave man. Didn't you^{-as} see me being a mentioner of Allah^{-azwj}? And didn't you^{-as} see me praying Salat at its timing? And if I face to the Salat, I harm the yield of my master, and I harm work of the people. Do you^{-as} want me to come to your^{-as} city?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ

He-as said: 'Yes''.

He-asws said: 'A cloud passed by him. The blacksmith said, 'O cloud, come!"

He^{-asws} said: 'It came. He said, 'Where are you intending (to go to)?' It said, 'I intend such and such land'. He said, 'Leave!'

Then another passed by him. He said, 'O cloud, come!' It came to him. He said, 'Where are you intending (to go to)?' It said, 'I intend such and such land'. He said, 'Leave'.

Then another passed by him. He said, 'O cloud, come!' It came to him. He said, 'Where are you intending (to go to)?' It said, 'I intend such and such land of Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as}''.

He^{-asws} said: 'He said, 'Carry this man with a gentle carrying and place him^{-as} in the land of Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as}, and gentle placing'.

He^{-asws} said: 'When Musa^{-as} reached his^{-as} city, he^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Due to what did he reach this (status and power) what I^{-as} see?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "This servant of Mine^{-azwj} is patient upon My^{-azwj} affliction and he is satisfied with My^{-azwj} Decree, and he thanks for My^{-azwj} bounties!" ²⁹⁹

-

 $^{^{299}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 5 H 6

باب 6 ما ينبغي حمله على الخدم و غيرهم من الخدمات

CHAPTER 6 – WHAT SERIVCES ARE APPROPRIATE TO LOAD UPON THE SERVANTS AND OTHERS

1- ير، بصائر الدرجات مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عَمِّهِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنْ عُمَرَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ يَزِيدَ قَالَ: كُنْتُ عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع لَيْلَةً مِنَ اللَّيَالِي وَ لَمْ يَكُنْ عِنْدَهُ أَحَدٌ غَيْرِي فَمَدَّ رِجْلَهُ فِي حَجْرِي فَقَالَ اغْمِزُهَا يَا عُمَرُ

(The book) 'Basaair Al Darajaat' - Muhammad Bin Ali, from his uncle Muhammad, from Umar Bin Yazeed who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} in a night from the nights and there did not happen to be anyone with him^{-asws} apart from me. He^{-asws} extended his^{-asws} leg in my lap and said: 'Press it, O Umar!'

قَالَ فَغَمَرْتُ رِجْلَهُ فَنَظَرْتُ إِلَى اضْطِرَابٍ فِي عَضَلَةِ سَاقَيْهِ فَأَرَدْتُ أَنْ أَسْأَلَهُ إِلَى مَنِ الْأَمْرُ مِنْ بَعْدِهِ فَأَشَارَ إِلَيَّ فَقَالَ لَا تَسْأَلْنِي فِي هَذِهِ اللَّيْلَةِ عَنْ شَيْءٍ فَإِيِّ لَسْتُ أُجِيبُكَ.

I pressed his as leg and he as at I looked at the trembling in his leg muscle, and I intended to ask him as to whom would the command be from after him as but he sessed towards me and said: Do not ask me about anything during this night, for I as will not answer you.

2- ير، بصائر الدرجات أَحْمَدُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ بُرْدَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع

(The book) 'Basaair Al Darajaat' – Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al-Husayn Bin Saeed, from Al-Husayn Bin Burdah,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws.

وَ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ بَشِيرٍ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْعَزِيزِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَا إِسْمَاعِيلُ ضَعْ لِي فِي الْمُتَوَضَّإِ مَاءً

And from Ja'far Bin Bashir Al Khazaz, from Ismail Bin Abdul Aziz who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'O Ismail! Place some water for me-asws in the ablution place'.

قَالَ فَقُمْتُ فَوَضَعْتُ لَهُ مَاءً الْخَبَرَ.

He (the narrator) said, 'I stood up and placed the water for him-asws' – the Hadeeth". 301

Page 146 of 462

 $^{^{\}rm 300}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 6 H 1

 $^{^{301}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 6 H 2

باب 7 حمل المتاع للأهل

CHAPTER 7 – CARRYING THE LUGGAGE FOR THE FAMILY

1- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَارِ عَنِ ابْنِ يَزِيدَ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ مُعَاوِيَةَ بْنِ وَهْبٍ قَالَ: رَآبِيٰ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع بِالْمَدِينَةِ وَ أَنَا أَحْمِلُ بَقْلًا فَقَالَ إِنَّهُ يُكْرُهُ لِلرَّجُلِ السَّرِيِّ أَنْ يَخْمِلَ الشَّيْءَ الدَّنِيَّ فَهُجْتَرًا عَلَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Yazeed, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Muawiya Bin Wahab who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saw me at Al Medina and I was carrying vegetables. He^{-asws} said: 'It is disliked for the noble man to be carrying something lowly, so would be audacious upon''.³⁰²

2- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ يَرِيدَ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي خُجُرَانَ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ رَقَعَ جَيْبَهُ وَ حَصَفَ نَعْلَهُ وَ حَمَلَ سِلْعَتَهُ فَقَدْ أَمِنَ مِنَ الْكِبْر.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Yazeed, from Ibn Abu Najran, raising it to,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'One whose sews his pocked, and repairs his slippers, and carries his luggage, so he is safe from the old age". ³⁰³

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'One who buys truffles (meat) for his dependants for a Dirham, would be like the one who has liberated a person (slave) from the children of Ismail^{-as}". ³⁰⁴

4- مِنْ كِتَابِ صِفَاتِ الشِّيعَةِ، لِلصَّدُوقِ رَحِمُهُ اللَّهُ عَنِ الحُسَنِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ الْكِنَايِيِّ قَالَ: اسْتَقْبَلَنِي أَبُو الحُسَن مُوسَى ع وَ قَدْ عَلَّقْتُ سَمَكَةً بِيَدِي فَقَالَ اقْذِفْهَا إِنِّ لأَكْرَهُ لِلرَّجُلِ أَنْ يَخْمِلَ الشَّيْءَ الدَّبِيَّ بِنَفْسِهِ

From the book 'Sifaat Al Shia' of Al Sadouq, may **Allah**-^{azwj} have Mercy on him, - from Al-Hassan Bin Ahmad, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad, from Abdullah Bin Khalid Al Kinany who said,

'Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} met me and a fish was handing in my hand. He^{-asws} said, 'Throw it! I^{-asws} dislike it for the man to carry the lowly thing by himself'.

ثُمُّ قَالَ إِنَّكُمْ قَوْمٌ أَعْدَاؤُكُمْ كَثِيرٌ يَا مَعْشَرَ الشِّيعَةِ إِنَّكُمْ فَوْمٌ عَادَاكُمُ الْخَلْقُ فَتَزَّيَّنُوا لَهُمْ مَا قَدَرْتُمْ عَلَيْهِ.

³⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 7 H 1

 $^{^{\}rm 303}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 7 H 2

³⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 7 H 3

 $^{\rm 305}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 7 H 4

باب 8 حمل النائبة عن القوم و حسن العشرة معهم

CHAPTER 8 – CARRYING DEBTS ON BEHALF OF THE PEOPLE AND GOODLY DEALINGS WITH THEM

1- جا، المجالس للمفيد ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ هَمَّامٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْعَلَاءِ عَنِ ابْنِ شَمُّونِ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ خَالِدٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: جَمَعَنَا أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع فَقَالَ يَا بَيِّ إِيَّاكُمْ وَ التَّعَرُّضَ لِلْحُقُّوقِ وَ اصْبِرُوا عَلَى النَّوَائِبِ وَ إِنْ دَعَاكُمْ بَعْضُ قَوْدِكُمْ إِلَى أَمْرِ صَرَرُهُ عَلَيْكُمْ أَكْثَرُ مِنْ نَفْهِ لَكُمْ فَلَا بُجِيهُوهُ.

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of A Mufeed, (and) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from Muhammad Bin Hammam, from Abdullah Bin Al A'ala, from Ibn Shamoun, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Ismail Bin Khalid,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Abu Ja'far-asws gathered us. He-asws said: 'O my-asws sons! Beware of the being exposed to the rights, and be patient upon the calamities, and if one of your people were to call you to a matter that harm of which is more upon you than its benefit is for you, do not answer him!"³⁰⁶

2- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي ابْنُ الصَّلْتِ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ عَبَّادِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ الْقَرْوِيتِي عَنْ عَبِّهِ عَنْ مُوَتِّ عَنِ الشَّعْيِي عَنْ الشَّعْيِي عَنْ الشَّعْيِي عَنْ صَعْصَعَةَ بْنِ صُوحَانَ قَالَ: عَادَنِي أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع فِي مَرَضٍ ثُمُّ قَالَ انْظُرُ فَلَا جُعْعَلَنَّ عِبَادَتِي إِبَّاكَ فَحْراً عَلَى قَوْمِكَ وَ إِذَا رَأَيْتَهُمْ فِي أَمْرٍ فَلَا خُوْرِجُ مِنْهُ فَإِنَّهُ لَيْسَ بِالرَّجُلِ غِنَى عَنْ قَوْمِهِ إِذَا حَلَعَ مِنْهُمْ يَداً وَاحِدَةً يَخْلُعُونَ مِنْهُ أَيْدِي كَثِيرة

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqdah, from Abbad Bin Ahmad Al Qazwiny, from his uncle, from his gather, from Mutarrif, from Al Shaie, from Sa'sa Bin Sowhan who said,

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} consoled me during an illness. Then he^{-asws} said: 'Look do not make my^{-asws} consoling you as a pride upon your people, and when you see them being in a matter, do not exit from it, for there isn't for the man needlessness from his people. When he vacates one hand from them, they will be vacating many hands from him.

فَإِذَا رَأَيْتَهُمْ فِي حَيْرٍ فَأَعِنْهُمْ عَلَيْهِ وَ إِذَا رَأَيْتَهُمْ فِي شَرٍ فَلَا تَخْذُلْنَهُمْ وَ لْيَكُنْ تَعَاوُنُكُمْ عَلَى طَاعَةِ اللّهِ فَإِنّكُمْ لَنْ تَرَالُوا خِيْرٍ مَا تَعَاوَنْتُمْ عَلَى طَاعَةِ اللّهِ تَعَالَى وَ تَنَاهَيْتُمْ عَنْ مَعَاصِيهِ.

When you see them being in good, assist them upon it, and when you see them being in evil, do not abandon them, and let your assisting be based upon obedience of Allah^{-azwj} for you will never decline with goodness for as long as you assist them upon obedience of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, and keep aside of them from disobeying Him^{-azwj}".³⁰⁷

3- مع، معاني الأخبار مَاجِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَبِّهِ عَنِ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص لَيْسَ الْبَخِيلُ مَنْ يُؤَدِّي أَوِ الَّذِي مَنْعُ الزَّكَاةَ الْمَفْرُوضَةَ مِنْ مَالِهِ وَ يَعْطِي النَّائِيَةَ فِي قَوْمِهِ وَ إِنَّمَا الْبَخِيلُ حَقَّ الْبَخِيلِ الَّذِي يَمْنَعُ الزَّكَاةَ الْمَفْرُوضَةَ مِنْ مَالِهِ وَ يَعْطِي النَّائِيَةَ فِي قَوْمِهِ وَ إِنَّمَا الْبَخِيلُ حَقَّ الْبَخِيلِ الَّذِي يَمْنَعُ الزَّكَاةَ الْمَفْرُوضَةَ فِي مَالِهِ وَ يَمْتُعُ النَّائِيَةَ فِي قَوْمِهِ وَ هُوَ فِيمَا سِوَى ذَلِكَ يُبَدِّرُ.

Page 149 of 462

 $^{^{\}rm 306}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 8 H 1

³⁰⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 8 H 2

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbaar' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Kufi, from Abu Jameela, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The miser isn't the one who gives, or the one who gives the obligatory Zakat from his wealth and gives (pays off) the debts among his people, and rather the miser as is right of the miser is the one who prevents the obligatory Zakat regarding his wealth, and prevents the paying off debts among his people, and regarding what is besides that, he spends''.³⁰⁸

4- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ كَانَ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ كَانَ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَفِلُ إِنَّا أَهْلُ بَيْتٍ أُمِرْنَا أَنْ نُطْعِمَ الطَّعَامَ وَ نُؤَدِّي فِي النَّائِيَةِ وَ نُصَلِّى إِذَا نَامَ النَّاسُ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Abu Ameyra, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Ali^{-asws} had said: 'We^{-asws}, People^{-asws} of the Household, we^{-asws} are Commanded to give the good, and pay off the debts, and pray Salat when the people are sleeping''.³⁰⁹

5- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيِّ عَنْ مُسَيْنِ بْنِ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: أُنِيَ رَسُولُ اللهِ بِأُسَارَى فَقَدَّمَ مِنْهُمْ رَجُلًا لِيَضْرِبَ عُنُقَهُ فَقَالَ لَهُ جَرْئِيلُ يَا مُحَمَّدُ رَبُّكَ يُقْرِنُكَ السَّلَامَ وَ يَقُولُ إِنَّ أَسِيرَكَ هَذَا يُطْعِمُ الطَّعَامَ وَ يَقْرِي الضَّيْفَ وَ يَصْبُرُ عَلَى النَّائِبَةِ وَ يَخْتَمِلُ الْحُمَالاتِ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Husayn Bin Abu Saeed, from a man,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} was brought captives. He^{-saww} forwarded a man to strike his neck off. Jibraeel^{-as} said to him^{-saww}: 'O Muhammad^{-saww}! Your^{-saww} Lord^{-azwj} Conveys the Greetings to you^{-saww} and Says: "This captive of yours (tends to) feed the food, and hosts the guests, and is patient upon the misfortunes, and he carries the loads (debts or bills)!"'

فَقَالَ لَهُ النَّبِيُّ صِ إِنَّ جَبْرُئِيلَ أَخْبَرَنِي عَنْكَ بِكَذَا وَكَذَا وَ قَدْ أَعْتَقْتُكَ

The Prophet-saww said to him: 'Jibraeel-as has informed me-saww with such and such about you, and I-saww have hereby freed you!'

فَقَالَ لَهُ إِنَّ رَبَّكَ لَيُحِبُّ هَذَا

He said to him-saww, 'Your-saww Lord-azwj tends to Love this?'

فَقَالَ نَعَمْ

He-saww said: 'Yes'.

فَقَالَ أَشْهَدُ أَنْ لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ وَ أَنَّكَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ وَ الَّذِي بَعَثَكَ بِالْحِقِّ لَا رَدَدْتُ عَنْ مَالِي أَحَداً أَبَداً.

³⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 8 H 3

 $^{^{309}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 8 H 4

 $^{^{\}rm 310}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 8 H 5

باب 9 حق الجار

CHAPTER 9 – RIGHTS OF THE NEIGHBOUR

1- لي، الأمالي للصدوق مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: عَلَيْكُمْ بِحُسْنِ الجُيَوَرِ فَإِنَّ اللهَ عَزَّ وَ جَارًا أَمَرَ بِذَلِكَ الخُبَرَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al Mufazzal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Upon you all with good neighbourliness, for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Commanded with that' – the Hadeeth''.³¹¹

2- لي، الأمالي للصدوق في مَناهِي النَّبِيِّ ص أَنَّهُ قَالَ: مَنْ حَانَ جَارَهُ شِبْراً مِنَ الْأَرْضِ جَعَلَهَا اللهُ طَوْقاً فِي عُنُقِهِ مِنْ ثُخُومِ الْأَرَضِينَ السَّابِعَةِ حَتَّى يَلْقَى اللهَ يَوْءَ الْقِيَامَةِ مُطُوِّقاً إِلَّا أَنْ يَتُوبَ وَ يَرْجِعَ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadoug -

'Among prohibitions of the Prophet^{-saww}, he^{-saww} said: 'One who betrays his neighbour of a palm's width of the land, Allah^{-azwj} will Make is a collar in his neck from the bottom of the seven firmaments until he meets Allah^{-azwj} on the Day of Qiyamah as collared, except if he were to repent and retract'.

وَ قَالَ مَنْ آذَى جَارَهُ حَرَّمَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ رِيحَ الْجَنَّةِ- وَ مَأْواهُ جَهَنَّمُ وَ بِغْسَ الْمَصِيرُ وَ مَنْ ضَيَّعَ حَقَّ جَارِهِ فَلَيْسَ مِنَّا وَ مَا زَالَ جَبْرِثِيلُ يُوصِينِي بِالْجَارِ حَتَّى ظَنَنْتُ أَنَّهُ سَيُهِرَنْهُ.

And he-asws said: 'One who hurts his neighbour, Allah-azwj will Prohibit the aroma of Paradise unto him, *and his abode is Hell; and it is an evil destination [3:162]*; and the one wastes a right of his neighbour, he isn't from us-asws; and Jibraeel-as has not ceased to advise me-saww with the neighbour until I-saww thought that he will be inheriting me-saww''. 312

3- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ إِدْرِيسَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْجُبَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْبَطَائِنِيِّ عَنْ إِشْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْخَالِقِ وَ الْكِنَانِيِّ مَعا عَنْ أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْجَبَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْبَطَائِنِيِّ عَنْ إِشْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ كَفَّ أَذَاهُ عَنْ جَارِهِ أَقَالَهُ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَثْرَتَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ مَنْ عَفَّ بَطْنُهُ وَ فَرْجُهُ كَانَ فِي الجُنَّةِ مَلِكاً تَحْبُوراً وَ مَنْ أَعْتَقَ نَسَعَةً مُؤْمِنَةً بَنِي اللهُ لَهُ بَيْتاً فِي الجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Idrees, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Al Batainy, from Ismail Bin Abdul Khaliq and Al Kinany, both together from Abu Baseer who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who restrains his harm from his neighbour, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Dismiss his stumbles on the Day of Qiyamah, and the one who is

Page 152 of 462

 $^{^{311}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 1

 $^{^{312}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 2

chaste of his belly and his private parts, would be a joyful king in the Paradise, and the one who liberates a Momin person, Allah^{-azwj} will Build a house for him in the Paradise".³¹³

Tafseer Al Qummi – My father, raising it to,

'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'One who hurts his neighbour in greed regarding his dwelling, Allah^{-azwj} will Make him (neighbour) inherit his house''.³¹⁴

5- ل، الخصال في مَا أَوْصَى بِهِ النَّبِيُّ ص إِلَى عَلِيٍّ ع يَا عَلِيُّ أَرْبَعَةٌ مِنْ قَوَاصِمِ الظَّهْرِ إِمَامٌ يَعْصِي اللَّهَ وَ يُطَاعُ أَمْرُهُ وَ زَوْجَةٌ يَحْفَظُهَا زَوْجُهَا وَ هِيَ تَخُونُهُ وَ فَقُرٌ لَا يَجَدُ صَاحِبُهُ لَهُ مُدَاوِياً وَ جَارُ سَوْءٍ فِي دَارِ مُقَامٍ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Among what the Prophet^{-saww} had bequeathed to Ali^{-asws}: 'O Ali^{-asws}! Four (matters) are from breakers of the back – an imam (leader) disobeying Allah^{-azwj} and his orders are obeyed; and a wife whose husband protects her, and she betrays him; and a poverty whose owner cannot find a cure for it; and an evil neighbour in a house of staying''.³¹⁵

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Idrees, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Mahboub, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ali Bin Uqba Bin Khalid, from his father,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Sanctity of the Masjid is forty cubits (approx. 18 meters), and of the neighbour is forty houses from (all) four of its sides". ³¹⁶

7– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام الدَّقَّاقُ وَ السِّنَايِيُّ وَ الْمُكَتِّبُ جَمِيعاً عَنِ الْأَسَدِيِّ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحَسَنِيِّ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ أَبِي مُحْمُودٍ قَالَ قَالَ الرِّضَا عَ لَيْسَ مِنَّا مَنْ لَمْ يَأْمَنْ جَارُهُ بَوَائِقَهُ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}'**, may the greeting be upon him^{-asws} – Al Daqqaq and Al Sinany and Al Mukattib, altogether from Al Asady, from Sahl, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany, from Ibrahim Bin Abu Mahmoud who said.

'Al-Reza $^{-asws}$ said: 'He isn't from us $^{-asws}$, the one whose neighbour is not safe from his sufferings (harms)''. 317

 $^{^{313}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 3

³¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 4

³¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 5

 $^{^{\}rm 316}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 6

³¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 7

8- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي بإِسْنَادِ الْمُجَاشِعِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ صَلَوَاتُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِمْ قَالَ: قِيلَ لِلنَّبِيِّ ص يَا نَبِيَّ اللَّهِ أَ فِي الْمَالِ حَقٌّ سِوَى الزَّكَاةِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – By a chain of Al Majashie,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon them^{-asws}, said: 'It was said to the Prophet^{-saww}, 'O Prophet^{-saww} of Allah^{-azwj}! Is there any right regarding the wealth besides the Zakat?'

He^{-saww} said: 'Yes! Righteousness to the kinship when it turns around and helping the Muslim neighbour. He has not believed in me^{-saww}, the one who spends a night satiated while his Muslim neighbour is hungry'.

Then he-saww said: 'Jibraeel-as has not ceased to advise me-saww with the neighbour until I-saww thought that he-as would make him inherit''. 318

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Muawiya Bin Ammar,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I said to him-asws, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! What is a limit of the neighbour?'

He-asws said: 'Forty cubits (approx. 18 meters) from every side''. 319

10- ب، قرب الإسناد هَارُونُ عَنِ ابْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ جَعْقَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص قَالَ: ثَلَاثَةٌ هُنَّ أُمُّ الْفُوَاقِرِ سُلْطَانٌ إِنْ أَحْسَنْتَ إِلَيْهِ لَمْ يَشْكُرُ وَ إِنْ أَلَى حَسَنَةً دَفَنَهَا وَ لَمْ يُفْشِهَا وَ إِنْ رَأَى سَيِّئَةً أَظْهَرَهَا وَ أَذَاعَهَا وَ رَوْجَةٌ إِنْ شَهِدْتَ لَمْ تَقَرَّ عَيْنُكَ إِنْ شَهِدْتَ لَمْ تَقَرَّ عَيْنُكَ إِنْ شَهِدْتَ لَمْ تَقَرَّ عَيْنُكَ إِلَيْهِ لَمْ يَعْفِرُ وَ جَارٌ عَيْنُهُ تَرْعَاكَ وَ قَلْبُهُ يَنْعَاكَ إِنْ رَأَى حَسَنَةً دَفَنَهَا وَ لَمْ يُفْشِهَا وَ إِنْ رَأَى سَيِّئَةً أَظْهَرَهَا وَ أَذَاعَهَا وَ رَوْجَةٌ إِنْ شَهِدْتَ لَمْ تَقَرَّ عَيْنُكُ

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Haroun, from Ibn Ziyad,

'From Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three are' 'mother' of (top) back-breakers – a ruler if you are good to him, he does not thank and if you are bad to him, he does not Forgive; and a neighbour whose eyes take care of you and his heart flares at you. If he were to see a good deed (from you), he buries it and does not reveal it, and if he sees an

 $^{^{\}rm 318}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 8

 $^{^{319}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 9

evil deed, he reveals it and broadcasts it; and a wife, if she is present your eyes are not delighted by her, and if she is absent, you are not reassured to her". 320

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said to Is'haq Bin Ammar: 'Make your tongue for the hypocrite, and be sincere in your cordiality to the Momin, and if a Jew were to sit to /visit you, then be good in his sitting''.³²¹

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Fazalah, from Muawiya Bin Ammar, from Amro Bin Ikrima who said,

'I entered to see Abu Abdullah-asws. I said to him-asws, 'There is a neighbour of mine who hurts me'.

فَقَالَ ارْحَمْهُ

He-asws said: 'Have mercy on him''.

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'May Allah^{-azwj} not have Mercy on him!' He^{-asws} turned his^{-asws} face away from me'.

He said, 'I dislike to repeat it, so I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! He does with me, and does, and hurts me'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Do you view that if you were to uncover him, you will have fairness from him?'

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes, foremost upon him'.

³²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 10

³²¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 11

He^{-asws} said: 'Then that one is from the ones who envy the people upon what Allah^{-azwj} has Given them from His^{-azwj} Grace. When he sees a bounty upon anyone and there was a family for him, he makes his woe upon them, and if there does not happen to be any family for him, he makes his woe upon his servants, and there does not happen to be any servant for him, he stays awake at night and is enraged during his day.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, a man from the Helpers came to him^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! I have bought a house among the clan of so and so, and the closest of my neighbours is one I have no hope for his goodness nor am I safe from his evil".

He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} instructed Ali^{-asws}, and Salman^{-ra}, and Abu Zarr^{-ra}'.

He (the narrator) said, 'And I have forgotten one, and I think it was Al-Miqdad-ra'.

(He^{-asws}) said: 'He^{-saww} instructed them to call out in the Masjid at the top of their voices: 'There is no Eman for the one whose neighbour is not safe from his sufferings!'' They called out thrice.

Then he-saww instructed, so they called out: 'Every forty houses from in front of him, and from behind him, and from his right, and from his left, its dwellers are a neighbour for him!"³²²

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

.

 $^{^{\}rm 322}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 12

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'I^{-saww} seek Refuge with Allah^{-azwj} from an evil neighbour in a house of staying, his eyes watch you and his head dreads you. If he sees you with good, it saddens him, and if he sees you with evil, it cheers him''.³²³

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Abdullah Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Is'haq, from Ibrahim Bin Abu Raja'a who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'Good neighbourliness increases in the sustenance''. 324

(The book) 'Dawaat' of Al Rawandy -

'It is reported that a man came to the Prophet^{-saww} and said, 'My so and so neighbour is hurting me'.

He-saww said: 'Be patient upon his harm, restrain your harm from him'.

It was not long before he came and said, 'O Prophet-saww of Allah-azwj, he has died!'

He^{-saww} said: 'Suffice with the times as a preaching and suffice with the death as a separator''.³²⁵

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said in his^{-asws} bequest at his^{-asws} expiry: 'Allah^{-azwj}! Allah^{-azwj} regarding your neighbours, for it is a bequest of your Prophet^{-saww}. He^{-saww} did not cease to advise with them until we though he^{-saww} would make them inherit''.³²⁶

³²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 13

³²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 14

³²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 15

³²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 16

17- كنز، كنز ،كنز جامع الفوائد و تأويل الآيات الظاهرة الْكَرَاجُكِيُّ بِسَنَدٍ مَذْكُورٍ فِي الْمَنَاهِي عَنْ يُونُسَ بْنِ يَعْقُوبَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونً عَالَمَ اللَّهِ عَالَ: مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونُ مِنْ يُعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَالِعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مَلْعُونُ مِنْ لَعْلِيلُ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّعْلِقُونُ مِنْ لَعْلَالِ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عِلْعُلْعُلُونُ لَعْلِيلُ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عِلْمُ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللّ

(The books) 'Kanz Jamie Al Fawaaid', and 'Taweel Al Ayaat Al Zaahira' – Al Karajaky, by a chain mentioned in 'Al Mahahy', from Yunus Bin Yaqoub,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Accursed! Accursed is the one who hurts his neighbour!''³²⁷

³²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 9 H 17

Page 158 of 462

أبواب آداب العشرة مع الأصدقاء و فضلهم و أنواعهم و غير ذلك مما يتعلق بهم

CHAPTER ON ETIQUETTES OF THE DEALING WITH THE FRIENDS, AND THEIR MERITS, AND THEIR TYPES, AND OTHER THAN THAT FROM WHAT IS RELATED WITH THEM

باب 10 حسن المعاشرة و حسن الصحبة و حسن الجوار و طلاقة الوجه و حسن اللقاء و حسن البشر

CHAPTER 10 – GOODLY DEALING, AND GOODLY ACCOMPANIMENT, AND GOODLY NEIGHBOURLINESS, AND THE FRIENDLY FACE, AND GOODLY MEETINGS, AND GOODLY SMILE

الآيات

The Verses

البقرة وَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً

(Surah) Al Baqarah - and be saying to the people good words, [2:83]

النساء وَ اعْبُدُوا اللّهَ وَ لا تُشْرِكُوا بِهِ شَيْئاً وَ بِالْوالِدَيْنِ إِحْساناً وَ بِذِي الْقُرْبِي وَ الْيَتامى وَ الْمَساكِينِ وَ الْجَارِ ذِي الْقُرْبِي وَ الْجُنْبِ وَ الْجَنْبِ وَ ابْنِ السَّبِيلِ وَ مَا مَلَكَتْ أَيْمَانُكُمْ إِنَّ اللّهَ لا يُحِبُّ مَنْ كَانَ مُخْتالًا فَحُوراً

(Surah) Al Nisaa - And worship Allah and do not associate anything with Him and be good with the parents, and with the near of kin, and the orphans, and the needy, and your neighbourly relative and the alien neighbour, and the fellow companion, and the wayfarer, and those whom your right hands possess; surely Allah does not Love the one who was boastful, proud [4:36].

1- ج، الإحتجاج بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى أَبِي مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَسْكَرِيِّ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ: دَحَلَ مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ مُسْلِم بْنِ شِهَابٍ الزُّهْرِيُ عَلَى عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ ع وَ هُوَ كَثِيبٌ حَزِينٌ فَقَالَ لَهُ زَيْنُ الْعَابِدِينَ ع مَا بَالُكَ مَعْمُوماً

(The book) 'Al Ihtijaaj' -

By the chain to Muhammad Al-Askari^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Muhammad Bin Muslim Bin Shihab Al-Zuhry came to Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} and he was bleak, grieving. Zayn Al-Abideen^{-asws} said to him: 'What is that matter you are sorrowful?'

He said, 'O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Worries and grief are coming to me due to what I am being Tried with, from an aspect of envy of my Bounties and the greedy ones regarding me, and from what I Beseech Him^{-azwj} for, and from the one I have done favour to, but he is opposite to my thoughts (acts against me)'.

Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} (Zayn Al-Abideen^{-asws}) said to him: 'Protect your tongue, you will be able to control your brethren with it'.

Al-Zuhry said, 'O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww! I am good to them with what I release from my speech'.

Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws said: 'Far be it! Far be it! Beware of being fascinated from yourself with that and beware of speaking with what would precede to the hearts of its denial, and if there was an apology with you, so everyone who hears it would not be evil if you were to extend an apology to him'.

Then he-asws said: 'O Zuhry! The one whose intellect does not happen to be perfect of what is in it, his destruction would come easily, due to what is in it'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'O Zuhry! And what is upon you is that you should make the submitter from you to be at the status of your family members. You would make their elders to be at the status of your father and make their young ones to be at the status of your son and make the fathers from them to be at the status of your brother.

So which of these would you love to be unjust to? And which of these would you love to supplicate against? And which of these would you love to uncover his veil (private matters)?

And if Iblees^{-la}, may Allah^{-azwj} Curse him^{-la}, presents to you, that there is merit for you over anyone from the people of the Qiblah, so look at the one who was older than you and say, 'He has preceded me with the *Eman* and the righteous deeds, therefore he is better than me'.

And if he was younger than you, then say, 'I have preceded him with the (acts of) disobedience and the sins, therefore he is better than me'. And if he was a father (one of similar age to you), then say, 'I am certain of my sins, and in doubt of his affairs, so why should I leave my certainty for doubt regarding him?'

And if you were to see the Muslims revering you, and dignifying you, and venerating you, then say, 'This is a merit they are innovating with'. And if you see from them, disloyalty, and constriction from you, then say, 'This is which I innovated with (from the sins)'.

So, if you were to do that, Allah^{-azwj} would Ease your life upon you, and your friends would be a lot and your enemies would be few, and you would be happy with what is happening from their righteousness, and you would not regret upon what is happening from their disloyalty.

And know, that the most benevolent of the people to the people, is the one who was extra good upon them, and he was needless from them, chaste. And the most benevolent of the people after him, to them, is the one who is chaste (not asking) from them, and even though he is needy to them, for rather, the people of the world are desirous for the wealth.

Therefore, the one who does not challenge them with regards to what they are desirous for, they would be honourable to them, and the one who does not challenge them with regards to it and enables them (even more) from it (acquiring wealth), or from part of it, he would be the most honourable to them and most prestigious".³²⁸

2- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَّارِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الصَّلْتِ عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنِ ابْنِ خُمَيْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ فَيْسٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: ذَكَرَ عَلِيٌّ ع أَنَّهُ وَجَدَ فِي قَائِمَةِ سَيْف مِنْ سُيُوفِ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ صَحِيفَةً فِيهَا ثَلاَئَةُ أَحْرُفِ صِلْ مَنْ قَطَعَكَ وَ قُل الْتِقَّ وَ لَوْ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ وَ أَحْسِنْ إِلَى مَنْ أَسَاءَ إِلَيْكَ الْخَبَرَ.

-

³²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 1

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Abdullah Bin Al Salt, from Yunus, from Ibn Humeyd, from Ibn Qays,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Ali^{-asws} mentioned that he^{-asws} had found a parchment in a sheath of a sword from the swords of Rasool-Allah^{-saww} wherein were three phrases – maintain the one who cuts you off, and speak the truth and even if it was against yourself and be good to the one who is evil to you' – the Hadeeth''.³²⁹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Masrour, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Ibn Abat, from his uncle,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Isa Bin Maryam^{-as} said to one of his^{-as} companions: 'Whatever you don't like to be done to you, do not do it to anyone, and if anyone were to slap your right cheek, then give him the left (to slap)".³³⁰

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqah,

'From Ja'far-asws, from his-asws father-asws having said: 'Ali-asws accompanied a 'Zimmy' man (one under the responsibility of Al-Islam). The Zimmy said to him-asws, 'Where are you-asws intending (to do to), O servant of Allah-azwi?' He-asws said: 'I-asws am intending Al-Kufa'.

When the road diverged with the Zimmy, Ali-asws diverted to be with him. The Zimmy said to him-asws, 'Didn't you-asws claim that you-asws intended Al-Kufa?' He-asws said: 'Yes'.

The Zimmy said to him^{-asws}, 'But you^{-asws} have left the road!' He^{-asws} said to him: 'I^{-asws} do know'. He said to him^{-asws}, 'Why did you^{-asws} turn to be with me and you^{-asws} knew that?'

Ali-asws said to him: 'This is from the complete goodly accompaniment, that the man escorts his companion comfortably when he separates from him, and our Prophet-saww has instructed us like that'. He said, 'Like that!'

Page 162 of 462

 $^{^{\}rm 329}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 2

³³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 3

قَالَ قَالَ نَعَمْ

He (the narrator) said, 'He-asws said: 'Yes'.

The Zimmy said to him^{-asws}, 'There is no doubt rather you^{-asws} are following one who had followed the honourable conduct, and I testify that I am hereby upon your^{-asws} religion'.

The Zimmy return with Ali-asws. When he recognised him-asws, he became a Muslim". 331

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Ibn Tareyf, from Ibn Ulwan,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Twenty years of accompaniment is kinship''.332

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Suleyman Bin Ahmad Al Lakhmy, from Abdul Wahhab Bin Kharajah, from Abu Kureyb, from Ali Bin Hafs Al Absy, from Al-Hassan Bin Al-Husayn Al Alawy, from his father, from Al-Husayn Bin Zayd,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'After the Eman with Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, the head of the intellect is to become beloved to the people".³³³

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Mugheira, from his grandfather Al-Hassan, from Al Abbas Bin Aamir, from Salih Bin Saeed, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The people are two (types of) men – a Momin and an ignoramus, so neither hurt the Momin nor ignore the ignoramus, or you will become similar to him''.³³⁴

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – In a report of Al Amsh,

³³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 4

³³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 5

 $^{^{\}rm 333}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 6

³³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 7

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} after having mentioned the Imams^{-asws} and their^{-asws} religion being the devoutness and the chastity, until he^{-asws} said: 'And goodly accompaniment and goodly neighbourliness''.³³⁵

9- مع، معاني الأخبار أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ هَاشِمٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَعْبَدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنْ يَخْبَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ كَانَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ يَقُولُ لِتَجْمَعْ فِي قَلْبِكَ الِافْتِقَارَ إِلَى النَّاسِ وَ الِاسْتِغْنَاءَ عَنْهُمْ يَكُونُ افْتِقَارُكَ إِلَيْهِمْ فِي لِينِ كَلَامِكَ وَ حُسْنِ بِشْرِكَ وَ يَكُونُ اسْتِغْنَاؤُكَ عَنْهُمْ فِي نَزَاهَةِ عِرْضِكَ وَ بُسُولُ وَ يَكُونُ اسْتِغْنَاؤُكَ عَنْهُمْ فِي نَزَاهَةِ عِرْضِكَ وَ جُسْنِ بِشْرِكَ وَ يَكُونُ اسْتِغْنَاؤُكَ عَنْهُمْ فِي نَزَاهَةِ عِرْضِكَ وَ بَقَاءِ عِزَكَ.

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Hashim, from Ibn Ma'bad, from Ahmad Bin Umar, from Yahya Bin Imran,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws had said: 'Let there be gathered in your heart, the needlness to the people and the needlessness from them. Your needlness to them should be in softness in your talk, and your goodly smile; and your needlessness from them should be in integrity of your honour, and survival of your endearment". 336

From the Prophet-saww: 'It suffices as a fault with the person if he was to look from the people what he is blind about himself, and he faults the people with what he (himself) is not able to leave it, and he hurts his gatherer with what does not concern him". 337

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' –

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Best neighbour is your neighbour who happens to be a Muslim''.³³⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ali Bin Bilal, from Ali Bin Suleyman, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Malik, from Muhammad Al Musanna, from his father, from Usman Bin Zayd, from Al Mufazzal who said, '

'I entered to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said to me: 'Who accompanied you?' I said, 'A man from my brethren'.

He^{-asws} said: 'So what happened?' I said, 'Since I entered Al-Medina, I do not know his place'.

³³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 8

³³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 9 a

 $^{^{\}rm 337}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 9 b

³³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 10

فَقَالَ لِي أَ مَا عَلِمْتَ أَنَّ مَنْ صَحِبَ مُؤْمِناً أَرْبَعِينَ خُطُوَّةً سَأَلُهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ.

He^{-asws} said to me: 'Don't you know that the one who accompanies a Momin for forty steps, Allah^{-azwj} will Ask him about him on the Day of Qiyamah?''³³⁹

12- لي، الأمالي للصدوق أبي عَنْ عَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْمُغِيرَةِ عَنِ السَّكُونِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ آبَاثِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ص اعْمَلْ بِهَرَائِضِ اللَّهِ تَكُنْ أَوْرَعَ النَّاسِ وَ أَحْسِنْ مُجَاوَرَةَ مَنْ جَاوَرَكَ تَكُنْ مُؤْمِناً وَ أَحْسِنْ مُصَاحَبَةً مَنْ وَارْضَ بِقِسْمِ اللَّهِ تَكُنْ أَعْنَى النَّاسِ وَ كُفَّ عَنْ مُحَارِمِ اللَّهِ تَكُنْ أَوْرَعَ النَّاسِ وَ أَحْسِنْ مُجَاوَرَةَ مَنْ جَاوَرَكَ تَكُنْ مُؤْمِناً وَ أَحْسِنْ مُصَاحَبَةً مَنْ صَاحَبَكَ تَكُنْ مُسْلِماً.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq - My father, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Al Mugheira, from Al Sakuny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'Work with the obligation of Allah^{-azwj}, you will become most pious of the people, and be satisfied with the Apportionment of Allah^{-azwj}, you will become richest of the people, and refrain from Prohibitions of Allah^{-azwj}, you will become most devout of the people, and be a good neighbour to the one who is your neighbour, you will become a Momin, and be of good accompaniment to the one who accompanies you, you will become a Muslim".³⁴⁰

13- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام الدَّقَاقُ عَنِ الصُّوفِيّ عَنِ الرُّوبَانِيّ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحَسَنِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ الثَّانِي عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ أَمِير الْمُؤْمِنِينَ صَلَوَاتُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِمْ قَالَ: إِنَّكُمْ لَنْ تَسَعُوا النَّاسَ بِأَمْوَالِكُمْ فَسَعُوهُمْ بِطَلَاقَةِ الْوَجْهِ وَ حُسْنِ اللِّقَاءِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq, (and) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Al Daggag, from Al Sowfy, from Al Rowbani, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany,

'From Abu Ja'far (as.) the 2nd, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon them^{-asws}, said: 'You will never be able to please the people with your wealth, therefore please them with the friendly face and goodly meetings''.³⁴¹

14– سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ قَالَ سَمِغْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ أُوصِيكُمْ بِتَقْوَى اللّهِ وَ لَا تَحْمِلُوا النّاسَ عَلَى أَكْتَافِكُمْ فَتَذِلُوا إِنَّ اللّهَ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى يَقُولُ فِي كِتَابِهِ– وَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً عُودُوا مَرْضَاهُمْ وَ اشْهَدُوا جَنَائِرُهُمْ وَ اشْهَدُوا لَهُمْ وَ عَلَيْهِمْ وَ صَلُوا مَعْهُمْ فِي مَسَاجِدِهِمْ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Sinan who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'I^{-asws} advise you all with fearing Allah^{-azwj}, and do not carry the people upon your shoulders for you will be humiliated. Allah^{-azwj} the Blessed and Exalted is Saying in His^{-azwj} Book: *and be saying to the people good words, [2:83]*. Console your sick ones, and attend their funerals, and testify for them and against them, and pray Salat with them in their Masjids'.

ئُمُّ قَالَ أَيُّ شَيْءٍ أَشَدُّ عَلَى قَوْمٍ يَزْعُمُونَ أَثَمُّمْ يَأْتُمُّونَ بِقَوْمٍ فَيَأْمُرُوكُمْمْ وَ يَنْهَوْكُمْ فَلَا يَقْبَلُونَ مِنْهُمْ وَ يُذِيعُونَ حَدِيثَهُمْ عِنْدَ عَدُوهِمْ فَيَأْتِي عَدُوهُمْ إِلَيْنَا فَيَقُولُونَ لَنَا إِنَّ قَوْماً يَقُولُونَ وَ يَرْوُونَ عَنْكُمْ كَذَا وَ كَذَا فَنَحْنُ نَقُولُ إِنَّا بُرَآءُ مِثَّنْ يَقُولُ هَذَا فَيَقَعُ عَلَيْهِمُ الْبَرَاءَةُ.

 $^{^{339}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 11

³⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 12

³⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 13

Then he^{-asws} said: 'Which thing is severer upon a people? They are claiming that they are being led by a people^{-asws}, so they^{-asws} are instructing them and forbidding them, but they are not accepting from them^{-asws}, and they are broadcasting their^{-asws} Ahadeeth in the presence of their enemies. So their enemies comes to us^{-asws} and say to us^{-asws}, 'A group is saying and reporting from you^{-asws} all, such and such!' So we^{-asws} say: 'We^{-asws} are disavowed from the ones saying this'. So the disownment falls upon them''.³⁴²

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Hammad, from Hareyz, from Muhammad Bin Muslim,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'One whom you mingle with, if you are able for your hand (of favour) to be higher upon his, then do so''.³⁴³

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Ammar Bin Marwan Al Kalby who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} advised us. He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} hereby advise you with fearing Allah^{-azwj}, and fulfilling the entrustment, and truthful narration, and goodly accompaniment to you accompany, and there is neither any might nor strength except with Allah^{-azwj}, the Exalted, the Magnificent''.³⁴⁴

(The book) 'Misbah Al Sharia' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Goodly co-habitation (dealings) with the creatures of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, in other than the disobedience, is from additions Grace of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic with His^{-azwj} servant.

And the one who is humble in the private would be of goodly dealings in the open, therefore co-habit the people for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, and do not cohabit with them for your share from the world, and for seeking the honour, and the showing-off, and the reputation.

³⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 14

 $^{^{343}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 15 $\,$

³⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 16

And do not shy away by its cause from the limits of the Law from a door of equivalence, and the publicity, for they will not avail you of anything and you will lose your Hereafter without any benefit.

And make the one who is older than you to be at the status of the father, and the younger one at the status of the son, and the similar (of age) at the status of the brother; and do not leave doing with certainty from yourself with what you are doubting in from others.

And be friendly in your affairs with the acts of kindness, compassionate in your forbidding from the evil; and do not leave the goodly advising in any situation. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: *and be saying to the people good words, [2:83]*.

And cut-off from the one, connecting with him would make you forget the Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} and his familiarity would pre-occupy you from obedience of Allah^{-azwj}, for that one is from the friends of Satan^{-la} and his^{-la} assistants, and do not let your seeing them carry you to the complimenting upon the truth, for that, it is the manifest loss, the mighty, and you will lose the Hereafter without any benefit".³⁴⁵

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Abu Salih,

'From Ibn Abbas regarding Words of Allah^{-azwj}: 'and your neighbourly relative [4:36], he said, 'With kinship'. and the alien neighbour, he said, 'The one, there isn't any relationship between you and him'. and the fellow companion, he said, 'The companion in the journey".³⁴⁶

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} regarding His^{-azwj} Words: **and be saying to the people good words, [2:83]**. He^{-asws} said: 'Say to the people as goodly as you would like it to be said to you, for Allah^{-azwj} Hates the cursing one, the reviling one, the one taunting upon the Momineen, the obscene,

 $^{^{345}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 17

 $^{^{346}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 18

the inquisitive questioner, and He^{-azwj} Loves the bashful, the gentle, the chaste, the virtuous".³⁴⁷

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'Fear Allah^{-azwj} and do not carry the people upon your shoulders. Allah^{-azwj} is Saying in His^{-azwj} Book: **and be saying to the people good words, [2:83]**'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And console your sick ones, and attend their funerals, and pray Salat with them in their Masjid until the breath is cut off, and until the separation takes place''.³⁴⁸

(The book) 'Al Saraair', in (the book) 'Jamie' of Al Bazanty, from Amy Al Rabie Al Shamy who said,

'We were in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} and the house was full with its people. He^{-asws} said: 'He isn't from us^{-asws}, one who is not of goodly accompaniment with the one who accompanies him, and friendly with the one who is friendly with him, and good table-manners with the one who eats with him, and mannerly with the one having good manners with him''.³⁴⁹

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Marouf, from Ibn Mahziyar, from Ibn Mahboub, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al-Husayn Bin Mus'ab, from Ibn Tareyf,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Be good by your tongue with the hypocrite, and be sincere by your cordiality to the Momin, and if a Jew were to sit with you, then be good in his sitting''. 350

23- جا، المجالس للمفيد بِهَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ عَنْ أَبَانٍ عَنِ ابْنِ سَيَابَةَ عَنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: مَنْ تَفَقَّدَ تُفُقِّدَ وَ مَنْ لَا يُعِدَّ الصَّبْرُ لِفَوَاجِع الدَّهْرِ يَعْجِزْ وَ إِنْ قَرَّضْتَ النَّاسَ قَرَّصُوكَ وَ إِنْ تَرَكْتَهُمْ لَمْ يُتْرَكُوكَ

³⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 19

 $^{^{348}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 20

 $^{^{349}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 21

³⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 22

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – By this chain, from Ibn Mahziyar, from Fazalah, from Aban, from Ibn Sayaba, from Al Numan,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'One who inquires will be inquired about, and one who does not prepare for the calamities of the times will be frustrated, and if you lend to the people they will lend to you, and if you leave them, they will not leave you!'

قَالَ فَكَيْفَ أَصْنَعُ

He (the narrator) said, 'So how (what) shall I do?'

قَالَ أَقْرِضْهُمْ مِنْ عِرْضِكَ لِيَوْمِ فَاقْتِكَ وَ فَقْرِكَ.

He-asws said: 'Lend them from your honour for a Day of your destitution and your poverty". 351

24- جا، المجالس للمفيد بِمَدَا الْإِسْنَادِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ حَدِيدٍ عَنْ مُرَازِمٍ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع عَلَيْكُمْ بِالصَّلَاةِ فِي الْمَسْجِدِ وَ حُسْنِ الجُّوَارِ لِلنَّاسِ وَ إِقَامَةِ الشَّهَادَةِ وَ حُضُورِ الجُّنَائِرِ إِنَّهُ لَا بُدَّ لَكُمْ مِنَ النَّاسِ إِنَّ أَحَداً لَا يَسْتَغْنِي عَنِ النَّاسِ حَيَاتُهُ

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – By this chain, from Ibn Mahziyar, from Ali Bin Hadeed, from Murazim who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Upon you all is with praying the Salat in the Masjid, and goodly neighbourliness to the people, and establishing the testimony, and attending the funerals. Surely, there is not escape for you from the people! No one can be needless of the people during his lifetime.

فَأَمَّا خُنُ نَأْتِي جَنَائِرُهُمْ وَ إِنَّمَا يَشْبَغِي لَكُمْ أَنْ تَصْنَعُوا مِثْلَ مَا يَصْنَعُ مَنْ تَأْتُمُونَ بِهِ وَ النَّاسُ لَا بُدَّ لِبَعْضِهِمْ مِنْ بَعْضٍ مَا دَامُوا عَلَى هَذِهِ الْحَالِ حَتَّى يَكُونَ ذَلِكَ ثُمَّ يَنْقَطِعُ كُلُ قَوْمٍ إِلَى أَهْلِ أَهْوَائِهِمْ

As for us^{-asws}, we^{-asws} go to their funerals, and rather it is befitting for you all to do like what is done by the one^{-asws} you are being led by, and the people have no escape from each other for as long as they are upon this state until that (death) happens, then every people will be cut off to the people of their opinions'.

ثُمُّ قَالَ عَلَيْكُمْ بِحُسْنِ الصَّلَاةِ وَ اعْمَلُوا لِآخِرَتِكُمْ وَ احْتَارُوا لِأَنْفُسِكُمْ فَإِنَّ الرَّجُلَ قَدْ يَكُونُ كَيِّساً فِي أَمْرِ الدُّنْيَا فَيُقَالُ مَا أَكْيَسَ فُلَاناً وَ إِنَّمَا الْكَيِّسُ كَيِّسُ كَيِّسُ الآجِرَة.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'Upon you all is with good Salat, and working for your Hereafter, and choose for yourselves, for the man could happen to be clever regarding affairs of the world, so it is said, 'How clever is so and so!' And rather, the clever is the ones clever regarding the Hereafter''.³⁵²

Page 169 of 462

 $^{^{351}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 23

³⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 24

25- كِتَابُ صِفَاتِ الشِّيعَةِ، لِلصَّدُوقِ ره بإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ قَالَ: سَلَّمْنَا عَلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع بِمِنَى ثُمُّ قُلْتُ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللهِ إِنَّا قَوْمٌ مُجُتَّازُونَ لَسْنَا نُطِيقُ هَذَا الْمَجْلِسَ مِنْكَ كُلَّمَا أَرْدُنَاهُ فَأَوْصِنَا

(The book) 'Kitab Al Shia' of Al Sadouq – By h is chain from Abdullah Bin Ziyad who said,

'We greeted unto Abu Abdullah^{-asws} at Mina, then I said, 'O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! We are a people passing by. We cannot endure this gathering from you^{-asws}. Every time we arrive, then advise us!'

قَالَ عَلَيْكُمْ بِتَقْوى اللهِ وَ صِدْقِ الْحَدِيثِ وَ أَدَاءِ الْأَمَانَةِ وَ حُسْنِ الصِّحَابَةِ لِمَنْ صَحِبَكُمْ وَ إِفْشَاءِ السَّلَامِ وَ إِطْعَامِ الطَّعَامِ صَلُّوا فِي مَسَاحِدِهِمْ وَ عُودُوا مَرْضَاهُمْ وَ اتَّبِعُوا جَنَائِرَهُمْ

He^{-asws} said: 'Upon you all is with fearing Allah^{-azwj}, and truthful narration, and fulfilling the entrustment, and goodly accompaniment to the one who accompanies you, and initiate the greetings, and feed the food. Pray Salat in their Masjids, and console their sick ones, and follow their funerals.

فَإِنَّ أَبِي حَدَّثَنِي أَنَّ شِيعَتَنَا أَهْلَ الْبَيْتِ كَانُوا خِيَارَ مَنْ كَانُوا مِنْهُمْ إِنْ كَانَ فَقِيةٌ كَانَ مِنْهُمْ وَ إِنْ كَانَ مُؤْذِنٌ كَانَ مِنْهُمْ وَ إِنْ كَانَ مِنْهُمْ وَ كَذَلِكَ كُونُوا حَبَبُونَا إِلَى النَّاسِ وَ لَا تُبَغِّضُونَا إِلَيْهِمْ.

Surely, my^{-asws} father^{-asws} narrated to me^{-asws}: 'Our^{-asws} Shias of People^{-asws} of the Household, would be the best of the one they were to be from. If there was a jurist it would be from them, and if there was a Muezzin it would be from them, and if there was a prayer leader it would be from them, and if there was one of entrustment it would be from them, and if there was a trustee it would be from them, and like that you should be. Make us^{-asws} to be beloved to the people and do not make us^{-asws} to be hateful to them".³⁵³

26- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْمُوسَوِيِّ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ نَجِيدٍ اللّهِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ جَبَلَةَ عَنْ جُمِّدُ بِن يَرِيدَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ عَ قَالَ: لَمَّا احْتُضِرَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع جَمَعَ بَنِيهِ حَسَناً وَ حُسَيْناً وَ ابْنَ الْحَيُفِيَّةِ وَ الْأَصَاغِرَ مِنْ وُلْدِهِ بُنْ يُرِيدَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ عَ قَالَ: لَمَّا احْتُضِرَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع جَمَعَ بَنِيهِ حَسَناً وَ حُسَيْناً وَ ابْنَ الْحُيَفِيَّةِ وَ الْأَصَاغِرَ مِنْ وُلْدِهِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Jafar Bin Muhammad Al Musawy, from Ubeydullah Bin Ahmad Bin Naheyk, from Abdullah Bin Jabalah, from Humeyd Bin Shueyb Al Hamdany, from Jabir Bin Yazeed,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'When (death) presented to Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}, he^{-asws} his^{-asws} sons^{-asws} Hassan^{-asws} and Husayn^{-asws}, and Ibn Al-Hanafiya, and the young ones from his^{-asws} children.

فَوَصَّاهُمْ وَكَانَ فِي آخِرِ وَصِيَّتِهِ يَا بَنِيَّ عَاشِرُوا النَّاسَ عِشْرَةً إِنْ غِبْتُمْ حَنُّوا إِلَيْكُمْ وَ إِنْ فَقِدْتُمْ بَكُوا عَلَيْكُمْ

He bequeathed to them, and it was at the end of his-asws bequest: 'O my-asws sons! Co-habit with the people with such co-habitation, if you were to be absent, they will yearn to you, and if they lose you (to death) they will cry upon you.

-

³⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 25

يَا بُنَيَّ إِنَّ الْقُلُوبَ جُنُودٌ مُجَنَّدَةٌ تَتَلَاحَظُ بِالْمَوَدَّةِ وَ تَتَنَاجَى هِمَا وَ كَذَلِكَ هِيَ فِي الْبُغْضِ فَإِذَا أَحْبَبْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ مِنْ غَيْرٍ خَيْرٍ سَبَقَ مِنْهُ إِلَيْكُمْ فَارْجُوهُ وَ إِذَا أَبْغَضْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ مِنْ غَيْر سُوءٍ سَبَقَ مِنْهُ إِلَيْكُمْ فَاحْذَرُوهُ.

O my^{-asws} sons! The hearts are conscripted armies. They notice with the cordiality, and you can whisper by these, and these are like that regarding the hatred. When you were to love the man from without any good having preceded from him to you, then trust him, and when you were to hate them – the man from without any evil having preceded from him to you, be careful of him".³⁵⁴

27- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ الْمَوْصِلِيّ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْمَوْصِلِيّ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْمَوْصِلِيّ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ اللّهِ عَنْ الْمَوْصِلِيّ عَنْ الْمُعَمَّشِ عَنْ شَقِيقٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص أَجِيبُوا الدَّاعِيّ وَ عُودُوا الْمَرِيضَ وَ اقْبَلُوا الْهَدِيَّةَ وَ لَا تَظْلِمُوا الْمُسْلِمِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ali Bin Ismail Al Mowsily, from Ali Bin Al-Hassan Al Abdy, from Al-Hassan Bin Bishr, from Qays Bin Al Rabie, from A l Amsh, from Shaqeeq,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Answer the callers, and console the sick, and accept the gift, and do not oppress the Muslims!"³⁵⁵

(The book) 'Nahi Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'The friend cannot be a friend until he protects his brother (friend) in three occasions – during his adversity, and his absence, and his expiry''.³⁵⁶

And he-asws said: 'One who fulfils a right of the one who does not fulfil his right, so he has worshipped him'.

And he assume said: 'In the changes of the situations, the essences of the men are known'. 357

And he-asws said: 'Envy of the friend is from sickness of the cordiality". 358

 $^{^{354}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 26

³⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 27

³⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 1

 $^{^{\}rm 357}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 2

³⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 3

And he^{-asws} said: 'It isn't from the justice, the judgment based upon reliance with the conjecture".³⁵⁹

And he-asws said: 'One who obeys the slanderer wastes (loses) the friend''. 360

```
وَ قَالَ عِ أَصْدِقَاؤُكَ ثَلَاثَةٌ وَ أَعْدَاؤُكَ ثَلَاثَةٌ فَأَصْدِقَاؤُكَ صَدِيقُكَ وَ صَدِيقُ صَدِيقِكَ وَ عَدُوُ عَدُوكَ وَ أَعْدَاؤُكَ عَدُوُكَ وَ عَدُوُ صَدِيقِكَ وَ صَدِيقُ عَدُوكَ.
```

And he^{-asws} said: 'Your friends are three and your enemies are three. Your friend is your friend, and friend of your friend, and enemy of your enemy; and your enemy is your enemy, and enemy of your friend, and friend of your enemy''.³⁶¹

```
وَ قَالَ عِ الْقَرَابَةُ إِلَى الْمَوَدَّةِ أَحْوَجُ مِنَ الْمَوَدَّةِ إِلَى الْقَرَابَةِ.
```

And he^{-asws} said: 'The relationship is needier to the cordiality (friendliness) than the cordiality is to the relationship''.³⁶²

And he-asws said: 'The needlessness from the apologising is dearer than the truthfulness with it (true apology)''. 363

وَ قَالَ عِ اخْبُرْ تَقْلِهُ

And he-asws said: 'Test, you will hate him'.

وَ مِنَ النَّاسِ مَنْ رَوَى هَذَا لِرَسُولِ اللَّهِ وَ مِمَّا يُقُوِّي أَنَّهُ مِنْ كَلَامِ أَمِيرِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع مَا حَكَاهُ تَغْلِبُ عَنِ ابْنِ الْأَعْرَابِيِّ قَالَ قَالَ الْمَأْمُونُ لَوْ لَا أَنَّ عَلِيّاً ع قَالَ الحُبُرْ تَقْلِهُ لَقُلْتُ أَنَا اقْلِهِ تَخْبُرْ.

(The compiler) said, 'And from the people there is one who has reported this for Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, and from what is stronger, it is from the speech of Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} what Taghlib has narrated from Ibn Al-Araby. Al-Mamoun (Al-Rasheed) said, 'If Ali^{-asws} had not said, 'Test, you will hate him', I would have said, 'Hate him, you will know''. 364

وَ قَالَ عِ أَوْلَى النَّاسِ بِالْكَرَمِ مَنْ عَرَّقَتْ فِيهِ الْكِرَامُ.

 $^{^{359}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 4

 $^{^{360}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 5

³⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 6

³⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 7

 $^{^{363}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 8

³⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 /9

And he^{-asws} said: 'The foremost of the people with the honour is one the honour flows in him (his veins)".³⁶⁵

And he-asws said: 'Your staying back regarding the one desirous in you is a loss of intellect, and your desire regarding the one staying back regarding you is a humiliation of self''. 366

And he-asws said: 'The evilest of the brothers is one there is formality for him'. 367

And he-asws said: 'When the man intimidates his brother, so he has separated from him'. 368

And he-asws said: 'The companion is (one who is) appropriate, and the friend is one whose absence ratifies (his presence); sometimes the remote one is closer than the near one and a near one is further than the remote one.

And stranger is one who does not happen to have a beloved for him; and cutting off the ignoramus equates to connecting with the intellectual; and the one who does not care of you, so he is your enemy; there is neither any good in a demeaning assistance nor in an ignoble friend".³⁶⁹

(The book) 'Kanz' of Al Karajaky -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'The people are brothers. The one whose brotherhood is regarding other than the Self of Allah^{-azwj}, so it is enmity, and that is the Word of Mighty and Majestic: *The friends on that Day would be enemies of each other, except for the pious* [43:67]". ³⁷⁰

 $^{^{365}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 10

 $^{^{366}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 11

³⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 12

 $^{^{368}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 13

 $^{^{369}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 28 / 14

 $^{^{370}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 1

And he^{-asws} said: 'Be sincere to your brother in the advice, whether it was good or ugly, and incline with him wherever he may incline, and do not demand the reciprocation from it for it is from the lowly traits''.³⁷¹

And he^{-asws} said: 'Exert to your friend every cordiality, and do not exert to him every reassurance, and give him every consolation and do not divulge to him every secret, fulfilling the wisdom of its right and to the friend is obligatory". ³⁷²

And he-asws said: 'Do not let your brother be stronger than you upon his cordiality". 373

وَ قَالَ عِ الْبَشَاشَةُ مُخُّ الْمَوَدَّةِ.

And he-asws: 'The cheerfulness is brain (core) of the cordiality''. 374

وَ قَالَ عِ الْمَوَدَّةُ قَرَابَةٌ مُسْتَفَادَةٌ.

And he-asws said: 'The cordiality is a beneficial relationship''. 375

And he-asws said: 'Do not let the conjecture spoil you upon a friend, the certainty is rectifying it for you''.

And he-asws said: 'It suffices for you as a discipline for yourself what your dislike for others". 376

And he-asws said: 'For your brother upon you is similar to that which is for you upon him'.' 377

 $^{^{371}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 2

 $^{^{372}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 3

 $^{^{373}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 4

³⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 5

 $^{^{375}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 6

 $^{^{\}rm 376}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 7

³⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 8

And he^{-asws} said: 'Do not waste a right of your brother relying upon what is between you and him, for he isn't a brother for you, one whose right you have wasted, nor let your family be the most wretched of the people with you.

Accept the excuse of your brother and even if there does not happen to be any excuse for him, nor should one of you encumber the demand to his brother when he recognises his neediness, nor be desirous regarding the one who abstains regarding you, nor be abstaining regarding the one who is desirous regarding you, whenever there were to be a place for the protection, do not frequent the faulting for it inherits the grudges and pulls to the hatred, and frequenting it is from the evil etiquettes". 378

And he^{-asws} said: 'Have mercy on your brother and even if he were to disobey you and connect with him and even if he were to forsake (abandon) you''.³⁷⁹

And he-asws said: 'Tolerate a slip of your friend for a time your enemy pounces". 380

And he^{-asws} said: 'One who preaches his brother privately, so he has adorned him, and the one who preaches to him openly, so he has shamed him''. ³⁸¹

And from him -

'It is reported that Al-Sadiq^{-asws} used to give example with these two couplets many a time:

'Your brother is the one who, even if you were to come with the sword deliberately to hit him, he would not deceive you in the cordiality, and if you were to come to him calling him to the death, he would not repel you, the rejection to remain upon you".³⁸²

 $^{^{378}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 9

 $^{^{379}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 10

 $^{^{380}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 11

 $^{^{381}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 29 / 12

³⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 30 / 1

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Whenever one of you establishes brotherhood to a man, let him ask him about his name, and name of his father, and his tribe, and his house, for it is from the obligatory right, and clear brotherhood, or else it is a foolish cordiality''.³⁸³

وَ عَنْ أَمِيرٍ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع احْذَرِ الْعَاقِلَ إِذَا أَغْضَبْتَهُ وَ الْكَرِيمَ إِذَا أَهَنْتَهُ وَ النَّذْلَ إِذَا أَكْرَمْقَهُ وَ الْجُاهِلَ إِذَا صَاحَبْتَهُ وَ مَنْ كَفَّ عَنْكَ شَرَّهُ فَاصْنَعْ مَا سَرَّهُ وَ مَنْ أَمِنْتَ مِنْ أَذِيْتِهِ فَارْغَبْ فِي أَحُوْتِهِ.

And from Amir Momineen^{-asws}: 'Be cautious of the intellectual when you anger him, and the benevolent when you insult him, and the lowly when you honour him, and the ignoramus when you accompany him; and the one who restrains his evil from you, do what cheers him; and the one you are safe from his harm, be desirous regarding his brotherhood". 384

31- أَعْلَامُ الدِّينِ، رَوَتْ أُمُّ هَانِي بِنْتُ أَبِي طَالِبٍ ع عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ص أَنَّهُ قَالَ: يَأْتِي عَلَى النَّاسِ زَمَانٌ إِذَا سَمِعْتَ بِاسْمِ رَجُلٍ حَيْرٌ مِنْ أَنْ تَلْقَاهُ فَإِذَا لَقِيتَهُ حَيْرٌ مِنْ أَنْ بُحْرَبُهُ وَ لَوْ جَرِّبْتُهُ أَظْهَرَ لَكَ أَحْوَالًا

(The book) 'A'alam Al Deen' -

'It is reported by Umm Hany^{-as}, daughter^{-as} of Abu Talib^{-asws}, from the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'There shall come a time upon the people when you're hearing a name of a man would be better than meeting him. Then, meeting him would be better than experiencing him, and if you were to experience him, situations will be revealed to you -

Their religion will be their Dirhams, and their concerns will be their bellies, and their Qiblahs will be their women. They will be bowing (performing Ruk'u) to the loaves of bread and prostrating (doing Sajdah) to the Dirham (money). Bewildered, intoxicated, neither Muslims nor Christians".³⁸⁵

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Do not pursue your brother with bad talk after the cutting off, for you will block the path upon him for the return to you. Perhaps the experience will return him to you". 386

32-كِتَابُ الْإِمَامَةِ وَ التَّبْصِرَةِ، عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ مِصْوَرَة، عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُوسَى بْنِ مِعْفَمٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص رَاحَةُ النّفْس تَرْكُ مَا لَا يَغْنِيهَا وَ أَوْحَشُ الْوَحْشَةِ قَرِينُ السَّوْءِ.

³⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 30 / 2

 $^{^{384}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 30 / 3

 $^{^{385}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 31 / 1

³⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 31 / 2

(The book) 'Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' – from Sahl Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ash'as, from Musa Bin Ismail,

'Son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Rest for the soul is neglecting whatever does not concern it, and loneliest of the loneliness is the evil pair (partner/spouse)".³⁸⁷

33- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الحُسَيْنُ بْنُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ وَهْبَانَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ حَبَشِيٍّ عَنِ الْعَبَّاسِ بْنِ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْهُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ يُحْيَى وَ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ أَبِي غُنْدَرٍ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ يَقُولُ اللَّهَ وَ عَلَيْكُمْ بِالطَّاعَةِ لِأَثِمَتِكُمْ قُولُوا مَا يَقُولُونَ وَ اصْمُتُوا عَمَّا صَمَتُوا فَإِنَّكُمْ فِي سُلْطَانِ مَنْ قَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى- وَ إِنْ كَانَ مَكْرُهُمْ لِتَرُولَ مِنْهُ الْجِيالُ يَعْنِي بِذَلِكَ وُلْدَ الْعَبَّاسِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Wahban, from Ali Bin Habashi, from Al Abbas Bin Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from his father, from Sadwan Bin Yahya, and Ja'far Bin Isa, from Al-Husayn Bin Abu Gundar, from Abu Baseer who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Fear Allah^{-azwj}, and upon you all with the obedience to your Imams^{-asws}. Say what they^{-asws} are saying and be silent from what they^{-asws} are silent from, for you are in the authority of the one Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Said: *and even though their plots were such that the mountains would have moved from it [14:46]* – meaning by that the sons of Al-Abbas (Abbasids).

فَاتَّقُوا اللَّهَ فَإِنَّكُمْ فِي هُدْنَةٍ صَلُوا فِي عَشَائِرِهِمْ وَ اشْهَدُوا جَنَائِزَهُمْ وَ أَدُّوا الْأَمَانَةَ إِلَيْهِمْ وَ عَلَيْكُمْ بِحَجِّ هَذَا الْبَيْتِ فَأَدْمِنُوهُ فَإِنَّ فِي إِدْمَانِكُمُ الْحَجَّ دَفْعَ مَكَارِهِ الدُّنْيَا عَنْكُمْ وَ أَهْوَالِ يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ.

Therefore fear Allah^{-azwj} for you are in a truce. Pray Salat in their communities, and attend their funerals, and fulfil the entrustments to them, and upon you is with performing Hajj of this House (Kabah), so be habitual of it, for in your being habitual of it is repellent of abhorrences of the world away from you and horrors of the Day of Qiyamah''. 388

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Al-Baqir^{-asws} said: 'The correct affair of the people, the co-existence and the co-habitation, a line of measure, two-thirds of it is discernment (judgment) and a third of it is disregard". 389

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws}: 'One who honours you, so honour him, and one who takes you lightly, then honour yourself away from him'.³⁹⁰

وَ قَالَ الرِّضَا عِ اصْحَبِ السُّلْطَانَ بِالْحَذَرِ وَ الصَّدِيقَ بِالتَّوَاصُعِ وَ الْعَدُوَّ بِالنَّحَرُّزِ وَ الْعَامَّةَ بِالْبِشْرِ.

³⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 32

 $^{^{388}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 33

 $^{^{\}rm 389}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 34 a

³⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 34 b

And Al-Reza^{-asws} said: 'Accompany the ruler with the caution, and the friend with the humbleness, and the enemy with the protection, and the generality with the smile". ³⁹¹

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'The cheerfulness is a rope of the cordiality, and tolerance is a grave of the faults''.³⁹²

And in another report: 'The reconciliation is a hider of faults''. 393

And he-asws said: 'Mingle with the people with such mingling, if you were to die, they would cry upon you, and if you were to live, they would yearn to you''. 394

And he-asws said: 'Mutual coordiality is half the intellect''. 395

And he-asws said: 'One whose trunk is soft, his branches would be thick". 396

And he-asws said: 'Nearness to the people in their mannerisms is a safety from their evils''. 397

And he^{-asws} said: 'Model your young ones with your elders, and let your elders be recognised by your young one, and do not be like the harsh ones of the pre-Islamic period, neither were their pondering in the religion nor were they using their intellects about Allah^{-azwj}''. 398

³⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 34 c

³⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 a

³⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 b

³⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 c

³⁹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 d

³⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 e

 $^{^{397}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 f

³⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 g

وَ قَالَ ع فِي وَصِيَّتِهِ لِابْيهِ الْحَسَنِ ع الحُمِلْ نَفْسَكَ مِنْ أَخِيكَ عِنْدَ صَرْمِهِ عَلَى الصِّلَةِ وَ عِنْدَ صُدُودِهِ عَلَى النَّلْوِ وَ وَلَّهُ عَلَيْكَ وَ الْمُقَارَبَةِ وَ عِنْدَ جُمُودِهِ عَلَى الْبُذْرِ حَتَّى كَأَنَّكَ لَهُ عَبْدٌ وَكَأَنَّهُ ذُو نِعْمَةِ عَلَيْكَ-

And he^{-asws} said in a bequest to his^{-asws} son^{-asws} Al-Hassan^{-asws}: 'Carry yourself^{-asws} upon the connecting with your brother during his cutting off, and upon the kindness during his abandoning and the drawing closer, and upon the spending during his miserliness, and the approaching during his distancing, and the gentleness during his harshness, and the excusing during his offending, to the extent as if you^{-asws} are a servant for him and as if he is one with the favours upon you^{-asws}.

وَ إِيَّاكَ أَنْ تَضَعَ ذَلِكَ فِي غَيْرِ مَوْضِعِهِ أَوْ أَنْ تَفْعَلَهُ بِغَيْرِ أَهْلِهِ لَا تَتَّخِذَنَّ عَدُوَّ صَدِيقِكَ صَدِيقاً فَتُعَادِيَ صَدِيقاً وَ امْحُضْ أَحَاكَ النَّصِيحَةَ حَسَنَةً كَانَتْ أَوْ قَبِيحَةً وَ تَجَرَّعِ الْغَيْظَ فَإِيِّى لَمْ أَرَ جُرْعَةً أَحْلَى مِنْهَا عَاقِبَةً وَ لَا أَلَذَّ مَغَبَّةً

And beware of doing that in other than its (appropriate) place, or if you^{-asws} were to do it to other than its rightful one; and do not take an enemy of your^{-asws} friend as a friend, you will antagonise your^{-asws} friend; and be sincere to your^{-asws} friend with the advice, where it were to be good or ugly; and swallow the anger for I^{-asws} have not seen any gulp sweeter than it in consequence nor more pleasurable in consequence.

وَ لِنْ لِمَنْ غَالَظَكَ فَإِنَّهُ يُوشِكُ أَنْ يَلِينَ لَكَ وَ حُمْدْ عَلَى عَدُوِّكَ بِالْفَصْلِ فَإِنَّهُ [أَحَدُ] أَحْلَى الظَّفَرَيْنِ وَ إِنْ أَرَدْتَ قَطِيعَةَ أَخِيكَ فَاسْتَبْقِ لَهُ مِنْ نَفْسِكَ بَقِيَّةً يَرْجِعُ إِلَيْهَا إِنْ بَدَا لَهُ ذَلِكَ يَوْماً مَا

And be lenient to the one harsh to you^{-asws}, for very soon he will be lenient to you^{-asws}; and take the grace upon your^{-asws} enemy for it is sweeter of the two victories; and if you^{-asws} want to cut off from your^{-asws} friend, then leave a spot for him from yourself for him to return to, if that were to occur for him one day.

وَ مَنْ ظَنَّ بِكَ حَيْراً فَصَدِّقْ ظَنَّهُ وَ لَا تُضِيعَنَّ حَقَّ أَخِيكَ اتِّكَالًا عَلَى مَا بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ فَإِنَّهُ لَيْسَ لَكَ بِأَخٍ مَنْ أَضَعْتَ حَقَّهُ وَ لَا يَكُنْ أَهْلُكَ أَشْقَى الْخُلْقِ بِكَ

And one who thinks goodly with you^{-asws}, then ratify his thinking, and do not waste a right of your^{-asws} brother relying upon what (issues) there are between you^{-asws} and him, for he isn't a brother to you^{-asws} one who wastes his right; and your^{-asws} family should not be the most miserable of the people due to you^{-asws}.

وَ لَا تَرْغَبَنَّ فِيمَنْ زَهِدَ عَنْكَ وَ لَا يَكُونَنَّ أَخُوكَ أَقْوَى عَلَى قَطِيعَتِكَ مِنْكَ عَلَى صِلَتِهِ وَ لَا تَكُونَنَّ عَلَى الْإِسَاءَةِ أَقْوَى مِنْكَ عَلَى الْإِحْسَانِ وَ لَا يَكُبُرَنَّ عَلَى الْإِحْسَانِ وَ لَا يَكْبُرَنَّ عَلَى الْإِحْسَانِ وَ لَا يَكُبُرُنَّ عَلَى الْعَنَاءِ. عَلَيْكَ ظُلْمُ مَنْ ظَلَمَكَ فَإِنَّهُ يَسْعَى فِي مَضَرَّتِهِ وَ نَفْعِكَ وَ لَيْسَ جَزَاءُ مَنْ سَرَّكَ أَنْ تَسُوءَهُ إِلَى قَوْلِهِ عِ مَا أَقْبُحَ الْخُصُوعَ عِنْدَ الْخَنَاءِ.

And do not be desirous regarding the one who is abstemious from you^{-asws}, nor should your^{-asws} brother be stronger upon cutting off from you^{-asws} than you^{-asws} are upon connecting with him, nor should he be stronger of the evil than you^{-asws} are upon the good; and do not let it be grievous upon you^{-asws} an injustice of the one who is unjust to you^{-asws}, for he is striving in his harm and is benefitting you^{-asws}; and a recompense of the one who cheers you^{-asws} isn't

that you^{-asws} should worsen him – up to his^{-asws} words: How ugly it is, the humbleness during the need and the harshness during the riches'. ³⁹⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Al-Hassan Bin Al-Husayn who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'O sons of Abdul Muttalib^{-as}! You will never afford the people with your wealth, so meet them with the friendly face and the goodly smile''.⁴⁰⁰

And it is reported from Al Qasim Bin Yahya, from his grandfather Al-Hassan Bin Rashid,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, except that he-saww said: 'O clan of Hashim-as!"401

37-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِلَّةِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ سَمَاعَةَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عِ قَالَ: ثَلَاثٌ مَنْ أَتَى اللَّه بِوَاحِدَةٍ مِنْهُنَّ أَوْجَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ الْجُنْهَ الْإِنْصَافُ مِنْ نَفْسِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad, from Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at Bin Mihran,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Three (matters), one who come to Allah^{-azwj} with one of these, Allah^{-azwj} will Obligate the Paradise for him – the spending from financial difficulties, and the smiling to entirety of the world, and the fairness from himself". ⁴⁰²

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Mahboub, from Hisham Bin Salim, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'A man came to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, advise me!'

It was among what he^{-saww} advised him, he^{-saww} said: 'Meet your brother with an open (friendly) face''.⁴⁰³

³⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 35 h

⁴⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 36 a

⁴⁰¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 36 b

 $^{^{402}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 37

⁴⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 38

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By a chain from Ibn Mahboub, from one of his companions,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'What is a limit of the good manners?'

He-asws said: 'Soften your wings (be humble), and make good your speech, and meet your brother with a goodly smile".404

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Hammad, from Rabie, from Al Fuzeyl,

'He-asws said: 'Doing the act of kindness and the goodly smile both earn the love and (cause) to enter the Paradise, while the miserliness and the frowning face both distance from Allahazwj and (cause) to enter the Fire".405

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at,

'From Abu Al-Hassan Musa-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'The goodly smile does away with the grudges".406

⁴⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 39

 $^{^{\}rm 405}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 40

⁴⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 10 H 41

باب 11 فضل الصديق و حد الصداقة و آدابما و حقوقها و أنواع الأصدقاء و النهى عن زيادة الاسترسال و الاستيناس بمم

CHAPTER 11 – MERIT OF THE FRIEND, AND LIMIT OF THE FRIENDSHIP AND ITS ETIQUETTES AND ITS RIGHTS, AND TYPES OF FRIENDSHIPS, AND THE PROHIBITION FROM EXCESSIVE INDULGENCE AND THE COMFORTING WITH THEM

1- لي، الأمالي للصدوق أبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ النَّهْدِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ يَرِيدَ بْنِ مُخْلَدٍ عَمَّنْ سَمِعَ الصَّادِقَ ع يَقُولُ الصَّدَاقَةُ مُخَدُودَةٌ وَ مَنْ لَمَّ تَكُنْ فِيهِ تِلْكَ الخُدُودِ فَلَا تَنْسُبُهُ إِلَى شَيْءٍ مِنَ الصَّدَاقَةِ فَلَا تَنْسُبُهُ إِلَى كَمَالِ الصَّدَاقَةِ وَ مَنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ فِيهِ شَيْءٌ مِنْ تِلْكَ الحُدُودِ فَلَا تَنْسُبُهُ إِلَى شَيْءٍ مِنَ الصَّدَاقَةِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Nahdy, from his father, from Yazeed Bin Makhlad,

'From the one who heard Al-Sadiq^{-asws} saying: 'The friendship is limited, and the one who does not happen to have that limitation in him he should not attribute it to the perfect friendship, and one does not happen to have anything in him from those limitation, he should not attribute it to anything from the friendship.

أَوْلُهَا أَنْ تَكُونَ سَرِيرَتُهُ وَ عَلَانِيَتُهُ لَكَ وَاحِدَةً وَ الثَّانِيَةُ أَنْ يَرَى زَيْنَكَ زَيْنَهُ وَ شَيْنَكَ شَيْنَهُ وَ الثَّالِقَةُ [أَنْ] لَا يُعَيِّرُهُ عَلَيْكَ مَالٌ وَ لَا وِلَايَةٌ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ أَنْ لَا يُمْنَعَكَ شَيْغًا مِمَّا تَصِلُ إِلَيْهِ مَقْدُرَتُهُ وَ الْخَامِسَةُ أَنْ لَا يُسْلِمَكَ عِنْدَ النَّكَبَاتِ.

The first of it is that his secret and his openness should be one for you, and the second is that he should see your adornment as his adornment and your shame as his shame, and the third is that neither wealth nor governance should change him upon you, and the fourth is that nothing from what you are capable of should prevent you from connecting (helping) to him, and the fifth is that he should not yield (abandon) you during the calamities". ⁴⁰⁷

2- لى، الأمالي للصدوق قالَ الصَّادِقُ ع لِيَعْض أَصْحَابِهِ مَنْ غَضِبَ عَلَيْكَ مِنْ إِخْوَانِكَ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ فَلَمْ يَقُلْ فِيكَ شَرَّا فَاتَّخِذْهُ لِنَفْسِكَ صَدِيقاً.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said to one of his^{-asws} companions: 'One from your brethren who is angered upon you three times, but (still) does not say any evil regarding you, then take him as a friend for yourself''.⁴⁰⁸

3- لي، الأمالي للصدوق قالَ الصَّادِقُ ع لَا تَثِقَنَّ بِأَخِيكَ كُلَّ الثِّقَةِ فَإِنَ صَرْعَةَ الاسْتِرْسَالِ لَا يُسْتَقَالُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

 $^{\rm 407}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 1

Page 182 of 462

 $^{^{408}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 2

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Do not be trusting your brother (friend) with all the trust, for the craze of indulgence cannot be controlled". 409

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} narrated to me^{-asws} my^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws} that Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Who can be as your brother, all of him, and which of the men is without faults?''⁴¹⁰

5- ب، قرب الإسناد أَبُو الْبَحْتَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص ثَلَاثَةٌ مِنَ الجُفَاءِ أَنْ يَصْحَبَ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ فَلَا يَسْأَلُهُ عَنِ اسْمِهِ وَ كُنْيَتِهِ وَ أَنْ يُدْعَى الرَّجُلُ إِلَى طَعَامِ فَلَا يُجِيبَ أَوْ يُجِيبَ فَلَا يَأْكُلُ وَ مُوافَعَةُ الرَّجُلِ أَهْلَهُ قَبْلِ الْمُدَاعَبَةِ.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Abu Al Bakhtary,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three are from the abruptness – the man accompanies the man, but he does not ask him his name, and his teknonym; and the man is invited to a meal, but he does not answer, or does answer but does not eat; and the man having intercourse with his wife before foreplay". ⁴¹¹

6– ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ عَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَمَّنْ ذَكَرُهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع فِي وَصِيَّتِهِ لِاثْنِهِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْحَنَفِيَّةِ إِيَّاكَ وَ الْغُجْبَ وَ سُوءَ الْخُلُقِ وَ قِلَّةَ الصَّبْرِ فَإِنَّهُ لَا تَسْتَقِيمُ لَكَ عَلَى هَذِهِ الْخِصَالِ الثَّلاثِ صَاحِبٌ وَ لَا يَزَالُ لَكَ عَلَيْهَا مِنَ النَّاسِ مُجَانِبٌ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Hammad, from the one who mentioned it,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said in a bequest to his-asws son Muhammad Bin Al-Hanafiya: 'Beware of the self-fascination, and evil manners, and lack of patience, for a companion will not be straight for you while (you) are being upon these three characteristics nor will there cease to be ones from the people staying aside (from you).

وَ الْزَمْ نَفْسَكَ التَّوَدُّدَ وَ صَبَرُ عَلَى مَثُونَاتِ النَّاسِ نَفْسَكَ وَ ابْذُلْ لِصَدِيقِكَ نَفْسَكَ وَ مَالَكَ وَ لِمَعْوِقِتِكَ رِفْدَكَ وَ مُحْضَرَكَ وَ لِلْعَامَّةِ بِشْرَكَ وَ مَحَبَّنَكَ وَ لِعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ إِنْصَافَكَ وَ افْتَيْنْ بِدِينِكَ وَ عِرْضِكَ عَنْ كُلِّ أَحْدٍ فَإِنَّهُ أَسْلَمُ لِدِينِكَ وَ دُنْيَاكَ.

And necessitate the cordiality for yourself, and be patient yourself upon troubles of the people, and spend exert yourself and your wealth for your friend, and your firmness and your presentation for your understanding, and your smile and your love for the generality, and your justice and your fairness for your enemy, and be fascinated by your religion and turn away from every one for it is safer for your religion and your world".⁴¹²

⁴⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 3

⁴¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 4

 $^{^{411}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 5

⁴¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 6

7- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ عَنِ الْأَشْهُرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ الرَّازِيِّ عَنْ سِجَادَةَ عَنْ دُرُسْتَ عَنْ أَبِي حَالِدٍ السِّجِسْتَايِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَقَالَ: خَمْسُ خِصَالٍ مَنْ لَمْ تَكُنْ فِيهِ خَصْلَةٌ مِنْهَا فَلَيْسَ فِيهِ كَثِيرُ مُسْتَمْتَعٍ أَوَّلْهَا الْوَفَاءُ وَ الثَّانِيَةُ التَّدْبِيرُ وَ الثَّالِقَةُ الْحُيَّاءُ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ حُسْنُ الْخُلُقِ وَ الْخَامِسَةُ وَ هِيَ جَمْمُ هَذِهِ الْخِصَالَ الْمُرْبَيَّةُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Muhammad Al Attar, from Al Ashary, from Abu Abdullah Al Razy, from Sijadah, from Dorost, from Abu Khalid Al Sijistany,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Five characteristics, one who does not happen to have one characteristic from it, there wouldn't be a lot of enjoyment in him. The first of it is the loyalty, and the second is the management, and the third is the modesty, and the fourth is good manners, and the fifth, and it is a summary of these characteristics, is the freedom''.⁴¹³

8– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام الْبَيْهَقِيُّ عَنِ الصَّوْلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي ذَكْوَانَ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ الْعَبَّاسِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ الرِّضَا ع يَقُولُ مَوَدَّةُ عِشْرِينَ سَنَةً قَرَابَةٌ وَ الْعِلْمُ أَجْمُهُ لِأَهْلِهِ مِنَ الْآبَاءِ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}'**, may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Al Bayhaqi, from Al Soqly, from Abu Zakwan, from Ibrahim Bin Al Abbas who said,

'I heard Al-Reza^{-asws} saying: 'Cordiality of twenty years is relationship, and the knowledge is more uniting for its people than the forefathers are''.⁴¹⁴

9- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ الرَّازِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُثْمَانَ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ نُوحٍ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَالَ: قَالَ الْحَارِثُ الْأَعْورُ لِأَمِيرِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ أَنَا وَ اللهِ أُحِبُّكَ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashary, from Abu Abdullah Al Razy, from Ibn Abu Usman, from Ahmad Bin Nuh, from a man,

'Al-Haris Al-Awr said to Amir Al-Momineen-asws, 'O Amir Al-Momineen-asws! By Allah-azwj, I love you-asws!'

فَقَالَ لَهُ يَا حَارِثُ أَمَّا إِذَا أَحْبَبْتَنِي فَلَا ثُخَاصِمْنِي وَ لَا تُلاعِبْنِي وَ لَا ثُجَارِينِي وَ لَا ثُمَازِحْنِي وَ لَا ثُمَازِحْنِي وَ لَا ثُواضِعْنِي وَ لَا تُرافِعْنِي.

He^{-asws} said to him: 'O Haris! But, when you love me^{-asws}, then neither dispute me^{-asws}, nor play around with me^{-asws}, nor be audacious to me^{-asws}, nor joke with me^{-asws}, nor drop me^{-asws} (put me^{-asws} down) nor raise me^{-asws}".⁴¹⁵

10- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْفَحَّامُ عَنِ الْمَنْصُورِيِّ عَنْ عَمِّ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الثَّالِثِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ الطَّالِثِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَ قَالَ: إِذَا كَانَ لَكَ صَدِيقٌ فَوْلِيَّ وَلَايَةً فَأَصَبْتُهُ عَلَى الْغُشْرِ مِمَّا كَانَ لَكَ عَلَيْهِ قَبْلِ وَلِايَتِهِ فَلَيْس بِصَدِيقِ سَوْءٍ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Fahham, from Al Mansouri, from an uncle of his father,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'When there were to be a friend for you, so he becomes in charge of governance, and you still

 $^{^{413}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 7

 $^{^{\}rm 414}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 8

⁴¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 9

have him (his friendship) upon the tenth of what there was for you upon him before his governance, he (still) wouldn't be an evil friend". 416

11- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يُونُسَ الْقَاضِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْخَلِيلِ التَّوْفِلِيِّ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ عَنْ اللَّهُ صَالِحٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ جَعْفَرَ بْنَ مُحَمَّدٍ ع يَقُولُ لَقَدْ عَظُمَتْ مَنْزِلَةُ الصَّدِيقِ حَتَّى إِنَّ أَهْلَ النَّارِ يَسْتَغِيثُونَ بِهِ وَ يَدْعُونَ بِهِ فِي النَّارِ قَبْلَ الْقَرِيبِ الْحَمِيمِ قَالَ اللَّهُ عُثْمِهُ فَمَا لَنَا مِنْ شَافِعِينَ وَ لا صَدِيقِ حَمِيم.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Yunus Al Qazy, from Ahmad Bin Al Khaleel Al Nowfaly, from Usman Bin Saeed, from Al-Husayn Bin Salih who said,

'I heard Ja'far-asws Bin Muhammad-asws saying: 'Mighty is the status of the friend to the extent that the people of the Fire will be crying out for help with him and they will be calling out by him in the Fire, before nearing the boiling water. Allah-azwj has Informed about them: 'So, there is none for us from the intercessors [26:100] Nor an intimate friend [26:101]". 417

12- مع، معاني الأخبار أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِنَا رَفَعَهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لُقْمَانُ لِاثِنِهِ يَا بُنَيَّ صَاحِبٌ مِائَةً وَ لَا تُعَادِ وَاحِداً يَا بُنَيَّ إِنَّمَا هُوَ حَلَاقُكَ وَ كُلُقُكَ فَحَلَاقُكَ دِينُكَ وَ خُلُقُكَ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَ النَّاسِ فَلَا تَبْتَغِضْ إلَيْهِمْ وَ تَعَلَّمْ مَخَاسِنَ الْأَخْلَاقِ

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from one of our companions raising it, said,

'Luqman^{-as} said to his^{-as} son: 'O my^{-as} son! Accompany a hundred and do not return one. O my^{-as} son! But rather it is your character and your manner, and your manners between you and the people. So do not be hateful to them and learn the except manners.

يَا بُنَيَّ كُنْ عَبْداً لِلْأَخْيَارِ وَ لَا تَكُنْ وَلَداً لِلْأَشْرَارِ يَا بُنَيَّ أَدِّ الْأَمَانَةَ تَسْلَمْ لَكَ دُنْيَاكَ وَ آخِرَتُكَ وَكُنْ أَمِيناً تَكُنْ غَنِيّاً.

O my^{-as} son! Be a servant to the good ones and do not be a son for the evil ones. O my^{-as} son! Fulfil the entrustment, your world and your Hereafter will submit to you, and be trustworthy, you will be rich". 418

13– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ وَ ابْنُ عِصَامٍ وَ الْمُكَتِّبُ وَ الْوَرَّاقُ وَ اللَّقَّاقُ جَمِيعاً عَنِ الْكُلَيْنِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ الْعَلَوِيِّ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْمُحَارِبِيِّ عَنْ رَجُلٍ ذَكَرَ اسْمُهُ قَالَ: قَالَ الْمَأْمُونُ لِلرِّضَا عَ أَنْشِدْنِي أَحْسَنَ مَا رَوَيْتَهُ فِي السُّكُوتِ عَنِ الجَّاهِلِ وَ تَرْكِ عِتَابِ الصَّدِيقِ

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}'**, may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, and Ibn Isam, and Al Mukattib, and Al Warraq, and Al Daqqaq, altogether from Al Kulayni, from Ali Bin Ibrahim Al Alawy, from Musa Bin Muhammad Al Muhariby, from a man he mentioned his name, said,

'Al-Mamoun said to Al-Reza^{-asws}, 'Prose to me as excellent what you^{-asws} have reported regarding the silence from the ignoramus and neglecting faulting the friend'.

فَقَالَ ع-

⁴¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 10

 $^{^{417}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 11

⁴¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 12

فَأُرِيهِ أَنَّ لِهَجْرِهِ أَسْبَاباً –	إِيّ لَيَهْجُرُينِ الصَّدِيقُ تَحَنُّباً-
فَأْرَى لَهُ تَرْكَ الْعِتَابِ عِتَاباً-	وَ أَرَاهُ إِنْ عَاتَبْتُهُ أَغْرِيْتُهُ-
يَجِدُ الْمُحَالَ مِنَ الْأُمُورِ صَوَاباً-	وَ إِذَا بُلِيتُ بِجَاهِلٍ مُتَحَكِّمٍ-
كَانَ السُّكُوتُ عَنِ الجُّوَابِ جَوَاباً	أَوْلَيْتُهُ مِنِّي السُّكُوتَ وَ رُبَّمًا–

He^{-asws} said: 'I, when a friend forsakes me avoiding me, I shall show him that there are reasons for his forsaking, and I shall show him that if you were to reprimand him, it would deceive him, so I view for him to leave the reprimand admonishing. And if I were to be afflicted with a controlling ignorant, who finds the impossible matters to be correct, I shall give him the silence from me. Sometimes the silence from the answering is an answer'.

Al-Mamoun said to him^{-asws}, 'How excellent this is! This, who said it?' He^{-asws} said: 'One of our youths'. He said, 'Recite to me the best of what you^{-asws} have reported regarding pulling the enemy until he becomes a friend'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And the one with grudges, I keep him safe, so I coerce him as an acknowledgment from me of the beautiful pardon, and the one does not defend against the evils of his enemies by his favours, would not be taking the forbearance from the top, and I have not seen in the thing, anything of quicker destruction of an ancient drowning from a hasty valley'.

Al-Mamoun said to him^{-asws}, 'How excellent this is! This, who said it?' He^{-asws} said: 'One of our youths''.⁴¹⁹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – By a chain of a brother of Deobel,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Love your beloved slowly as you can, perhaps he will become your hater one day, and hate your haters slowly as you can, perhaps he will become your beloved one day".⁴²⁰

⁴¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 13

⁴²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 14

15- لي، الأمالي للصدوق قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع لِبَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ لَا تُطْلِعْ صَدِيقَكَ مِنْ سِرِّكَ إِلَّا عَلَى مَا لَوِ اطْلَعَ عَلَيْهِ عَدُوُكَ لَمْ يَضُرُّكَ فَإِنَّ الصَّدِيقَ قَدْ يَكُونُ عَدُوَّكَ يَهْماً مَا.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said to one of his^{-asws} companions: 'Do not notify your secrets to your friend except based upon what, if your enemy were to be notified upon it, it will not harm you, for the friend could become your enemy one day".⁴²¹

16- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر سَعْدُ بْنُ جَنَاحٍ عَنْ غَيْرِ وَاحِدٍ أَنَّ أَبَا الْحُسَنِ ع سُئِلَ عَنْ أَفْضَلِ عَيْشِ الدُّنْيَا فَقَالَ سَعَةُ الْمَنْزِلِ وَ كَثْرُةُ الْمُحِبِينَ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Sa'ad Bin Janah, from someone else,

'Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} was asked about the best life of the world. He^{-asws} said: 'A vast house and lots of loving ones''.⁴²²

17- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ أُمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع جُمِعَ حَيْرُ الدُّنْيَا وَ الْآخِرَةِ فِي كِتْمَانِ السِّرِ وَ مُصَادَقَةِ الْأَخْيَارِ وَ جُمِعَ الشَّرُّ فِي الْإِذَاعَةِ وَ مُوَاحَاةِ الْأَشْرَارِ.

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Goodness of the world and the Hereafter has been gathered in concealment of the secret and friendship of the good (people), while the evil is gathered in the broadcasting, and brotherhood of the evil (people)".⁴²³

18- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي ابْنُ الصَّلْتِ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى الضَّرِيرِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زَكْرِيَّا الْمَكِّيِّ عَنْ كَثِيرٍ بْنِ طَارِقٍ عَنْ زَيْدٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ عَقَالَ قَالَ عَلِيٍّ عَ لَا يَكُنْ حُبُّكَ كَلَفاً وَ لَا بُغْضُكَ تَلَفاً أَحْبِبْ حَبِيبَكَ هَوْناً مَا وَ أَبْغِضَكَ هَوْناً مَا وَ أَبْغِضَكَ هَوْناً مَا.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqdah, from Muhammad Bin Isa Al Zareer, from Muhammad Bin Zakariya Al Makky, from Kaseer Bin Tariq, from Zayd,

'From his father Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'Ali^{-asws} said: 'Neither should your love become cumbersome nor your hatred (become) troublesome. Love your beloved as slowly as you can and hate your hater as slowly as you can". ⁴²⁴

19- نهج، نهج البلاغة قَالَ ع احْذَرُوا صَوْلَةَ الْكَرِيمِ إِذَا جَاعَ وَ اللَّئِيمِ إِذَا شَبِعَ.

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'Be cautious of the onslaught of the noble one when he is hungry, and the ignoble one when he is satiated''.⁴²⁵

 $^{^{421}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 15

⁴²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 16

⁴²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 17

 $^{^{424}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 18

⁴²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 1

And he-asws said: 'Hearts of the men are beastly. The one who tames these, they will turn to him''. As a said: 'Hearts of the men are beastly. The one who tames these, they will turn to him''.

And he-asws said: 'One cautioning you is like the one giving you glad tidings". 427

And he-asws said: 'Loss of the loved ones is estrangement''. 428

And he^{-asws} said: 'An opinion of the old man is more beloved to me^{-asws} than determination of the young'. And it has been reported: 'Than martyrdom of the young''. 429

And he-asws said: 'The cordiality is a beneficial relationship''. 430

(The book) 'Al-Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'One fulfilling a right of the one who does not fulfil his right, it is as if he has worshipped him from besides Allah^{-azwj}'.

'And he-asws said: 'Serve your brother. If he were to serve you, then no, and there is no prestige'.

He (the narrator) said, 'And it was said, 'Shall I do good to the one who has not done good to me?' He-asws said: 'And there is no prestige'. He-asws said: 'And there are not two prestige's''.

 $^{^{\}rm 426}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 2

⁴²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 3

⁴²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 4

 $^{^{429}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 5

 $^{^{\}rm 430}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 6

⁴³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 19 / 7

21- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ لُقْمَانُ ثَلاَثَةٌ لَا يُعْرَفُونَ إِلَّا فِي ثَلاَثَةِ مَوَاضِعَ- لَا يُعْرَفُ الْحَلِيمُ إِلَّا عِنْدَ الْغَضَبِ وَ لَا يُعْرَفُ الشُّجَاعُ إِلَّا فِي الْحَرْبِ وَ لَا يَعْرَفُ الشَّعَاعُ إِلَّا فِي الْحَرْبِ وَ لَا

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Luqman^{-as} said: 'Three cannot be recognised except in three places – the lenient one is not recognised except during the anger, nor is the brave recognise except during the war, and you cannot recognise your brother except during your need to him''.⁴³²

22- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع إِنَّ الَّذِينَ تَرَاهُمْ لَكَ أَصْدِقَاءَ إِذَا بَلَوْقُمْ وَجَدْتُهُمْ عَلَى طَبَقَاتٍ شَتَّى فَمِنْهُمْ كَالْأَسَدِ فِي عِظَمِ الْأَكْلِ وَ شِدَّةِ الصَّوْلَةِ وَ مِنْهُمْ كَالدَّعْلَ فِي الْبَصْبَصَةِ وَ مِنْهُمْ كَالنَّعْلَ فِي الرَّوْعَانِ وَ السَّرْقَةِ صُوْرُهُمْ مُخْتَلِفَةٌ وَ الْجِرْقَةُ وَاحِدَةٌ

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The ones whom you are seeing as being your friend, when you test them, you will find them being upon three categories. From them is like the lion in ravenous appetite and strong claws, and from them is like the wolf in the harming, and from them is one like the dog in the wagging (his tail), and from them is like the fox in the evasion and the stealing. Their faces are different, and their craftiness is one.

What will you do tomorrow when you will be left as an individual, alone. Neither will there be any wife for you nor a son, except Allah^{-azwj}, Lord^{-azwj} of the worlds?"⁴³³

23- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِذَا أَحَبَّ أَحَدُكُمْ أَحَاهُ فَلْيَسْأَلُهُ عَنِ اسْمِ أَبِيهِ وَ عَنْ قَبِيلَتِهِ وَ عَشِيرَتِهِ فَإِنَّهُ مِنَ الْحِقِّ الْهَاجِبِ وَ صِدْقُ الْاِحَاءِ أَنْ يَسْأَلُهُ عَنْ ذَلِكَ وَ إِلَّا فَإِنَّا مَعْوَةً حُمْقًاءُ.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy – By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Whenever one of you loves his brother, let him ask him the name of his father, and about his tribe, and his clan, for it is from the obligatory right and sincere brotherhood to ask him about that, or else it is a recognition of the foolish".⁴³⁴

It is copied from the handwriting of the martyr,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said to Al-Mufazzal: 'Who accompanied you?' He said, 'A man from my brethren'.

⁴³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 21

 $^{^{433}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 22

⁴³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 23

He^{-asws} said: 'So what happened?' He said, 'Since I entered Al-Medina, I do not know of his place'.

He^{-asws} said to me: 'Don't you know that the one who accompanies a Momin for forty steps, Allah^{-azwj} will Ask about him on the Day of Qiyamah?''⁴³⁵

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, form Abu Al Mufazzal, from Hashim Bin Malik Al Khuzaie, from Al Abbas Bin Al Faraj, from Saeed Bin Aws who said,

'I heard Abu Amro Bin Al-A'ala saying, 'The friend of a human being, it is you, therefore look at a friend to be from you like your own self'.

قال أنشدنا أبو عمرو بن العلاء-

He said, 'Abu Amro Bin Al-A'ala prosed to us, 'For every person there is an appearance from the people similar to h is. Most of them in (similar) appearance are least of them in intelligence because the one of healthy intellect, a (similar) appearance will not be found for him in the road when he loses him''. 436

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Zakariya, from Suleyman Bin Dawood, from Sufyan Bin Uyayna who said,

'I heard Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} saying in Masjid Al-Khief: 'But rather, brothers are named as such due to their being removed from the betrayal, and the friends (Asdaqa) are named as such because they ratify (Tasadaqou) the rights of cordiality''.⁴³⁷

⁴³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 24

 $^{^{}m 436}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 25

⁴³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 26

27 ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي حَفْصٍ الْأَعْشَى قَالَ سَمِعْتُ الْحَسَنَ بْنَ صَالِحِ بْنِ حَيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ جَعْفَرَ بْنَ مُحُمَّدٍ ع يَقُولُ لَقَدْ عَظُمَتْ مَنْزِلَةُ الصَّدِيقِ حَقَّى إِنَّ أَهْلَ النَّارِ يَسْتَغِيثُونَ بِهِ وَ يَدْعُونَهُ قَبْلَ الْقَرِيبِ الْحَمِيمِ قَالَ اللَّهُ سُبْحَانَهُ عُرِّرًا عَنْهُمْ - فَمَا لَنا مِنْ شَافِعِينَ وَ لا صَدِيق جَمِيم.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Is'haq Bin Muhammad Bin Marwan, from his father, from Abu Hafs Al A'asha who said, 'I heard Al-Hassan Bin Salih Bin Hayy say,

'I heard Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} saying: "Mighty is the status of the friend to the extent that the people of the Fire will be crying out for help with him and they will be calling out by him in the Fire, before nearing the boiling water. Allah^{-azwj} the Glorious has Informed about them: 'So, there is none for us from the intercessors [26:100] Nor an intimate friend [26:101]".⁴³⁸

28- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الحُسَيْنُ بْنُ عُبَيْدِ اللهِ عَنِ التَّلَّعُكْبَرِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مُعَمَّرٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الزَّيَّاتِ عَنِ الخَّسِّنِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ عَلْمَةً عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: لَا تَسُمَّ الرَّجُلَ صَدِيقاً مِمَّةً مَعُرُوفَةً حَتَّى ثَخْتِرَهُ بِثَلَاثٍ تُغْضِبُهُ فَتَنْظُرُ غَضَبَهُ يُخْرِجُهُ مِنَ الْحُقِّ إِلَى الْبَاطِلِ وَ عِنْدَ الدِّينَارِ وَ الدِّرْهُمِ وَ حَتَّى تُسَافِرَ مَعَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ubeydullah, from Al Tal'akbury, from Ibn Muammar, from Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan Bin Al-Husayn Al Zayyat, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Fazzal, from Ali Bin Uqbah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Do not name the man with a well-known trait, as a friend, until you test him with three – Anger him, then look at his anger whether it exits him from the truth to the falsehood, and at the Dinars and the Dirhams, and until you travel with him".⁴³⁹

الدُّرَةُ الْبَاهِرَةُ، قَالَ عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحُسَيْنِ عَ لَا تُعَادِيَنَّ أَحَداً وَ إِنْ ظَنَنْتَ أَنَّهُ لَا يَضُرُّكَ وَ لَا تَرْهَدَنَّ فِي صَدَاقَةِ أَحَدٍ وَ إِنْ ظَنَنْتَ أَنَّهُ لَا يَنْفَعُكَ فَإِنَّكَ لَا تَدْرِي مَعَى تَخَافُ عَلُوكَ وَ لَا يَعْتَذِرُ إِلَيْكَ أَحَدٌ إِلَّا قَبْلُتَ عُذْرَهُ وَ إِنْ عَلِمْتَ أَنَّهُ كَاذِبٌ.

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws said: 'Do not antagonise anyone and even if you think he cannot harm you, nor abstain regarding the friendship of anyone and even if you think that he cannot benefit you. You don't know when to hope for your friend, nor do you know when to fear your enemy; and no one should apologise to you except you should accepts his apology, and even if you know he is lying". 440

وَ قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع حِشْمَةُ الإنْقِبَاضِ أَبْقَى لِلْعِزِّ مِنْ أُنْسِ التَّلَاقِي.

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Respectful holding back is more lasting for the honour than enjoyment of the meeting''.⁴⁴¹

⁴³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 27

⁴³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 a

 $^{^{\}rm 440}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 b

⁴⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 c

And he-asws said: 'One who is not satisfied from his friend except with preferring over himself, his dissatisfaction will be constant, and one who faults upon a sin (wrong), his being faulted will be a lot".442

And Al-Reza-asws said: 'The sociability does away the awe". 443

And Al-Jawad-asws said: 'One who faults (others) without suspicion will be faulted without any scepticism".444

And he-asws said: 'One who is not satisfied from his brother with good intention will not be satisfied with the gifts".445

And Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd said to (the caliph) Al-Mutawakkil: 'Do not seek the cleanness from the ones you have dirtied upon, nor the good advice from the ones you have utilised your evil thoughts to him, for rather a heart of someone else is like your heart to him". 446

⁴⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 c

⁴⁴³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 d

⁴⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 e

 $^{^{\}rm 445}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 f

⁴⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 11 H 28 g

باب 12 استحباب إخبار الأخ في الله بحبه له و أن القلب يهدي إلى القلب

CHAPTER 12 – RECOMMENDATION OF INFORMING THE BROTHER REGARDING ALLAH-azwj OF HIS-azwj LOVE FOR HIM, AND THE HEART GUIDES TO THE HEART

1- سن، المحاسن يُخْيَى بْنُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ أَبِي الْبِلَادِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ قَالَ: مَرَّ رَجُلَّ فِي الْمَسْجِدِ وَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع جَالِسٌ وَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع فَقَالَ لَهُ بَعْضُ جُلسَائِهِ وَ اللَّهِ إِنِّي لَأُحِبُّ هَذَا الرَّجُلَ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Yahya Bin Ibrahim Bin Abu Al Bilad, from his father, from his grandfather who said,

'A man passed by in the Masjid and Abu Ja'far^{-asws} and Abu Abdullah^{-asws} were seated. One of his^{-asws} gatherers said to him^{-asws}, 'By Allah^{-azwj}, I love this man!'

قَالَ لَهُ أَبُو جَعْفَر ع أَلَا فَأَعْلِمْهُ فَإِنَّهُ أَبْقَى لِلْمَوَدَّةِ وَ خَيْرٌ فِي الْأَلْفَةِ.

Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said to him: 'Why don't you let him know for it would be more lasting for the cordiality and better in the affinity''.⁴⁴⁷

2- سن، المحاسن أبي عَن ابْن أبي عُمَيْرِ عَنْ هِشَام بْن سَالِمِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: إِذَا أَحْبَبْتَ رَجُلًا فَأَحْبِرُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Salim,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Whenever you love a man, so inform him''. 448

3- سن، المحاسن عَلِيُّ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ الْقَاسَانِيُّ عَمَّنْ ذَكَرَهُ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ الْجَعْفَرِيِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِذَا أَحَبُ أَحَدُكُمْ صَاحِمَهُ أَهْ أَحُاهُ فَلْبُعْلِمْهُ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ali Bin Muhammad Al Qasany, from the one who mentioned it, from Abdullah Bin Al Qasim Al Ja'fary,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, from his-asws father-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'Whenever one of you loves his companion or his brother, then he should let him know''.⁴⁴⁹

4- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ زَكْرِيًّا بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ رَجُلًا يَسْأَلُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنِ الرَّجُلِ يَقُولُ إِيِّ أَوَدُّكَ فَكَيْفَ أَعْلَمُ أَنَّهُ يَودُّينِ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Husayn Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Zakariya Bin Muhammad, from Salih Bin Al Hakam who said,

Page 193 of 462

⁴⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 1

 $^{^{\}rm 448}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 2

⁴⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 3

'I heard a man asking Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about the man saying, 'I love you'. So how do I know that he does love me?'

قَالَ امْتَحِنْ قَلْبَكَ فَإِنْ كُنْتَ تَوَدُّهُ فَإِنَّهُ يَوَدُّكَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Examine your heart. If you love him, then he does love you''. 450

5- سن، المحاسن بَعْضُ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ الْمَدَائِيِّ قَالَ قُلْتُ لِأَبِي الْحَسَنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ ع إِنَّ الرَّجُلَ مِنْ عُرْضِ النَّاسِ يَلْقَابِي فَيَحْلِفُ باللّهِ أَنَّهُ يُجِبُّنِي فَأَحْلِفُ باللّهِ إِنَّهُ لَصَادِقٌ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - One of our companions, from Ubeydullah Bin Is'haq Al Madainy who said,

'I said to Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, 'The man from the width (generality) of the people met me and he swore by Allah^{-azwj} that he loves me. Shall I swear by Allah^{-azwj} that he is truthful?'

فَقَالَ امْتَحِنْ قَلْنَكَ فَإِنْ كُنْتَ تُحَيُّهُ فَاحْلِفْ وَ إِلَّا فَلَا.

He-asws said: 'Examine your heart. If you were to love him, then swear, or else, don't". 451

6- جا، المجالس للمفيد ابْنُ قُولَويْهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ عَنِ الْفُصَيْلِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ عَنِ الْفُصَيْلِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ عَنِ الْفُصَيْلِ عَنْ أَبْهِ عَ وَابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ اللهِ عَ قَالُمُ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ اللهِ ع

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Ibn Qawlawiya, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Hammad Bin Usman, from Rabie, from Al Fuzeyl,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Look at your heart. If it dislikes your companion, then one of you is fabricating (pretending)''.⁴⁵²

7- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص إِذَا أَحَبُّ أَحَدُكُمْ أَحَاهُ فَلْيُعْلِمْهُ فَإِنَّهُ أَصْلَحُ لِذَاتِ الْبَيْنِ.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When one of you loves his brother, he should let him know, for that is better for what is between them''.⁴⁵³

8- الدُّرَةُ الْبَاهِرَةُ، قَالَ أَبُو الحُسَنِ ع لِلْمُتَوَكِّلِ لَا تَطْلُبِ الصَّفَاءَ بِمَّنْ كَدَرْتَ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا النَّصْحَ بِمَّنْ صَرَفْتَ سُوءَ ظَيِّكَ إِلَيْهِ فَإِنَّمَا قَلْبُ عَيْرِكَ لَكَ كَقَلْبِكَ لَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

45

⁴⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 4

⁴⁵¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 5

 $^{^{\}rm 452}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 6

⁴⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 7

 $^{^{\}rm 454}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 12 H 8

باب 13 من ينبغي مجالسته و مصاحبته و مصادقته و فضل الأنيس الموافق و القرين الصالح و حب الصالحين

CHAPTER 13 – ONE IT IS BEFITTING TO SIT WITH HIM, AND ACCOMPANY HIM, AND FRIENDSHIP WITH HIM, AND MERIT OF THE COMPATIBLE COMFORTER, AND THE RIGHTEOUS PAIR, AND LOVING THE RIGHTEOUS

الآيات

The Verses

الأنعام وَ لا تَطْرُدِ الَّذِينَ يَدْعُونَ رَبَّكُمْ بِالْغَداةِ وَ الْعَشِيِّ يُرِيدُونَ وَجْهَهُ ما عَلَيْكَ مِنْ حِسابِكِمْ مِنْ شَيْءٍ وَ ما مِنْ حِسابِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ مِنْ شَيْءٍ فَتَطُودَهُمْ فَتَكُونَ مِنَ الظَّالِمِينَ

(Surah) 'Al Anaam' – And do not expel those who are supplicating to their Lord in the morning and the evening intending His Face. There is nothing upon you from their Reckoning and there is nothing upon them from your Reckoning, that you should be expelling them and become from the unjust ones [6:52]

الكهف وَ اصْبِرْ نَفْسَكَ مَعَ الَّذِينَ يَدْعُونَ رَبِّهُمْ بِالْغَداةِ وَ الْعَشِيِّ يُرِيدُونَ وَجْهَهُ وَ لا تَعْدُ عَيْناكَ عَنْهُمْ تُرِيدُ زِينَةَ الْحَيَاةِ الدُّنْيا وَ لا تُطِعْ مَنْ أَغْفَلْنا قَلْبَهُ عَنْ ذَكُرنا وَ التَّبَعَ هَواهُ وَ كَانَ أَمْرُهُ قُرُطاً

(Surah) 'Al Kahaf' - And observe patience yourself along with those who are supplicating to their Lord morning and evening intending His Face, and do not stretch your eyes from them intending adornments of the life of the word, and do not obey one whose heart is heedless from Our Remembrance and is obeying his own desires, and his matter would always be neglected [18:28]

(Surah) Abasa - He frowned and turned around [80:1] When the blind man came to him [80:2] And what would make you realise, perhaps he would purify himself? [80:3] Or pay heed, so the Zikr would benefit him? [80:4] As for one who (thinks he) is needless [80:5]

So you face up to him [80:6] And what is upon you if he does not purify? [80:7] And as to one who comes to you striving [80:8] And he is fearing [80:9] So you are distracting yourself away from him [80:10].

1- ج، الإحتجاج بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى أَبِي مُحُمَّدٍ الْعَسْكَرِيِّ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحُسَيْنِ عِ إِذَا رَأَيْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ قَدْ حَسُنَ سَمَّتُهُ وَ هَدْيُهُ وَ تَمَاوَلَ فِي مَنْطِقِهِ وَ تَخَاضَعَ فِي حَرَكَاتِهِ فَوُويْداً لَا يَغُرُّكُمْ فَمَا أَكْثَرَ مَنْ يُعْجِزُهُ تَنَاوُلُ الدُّنْيَا وَ رُكُوبُ الْحَرَامِ مِنْهَا لِضَعْفِ بُنْيَتِهِ وَ مَهَانَتِهِ وَ جُبْنِ قَلْبِهِ (The book) 'Al Ihtijaj' -

By the chain to Abu Muhammad Al-Askari-asws, from his-asws forefathers-asws having said: 'Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws said: 'When you see the man be good of his conduct, and his presentation, and is soft in his speaking, and gentle in his movements, then little by little he would be deceiving you. How often has one remained unable from attaining the world and he indulges in the Prohibitions from it due to the weakness of his structure and his humiliation, and the cowardice of his heart.

Half of (his) religion is a trap, and he does not cease to deceive the people by his appearance. And if he is enabled from a Prohibition, he would storm into it. So when you find him as chaste from the Prohibited wealth, then little by little he would (still) be deceiving you, for the lustful desires of the people are different. And how often is one informed about the Prohibited wealth, and even if it is frequent, and he carries himself upon the ugly lustful desires, so he comes to a Prohibition from it.

When you find him as chaste from that, so little by little he would deceive you, unless you look at what his beliefs as per his intellect are. How often one neglects that entirely, then he does not return to a solid mind (gives a firm statement), and he would come to such a state that his ignorance spoil him (far) more than what could be corrected by his intellect.

When you find his intellect as solid, then little by little he would deceive you, unless you look at whether his desires happen to be upon his intellect, or he overrides/controls his desires through his intellect, and how his love is for the government of the falsehood and his abstention with regards to it, for among the people there is one who: *loses this world as well as the Hereafter [22:11]*, by neglecting the world for the (sake of the) world.

And he would see that the pleasures of the government of the falsehood are better than the pleasures of the wealth, and he analyses the achievable bounties, so he neglects that entirety of that to seek the government, until; when it is said to him, 'Fear Allah'; pride seizes him with the sin; so Hell would suffice him; and it is an evil habitation [2:206].

فَهُوَ يَخْبِطُ [حَبْطَ] عَشْوَاءَ، يَقُودُهُ أَوَّلُ بَاطِلٍ إِلَى أَبْعَدِ غَايَاتِ الْخُسَارَةِ، وَ يُمُدُّ يَدَهُ بَعْدَ طَلَبِهِ لِمَا لَا يَقْدِرُ [عَلَيْهِ] فِي طُغْيَانِهِ، فَهُوَ يُجُلُّ مَا حَرَّمَ اللَّهُ، وَ يُحَرِّمُ مَا أَحَلَّ اللَّهُ لَا يُبَالِي مَا فَاتَ مِنْ دِينِهِ إِذَا سَلِمَتْ لَهُ رِئَاسَتُهُ الَّتِي قَدْ شَقِيَ مِنْ أَجْلِهَا. فَأُولَئِكَ [مَعَ] الَّذِينَ غَضِبَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِمْ- وَ لَعَنَهُمْ وَ أَعَدَّ لَهُمْ عَذَابًا مُهيناً

He flounders clumsily in speech. He would sit upon the first falsehood to the remotest point of the loss, and he would extend his hand seeking what he is not able upon during his rebellion. So (then) he permits what Allah^{-azwj} has Prohibited, and prohibits what Allah^{-azwj} has Permitted, not caring what is lost from his Religion when his government is safe for him, which he had been wicked for, for its reason. They are with those whom Allah^{-azwj} is Wrathful upon them, and Curses them, and has Prepared for them an abasing Punishment.

وَ لَكِنَّ الرَّجُلَ كُلَّ الرَّجُلِ، نِعْمَ الرَّجُلُ- هُوَ الَّذِي جَعَلَ هَوَاهُ تَبَعاً لِأَمْرِ اللَّهِ، وَ قُوَاهُ مَبْذُولَةً فِي رِضَاءِ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى، يَرَى الذُّلَّ مَعَ الحُّقِ أَقْرَبَ إِلَى عَزِّ الْأَبَدِ- مِنَ اللَّعَمِ فِي دَارٍ لَا تَبِيدُ وَ لَا تَنْفَذُ، وَ إِنَّ كَثِيرَ مَا يَلْحَقْهُ مِنْ سَرَّائِهَا إِنِ اتَّبَعَ هَوَاهُ- يُؤَذِيهِ إِلَى دَوَامِ النِّعَمِ فِي دَارٍ لَا تَبِيدُ وَ لَا تَنْفَذُ، وَ إِنَّ كَثِيرَ مَا يَلْحَقْهُ مِنْ سَرَّائِهَا إِنِ اتَّبَعَ هَوَاهُ- يُؤَذِيهِ إِلَى دَوَامِ النِّعَمِ فِي دَارٍ لَا تَبِيدُ وَ لَا تَنْفَذُ، وَ إِنَّ كَثِيرَ مَا يَلْحَقْهُ مِنْ سَرَّائِهَا إِنِ اتَّبَعَ هَوَاهُ لَوْ الرَّوْلَ.

However, a (rare) man among other men, the best of the men - he is the one who makes his own desires to be obedient to the Command of Allah^{-azwj}, and his strength to be utilised regarding the Pleasure of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted. He accepts the disgrace for being with the truth (and takes it) as an honour of the (pious) servant than (to embrace) the honour in (associating with) the falsehood. And he knows that the little what he endures from its adversities would lead him to the perpetual Bounties in a House which would neither terminate nor deplete. And even if it is a lot what he faces from the joys, if he were to follow his own desires, these would lead him to the Punishment having neither a termination to it nor a decline.

فَذَلِكُمُ الرَّجُلُ نِعْمَ الرَّجُلُ، فَبِهِ فَتَمَسَّكُوا، وَ بِشُنَّتِهِ فَاقْتَدُوا، وَ إِلَى رَبِّكُمْ فَبِهِ فَتَوَسَّلُوا، فَإِنَّهُ لَا تُرتَّ لَهُ دَعْوَةٌ، وَ لَا تُحَيَّبُ لَهُ طَلِبَةٌ.

So that is the man, best of the men. Thus, with him you should be attaching to, and with his practices you should be trusting, and to your Lord^{-azwj} you should be (using him) as a means, for he is such that his supplication would not be rejected, nor would his seeking be ignored'.⁴⁵⁵

2- لي، الأمالي للصدوق عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص أَسْعَدُ النَّاسِ مَنْ خَالَطَ كِرَامَ النَّاسِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadoug -

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Most fortunate of the people is the one mingling with the honourable people''.⁴⁵⁶

3- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْمُظَفَّرِ الْبُرَّازِ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ رَجَاءٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ الْعَطَّارِ عَنْ الْمُبَارِكِ بْن حَسَّانَ عَنْ عَطِيَّةَ عَن ابْن عَبَّاسِ قَالَ: قِيلَ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ أَيُّ الْجُلَسَاءِ خَيْرٌ

 $^{^{455}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 1

⁴⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 2

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Muhammad Bin Al Muzaffar Al Bazzaz, from Al-Hassan Bin Raja'a, from Abdullah Bin Suleyman, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Attar, from Haroun Bin Abu Burdah, from Ubeydullah Bin Musa, from Al Mubarak Bin Hassan, from Atiyya,

'From Ibn Abbas who said, 'It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Which of the gatherers are better?'

He^{-saww} said: 'One, seeing him reminds you of Allah^{-azwj}, and his talking increases in your knowledge, and his actions remind you of the Hereafter''.⁴⁵⁷

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from one of our companions raising it, said,

'Luqman^{-as} said to his^{-as} son: 'O my^{-as} son! Be a slave to the good ones and do not be a son to the evil ones". 458

5- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ عَنِ الْأَشْعُرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ الرَّازِيِّ عَنْ سِجَادَةَ عَنْ دُرُسْتَ عَنْ أَبِي حَالِدٍ السِّجِسْتَايِ ٓ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَالَ: حَصَالٍ مَنْ فَقَدَ مِنْهُنَّ وَاحِدَةً لَمَّ يَزَلْ نَاقِصَ الْعَيْشِ زَائِلَ الْعَقْلِ مَشْعُولَ الْقَلْبِ فَأَوَلَمُنَا صِحَّةُ الْبَدَنِ وَ التَّانِيَةُ الْأَمْنُ وَ التَّالِيَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرِّرْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ الْمَدَنِ وَ التَّالِيَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرِّرْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ الْمَدَنِ وَ التَّالِيَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرِّرْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ الْمَدَنِ وَ التَّالِيَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرِّرْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّوْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّوْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّوْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّوْقِ وَ الرَّابِعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّابِعِةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّابِقِ اللَّالِيَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الْهُولُولُ الْقَالِمَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ فِي الرَّابِقُ اللَّهُ السَّعَةُ السَّعِةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعِةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعِيْمِ السَّعِيْمِ السَّعِيْمِ السَّعِةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَالِيَةُ السَّعِمُ السَّعَةُ السَّعَالِيْلِيْلُولُولُ السَّلِيْلُ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Muhammad Al Attar, from Al Ashary, from Abu Abdullah Al Razy, from Sajadah, from Dorost, from Abu Khalid Al Sijistani,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Five characteristics, one who misses one of these will not cease to be of deficient living, decline of the intellect, pre-occupied of the heart. The first of these is health of the body, and the second is the security, and the third is vastness in the sustenance, and the fourth is the compatible comforter'.

قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْأَنِيسُ الْمُوَافِقُ

I said, 'And what is the compatible comforter?'

He^{-asws} said: 'The righteous wife, and the righteous child, and the righteous associate; and the fifth, and it is a summary of these characteristics, is the friendliness''. 459

⁴⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 3

 $^{^{458}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 4

⁴⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 5

6- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ إِدْرِيسَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ هَاشِمٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَرَّارٍ عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ السَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: خَمْسٌ مَنْ لَمْ تَكُنْ فِيهِ لَمْ يَتَهَنَ بِالْعَيْشِ الصَّحِّةُ وَ الْأَمْنُ وَ الْفِيْى وَ الْقَنَاعَةُ وَ الْأَنِيسُ الْمُوَافِقُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Idrees, from his father, from Ibn Hashim, from Ibn Marrar, from Yunus, from Ibn Sinan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Five (things), one who does not happen to have (these) in him, will not enjoy with the life – the health, and the security, and the riches, and the contentment, and the compatible comforter".⁴⁶⁰

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Al Attar, from his father, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Abu Al Jaroud,

'From Abu Ja'far Al-Baqir^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'One who pauses himself in a pausing of accusation, he should not blame the one who thinks evil with him; and the one who conceals his secrets, the goodness will be in his own hands; and every Hadeeth exceeding two (persons) is a spread.

And place the affair of your brother upon his goodness until there comes to you from him what overcomes you; and do not think of any word coming out from your brother as evil while you can find a carrier for it in the good.

And upon you is with the truthful brethren therefore frequent from their acquisitions, for they are a tool during the hope, and a shield during the affliction; and consult regarding your Hadeeth, the ones who are fearing Allah^{-azwj}; and love the brethren based upon a measurement of piety'.

And fear the evil women; and be upon carefulness from their good ones, if they were to instruct you with the act of kindness, oppose them lest they be covetous from you regarding the evil". 461

Page 200 of 462

⁴⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 6

⁴⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 7

8- لي، الأمالي للصدوق أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ وَاعِظٌ مِنْ قَلْبِهِ وَ زَاجِرٌ مِنْ نَفْسِهِ وَ لَمْ يَكُنْ لُهُ قَرِيرٌ مُرْشِدٌ اسْتَمْكَرَ عَدُوهُ مِنْ عُنُقِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al Mufazzal,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who does not happen to have a preaching from his own heart and a rebuke from his own soul, and there does not happen to have a guiding pair for him, his enemies will be enabled from his neck''.⁴⁶²

9- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى دَارِمٍ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص اطْلُبُوا الْخَيْرَ عِنْدَ حِسَانِ الْوُجُوهِ فَإِنَّ فِعَالْهُمْ أَحْرَى أَنْ تَكُونَ حَسَناً.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the chain to Darim, from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Seek the good with the good-looking faces, for their actions are more appropriate to be good''.⁴⁶³

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Hashim, from Ibn Al Mugheira, from Al Sakuny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Do not cut off respecting your father for your Noor (radiance) will be extinguished''.⁴⁶⁴

11- سن، المحاسن عَلِيُّ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ الْقَاسَانِيُّ عَمَّنْ ذَكَرَهُ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ الْجُعْفَرِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ وَضَعَ حُبَّهُ فِي غَيْرِ مَوْضِعِهِ وَاللَّهِ عَنْ عَبْرِ مَوْضِعِهِ وَعَلَى مَوْضِعِهِ وَعَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ مَوْضِعِهِ وَعَلَى اللهِ عَنْ عَبْرِ مَوْضِعِهِ وَعَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهِ اللّهِ عَلَيْ عَلَيْلُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْدِ اللّهِ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْعَ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكِ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عِلْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمِ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ali Bin Muhammad Al Qasany, from the one who mentioned it, from Abdullah Bin Al Qasim Al Ja'fary who said,

'One who places his loved in other than its (rightful) place, so he has exposed (himself) to the cutting off". 465

12- ضا، فقه الرضا عليه السلام رُوِي إِنْ كُنْتَ ثَحِبُ أَنْ تَسْتَتِبَ لَكَ النِّعْمَةُ وَ تَكْمُلَ لَكَ الْمُرُوَّةُ وَ تَصْلُحَ لَكَ الْمَعِيشَةُ فَلَا تُشْرِكِ الْعَبِيدَ وَ السَّفِلَةَ فِي أَمْرُكَ فَإِنَّكَ إِن اثْتَمَنْتُهُمْ حَانُوكَ وَ إِنْ حَدَّنُوكَ وَ إِنْ نُكِبْتَ حَذَلُوكَ

(The book) 'Figh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} –

'It is reported: 'If you like the bounty to remain good for you and the manliness to be perfect for you, and the life to be correct for you, then do not participate the slaves and the lowly in

⁴⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 8

⁴⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 9

 $^{^{464}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 10

⁴⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 11

your affairs, for if you were to trust them, they will betray you, and if they were to narrate to you, they will lie to you, and if you were to be afflicted, they will abandon you.

And it is upon you to accompany the one with intellect, if you do not praise his generosity you will benefit with his intellect; and protect from evil manners; and do not leave accompaniment of the generous ones, and even if you do not praise his intellect, but you will benefit with his generosity to your intellect; and flee with all the fleeing from the idiot, the mean". 466

(The book) 'Al Saraair' – From the book of Abu Al Qasim Bin Qawlawiya,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When you were to see a garden from the gardens of Paradise, then pasture in it'.

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! And what is a garden of Paradise?'

قَالَ مَجَالِسُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ.

He-saww said: 'Gathering of the Momineen''.467

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Ask the scholars, and mingle with the wise ones, and sit with the poor''. 468

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Abu Muhammad Al-Askari^{-asws} said: 'Best of your brethren is the one who attributes your offense to himself''.⁴⁶⁹

⁴⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 12

 $^{^{467}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 13

 $^{^{468}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 14

⁴⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 15

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said in a bequest to Al-Hassan^{-asws}: 'Pair (yourself) with the good people, you^{-asws} will become from them, and stay apart from the evil people, you will turn away from them''. 470

(The book) 'Kanz Al-Karajaky' -

'It is reported that Suleyman^{-as} said: 'Do not judge upon a man with anything until you look at who he accompanies, for rather the man is recognised by his familiarities, and his pairs, and he is attributed to his companions and his co-dwellers''.⁴⁷¹

And it is reported in (the book) 'Al Kamil' -

'Abdullah Bin Ja'far missed a friend of his from his gathering, then he came to him. He said, 'Where did you disappear?'

He said, 'I had gone out to a land from the lands of Al-Medina with a friend of mine'.

He said to him, 'If you cannot find an escape from company of the men, then upon you is with the company of the one, if you were to accompany him he will adorn you, and if you were to be absent from him he will protect you, and if you were to be needy to him he will assist you, and if he sees a hole from you he will fill it, or a good deed he will count it, or promised you he will not deprive you, and if you were to frequent to him he will not reject you, and if you were to ask him he will give you, and if you were to withhold from him he will initiate you". 472 (Not a Hadeeth)

(The book) 'A'lam Al-Deen' – It is reported by Jabir Bin Abdullah,

 $^{^{470}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 16

 $^{^{471}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 17 a

⁴⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 17 b

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'Do not be sitting except with every scholar calling you from five to five – from the doubt to the certainty, and from the showing-off to the sincerity, and from the desire to the dread, and from the arrogance to the humbleness, and from the cheating to the good advice". 473

And the disciples said to Isa-as, 'Whom should we sit to?'

He^{-as} said: 'One seeing him reminds you of Allah^{-azwj}, and his deeds make you desirous regarding the Hereafter, and his knowledge increases in your talking'.

And he^{-as} said to them: 'Draw closer to Allah^{-azwj} by distancing from the people of disobedience and become beloved to Him^{-azwj} by hating them and seek His^{-azwj} Satisfaction with dissatisfying them''.⁴⁷⁴

And Luqman^{-as} said to his^{-as} son: 'O my^{-as} son! Accompany the scholar and draw closer to them, and sit with them, and visit them in their houses, perhaps you will resemble them, so you will become with them.

And sit with their righteous ones, some Allah^{-azwj} will Shower them with Mercy so you will be included in it, and it will come to you; and if you were to be righteous, then distance from the evil and the foolish ones, sometimes Allah^{-azwj} will Hit them with Punishment so you may be hit with them.

Allah^{-azwj} the Glorious and Exalted has Disclosed by His^{-azwj} words: **so after remembering, do** not sit with the unjust people [6:68]; whenever you hear Signs of Allah being disbelieved in and mocked with, so do not be sitting with them until they engage in a discussion other than

⁴⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 a

⁴⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 b

it; then you would be like them; [4:140] – meaning in the sin; and the Glorious Said: And you should not incline towards those who are unjust, so the Fire would touch you, [11:113]".⁴⁷⁵

وَ قَالَ النَّبِيُّ صِ إِذَا اجْتَمَعَ قَوْمٌ يَذُكُرُونَ اللَّهَ تَعَالَى اعْتَزَلَ الشَّيْطَانُ وَ الدُّنْيَا عَنْهُمْ فَيَقُولُ الشَّيْطَانُ لِلدُّنْيَا أَ لَا تَرَيْنَ مَا يَصْنَعُونَ فَتَقُولُ الدُّنْيَا دَعْهُمْ فَلَوْ قَدْ تَفَرَّقُوا أَخَذْتُ بَأَعْنَاقِهِمْ.

And the Prophet^{-saww} said: 'When a group of people gather, mentioning Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, the Satan^{-la} and the world isolates from them. The Satan^{-la} says to the world, 'Do you not see what they are doing?' The world said, 'Leave them, for when they disperse, I shall seize them by their necks!''⁴⁷⁶

وَ قَالَ النَّبِيُّ صِ الْمَجَالِسُ ثَلَاثَةٌ عَانِمٌ وَ سَالِمٌ وَ شَاحِبٌ فَأَمَّا الْغَانِمُ فَالَّذِي يَذْكُرُ اللّهَ تَعَالَى فِيهِ وَ أَمَّا السَّالِمُ فَالسَّاكِتُ وَ أَمَّا الشَّاجِبُ فَالَّذِي يَخُوضُ فِي الْبَاطِل.

And the Prophet^{-saww} said: 'The gathering is of three (types of people) – a gainer, and a safe one, and (one resembling) a dead. As for the gainer, he is the one who does Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted in it, and as for the safe one, he is the silent, and as for the (one resembling) the dead, he is the one who dives into the falsehood".⁴⁷⁷

وَ قَالَ صِ الْجَلِيسُ الصَّالِحُ خَيْرٌ مِنَ الْوَحْدَةِ وَ الْوَحْدَةُ خَيْرٌ مِنْ جَلِيسِ السَّوْءِ.

And he-saww said: 'Sitting with the righteous one is better than being alone and being alone is better than sitting with the evil one''. 478

-

 $^{^{475}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 c

 $^{^{}m 476}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 d

 $^{^{}m 477}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 e

 $^{^{\}rm 478}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 13 H 18 f

باب 14 من لا ينبغي مجالسته و مصادقته و مصاحبته و المجالس التي لا ينبغي الجلوس فيها

CHAPTER 14 – ONE WHOSE GATHERING, AND HIS FRIENDSHIP, AND HIS COMPANY IS NOT BEFITTING, AND THE GATHERING IS IT NOT BEFITTING TO BE SITTING IN IT

الآيات

The Verses

الأنعام وَ إِذا زَأَيْتَ الَّذِينَ يَخُوضُونَ فِي آياتِنا فَأَعْرِضْ عَنْهُمْ حَتَّى يَخُوضُوا فِي حَدِيثٍ غَيْرِهِ وَ إِمَّا يُنْسِيَنَّكَ الشَّيْطانُ فَلا تَقْعُدْ بَعْدَ الذِّكْرى مَعَ الْقَوْمِ الظَّالِمِينَ-

(Surah) Al Anaam - And when you see those engaging in vanities regarding Our Signs, turn away from them until they are engaging in another discussion. And as for what the Satan makes you forget, so after remembering, do not sit with the unjust people [6:68]

وَ مَا عَلَى الَّذِينَ يَتَّقُونَ مِنْ حِسَابِهِمْ مِنْ شَيْءٍ وَ لَكِنْ ذِكْرَى لَعَلَّهُمْ يَتَّقُونَ

And there would not be upon those who are fearing, anything from their Reckoning, but (it is) a reminder, perhaps they would be fearing [6:69]

الفرقان وَ يَوْمَ يَعَضُّ الظَّالِمُ عَلَى يَدَيْهِ يَقُولُ يا لَيْتَنِي اتَّخَذْتُ مَعَ الرَّسُولِ سَبِيلًا

(Surah) Al Furqan - And on the Day, the unjust one would bite upon his hand saying, 'O I wish I had taken Sabeel along with the Rasoo!!' [25:27]

- يا وَيْلَتِي لَيْتَنِي لَمْ أَتَّخِذْ فْلاناً حَلِيلًا-

Oh! I wish I had not taken so and so as a friend! [25:28]

لَقَدْ أَضَلَّنِي عَنِ النِّكْرِ بَعْدَ إِذْ جاءِنِي وَ كَانَ الشَّيْطَانُ لِلْإِنْسَانِ حَذُولًا

He strayed me away from the Zikr after when it had come to me; and the Satan has always abandoned the human being! [25:29].

1- لي، الأمالي للصدوق عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص أَحْكُمُ النَّاسِ مَنْ فَرَّ مِنْ جُهَّالِ النَّاسِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Wisest of the people is one who flees from the ignorant people''. 479

⁴⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 1

Page 206 of 462

2- لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَتِيلٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَنِ بْنِ الْحَجَّاجِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ رَأَى أَحَاهُ عَلَى وَلَّى الْمُحَقِّقِ الْأَحْمَقِ أَوْشَكَ أَنْ يَتَحَلَّقَ بِأَخْلَاقِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – 'Ibn Al Waleed, from Ibn Matteel, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Yunus, from Abdul Rahman Bin Al Hajjaj,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who sees his brother being upon a matter he abhors, and he does not return him from it and (although) he is able upon (returning) him, so he has betrayed him; and one who does not stay aside from friendship of the idiots will be on the verge of adopting his manners''. 480

(The books) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi, (and) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar', (and), 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq,

'In a Hadeeth, the Syrian asked Amir Al-Momineen-asws, 'Which companion is evilest?'

قَالَ الْمُزَيِّهُ لَكَ مَعْصِيَةَ اللَّهِ.

He-asws said: 'The one who adorns to you (an act of) disobedience to Allah-azwj''. 481

4- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ مُوسَى عَنِ الصُّوفِيِّ عَنِ الرُّويَانِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحُسَنِیِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عِ قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عِ مُجَالَسَةُ الْأَشْرَارِ تُورِثُ سُوءَ الظَّنِّ بِالْأَخْيَارِ.

(The books) 'Uyoun Akhbar **Al-Reza^{-asws}**', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, (and), 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – from Al Sowfy, from Al Rowbany, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasani,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws, from his-asws forefathers-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said: 'Sitting with the evil ones inherits the evil thoughts with the good people''. 482

5- ب، قرب الإسناد مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ دَاوُدَ الرَّقِيِّ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع انْظُرْ إِلَى كُلِّ مَنْ لَا يُفِيدُكَ مَنْفَعَةً فِي دِينِكَ فَلَا تَعْتَدَّنَّ بِهِ وَ لَا تَرْغَبَنَّ فِي صُحْبَيَهِ فَإِنَّ كُلَّ مَا سِوَى اللَّهِ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى مُضْمَحِلٌّ وَخِيمٌ عَاقِبَتُهُ.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnad' - Muhammad Bin Al Waleed, from Dawood Al Raqqy who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to me: 'Look at each one who does not benefit you a benefit in your religion. Neither be counted with him, nor be desirous regarding his company, for all what is besides Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted will vanish, it's consequences detrimental". 483

6- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَيْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ الْحَصْرِمِيِّ عَنِ الْبَجَلِيِّ عَنْ جَمِيلٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ الْمُحَارِبِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ السَّاعِ وَ مُجَالَسَةُ الْأَنْذَالِ وَ الْحَدِيثُ مَعَ النِّسَاءِ وَ مُجَالَسَةُ الْأَغْنِيَاءِ الْخَبَرَ.

⁴⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 3

⁴⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 2

⁴⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 4

⁴⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 5

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Al-Husayn, from Abu Al-Husayn Al Hazramy, from Al Bajali, from Jameel, from Muhammad Bin Saeed, from Al Muhariby,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three, their gatherings deaden the heart – gathering of the villains, and the discussion with the women, and gatherings of the rich' – the Hadeeth''.⁴⁸⁴

7- ل، الخصال الْقَاسِمُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ السراح [السَّرَّاجُ] عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ الضَّيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْعَزِيزِ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ مُوسَى عَنْ سُفْيَانَ الثَّوْرِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: لَا تَصْحَب الْفَاجِرَ فَيُعَلِّمَكُ مِنْ فُجُورِه

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Qasim Bin Muhammad Al Sarraj, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad Al Zaby, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Aziz, from Ubeydullah Bin Musa, from Sufyan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Do not accompany the immoral for he will teach you from his immorality'.

ثُمُّ قَالَ ع أَمَرِنِ وَالِدِي بِثَلَاثٍ وَ كَمَانِي عَنْ ثَلَاثٍ فَكَانَ فِيمَا قَالَ لِي يَا بُئِيَّ مَنْ يَصْحَبْ صَاحِبَ السَّوْءِ لَا يَسْلَمْ وَ مَنْ يَدْخُلْ مَدَاخِلَ السَّوْءِ يُتَّهَمْ وَ مَنْ لَا يَمْلكُ لسَانَهُ يَنْدُمْ الْخَيَرَ.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'My^{-asws} father^{-asws} instructed me^{-asws} with three and forbade me^{-asws} from three. It was among what he^{-asws} said to me^{-asws}: 'O my^{-asws} son^{-asws}! One who accompanies the evil companions will not be safe, and one who enters, and evil entry will be accused, and one who does not control his tongue will regret' – the Hadeeth''.⁴⁸⁵

8- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْيَقْطِينِيِّ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ حَنَانِ بْنِ سَدِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ عَ لَا تُقَارِنْ وَ لَا تُواخِ أَرْبَعَةً الْأَحْمَقَ وَ الْبَخِيارَ وَ الْجُبَانَ وَ الْكَذَّابَ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Sa'ad, from Al Yaqteeny, from Al Qasim Bin Yusuf, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father who said,

'Neither pair nor establish brotherhood with four – the idiot, and the miser, and the coward, and the liar.

أَمَّا الْأَحْمُقُ فَإِنَّهُ يُرِيدُ أَنْ يَنْفَعَكَ فَيَصْرُكَ وَ أَمَّا الْبَخِيلُ فَإِنَّهُ يَأْلِحُذُ مِنْكَ وَ لَا يُعْطِيكَ وَ أَمَّا الْجَبَّانُ فَإِنَّهُ يَمْدُقُ وَ لَا يُصَدَّقُ.

As for the idiot, he intends to benefit you but (ends up) harming you, and as for the miser, he takes from you and does not give you, and as for the coward, he flees away from you and from his parents, and as for the liar, he ratifies and is not ratified".⁴⁸⁶

9- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ الجِعَابِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ يَخْتِي بْنِ زَكْرِيًّا عَنْ أُسَيْدِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرُوَانَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: إِيَّاكَ وَ صُحْبَةَ الْأَحْمَقِ فَإِنَّهُ أَقْرِبُ مَا تَكُونُ مِنْهُ أَقْرِبُ مَا يَكُونُ إِلَى مَسَاءَتِكَ.

⁴⁸⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 6

 $^{^{\}rm 485}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 7

⁴⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 8

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Al Jiany, from Ibn Uqdah, from Ahmad Bin Yahya Bin Zakariya, from Useyd Bin Zayd, from Muhammad Bin Marwan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Beware of accompanying the idiot for the closest what you can be to him is the closest of what he would be to worsening you''. 487

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Al Maraghy, from Sawabat Bin Yazeed, from Ahmad Bin Ali Bin Al Musanna, from Shababa Bin Sawwar, from Al Mubarak Bin Saeed, from Khaleed Al Fara'a, from Al Muhabbar who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Four are spoilers for the hearts – being alone with the women and the listening from them and taking with their opinions and sitting with the dead'.

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! And what is sitting with the dead?'

He^{-saww} said: 'Every one straying from the Eman and tyrannous of the decisions". 488

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al-Husayni, from Musa Bin Abdullah Bin Musa, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Zayd, from his brother Yahya who said,

'I asked my father Zayd, son of Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws, 'Who is most rightful of the people to be cautious of?'

He said, 'Three – the immoral enemy, and the treacherous friend, and the tyrannous ruler". 489

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – By a chain of Al Mujashie,

⁴⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 9

 $^{^{488}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 10

⁴⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 11

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The person is upon the religion of his friend, so let every one of you look at who his friend is''.⁴⁹⁰

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi - By the chain to Abu Qatadah,

'From Abu Abdullah 'sws' having said: 'In some advice by Waraqah Bin Nowfal to Khadeeja's, 'Beware of accompanying the idiot, the liar, for he intends to benefit you's but (instead) he harms you's, and he draws the remote one closer to you's, and distances the near one from you's.

إِنِ ائْتَمَنْتُهُ حَانَكَ وَ إِنِ ائْتَمَنَكَ أَهَانَكَ وَ إِنْ حَدَّثَكَ كَذَبَكَ وَ إِنْ حَدَّثْتُهُ كَذَبَكَ وَ أَنْتَ مِنْهُ مِتْوَلَةِ السَّرَابِ الَّذِي يَحْسَبُهُ الظَّمْآنُ ماءً حَتَّ إِذا جاءَهُ لَمْ يَكِنْهُ شَيْئاً.

If you^{-as}-were to entrust him he will betray you, and if he were to entrust you, he will weaken you, and if he narrates to you, he will lie to you and if you were to narrate to him, he will belie you, and will be from him at the status of the mirage which he *reckons it to be water, until* when he comes to it, he does not find anything, [24:39]". derogatory - Does not make sense Nowfal advising Lady Khadeeja^{-as})

41- ع، علل الشرائع أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ هَاشِمٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ شَرِيكٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص لَا تَسُبُّوا قُرَيْشاً وَ لَا تُبْغِضُوا الْعَرَبَ وَ لَا تُنِلُّوا الْمَوَالِىَ وَ لَا تُسَاكِبُوا الْخُوزَ وَ لَا تُرَوِّجُوا إِلَيْهِمْ فَإِنَّ لَمُمْ عِرْقاً يَدْعُوهُمْ إِلَى غَيْرِ الْوَفَاءِ.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Hashim, from Abdullah Bin Hammad, from Shareek, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Neither revile a Quraysh, nor hate the Arabs, from humiliate the slaves, nor dwell in Khowz (Khuzestan), nor marry to them for there is a vein for them calling them to other than the loyalty''.⁴⁹²

15- ع، علل الشرائع أَبِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ هِشَامٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: يَا هِشَامُ النَّبَطُ لَيْسَ مِنَ الْعَرَبِ وَ لَا مِنَ الْعَجَمِ فَلَا تَتَّخِذْ مِنْهُمْ وَلِيّاً وَ لَا نَصِيراً فَإِنَّ هُمُ أُصُولًا تَدْعُو إِلَى غَيْرِ الْوَفَاءِ.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – My father, from Muhammad Al Attar, from Al-Husayn Bin Tareyf, from Hisham,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'O Hisham! The Nabateans aren't from the Arabs nor are they from the Persians. Neither take a friend from them, nor a helpers. There is a root for them calling to other than the loyalty''.⁴⁹³

⁴⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 12

 $^{^{491}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 13

 $^{^{}m 492}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 14

⁴⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 15

16- ع، علل الشرائع ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ السَّعْدَ آبَادِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْخَسَنِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَخِيهِ مُوسَى قَالَ قَالَ عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ عَلْهِ أَنْ تَقْعُدَ مَعَ مَنْ شِفْتَ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى يَقُولُ- وَ إِذَا رَأَيْتَ الَّذِينَ يَخُوضُونَ فِي آياتِنا فَأَعْرِضْ عَنْهُمْ حَتَّى يَخُوضُوا فِي حَدِيثٍ غَيْرٍهِ وَ إِمَّا يُنْسِيَنَكَ الشَّيْطَانُ فَلا تَقْعُدُ مَعَ مَنْ شِفْتَ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى يَقُولُ- وَ إِذَا رَأَيْتَ الَّذِينَ يَخُوضُونَ فِي آياتِنا فَأَعْرِضْ عَنْهُمْ حَتَّى يَخُوضُوا فِي حَدِيثٍ غَيْرٍه وَ إِمَّا يُنْسَاقِيمِينَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْتُ اللَّهُ مِنْ شَفْدُ بَعْدَ النَّيْطُونُ فَلَ تَقُعُدُ مَعَ مَنْ شِفْتَ الْقَوْمِ الظَّلِمِينَ

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Asadabady, from Al Barqy, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany,

'From Ali son of Ja'far-asws, from his brother-asws Musa-asws having said: 'Ali Bin Al-Husayn-asws said: 'It isn't for you to sit with the one you so desire to because Allah-azwj Blessed and Exalted Says: And when you see those engaging in vanities regarding Our Signs, turn away from them until they are engaging in another discussion. And as for what the Satan makes you forget, so after remembering, do not sit with the unjust people [6:68].

وَ لَيْسَ لَكَ أَنْ تَتَكَلَّمَ عِمَا شِئْتَ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ قَالَ وَ لا تَقْفُ ما لَيْسَ لَكَ بِهِ عِلْمٌ وَ لِأَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص قَالَ رَحِمَ اللَّهُ عَبْداً قَالَ حَيْراً فَغَنِمَ أَوْ صَمَتَ فَسَلَمَ فَسَلَمَ

And it isn't for you to speak with whatever you so desire because Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majesty Said: *And do not stand on what there isn't any knowledge for you of it.* [17:36], and because Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a servant who speaks good, so he gains, or he stays silent, so he is safe'.

وَ لَيْسَ لَكَ أَنْ تَسْمَعَ مَا شِعْتَ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ يَقُولُ إِنَّ السَّمْعَ وَ الْبَصَرَ وَ الْفُؤادَكُلُّ أُولِئِكَ كَانَ عَنْهُ مَسْؤُلًا.

And it isn't for you that you listen to whatever you so desire to because Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Says: *Surely the ears, and the eyes, and the heart, each of these would be Questioned about it [17:36]*". 494

17- مع، معاني الأخبار أَبِي عَنِ الْجِنْيَرِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ رَفَعَهُ عَنِ ابْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنِ ابْنِ ثُبَاتَةَ عَنِ الْخَارِثِ الْأَعْوَرِ قَالَ قَالَ عَلِيٌّ ع لِلْحَسَنِ ع فِي مَسَائِلِهِ الَّتِي الْمُواةِ. سَأَلُهُ عَنْهَا يَا بُئَيَّ مَا السَّفَهُ فَقَالَ اتِّبَاعُ الدُّنَاةِ وَ مُصَاحَبَةُ الْغُواةِ.

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Al Himeyri, from Al Barqy, raising it from Ibn Tareyf, from Ibn Nubara, from Al Haris Al Awr who said,

'Ali-asws said to Al-Hassan-asws among his-asws questions which he-asws asked him-asws about: 'O my-asws son-asws! What is the foolishness?' He-asws said: 'Following the lowly and accompanying the deceitful''.

18- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ السَّعْدَآبَادِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: خَمْسٌ مِنْ خَمْسَةٍ مُحَالٌ النَّصِيحَةُ مِنَ الْحُاسِدِ مُحَالٌ وَ الْفَقْدُ مُحَالٌ. وَ الشَّفَقَةُ مِنَ الْعَدُوّ مُحَالٌ وَ الْحُرْمَةُ مِنَ الْفَاسِقِ مُحَالٌ وَ الْوَفَاءُ مِنَ الْمُرَّاةِ مُحَالٌ وَ الْمُبْبَةُ مِنَ الْفَقْر مُحَالٌ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Asadabady, from Al Barqy, from his father raising it to,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he^{-asws} said: 'Five are impossible from five – the good advice from the envier is impossible, and the compassion from the enemy is impossible, and the respect from

 $^{^{\}rm 494}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 16

⁴⁹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 17

the mischief-maker is impossible, and the loyalty from the woman is impossible, and the prestige from the poverty is impossible". 496

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'Among the prohibitions by the Prophet-saww, he-saww forbade from the conversation which calls to other than Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic''. 497

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Al Yaqteeny, from Al Dihqan, from Dorost,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Four (things) go to waste – cordiality bestowed on the one having not loyalty for him, and an act of kindness to the one having not appreciation for him, and knowledge with the one having not listening for him, and a secret you entrust with the one having no wisdom for him''.⁴⁹⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Waleed, from Ibn Aban, from Al-Husayn Bin Saeed, from Fazalah, from Yahya Al Halby, from his father, from Abdullah Bin Suleyman,

'From Abu Ja'far Al-Baqir^{-asws} having said to a man: 'O so and so! Do not sit with the rich for the servant would sit with them and he will be viewing that there is a bounty of Allah^{-azwj} upon him (before sitting with them), so he will not stand up until he views that there isn't any bounty of Allah^{-azwj} upon him''.⁴⁹⁹

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' of Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Himeyri, from Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqa,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Four deaden the heart – the sin upon the sin; and frequent conversations with the women, meaning discussing with them; and bitter arguments with the idiot, you say, and he says, and he does not return to good; and sitting with the dead'.

⁴⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 18

 $^{^{497}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 19

 $^{^{\}rm 498}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 20

⁴⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 21

فَقِيلَ لَهُ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ وَ مَا الْمَوْتَى

It was said to him-saww, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww, and what are the dead?'

قَالَ كُلُّ غَنِيّ مُثْرَفٍ.

He^{-saww} said: 'Every affluent rich one''. 500

23 - ضا، فقه الرضا عليه السلام رُويَ لَا تَقْطَعْ أُودًاءَ أَبِيكَ فَيُطْفَى نُورُكَ.

(The book) 'Figh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, 'It is reported: 'Do not cut off respect of your father for your radiance will be extinguished''. ⁵⁰¹

24- سر، السرائر مِنْ كِتَابِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْأَعْلَى عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ بِاللّهِ وَ الْيَوْمِ الْآخِرِ فَلَا يَجْلِس يُسَبُّ فِيهِ إِمَامٌ وَ يُعَابُ فِيهِ مُسْلِمٌ

(The book) 'Al Saraair', from a book of Abu Al Qasim Bin Qawlawayh, from Abdul A'ala,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who were to believe in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should not sit in a gathering wherein an Imam^{-asws} is reviled, and a Muslim is being faulted in it.

إِنَّ اللَّهَ يَقُولُ وَ إِذَا زَأَيْتَ الَّذِينَ يَخُوضُونَ فِي آياتِنا فَأَعْرِضْ عَنْهُمْ حَتَّى يَخُوضُوا فِي حَدِيثٍ غَيْرِهِ وَ إِمَّا يُنْسِيَنَّكَ الشَّيْطانُ فَلا تَقْعُدْ بَعْدَ الذَّكْرى مَعَ الْقُوْمِ الظَّالِمِينَ.

Allah^{-azwj} Says: **And when you see those engaging in vanities regarding Our Signs, turn away** from them until they are engaging in another discussion. And as for what the Satan makes you forget, so after remembering, do not sit with the unjust people [6:68]". 502

25- جا، المجالس للمفيد ابْنُ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنْ سُلَيْمَانَ الجُعْفَرِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا الْحَسَنِ ع يَقُولُ لِأَبِي مَا لِي زَأَيْتُكَ عِنْدَ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَن بْن يَعْقُوبَ

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Ibn Qawlawiya, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from Bakr Bin Salih, from Suleyman Al Ja'fari who said,

'I heard Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} saying to my father: 'What is the matter I^{-asws} saw you being with Abdul Rahman Bin Yagoub?'

قَالَ إِنَّهُ حَالِي

He said, 'He is my maternal uncle'.

⁵⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 22

 $^{^{501}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 23

⁵⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 24

Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said to him: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! He says a grievous word. He describes Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted and limits Him^{-azwj}. By Allah^{-azwj}, He^{-azwj} cannot be described! So either sit with him and leave us^{-asws}, nor sit with us^{-asws} and leave him'.

He said, 'He says whatever he so desires to. Which thing is upon me from him when I do not say what he says?'

Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said to him: 'Are you not fearing that if a scourge were to befall with him, it would hit you all together? Don't you know that which had happened from companions of Musa^{-as} and his^{-as} father was from the companions of Pharaoh^{-la}? When the cavalry of Pharaoh^{-la} met Musa^{-as}, he stayed back from him^{-la} in order to preach to him^{-la}, and Musa^{-as} came across him^{-la}, and his^{-as} father was arguing with him^{-la} until they reached edge of the sea and drowned together.

The news came to Musa^{-as}, so he^{-as} asked Jibraeel^{-as} about his state. He^{-as} said to him^{-as}: 'He drowned, may Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on him!' And he^{-la} did not happen to be upon the view of his^{-as} father, but the scourge, when it befalls, there does not happen to be any defence for it from the one who is near the sinner".⁵⁰³

(The book) 'Rijaal' of Al Kashy – Muhammad Bin Masoud, from Hamdawiya, from Al-Husayn Bin Musa, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Khas'ami, from Ibrahim Bin Abdul Hameed, from a man,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} and Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} having said: 'It is befitting for the man to protect companions of his father, for his being righteous with them is his being righteous with his parents".⁵⁰⁴

(The book) 'Rijaal' of Al Kashi -

 503 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 25 $\,$

⁵⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 26

'It is reported by Ali son of Ja'far^{-asws}, from his father^{-asws}, from his grandfather^{-asws}, from Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said to his^{-asws} sons: 'Sit with the people of religion and the understanding. If you are not able upon (sitting with) them, then being alone is more comforting and safer. If you were to refuse except you will sit with the people, the sin with the people of chivalry for they will not be obscene in their gatherings''.⁵⁰⁵

28- ختص، الإختصاص مُعَاوِيَةُ بْنُ وَهْبٍ قَالَ قَالَ الصَّادِقُ عَكَانَ أَبِي يَقُولُ قُمْ بِالحُقِّ وَ لَا تَعَرَّضْ لِمَا نَابَكَ وَ اعْتَزِلْ عَمَّا لَا يَعْنِيكَ وَ تَحَنَّبْ عَدُوكَ وَ احْذَرْ صَدِيقَكَ مِنَ الْأَقْوَامِ إِلَّا الْأَمِينَ الَّذِي حَشِيَ اللَّهَ وَ لَا تَصْحَبِ الْفَاجِرَ وَ لَا تُطْلِعُهُ عَلَى سِرِّكَ.

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' - Muawiya Bin Wahab said,

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'My^{-as} father^{-as} had said: 'Stand with the truth and do not be exposed to what don't expose yourself to what you are talking about and isolate from what does not concern you, and shun your enemy, and be cautious of your friend from the people except the trustworthy who fears Allah^{-azwj}, and do not accompany the immoral, and do not notify him upon your secret".⁵⁰⁶

29– ختص، الإختصاص عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ أَبِي عَلِيُّ بْنُ الحُسْمَيْنِ ع يَا بُئِيَّ انْظُرْ خَمْسَةً فَلَا تُصَاحِبْهُمْ وَ لَا ثُحَادِثْهُمْ وَ لَا تُرَافِقْهُمْ فِي طَرِيقِ

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' - From Muhammad Bin Muslim,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'My^{-asws} father Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn⁻asws said: 'O my^{-asws} son^{-asws}! Look at five (types of people), so neither accompany them nor discuss with them, nor escort them in the road'.

فَقُلْتُ يَا أَبَتِ مَنْ هُمْ عَرَّفْنِيهِمْ

I^{-asws} said: 'O father^{-asws}! Who are they? Introduce them to me^{-asws}'.

قَالَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْكَذَّابِ فَإِنَّهُ مِمْنْزِلَةِ السَّرَابِ يُقَرِّبُ لَكَ الْبَعِيدَ وَ يُبَعِّدُ لَكَ الْقَرِيب

He^{-asws} said: 'Beware of accompanying the liar, for he is at the status of the mirage, drawing the remote closer to you and distancing the near to you.

وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْفَاسِقِ فَإِنَّهُ بَائِعُكَ بِأَكْلَةٍ أَوْ أَقَلَّ مِنْ ذَلِكَ

Ad beware of accompanying the mischief-maker, for he will sell you for a meal or less than that.

وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْبَخِيلِ فَإِنَّهُ يَخْذُلُكَ فِي مَالِهِ أَحْوَجَ مَا تَكُونُ إِلَيْهِ

⁵⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 27

 $^{^{506}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 28

And beware of accompanying the miser, for he will abandon you regarding his wealth when you are neediest what you can be to it.

And beware of accompanying the idiot, for intends to benefit you and (will end up) harming you.

And beware of accompanying the cutter of his kinship. I^{-asws} have found him to have been Cursed in the Book of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in three places. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: So if perhaps you were to be rulers, you would make mischief in the land and cut off your relationships [47:22] They are those Allah has Cursed, [47:23].

And Mighty and Majestic Said: And those who are breaking the Pact of Allah from after its Covenanting and are cutting off relationships what Allah has Commanded with to be maintained, and they are corrupting in the land. They, for them is the Curse and for them would be the evil abode [13:25].

And He^{-azwj} Said in (Surah) Al-Baqarah: **Those who are breaking the Pact of Allah from after Covenanting it and are cutting asunder what Allah has Commanded to be joined and are making mischief in the land; those are the losers [2:27]**".⁵⁰⁷

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'A friend of an enemy of Ali^{-asws} is an enemy of Ali^{-asws}". ⁵⁰⁸

31-كِتَابُ صِفَاتِ الشِّيعَةِ، لِلصَّدُوقِ عَنِ الْعَطَّارِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ هَاشِمٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي بَجُوْانَ عَنِ ابْنِ مُمَيْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ قَيْسٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَعُلَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَّارِ وَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَحْيَارِ وَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَّارِ وَلَمُ مُوءَ الظَّنِّ بِالْأَحْيَارِ وَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَارِ اللَّهُ مَا اللَّهُ مِن الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَارِ وَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَارِ اللَّهُ مِن مِن الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَارِ وَ مُجَالَسَهُ الْأَمْرِارِ اللَّهُ مِن مِن الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَلَيْهِ مَالِكُونَ لِللْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ مُجَالَسَةُ الْأَبْرَارِ لِلْفُجَارِ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْلُولُ اللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَلَيْمِ الللللِّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ اللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ اللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ اللَّهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ الللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللَّهُ اللْهُ اللْهِ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُولِيلُولُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْهُ اللْمُولِيلُولُ اللْمُ اللْهُ اللْمُ اللْمُ اللْمِنْ اللْمُعُلِيلُولُولُولِ الللْهُ اللْ

The book 'Sifaat Al Shia' of Al Sadouq – From Al Attar, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Hashim, from Ibn Abu Najran, from Ibn Humeyr, from Ibn Qays,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws} who said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Gathering with the evil people inherits evil thoughts with the good

 $^{^{507}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 29

 $^{^{508}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 30

people and gathering with the good people joins the evil people with the good people and sitting of the righteous to the immoral joins the righteous with the immoral.

The one whose affair is suspect upon you, and you do not recognise his religion, then look at his mingling ones. If they were to be people of the religion of Allah^{-azwj}, so he is upon the religion of Allah^{-azwj}, and if they were to be upon other than the religion of Allah^{-azwj}, then there is no share for him in the religion of Allah^{-azwj}.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} had said: 'One who were to believe in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should neither establish brotherhood with a Kafir nor mingle with an immoral, and the one who does establish brotherhood with a Kafir or mingles with an immoral, he would be a Kafir, an immoral''.⁵⁰⁹

And by his chain,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} having said: 'One who sits with the people of doubts, so he is in doubt''.⁵¹⁰

32- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ عَلِيٌّ ع ثَلَاثٌ مَنْ حَفِظَهُنَّ كَانَ مَعْصُوماً مِنَ الشَّيْطَانِ الرَّحِيمِ وَ مِنْ كُلِّ عَلَى سُلْطَانِ وَ لَمْ يُعِنْ صَاحِبَ بِدْعَةٍ بِبِدْعَتِهِ.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Ali^{-asws} said: 'Three (matters), one who preserves these would be fortified from the Pelted Satan^{-la} and from every affliction – one who is not alone with a woman he doesn't control anything from her, and he does not enter to see a ruler, and he does not assist an innovator with his innovation". ⁵¹¹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Raja'a Bin Yahya, from Haroun Bin Muslim, from Mas'ada Bin Sadaqa,

⁵⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 31 a

 $^{^{510}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 31 b

⁵¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 32

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'I^{-asws} wanted to travel so my^{-asws} father Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} advised me^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said in his^{-asws} advice: 'O my^{-asws} son^{-asws}! Beware of accompanying the idiot, or mingling with him, and flee from him, and do not quarrel with him, for the idiot is a defect whether he is absent or present.

If he speaks, his foolishness exposes him, and if he is silent, his conscience would be deficient with him, and if he works, he will spoil (it), and if he is trusted he will waste. His knowledge does not avail him from himself nor does someone else's knowledge benefit him, nor does he obey his adviser, nor does he give rest to his companion.

His mother would love to be bereaved of him, and his wife (would love) to lose him, and his neighbour (would love) to distance his house, and his gatherers (would love) to be alone from his gathering. If he were to be younger than the one in his gathering, he would exhaust the one above him, and if he were to be their elder, he would corrupt the one below him". ⁵¹²

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'There is no good for you in accompanying the one who does not see for you similar to that which he sees for himself''.⁵¹³

And Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Cutting off the ignoramus equates to connecting with the intellectual''. ⁵¹⁴

And he-asws said: 'Fear the one your hearts hate''.515

⁵¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 33

 $^{^{513}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 1

 $^{^{514}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 2

 $^{^{515}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 3

And he^{-asws} said: 'The well-being is of ten segments. Nine of these are in the silence except with Zikr of Allah^{-azwj}, and one is in neglecting sitting with the foolish ones''.⁵¹⁶

And Al-Hassan^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws} said: 'Whenever you hear someone talking about confidential matters of the people, then strive that he does not know you, for the most wretched are the ones knowing him having been exposed by him''.⁵¹⁷

And Musa Bin Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'O who does not feel any suffering at the offence, there will not be any opportunity for the favour with him''. ⁵¹⁸

And he-asws said: 'One whom the poverty aggrieves, the riches will make him reckless''. 519

And Al-Jawad^{-asws} said: 'Beware of accompanying the evil one for he is like the unsheathed sword. It's appearance is good, and its impact is ugly''.⁵²⁰

Abu Muhammad Al-Askari^{-asws} said: 'Joining with the one you hope good is better than the staying with the one you are not safe from his evil''.⁵²¹

And he-asws said: 'Be cautious of every male of still eyes". 522

35- نهج، نهج البلاغة قالَ ع لِابْنِهِ الحُسَنِ يَا بُنِيَّ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَادَقَةَ الْأَحْمَقِ فَإِنَّهُ يُرِيدُ أَنْ يَنْفَعَكَ فَيَصُرُّكَ وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَادَقَةَ الْبُخِيلِ فَإِنَّهُ يَقِعُدُ عَنْكَ أَحْوَجَ مَا تَكُونُ إِنْيُهِ وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَادَقَةَ الْفَاجِرِ فَإِنَّهُ بَيِيعُكَ بِالتَّافِهِ وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَادَقَةَ الْكُذَّابِ فَإِنَّهُ كَالسَّرَابِ يُقَرِّبُ عَلَيْكَ الْبُعِيدَ وَ يُبَعِّدُ عَلَيْكَ الْقُريب.

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He-asws said to his-asws son-asws Al-Hassan-asws: 'O my-asws son-asws! Beware of befriending the idiot for he intends to benefit you but (ends up) harming you; and beware of befriending the

```
^{516} Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 4
```

⁵¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 5

⁵¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 6

⁵¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 7

⁵²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 8

 $^{^{521}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 9

⁵²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 34 / 10

miser, for he will sit back from you (when) you are most needy as you can be to him; and beware of befriending the immoral for he will sell you for a triviality; and beware of befriending the liar for he is like the mirage, he draws remote to be near and distances to the near upon you". 523

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'Do not accompany the detestable one, for he will adorn his actions to you and would love for you to be like him''.⁵²⁴

And he^{-asws} in (a letter) what he^{-asws} wrote to Al-Haris Al-Hamdany: 'And be cautious of a companion, one whose opinion is unsound, and his deeds are deniable, for the companion relies with his companion''.⁵²⁵

And he^{-asws} said: 'And beware of accompanying the mischief-makers, for the evil joins with the evil".⁵²⁶

(The book) 'A'alam Al Deen' -

'The Prophet-saww: 'Being alone is better than having an evil companion''.527

And he^{-saww} said: 'Compliment the evil ones of their manners, you will be safe from their troubles, and expose them with your (good) deeds lest you become from them''. ⁵²⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ibn Ziyad Al Nahdy, from Abdullah Bin Salih,

⁵²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 35

 $^{^{524}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 36 a

⁵²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 36 b

⁵²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 36 c

⁵²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 37 a

⁵²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 37 b

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is not befitting for the Momin to sit in a gathering Allah^{-azwj} is being disobeyed in and he is not able upon changing it''.⁵²⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Bakr Bin Muhammad, from Al Ja'fary who said,

'I heard Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} saying to my father: "What is the matter I^{-asws} saw you being with Abdul Rahman Bin Yaqoub?"

قَالَ إِنَّهُ خَالِي

He said, 'He is my maternal uncle'.

Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said to him: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! He says a grievous word. He describes Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted and limits Him^{-azwj}. By Allah^{-azwj}, He^{-azwj} cannot be described! So either sit with him and leave us^{-asws}, nor sit with us^{-asws} and leave him'.

He said, 'He says whatever he so desires to. Which thing is upon me from him when I do not say what he says?'

Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said to him: 'Are you not fearing that if a scourge were to befall with him, it would hit you all together? Don't you know that which had happened from companions of Musa^{-as} and his^{-as} father was from the companions of Pharaoh^{-la}? When the cavalry of Pharoh^{-la} met Musa^{-as}, he stayed back from him^{-la} in order to preach to him^{-la}, and Musa^{-as} came across him^{-la}, and his^{-as} father was arguing with him^{-la} until they reached edge of the sea and drowned together.

The news came to Musa^{-as}, so he^{-as} asked Jibraeel^{-as} about his state. He^{-as} said to him^{-as}: 'He drowned, may Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on him!' And he^{-la} did not happen to be upon the view of his^{-as} father, but the scourge, when it befalls, there does not happen to be any defence for it from the one who is near the sinner".⁵³⁰

 $^{^{529}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 38

⁵³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 39

40-كا، الكافي عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيِّ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْجُبَّارِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَنِ بْنِ أَبِي نَجْرَانَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ يَزِيدَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: لَا تَصْحَبُوا اللَّهَ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: لَا تَصْحَبُوا اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: لَا تَصْحَبُوا اللَّهِ عَ اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: لَا تَصْحَبُوا اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Abdul Rahman Bin Abu Najran, from Umar Bin Yazeed,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Do not accompany the people of innovation nor sit with them for you will become in the presence of the people like one of them''. 531

قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ الْمَرْءُ عَلَى دِين حَلِيلِهِ وَ قَرينِهِ.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The person is upon the religion of his friend and his pair''.⁵³²

41-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ أَي نَصْرٍ عَنْ دَاوُدَ بْنِ سِرْحَانَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ صَالِدًا وَأَيْتُمُ أَهْلَ الرَّيْبِ وَ الْمِدِّعِ مِنْ بَعْدِي فَأَظْهِرُوا الْبَرَاءَةَ مِنْهُمْ وَ أَكْثِرُوا مِنْ سَبِّهِمْ وَ الْقَوْلِ فِيهِمْ وَ الْوَقِيعَةِ وَ بَاهِتُوهُمْ كَيْلًا يَطْمَعُوا فِي الْفُسَادِ فِي الْإِسْلامِ وَ لَا يَتَعَلَّمُوا إِيْتَعَلَّمُوا إِيَتَعَلَّمُوا إِيَتَعَلَّمُوا إِيَتَعَلَّمُولَ إِيتَعَلَّمُوا إِيتَعَلَّمُوا إِيتَعَلَّمُوا إِيتَعَلَّمُولَ إِيتَعَلَّمُوا إِيتَعَلَّمُوا الْيَرَعِمِمُ بِدَعِهِمْ وَكُمُّ اللهُ لَكُمْ بِذَلِكَ الْحُسَنَاتِ وَ يَرْفَعْ لَكُمْ بِهِ الدَّرَجَاتِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Abu Nasr, from Dawood Bin Sirham,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When you were to see the people of doubts and the innovations from after me^{-saww}, then reveal the disavowing from them and frequent from reviling them, and the word regarding them, and the talking badly, and defaming them, lest they covet regarding the corruption in Al-Islam, and caution the people, and do not learn from their innovations, Allah^{-azwj} will Write the good deeds for you all due to that, and He^{-azwj} will Raise the ranks for you in the Hereafter due to it".⁵³³

بيان

Explanation (Ahadeeth only)

رِوَايَةُ الْبَرَقِيّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع إِذَا ظَاهَرَ الْفَاسِقُ بِفِسْقِهِ فَلَا حُرْمَةَ لَهُ وَ لَا غَيْبَةَ.

A report of Al-Barqy, from Abu Abdullah^{-asws}: 'When the mischief-maker is apparent with his mischief, there is neither any sanctity for him nor backbiting''.

وَ مَرْفُوعَةُ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ بَرِيعٍ مِنْ تَمَامِ الْعِبَادَةِ الْوَقِيعَةُ فِي أَهْلِ الرَّيْبِ.

And Muhammad Bin Bazie raised it: 'From the complete worship is talking badly regarding the people of doubts'.

⁵³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 40 a

 $^{^{532}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 40 b

⁵³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 41

42-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحْمَدِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحْمَدِ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ مُمَيسٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: لَا يَنْبَغِي لِلْمُسْلِمِ أَنْ يُوَاخِعَ الْفَاحِمَ وَ لَا الْأَحْمَقِ وَ لَا الْكَدَّابَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Usman Bin Isa, from Muhammad in Yusuf, from Muyassir,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is not befitting for the Muslim to establish brotherhood with the immoral, nor the idiot, nor the liar''.⁵³⁴

43-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ عَمْرِهِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سَالِمِ الْكِنْدِيِّ عَمَّنْ حَدَّثَهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: كَانَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ إِذَا صَعِدَ الْمِنْبَرِ وَالْمَرْمِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ إِذَا صَعِدَ الْمِنْبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: كَانَ أَمْرِ دِينِكَ قَالَ يَنْبَغِي لِلْمُسْلِمِ أَنْ يَجُتَنِبَ مُوَاحَاةَ ثَلَاثَةٍ الْمَاجِنِ وَ الْأَحْمَقِ وَ الْكَذَّابِ أَمَّا الْمَاجِنُ فَيُرْتِينُ لَكَ فِعْلَهُ وَ يُحِبُّ أَنْ تَكُونَ مِثْلَهُ وَ لَا يُعِينُكَ عَلَى أَمْرِ دِينِكَ وَ مَعَادِكَ وَ مُعْرَجُهُ عَلَيْكَ عَلَى عَلَى عَالِي اللهِ عَلَيْكَ عَالِمُ اللهِ عَلَيْكَ عَالِمُ اللهِ عَلَيْكَ عَلَى الْمُولِي اللهِ عَلَيْكَ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْكَ عَلَى أَمْرِ دِينِكَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Amro Bin Usman, from Muhammad Bin Salim Al Kindy, from the one who narrated it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is befitting for the Muslim that he keeps aside from establishing brotherhood with three – the immoral, and the stupid, and the liar. So, as for the immoral, so he would adorn his deed for you and he would love it if you could become like him, and he will not assist you upon the matter of your Religion and your Hereafter; and associating with him is disloyalty and hard-heartedness, and his entry and his exit is a disgrace upon you.

وَ أَمَّا الْأَحْمَقُ فَإِنَّهُ لَا يُشِيرُ عَلَيْكَ بِخَيْرٍ وَ لَا يُرْجَى لِصَرْفِ السُّوءِ عَنْكَ وَ لَوْ أَجْهَدَ نَفْسَهُ وَ رُبَّكَا أَرَادَ مَنْفَعَتَكَ فَضَرَّكَ فَمُوثُهُ خَيْرٌ مِنْ حَيَاتِهِ وَ سُكُوثُهُ خَيْرٌ مِنْ نُطْقِه وَ بُعْدُهُ خَيْرٌ مِنْ قُرْبِه

And as for the stupid, so he would not indicate upon you with the good, nor would he hope for the exchanging of the evil from you and even if he has to fight against his own self; and sometimes he intends to benefit you, but (instead) he harms you. Thus, his death is better than his life, and his silence is better than his speaking, and his remoteness is better than his nearness.

وَ أَمَّا الْكَذَّابُ فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَهْنَؤُكَ مَعَهُ عَيْشٌ يَنْقُلُ حَدِيئَكَ وَ يَنْقُلُ إِلَيْكَ الْحَدِيثَ كُلَّمَا أَفْنَى أُحْدُوثَةً مَطَّهَا بِأُخْرَى حَتَّى أَنَّهُ يُحَدِّثُ بِالصِّدْقِ فَمَا يُصَدَّقُ وَ يُغْرِي بَيْنَ النَّاسِ بِالْعَدَاوَةِ فَيُنْبِتُ السَّحَائِمَ فِي الصُّدُورِ فَاتَّقُوا اللَّهَ وَ انْظُرُوا لِأَنْفُسِكُمْ.

And as for the liar, so life is not welcoming with him. He transmits your narration and transmits the narration to you. Every time he runs out of a narration, so he stretches it with another to the extent that when he does narrate with the truth, he is not believed; and he entices the people with the enmity, so he cause the grudges to grown in the chests. Therefore, fear Allah-azwj and look out for yourselves!"535

Page 223 of 462

 $^{^{534}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 42

⁵³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 43

44-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عُذَافِرٍ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ أَوْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحُسَيْنِ ع يَا بُنِيَّ انْظُرُ خَمْسَةً فَلَا تُصَاحِبْهُمْ وَ لَا تُحَادِثْهُمْ وَ لَا تُرافِقُهُمْ فِي طَرِيق

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl Bin Ziyad, from Amro Bin Usman, from Muhammad Bin Uzafir, from one of his companions, from Muhammad Bin Muslim, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, from his-asws father-asws having said: 'Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws said to me-asws: 'O my-asws son-asws! Look at five (kinds of people) and do not befriend them, nor discuss with them, nor have accompany with them on a road'.

فَقُلْتُ يَا أَبَتِ مَنْ هُمْ

I-asws said: 'O father-asws! Who are they?'

قَالَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْكَذَّابِ فَإِنَّهُ بِمُنْزِلَةِ السَّرَابِ يُقَرِّبُ لَكَ الْبَعِيدَ وَ يُبَاعِدُ لَكَ الْقَرِيبَ

He^{-asws} said: 'Beware of accompanying the liar, for he is at the status of the mirage. He brings near to you^{-asws} the remote, and distances to you^{-asws} the near one.

وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْفَاسِقِ فَإِنَّهُ بَائِعُكَ بِأُكْلَةٍ أَوْ أَقَلَّ مِنْ ذَلِكَ

And beware of accompanying the immoral, for he would sell you^{-asws} for a meal or less than that.

وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْبَخِيلِ فَإِنَّهُ يَخَذُلُكَ فِي مَالِهِ أَحْوَجَ مَا تَكُونُ إِلَيْهِ وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْأَحْمَقِ فَإِنَّهُ يُرِيدُ أَنْ يَنْفَعَكَ فَيَضُرُّكَ

And beware of accompanying the stingy, for he would abandon you regarding his wealth in a dire (critical) a need faced by you from him. And beware of accompanying the stupid, for he would intend to benefit you, but he would (actually) harm you.

وَ إِيَّاكَ وَ مُصَاحَبَةَ الْقَاطِعِ لِرَجِمِهِ فَإِيِّ وَجَدْتُهُ مَلْعُوناً فِي كِتَابِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي ثَلَاثِ مَوَاضِعَ قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي ثَلَاثِ مَوَاضِعَ قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي ثَلَاثِ مَوَاضِعَ قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُمُ اللَّهُ فَأَصَمَهُمْ وَ أَعْمَى أَبْصَارَهُمْ

And beware of accompanying the cutter of his kinship. I^{-asws} have found him to have been Cursed in the Book of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in three places. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: So, if perhaps you were to be rulers, you would make mischief in the land and cut off your relationships [47:22] They are those Allah has Cursed, so He Made Deafened them and Blinded their visions [47:23].

وَ قَالَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ– الَّذِينَ يَنْقُصُونَ عَهْدَ اللَّهِ مِنْ بَعْدِ مِيثاقِهِ وَ يَقْطَعُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يُفْسِدُونَ فِي الْأَرْضِ أُولَئِكَ لَهُمُ اللَّغَنَةُ وَ لَهُمْ سُوءُ الدَّارِ

And Mighty and Majestic Said: And those who are breaking the Pact of Allah from after its Covenanting and are cutting off relationships what Allah has Commanded with to be maintained, and they are corrupting in the land. They, for them is the Curse and for them would be the evil abode [13:25].

وَ قَالَ فِي الْبَقَرَة الَّذِينَ يَنْقُضُونَ عَهْدَ اللَّهِ مِنْ بَعْدِ مِيثاقِهِ وَ يَقْطَعُونَ ما أَمَرَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَنْ يُوصَلَ وَ يُفْسِدُونَ فِي الْأَرْضِ أُولِئِكَ هُمُ الْخَاسِرُونَ.

And He^{-azwj} Said in (Surah) Al Baqarah: **Those who are breaking the Pact of Allah from after Covenanting it and are cutting asunder what Allah has Commanded to be joined and are making mischief in the land; those are the losers [2:27]**". ⁵³⁶

بيان و في تفسير الإمام ع في تفسير آية البقرة الَّذِينَ يَنْقُضُونَ عَهْدَ اللَّهِ المَأخوذ عليهم لله بالربوبية و لمحمد ص بالنبوة و لعلي بالإمامة و لشيعتهما بالمحبة و الكرامة.

<u>Explanation</u> – And in Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) in interpretation of a Verse of (Surah) Al Baqarah: **Those who are breaking the Pact of Allah [2:27]** – The (Pact) Taken upon them for Allah^{-azwj} with the Lordship, and for Muhammad^{-saww} with the Prophethood, and the Imamate with the Wilayah, and for their^{-asws} Shias with the love and the honour".

45-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحُمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ شُعَيْبٍ الْعَقَرْقُوفِيّ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَوْلِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ قَدْ نَزَّلَ عَلَيْكُمْ فِي الْكِتابِ أَنْ إِذَا سَمِعْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ يَجْحَدُ الحُقَّ وَ يُكَذِّبُ بِهِ وَ يَقَعُ عَلَيْكُمْ فِي الْكِتابِ أَنْ إِذَا سَمِعْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ يَجْحَدُ الحُقَّ وَ يُكَذِّبُ بِهِ وَ يَقَعُ عَلَيْكُمْ فِي الْكِتابِ أَنْ إِذَا سَمِعْتُمُ الرَّجُلَ يَجْحَدُ الحُقَّ وَ يُكَذِّبُ بِهِ وَ يَقَعُ الْأَيْمَةِ فَقُمْ مِنْ عِنْدِهِ وَ لَا تُقَاعِدُهُ كَائِناً مَنْ كَانَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Shueyb Al Aqarquqy who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **whenever you hear Verses of Allah being disbelieved in and mocked with, [4:140]** – up to end of the Verse. He^{-asws} said: 'But rather it means by this – whenever you hear the man rejecting the truth and belying it, and he talks bad regarding the Imams^{-asws}, stand up from his presence and do not be sitting with him, whoever it may be''.⁵³⁷

46-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَسْبَاطٍ عَنْ سَيْفِ بْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْأَعْلَى بْنِ أَعْيَنَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عِ قَالَ: مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ باللَّهِ وَ الْيَوْمِ الْآخِر فَلَا يَجْلِسْ مُجْلِساً يُنْتَقَصُ فِيهِ إِمَامٌ أَوْ يُعَابُ فِيهِ مُؤْمِنٌ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from his father, from Ali Bin Asbaat, from Sayf Bin Ameyra, from Abdul A'ala Bin Ayn,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who were to believe in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should not sit in a gathering in which an Imam^{-asws} is being reduced (in status), or a Momin is being faulted in''.⁵³⁸

47-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ الْقَدَّاحِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ باللَّهِ وَ الْيَوْمِ الْآخِرِ فَلَا يَقُومُ مَكَانَ رِيبَةٍ.

⁵³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 44

 $^{^{\}rm 537}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 45

⁵³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 46

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl Bin Ziyad, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Ashari, from Ibn Al Qaddah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'One who were a believer in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should not stand in a place of doubt''.⁵³⁹

<u>Explanation</u> – And from him^{-asws} is the Hadeeth: 'Leave what makes you doubt to what does not make you doubt, for the lie is suspect, and the truth is reassuring''.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Sayf Bin Ameyra, from Abdul A'ala who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who believes in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should not sit in a gathering wherein an Imam^{-asws} is faulted, or a Momin is reduced (in status) in it".⁵⁴⁰

49-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ مُوسَى قَالَ حَدَّثَنِي أَخِي وَ عَمِّي عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عِ قَالَ: ثَلَاثَةُ مَجَالِسَ يَمُقُتُهَا اللّهُ وَ يُرْسِلُ نَقِمَتُهُ عَلَى أَهْلِهَا فَلَا تُقَاعِدُوهُمْ وَ لَا تُجَالِسُوهُمْ مُجُلِساً فِيهِ مَنْ يَصِفُ لِسَانُهُ كَذِباً فِي فُتْيَاهُ وَ مُجْلِساً ذِكْرُ أَعْذِي وَتُعْنَاهُ وَ مُجْلِساً فِيهِ مَنْ يَصُدُّ عَنَّا وَ أَنْتَ تَعْلَمُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Sa'ad, from Muhammad Bin Muslim, from Is'haq Bin Musa who said, 'It is narrated to me by my brother and my paternal uncle,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: "Three gatherings are Detested by Allah^{-azwj} and He^{-azwj} Sends the affliction upon its people, therefore neither sit with them nor gather with them in a gathering wherein one whose tongue describes lies in his Fatwas; and a gathering wherein our^{-asws} enemies are mentioned freshly and wherein we^{-asws} are mentioned stately; and a gathering wherein one hindering from us^{-asws} and you are knowing.

Then Abu Abdullah^{-asws} recited three Verses from the Book of Allah^{-azwj} as if these were in his^{-asws} mouth', or said, 'in his^{-asws} palm: *And do not revile those who are supplicating to the ones besides Allah so they would (in retaliation) be reviling Allah in enmity, without knowledge.* [6:108].

 $^{^{539}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 47

⁵⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 48

And when you see those engaging in vanities regarding Our Signs, turn away from them until they are engaging in another discussion. [6:68].

And do not be saying what your tongues are describing of the lies, 'This is Permissible, and this is Prohibited', to fabricate the lie upon Allah [16:116]". 541

بيان

Explanation - (Ahadeeth only)

And in (the book) 'Rowzat Al Kafi' – In a lengthy Hadeeth from Al-Sadiq^{-asws}: 'And intermingle with the people and do not burden them upon your necks, including along with that the obedience to your Lord^{-azwj}. And beware of insulting the enemies of Allah^{-azwj} when they are listening to you, for the enemies will insult Allah^{-azwj} without awareness, and it is better that you should know the penalty of insulting Allah^{-azwj} how it is.

He who has insulted the friends of Allah^{-azwj} is like he has insulted Allah^{-azwj}. And the one who is the most unjust with Allah^{-azwj} is the one who insults Allah^{-azwj} and the friends of Allah^{-azwj}, so don't do it, don't do it. Follow the Commands of Allah^{-azwj}. There is no Might, and no Power except by Allah^{-azwj}''.

And it is reported by Al Ayyashi from him^{-asws} having been asked about this Verse. He^{-asws} said: 'Have you seen anyone reviling Allah^{-azwj}?' He said, 'No, and how?' He^{-asws} said: 'One who reviles a Guardian^{-asws} of Allah^{-azwj}, so he has reviled Allah^{-azwj}''.

And in (the book) 'Al I'tiqaad, from him^{-asws}, it was said to him^{-asws}, 'We have seen in the Masjid a man openly reviling your^{-asws} enemies and reviling them'. He^{-asws} said: 'What is the matter with him? May Allah^{-azwj} Curse him, exposing (himself) through us^{-asws}. Allah^{-azwj} Said: **And do not revile those who are supplicating [6:108]** – the Verse'.

•

 $^{^{541}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 49

He (the narrator) said, 'And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said in interpretation of this Verse: 'Do not revile them, for they will be reviling upon you!'

فَقَالَ مَنْ سَبَّ وَلَيَّ اللَّهِ فَقَدْ سَبَّ اللَّهَ.

He-asws said: 'One who reviles a Guardian-asws of Allah-azwj, so he has reviled Allah-azwj''.

The Prophet^{-saww} said to Ali^{-asws}: 'One who reviles you^{-asws} so he has reviled me^{-saww}, and one who reviles me^{-saww} so he has reviled Allah^{-azwj}, and the one who reviles Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} will Fling him upon his nostrils into the Fire".

وَ رَوَى عَلِيُّ بْنُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ص قَالَ: مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ بِاللَّهِ وَ الْيَوْمِ الْآخِرِ فَلَا يَخْلِسُ فِي مَجْلِسٍ يُسَبُّ فِيهِ إِمَامٌ أَوْ يُغْتَابُ فِيهِ مُسْلِمٌ إِنَّ اللَّهَ تَعَالَى يَقُولُ في كِتَابِهِ – وَ إِذا زَأَيْتَ الَّذِينَ يَخُوضُونَ في آياتِنا الْآيَةَ.

And it is reported by Ali Bin Ibrahim, from the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One who were to believe in Allah^{-azwj} and the Last Day, he should not sit in a gathering wherein an Imam^{-asws} is reviled, or a Muslim is back-bitten in. Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Says in His^{-azwj} Book: **And when you see those engaging in vanities regarding Our Signs, [6:68]** – the Verse''.

50-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ دَاوُدَ بْنِ فَرْقَدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ الجُمُحِيِّ عَنْ هِشَامِ بْنِ سَالِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: إِذَا اللهَ عَلْمُتُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَمْقُتُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَمْقُتُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَعْنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَعْنُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ وَيُعْتِهِمْ فَكُنْ كَأَنِّكُ عَلَى الرَّضْفِ حَتَّى تَقُومَ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَمُقْتُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَعْنُهُمْ وَ يَلْعَنُهُمْ فَإِذَا رَأَيْتُهُمْ يَخُوضُونَ فِي ذِكْرِ إِمَامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَّةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنَّ اللهَ يَعْنُونُ هُونَا لَعُنَهُمْ وَيَعْمُ فَلِهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَإِذَا وَأَيْتُهُمْ عَلَيْهِمْ فَي إِلَيْ لِلللّهِ عَلَيْهُمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَإِذَا وَلَيْتُهُمْ فَعُونُونَ فِي فِكُولِ إِمْامٍ مِنَ الْأَئِمَةِ فَقُمْ فَإِنّ اللّهَ يَعْنُونُهُمْ فَا إِلَّهُمْ فَالِنَا لَا لِعَلَيْهُمْ فَالِكُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَالِكُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَي فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُمْ فَا لَعْنُونُ لِلْمُعْلَقِي عَلْكُونُونَ فَلْمُ عَلَاللّهِ عَلَى الْعُلْمُ فَاللّهُ عَلْهُمْ فَيْعُونُ فَي فَالِكُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاللّهُ عَلْمُ لِلْمُ عَلْمُ لِللْهُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَلِنَا لِلللْهُ عَلْكُونُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُعْلِقَالِكُ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاللّهُ عَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ عَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لَلْهُ عَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمِ لَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِللّهُ عَلْمُ لَلْمُ لِللّهُ عَلْمُ لِللّهُ عَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لَلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمِلْمِ عَلْمُ لِللّهُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُلْمِ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُ لِلْمُو

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain, from Muhammad Bin Muslim, from Daqood Bin Farqad, from Muhammad Bin Saeed Al Jumhy, from Hisham Bin Salim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Whenever you are afflicted with the people of hostility (Nasibis) and their gatherings, so become as if you are (sitting) upon an ember until you arise, for Allah^{-azwj} Detests them and Curses them. When you see them conversing vainly in mentioning an Imam^{-asws} from the Imams^{-asws}, so arise, for the Wrath of Allah^{-azwj} would Descend over there upon them''.⁵⁴²

51-كا، الكافي عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيِّ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْجُبَّارِ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَنِ بْنِ الْحَجَّاجِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ قَعَدَ عِنْدَ سَبَّابٍ لِأَوْلِيَاءِ اللّهِ فَقَدْ عَصَى اللّهَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Al Jabbar, from Safwan, from Abdul Rahman Bin Al Hajjaj,

 542 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 50 $\,$

.

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who sits in the presence of ones reviling Guardians⁻ Allah^{-azwj}, so he has disobeyed Allah^{-azwj}''.⁵⁴³

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Khalid, from his father, from Al Qasim Bin Urwah, from Ubeyd Bin Zurara,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The one who sits in a gathering wherein an Imam^{-asws} from the Imams^{-asws} is insulted despite being able upon the walking away, but he does not do so, Allah^{-azwj} would Clothe him in disgrace in the world and Punish him in the Hereafter and Confiscate what He^{-azwj} Favoured with upon him, from our^{-asws} recognition''.⁵⁴⁴

53-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحْمَّدٍ وَ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنِ النَّعْمَانِ عَنِ النَّعْمَانِ عَنِ النَّهِ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ يَحْبَى بْنَ أُمِّ الطَّوِيلِ وَقَفَ بِالْكُنَاسَةِ ثُمُّ نَادَى بِأَعْلَى صَوْتِهِ يَا مَعْشَرَ أَوْلِيَاءِ اللَّهِ إِنَّا بِرَاءٌ مِنَّ أَمِّ الطَّوِيلِ وَقَفَ بِالْكُنَاسَةِ ثُمُّ نَادَى بِأَعْلَى صَوْتِهِ يَا مَعْشَرَ أَوْلِيَاءِ اللَّهِ إِنَّا بِرَاءٌ مِنَّ الْتَعْبَدُونَ مِنْ دُونِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ إِنَّا بِرَاءٌ مِنْ آلِ مَوْوَانَ وَ مَا يَعْبُدُونَ مِنْ دُونِ اللَّهِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad and Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Saeed, from Muhammad Bin Muslim, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Al Numan, from Abu Ali Bin Al Numan, from Ibn Muskan, from Al Yamani Bin Ubeydullah who said,

'I saw Yahya Bin Umm Al Taweel standing at Al Kunasa, then he called out by the top of his voice, 'Group of friends of Allah^{-azwj}! I am disavowing from what you are making me hear from the insults to Ali^{-asws}. So upon him (the insulter) be the Curse of Allah^{-azwj} and we disavow from the family of Marwan and what they are worshipping from besides Allah^{-azwj}!'

Then he lowered his voice, and he was saying, 'The one who insults the Guardians^{-asws} of Allah^{-azwj}, so do not sit with him; and the one who doubts in what we are upon, so do not approach him; and the one from your brethren who is needy to asking you, so you would have betrayed him'.

Then he recited, We have Prepared for the ones unjust, a Fire which would surround them in enclosures. And if they cry out for relief, they would be relieved by water like molten copper grilling their faces. Evil is the drink and worse is the dwelling [18:29]". Not a Hadeeth

⁵⁴³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 51

 $^{^{544}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 52

⁵⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 14 H 53

<u>Explanation</u> Yahya Bin Umm Al-Taweel was from companions of Al-Husayn^{-asws}, and Al Fazl Bin Shazan said, 'In the era of Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws}, there did not happen to be in the beginning of his^{-asws} matter except for five persons', and he mentioned Yahya Bin Umm Al Taweel among them.

And it is reported from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'The people turned apostate (reneged) after Al-Husayn except three – Abu Khalid Al Kabuli, and Yahya Bin Umm Al Taweel, and Jubeyr Bin Mut'am. Then the people joined and became more'.

And in another report – similar to it, and there is an increase in it, 'And Jabir Bin Abdullah Al Ansari'.

And it is reported from Abu Ja'far^{-asws}: 'Al Hajjaj sought him and said, 'Curse Abu Turab (Ali^{-asws})!' And he ordered with cutting off his hand and his legs and killed him''.

And I (Majlisi) am saying, 'They are the venerable ones from the special companions of the Imams^{-asws}'.

أبواب حقوق المؤمنين بعضهم على بعض و بعض أحوالهم

CHAPTER ON RIGHTS OF THE MOMINEEN UPON EACH OTHER, AND SOME OF THEIR SITUATIONS

باب 15 حقوق الإخوان و استحباب تذاكرهم و ما يناسب ذلك من المطالب

CHAPTER 15 – RIGHTS OF THE BRETHREN, AND THE RECOMMENDATION OF REMINDING THEM, AND WHAT PURPOSE IS APPROPRIATE TO THAT

1- ج، الإحتجاج بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى أَبِي مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَسْكَرِيِّ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ: قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ لِلْيُونَائِيِّ الَّذِي رَأَى مِنْهُ الْمُعْجِزَاتِ الْبَاهِرَاتِ وَ أَسْلَمَ عَلَى عَلَى مَلْ فَضَّلَكَ بِهِ مِنْهُمْ يَعْدِيقِ مُحَمَّدٍ ص وَ تَصْدِيقِي وَ الاِنْقِيَادِ لَهُ وَ لِي مِمَّا رَوْقَكَ اللهُ وَ فَضَّلَكَ عَلَى مَنْ فَضَّلَكَ بِهِ مِنْهُمْ

(The book) 'Al-Ihtijaj' — By the chain to Abu Muhammad Al-Askari-asws, from his-asws forefathers-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said to the Greek who had seen the dazzling miracles from him-asws and had become a Muslim upon his-asws hands: 'I-asws instruct you to be consoling with your Momineen brothers, the matching ones to you, upon the ratification of Muhammad-saww, and ratifying me-asws, and the submission to him-saww and to me-asws, from what Allah-azwj Sustained you and Graced you upon the ones who merited you with it, from them.

تَسُدُّ فَاقَتَهُمْ وَ جَّنَبُرُ كَسْرَهُمْ وَ حَلَّتَهُمْ وَ مَنْ كَانَ مِنْهُمْ فِي دَرَجَتِكَ فِي الْإِيمَانِ وَ سَاوَيْتَهُ فِيمَا لَكَ فِي نَفْسِكَ وَ مَنْ كَانَ مِنْهُمْ فَاضِلًا عَلَيْكَ فِي دِينِكَ آثَوْتَهُ بَمَالِكَ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ حَتَّى يَعْلَمَ اللهُ مَنْكَ أَنَّ دِينَهُ آثَهُ عِنْدُكَ مِنْ مَالِكَ وَ أَنَّ أَوْلِيَاءُهُ أَكُومُ عَلَيْكَ مِنْ أَهْلِكَ وَ عَيَالِكَ.

You should block their destitution, and convincingly break their loneliness. And the one from them who was in your level regarding the Eman – equalise him in your wealth with yourself, and the one from them who was meritorious upon you in your Religion, prefer him with your wealth over yourself until Allah^{-azwj} Knows from you that his Religion is more preferable in your presence than your wealth, and that his friends are more honourable upon you and your own family and your dependants".⁵⁴⁶

2- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع الْمُسْلِمُ أَحُو الْمُسْلِمِ وَ حَقُّ الْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ أَنْ لَا يَشْبَعَ وَ يَجُوعُ أَحُوهُ وَ لَا يَرْوَى وَ يَعْطَشُ أَخُوهُ وَ يَعْرَى أَخُوهُ فَمَا أَعْظَمَ حَقَّ الْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ.

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The Muslim is a brother of the Muslim, and a right of the Muslim upon his Muslim brother is that he should not be satiated while his brother is hungry, nor should he

-

⁵⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 1

be saturated while his brother is thirsty, nor should he be clothed while his brother is bare. How mighty is a right of the Muslim upon his Muslim brother!"⁵⁴⁷

And he^{-asws} said: 'When the man says to his brother, 'Ugh', it cuts off whatever friendship (wilayah) there is between the two. When he says, 'You are my enemy', so one of the two has committed Kufr. When he accuses him, the Eman dissolves in his heart just as the salt dissolved in the water''.⁵⁴⁸

And he^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Allah^{-azwj} has not been worshipped with anything superior to fulfilling a right of the Momin''. ⁵⁴⁹

And he-asws said: 'By Allah-azwj! The Momin is with greater rights than the Kabah''. 550

And he^{-asws} said: 'A supplication by the Momin for the Momin repels the affliction from him and rolls down the sustenance upon him".⁵⁵¹

3- ل، الخصال لي، الأمالي للصدوق ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الْجُهْيَرِيِّ عَنْ هَارُونَ عَنِ ابْنِ صَدَقَةَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص لِلْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى اللهِ وَ أَنْ يَعُودُهُ فِي مَرْضِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ سَبْعَةُ حُقُّوقٍ وَاحِبَةٍ مِنَ اللهِ وَ أَنْ يُعُودُهُ فِي عَيْنِهِ وَ الْوُدُّ لَهُ فِي صَدْرِهِ وَ الْمُوَاسَاةُ لَهُ فِي مَالِهِ وَ أَنْ يُعُودُهُ فِي مَرْضِهِ اللهِ عَنَّ وَ جَلَّ عَلَيْهِ الْإِجْلَالُ لَهُ فِي عَيْنِهِ وَ الْوُدُّ لَهُ فِي صَدْرِهِ وَ الْمُوَاسَاةُ لَهُ فِي مَالِهِ وَ أَنْ يُعُودُهُ فِي مَرْضِهِ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ وَ أَنْ يَعُودُهُ فِي مَرْضِهِ اللهِ وَ أَنْ يَعُودُهُ فِي مَرْضِهِ إِلَّا حَيْراً.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal', (and) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Waleed, from Al Himeyri, from Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqah,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'For the Momin upon the Momin, there are seven rights obligated from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic upon him – the revering for him in his eyes, and the cordiality for him in his chest, and the consolation for him in his wealth, and to forbid backbiting him, and to console him during his illness, and to escort his funeral, and not to say regarding him after his death, except good''.⁵⁵²

⁵⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 2 a

 $^{^{548}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 2 b

⁵⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 2 c

⁵⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 2 d

⁵⁵¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 2 e

⁵⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 3

4- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنِ الْحِمْيَرِي مِثْلَهُ إِلَّا أَنَّ بَعْدَ قَوْلِهِ وَاحِبَةٍ لَهُ مِنَ اللَّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ اللَّهُ سَائِلُهُ عَمَّا صَنَعَ فِيهَا وَ بَعْدَ قَوْلِهِ فِي مَالِهِ وَ أَنْ يُجِبَّ لَهُ مَا يُجِبُّ لنَفْسه.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - My father, from Al Himeyr,

'Similar to it, except that after his-asws words: 'Obligated for him from Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic', (it is), 'And Allah-azwj will Question him about what he did regarding these'; and after his-asws words: 'In his wealth', (it is), 'and he should love for him what he loves for himself''. 553

5- لي، الأمالي للصدوق الهُمَدَايِّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ عَنِ الْعِيصِ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنِ الْبَاقِرِ عِ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: أَحْبِبُ أَحَاكَ الْمُسْلِمَ وَ أَحْبِبُ لَهُ مَا تُكُرُهُ لِنَهْ لِلَهُ لَا يَدَّجِتُ فَسَلْهُ وَ إِذَا سَأَلُكَ فَأَعْطِهِ وَ لَا تَدَّخِرُ عَنْهُ حَيْرًا فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَدَّخِرُهُ عَنْكَ الْمُسْلِمَ وَ أَحْبِبُ لَهُ مَا تَكُرُهُ لِنَهْسِكَ إِذَا احْتَجْتَ فَسَلْهُ وَ إِذَا سَأَلُكَ فَأَعْطِهِ وَ لَا تَدَّخِرُ عَنْهُ حَيْرًا فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَدَّخِرُهُ عَنْكَ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Al Hamdany, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Safwan, from Al Ays, from Ibn Muskan,

'From Al-Baqir^{-asws} having said: 'Love your Muslim brother and love for him what you love for yourself, and dislike for him what you dislike for yourself. When you are needy, ask him, and when he asks you, give him; and do no hold back any good from him, for he does not hold it back from you.

َكُنْ لَهُ ظَهْراً فَإِنَّهُ لَكَ ظَهْرٌ إِنْ غَابَ فَاحْفَظْهُ فِي غَيْبَتِهِ وَ إِنْ شَهِدَ فَزُرْهُ وَ أَجلَهُ وَ أَكْرِمْهُ فَإِنَّهُ مِنْكَ وَ أَنْتَ مِنْهُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ عَلَيْكَ عَاتِباً فَلَا تُفَارِقُهُ حَتَّى تَسُلَ سَخِيمَتُهُ وَ مَا فِي نَفْسِهِ وَ إِذَا أَصَابَهُ حَيْرٌ فَاحْمَدِ اللّهَ عَلَيْهِ وَ إِنِ ابْتُلِعَ فَاعْضُدْهُ وَ تَمَكُلُ لَهُ.

Be a backer for him, for he is a backer for you; if he is absent, protect him during his absence, and if he is present, visit him and revere him, and honour him, for he is from you, and you are from him; and if he were to fault upon you, do not separate from him until his grudge and whatever (ill feeling) there is in him goes away; and what good comes to him then praise Allah-azwi, and if he is afflicted, support him and carry (his burden) for him". 554

Tafseer Al Qummi – My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hammad,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Allah-azwj has Imposed the tolerance is in the Quran'.

قُلْتُ وَ مَا التَّحَمُّا التَّحَمُّا المُّعلْثُ فَدَاكَ

I said, 'And what is the tolerance? May I be sacrificed for you-asws'.

قَالَ أَنْ يَكُونَ وَجْهُكَ أَعْرَضَ مِنْ وَجْهِ أَخِيكَ فَتَحَمَّلَ لَهُ وَ هُوَ قَوْلُهُ لا خَيْرَ فِي كثيرٍ مِنْ نَجْواهُمْ.

⁵⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 4

⁵⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 5

He^{-asws} said: 'Your face happens to be turned away from the face of your brother, so you are tolerant to him, and it is His^{-azwj} Words: *There is no good in most of their secret counsels* [4:114]". ⁵⁵⁵

Tafseer Al-Qummi – My father, from one of his men,

'Raising it to Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Imposed upon you Zakat of your wealth just as He^{-azwj} has Imposed upon you Zakat of what your right hands possess (slaves/maids)".⁵⁵⁶

Tafseer Al-Qummi -

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'For the Momin there are seven rights. The most obligatory of these is that he should be saying truth and even if were to be against himself, or against his parent, so he should not incline for them away from the truth". ⁵⁵⁷

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Ibn Sa'ad, from Al Azdy,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said to Khaysama and I was listening: 'O Khaysama! Convey the greetings to our-asws friends and advise them with fearing Allah-azwj the Magnificent, and their rich ones should assist upon their poor ones, and their strong upon their weak, and their living ones should attend the funerals of their dead, and they should meet each other in their houses, for their meeting is life for our-asws matter'.

Then he^{-asws} raised his^{-asws} hand. He^{-asws} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on the one who revives our^{-asws} matter!''⁵⁵⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Sa'ad, from Al Azdy – similar to it'. 559

 $^{^{555}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 6 $\,$

⁵⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 7

⁵⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 8

⁵⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 9

⁵⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 10

11- ل، الخصال حَمْزُةُ الْعَلَوِيُّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَعْبَدٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ ابْنِ مَعْبَدٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ أَرْبَع يُجِبُّونَ اللّهَ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلْمَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلْمَ عَلْمَ عَلْمَ عَلَيْ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَلْمَ عَلَيْ عَلْمَ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ عَنْ عَلِي عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلْمُ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ عَلَيْ عَلِيْ عَنْ عَلِيهِ عَنْ اللّهِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَلْقَالِمُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَلْمُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْمَ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُولُونَ اللّهِ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَى عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلْمَ عَلْ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Hamza Al Alawy, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Ma'abad, from Abdullah Bin Al Qasim, from Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'The Prophet-saww said: 'The right for my-saww community is necessitated in four (matters) – they should be loving the repentant, and showing mercy to the weak, and assisting the good doer, and seeking Forgiveness for the sinner". ⁵⁶⁰

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Fazzal, from Taghlib, from one of our companions, from Al Moalla Bin Khuneys who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'What is a right of the Momin upon the Momin?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Seven rights are obligatory. There is no right in it except and obligatory upon him. If he opposes it, he will exit from the Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} and would have neglected His^{-azwj} Obedience, and there will not be any share for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in him'.

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! What are these?'

He^{-asws} said: 'O Moalla! I^{-asws} pity upon you, fearing that you might waste and not preserve, and learn and not act'.

I said, 'There is no strength except with Allah-azwj!'

He^{-asws} said: 'The easiest of right from it is that you should love for him what you love for yourself and dislike for him what you dislike for yourself; and the second right is, you should walk regarding his need and seek his satisfaction and not oppose his words.

-

⁵⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 11

And the third right is that you should help him with yourself (effort), and your wealth, and your hands, and your legs, and your tongue; and the fourth right is, you should be his eyes, and his pointer, and his mirror, and his shirt.

And the fifth right is, you should not be satiated while he is hungry, nor be clothed while he is bare, nor be saturated while he is thirsty; and the sixth right is, if there happens to be a wife for you and a servant, and there isn't any wife for your brother nor a servant, you should send your servant to wash his clothes and make his meal, and prepare his bed, for that, all of it is rather between you and him.

The seventh right is you should fulfil his vow, and answer his invitation, and attend his funeral, and console him during his illness, and exert your body in fulfilling his need, and not (wait) for his need to ask you, but you should take initiative to fulfil his need.

When you have done that with him, you will have connected your wilayah with his wilayah, and his wilayah with Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic".⁵⁶¹

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'(The Hadeeth) 'Al-Arbamiya' – Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'The Momin should not encumber his brother to seek to him when he already knows of his need. He should visit him, and sympathise, and spend (on him), and do not at the status of the hypocrite who describes what he does not do". ⁵⁶²

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqdah, from Aasim Bin Amro, from Muhammad Bin Muslim who said.

 $^{^{561}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 12

⁵⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 13

'A man from the people of the mountains came to me. I went with him to see Abu Abdullah-asws. He said to him-asws at bidding farewell, 'Advise me!'

He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} advise you with fearing Allah^{-azwj}, and being righteous to your Muslim brother, and love for him what you love for yourself and dislike for him what you dislike for yourself, and if he were to ask you, you should give him, and if were to refrain from you, then turn to him.

لَا تَمَلَّهُ حَيْرًا فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَمُلُّكَ وَكُنْ لَهُ عَضُداً فَإِنَّهُ لَكَ عَضُدٌ وَ إِنْ وَجَدَ عَلَيْكَ فَلَا ثُفَارِقْهُ حَتَّى تَسُلَّ سَخِيمَتُهُ وَ إِنْ غَابَ فَاحْفَظْهُ فِي غَيْبَتِهِ وَ إِنْ شَهِدَ فَاكْنُفْهُ وَ اعْضُدْهُ وَ وَازِرْهُ وَ لَاطِفْهُ وَ أَكْرِمُهُ فَإِنَّهُ مِنْكَ وَ أَنْتَ مِنْهُ.

Do not get fed up of being good to him for he does not get fed up of you, and be a support for him for he is a support for you, and if he were to feel (ill will) against you, do not separate from him until his grudge has gone away; and if he were to be absent, protect him during his absence, and if he is present, cover him, and support him, and assist him, and be kind to him, and honour him, for he is from you and you are from him". 563

15- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنِ الْكُلَيْيِّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنْ عَمْرُو النَّاسَ عَلَى فَقِيرِكُمْ وَ لْيَنْصَحِ الرَّجُلُ أَحَاهُ كَنُصْحِهِ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ اكْتُمُوا أَسْرَارَنَا وَ لَا تَحْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى أَقِيرِكُمْ وَ لْيَنْصَحِ الرَّجُلُ أَحَاهُ كَنُصْحِهِ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ اكْتُمُوا أَسْرَارَنَا وَ لَا تَحْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى أَقْدِيرًا عَنْ عَلَى فَقِيرِكُمْ وَ لْيَنْصَحِ الرَّجُلُ أَحَاهُ كَنُصْحِهِ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ اكْتُمُوا أَسْرَارَنَا وَ لَا تَحْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى أَقْدِيرًا عَنْ عَلَى فَقِيرٍكُمْ وَ لْيَنْصَحِ الرَّجُلُ أَحْاهُ كَنُصْحِهِ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ اكْتُمُوا أَسْرَارَنَا وَ لَا تَحْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى أَقُولُونَا وَ لَا تَعْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى أَنْ إِنْ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ لَا تُعْمِلُوا النَّاسَ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from In Qawlawiya, from Al Kulayni, from Ali, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Let your strong ones assist your weak ones, and let your rich ones be compassionate upon your poor ones, and let the man advise his brother like his advising himself and conceal our^{-asws} secrets and do not load the people upon our^{-asws} necks!' – the Hadeeth''. ⁵⁶⁴

16- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ الْبُهْلُولِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي شَيْبَةَ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ النَّبِيّ صَ قَالَ: إِنَّ لِلْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ مِنَ الْمَعْرُوفِ سِتَّا يُسَلِّمُ عَلَيْهِ إِذَا لَقِيَهُ وَ يَعُودُهُ إِذَا مَرِضَ وَ يُسَمِّتُهُ إِذَا عَطَسَ وَ يَشْهَدُهُ إِذَا مَا يُجِبُ لِنَهْسِهِ وَ يَكُرَهُ لَهُ مَا يَكُرُهُ لِنَهْسِهِ .

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ahmad Bin Is'haq Bin Al Bahloul, from his father, from Abu Sheyba, from Abu Is'haq, from Al Haris Al Hamdany,

'From Ali-asws, from the Prophet-saww having said: 'For the Muslim upon his Muslim brother, there are six from the acts of kindness – he should greet to him when he meets him, and console him when he is sick, and name (Allah-azwj) for him when he sneezes, and attend him

 $^{^{563}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 14

⁵⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 15

(his funeral) when he dies, and answer him when he calls him, and love for him what he loves for himself and dislike for him what he dislikes for himself". 565

17- سن، المحاسن أبِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ حَلَفِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ عُشْمَانَ بْنِ رَزِينٍ عَمَّنْ رَوَاهُ عَنْ أَمِيرِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ قَالَ: سِتُ خِصَالٍ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ كَانَ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ وَ عَنْ يَمِينِهِ إِنَّ اللّهَ يُحِبُّ الْمُرْءَ الْمُسْلِمَ الَّذِي يُحِبُّ لِأَخِيهِ مَا يُحِبُّ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ يَكْرُهُ لَهُ مَا يَكُرُهُ لَهُ مَا يَكُونُ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ يَعْرِفُ فَصْلِي وَ يَطَأُ عَقِبِي وَ يَنْتَظِرُ عَاقِبَتِي.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from Ali Bin Usman Bin Razeyn, from the one who reported it,

'From Amir Al-Momineen-asws having said: 'Six characteristics, one who has these in him would be in front of Allah-azwj and on His-azwj Right. Allah-azwj Loves the Muslim person who loves for his brother what he loves for himself, and dislikes for him what he dislikes for himself, and advising him of the Wilayah, and he recognise my-asws merits, and tread my-asws heels, and awaits my-asws end-result". 566

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Ibn Mahboub, from Amro Bin Abu Al Migdam, from Malik Bin Ayn who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} faced towards me. He^{-asws} said: 'O Malik! By Allah^{-azwj} you all are our^{-asws} Shias truly.

O Malik! You are being seen as having been excessive in the word regarding our^{-asws} merits. Surely there isn't anyone who is able upon describing Allah^{-azwj} and the essence of His^{-azwj} Ability and His^{-azwj} Magnificence.

Just as no one is able upon the essence of Attributes of Allah^{-azwj} and essence of His^{-azwj} Ability and His^{-azwj} Magnificence, and for Allah^{-azwj} are the loftiest examples, like that no one is able upon describing Rasool-Allah^{-saww} and our^{-asws} merits, and what Allah^{-azwj} has Given us^{-asws}, and what He^{-azwj} has Obligated of our^{-asws} rights.

And just as no one is able upon describing our^{-asws} merits and what Allah^{-azwj} has Obligated of our^{-asws} rights, like that, no one is able upon describing a right of the Momin, and standing by it, from what Allah^{-azwj} has Obligated upon his Momin brother.

 $^{^{565}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 16

 $^{^{566}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 17

وَ اللَّهِ يَا مَالِكُ إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَيْنِ يَلْتَقِيَانِ فَيُصَافِحُ كُلُّ وَاحِدٍ مِنْهُمَا صَاحِبَهُ فَمَا يَزَالُ اللّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى نَاظِرٌ إِلَيْهِمَا بِالْمَحَبَّةِ وَ الْمَغْفِرَةِ وَ إِنَّ الذُّنُوبَ لَتَحَاتُ عَنْ وُجُوهِهِمَا وَ جَوَارِحِهِمَا حَتَّى يَفْتَرَقَا

By Allah^{-azwj}, O Malik! The Momineen meet each other, and they shake hands, each one with his companions, so Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted does not cease to Look at them with the Love and the Forgiveness, and the sins drop off from their faces and their limbs until they separate.

So who is able upon describing Allah^{-azwj} and describing one who is like this in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}?"⁵⁶⁷

(The book) 'Al Saraair' – From the book of Abu Al Qasim Bin Qawlawiya, from Jameel,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'The Momineen serve each other'.

I said, 'How do they serve each other?'

قَالَ نَفَقَتُهُمْ بَعْضُهُمْ لِبَعْض.

He-asws said: 'Then spend on each other''. 568

20- ضا، فقه الرضا عليه السلام اعْلَمْ يَرْحَمُكَ اللَهُ أَنَّ حَقَّ الْإِحْوَانِ وَاحِبٌ فَرْضٌ لَازِمٌّ أَنْ تفدونهم [تَفْدُوهُمْ] لأنفسكم [بِأَنْفُسِكُمْ] وَ أَسْمَاعِكُمْ وَ أَيْدِيكُمْ وَ جَمِيع جَوَارِحِكُمْ وَ هُمْ حُصُونُكُمُ الَّتِي تَلْجَقُونَ إِلَيْهَا فِي الشَّدَائِدِ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَ الْآخِرَةِ-

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} –

'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you! Know that rights of the brethren are an obligation, and imposition, necessitated. Ransom them with yourselves, and your ears, and your eyes, and your hands, and your legs, and entirety of your body parts, and they are your fortresses which you will be sheltering to during the adversities in the world and the Hereafter.

Neither pride upon them, nor oppose them, nor backbite them, nor neglect helping them and assisting them, and spend your selves (effort) and the wealth for them, and face towards

⁵⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 18

⁵⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 19

Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic and Mighty, with the supplicating for them, and consoling them, and equalising them in all what the equalising and the consoling is allowed in and help them (against) the unjust ones (in their) being oppressed by defending them". 569

وَ رُوِيَ أَنَّهُ سُثِلَ الْعَالِمُ عَ عَنِ الرَّجُلِ يُصْبِحُ مَغْمُوماً لَا يَدْرِي سَبَبَ غَمِّهِ فَقَالَ إِذَا أَصَابَهُ ذَلِكَ فَلْيَعْلَمْ أَنَّ أَحَاهُ مَغْمُومٌ وَ كَذَلِكَ إِذَا أَصْبَحَ فَرْحَانَ لِغَيْرِ سَبَبِ يُوجِبُ الْفَرَحَ

And it is reported,

'The scholar^{-asws} was asked about the man waking up in the morning sad, not knowing the cause of his sadness. He^{-asws} said: 'When that afflicts him, let him know that his (Momin) brother is sad, and like that when he is happy in the morning for other than any cause obligating the happiness.

فَبِاللَّهِ نَسْتَعِينُ عَلَى حُقُوقِ الْإِخْوَانِ وَ الْأَخِ الَّذِي يَجِبُ لَهُ هَذِهِ الْحُقُّوقُ الَّذِي لَا فَرْقَ بَيْنَكَ وَ بَيْنَهُ فِي جُمُلَةِ اللَّذِينِ وَ تَفْصِيلِهِ ثُمَّ مَا يَجِبُ لَهُ عِلْدِهِ بِحَسَبِ ذَلِكَ.

We seek Assistance of Allah^{-azwj} upon rights of the brethren and the brother for whom these rights are obligated. There is no difference between you and him in the whole of the religion and its detail. Then what obligates for him with the rights is based upon nearness of what between the brothers, and his remotes is in accordance with that". ⁵⁷⁰

It is reported,

'From the scholar^{-asws} having stood parallel to the Kabah, then said: 'Who mighty is your right, O Kabah, and by Allah^{-azwj}, right of the Momin is mightier than your right!''⁵⁷¹

وَ رُوِيَ أَنَّ مَنْ طَافَ بِالْبَيْتِ سَبْعَةَ أَشْوَاطٍ كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ حَسَنَةٍ وَ مَحَا عَنْهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ سَيِّئَةٍ وَ رَفَعَ لَهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ دَرَجَةٍ وَ قَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ طَوَافٍ وَ طَوَافٍ حَتَّى عَدَّ عَشَرَةً.

And it is reported,

'One who performs Tawaaf of the House (Kabah) seven circuits, Allah^{-azwj} will Write for him six thousand good deeds, and Deleted from him six thousand evil deeds, and Raise for him six thousand ranks; and fulfilling a need of the Momin is superior to performing Tawaaf, and Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} had counted ten".⁵⁷²

21- مص، مصباح الشريعة قالَ الصَّادِقُ ع لَا يُعَظِّمُ حُرْمَةَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ إِلَّا مَنْ عَظَّمَ اللَّهُ حُرْمَتَهُ عَلَى الْمُسْلِمِينَ وَ مَنْ كَانَ أَبْلَغَ حُرْمَةً لِلَّهِ وَ رَسُولِهِ كَانَ أَشَدَّ حُرْمَةً لِلْمُسْلِمِينَ وَ مَن اسْتَهَانَ بِحُرْمَةِ الْمُسْلِمِينَ فَقَدْ هُتِكَ سَتُرُ لِهَانِهِ.

⁵⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 20 a

⁵⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 20 b

 $^{^{571}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 20 c

⁵⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 20 d

(The book) 'Misbah Al Sharia' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'One cannot revere sanctity of the Muslims except one Allah^{-azwj} Revers his sanctity upon the Muslims, and the one who reaches extent of sanctity for Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww}, would be of intense sanctity for the Muslims, and the one who demeans sanctity of the Muslims, so he has violated a veil of his Eman''.⁵⁷³

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'From the reverence of Allah^{-azwj} is veneration of the ones with kinship in Al-Islam''.⁵⁷⁴

```
وَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص مَنْ لَمْ يَرْحَمْ صَغِيراً وَ لَا يُوقِرْ كَبِيراً فَلَيْسَ مِنَا وَ لَا تُكَفِّرْ مُسْلِماً بِذَنْبٍ تُكَفِّرُهُ التَّوْبَةُ إِلَّا مَنْ ذَكَرَهُ اللهُ فِي الْكِتَابِ قَالَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ
إِنَّ الْمُنافِقِينَ فِي الدَّرْكِ الْأَسْفَل مِنَ النَّارِ وَ اشْتَغِلْ بِشَأْنِكَ الَّذِي أَنْتَ بِهِ مُطَالَبٌ.
```

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who does not mercy a young, nor dignifies an elder, so he isn't from us^{-asws}; and do not blaspheme a Muslim for a sin the repentance can expiate, except the one whom Allah^{-azwj} has Mentioned in the Book. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: *The hypocrites would be in the lowest Level of the Fire, [4:145]*; and pre-occupy with your affairs which you are being required to''.⁵⁷⁵

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}), may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – His^{-azwj} Words: '*The path of those You have Bestowed Bounties upon [1:7]* – the Imam^{-asws} said: '*The path of those You have Bestowed Bounties upon [1:7]*, i.e. they are saying, 'Guide us to the path of those who have been Bestowed Bounties upon – with the inclination to Your^{-azwj} Religion and Your^{-azwj} obedience.

And they are those (for whom) Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Said: **And the one who obeys Allah and the Rasool, so they would be with those whom Allah has Bestowed Bounties upon, from the Prophets, and the truthful, and the martyrs, and the righteous, and they are good friends [4:69]** – and He^{-azwj} Related this exclusively for Amir-Al-Momineen^{-asws'}.

ثُمُّ قَالَ لَيْسَ هَؤُلَاءِ الْمُنْعَمَ عَلَيْهِمْ بِالْمَالِ وَ صِحَّةِ الْبَدَنِ وَ إِنْ كَانَ كُلُّ هَذَا نِعْمَةً مِنَ اللهِ ظَاهِرَةً أَ لَا تَرَوْنَ أَنَّ هَؤُلاءِ قَدْ يَكُونُونَ كُفَّاراً أَوْ فُسَّاقاً فَمَا نُدِبْتُمْ بِأَنْ تَدْعُوا بِأَنْ تُرْشَدُوا إِلَى صِرَاطِهِمْ

⁵⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 21 a

 $^{^{574}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 21 b

⁵⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 21 c

He (the narrator) said, 'Then he (Imam Hassan Al-Askari-asws) said: 'It isn't so that they have been Favoured upon with the wealth and the well-being of the body, and even though all of this is a Bounty from Allah-azwj apparently. Are you not seeing that these (Bounties) have happened to be (also) in the Kafirs and the immoral ones? Thus, you have not been called upon that you should be supplicating to be Guided to their path.

But rather, you have been Commanded with the supplication, because you are seeking Guidance to the path of those whom Allah^{-azwj} has Favoured upon – with the Eman in Allah^{-azwj} and the ratification of His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww} and the Wilayah of Muhammad^{-saww} and his^{-saww} goodly Progeny^{-asws}, and his^{-saww} good companions, the Chosen ones, and with the excellent dissimulation which you can be safe with it, from the enemies of Allah^{-azwj}, and from the excesses of the days (rule) of the enemies of Allah^{-azwj} and their Kufr, that you have to put up with them.

Therefore, do not be lured by them with that and harm the Momineen, and the recognition of the rights of the brethren from the Momineen, for there is none from a servant or a maid who befriends Muhammad^{-saww} and the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww} and is inimical to their^{-asws} enemies except he would have taken an impregnable fortress from the Punishment of Allah^{-azwj} and a fortified shield.

And there is none from a servant nor a maid who is benevolent to the servants of Allah^{-azwj} with excellent benevolence and does not enter by into a falsehood and does not exit by it from a right, except Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted would Make his breaths as Glorifications (Tasbeeh), and Purify his deeds, and Grant him insight upon the concealment of our^{-asws} secrets, and bearing the anger due to what he hears from our^{-asws} enemies, and Rewards of the one rolling his blood in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted.

And there is none from a servant who take himself to be with the rights of his brethren, so he fulfils their rights by his striving, and gives them his abilities and is pleased from them of their fulfilment, and leaves the investigating upon them, in what happens to be from their slips (mistakes), and he forgives these for them, except Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Say to him on the Day of Qiyamah:

"O my servant! You fulfilled the rights of your brethren and did not investigate upon them with regards to what was for you upon them, so I^{-azwj} am more Generous, and more Honourable, and Foremost with the likes of what you did from the forgiveness and the honouring. Therefore, I^{-azwj} shall Fulfil for you today upon the rights of what I^{-azwj} Promised you with, and I^{-azwj} shall Increase you from My^{-azwj} Extensive Grace, and I^{-azwj} (also) will not Investigate upon you regarding your shortcomings of some of My^{-azwj} Rights".

He^{-asws} said: 'So he would be joined up with Muhammad^{-saww}, and his^{-saww} Progeny^{-asws}, and his^{-saww} companions, and (Allah^{-azwj} will) Make him to be from the best of their^{-asws} Shias''.⁵⁷⁶

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}), may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Words of Mighty and Majestic: *and give the Zakat, [2:110]* – i.e. from the wealth, and the prestige, and strength of the body.

From the wealth is consoling your Momineen brothers, and from the prestige is helping them to what they are lagging from their needs due to their weakness settled in their chests, and with strength assisting a brother of yours whose donkey of his camel has fallen in a desert or a road, and he is crying out for help but is not being help. You should assist him until he loads his belongings upon it and rides it and get him up until he joins with the caravan.

And in all of that you are believing in the Wilayah of Muhammad^{-saww} and his^{-saww} goodly Progeny^{-asws}, and Allah^{-azwj} will Purify your deeds and Multiply these due to your Wilayah for them^{-asws} and your disavowing form their^{-asws} enemies".⁵⁷⁷

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Indeed! Do not be relying upon the Wilayah only, and after it fulfil whatever there are from the obligations of Allah^{-azwj}, and fulfilling rights of the brothers, and

 $^{^{576}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 22

⁵⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 23 a

utilise the Taqiyya (dissimulation), for by these two the deeds are complete and reduced due to these". 578

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws}) (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}), may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}: Indeed! The greatest of the Impositions by Allah^{-azwj} upon you all, after the necessitation of our^{-asws} friendship and the enmity of our^{-asws} enemies, is the utilisation of the Taqiyya (dissimulation) upon yourselves and your brethren, and your acquaintances, and the fulfilment of the rights of your brethren for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}. Indeed! And He^{-azwj} will Forgive every sin after that and will not Inquire.

فَأَمَّا هَذَانِ فَقَلَّ مَنْ يَنْجُو مِنْهُمَا إِلَّا بَعْدَ مَسِّ عَذَابٍ شَدِيدٍ إِلَّا أَنْ يَكُونَ لَهُمْ مَظَالِمٌ عَلَى النَّوَاصِبِ وَ الْكُفَّارِ فَيَكُونَ عَذَابُ هَذَيْنِ عَلَى أُولَئِكَ الْكُفَّارِ وَ التَّقُوبِ وَ مَا لَهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الظُّلْمِ فَاتَّقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِتَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُصِيرِ فِي حُقُوقِ إِخْوَانِكُمُ النَّامِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرُكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُصِيرِ فِي حُقُوقِ إِخْوَانِكُمُ اللهُ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُوبِ إِنْكُمْ مِنَ الْخُلُومِ وَمَا لَهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الظُلْمِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُوبِ وَ مَا لَهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الظُلْمِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُوبِ وَ مَا لَهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الظُلْمِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُوبِ وَ مَا لُهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الظُلْمِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَ لَا تَتَعَرَّضُوا لِمَقْتِ اللهِ بِبَرْكِ التَّقِيَّةِ وَ التَّقُوبِ وَ مَا لُهُمْ إِلَيْكُمْ مِنَ الطُلْمِ فَاتَقُوا اللهَ وَلَا لَهُ وَالْمُؤْمِنِينَ.

So as for these two (the neglecter of the Taqiyya and the neglecter of the rights), so the least one of the two would be rescued only after having touched by the severe Punishment, unless if there happens to be for them (certain) injustices against the Nasibis and the Kafirs, so the Punishment of these two would occur upon those Kafirs and the Nasibis as a retaliation with for if you all against them from the rights. And whatever is for them (Kafirs and the Nasibis) from the injustices, so fear Allah^{-azwj} and do not be exposing yourselves to the Detestation of Allah^{-azwj} by neglecting the Taqiyya, and the deficiencies regarding the rights of your Momineen brethren".⁵⁷⁹

(The book) 'Jamie Al Akhbar' -

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'An example of a Momin having no Taqiyya (dissimulation) for him is like an example of a body having no head for it.

And an example of a Momin not caring of the rights of his Momineen brethren is like an example of one all of his senses are healthy and (but) he neither ponders with his intellect, nor sights with his eyes, nor hears with his ears, nor expresses with his tongue of his needs, not defends against the abhorrences from himself by the evidencing with his argument, nor does he strike anything with his hands, nor gets up to anything with his legs.

⁵⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 23 b

⁵⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 24

فَلَلِكَ قِطْعَةُ لَخَمٍ قَدْ فَاتَتْهُ الْمَنَافِعُ وَ صَارَ غَرَضاً لِكُلِّ الْمَكَارِهِ فَلِلَكَ الْمُؤْمِنُ إِذَا جَهِلَ حُقُوقَ إِخْوَانِهِ فَإِنَّهُ فَوَاتٌ حُقُوفَهُمْ فَكَانَ بِمُنْزِلَةِ الْعَطْشَانِ بِحَصْرَةِ الْمَاءِ الْبَارِدِ فَلَمْ يَشْرَبْ حَتَّى طَفَا

So that one is a piece of meat having lost its benefits and has become a target for every abhorrence. That is the Momin when he ignores rights of his brothers, for he has lost their rights. He would be at the status of the thirsty in the presence of cold water, but he does not drink until he dies.

And he is as the status of the senses, nothing is utilised from these due dispel his abhorrences, nor to benefit a loved one. So then he is stripped of every bounty, afflicted with every affliction". ⁵⁸⁰

وَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع التَّقِيَّةُ مِنْ أَفْضَلِ أَعْمَالِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ يَصُونُ بِمَا نَفْسَهُ وَ إِحْوَانَهُ عَنِ الْفَاحِرِينَ وَ قَضَاءُ حُقُوقِ الْإِحْوَانِ أَشْرَفُ أَعْمَالِ الْمُتَّقِينَ يَسْتَجْلِبُ مَوَدَّةَ الْمَلَائِكَةِ الْمُقَرِّبِينَ وَ شَوْقَ الْحُورِ الْعِينِ.

And Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'The Taqiyya (dissimulation) is from the most superior deeds of the Momineen. He fortifies by it himself and his brethren from the immoral ones; and fulfilling rights of the brethren is noblest of the deed of the pious ones. It attracts the cordiality of the Angels of Proximity and makes the Maiden Houries to yearn (for him)". 581

And Al-Hassan^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws} said: 'The Taqiyya (dissimulation), by it Allah^{-azwj} Corrects a community for its companion, like Rewards of their deeds, and if he were to neglect it, a community would perhaps be destroyed, the one neglecting it would have participated with the ones having destroyed them.

And recognising rights of the brethren endears to the Beneficent and reveres the nearness to the Judging King; and neglecting fulfilling it makes one hateful to the Beneficent and belittles the rank in the Presence of the Benevolent, the Conferrer".⁵⁸²

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' - From Al Haris,

'From Ali-asws Bin Abu Talib-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'For the Muslim upon the Muslim are six (rights) – he should greet unto him when he meets him, and name (Allah-azwj)

⁵⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 25 a

 $^{^{581}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 25 b

⁵⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 25 c

to him when he sneezes, and console him when sick, and answer him when he calls him, and attend him when he dies, and love for him what he loves for himself, and advise for him in the absence".⁵⁸³

27- ختص، الإختصاص رُوِي عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحُسَنِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الرِّضَاعِ قَالَ: يَا عَبْدَ الْعَظِيمِ أَبْلِغْ عَنِي أَوْلِيَائِيَ السَّلَامَ وَ قُلْ لَمُمُ أَنْ لَا جَمْعُلُوا لِلشَّيْطَانِ عَلَى أَنْفُسِهِمْ سَبِيلًا وَ مُرْهُمْ بِالصِّدْقِ فِي الْحُدِيثِ وَ أَدَاءِ الْأَمَانَةِ وَ مُرْهُمْ بِالسُّكُوتِ وَ تَرْكِ الْجِدَالِ فِيمَا لَا يَعْنِيهِمْ وَ إِقْبَالِ بَعْضِهِمْ عَلَى بَعْضِ

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' – It is reported from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany,

'From Abu Al-Hassan Al Reza-asws having said: 'O Abdul Azeem! Convey the greetings to my-asws friends and tell them not to make a way for the Satan-la against themselves, and instruct them with being truthful in the narration, and fulfilling the entrustments, and instruct them; and instruct them with being silent and neglect the quarrels regarding what does not concern them, and they should turn to each other (with help).

وَ الْمُزَاوَرَةِ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ قُرْبَةٌ إِلِيَّ وَ لَا يَشْغَلُوا أَنْفُسَهُمْ بِتَمْزِيقِ بَعْضِهِمْ بَعْضاً فَإِنِّ آلَيْتُ عَلَى نَفْسِي أَنَّهُ مَنْ فَعَلَ ذَلِكَ وَ أَسْحَطَ وَلِيّاً مِنْ أَوْلِيَائِي دَعَوْتُ اللّهَ لِيُعَذِّبَهُ فِي الدُّنْيَا أَشَدَّ الْعَذَابِ وَكَانَ فِي الْآخِرَة مِنَ الْخَاسِرِينَ

And the visiting (each other), for that would draw closer to me^{-asws}, and they should not pre-occupy themselves with tearing each other for I^{-asws} have sworn upon myself^{-asws} that the one who does that and annoys a friend from my^{-asws} friends, I^{-asws} shall supplicate to Allah^{-azwj} to Punish him in the world with severest of the Punishments, and in the Hereafter, he would be from the losers.

وَ عَرِّفْهُمْ أَنَّ اللَّهَ قَدْ غَفَر لِمُحْسِنِهِمْ وَ تَجَاوَزَ عَنْ مُسِيثِهِمْ إِلَّا مَنْ أَشْرَكَ بِي أَوْ آذَى وَلِيّاً مِنْ أَوْلِيَائِي أَوْ أَضَمَرَ لَهُ سُوءاً فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ لَا يَغْفِرُ لَهُ حَتَّى يَرْجِعَ عَنْهُ فَإِنْ رَجَعَ عَنْهُ وَ إِلَّا نُرْعَ رُوحُ الْإِيمَانِ عَنْ قَلْبِهِ وَ حَرَجَ عَنْ وَلَايَتِي وَ لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ نُصِيبٌ فِي وَلايتِنَا وَ أَعُوذُ بِاللَّهِ مِنْ ذَلِكَ.

And make them understand that Allah^{-azwj} will Forgive for their good doers of their evil deeds, except the one who associates with me^{-asws} or hurts a friend from my^{-asws} friends or thinks of doing evil to him. Allah^{-azwj} will not Forgive him until he retracts from it. If he were to retract from it (then fine), or else the spirit of Eman will be Removed from his heart and he will exit from my^{-asws} Wilayah, and there will not happen to be any share for him in our^{-asws} Wilayah, and I^{-asws} seek Refuge with Allah^{-azwj} from that".⁵⁸⁴

28-كِتَابُ قَضَاءِ الْخُقُوقِ، لِلصُّورِيِّ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ رِفَاعَة بْنَ شَدَّادٍ الْبَجَلِيَّ قَاضِيَ الْأَهْوَازِ فِي رِسَالَةٍ إِلَيْهِ دَارِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ رِفَاعَة بْنَ شَدَّادٍ الْبَجَلِيَّ قَاضِيَ الْأَهْوَ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَ ظَالِمُهُ حُصْمُ اللَّهِ فَلَا تَكُونُ ثَوَابُ اللَّهِ وَ لَهُ يَكُونُ ثَوَابُ اللَّهِ وَ ظَالِمُهُ حُصْمُ اللَّهِ فَلَا تَكُونُ شَعْمَهُ.

(The book) 'Kitab Qaza Al Huqouq' of Al Sowry -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said among what he^{-asws} advised with to Rifa'at Bin Shaddad Al-Bajali, judge of Al Ahvaz in a letter to him: 'Rotate among the Momineen as much as you can, for his back is a support for Allah^{-azwj}, and his soul is benevolent to Allah^{-azwj}, and there happen

 $^{^{583}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 26 $\,$

⁵⁸⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 27

to be Rewards of Allah^{-azwj} for him, and his oppressor will be Contended by Allah^{-azwj}, so do not become His^{-azwj} contender".⁵⁸⁵

And Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momin should not encumber his brother to seek to him when he already know of his needs''.⁵⁸⁶

And he^{-saww} said addressing to the Momineen: 'Visit each other, and be compassionate and spend on each other, and do not be at the status of the hypocrite who describes what he does not do''.⁵⁸⁷

And by his chain from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Aasimy who said,

'I performed Hajj and with me was a group of our companions. I came to Al-Medina and individualised a place for me to be descending in. Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} met up being upon a young donkey, followed by food (provisions), and we descended between the palm trees, and he^{-asws} descended and came with the tray and the washing ash.

He^{-asws} began by washing his^{-asws} hands and rotated the tray on his^{-asws} right until it reached the last of us. Then he^{-asws} repeated to the one upon his^{-asws} left until it came to the last of us. Then he^{-asws} forwarded the meal. He^{-asws} began with the salt, then said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful'.

Then he^{-asws} seconded with the vinegar, then was brought a grilled shoulder (of lamb). He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful, for this is food which used to fascinate Rasool-Allah^{-saww'}.

Then he^{-asws} was brought the vinegar and the oil. He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful, for this is food which used to fascinate (Syeda) Fatima^{-asws}'.

⁵⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 1

 $^{^{586}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 2

⁵⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 3

Then he^{-asws} was brought *Sakbaj* (cooked meat, and saffron, and vinegar). He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful. This is food which used to fascinate Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought fried meat wherein were aubergines. He^{-asws} said: 'In the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful. This is food which used to fascinate Al-Hassan^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws}'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought some sour milk, porridge having made in it. He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful, for this is food which used to fascinate Al-Husayn^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws}'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought cheese sandwiches. He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful, for this is food which used to fascinate Muhammad^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws}'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought container in which were like the 'Ujjah' (egg dish in flour). He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful, for this food used to fascinate Abu Ja'far^{-asws}'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought the sweets. He^{-asws} said: 'Eat in the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful. This is food which has been fascinating me^{-asws}'.

And the meal was raised. One of us went to pick up what was beneath it. He^{-asws} said: 'But rather, that should be (done) in the houses under the rooves. As for in the likes of this place, it is for the well-being of the birds and the beasts'.

Then he^{-asws} was brought the toothpicks. He^{-asws} said: 'It is from a right of the toothpick that it be rotated around the tongue in your mouth. So, whatever (pieces) respond to you, swallow it, and whatever prevents, then (use) toothpick again and extract it and spit it out'.

And he^{-asws} was brought the tray and the water. He^{-asws} began with the first one upon his^{-asws} left until it ended to him^{-asws}. He^{-asws} washed, then the one on his^{-asws} right washed until it came to their last one.

Then he-asws said: 'O Asim! How are you all regarding the connecting (helping financially) and the poverty?' He-asws said: 'Upon better than what anyone is upon'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Does one of you come to his brother during the financial difficulty, and he does not find him, so he instructs with bringing out his moneybag. He brings out and opens its seal and takes from that his need, and it is not denied upon him?'

He said, 'No!' He^{-asws} said: 'You aren't upon what I^{-asws} like regarding the connecting (helping between Momineen)''.⁵⁸⁸

And from the (afore) mentioned book, by his chain from Al Mufazzal Bin Umar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'O Mufazzal! How is the situation of the Shias in your presence?'

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! 'How excellent is their state, and they are connecting with each other and are being righteous to each other!'

He^{-asws} said: 'Does the man from you come to his brother, inserts his hand in his moneybag and takes his need from it, and neither does he repel him, nor does he feel any agony within himself?'

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'By Allah-azwj, they are not like this!'

-

⁵⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 4

He^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Had they been so, then Shias of Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} would have gathered upon a thigh of a sheep (to eat), I^{-asws} would have been in their centre (midst)". ⁵⁸⁹

And by his chain,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has not been worshipped by anything superior to fulfilling rights of the Momin''.⁵⁹⁰

And he^{-asws} said: 'There are sanctities for Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted – a sanctity of the Book of Allah^{-azwj}, and sanctity of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, and sanctity of Bay Al-Maqdis, and sanctity of the Momin''.⁵⁹¹

And by his chain, from Abdul Momin Al Anasari who said,

'I entered to see Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} and in his^{-asws} presence was Muhammad Bin Abdullah Bin Muhammad Al-Jufy. I smiled at him. He^{-asws} said: 'Do you like him?' I said, 'I don't like him except regarding you^{-asws} all!'

He^{-asws} said: 'He is your brother. The Momin is a brother of the Momin, of his mother and his father. Accursed is the one who cheats his brother, and Accursed is the one who does not advise his brother, and Accursed is the one who veils his brother, and Accursed is the one who backbites his brother''.⁵⁹²

And by his chain, said,

'Al-Reza^{-asws} was asked, 'What is a right of the Momin upon the Momin?'

 $^{^{589}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 5

 $^{^{590}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 6

 $^{^{591}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 7

⁵⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 8

فَقَالَ إِنَّ مِنْ حَقِّ الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ الْمَوَدَّةَ لَهُ فِي صَدْرِهِ وَ الْمُوَاسَاةَ لَهُ فِي مَالِهِ وَ النُّصْرَةَ لَهُ عَلَى مَنْ ظَلَمَهُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ فَيَءٌ لِلْمُسْلِمِينَ وَكَانَ غَائِياً أَخَذَ لَهُ بَعَصِيبِهِ وَ إِذَا مَاتَ فَالرِّيَارَةُ إِلَى قَبْرِهِ

He^{-asws} said: 'A right of the Momin upon the Momin^{-asws} is the cordiality to him in his chest, and the consoling to him in his wealth, and the help to him against the one oppressing him, and if it was war booty of the Muslims and he was absent, his should take his share for him, and when he dies, then the visitation to his grave.

وَ لَا يَظْلِمُهُ وَ لَا يَغْشُهُ وَ لَا يَخُونُهُ وَ لَا يَغْتَابُهُ وَ لَا يَكْذِبُهُ وَ لَا يَكْذِبُهُ وَ لَا يَقُولُ لَهُ أُفِّ فَإِذَا قَالَ لَهُ أُفِّ فَإِذَا قَالَ لَهُ أُفِّ عَلَيْسَ بَيْنَهُمَا وَلاَيَةٌ وَ إِذَا قَالَ لَهُ أَنْتَ عَدُوِّي فَقَدْ كَفَّرَ أَحَدُهُمَا صَاحِبَهُ

And he should neither oppress him, nor cheat him, nor betray him, nor abandon him, nor backbite him, nor belie him, and he should not say 'Ugh' to him. When he does say, 'Ugh' to him, then there isn't any Wilayah (friendship) between the two; and when he says to him, 'You are my enemy', so one of them has committed Kufr with his companion.

وَ إِذَا اتَّهَمَهُ انْهَاتُ الْإِيمَانُ فِي قَلْبِهِ كَمَا يَنْمَاتُ الْمِلْحُ فِي الْمَاءِ وَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً كَانَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِتْقِ رَقَبَةٍ وَ مَنْ سَقَى مُؤْمِناً مِنْ ظَمَا مُنْ السَّهُ مِنْ السَّهُ مِنْ السَّهُ مِنْ السَّهُ مِنْ سُنْدُسِ وَ حَرِيرِ الجُنَّةِ الْمَحْتُومِ وَ مَنْ كَسَى مُؤْمِناً مِنْ عُرْي كَسَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ سُنْدُسِ وَ حَرِيرِ الجُنَّةِ

When he slanders him, the Eman melts in his heart just as the salt melts in the water; and the one who feeds a Momin it would be better than liberating a neck; and the one quenching a Momin from thirst, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar; and the one clothing a Momin from bareness, Allah^{-azwj} will Clothe him from brocade and silk of Paradise.

وَ مَنْ أَقْرَضَ مُؤْمِناً قَرْضاً يُويِدُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مُسِبَ لَهُ ذَلِكَ بِحِسَابِ الصَّدَقَةِ حَتَّى يُؤَدِّيَهُ إِلَيْهِ وَ مَنْ فَرَّجَ عَنْ مُؤْمِنٍ كُرْبَةً مِنْ كُرَبِ الدُّنْيَا فَرَّجَ اللّهُ عَنْهُ كُرْبَةً مِنْ كُرِبِ الْآخِرَة

And the one who lends a loan to a Momin intending the Face of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic by it, that will be calculated for him in the calculation of the charity until he pays it back to him; and the one who relieves distress from a Momin from the stresses of the world, Allah^{-azwj} will Relieve from him stress from the distresses of the Hereafter.

وَ مَنْ قَضَى لِمُؤْمِنٍ حَاجَةً كَانَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ صِيَامِهِ وَ اعْتِكَافِهِ فِي الْمَسْجِدِ الْحُرَامِ وَ إِنَّمَا الْمُؤْمِنُ بِمُثْلِلَةِ السَّاقِ مِنَ الْجُسَدِ وَ إِنَّ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ الْبَاقِرَ ع اسْتَقْبَلَ الْكَعْبَةَ وَ قَالَ الْحُمْدُ لِلَّهِ الَّذِي كَرَّمَكِ وَ شَرَّفَكِ وَ عَظَّمَكِ وَ جَعَلَكِ مَثَابَةً لِلنَّاسِ وَ أَمْناً وَ اللّهِ لَحُرْمَةُ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَعْظُمُ حُرْمَةً مِنْكِ

And the one who fulfils a need for a Momin, it would be better than his fasting, and his isolating in the Sacred Masjid; and rather the Momin is at the status of the leg from the body; and Abu Ja'far Al-Baqir^{-asws} had faced the Kabah and said: 'The Praise is for Allah^{-azwj} Who Honoured you, and Ennobled you, and Revered you, and Made you a refuge for the people and a safety. By Allah^{-azwj}! The sanctity of a Momin is of greater sanctity than you'.

وَ لَقَدْ دَخَلَ عَلَيْهِ رَجُلٌ مِنْ أَهْلِ الجُّبَلِ فَسَلَّمَ عَلَيْهِ فَقَالَ لَهُ عِنْدَ الْوَدَاعَ أَوْصِنِي

And a man from the people of the mountains entered to see him. He greeted unto him-asws. He said to him at bidding the farewell, 'Advise me!'

فَقَالَ أُوصِيكَ بِتَقْوَى اللَّهِ وَ بِرِّ أَخِيكَ الْمُؤْمِنِ فأحببت [فَأَحِبَ] لَهُ مَا تُحِبُّ لِنَفْسِكَ وَ إِنْ سَأَلَكَ فَأَعْطِهِ وَ إِنْ كَفَّ عَنْكَ فَاعْرِضْ عَلَيْهِ- لَا تَمَلَّهُ فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَمُلُكَ وَكُنْ لَهُ عَضُداً

He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} advise you with fearing Allah^{-azwj}, and righteousness with your Momin brother. Love for him what you love for yourself, and if he were to ask you, then give him, and if he refrains from you, then turn to him. Do not be fed up with him for he is not fed up with you and be a support for him.

فَإِنْ وَجَدَ عَلَيْكَ فَلَا تُفَارِقُهُ حَتَّى تَسُلَّ سَخِيمَتَهُ فَإِنْ غَابَ فَاحْفَظْهُ فِي غَيْبَتِهِ وَ إِنْ شَهِدَ فَاكْنُفُهُ وَ اعْضُدُهُ وَ زُرُهُ وَ أَكْرِمْهُ وَ الْطُفْ بِهِ فَإِنَّهُ مِنْكَ وَ أَنْتَ مِنْهُ وَ فِطْرُكَ لِأَخِيكَ الْمُؤْمِن وَ إِدْخَالُ السُّرُورِ عَلَيْهِ أَفْضَلُ مِنَ الصِّيَام وَ أَعْظَمُ أَجْراً.

If he were to feel (ill will) against you, do not separate from him until his grudge is gone. If he is absence, then protect him during his absence, and if he is present, cover him, and support him, and visit him, and honour him, and be compassionate with him, for he is from you and you are from him, and your nature is for your Momin brother; and entering the cheerfulness unto him is better than fasting, and is of greater Recompense".⁵⁹³

29- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص الْمُؤْمِنُ مِرَّآةٌ لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ يَنْصَحُهُ إِذَا غَابَ عَنْهُ وَ يُمِيطُ عَنْهُ مَا يَكُرُهُ إِذَا شَهِدَ وَ يُوسِّعُ لَهُ فِي الْمَجْلِس.

(The book) 'Nawadir' - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momin is a mirror for his Momin brother. He advises him when he is absent from him, and he distances from him what he dislikes when he is present, and he makes space for him in the gathering".⁵⁹⁴

30- أَقُولُ، وَجَدْثُ بِخَطِّ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الجُّبَاعِيِّ نَقْلًا مِنْ حَطِّ الشَّيْخِ الشَّهِيدِ رَحِمَهُ اللهُ مَا هَذِهِ صُورَتُهُ مِنْ كِتَابِ الْمُؤْمِنِ لِابْنِ سَعِيدٍ الخُسَيْنِ الْأَهْوَانِيِّ وَ اللهِ لَا يَكُونُ الْمُؤْمِنُ مُؤْمِناً أَبَداً حَتَّى يَكُونَ لِأَخِيهِ مِثْلَ الجُسَدِ إِذَا ضَرَبَ عَلَيْهِ عِرْقٌ وَاحِدٌ تَدَاعَتْ لَهُ وَ اللهِ لَا يَكُونُ الْمُؤْمِنُ مُؤْمِناً أَبَداً حَتَّى يَكُونَ لِأَخِيهِ مِثْلَ الجُسَدِ إِذَا ضَرَبَ عَلَيْهِ عِرْقٌ وَاحِدٌ تَدَاعَتْ لَهُ سَاؤُم عُرُوقِهِ. سَائِرُ عُرُوقِهِ.

I (Majlisi) am saying, 'I found in the handwriting of Muhammad Bin Ali Al Jubaie, copying from the handwriting of the sheykh, the martyr, may Allah azwi be Pleased with him, that this is its outline from 'Kitab Al Momin' of Ibn Saeed Al Husayn Al Ahwazy, and it's original is Kufian, by his chain,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'No, by Allah^{-azwj}! The Momin cannot be a Momin, ever, until he becomes for his brother like the body. When one vein is struck upon him, rest of the veins respond to it''.⁵⁹⁵

وَ عَنْهُ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: لِكُلِّ شَيْءٍ شَيْءٌ يَسْتَرِيحُ إِلَيْهِ وَ إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ يَسْتَرِيحُ إِلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ كَمَا يَسْتَرِيحُ الطَّيْرُ إِلَى شَكْلِهِ.

 $^{^{593}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 28 / 9

 $^{^{594}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 29

 $^{^{595}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 1

And from him-asws having said, 'For everything there is something it comforts to, and the Momin is comforted to his Momin brother just as the bird is comforted to its type (fellow bird)''.596

And from Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'The Momineen are like the body in their righteousness, and mercifulness, and their compassion to each other. When he has a (health) complaint, the rest of him call to him with the staying awake and the fever''. 597

And from Al Moalla Bin Khuneys who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'What is a right of the Momin upon the Momin?'

He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} pity upon you. I^{-asws} fear that you will learn, and you will waste and not preserve'.

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'There is no strength except with Allah-azwj'.

He^{-asws} said: 'For the Momin upon the Momin, there are seven obligatory rights. There isn't any right from it except and it is obligatory. Upon his brother is that if he were to waste a right from these, he will exit from the Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} and would have neglected His^{-azwj} obedience, and there will not be any share for him in it.

The easiest right from these is that you should love for him what you love for yourself, and you should dislike for him what you dislike for yourself.

And the second is that you should assist him with yourself, and your wealth, and your tongue, and your hands, and your legs.

 $^{^{596}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 2

 $^{^{597}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 3

And the third is that you should pursue his satisfaction and shun annoying him, and you should obey his instructions.

And the fourth is that you should be his eyes, and his guide, and his mirror.

And the fifth, you should not satiate while he is hungry, nor saturate while he is thirsty, nor clothe while he is bare.

And the sixth is that if there happens to be a servant for him and there isn't any servant for him, or there is a wife for you and there isn't any wife for him to be standing upon him, you should send your servant to wash his clothes and cook his meal and prepare his bed.

And the seventh, you should fulfil his vow, and answer his call, and console in his illness, and attend his funeral; and if there were to be a need for him, you should rush to fulfil it and not encumber him to ask it.

When you have done that, you will have connected your wilayah with his wilayah, and his wilayah with your wilayah". 598

And from Al-Moalla – similar to it, and he-asws said in his-asws Hadeeth: 'When you have done that, you will have connected your wilayah with his wilayah, and his wilayah with the Wilayah of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic'.

And he^{-asws} said: 'Love for your Muslim brother what you love for yourself. When you are need, so ask him, and when he asks you, give him, and do not be fed up with doing good and he will not be fed up with you; be a support for him for he is a support for you, and protect

-

⁵⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 4

him during his absence, and if he is present, visit him, and revere him, and honour him, for he is from you and you are from him.

If he were to fault upon you, do not separate from him until his grudge is gone away, and if he attains good, then praise Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and if he is afflicted, then give him and carry (his burden) on his behalf and assist him".⁵⁹⁹

Nasr in Qbous said,

'I said to Abu Al-Hassan Al-Maazi (7th Imam^{-asws}), 'It has reached me from your^{-asws} father (Al-Husayn^{-asws}), a comer had come to him^{-asws} and was assisted by him^{-asws} upon a need. It was mentioned to him^{-asws} that he was in isolation (I'tikaaf). He^{-asws} came to Al-Hassan^{-asws} and mentioned that to him^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said: 'Does he not know that the walking regarding a need of the Momin until he fulfils it is better than isolation (I'tikaaf) for two consecutive mother in the Sacred Masjid with its fasting?'

The Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} said: 'And (better) than isolation (I'tikaaf) for the whole time (lifetime)". 600

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad in Haroun Bin Humeyd, and Abdullah Bin Muhammad Bin Abdul Aziz, from Bakr Bin Shayba, from Abu Al Ahwas, from Abu Is'haq, from Al Haris,

'From Ali-asws Bin Abu Talib-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'For the Muslim upon the Muslim there are six traits with the acts of kindness – he should greet unto him when he meets him, and answer him when he calls him, and name (Allah-azwj) when he sneezes, and console him when he is sick, and attend his funeral when he dies, and love for him what he loves for himself". 601

⁵⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 5

 $^{^{600}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 30 / 6 $\,$

⁶⁰¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 31

32- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ مُحْمُودِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُهَاجِرٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ نَصْرِ بْنِ حَرِيشٍ عَنْ رَوْحِ بْنِ مُسَافِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ الحَّارِثِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ ع قَالَ وَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص لِلْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى الْمُسْلِمِ سِتُ خِصَالٍ بِالْمَعْرُوفِ يُسَلِّمُ عَلَيْهِ إِذَا لَقِيَهُ وَ يُستَمِّتُهُ إِذَا عَطَسَ وَ يَعُودُهُ إِذَا مَرضَ وَ يَشْهَدُ جَنَازَتُهُ إِذَا مَاتَ وَ يُجِيبُهُ إِذَا دَعَاهُ وَ يُجِبُّ لَهُ مَا يُجِبُ لِنَفْسِهِ وَ يَكُرُهُ لَهُ مَا يَكُرهُ لِنَفْسِهِ بِظَهْرِ الْغَيْبِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Mahmoud Bin Muhammad Bin Muhajir, from Salih BiN Zayd, from Nasr Bin Hareysh, from Rawh Bin Musafir, from Abu Is'haq, from Al Haris,

'From Ali-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'For the Muslim upon the Muslim, there are six traits with the acts of kindness – he should greet unto him when he meets him, and he should name (Allah-azwj) when he sneezes, console him when sick, and attend his funeral when he dies, and answer him when he calls him, and love for him what he loves for himself, and dislikes for him what he dislikes for himself in the back of absence".

33- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفيدُ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ بِلَالٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَالِكٍ وَفَعَهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ صَحِبَ مُؤْمِناً أَوْيَعِنَ خُطْهَةً سَأَلُهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ يَوْمَ الْقَيَامَة.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ali Bin Bilal, from Ali Bin Suleyman, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Malik, raising it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who accompanies a Momin for forty steps, Allah^{-azwj} will Question him about him on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁶⁰³

34- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي قَالَ الْمُفِيدُ رَأَيْتُ فِي بَعْضِ الْأُصُولِ حَدِيثاً لَمْ يَخْضُرْنِي الْآنَ إِسْنَادُهُ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ ع قَالَ: مَنْ صَحِبَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي طَرِيقِ فَتَقَدَّمُهُ فِيهِ بِقَدْر مَا يَغِيبُ عَنْهُ بَصَرُهُ فَقَدْ أَشَاطَ بِدَمِهِ وَ أَعَانَ عَلَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed said, 'I saw in one of the original Ahadeeth, its attribution is not present with me now,

'From Al-Sadiq Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} having said: 'One who accompanies his Momin brother in a road and sends him ahead a measurement of what would make him disappear from his sight, so he is greedy for his blood and assisted against him''.⁶⁰⁴

35-كُنْزُ الْكَرَاجُكِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادٍ مَنْكُورٍ فِي الْمَنَاهِي عَنْ يُونُسَ بْنِ يَعْقُوبَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: مَلْعُونٌ مَلْعُونٌ رَجُلٌ يَبْدَؤُهُ أَحُوهُ بِالصُّلْحِ فَلَمْ يُصَالِحُهُ.

(The book) 'Al-Karajaki – By a chain mention in 'Al Manahy', from Yunus Bin Yaqoub,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Accursed! Accursed is a man whose brother initiates him with the reconciliation, but he does not reconcile with him''.⁶⁰⁵

36- مِنْهُ، عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الصَّيْرُفِيَّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عُمَرَ الْجِعَابِيِّ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ الْعَلَوِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ لِلْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ ثَلَاثُونَ حَقَّا- لَا بَرَاءَةَ لَهُ مِنْهَا إِلَّا بالْأَدَاءِ أَو الْعَفْو

⁶⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 32

 $^{^{603}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 33

 $^{^{604}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 34

⁶⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 35

From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad Bin Ali Al Sayrafi, from Muhammad Bin Umar Al Jiany, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Alawy, from his father, from his forefathers,

'From Ali-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'For a Muslim upon his brother there are thirty rights. There is no disavowing for him from these except with fulfilment or the excuse.

He should forgive his slips, and mercy his tears, and cover his bareness, and belittle his stumbles, and accept his apologies, and repel his backbiting, and constantly advise him, and preserve his virtues, and take care of his responsibilities, and console in his illness, and attend his corpse (funeral), and answer his call, and accept his gifts, and reciprocate his help, and thank for his favours.

And protect his family, and fulfil his needs, and heal his problems, and name (Allah^{-azwj}) at his sneezing, and guide his straying, and respond his greeting, and be good in his speech to him, and makes good his oath, and ratify his vow, and befriend his friend and not be inimical to him.

And help him as an oppressor and oppressed. As for helping him as an oppressor, return him from his injustice, and as for helping him as oppressed, assist him upon taking his right. And neither submit him nor abandon him, and love for him from the good what he loves for himself, and dislike for him from the evil what he dislikes for himself.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'I heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'If one of you were to leave something from the rights of his brother, he will be sought with it on the Day of Qiyamah, so it will be judged for him, and against him''.⁶⁰⁶

And from him, by his chain from Abu Hureyra -

'From Rasool-Allah^{-saww} having said: 'The deeds of people are presented twice during every week – on the day of Monday and the day of Thursday. So it is Forgiven for every Momin

-

⁶⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 36

servant except the one there was a grudge between him and his brother. It is said, 'Leave these two until they reconcile!''607

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'From them^{-asws} having said: 'A servant will not perfect the reality of Eman until he loves his Momin brother'.

And from them^{-asws}: 'Our^{-asws} Shias are gifting each other and spending on each other for our^{-asws} sake''.⁶⁰⁸

And Abdul Momin Al Ansari said,

'I entered to see the Imam^{-asws} Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, and in his^{-asws} presence was Muhammad Bin Abdullah Bin Muhammad Al-Ja'fari. I smiled at him. He^{-asws} said: 'Do you like him?' I said, 'Yes, and I do not like except for you^{-asws} all!'

He^{-asws} said: 'He is your brother, and the Momin is a brother of the Momin, of his father and his mother. Accursed! Accursed is the one who slanders his brother. Accursed! Accursed is the one who cheats his brother. Accursed! Accurse is the one who does not advise his brother. Accursed! Accursed! Accursed! over his brother. Accursed! Accursed is the one veils from his brother. Accursed! Accursed is the one who backbites his brother''. 609

And from him^{-saww}: 'The firmest handle of Eman is the love for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and the hatred for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}''.⁶¹⁰

⁶⁰⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 37

 $^{^{608}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 38 a

 $^{^{609}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 38 b

⁶¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 38 c

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'For everything there is something it is comforted to, and the Momin is comforted to his Momin brother just as the bird is comforted to its like (fellow bird). Or have you not seen that?''⁶¹¹

And he^{-asws} said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin. He is his eyes, and his mirror, and his guide. He neither betrays him, nor abandons him, nor oppresses him, nor belies him, nor backbites him''.⁶¹²

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Sayf Bin Ameyra, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'One From a right of the Momin upon his Momin brother is that he should satiate his hunger, and cover his bareness, and relieve his distress from him, and pay off his debts. When he dies, he should replace him (as a guardian) among his wife and children''.⁶¹³

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Abdullah Bin Bukeyr Al Hajary, from Moalla Bin Khuneys,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} he (the narrator) said: 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'What is the right of the Muslim upon the Muslim?'

He^{-asws} said: 'For him there are seven Obligatory rights. There is no right from these except and it is Obligatory upon him. If he were to waste anything from these, he would exit from the Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} obedience, and there would not happen to be for Allah^{-azwj} with regards to it, any share'.

I said to him-asws, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! And what are these?'

⁶¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 38 d

 $^{^{612}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 38 e

⁶¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 39

He^{-asws} said: 'O Moalla! I^{-asws} am pitying upon you. I^{-asws} fear that you would waste (this) and not preserve, and you would learn but not act (upon it)'. I said to him^{-asws}, 'There is no Strength except with Allah^{-azwj}'.

قَالَ أَيْسَرُ حَقِّ مِنْهَا أَنْ تُحِبُّ لَهُ مَا تُحِبُ لِنَفْسِكَ وَ تَكْرَهَ لَهُ مَا تَكْرَهُ لِنَفْسِكَ وَ الحُقُّ الثَّالِيٰ أَنْ بَخْتَنِبَ سَحَطَهُ وَ تَتَّبِعَ مَرْضَاتَهُ وَ تُطِيعَ أَمْرَهُ وَ الحُقُّ الثَّالِثُ أَنْ تُعِينَهُ بَنَفْسِكَ وَ مَالِكَ وَ لِسَانِكَ وَ يَدِكَ وَ رَجِلِكَ

He^{-asws} said: 'The easiest from it is that you love for him what you love for yourself, and dislike for him what you dislike for yourself. And the second right is that you keep aside from his anger, and follow his pleasure, and obey his instructions. And the third right is that you support him with your 'self', and your wealth, and your tongue, and your hands, and your legs.

وَ الْحَقُّ الرَّابِعُ أَنْ تَكُونَ عَيْنَهُ وَ دَلِيلَهُ وَ مِرْآتَهُ وَ الْحَقُّ الْخَامِسُ لَا تَشْبَعُ وَ يَجُوعُ وَ لَا تَرْوَى وَ يَظْمَأُ وَ لَا تَلْبَسُ وَ يَعْرَى وَ الْحَقُّ السَّادِسُ أَنْ يَكُونَ لَكَ حَادِمٌ وَ لَيْسَ لِأَخِيكَ حَادِمٌ فَوَاجِبٌ أَنْ تَبْعَثَ حَادِمَكَ فَيَغْسِلَ ثِيَابَهُ وَ يَصْنَعَ طَعَامَهُ وَ يَمْهَدَ فِرَاشَهُ

And the fourth right is that you become his eye, and his guide, and his mirror. And the fifth right is that you are not satiated while he is hungry, nor you being quenched while he is thirsty, nor you wearing clothes while he is naked. And the sixth right is that if there happens to be a servant for you and there is no servant for your brother, so it is Obligatory that you send your servant, so he would wash his clothes, and make his food, and prepare his bed.

وَ الْحَقُّ السَّابِعُ أَنْ ثُبِرَّ قَسَمَهُ وَ تَجُيبَ دَعْوَتَهُ وَ تَعُودَ مَرِيضَهُ وَ تَشْهَدَ جَنَازَتَهُ وَ إِذَا عَلِمْتَ أَنَّ لَهُ حَاجَةً ثُبَادِرُهُ إِلَى قَصَائِهَا وَ لَا تُلْجِئُهُ أَنْ يَسْأَلَكُهَا وَ لَكِنْ تُبَادِرُهُ هُبَادَرَةً فَإِذَا فَعَلْتَ ذَلِكَ وَصَلْتَ وَلَايَتَكَ بِوَلايَتِهِ وَ وَلايَتَكُ بِولايَتِكَ.

And the seventh right is that you make good his apportionment, and answer his invitation, and console his sick ones, and attend his funeral, and when you come to know that there is a need for him, you hasten towards fulfilling it, and not wait for him to ask for it, but hasten with a hastening. So when you do that, your Wilayah would be linked with his Wilayah, and his Wilayah with your Wilayah".⁶¹⁴

<u>Explanation</u> – And in a Hadeeth with an unbroken chain, from Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'When the man vows upon his brother but does not fulfil his vow, there would be an expiation of an oath (penalty) upon the vowed''.

41-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ سَيْفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ سَيْفٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْأَعْلَى بْنِ أَعْيَنَ قَالَ: كَتَبَ أَصْحَابُنَا يَسْأَلُونَ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّعْلَى بْنِ أَعْيَنَ قَالَ: كَتَبَ أَصْحَابُنَا يَسْأَلُونَ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّعْ عَنْ أَشْيَاءَ وَ أَمْرُونِيَ أَنْ أَسْأَلُهُ عَنْ حَقِّ الْمُسْلِمِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ فَسَأَلْتُهُ فَلَمْ يُجْبْنِي فَلَمَّا حِنْتُ لِأُورَعَهُ فَقْلْتُ سَأَلْتُكَ فَلَمْ بُجْبْنِي

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Sayf, from his father Sayf, from Abdul A'ala Bin Ayn who said,

 614 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 40

_

'Our companions wrote asking Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about things (issues), and they instructed me to ask him^{-asws} about a right of the Muslim upon his brother. So I asked him^{-asws}, but he^{-asws} did not answer me. When I went to bid him^{-asws} farewell, I said, 'I had asked you^{-asws} but you^{-asws} did not answer me!'

He^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} feared that you will commit Kufr. From the severest of what Allah^{-azwj} has Obligated upon His^{-azwj} creatures, are three (matters) – Fairness from the person from himself until he is not satisfied for his brother from himself except with what he is satisfied for himself from it, and consoling the brother in the wealth, and Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} in every situation. It isn't (saying), 'Glory be to Allah^{-azwj}, and the Praise be to Allah^{-azwj}', but (remembering Allah^{-azwj}) at whatever Allah^{-azwj} has Prohibited, so he leaves it".⁶¹⁵

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Jameel, from Murazim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has not been worshipped by anything better than fulfilment of a right of the Momin''.⁶¹⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Ibrahim Bin Umar Al Yamani,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The right of a Muslim upon a Muslim is that he should not be satiated while his brother is hungry, nor be quenched while his brother is thirsty, nor being clothed while his brother is naked. So how great is the right of a Muslim upon the Muslim!'

And he^{-asws} said: 'Love for your Muslim brother what you love for yourself, and when you are needy so ask him, and if he asks you so give him. Neither should you get bored with him, nor should he get bored with you. Become a backbone for him, so he would be a backbone for you. When he is absent, so protect him during his absence, and when he is present, so visit him, and exalt him, and honour him, for he is from you, and you are from him.

 $^{^{615}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 41

⁶¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 42

فَإِنْ كَانَ عَلَيْكَ عَاتِياً فَلَا تُفَاوِقُهُ حَتَّى تَسُلَّ سَخِيمَتَهُ وَ إِنْ أَصَابَهُ خَيْرٌ فَاحْمَدِ اللّهَ وَ إِنِ ابْتُلِيَ فَاعْضُدُهُ وَ إِنْ تُمُخِّلَ لَهُ فَأَعِنْهُ وَ إِذَا قَالَ الرَّجُلُ لِأَخِيهِ أُفِّ انْقَطَعَ مَا بَيْنَهُمَا مِنَ الْوَلاَيْةِ وَ إِذَا قَالَ أَنْتَ عَدُوّي كَفَرَ أَحَدُهُمَا فَإِذَا اتَّخَمَهُ اثْعَاتُ الْإِيمَانُ فِي قَلْبِهِ كَمَا يُنْمَاتُ الْمِلْحُ فِي الْمَاءِ.

So if there was an argument between you, so do not separate from him until you ask his forgiveness, and if he attains something good, so Praise Allah^{-azwj}, and if he is afflicted, so uphold him, and if there is a plot for him, so support him. And when a man says to his brother, 'Ugh!' whatever is between the two of them from the Wilayah would be cut off; and when he says, 'You are my enemy', one of them would have blasphemed. So when he slanders him, his Eman would dissolve in his heart just as the salt dissolves in the water''.⁶¹⁷

And he (the narrator) said, 'It reached me that he as said: 'A Momin, his light shines to the people of the sky just as the stars shine for the people of the earth". 618

And he^{-asws} said: 'A *Momin* is a friend of Allah^{-azwj}. He^{-azwj} Assists him, and he works for Him^{-azwj} and he does not say anything upon it except for the truth, nor does he fear anyone apart from Him^{-azwj}''.⁶¹⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ali Bin Ugba,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'For the Muslim upon his Muslim brother from the rights is that he should greet unto him when he meets him, and console him when he is sick, and advise to him when he is absent, and name (Allah^{-azwj}) when he sneezes, and answer him when he calls him, and follow him (his funeral) when he dies".⁶²⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Mansour Bin Yunus, from Abu Al Mamoun Al Harsy who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'What is a right of the Momin upon the Momin?'

⁶¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 43 a

⁶¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 43 b

 $^{^{619}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 43 c

⁶²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 44

قَالَ إِنَّ مِنْ حَقِّ الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ الْمُوَدَّةَ لَهُ فِي صَدْرِهِ وَ الْمُوَاسَاةَ لَهُ فِي مَالِهِ وَ الْخَلَفَ لَهُ فِي أَهْلِهِ وَ النُّصْرَةَ لَهُ عَلَى مَنْ ظَلَمَهُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ نَافِلَةٌ فِي الْمُسْلِمِينَ وَكَانَ غَائِباً أَخَذَ لَهُ بنَصِيبِهِ وَ إِذَا مَاتَ الزِّيَارَةَ إِلَى قَيْرِهِ

He^{-asws} said: 'From the rights of the Momin upon the Momin is (to have) the cordiality for him in his chest, and the equalisation for him in his wealth, and the taking care for him regarding his family, and the helping for him against the one who oppresses him, and if there were spoils (being distributed) among the Muslims and he was absent, take his share for him, and when he dies, the visitation to his grave.

وَ أَنْ لَا يَظْلِمَهُ وَ أَنْ لَا يَخْشُهُ وَ أَنْ لَا يَخُونَهُ وَ أَنْ لَا يَخُونَهُ وَ أَنْ لَا يُكَذِّبَهُ وَ أَنْ لَا يَقُولَ لَهُ أُفِّ وَ إِنْ قَالَ لَهُ أُفِّ فَلَيْسَ بَيْنَهُمَا وَلَايَةٌ وَ إِذَا قَالَ لَهُ أَنْتَ عَدُوى فَقَدْ كَفَرَ أَحَدُهُمَا وَ إِذَا الْحَمَةُ اثْمَاتُ الْإِيمَانُ فِي قَلْبِهِ كَمَا يَنْمَاتُ الْمِلْحُ فِي الْمَاعِ.

And that he should neither oppress him, and that he should not deceive him, and that he should not betray him, and that he should not abandon him, and that he should not bely him, and that he should not be saying for him, 'Ugh!'. And when he does say, 'Ugh!' to him, so there is no Wilayah in between the two of them; and when he says, 'You are my enemy', so one of the two has blasphemed; and when he slanders him, the Eman would dissolve in his heart just as the salt dissolves in the water''.⁶²¹

46-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيِّ صَاحِبِ الْكِلَلِ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ تَغْلِبَ قَالَ: كُنْتُ أَطُوفُ مَعَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ وَ أَذْهَبَ إِلَيْهِ اللَّهِ عَ وَ أَذْهَبَ إِلَيْهِ اللَّهِ عَ وَ أَذْهَبَ إِلَيْهِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Ali author of 'Al Kilal', from Aban Bin Taghlib who said,

'I was performing Tawaaf along with Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, and a man from our companions presented himself to me, and he was asking me to go with him regarding a need. He gestured to me, and I disliked to leave Abu Abdullah^{-asws} and go to him.

فَبَيْنَا أَنَا أَطُوفُ إِذْ أَشَارَ إِلَىَّ أَيْضاً فَرَآهُ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع فَقَالَ يَا أَبَانُ إِيَّاكَ يُرِيدُ هَذَا قُلْتُ نَعَمْ قَالَ فَمَنْ هُوَ قُلْتُ رَجُلٌ مِنْ أَصْحَابِنَا

While I was performing Tawaaf he gestured to me again and Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saw him, so he^{-asws} said: 'O Aban! Is it you that this one wants?' I said, 'Yes'. He^{-asws} said: 'Who is he?' I said, 'A man from our companions'.

قَالَ هُوَ عَلَى مِثْلِ مَا أَنْتَ عَلَيْهِ قُلْتُ نَعَمْ قَالَ فَاذْهَبْ إِلَيْهِ قُلْتُ فَأَقْطَعُ الطَّوَافَ قَالَ نَعَمْ قُلْتُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ طَوَافَ الْفَرِيضَةِ قَالَ نَعَمْ

He^{-asws} said: 'He is upon the like of what you are upon (Al-Wilayah)?' I said, 'Yes'. He^{-asws} said: 'Go to him'. I said, 'So I should cut the Tawaaf?' He^{-asws} said: 'Yes'. I said, 'And even if it was the Obligatory Tawaaf?' He^{-asws} said: 'Yes'.

قَالَ فَذَهَبْتُ مَعَهُ ثُمُّ دَحَلْتُ عَلَيْهِ بَعْدُ فَسَأَلْتُهُ فَقُلْتُ أَحْبِرْنِي عَنْ حَقِّ الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ

621 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 45

.

He (the narrator) said, 'I went with him, then came over to him-asws afterwards and I asked him-asws. I said, 'Inform me about the right of a Momin upon a Momin'.

فَقَالَ يَا أَبَانُ دَعْهُ لَا تَرِدْهُ

He-asws said: 'O Aban! Leave it. Do not re-iterate it'.

I said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}'. But I did not cease to re-iterate upon him^{-asws}, so he^{-asws} said: 'O Aban! Would you apportion to him half of your wealth?'

Then he^{-asws} looked at me, and he^{-asws} saw what had entered into me, so he^{-asws} said: 'O Aban! Do you not know that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Mentioned the one preferring others over themselves?'

قُلْتُ بَلَى جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ

I said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you-asws'.

He^{-asws} said: 'But, when you apportion to him half, so you have not preferred him afterwards, but rather, you and him would be equal. But rather, preferring him is when you give from more from the other half''.⁶²²

تبيين

Explanation (Ahadeeth only)

And like words of the Prophet^{-saww}: 'The best charity is what takes place on the back of riches''.

Like what is reported that Al-Hassan^{-asws} had divided his^{-asws} wealth with the poor ones, repeatedly".

⁶²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 46

47-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ بْنِ أَيُّوبَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ أَبَانٍ عَنْ عِيسَى بْنِ أَبِي مَنْصُورٍ قَالَ: كُنْتُ عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ أَنَا وَ اللّهِ صَ سِتُّ خِصَالٍ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ كَانَ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ عَنْ ابْنُ أَبِي يَعْفُورٍ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صَ سِتُّ خِصَالٍ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ كَانَ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ عَنْ ابْنُ أَبِي يَعْفُورٍ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صَ سِتُّ خِصَالٍ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ كَانَ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ عَنْ عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ فَصَالَةً بْنُ طُلْحَةً فَقَالَ ابْتِدَاءً مِنْهُ يَا ابْنَ أَبِي يَعْفُورٍ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صَ سِتُّ خِصَالٍ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ كَانَ بَيْنَ يَدَيِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ عَنْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the umber, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Fazalat Bin Ayoub, from Umar Bin Aban, from Isa Bin Abu Mansour who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, I and Ibn Abu Yafour, and Abdullah Bin Talha. He^{-asws} said, initiating him: 'O Ibn Abu Yafour! Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Six characteristics, the one who has these in him, would be in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and upon the right of (the Throne of) Allah^{-azwj}".

Ibn Abu Yafour said, 'And what are these, may I be sacrificed for you-asws?'

He^{-asws} said: 'A Muslim person should love for his brother what he loves for the dearest of his family, and a Muslim person should dislike for his brother what he dislikes for the dearest of his family and advise him for the Wilayah'.

Ibn Abu Yafour wept and said, 'And how should he advise him for the Wilayah?'

He^{-asws} said 'O Ibn Abu Yafour! When there was that status from him, his endeavours would be his main concern. He would be happy for his happiness if he was happy and grieve for his grief if he was in grief; and if it was so that there was in his presence what could relieve him, so he should relieve him, or else supplicate to Allah^{-azwj} for him'.

He (the narrator) said, 'Then Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Three are for you and three are for us^{-asws} - that you should recognise our^{-asws} merits, and obediently follow us^{-asws}, and await our^{-asws} end result (Al-Qaim^{-asws}). The ones who were like this, would be in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and the ones who were below them would illuminate by their light.

And as for those on the right of (the Throne of) Allah^{-azwj}, so if the ones who were below them were to see them, the life would not be welcoming for them due to what they would be seeing from their merits.

Ibn Abu Yafour said, 'And what is the matter with them that they would not be seeing them, and they would be on the right (of the Throne) of Allah-azwj?'

He^{-asws} said: 'O Ibn Abu Yafour! They would be veiled by the Light of Allah^{-azwj}. Has not the Hadeeth reached you that Rasool-Allah^{-saww} was saying: 'For Allah^{-azwj} there are creatures on the right of the Throne, in front of Allah^{-azwj}, and on the right of Allah^{-azwj}. Their faces would be whiter than the snow, and more illuminating than the shining sun. The asking one would ask, 'What are they?' So it would be said: 'They are those who used to love each other for the Majesty of Allah^{-azwj}''.⁶²³

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Baeqy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Muhammad Bin Ijlan who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, and a man came over. He greeted, and he^{-asws} asked him: 'How are the ones from your brethren whom you left behind?'

He (the narrator) said, 'He praised them well and admired them. He^{-asws} said to him: 'How is the consolation of their rich ones upon their poor ones'. He said, 'Little'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And how is the observation (consideration) of their rich ones to their poor ones?' He said, 'Little'.

He^{-asws} said: 'How is the helping of their rich ones to their poor ones with regards to what is in their hands?'

-

⁶²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 47

فَقَالَ إِنَّكَ لَتَذْكُرُ أَخْلَاقاً قَلَّ مَا هِيَ فِيمَنْ عِنْدَنَا

He said, 'You-asws are mentioning manners. Little is what it is among the ones in our presence'.

قَالَ فَقَالَ كَيْفَ تَزْعُمُ هَؤُلَاءِ أَكُّمْ شيعَةً.

He^{-asws} said: 'So how did you claim about them that they are Shia?''⁶²⁴

49-كا، الكافي عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيِّ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَالِمٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ النَّضْرِ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْمَاعِيلَ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ إِنَّ الشِّيعَةَ عِنْدَنَا كثيرٌ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Salim, from Ahmad Bin Al Nazr, from Abu Ismail who said,

'I said to Abu Ja'far-asws, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! The Shias are numerous with us!'

فَقَالَ فَهَلْ يَعْطِفُ الْغَنِيُّ عَلَى الْفَقِيرِ وَ هَلْ يَتَجَاوَزُ الْمُحْسِنُ على [عَن] الْمُسِيءِ وَ يَتَوَاسَوْنَ

He^{-asws} said: 'Are the rich ones being kind upon the poor, and do the righteous ones overlook (the faults) from the sinners, and are they helping each other?'

فَقُلْتُ لَا

I said, 'No'.

فَقَالَ لَيْسَ هَؤُلاءِ شيعةً الشّيعةُ مَنْ يَفْعَلُ هَذَا.

So he-asws said: 'They are not Shia. The Shia is the one who does this". 625

50-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيِي عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْعَلَاءِ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ كَانَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ عَظِمُوا أَصْحَابُكُمْ وَ وَقِرُوهُمْ وَ لَا يَتَجَهَّمُ بَعْضاًكُمْ بَعْضاً وَ لَا تَصَارُوا وَ لَا تَحَاسَلُوا وَ إِيَّاكُمْ وَ الْبُحْلِ كُونُوا عِبَادَ اللَّهِ الْمُحْلَصِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Sinan, from Al A'ala Bin Al Fuzeyl,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Abu Ja'far^{-asws} was saying: 'Magnify your companions and revere them, and neither should some of your scowl at the others, nor harm, nor envy (each other). And beware of the stinginess! Become sincere worshippers of Allah^{-azwj}''. 626

51-كا، الكافي عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الجُبَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ أَبَانٍ عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع أَ يَجِيءُ أَحَدُكُمْ إِلَى أَخِيهِ فَيُدْخِلُ يَدَهُ فِي كِيسِهِ فَيَأْلِحُذُ حَاجَتَهُ فَلَا يَدْفَعُهُ

⁶²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 48

⁶²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 49

⁶²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 50

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Ibn Fazzal, from Umar Bin Aban, from Saeed Bin Al-Hassan who said,

'Abu Ja'far-asws said: 'Does one of you tend to come over to his brother and insert his hand in his moneybag and take (out money as per) his need, and he does not repel him?'

فَقُلْتُ مَا أَعْرِفُ ذَلِكَ فِينَا

I said, 'I do not know that (to be happening) among us'.

فَقَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَر ع فَلَا شَيْءَ إِذاً

Abu Ja'far-asws said: 'So there is nothing, then'.

قُلْتُ فَالْهَلَاكُ إِذاً

I said, 'So (it is) the destruction, then?'

فَقَالَ إِنَّ الْقَوْمَ لَمْ يُعْطَوْا أَحْلَامَهُمْ بَعْدُ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Surely the people have not been Given their forbearance yet".⁶²⁷

52-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أُورَمَةَ رَفَعَهُ عَنْ مُعَلَّى بْنِ خُنَيْسٍ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع عَنْ حَقِّ الْمُؤْمِنِ فَقَالَ سَبْعُونَ حَقّاً- لَا أُحْبِرُكَ إِلَّا بِسَبْعَةٍ فَإِنِّ عَلَيْكَ مُشْفِقٌ أَحْشَى أَنْ لَا تَحْتَمِل

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Al Husayn Bin Al-Hassan, from Muhammad Bin Awrma, raising it from Moalla Bin Khuneys who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about the rights of the Momin. He^{-asws} said: '(There are) seventy rights. I^{-asws} shall not inform you of except for seven, for I^{-asws} am pitying upon you, fearing that you will not (be able to) bear it'.

فَقُلْتُ بَلَى إِنْ شَاءَ اللَّهُ

I said, 'Yes, if Allah-azwj so Desires'.

فَقَالَ عَ لَا تَشْبَعُ وَ يَجُوعُ وَ لَا تَكْتَسِي وَ يَعْرَى وَ تَكُونُ دَلِيلَهُ وَ قَمِيصَهُ الَّذِي يَلْبَسُهُ وَ لِسَانَهُ الَّذِي يَتَكَلَّمُ بِهِ وَ ثُحِبُ لَهُ مَا ثُحِبُ لِنَفْسِكَ وَ إِنْ كَانَتْ لَكَ جَارِيَةٌ بَعَثْتَهَا لِئُمَهِدَ فِرَاشَهُ وَ تَسْعَى فِي حَوَائِحِهِ بِاللَّيْلُ وَ النَّهَارِ فَإِذَا فَعَلْتَ ذَلِكَ وَصَلْتَ وَلَايَتَكَ بِوَلَايَتِنَا وَ وَلَايَتَنَا بِوَلَايَةِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ.

So he-asws said: 'You cannot be satiated while he is hungry, nor be clothed while he is bare, and you should become his guide and his shirt which he wears and his tongue which he speaks by, and you should love for him what you love for yourself; and if there was a maid for you, you should send her to prepare his bed and work with regards to his need at night and day.

⁶²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 51

So when you do that, your Wilayah would be linked with our^{-asws} Wilayah, and our^{-asws} Wilayah is (linked) to the Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic".⁶²⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Abu Al Magra'a,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'The Muslim is a brother of the Muslim, neither oppressing him, nor abandoning him, nor betraying him; and there is an entitlement upon the Muslims, the striving in the communicating (with each other), and the assisting upon the sympathy (with each other), and the equalisation to the needy people, and the sympathy of some upon the other until they (all) become just as Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Commanded you for, being Merciful between yourselves to each other and being gloomy due to their absence from you from their affairs, (as it used to be) in the past, as the group of the Helpers were in the era of Rasool-Allah-sawwy. 629

54-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنِ السَّكُونِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ص حَقٌّ عَلَى الْمُسْلِمِ إِذَا أَرَادَ سَفَراً أَنْ يُعْلِمَ إِخْوَانَهُ وَ حَقٌ عَلَى اِخْوَانه إِذَا قَدِمَ أَنْ يَأْتُوهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'A right upon the Muslim when he intends a journey is that he should let his brethren know, and a right upon his brethren when he arrives is that they should come to him".⁶³⁰

55-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ بْنِ أَيُّوبَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ يَقُولُ شِيعَتُنَا الرُّحَمَاءُ بَيْنَهُمُ الَّذِينَ إِذَا حَلَوْا ذَكُرُوا اللهَ إِنَّا إِذَا ذُكِرُ اللهُ وَ إِذَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ وَ إِذَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ وَ إِذَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ عَدُونَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ عَدُونَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ عَدُونَا ذُكِرَ اللهُ عَدُونَا ذَكِرُ اللهُ عَدُولُ شِيعَتُنَا الرُّحَمَاءُ بَيْنَهُمُ الَّذِينَ إِذَا

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Fazalah Bin Ayoub, from Ali Bin Abu Hamza who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Our^{-asws} Shias are merciful between them, those when alone do Zikr of Allah^{-azwj}. We^{-asws} when we^{-asws} are mentioned, Allah^{-azwj} is Mentioned, and when our^{-asws} enemies are mentioned, the Satan^{-la} is mentioned".⁶³¹

56-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ بَرِيعٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ يَرِيدَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْمَلِكِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ: تَزَاوَرُوا فَإِنَّ فِي زِيَارَتِكُمْ إِخْيَاءً لِقُلُوبِكُمْ وَ ذِكْراً لِأَحَادِيثَنَا وَ أَحَادِيثَنَا تُعَطِّفُ بَعْضَكُمْ عَلَى بَعْضٍ فَإِنْ أَحْذُتُمْ بِمَا رَشَدْتُمْ وَ نَجُوتُمْ وَ إِنْ تَرَكْتُمُوهَا ضَلَلْتُمْ وَ هَلَكُتُمْ فَخُدُوا هِمَا وَ أَنَا بِنَجَاتِكُمْ زَعِيمٌ.

⁶²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 52

 $^{^{629}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 53

 $^{^{630}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 54

⁶³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 55

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al Husayn, from Muhammad Bin Ismail Bin Bazie, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Yazeed Bin Abdul Malik,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Visit each other, for in your visitation there is a revival of your hearts; and mention our^{-asws} Ahadeeth, and (for) our^{-asws} Ahadeeth would incline you towards each other. If you were to grab hold of it, you will be Guided and attain salvation, and if you were to neglect these, you would stray and be destroyed. Therefore grab hold of these, and I^{-asws} would be (personally) responsible for your salvation''.⁶³²

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl, from Al Washa, from Mansour Bin Yunus, from Abbad Bin Kaseer who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'I passed by a storyteller relating stories and he was saying, 'This is the gathering which there is no wickedness with its gatherers'.

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Far be it! Far be it! He has erred. Their gathering is the pit. For Allah^{-azwj} there are Angels who are coming, besides the two Honourable Recorders, so when they pass by a group of people mentioning Muhammad^{-saww} and the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww}, they are saying: 'Pause, for you have achieved your need'.

They become seated, and they are pondering along with them. When they arise, they console their sick ones, and attend their funerals, and they are committing themselves to their absent ones. Thus, that is the gathering which there is no wickedness with its gatherers". 633

58-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنِ الْمُسْتَوْدِدِ النَّحْعِيِّ عَمَّنْ رَوَاهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: إِنَّ مِنَ الْمَلَاثِكَةِ الَّذِينَ وَ الثَّلَاثَةِ وَ هُمْ يَدُّكُرُونَ فَصْلَ آلِ مُحُمَّدٍ صِ قَالَ فَتَقُولُ أَ مَا تَرَوْنَ إِلَى هَؤُلَاءِ فِي قِلَّتِهِمْ وَكُثْرَةَ عَدُوهِمْ يَصِفُونَ فِي السَّمَاءِ لَيَطَلِّعُونَ إِلَى الْوَاحِدِ وَ الِاثْنَيْنِ وَ الثَّلَاثَةِ وَ هُمْ يَدُّكُرُونَ فَصْلَ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ صِ قَالَ فَتَقُولُ أَ مَا تَرَوْنَ إِلَى هَؤُلَاء فِي قِلَّتِهِمْ وَكُثْرَة عَدُوهِمْ يَصِفُونَ فَصْلَ آلَ مُحَمَّدِ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِمْ وَكُثْرَةً عَدُوهِمْ يَصِفُونَ إِلَى الْوَاحِدِ وَ الإِثْنَيْنِ وَ الثَّلَاثَةِ وَ هُمْ يَذُكُرُونَ فَصْلَ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ صِ قَالَ فَتَقُولُ أَ مَا تَرَوْنَ إِلَى هَؤُلاء فِي قِلَتِهِمْ وَكُثْرَةً عَدُوهِمْ يَصِفُونَ إِلَى الْعَاحِدِ وَ الإِثْنَيْنِ وَ الثَّلَاثَةِ وَ هُمْ يَذُكُرُونَ فَصْلَ آلِ مُحَمَّدٍ صَ قَالَ فَتَقُولُ أَ مَا تَرَوْنَ إِلَى هَؤُلاء فِي قِلَّتِهِمْ وَكُثْرَةً عَدُولِهِمْ يَعْفِي الْعَلَامِ فَيَعْوَلُ أَلَّ مَا تَرَوْنَ إِلَى الْمُسْتَوْدِي اللَّعْمِي عَلَى الْمُواعِدِ فِي قِلَّتِهِمْ وَكُثْرَةً عَلَى الْعَامِي عَلَى الْعَلَامِ فَيَقُولُ أَلَا اللَّهُ الْعَلَامُ لَيْكُونُ عَلَى الْوَاعِلَةُ عَلَى الْعَلَامُ لَقُولُ أَلَا اللَّهُ الْمَالِقُولُ أَلَّ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Al Mustawrid Al Nakhaie, from the one who reported it,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the Angels who are in the sky, they come to know of the one, and the two, and the three when they are mentioning the merits of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww}. So they are saying: 'But, are you not seeing these who are in their few

Page 270 of 462

 $^{^{\}rm 632}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 56

⁶³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 57

numbers, and the abundance of their enemies, describing the merits of the Progeny^{-asws} of Muhammad^{-saww}?'

Another group of Angels say: That is Allah's Grace; He Grants it to whomsoever He Desires to, and Allah is the Lord of Magnificent Grace [62:4]".634

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ibn Muskan, from Muyassir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Are you isolating yourselves, and discussing and saying whatever you so desire to?'

I said, 'Yes, by Allah^{-azwj}! We do isolate ourselves, and we discuss, and we are saying whatever we so desire to'.

He^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! I^{-asws} would love to be with you in one of those places. But, by Allah^{-azwj}, I^{-asws} loved your aromas, and your spirits, and you all are upon the Religion of Allah^{-azwj} and the Religion of His^{-azwj} Angels, therefore Assist with piety and the striving''.⁶³⁵

60-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى جَمِيعاً عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُعَمَّدِ بْنِ كَعَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَا الجَتَمَعَ ثَلَائَةٌ مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ فَصَاعِداً إِلّا حَضَرَ مِنَ الْمَلَائِكَةِ مِثْلُهُمْ فَإِنْ دَعَوًا كِثْبِرُ أَمَنُوا وَ إِنِ اسْتَعَاذُوا مِنْ شَرِّ دَعُوا اللّهَ لِيَصْرِفَهُ عَنْهُمْ وَ إِنْ سَأَلُوا حَاجَةً تَشَقَعُوا إِلَى اللّهِ وَ سَأَلُوهُ قَضَاهَا

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad and Muhammad Bin Yahya, altogether from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Muhammad Bin Muslim, from Ahmad Bin Zakariya, from Muhammad Bin Khalid Bin Maymoun, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Giyas Bin Ibrahim,

"There would not gather three Momineen and upwards, except that the Angels the likes of their number would be present. So if they were to supplicate for goodness, they would be saying: 'Ameen!' and if they were to seek Refuge from the evil, they would supplicate to Allah-azwj to Exchange it from them; and if they were to ask for a need, they would intercede to Allah-azwj and ask Him-azwj for its fulfilment.

Page 271 of 462

 $^{^{634}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 58

⁶³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 59

وَ مَا اجْتَمَعَ ثَلَاثَةٌ مِنَ الجَّاحِدِينَ إِلَّا حَضَرَهُمْ عَشَرَةُ أَصْعَافِهِمْ مِنَ الشَّيَاطِينِ فَإِنْ تَكَلَّمُوا تَكَلَّمَ الشَّيْطَانُ بِنَحْوِ كَلَامِهِمْ وَ إِذَا ضَحِكُوا ضَعِكُوا مَعَهُمْ وَ إِذَا نَالُوا مِنْ أَوْلِيَاءِ اللّهِ نَالُوا مَعَهُمْ

And there would not gather three from the renegades except ten times their number from the Satans-la would be present. If they were to speak, the Satan-la would speak approximate to their speech; and when they laugh, he-la would laugh along with them, and if they malign the Guardians-asws of Allah-azwj, he-la malign them-asws along with them.

The one who from the Momineen who is involved with them, and when they indulge in that, so let him arise and do not become a participant with Satan-la, and not be seated, for if Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic is Wrathful, nothing would be able to withstand it, and nothing can repel His-azwj Curse'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'So if he is not able to (arise), so let him deny it in his heart, and let him arise (for a while), and even if it is for a time it takes to milk a sheep, or a hiccup of a camel''. 636

تبيان

Explanation (Hadeeth only)

<u>And in Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Al-Reza^{-asws} in its interpretation: 'When you hear the man rejecting the truth and belying with it and talking badly regarding its people, so arise from his presence and do not sit with him''.</u>

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain, from Muhammad Bin Suleyman, from Muhammad Bin Mahfouz, from Abu Al Magra'a who said,

'I heard Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} saying: 'There is nothing more horrible to Iblees^{-la} and his^{-la} army than the visitation of the brethren visiting each other regarding Allah^{-azwj}.

-

⁶³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 60

And if two Momineen are meeting and they are mentioning Allah^{-azwj}, then they are mentioning our^{-asws} merits of the People^{-asws} of the Household, so there would not remain a single lump of flesh upon the face of Iblees^{-la} except that it would wrinkle, to the extent that his^{-la} spirit screams for help from the intensity of what he^{-la} feels from the pain.

The Angels of the sky and the treasurers of the Gardens sense it and they are cursing him-la until there does not remain a single Angel of Proximity except that he curses him-la. So he-la falls down abased, sorrowful, defeated".⁶³⁷

 637 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 15 H 61

Page 273 of 462

باب 16 حفظ الأخوة و رعاية أوداء الأب

CHAPTER 16 – PROTECTING THE BROTHERS AND TAKING CARE OF CORDIAL ONES OF THE FATHER

1- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص لَا تَقْطَعْ أَوِدًاءَ أَبِيكَ فَيُطْفَأَ نُورُكَ.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Do not cut off cordial ones of your father, for you radiance will be extinguished''.⁶³⁸

وَ بِحَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ ثَلَاثٌ يُطْفِينَ نُورَ الْعَبْدِ مَنْ قَطَعَ أُودًاءَ أَبِيهِ وَ غَيَّرَ شَيْبَتَهُ وَ رَفَعَ بَصَرَهُ فِي الْحُجُرَاتِ مِنْ غَيْرِ أَنْ يُؤْذَنَ لَهُ.

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Three extinguish radiance of the servant – one who cuts cordial ones of his father, and makes him grey-haired, and raising his sight in the chambers from without him having permitted for him''.⁶³⁹

2- نهج، نهج البلاغة قَالَ أُمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع مَوَدَّةُ الْآبَاءِ قَرَابَةٌ بَيْنَ الْأَبْنَاءِ.

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said: 'Cordiality of the fathers is relationship between the sons''. 640

3-كَنْزُ الْكَرَاجُكِيّ، قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع مِنْ كَرَمِ الْمَرْءِ بُكَاؤُهُ عَلَى مَا مَضَى مِنْ زَمَانِهِ وَ حَنِينُهُ إِلَى أَوْطَانِهِ وَ حِفْظُهُ قَدِيمَ إِخْوَانِهِ.

(The book) 'Kanz Al Karajaki' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'From the honour of the person is his crying upon what has passed from his era (slip-ups), and his yearning to his homeland, and his preserving his old (long-time) brothers''.⁶⁴¹

وَ رُوِيَ أَنَّ دَاوُدَ عِ قَالَ لِابْنِهِ سُلَيْمَانَ يَا بُنَيَّ- لَا تَسْتَبْدِلَنَّ بِأَخٍ قَدِيمٍ أَخَا مُسْتَفَاداً مَا اسْتَقَامَ لَكَ وَ لَا تَسْتَقَلَنَّ أَنْ يَكُونَ لَكَ عَدُوُّ وَاحِدٌ وَ لَا تَسْتَكُثِيرَنَّ أَنْ يَكُونَ لَكَ أَلْفُ صَدِيق.

And it is reported:

'Dawood^{-as} said to his^{-as} son^{-as} Suleyman: 'O my^{-as} son^{-as}! Do not replace an old brother with a beneficial brother for as long as he is straight for you, and do not consider little if there

⁶³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 1 a

⁶³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 1 b

 $^{^{640}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 2

⁶⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 3 a

happens to be one enemy for you, nor consider as many if there happen to be a thousand friends for you". 642

4-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ بْنِ عُمَرَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع إِنَّمَا الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِحْوَةٌ بَنُو أَتٍ وَ أَمِّ وَ إِذَا ضَرَبَ عَلَى رَجُل مِنْهُمْ عِرْقٌ سَهرَ لَهُ الْآخُرُونَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Al Mufazzal Bin Umar who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: '*But rather, the Momineen are brothers, [49:10]*, son of a father and a mother, and when a vein is truck upon a man from them, the other stay awake at night for him''.⁶⁴³

5-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ بْنِ أَيُّوبَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ أَبَانٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ الجُعْفِيِّ قَالَ: تَقَبَّضْتُ بَيْنَ يَدَيْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع فَقُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ رُبَّا حَزْنتُ مِنْ غَيْرٍ مُصِيبَةٍ تُصِيبُني أَوْ أَمْرِ يَنْزِلُ بِي حَتَّى يَعْرِفَ ذَلِكَ أَهْلِي فِي وَجْهِي وَ صَدِيقِي

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Fazala Bin Ayoub, from Umar Bin Aban, from Jabir Al Jufy who said.

'I cringed in front of Abu Ja'far-asws. I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! Sometime I grieve from without any calamity having afflicted me, or any matter having befallen with me, to the extent that my family and my friends recognise that in my face!'

فَقَالَ نَعَمْ يَا جَابِرُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ حُلَقَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مِنْ طِينَةِ الجُبَانِ وَ أَجْرَى فِيهِمْ مِنْ رِيحِ رُوحِهِ فَلِذَلِكَ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَخُو الْمُؤْمِنِ لِأَبِيهِ وَ أُمِّهِ فَإِذَا أَصَابَ رُوحاً مِنْ تِلْكَ الْأَرْوَاحِ فِي بَلَدٍ مِنَ الْبُلْدَانِ حُزْنٌ حَزِنَتْ هَذِهِ لِأَنْهَا مِنْهَا.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, O Jabir! Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Created the Momineen from clay of the Gardens and Flowed in them a spirit from His^{-azwj} Spirit. For that (reason) the Momin is a brother of the Momin, of his father and his mother. Whenever a soul from those souls is afflicted with grief, in a city from the cities, these (also) grieve because it is from these''.⁶⁴⁴

6-كِتَابُ الْمُؤْمِنِ، بإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: تَنَفَّسْتُ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ ثُمُّ قُلْتُ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ هَمُّ يُصِيبُنِي وَ سَاقَ نَحْوَ مَا مَرَّ إِلَى قَوْلِهِ صَدِيقِي

(The book) 'Kitab Al Momin' - By his chain,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said: 'I sighed in front him^{-asws}, then I said, 'O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! Worries have afflicted me' – and he continued what has passed up to his words, 'My friend'.

فَقَالَ نَعَمْ يَا جَابِرُ فَقُلْتُ فَمِمَّ ذَلِكَ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ قَالَ ع وَ مَا تَصْنَعُ بِهِ قُلْتُ أُحِبُ أَنْ أَعْلَمَهُ قَالَ ع يَا جَابِرُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ و جَلَّ إِلَى آخِرِ الْخَيَرِ.

⁶⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 3 b

 $^{^{643}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 4

⁶⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 5

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, O Jabir!' I said, 'Where is that from, O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}?' He^{-asws} said: 'And what will you do with it?' I said, 'I would love to know it'. He^{-asws} said: 'O Jabir! Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic' – up to the end of the (previous) Hadeeth''.⁶⁴⁵

تبيين

Explanation (Ahadeeth only)

قَالَ الصَّادِقُ عِ وَ اللَّهِ شِيعَتُنَا مِنْ نُورِ اللَّهِ خُلِقُوا وَ إِلَيْهِ يَعُودُونَ.

Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Our^{-asws} Shias are Created from Noor of Allah^{-azwj} and they will be returning to it''.

And it has been reported from Al-Baqir^{-asws} in interpretation of Words of the Exalted: **and Blow into him from My Spirit [15:29]**. How as this Blowing?'

He^{-asws} said: 'The Spirit (Rooh) moves like the wind (Reeh), and rather it is named as 'Rooh' because it derived its name from the wind (Reeh), and rather it is extracted upon the word 'Al Rouh', because the spirit (Al-Rouh) is the genus of the 'Reeh' (wind), and rather He^{-azwj} Supplemented it to His^{-azwj} Own Self, because He^{-azwj} Chose it over the rest of the spirits.

Just as He^{-azwj} Chose a House (Kabah) from the houses so He^{-azwj} Said: "My house", and for a Rasool^{-as} from the Rasools^{-as}, "My^{-azwj} Friend", and the likes of that; and all of that is a Created being, Made, newly occurred, Nourished, Regulated".

It is reported by Al Sadouq in (the book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar', by his chain to Abu Baseer who said,

'I entered to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws} and with me was a man from our companions. I said to him^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}, O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! I tend to be sorrowful and grieving from without knowing any cause for that!'

_

⁶⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 6

He^{-asws} said: 'That grief and the happiness arrives to you all from us^{-asws}, because when grief or cheerfulness enters upon us^{-asws}, that will be entering upon you, because we^{-asws} and you all are from Noor of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic.

We^{-asws} and our^{-asws} clay and your clays are Made to be one, and had your clays been left just as it had been Taken, we^{-asws} and you all would have been same, but your clays were mixed with clays of your enemies. Had it not been that you would have committed any sin, ever!'

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! Will our clay and our Noor be returning like what it had begun?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, by Allah^{-azwj}, O Abdullah! Inform me^{-asws} about this apparent ray from the disc (sun) when it emerges. Is it connected with it or distinct from it?'

I said to him^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! But it is distinct from it'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Isn't is so when the sun disappears and the disc drops, it (ray) returns to it and connects with it just as it had begun from it?'

فَقُلْتُ لَهُ نَعَمْ

I said to him-asws, 'Yes'.

He^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Like that are our^{-asws} Shias. They have been Created from Noor of Allah^{-azwj} and they will be returning to Him^{-azwj}.

By Allah^{-azwj}! They will be joining with us^{-asws} on the Day of Qiyamah and we^{-asws} shall (be asked to) intercede for them, and we^{-asws} shall intercede, and by Allah^{-azwj}, you will (be asked to) intercede, so you will be interceding.

And there is no man from you all except and a fire will raise for him on his left, and a garden on his right so he will enter his loved ones into the Paradise and his enemies into the Fire".

(Majlisi says), 'Contemplate and ponder in this Hadeeth for there are strange secrets in it'.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ali Bin Uqba,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin, his eyes and his guide. He neither betrays him, nor oppresses him, nor cheats him, nor does he promise him a promise and breaks it''.⁶⁴⁶

8-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى وَ عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنِ ابْنِ رِئَابٍ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ قَالَ سَمَعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ يَقُولُ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَخُو الْمُؤْمِنِ كَالْجُسَدِ الْوَاحِدِ إِنِ اشْتَكَى شَيْعاً مِنْهُ وَجَدَ أَلَمَ ذَلِكَ فِي سَائِرٍ جَسَدِهِ وَ أَرْوَاحُهُمَا مِنْ رُوحٍ وَاحِدَةٍ وَ إِنَّ رُوحَ الْمُؤْمِنِ لَأَشَدُ يَقُولُ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَرُوح اللهِ مِن اتِّصَالٍ شَعَاع الشَّمْس كِمَا.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, and from the number, from Sahl, altogether from Ibn Mahboub, form Ibn Ri'ab, from Abu Baseer who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin like the one body. If something from it has a (health) complaint, the pain of that is felt in rest of his body; and their souls and from one soul, and the soul of a Momin is of stronger connection with the Spirit of Allah^{-azwj} than the ray of the sun is with it''.⁶⁴⁷

كِتَابُ الْمُؤْمِنِ، لِلْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْهُ ع مِثْلَهُ إِلَّا أَنَّ فِيهِ وُجِدَ ذَلِكَ فِي سَائِرِ جَسَدِهِ لِأَنَّ أَرْوَاحَهُمْ مِنْ رُوحِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ إِنَّ رُوحَ الْمُؤْمِنِ إِلَى آخِرِ الْحَبَرِ.

(The book) 'Kitab Al Momin' of Al Husayn Bin Saeed, by his chain,

'From him^{-asws}, similar to it, except and in it is: 'That is felt in rest of his body, because their souls are from Spirit of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and the soul of a Momin' – up to end of the Hadeeth''.⁶⁴⁸

تبيان كَمَا سَيَأْتِي فِي الْحَدِيثِ الْقُدْسِي فَإِذَا أَحْبَبْتُهُ كُنْتُ سَمْعَهُ وَ بَصَرَهُ وَ رِجْلَهُ وَ يَدَهُ وَ لِسَانَهُ.

Explanation (Hadeeth only) — Just as I (Majlisi) shall bring in the Holy Hadeeth: "When I azwi Love him (Momin), I azwi become his hearing, and his sight, and his leg, and his hand, and his tongue". (from non-shia sources, most probably from a Sufi book)

⁶⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 7

 $^{^{647}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 8 a

⁶⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 8 b

Please see the Appendix below

Appendix:

عِدَّةٌ مِنْ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ الْقَمَّاطِ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ تَغْلِبَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ (عليه السلام) قَالَ لَمَّا وَلِمَّا عَنْ أَسْرَعُ شَيْءٍ إِلَى نُصْرَةِ أَسْرِيَ بِالنَّهِيِّ (صلى الله عليه وآله) قَالَ يَا رَبِّ مَا حَالُ الْمُؤْمِنِ عِنْدَكَ قَالَ يَا مُحَمَّدُ مَنْ أَهَانَ لِي وَلِيّاً فَقَدْ بَارَزَيِي بِالْمُحَارَبَةِ وَ أَنَا أَسْرَعُ شَيْءٍ إِلَى نُصْرَةِ أَوْلِيَائِي وَ مَا تَرَدَّدْتُ عَنْ شَيْءٍ أَنَا فَاعِلُهُ كَتَرُدُدِي عَنْ وَفَاةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ يَكْرَهُ الْمَوْتَ وَ أَكْرَهُ مَسَاءَتَهُ

A number of our companions, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Ismail Bin Mihran, from Abu Saeed Al Qammat, from Aban Bin Taghlub,

(It has been narrated) from Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'When there was Ascension (*Mi'raj*) with the Prophet-saww, he-saww said: 'O Lord-azwj! What is the state of the *Momin* in Your-azwj Presence?' He-azwj Said: "O Muhammad-saww! The one who despises a friend of Mine-azwj, so he has declared a war against Me-azwj and I-azwj am the Quickest to Helping My-azwj friends and I-azwj do not Hesitate from anything which I-azwj Do like I-azwj Hesitate from the death of the *Momin*. He dislikes the death and I-azwj Dislike Disappointing him.

وَ إِنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْغِنَى وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَى غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَهَلَكَ وَ إِنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَى غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَهَلَكَ وَ إِنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَى غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَهَلَكَ وَ إِنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَى غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَمَلَكَ وَ إِنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَى غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَمُنْ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ إِلَى الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَىٰ غَيْرِ ذَلِكَ لَكِ عَلَىٰ عَنْ إِلَّا الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ صَرَفْتُهُ إِلَىٰ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ لَعَلَاكَ وَ إِنَّا مِنْ عِبَادِي اللّمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ لَا يُصْلِحُهُ إِلَّا الْفَقْرُ وَ لَوْ

And from My^{-azwj} *Momineen* servants there is one for whom it is not correct except for the riches, and were I^{-azwj} to Exchange it to other than that, he would be destroyed; and from My^{-azwj} *Momineen* servants there is one for whom it is not correct except for the poverty, and were I^{-azwj} to Exchange it to other than that, he would be destroyed.

وَ مَا يَتَقَرَّبُ إِلَيَّ عَبْدٌ مِنْ عِبَادِي بِشَيْءٍ أَحَبَّ إِلَيَّ بِمَّا افْتَرَضْتُ عَلَيْهِ وَ إِنَّهُ لَيَتَقَرَّبُ إِلَيَّ بِالنَّافِلَةِ حَتَّى أُحِبَّهُ فَإِذَا أَحْبَبْتُهُ كُنْتُ إِذاً سَمْعُهُ الَّذِي يَسْمَعُ بِهِ وَ بَصَرُهُ الَّذِي يُبْصِرُ بِهِ وَ لِسَانَهُ الَّذِي يَنْطِقُ بِهِ وَ يَدَهُ الَّتِي يَبْطِشُ كِمَّا إِنْ دَعَانِي أَجَبْتُهُ وَ إِنْ سَأَلَنِي أَعْطِيْتُهُ .

And a servant will not (be able to) come near to Me^{-azwj} with anything more Beloved to Me^{-azwj} than what I^{-azwj} have Obligated upon him and let him come closer to Me^{-azwj} with the Optional (*Salāt*) until I^{-azwj} Love him. So when I^{-azwj} do Love him, I^{-azwj} would be the hearing which he listens with, and his vision which he sees with, and his tongue which he speaks with, and his hand which he strikes with. If he were to supplicate to Me^{-azwj}, I^{-azwj} would Answer him, and if he were to ask Me^{-azwj}, I^{-azwj} would Give it to him"'.⁶⁴⁹

-

 $^{^{649}}$ Al Kafi V 2 – The Book Of Belief and Disbelief CH 145 H 8

9-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي نَجُرَانَ عَنْ مُثَنَّى الْخَنَاطِ عَنِ الْخَنَاطِ عَنِ الْمُغِيرَةِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ الْمُسْلِمُ أَحُو الْمُسْلِمِ وَ هُوَ عَيْنُهُ وَ مِزَاتُهُ وَ دَلِيلُهُ- لَا يَخُلِمُهُ وَ لَا يَخْدَعُهُ وَ لَا يَكْدَلِهُ وَ لَا يَكْتَابُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl, from Ibn Abu Najran, from Musanna Al Hannat, from Al Haris Bin Al Mugheira who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The Muslim is a brother of the Muslim, and he is his eyes, and his mirror, and his guide. He neither betrays him, nor oppresses him, nor deceives him, nor belies him, nor backbites him''. 650

وَ قَدْ رُوِيَ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ صِ الْمُؤْمِنُ مِرْآةُ الْمُؤْمِنِ.

And it has been reported from the Prophet-saww: 'The Momin is a mirror of the Momin''. 651

10-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ حَفْصِ بْنِ الْبَحْتَرِيِّ قَالَ: كُنْتُ عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع وَ دَحْلَ عَلَيْهِ رَجُلٌ فَقَالَ لِي تُجَبُّهُ فَقُلْتُ نَعَمْ فَقَالَ لِي وَ لِمَ لَا تُحِبُّهُ وَ هُوَ أَخُوكَ وَ شَرِيكُكَ فِي دِينِكَ وَ عَوْنُكَ عَلَى عَدُوكَ وَ رِزْقُهُ عَلَى غَيْرِكَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hafs Al Bakhtari who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, and a man entered to see him^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said to me: 'Do you like him?' I said, 'Yes'. He^{-asws} said to me: 'And why would you not like him, and he is your brother, and your participant in your religion, and your assistant against your enemy, and his sustenance is upon someone else". 652

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Al Husayn Bin Al Hassan, from Muhammad Bin Awrama, from one of his companions, from Muhammad Bin Al Husayn, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin of his father and his mother, because Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Created the Momineen from clay of the Gardens and Flowed into their souls from the wind of Paradise. For that (reason), they are brother of a father and a mother". ⁶⁵³

12-كا، الكافي ابْنُ عِيسَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ جَمِيلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ الْمُؤْمِنُ حَدَمٌ بَعْضُهُمْ لِيَعْضِهِمْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - Ibn Isa, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Abdullah, from a man, from Jameel,

⁶⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 9 a

 $^{^{651}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 9 b

 $^{^{652}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 10 $\,$

⁶⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 11

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'The Momin(een) are servants of each other'.

قُلْتُ وَ كَيْفَ يَكُونُونَ حَدَماً بَعْضُهُمْ لِبَعْضِ

'I said, 'And how can they be servants of each other?'

قَالَ يُفِيدُ بَعْضُهُمْ بَعْضاً الْحَدِيثَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'They benefit each other' – the Hadeeth''. 654

13-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ الْبَصْرِيِّ عَنِ الْفُضَيْلِ بْنِ يَسَارٍ قَالَ سَمِّعْتُ أَبَا بَعَنَمُ عَطَشٌ شَدِيدٌ فَتَكَفَّنُوا وَ لَرِمُوا أُصُولَ الشَّجَرِ فَجَاءَهُمْ شَيْخٌ عَلَيْهِ ثِيَابٌ جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ نَقراً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ حَرَجُوا إِلَى سَقَرٍ لَهُمْ فَصَلُوا الطَّرِيقَ فَأَصَابَهُمْ عَطَشٌ شَدِيدٌ فَتَكَفَّنُوا وَ لَرِمُوا أُصُولَ الشَّجَرِ فَجَاءَهُمْ شَيْخٌ عَلَيْهِ ثِيَابٌ بَيَاضٌ فَقَالَ قُومُوا فَلَا بَأْسَ عَلَيْكُمْ فَهَذَا الْمَاءُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father and Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, altogether from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ismail Al Basry, from Al Fuzeyl Bin Yasaar who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far^{-asws} saying: 'A number of Muslims went out on a journey of their. They lost the way, and they were afflicted with severe thirst. They wore shrouds and stayed at the base of the tree. And old man came to them, having white clothes upon him. He said, 'Arise, for there is no problem upon you! This here is the water'.

فَقَامُوا وَ شَرِبُوا وَ ارْتَوَوْا فَقَالُوا مَنْ أَنْتَ يَرْحُمُكَ اللَّهُ

They stood up and drank and were saturated. They said, 'Who are you? May Allah-azwj have Mercy on you!'

فَقَالَ أَنَا مِنَ الْجِنِّ الَّذِينَ بَايَعُوا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص إِيِّي سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص يَقُولُ الْمُؤْمِنُ أَخُو الْمُؤْمِنِ عَيْنُهُ وَ دَلِيلُهُ فَلَمْ تَكُونُوا تَضَيَّعُوا بِحَضْرَتِي.

He said, 'I am from the Jinn, those who had pledged allegiance to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}. I heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin, his eyes, and his guide', therefore you will not be wasted in my^{-saww} presence''.⁶⁵⁵

14-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنِ الْفَضْلِ بْنِ شَاذَانَ جَمِيعاً عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ عَنِ الْفُضَيْلِ بْنِ يَسَارٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَنْدَالُهُ وَ لَا يَخُونُهُ وَ لَا يَعْرِمُهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father and Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Al Fazl Bin Shazan, altogether from Hammad Bin Isa, from Rabie, from Al Fuzeyl Bin Yasaar who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'The Muslim is a brother of the Muslim. He neither oppresses him, nor abandons him, nor backbites him, nor betrays him, nor deprives him'.

⁶⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 12

⁶⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 13

قَالَ رِبْعِيِّ فَسَأَلَنِي رَجُلٌ مِنْ أَصْحَابِنَا بِالْمَدِينَةِ قَالَ سَمِعْتَ الْفُضَيْلَ يَقُولُ ذَلِكَ قَالَ فَقُلْتُ لَهُ نَعَمْ فَقَالَ إِنِّي سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ يَقُولُ الْمُسْلِمُ أَحُو الْمُسْلِم - لَا يَظْلِمُهُ وَ لَا يَغْتَلُهُ وَ لَا يَغْتَابُهُ وَ لَا يَخْوَلُهُ وَ لَا يَجْرَمُهُ.

Rabie (narrator) said, 'A man from our companions asked me at Al Medina. He said, 'I heard Fuzeyl (narrator) saying that'. He said, 'I said to him, 'Yes'. He said, 'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'The Muslims is a brother of the Muslim. He neither oppresses him, nor cheats him, nor abandons him, nor backbites him, nor betrays him, nor deprives him''. 656

(The book) 'Kitab Al Momin' - By his chain,

'From one^{-asws} of the two (5th or 6th Imam^{-asws}) having said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin, like the (one) body. When something falls off from him, rest of the body falls sick (deteriorates)''.⁶⁵⁷

16- الْمُؤْمِنُ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: الْأَرْوَاحُ جُنُودٌ مُجَنَّدَةٌ تَلْتَقِي فَتَتَشَامُ كَمَا تَتَشَامُ الْخَيْلُ فَمَا تَعَارَفَ مِنْهَا اثْتَلَفَ وَ مَا تَنَاكَرَ مِنْهَا احْتَلَفَ وَ لَوْ أَنَّ مُؤْمِناً جَاءَ إِلَى مَسْجِدٍ فِيهِ أُنَاسٌ كَثِيرٌ لَيْسَ فِيهِمْ إِلَّا مُؤْمِنٌ وَاحِدٌ لَمَالَتْ رُوحُهُ إِلَى ذَلِكَ الْمُؤْمِنِ حَتَّى يَجْلِسَ إِلَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Al Momin' - By his chain,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The souls are a conscripted army, meeting. They can smell each other just as the cavalry horses smell. Whatever they recognise from these, unites, and whatever they deny from these, they differ; and if a Momin were to come to a Masjid wherein are many people, (and) there isn't among there except one Momin, his soul will incline to that Momin until he goes and sits (next) to him". ⁶⁵⁸

Explanation (Hadeeth only) – And in (the book) 'Al-Nihaya' in a Hadeeth of Ali^{-asws} when he^{-asws} wanted to duel Amro Bin Abd Wudd, said: 'I^{-asws} shall go out to him and smell him (investigate him) before the meet (in battle)".

17- الْمُؤْمِنُ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: لَا وَ اللّهِ لَا يَكُونُ الْمُؤْمِنُ مُؤْمِناً أَبَداً حَتَّى يَكُونَ لِأَخِيهِ مِثْلَ الْجُسَدِ إِذَا ضَرَبَ عَلَيْهِ عِرْقٌ وَاحِدٌ تَدَاعَتْ لَهُ سَائِرُ عُرُوقِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Momin' - By his chain,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'No, by Allah^{-azwj}! The Momin cannot be a Momin, ever, until he happens to be for his brother like the (one) body. When one vein is struck, rest of his veins fall sick (deteriorated) for it''.⁶⁵⁹

⁶⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 14

 $^{^{657}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 15

 $^{^{658}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 16 $\,$

⁶⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 17

(The book) 'Al Momin' – By his chain,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'For everything there is something it is comforted to, and the Momin is comforted to his Momin brother, just as the bird is comforted to its form (fellow bird)''.⁶⁶⁰

(The book) 'Al Momin' – By his chain,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The Momineen in their being righteous, and their being merciful, and their being revering as like the (one) body. When there is a (health) complaint, rest of his body falls sick (deteriorates) with the staying awake at night and the fever".⁶⁶¹

 660 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 18 $\,$

Page 283 of 462

 $^{^{661}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 16 H 19

باب 17 فضل المواخاة في الله و أن المؤمنين بعضهم إخوان بعض و علة ذلك

CHAPTER 17 – MERIT OF THE BROTHERHOOD FOR THE SAKE OF ALLAH-azwi, AND THE MOMINEEN ARE BROTHERS OF EACH OTHER, AND A REASON OF THAT

الآية الحجرات إنَّمَا الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِخْوَةٌ فَأَصْلِحُوا بَيْنَ أَحَوَيْكُمْ

The Verse – (Surah) Al Hujuraat: But rather, the Momineen are brothers, [49:10]

1- ل، الخصال ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْأَسَانِيدِ الثَّلاثَةِ عَنِ الرِّضَا ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص سِتَّةٌ مِنَ الْمُرُوَّةِ ثَلَاثَةٌ مِنْهَا فِي الخَصَر وَ ثَلَاثَةٌ مِنْهَا فِي السَّقَر

(The book) 'Al-Khisaal', (and) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Six (matters) are from the manliness – three of these are regarding the staying and three of these are during the journey.

As for those regarding the staying – reciting the Book of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, and building a Masjid of Allah^{-azwj}, and taking the brothers for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic.

And as for that which is regarding the journey – expending the provision, and goodly manners, and the pleasantries in other than the disobedience (of Allah-azwi)".⁶⁶²

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi -

'Among what Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} bequeathed with at his^{-asws} expiry: 'And be a brother to the brothers for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and love the righteous for his righteousness''. 663

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Al Barqy, from Al Tafleysi, from Al Baqbaq,

⁶⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 1

⁶⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 2

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A companion of the Masjid does not return except from one of the three – either a supplication he had supplicated with, so Allah^{-azwj} enters him into the Paradise, or a supplication he had supplicated with, so Allah^{-azwj} Turned away an affliction from him, or a brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic he had benefited with'.

ثُمُّ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَا اسْتَفَادَ امْرُقٌ مُسْلِمٌ فَائِدَةً بَعْدَ فَائِدَةِ الْإِسْلامِ مِثْلَ أَخِ يَسْتَفِيدُهُ فِي اللَّهِ.

Then he-asws said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'A Muslim person has not benefitted with a benefit after benefit of Al-Islam like he has with a brother benefitting him for the Sake of Allah-azwj". 664

4- جا، المجالس للمفيد ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الزَّيَّاتِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مَهْرَوَيْهِ عَنْ دَاوُدَ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنِ الرِّضَاعِ قَالَ: مَنِ المُحَلِّدِ النَّقَادَ أَخاً فِي اللَّهِ فَقَدِ اسْتَقَادَ بَيْتاً فِي الجُنَّةِ.

(The books) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed, (and) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – from Umar Bin Muhammad Al Zayyat, from Ali Bin Mahrawiya, from Dawood Bin Suleyman,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'One who benefits a brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, so he has benefited a house in the Paradise''. 665

5- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْبَى عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ مُحْفُوظِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ الرِّضَا ع يَقُولُ مَن اسْتَفَادَ أَخاً فِي اللَّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ اسْتَفَادَ بَيْناً فِي الْجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Al Ashari, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Mahfouz Bin Khalid, from Muhammad Bin Zayd who said,

'I heard Al-Reza^{-asws} saying: 'One who benefits a brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will benefit a house in the Paradise''. 666

6- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ فَضَالَةَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ أَبَانٍ الْكَلْبِيِّ عَنْ جَابِرٍ الجُعْفِيِّ قَالَ: تَنفَّسْتُ بَيْنَ يَدَيْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع ثُمَّ قُلْتُ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ أَهْنَمُّ مِنْ غَيْرِ مُصِيبَةٍ تُصِيبُنى أَوْ أَمْرِ نَزَلَ بِي حَتَّى تَعْرِفَ ذَلِكَ أَهْلِى فِي وَجْهِى وَ يَعْرِفَهُ صَدِيقِى

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Fazalah, from Umar Bin Aban Al Kalby, from Jabir Al Jufy who said,

'I sighed in front of Abu Ja'far-asws, then I said, 'O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww! I tend to be sorrowful from without any calamity having afflicted me, or a matter having befallen with me, to the extent that my family recognises that in my face and my friend recognises it!'

قَالَ نَعَمْ يَا جَابِرُ

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, O Jabir!'

قُلْتُ وَ مِمَّ ذَاكَ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ

⁶⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 3

 $^{^{665}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 4

⁶⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 5

I said, 'And what is that from, O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww?'

قَالَ وَ مَا تَصْنَعُ بِذَاكَ قُلْتُ أُحِبُّ أَنْ أَعْلَمَهُ

He-asws said: 'And what will you do with (knowing) that?' I said, 'I would love to know it'.

فَقَالَ يَا جَابِرُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ حُلَقَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مِنْ طِينَةِ الْجِنَانِ وَ أَجْرَى فِيهِمْ مِنْ رِيحِ رُوحِهِ فَلِذَلِكَ الْمُؤْمِنُ أَحُو الْمُؤْمِنِ لِأَبِيهِ وَ أُمِّهِ فَإِذَا أَصَابَ تِلْكَ الْأَرْوَاحَ فِي بَلَدٍ مِنَ الْبُلْدَانِ شَيْءٌ حَزِنَتْ عَلَيْهِ أَرْوَاحٌ لِأَنَّهَا مِنْهُ.

He^{-asws} said: 'O Jabir! Allah^{-azwj} Created the Momineen from clay of the Gardens and Flowed in them from a breeze of His^{-azwj} Spirit. For that (reason), the Momin is a brother of the Momin, of his father and his mother. When those souls are afflicted by anything in a city from the cities, the (other) souls grieve upon it because these are from it".⁶⁶⁷

7- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنِ الثَّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: الْمُؤْمِنُ أَحُو الْمُؤْمِنِ لِأَبِيهِ وَ أُمِّهِ لِأَنَّ اللَّهَ خَلَقَ طِينَتَهُمَا مِنْ سَبْع سَمَاوَاتٍ وَ هِيَ طِينَةُ الْجِنَانِ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin of his father and his mother, because Allah^{-azwj} Created their clays from seven skies, and it is clay of the Gardens'.

ثُمُّ تَلَا رُحَمَاءُ بَيْنَهُمْ فَهَلْ يَكُونُ الرَّحِيمُ إِلَّا بَرَّا وَصُولًا.

Then he^{-asws} recited: 'merciful between themselves [48:29]. Can the merciful be except as a righteous, connecting?''⁶⁶⁸

وَ فِي حَدِيثٍ آخَرَ وَ أُجْرَى فِيهِمَا مِنْ رَوْحٍ رَحْمَتِهِ.

And in another Hadeeth: 'And Flowed in them from the Spirit of His-azwj Mercy". 669

8- سن، المحاسن أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ أَحْمَدُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ السَّيَّارِيُّ وَ حَسَنُ بْنُ مُعَاوِيَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنِ النُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: الْمُؤْمِنُ أَخُو الْمُؤْمِنَ إِلَّهِ وَ أَجُوهُ اللَّهُ عَلَقَ اللّهُ قَبُلُ اللّهُ عَلَقَ الْمُؤْمِنَ مِنْ طِينَةِ جِنَانِ السَّمَاوَاتِ وَ أَجْرَى فِيهِ مِنْ رَوْح رَحْمَتِهِ فَلِذَلِكَ هُوَ أَحُوهُ لِأَبِيهِ وَ أُتِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Abu Abdullah Ahmad Bin Muhammad Al Sayyari, and Hasan Bin Muawiya, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin, of his father and his mother, and that is because Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Created the Momin from clay of Gardens of the skies and Flowed in him from Spirit of His^{-azwj} Mercy. For that (reason), he is his brother, of his father and his mother''.⁶⁷⁰

⁶⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 6

 $^{^{668}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 7 a

 $^{^{669}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 7 b

⁶⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 8

9- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع الْمُؤْمِنُ أَخُو الْمُؤْمِنِ كَالْجَسَدِ الْوَاحِدِ إِنِ اشْتَكَى شَيْعًا وَجَدَ أَلَمَ ذَلِكَ فِي سَائِرِ جَسَدِهِ وَ إِنَّ رُوحَهُمَا مِنْ رُوحِ اللّهِ وَ إِنَّ رُوحَ الْمُؤْمِنِ لَأَشَدُّ اتِّصَالًا بِرُوحِ اللّهِ مِنِ اتِّصَالِ شُعَاعِ الشَّمْسِ بِهَا.

(The book) 'Al-Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin like the one body. If there is a (health) complaint of something, the pain of that is felt in rest of his body; and their souls are from Spirit of Allah^{-azwj} I and the soul of a Momin is of stronger connection with Spirit of Allah^{-azwj} than the connection than a ray of the sun with it''.⁶⁷¹

10- مِنْ كِتَتَابِ قَضَاءِ مُحْقُوقِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ لِلصُّورِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ جَعْقَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي فَاطِمَةَ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَا ابْنَ أَبِي فَاطِمَةَ إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ يَكُونُ بَارَا بِقَرَابَيْهِ وَ لَمْ يَبْقَ مِنْ أَجَلِهِ إِلَّا ثَلَاثُ سِنِينَ فَيُصَيِّرُهُ اللَّهُ ثَلَاثًا وَ ثَلَاثِينَ سَنَةً

From the book 'Qaza Huqouq Al-Momineen' of Al Sowry, by his chain from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Abu Fatima who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to me: 'O Ibn Abu Fatima! The servant happens to be righteous with his relatives and there does not remain from his term (lifespan) except three years, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be thirty-three years.

وَ إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيَكُونُ عَاقًا بِقَرَائِيهِ وَ قَدْ بَقِيَ مِنْ أَجَلِهِ ثَلَاثٌ وَ ثَلَاثُونَ سَنَةً فَيُصَيِّرُهُ اللَّهُ ثَلَاثَ سِنِينَ

And the servant tends to be disloyal (Aaq) with his relatives, and there remains from his term thirty-three years, so Allah^{-azwj} Makes it to be three years'.

ثُمُّ تَلَا هَذِهِ الْآيَةَ يَمْحُوا اللَّهُ ما يَشاءُ وَ يُثْنِتُ وَ عِنْدَهُ أُمُّ الْكِتابِ

Then he as recited this Verse: **Allah Deletes and Affirms whatever He so Desires to, and with Him is the Mother of the Book** [13:39].

قَالَ قُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ فَإِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ قَرَابَةٌ

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! Supposing there do not happen to be any relatives for him?'

قَالَ فَنَظَرَ إِلَيَّ مُغْضَباً وَ رَدَّ عَلَيَّ شَبِيهاً بِالرَّبَرِ يَا ابْنَ أَبِي فَاطِمَةَ لَا تَكُونُ الْقَرَابَةُ إِلَّا فِي رَحِمٍ مَاسَّةٍ الْمُؤْمِنُونَ بَعْضُهُمْ أَوْلَى بِبَعْضٍ فِي كِتَابِ اللهِ فَلِلْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى اللهِ فَلِلْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى اللهِ فَلِللهُ فَيضَةً مِنَ اللهِ

He (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} looked at me angrily and responded to be resembling the harshness: 'O Ibn Abu Fatima! The relationship cannot be, except in a sparkling kinship! The Momineen are foremost with each other in the Book of Allah^{-azwj}. For the Momineen upon the Momin is that they be righteous with him, being an Imposition from Allah^{-azwj}.

⁶⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 9

-

يَا ابْنَ أَبِي فَاطِمَةَ تَبَارُوا وَ تَوَاصَلُوا فَيُنْسِئُ اللَّهُ فِي آجَالِكُمْ وَ يَزِيدُ فِي أَمْوَالِكُمْ وَ تُعْطَوْنَ الْعَافِيَةَ فِي جَمِيعِ أَمُورِكُمْ وَ إِنَّ صَلَاتَكُمْ وَ صَوْمَكُمْ وَ تَقُرُبَكُمْ إِلَى اللَّهِ أَفْضَالُ مِنْ صَلَاةٍ غَيْرُكُمْ

O Ibn Abu Fatima! Be righteous to each other and connect with each other. Allah^{-azwj} will Postpone your deaths and Increase in your wealth, and your will be Given the well-being in entirety of your affairs, and your Salats and your Fasts and your drawing closer to Allah^{-azwj} is better than Salats of others!'

Then he^{-asws} recited this Verse: **And most of them do not believe in Allah except and they are associating [12:106]**".⁶⁷²

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy – By his chain,

'From Al-Kazim^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who benefits a brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} will Marry him to a Hourie''. ⁶⁷³

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'The most unable of the people is the one who is unable of earning the brothers, and more unable than him is the one from them who wastes (loses) the one who has succeeded with him (lost a friend having made one)".⁶⁷⁴

(The book) 'Kanz Al Karajajy' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} prosed (a couplet): 'And it isn't a lot having a thousand friends, and a companion, even one enemy which he has is a lot''.⁶⁷⁵

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

⁶⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 10

 $^{^{673}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 11

 $^{^{674}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 12

⁶⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 13

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} did not Innovate brotherhood between two Momineen except He^{-azwj} Innovated a rank for each of them''.⁶⁷⁶

And from him^{-saww} having said: 'One who benefits a brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, will benefit a house in the Paradise''.⁶⁷⁷

And it is reported by Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The two Momineen, the ones having established brotherhood for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, one of them could be in the Paradise above the other by a rank. He would say, 'O Lord^{-azwj}! My companion has instructed me with obeying You^{-azwj}, and had discouraged me from disobeying me (myself), and made me desirous regarding what is with You^{-azwj}, therefore gather between me and him in this (higher) rank!' So, Allah^{-azwj} will Gather between the two.

And the two hypocrites, one of them would be lower than his companion by a level in the Fire. He would say, 'O Lord^{-azwj}! So and so had instructed me with disobeying You^{-azwj} and had discouraged me from obeying You^{-azwj} and made be abstemious regarding what is with You^{-azwj} and did not caution me of Your^{-azwj} meeting. Therefore Gather between me and him in this (lower) level!' So Allah^{-azwj} will Gather between the two.

And he^{-asws} recited this Verse: **The friends on that Day would be enemies of each other,** except for the pious [43:67]".⁶⁷⁸

⁶⁷⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 14 a

 $^{^{677}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 14 b

⁶⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 17 H 14 c

باب 18 فضل حب المؤمنين و النظر إليهم

CHAPTER 18 – MERIT OF LOVING THE MOMINEEN AND LOOKING AT THEM

1- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ الرَّزَّازِ عَنْ أَيُّوبَ بْنِ ثُوحٍ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ عَنِ الْعَلَاءِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَ عَنْ الْعَلَاءِ عَنْ الْعَلَاءِ عَنْ الْعَلَمُ إِلَى الْعَالِمُ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْإِمَامِ الْمُقْسِطِ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْمُقْسِطِ عِبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَالِمِ عَبَادَةٌ وَ النَّظُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَ جَلَّا عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَيْ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ النَّطُرُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَبَادَةً وَ اللَّعْلَمُ إِلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى عَنْ الْعَلَمُ عَنِي الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ السَّعْلَ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْعَلَمُ عِبَادَةً وَ الللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْعَلَمُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى عَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَى الْعَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَا عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُ عَلَمُو

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Razzaz, from Ayoub Bin Nuh, from Safwan, from Al A'ala, from Muhammad,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The looking at the scholar is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the Imam^{-asws} of fairness is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the parents with kindness and mercy is (an act of) worship, and the looking at the brother loving him for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is (an act of) worship''.⁶⁷⁹

2-كش، رجال الكشي مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ مَسْعُودٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْبَصْرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ بَشِيرٍ الدَّهَّانِ قَالَ: قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَلْمُ حَمَّدِ بْنِ بُكَيْرِ الثَّقَفِيّ مَا تَقُولُ فِي الْمُفَضَّل بْن عُمَرَ اللَّهِ عَ لِمُحَمَّدِ بْنِ بُكَيْرِ الثَّقْفِيّ مَا تَقُولُ فِي الْمُفَضَّل بْن عُمَرَ

(The book) 'Rijal' of Al Kashi – Muhammad Bin Masoud, from Is'haq Bin Muhammad Al Basry, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Bashir Al Dahhan who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to Muhammad Bin Bukeyr Al-Saqafi, 'What are you saying regarding Al-Mufazzal Bin Umar?'

قَالَ مَا عَسَيْتُ أَنْ أَقُولَ فِيهِ لَوْ رَأَيْتُ فِي عُنْقِهِ صَلِيباً وَ فِي وَسَطِهِ كُسْتِيجاً لَعَلِمْتُ أَنَّهُ عَلَى الْحَقّ بَعْدَ مَا سَمِعْتُكَ تَقُولُ فِيهِ مَا تَقُولُ

He^{-asws} said: 'What can I say regarding him? If I were to see a crucifix in his neck and a thick rope around his waist (like a Monk), I would (still) know he is upon the truth after having heard you^{-asws} saying regarding him what you said'.

قَالَ رَحِمُهُ اللَّهُ لَكِنَّ حُجْرَ بْنَ زَائِدَةً وَ عَامِرَ بْنَ جُذَاعَةَ أَتَيَابِي فَشَتَمَاهُ عِنْدِي فَقُلْتُ لَهُمَا لَا تَفْعَلَا فَإِنّي أَهْوَاهُ

He^{-asws} said: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on him! But Hujr Bin Zaida and Aamir Bin Juza'a had come to me. They insulted him in my^{-asws} presence. So I^{-asws} said to them, 'Do not do so, for I^{-asws} like him!'

فَلَمْ يَقْبَلَا فَسَأَلْتُهُمَا وَ أَخْبَرُهُمُمَا أَنَّ الْكَفَّ عَنْهُ حَاجَتِي فَلَمْ يَفْعَلَا فَلَا غَفَر اللَّهُ أَمُمَا

They did not accept from me^{-asws}, so I^{-asws} asked them and informed them that refraining from him is my^{-asws} need. But they did not do so. May Allah^{-azwj} not Forgive (their sins) for them.

-

⁶⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 1

But, If I^{-asws} had been honouring to them both, and due to the honouring upon them by the one honouring upon me^{-asws}, and Kuseyr (a poet) in his love for Uzza (a woman) was more sincere than these two are in their cordiality to me^{-asws}, whereby he (Kuseyr) said, 'She did know of the hidden matters that I love her when He^{-azwj} did not Honour upon me of her honour'.

But had I^{-asws} been honouring to them both, it would have been due to the honouring upon them by the one honouring upon me^{-asws}".⁶⁸⁰

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq-asws said: 'From the love of the man of his religion is his loving his brother". 681

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' - Ammar Bin Musa who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Love by the righteous ones to the righteous is a Reward for the righteous, and love by the immoral for the righteous is a merit for the righteous, and hatred by the immoral to the righteous is an adornment for the righteous, and hatred by the righteous for the immoral is a disgrace upon the immoral".⁶⁸²

From the book 'Qaza Al Hugoug' -

'He (the author) said, 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to one of his^{-asws} companions after a speech: 'The Momineen from the people of our^{-asws} Wilayah, and our^{-asws} Shias, when they are pious (meeting), Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted does not cease Facing towards them with His^{-azwj} Face until they separate, and the sins do not cease to drop off from them like what the leaves tend to drop off (from the tree), and the Hand of Allah^{-azwj} does not cease to be upon the hand of the one of more intense love for his companion''.⁶⁸³

⁶⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 2

⁶⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 3

 $^{^{682}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 4 $\,$

⁶⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 5

6- نَوادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ لَيَسْكُنُ إِلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ كَمَا يَسْكُنُ قَلْبُ الظَّمْآنِ إِلَى الْمَاءِ الْبَارِد. الْبَارِد.

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy – by his chain,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momin tends to be tranquil to the Momin just as the heart of a thirsty one is tranquil to the cold water''.⁶⁸⁴

وَ كِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ نَظَرُ الْمُؤْمِن فِي وَجْهِ أَخِيهِ حُبّاً لَهُ عِبَادَةٌ.

And by this chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Looking by the Momin into the face of his brother out of love for him is (an act of) worship''.⁶⁸⁵

7 – كَنْرُ الْكَرَاجُكِيِّ، عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ طَالِبٍ الْبَلَدِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ النُّعْمَايِ ّعَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ شُيُوخِهِ الْأَرْبَعَةِ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ النُّعْمَانِ آبُو عَنْ الْمُسْتَقِيرِ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ الْبَاقِرِ ع قَالَ قَالَ جَدِّي رَسُولُ الله أَيُّهَا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي حَلَالٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي حَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي حَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَنْ اللهُ أَيْهَا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي حَلَالًا إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَيْ اللّهُ أَيْهَا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي حَلَالًا إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَيْ اللّهُ أَيْهَا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي عَلَى اللّهُ أَيْهَا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي حَلَالًا إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَرَامِي عَرَامٌ إِلَيْ عَلَى قَالَ قَالَ عَلَى اللّهِ أَيْهِا اللّهُ أَيْهِا النَّاسُ حَلَالِي عَلَيْهِ إِلَيْ الْهَ أَيْهِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ عَلَى اللّهُ أَنْهُ إِلَيْهِ عَلَى إِلْعَلَمُ اللّهِ أَنْهِ اللّهِ أَنْهِ لَا لَيْ عَلَيْهِ الْقِيَامَةِ عَلَى قَالَ قَالَ قَالُ وَلَاللّهُ أَنْهُ النَّاسُ حَلَالِي عَلَالًا إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَلِي عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ أَنْهُ إِلَيْهِ اللّهِ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الْعَلَالِي عَلَى الْعَلْمُ الْقِيلَامُ إِلَيْهِ عَلَى الْعَلَامُ اللّهُ الْعَلَامُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ أَنْهُ إِلَيْهِ عَلَى الْعَلَالِي اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ الْعَلَالِي عَلَيْهِ الْعَلَامُ اللّهُ الللّهِ الْعَلَالِقِيلُولُ عَلَى الْعَلَامُ الْعَلَالِقِلْ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ الْعَلَالُ عَلَيْهِ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الل

(The book) 'Kanz' of Al Karajaky – From Muhammad in Ali Bin Talib Al Baldy, from Muhammad Bin Ibrahim Al Numany, from Ibn Uqdah, from his four elders, from Ibn Mahboub, from Muhammad Bin Al Numan Al Ahwal, from Sallam Bin Al Mustaneer,

'From Abu Ja'far Al-Baqir^{-asws} having said: 'My^{-asws} grandfather^{-saww} Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'O you people! My^{-saww} permissible is permissible up to the Day of Qiyamah, and my^{-saww} prohibition is prohibited up to the Day of Qiyamah!

Indeed, and Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Explained them both in the Book, and I^{-saww} have explained these to you all in my^{-saww} ways and my conduct (Seerah and Sunnah), and between the two are suspicions from the Satan^{-la} and innovations after me^{-saww}.

مَنْ تَرَكَهَا صَلَحَ لَهُ أَمْرُ دِينِهِ وَ صَلَحَتْ لَهُ مُرُوَّتُهُ وَ عِرْضُهُ وَ مَنْ تَلَبَّسَ بِمَا وَ وَقَعَ فِيهَا وَ أَتَّبَعَهَا كَانَ كَمَنْ رَعَى غَنَمَهُ قُرْبَ الْحِمَى وَ مَنْ رَعَى مَاشِيَتَهُ قُرْبَ الْحِمَى الْخِيمَى الْخِيمَى نَازَعَتْهُ نَفْسُهُ إِلَى أَنْ يَرْعَاهَا فِي الْحِمَى

One who neglects these (suspect issues and innovations), the matter of his religion will be righteous, and his manliness and his honour will be righteous, and the one who is confused by it and falls into these and follows these would be like the one who pastures his sheep near the enclosure, and the one who pastures his cattle near the shelter. His soul snatches him until he pastures them inside the enclosure.

Page 292 of 462

 $^{^{684}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 6 a

⁶⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 6 b

Indeed, and for every king there is an enclosure. Indeed, and an enclosure of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and majestic are His^{-azwj} Prohibition, therefore beware of the enclosure of Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Prohibitions!

Indeed, and cordiality of the Momin is from the mightiest causes of the Eman.

Indeed, and the one who loves for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and hates for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and give for the sake of Allah^{-azwj} and prevents for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, so he is from the elite Momineen in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted.

Indeed, and the two Momineen love for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and they shake hands for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, they would be like the one body. When one of them has an ailment in a place of his body, the other (places) will feel the pain of that place". ⁶⁸⁶

 686 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 18 H 7

_

باب 19 علة حب المؤمنين بعضهم بعضا و أنواع الإخوان

CHAPTER 19 – REASON FOR THE MOMINEEN LOVING EACH OTHER, AND TYPES OF BROTHERS

1- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ خَنَانِ بْنِ سَدِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع إِنِيّ لَأَلْقَى الرَّجُلَ لَمْ أَرَهُ وَ لَمْ يَرَنِي فِيمَا مَضَى قَبْلَ يَوْمِهِ ذَلِكَ فَأُحِبُهُ حُبّاً شَدِيداً فَإِذَا كَلَّمْتُهُ وَجَدْتُهُ لِي مِثْلَ مَا أَنَا عَلَيْهِ لَهُ وَ يُخْبِرُنِي أَنَّهُ يَجُدُ لِي مِثْلَ الَّذِي أَجِدُ لَهُ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father having said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'I met the man I had not seen him, and he had not seen me in what is past before that day of his, but I love him with intense love. When I spoke to him, I found him to be similar to what I was to him, and he informed me that he feels for me similar to that which I feel for him'.

He^{-asws} said: 'You speak the truth, O Sadeyr! The hearts of the righteous ones unite when they meet, and even if they do not reveal the cordiality with their tongues, they will be united like the quickness of the mingling like drops of the sky upon water of the rivers.

And after, hearts of the immoral unite when they meet, and if they do reveal the cordiality with their tongues like would be distant like the beasts are from the compassion, and even if their unity were to prolonged upon one provision".⁶⁸⁷

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashary, from Abdullah Bin Ahmad Al Razy, from Bakr Bin Salih, from Ismail Bin Mihran, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far, from Yagoub Bin Bashir, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'A man stood up to Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} at Al-Basra. He said, 'O Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}! Inform us about the brethren'.

He^{-asws} said: 'The brethren are of two types – trusting brothers and the smiling (pretending) brothers.

-

⁶⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 19 H 1

فَأَمَّا إِخْوَانُ الثِّقَةِ فَهُمُ الْكَفُّ وَ الْجَنَاحُ وَ الْأَهْلُ وَ الْمَالُ فَإِذَا كُنْتَ مِنْ أَخِيكَ عَلَى حَدِّ الثِّقَةِ فَابْدُلْ لَهُ مَالَكَ وَ بَدَنَكَ وَ صَافِ مَنْ صَافَاهُ وَ عَادِ مَنْ عَادَاهُ وَ اكْتُمُ سِرَّهُ وَ عَيْبُهُ وَ أَظْهِرْ مِنْهُ الْخُسَنَ وَ اعْلَمْ أَيُّهَا السَّائِلُ أَتَّمُمْ أَقُلُ مِنَ الْكِرْبِيتِ الْأَحْمَر

As for the trusting brother, they are the hand, and the wings, and the family, and the wealth. When you were to be from your brother upon a limit of trust, then spend for him your wealth, and your body, and shake hands with the one who shakes yours, and be clear with the one he is clear with and be inimical to the one he is inimical with, and conceal his secrets and his faults, and reveal the good from him; and know, O you questioner! They are fewer than the red sulphur!

وَ أَمَّا إِخْوَانُ الْمُكَاشَرَةِ فَإِنَّكَ تُصِيبُ مِنْهُمْ لَذَّتَكَ فَلَا تَقْطَعَنَّ ذَلِكَ مِنْهُمْ وَ لَا تَطْلُبَنَّ مَا وَرَاءَ ذَلِكَ مِنْ ضَمِيرِهِمْ وَ ابْذُلْ لَهُمْ مَا بَذَلُوا لَكَ مِنْ طَلَاقَةِ الْوَجْهِ وَ حَلاوَةِ اللِسَانِ.

And as for the smiling (pretending) brothers, you achieve your pleasure from them so do not cut that off from them nor seek what is beyond that from their consciences and exert to them what they are exerting to you from the friendly face and sweetness of the tongue". 688

3- مص، مصباح الشريعة قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع ثَلاَثَةُ أَشْيَاءَ فِي كُلِّ زَمَانٍ عَزِيزَةٌ الْأَحُ فِي اللَّهِ وَ الرَّوْجَةُ الصَّالِحَةُ الْأَلِيفَةُ فِي دِينِ اللَّهِ وَ الْوَلَدُ الرَّشِيدُ وَ مَنْ أَصَابَ أَعَالَ الْقَارِثُونِ وَ الْخُطَّ الْأَوْفَرَ مِنَ الدُّنْيَا الْقَلَاثَةَ فَقَدْ أَصَابَ حَيْرَ الدَّارَيْنِ وَ الْخُطَّ الْأَوْفَرَ مِنَ الدُّنْيَا

(The book) 'Misbah Al Sharia' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Three things are dear in every era – the brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, and the loving wife righteous in the religion of Allah^{-azwj}, and the guided son, and the one who attains one of the three, so he has attained goodness of the two houses (world and the Hereafter), and the full share from the world.

And be cautious of being brotherly with the one coming across you for greed, or fear, or sympathy, or for the food and the drink.

وَ اطْلُبْ مُوَاحَاةَ الْأَتْقِيَاءِ وَ لَوْ فِي ظُلُمَاتِ الْأَرْضِ وَ إِنْ أَفْنَيْتَ عُمُرَكَ فِي طَلَبِهِمْ فَإِنَّ اللّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لَمْ يَخْلُقْ عَلَى وَجْهِ الْأَرْضِ أَفْضَلَ مِنْهُمْ بَعْدَ الْأَنْبِيَاءِ وَ الْأَوْلِيَاءِ

And seek brotherhood of the pious ones and even if it is in darkness(es) of the earth, and even if you have to spend your whole life in searching for them, for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has not Created upon surface of the earth anyone superior to them after the Prophets^{-as} and the Guardians^{-asws}.

وَ مَا أَنْعَمَ اللّهُ عَلَى الْعَبْدِ بِمِثْلِ مَا أَنْعَمَ بِهِ مِنَ التَّوْفِيقِ بِصُحْبَتِهِمْ قَالَ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ – الْأَخِلَّاءُ يَوْمَثِذٍ بَعْضُهُمْ لِيَعْضٍ عَدُوٌ إِلّا الْمُتَّقِينَ وَ أَظُنُّ أَنَّ مَنْ طَلَبَ في زَمَانِنَا هَذَا صَدِيقاً بِلَا عَيْب بَقِيَ بِلَا صَدِيق

.

⁶⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 19 H 2

And Allah^{-azwj} has not Bestowed upon the servant like what He^{-azwj} has Bestowed with from the inclination with being their companion. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: *The friends on that Day would be enemies of each other, except for the pious [43:67]*. And I^{-asws} think in this era of ours, if one were to seek this one as a friend without fault, would remain without a friend.

اً لَا يَرَى أَنَّ أَوَّلَ كَرَامَةٍ أَكْرَمَ اللَّهُ بِمَا أَنْبِيَاءَهُ عِنْدَ إِظْهَارِ دَعُوتِهِمْ صَدِيقٌ أَمِينٌ أَوْ وَلِيٌّ وَكَذَلِكَ مِنْ أَجَلِّ مَا أَكْرَمَ اللَّهُ بِهِ أَصْدِقَاءَهُ وَ أَمْنَاءَهُ صُحْبَةُ أَنْبِيَائِهِ

Can't he see that the first honour Allah^{-azwj} has Honoured His^{-azwj} Prophets^{-as} with at the manifestation of their invitation (to the religion) is a trustworthy friend, or a guardian? And like that it is from a reason of what Allah^{-azwj} has Honoured His^{-azwj} truthful ones, and His^{-azwj} Guardians, and His^{-azwj} Trustees, companionship of His^{-azwj} Prophets^{-as}.

And it evidence's upon that there isn't in the two houses (world and the Hereafter) any bounty more majestic, and better, and purer, and foremost than companionship for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and the brotherhood for His^{-azwj} Face''.⁶⁸⁹

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The most beloved of my^{-asws} brothers to me^{-asws} is the one who gifts (shows) my^{-asws} faults to me^{-asws}''.⁶⁹⁰

Page 296 of 462

 $^{^{689}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 19 H 3 $\,$

⁶⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 19 H 4

باب 20 قضاء حاجة المؤمنين و السعى فيها و توقيرهم و إدخال السرور عليهم و إكرامهم و ألطافهم و تفريج كربمم و الاهتمام بأمورهم

CHAPTER 20 – FULFILLING NEEDS OF THE MOMINEEN, AND THE STRIVING IN IT, AND DIGNIFYING THEM, AND ENTERING THE HAPPINESS UPON THEM, AND HONOURING THEM, AND BEING COMPASSIONATE TO THEM, AND RELIEVING THEIR DISTRESS, AND CONSIDERING THEIR AFFAIRS AS IMPORTANT

1- ثو، ثواب الأعمال لي، الأمالي للصدوق أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ النَّهْدِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: أَوْحَى اللَّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ إِلَى دَاوُدَ عَ إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ مِنْ عِبَادِي لَيَأْتِينِي بِالْحُسَنَةِ فَأَبِيحُهُ جَنَّتِي

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal', (and) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – from Sa'ad, from Al Nahdy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Sinan, from a man,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Revealed to Dawood^{-as}: "The servant from My^{-azwj} servants, let him come to Me^{-azwj} with the good deed, so I^{-azwj} will Legalise My^{-azwj} Paradise for him!"'

قَالَ فَقَالَ دَاوُدُ يَا رَبِّ وَ مَا تِلْكَ الْحُسَنَةُ

He^{-asws} said, 'Dawood^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! And what is that good deed?'

قَالَ يُدْخِلُ عَلَى عَبْدِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِ سُرُوراً وَ لَوْ بِتَمْرَةِ

He^{-azwj} Said: "Entering the happiness upon My^{-azwj} Momin servant, and even if it be with a date!"

قَالَ فَقَالَ دَاوُدُ ع حَقٌّ لِمَنْ عَرَفَكَ أَنْ لَا يَقْطَعَ رَجَاءَهُ مِنْكَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'Dawood^{-as} said: 'A right of the one who recognises You^{-azwj} is that he should not cut his hopes from You^{-azwj}''.⁶⁹¹

2- ب، قرب الإسناد أَبُو الْبَحْتَرِيّ عَنْ جَعْفَر عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ: سُئِلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص أَيُّ الْأَعْمَالِ أَحَبُّ إِلَى اللهِ

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Abu Al Bakhtari,

'From Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} was asked, 'Which of the deeds is most Beloved of Allah^{-azwj}?'

قَالَ اتِّبَاعُ سُرُورِ الْمُسْلِم

⁶⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 1

_

He-saww said: 'Pursuing happiness of the Muslim'.

He^{-asws} said, 'And it was said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! And what is pursuing happiness of the Muslim?'

He^{-saww} said: 'Satiating his hunger, and removing his distress, and paying off his debts".⁶⁹²

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah, and the Momin was mentioned in his^{-asws} presence and what obligates from his rights. Abu Abdullah^{-asws} turned towards me. He^{-asws} said to me: 'O Abu Al-Fazl! Shall I^{-asws} narrate to you the state of the Momin in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}?'

I said, 'Yes, narrate to me, may I be sacrificed for you-asws!'

فَقَالَ إِذَا قَبَضَ اللَّهُ رُوحَ الْمُؤْمِنِ صَعِدَ مَلَكَاهُ إِلَى السَّمَاءِ فَقَالا يَا رَبِّ عَبْدُكَ وَ نِعْمَ الْعَبْدُكَانَ سَرِيعاً إِلَى طَاعَتِكَ بَطِيئاً عَنْ مَعْصِيَتِكَ وَ قَدْ قَبَضْتَهُ إِلَيْكَ فَمَا تَأْمُونَا مِنْ بَعْدِه

He^{-asws} said: 'When Allah^{-azwj} Captures the soul of a Momin, his two Angels ascend to the sky. They said, 'O Lord^{-azwj}! Your^{-azwj} servant, and a good servant he was. He was quick to obey You^{-azwj}, slow from disobeying You^{-azwj}, and You^{-azwj} have Captured him to You^{-azwj}. So what are You^{-azwj} Commanding us (to do) from after him?'

The Majestic Says, the Subduer Says: "Get down to the world and be at the grave of My^{-azwj} servant, and glorify Me^{-azwj}, and extol My^{-azwj} Holiness, and exclaim My^{-azwj} Greatness, and write that for My^{-azwj} servant until I^{-azwj} Resurrect him from his grave!"

Then he-asws said: 'Shall I-asws increase for you?'

⁶⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 2

Page 298 of 462

قُلْتُ بَلَى

I said, 'Yes'.

فَقَالَ إِذَا بَعَثَ اللّهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ حَرَجَ مَعَهُ مِثَالٌ يَقْدُمُهُ أَمَامَهُ فَكُلّمَا رَأَى الْمُؤْمِنُ هَوْلًا مِنْ أَهْوَالِ يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ قَالَ لَهُ الْمِثَالُ لَا تَجْزَعْ وَ لَا تَحْزَنْ وَ أَبْشِرْ بالسُّرُور وَ الْكَرَامَةِ مِنَ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلً

He^{-asws} said: 'When Allah^{-azwj} will Resurrect the Momin from his grace, a resemblance will come out with him proceeding in front of him. Every time the Momin sees a horror from the horrors of the Day of Qiyamah, the resemblance will say to him: 'Neither panic nor grieve and receive glad tidings of the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic!'

It does not cease to give him glad tidings with the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} the Glorious until he pauses in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and He^{-azwj} will Reckon him with an easy Reckoning, and Command with him to the Paradise while the resemblance will be in front of him.

The Momin will say to it, 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you! You have been a good emerger with me from my grave. You have not ceased to give me glad tidings with the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic until it did happen. So who are you?'

The resemblance will say to him: 'I am the happiness which you had entered upon your Momin brother in the world. Allah^{-azwj} has Created me to give you glad tidings''.⁶⁹³

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Shazawayh, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Al Khashab, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Hakeem, from Zakariya Al Momin, from Mushmail Al Asady who said,

'I went out one year as a pilgrim. I left to go to Abu Abdullah Al-Sadiq Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said: 'From where, O Mushmail?'

فَقُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ كُنْتُ حَاجّاً

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! I had gone for Hajj'.

-

⁶⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 3

فَقَالَ أَ وَ تَدْرِي مَا لِلْحَاجِّ مِنَ الثَّوَابِ

'He-asws said: 'And do you know what Rewards are for the pilgrim?'

فَقُلْتُ مَا أَدْرِي حَتَّى تُعَلِّمني

I said, 'I don't know until you teach me'.

فَقَالَ إِنَّ الْغَبْدَ إِذَا طَافَ بِحَذَا الْبَيْتِ أُسْبُوعاً وَ صَلَّى رَكْعَتَيْهِ وَ سَعَى بَيْنَ الصَّفَا وَ الْمَرْوَةِ كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ حَسَنَةٍ وَ حَطَّ عَنْهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ حَاجَةٍ لِلدُّنِيَاكَذَا وَ ادَّحَرَ لَهُ لِلاَّذِيْرَة كَذَا

He^{-asws} said: 'When the servant performs Tawaaf of this House (Kabah) of one circuit, and prays its two Cycles Salat, and sprints between Al-Safa and Al-Marwa, Allah^{-azwj} will Write six thousand good deeds for him, and Drop six thousand evil deeds from him, and Raise six thousand ranks for him, and Fulfil six thousand needs of the world for him. Like that, and He^{-azwj} will Treasure for him for the Hereafter like that'.

فَقُلْتُ لَهُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ إِنَّ هَذَا لَكَثِيرٌ

I said to him-asws, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! This is a lot!'

فَقَالَ أَ فَلَا أُخْبِرُكَ بِمَا هُوَ أَكْثَرُ مِنْ ذَلِكَ

He^{-asws} said: 'Shall I^{-asws} inform you with what is more than that?"

قَالَ قُلْتُ بَلَى

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes'.

فَقَالَ ع لَقَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ امْرِيُ مُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ حِجَّةٍ وَ حِجَّةٍ وَ حِجَّةٍ حَتَّى عَدَّ عَشْرَ حِجج.

He^{-asws} said: 'For fulfilling a need of a Momin person, there are better (Rewards) than performing a Hajj, and a Hajj' – until he^{-asws} had counted ten Hajj''.⁶⁹⁴

5- لي، الأمالي للصدوق أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ كَمَدَ بْنِ وَبِيعٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ أَبِي الْأَعْرِ النَّحَاسِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ الصَّادِقَ ع يَقُولُ قَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حِجَّةٍ مُتَقَبَّلَةٍ بِمِنَاسِكِهَا وَ عِتْقِ أَلْفِ رَقِبَةٍ لِوَجْهِ اللَّهِ وَ حُمُلَانِ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ بِسُرُجِهَا وَ الصَّادِقَ ع يَقُولُ قَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حِجَّةٍ مُتَقَبَّلَةٍ بِمِنَاسِكِهَا وَ عِتْقِ أَلْفِ رَقِبَةٍ لِوَجْهِ اللَّهِ وَ حُمُلَانِ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ بِسُرُجِهَا وَ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حِجَّةٍ مُتَقَبَّلَةٍ بِمِنَاسِكِهَا وَ عِنْقِ أَلْفِ رَقِبَةٍ لِوَجْهِ اللَّهِ وَمُحْلَدُ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ بِسُرُجِهَا وَ الْمُؤْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حَرَبِ إِنَّالِهِ لَكُونَ أَلْفِ وَمِنْ أَنْفِقُونَ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حَجَّةٍ مُتَقَبِّلَةٍ بِمِنَاسِكِهَا وَ عِنْقِ أَلْفِ رَقَبَةٍ لِوَجْهِ اللَّهِ وَ حُمُلانِ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ بِسُرُجِهَا وَ اللَّهِ مِنْ أَلْفِ مَنْ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ الللهِ الللهِ لِمُعْتَلِقُ أَلْفِ وَمُ مِنْ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ إِنْ أَلْفِ فَرَالِ لَقُولُ فَطَاءُ عَلَاقًا أَوْمِنِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ حَجَةٍ مُتَقَبِّلَةٍ مِمَانِهُ عَاللَّاقِ عَلْقُلُقُومِ لَقَاعُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ فَرَالِكُونِ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ الللهِ إِنْسُوعِهَا وَ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Al Husayn, from Sahl, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Rabie, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Abu Al A'aziAl Nakhas who said,

'I heard Al-Sadiq^{-asws} saying: 'Fulfilling a need of the Momin is better than performing a thousand Hajj Accepted with its rituals and liberating a thousand necks for the Face of

⁶⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 4

Allah^{-azwj}, and loading (equipping) a thousand horses in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} with their saddles and their reins".⁶⁹⁵

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnad' - Ibn Tareyf, from Ibn Ulwan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Fulfilling a need of the Momin is better than fasting a month and isolating (in the Masjid)".⁶⁹⁶

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - By this chain,

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One who fulfils a need for a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Fulfil a lot of needs for him, least of these being the Paradise''.⁶⁹⁷

8- ب، قرب الإسناد ابْنُ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْأَرْدِيِّ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: مَا قَضَى مُسْلِمٌ لِمُسْلِمٍ حَاجَةً إِلَّا نَادَاهُ اللَّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى عَلَيَّ ثَوَابُكَ وَ لا أَرْضَى لَكَ بِدُونِ الْجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Ibn Sa'ad, from Al Azdy,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'A Muslim will not fulfil a need of a Muslim except Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted will Call out to him: "Your Rewards are upon Me^{-azwj}, and I^{-azwj} will not be Satisfied for you with less than the Paradise!" ⁶⁹⁸

9- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام الْبَيْهَقِيُّ عَنِ الصَّوْلِيِّ عَنْ جَبَلَةَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عِيسَى بْنِ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الرَّجُلَ لَيَسْأَلُنِي الْحَاجَةَ فَأُبَادِرُ بِقَضَائِهَا مُحَافَةً أَنْ يَسْتَغْنِيَ عَنْهَا فَلَا يَجِدُ لَمَا مَوْقِعاً إِذَا جَاءَتْهُ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – Al Bayhaqi, from Al Sowli, from Jabalah Bin Muhammad, from Isa Bin Hammad Bin Isa, from his father,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'A man tends to ask me^{-asws} of the need, so I^{-asws} rush to fulfil it fearing that he might become needless from it, so an opportunity will not be found for it when I^{-asws} come to him''.⁶⁹⁹

10- مع، معايي الأخبار أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْيَقْطِينِيِّ عَنِ اللِّهْقَانِ عَنْ دُرُسْتَ عَنِ ابْنِ أَذَيْنَةَ عَنْ زُرَارَةَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ صَنَعَ مِثْلَ مَا صُنَعَ إِلَيْهِ إِنَّمَا كَافَا كَوِيماً وَ مَنْ شَكَرَ كَانَ كَرِيماً وَ مَنْ عَلِمَ أَنَّ مَا صَنَعَ إِلَيْهِ إِنَّمَا يَصْنَعُ إِلَى نَفْسِهِ لَمُ يَسْتَبُطِئِ النَّاسَ فِي شُكْرِهِمْ وَ لَمْ صَنَعَ إِلَيْهِ إِنَّمَا كَافَا وَ مَنْ شَكَرَ كَانَ كَرِيماً وَ مَنْ عَلِمَ أَنَّ مَا صَنَعَ إِلَيْهِ إِنَّمَا يَصْنَعُ إِلَى نَفْسِهِ لَمْ يَسْتَبُطِئِ النَّاسَ فِي شُكْرِهِمْ وَ لَمْ يَسْتَرُدُهُمْ فِي مَوْدَتِهِمْ

 $^{^{695}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 5 $\,$

⁶⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 6

⁶⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 7

⁶⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 8

⁶⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 9

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Yaqteeni, from Al Dihqan, from Dorost, from Ibn Uzina, from Zurara who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far-asws saying: 'One who does similar to what is done to him, so rather he has sufficed (reciprocated), and one who adds (to it) would be thankful, and one who is thankful would be benevolent, and one who knows that what has been done to him rather he has done it to himself, will not delaying to the people in thanking them, and has not increased them in their cordiality.

And know that the seeker of the need to you, did not honour his face from your face, therefore honour your face from (not) returning him (empty handed)". 700

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqda, from Ja'far Bin Abdullah, from Umar Bin Khalid, from Muhammad Bin Yahy Al Muzanny,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who was (working) regarding a need of his Muslim brother, Allah^{-azwj} would be regarding his need for as long as he were to be regarding a need of his brother''.⁷⁰¹

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – By the chain to Abu Qatadah,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic there are faces He^{-azwj} Created them from His^{-azwj} creatures and Made them walk in His^{-azwj} earth to fulfil needs of their brethren. They view the Praising as Glorifying.

And Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Loves the honourable manners, and it was among what Allah^{-azwj} Addressed His^{-azwj} Prophet^{-saww} is that He^{-azwj} Said to him^{-saww}: "O Muhammad^{-saww}! **And you are upon magnificent morals [68:4]**".

He^{-asws} said: '(Magnificent morals) are the generosity and the good manners''.⁷⁰²

⁷⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 10

 $^{^{701}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 11

⁷⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 12

(The book) 'Mishkat Al Anwaar' -

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Do not cheat the people for you will remain without a friend''.⁷⁰³

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin. He should neither oppress him, nor abandon him, nor cheat him, nor backbite him, nor betray him, nor belie him''.⁷⁰⁴

He^{-asws} said: 'It is not befitting for the Momin to be unfriendly to his Momin brother and the ones besides him, for the Momin is dead in his religion''. ⁷⁰⁵

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'Do not do away with the respect regarding what is between you and your Momin brother, for the going of respect is going of the modesty, and the remaining of the respect is remaining of the manliness''.⁷⁰⁶

From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'When one of you is in straitened (financial circumstances), he should let his brother know, and he should not assist against his own self''.⁷⁰⁷

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'One who revered (respected) the religion of Allah^{-azwj} will revere rights of his brethren, and one who takes lightly with his religion will take lightly with his brethren''.⁷⁰⁸

وَ عَنْهُ عِ قَالَ: مَنْ سَأَلُهُ أَحُوهُ الْمُؤْمِنُ حَاجَةً مِنْ ضُرٍّ فَمَنَعَهُ مِنْ سَعَةٍ وَ هُوَ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهَا مِنْ عِنْدِهِ أَوْ مِنْ عِنْدِ غَيْرِهِ حَشَرَهُ اللّهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ مَغْلُولَةً يَدُهُ إِلَى عُمُقِهِ حَتَّى يَفْرُغَ اللّهُ مِنْ حِسَابِ الخَلْق.

⁷⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 a

 $^{^{704}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 b

⁷⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 c

⁷⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 d

 $^{^{707}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 e

⁷⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 f

And from his^{-asws} having said: 'One whom his Momin brother asks for a need from necessity, but he refuses him despite being capacious and he is able upon it from his possession, or from others, Allah^{-azwj} will Resurrect him on the Day of Qiyamah, his hand will be shackled to his neck, until Allah^{-azwj} is Free from Reckoning the creatures''.⁷⁰⁹

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'One who walks with his Momin brother regarding a need but does not advise him, so he has betrayed Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww}''. ⁷¹⁰

And from Al-Baqir^{-asws} having said: 'There is a right upon the Momin (receiving) the good advice''.⁷¹¹

From Hammad Bin Usman who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} when a man from our companions entered to see him^{-asws}. Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said to him: 'What is the matter your brother complained of you?'

He said, 'He complained of me that I demanded my right (debts) from him'.

Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'It is as if when you demanded your right you did not do anything wrong! What is your view of what Mighty and Majestic has Mentioned in the Quran: *and are fearing the evil Reckoning [13:21]*? Are they fearing that Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Praise, will be tyrannous upon them? No, by Allah^{-azwj}! They are not fearing that. But rather, they are fearing demanding (of the rights). Allah^{-azwj} has Named it as the evil Reckoning. Yes, one who demands from his brother, so he has done wrong". ⁷¹²

And from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Bin Malik,

⁷⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 g

⁷¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 h

 $^{^{711}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 i

⁷¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 j

'Raising it to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from one of our companions who said, 'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'Our brethren are indulging in the work of Satan^{-la}. Shall we supplicate for them?'

فَقَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ هَلْ يَنْفَعُونَكُمْ قُلْتُ لَا

Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'Are they benefitting you?' I said, 'No'.

فَقَالَ ابْرَءُوا مِنْهُمْ أَنَا مِنْهُمْ بَرِيءٌ.

He-asws said: 'Disavow from them. I-asws disavow from them''.713

14-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ الثَّمَالِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ مَنْ سَرَّ مُؤْمِناً فَقَدْ سَرَّينِ وَ مَنْ سَرَّينِ فَقَدْ سَرَّ اللَّهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl Bin Ziyad and Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, altogether from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Hamza Al Sumali who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who cheers a Momin, so he has cheered me^{-saww}, and one who cheers me^{-saww}, so he has Cheered Allah^{-azwj}''.⁷¹⁴

51-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِلَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ رَجُلٍ مِنْ أَهْلِ الْكُوفَةِ يُكَنَّى أَبُو مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: تَبَسُّمُ الرَّجُلِ في وَجْهِ أَخِيهِ حَسَنَةٌ وَ صَرْفُهُ الْقُذَى عَنْهُ حَسَنَةٌ وَ مَا عُبِدَ اللّهُ بِشَيْءٍ أَحَبَّ إِلَى اللّهِ مِنْ إِدْخَالِ السُّرُورِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِن.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from a man from the people of Al Kufa teknonymed as Abu Muhammad, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The man smiling in the face of his brother is a good deed and turning the slander away from him is a good deed; and Allah^{-azwj} has not been worshipped with anything more Beloved to Allah^{-azwj} than entering the happiness upon the Momin''.⁷¹⁵

16-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ الْوَصَّافِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ فِيمَا نَاجَى اللَّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ عَبْدَهُ مُوسَى قَالَ إِنَّ لِي عِبَاداً أَبِيحُهُمْ جَنَّتِي وَ أُحَكِّمُهُمْ فِيهَا

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Sinan, from Ibn Muskan, from Ubeydullah Bin Al Waleed Al Wassafy who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far^{-asws} saying: 'Among what Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Whispered with to His^{-azwj} servant Musa^{-as} was that He^{-azwj} Said: "For Me^{-azwj} there are such servant that I^{-azwj} would be Allotting them My^{-azwj} Paradise and Making them rulers therein".

قَالَ يَا رَبِّ وَ مَنْ هَؤُلاءِ الَّذِينَ تُبِيحُهُمْ جَنَّتَكَ وَ تُحَكِّمُهُمْ فِيهَا

⁷¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 13 k

 $^{^{714}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 14

⁷¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 15

He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! And who are they whom You^{-azwj} would be Allotting Your^{-azwj} Paradise to and Making them to rule therein?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "The one who cause the happiness to enter into the Momin".

Then he^{-asws} said: 'There was a Momin who was in the kingdom of a tyrant, and he was scared of it and fled from him to a house (domain) of the Polytheists and lodged with a man from the Polytheist people. So he shaded him, and was kind to him, and hosted him.

When the death presented itself to him, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Revealed unto him: "By My^{-azwj} Honour and My^{-azwj} Majesty! Had there been a dwelling for you in My^{-azwj} Paradise, I^{-azwj} would have Settled you therein. But it is Prohibited upon the one who dies having associated with Me^{-azwj}. But O Fire! Settle down and do not harm him!"

And they would be coming with his sustenance at the two ends of the day (morning and evening)'.

قُلْتُ مِنَ الْجُنَّةِ

I said, 'From the Paradise?'

قَالَ مِنْ حَيْثُ شَاءَ اللَّهُ.

He-asws said: 'From wherever Allah-azwj so Desires it''.716

17-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْخُسْمِيْنِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِنَّ أَحَبَّ الْأَعْمَالِ إِلَى اللَّهِ إِدْخَالُ السُّرُورِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Bakr Bin Salih, from Al Hassan Bin Ali, from Abdullah Bin Ibrahim, from Ali Bin Abu Ali,

⁷¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 16

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from Ali Bin Al Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} is entering the happiness upon the Momineen''.⁷¹⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Revealed to Dawood^{-as}: "The servant from My^{-azwj} servants, let him come to be with the good deed so I^{-asws} will Legalise My^{-azwj} Paradise for him!"

فَقَالَ دَاوُدُ يَا رَبِّ وَ مَا تِلْكَ الْحَسَنَةُ

Dawood^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! And what is that good deed?'

قَالَ يُدْخِلُ عَلَى عَبْدِيَ الْمُؤْمِنِ سُرُوراً وَ لَوْ بِتَمْرَةٍ

He^{-azwj} Said: "Entering the happiness upon My^{-azwj} Momin servant, and even if it be with a date'.

قَالَ دَاوُدُ يَا رَبِّ حَقٌّ لِمَنْ عَرَفَكَ أَنْ لَا يَقْطَعَ رَجَاءَهُ مِنْكَ.

Dawood^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! It is a right for the one who recognises You^{-azwj} that he does not cut off his hoped from You^{-azwj}''.⁷¹⁸

19-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرَهِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَلَفِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ مُفَضَّلِ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: لَا يَرَى أَحَدُكُمْ إِذَا أَدْحَلَ عَلَى مُؤْمِنٍ سُرُوراً أَنَّهُ عَلَيْهِ أَدْحُلُهُ فَقَطْ بَلْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَا بَلْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَا بَلْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَا بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَا بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْنَ بَالْ وَ اللَّهِ عَلَى رَسُول اللَّهِ ص.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqi, from his father, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from Mufazzal Bin Umar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Not one of you should view that when he has entered happiness upon a Momin that he has entered it upon him only. But, by Allah^{-azwj}, upon us^{-asws} (as well). But, by Allah^{-azwj}! Upon Rasool-Allah^{-saww} (as well)''.⁷¹⁹

20-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ وَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنِ ابْنِ شَاذَانَ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْخَمِيدِ عَنْ أَبِي الجَّارُودِ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ سَمِغْتُهُ يَقُولُ إِنَّ أَحَبَّ الْأَعْمَالِ إِلَى اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِدْحَالُ السُّرُورِ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِن شَبْعَةُ مُسْلِمٍ أَوْ قَضَاءُ دَيْنِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father and Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Ibn Shazan, altogether from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ibrahim Bin Abdul Hameed, from Abu Al Jaroud,

⁷¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 17

 $^{^{718}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 18

⁷¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 19

'From Abu Ja'far-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'The most beloved of deeds to Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic is entering the happiness upon the Momin, satiating a Muslim, or paying off his debts''. 720

21-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ سَدِيرٍ الصَّيْرِيِّ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع فِي حَدِيثٍ طَوِيلٍ إِذَا بَعَثَ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ حَرَجَ مَعَهُ مِثَالٌ يَقْدُمُهُ أَمَامَهُ كُلَّمَا رَأَى الْمُؤْمِنُ هَوْلًا مِنْ أَهْوَالِ يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ قَالَ لَهُ الْمِثَالُ لَا تَفْزَعْ وَ لَا تَخْزَنْ وَ أَبْشِرْ بِالسُّرُورِ وَ الْكَرَامَةِ مِنَ اللّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Sadeyr Al Sayrafi who said.

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said in a lengthy Hadeeth: 'When Allah^{-azwj} will Resurrect the Momin from his grave, a resemblance will come out with him proceeding in front of him. Every time the Momin sees a horror from the horrors of the Day of Qiyamah, the resemblance will say to him: 'Neither panic nor grieve and receive glad tidings of the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic!'

It does not cease to give him glad tidings with the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} the Glorious until he pauses in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and He^{-azwj} will Reckon him with an easy Reckoning, and Command with him to the Paradise while the resemblance will be in front of him.

The Momin will say to it, 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you! You have been a good emerger with me from my grave. You have not ceased to give me glad tidings with the happiness and the honours from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic until it did happen. So who are you?'

The resemblance will say to him: 'I am the happiness which you had entered upon your Momin brother in the world. Allah^{-azwj} has Created me to give you glad tidings''.⁷²¹

22-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنِ السَّيَارِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جُمُهُورٍ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّجَاشِيُّ وَ هُوَ رَجُلٌ مِنَ الدَّهَاقِينِ عَامِلًا عَلَى اللَّهِ عَالِيَّ فِي دِيوَانِ النَّجَاشِيِّ عَلَيَّ حَرّاجاً وَ هُوَ مُؤْمِنٌ يَدِينُ بِطَاعَتِكَ فَإِنْ رَأَيْتَ أَنْ تَكْتُبَ لِي إِلَيْهِ كِتَاباً الْأَهْوَازِ وَ فَارِسَ فَقَالَ بَعْضُ أَهْلِ عَمَلِهِ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع إِنَّ فِي دِيوَانِ النَّجَاشِيِّ عَلَيَّ حَرّاجاً وَ هُوَ مُؤْمِنٌ يَدِينُ بِطَاعَتِكَ فَإِنْ رَأَيْتَ أَنْ تَكْتُبَ لِي إِلَيْهِ كِتَاباً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad, from Al Sayyari, from Muhammad Bin Jamhour who said,

'It was so that Al Najjashy, and he was a man from the land owners, working upon Al Ahvaz and Faris. One of the people of his workforce said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'In the register of Al-

 $^{^{720}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 20

⁷²¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 21

Najjashy there is taxation due upon me, and he is a Momin with a religion in your-asws obedience. So if you-asws see (fit), if you-asws could write for me a letter to him'.

He (the narrator) said, 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} wrote to him: 'In the Name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful. Cause happiness to your brother, Allah^{-azwj} will Cause you happiness'.

When the letter was given to him, he went over to him, and he was in his gathering. So when he was alone, he gave him the letter and said, 'This is a letter of Abu Abdullah-asws'. He kissed it and placed it upon his eyes, and said to him, 'What is your need?'

He said, 'There is taxation upon me in your register'. He said to him, 'And how much is it?' He said, 'Ten thousand Dirhams'.

He called over his scribe and instructed him with write it off from him. Then he took him out from it and instructed that it be affirmed for him in the future (no taxes to pay). Then he said to him, 'Have I gladdened you?' He said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you'.

Then he ordered for him with a ride and a maid and a slave, and ordered for him a set of clothes, and during each of that he was saying to him, 'Have I gladdened you?' So he was saying, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you'.

Every time he said, 'Yes', he increased it for him until he was free. Then he said to him, 'Carry (take away) this furnishing of the house which you were seated upon where you handed over to me a letter of my Master-asws which you brought wherein you raise your need to me'.

He (the narrator) said, 'He did so, and the man went out. The man came over to Abu Abdullah⁻ asws after that and narrated to him^{-asws} of the narration upon its aspect. He^{-asws} went on to become joyful with what was done.

The man said, 'O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! It is as if he has cause you^{-asws} to be glad, what he did with me'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, by Allah^{-azwj}! He has gladdened Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww}''.⁷²²

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Abu Ali Al Ashari, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Jabbar, from Al Hassan Bin Ali Bin Fazzal, from Mansour, from Ammar Abu Al Yaqzan, from Aban Bin Taghlib who said,

'I asked Abu Abdullah^{-asws} about the rights of the Momin upon the Momin. He^{-asws} said: 'The rights of the Momin upon the Momin are greater than that. If I^{-asws} were to narrate (these) to you, you would disbelieve.

When the Momin will come out from his grave, a resemblance would come out along with him from his grave saying to him, 'Receive glad tidings with the prestige and the gladness from Allah-azwj'.

He would be saying to it, 'May there be glad tidings for you from Allah-azwj with goodness'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Then it would go with him, giving him glad tidings of the like of what I^{-asws} said, and whenever he passes by a horror, it would say, 'This is not for you'; and whenever he passes by a goodness, it would say, 'This is for you'.

It will not cease to be with him, securing him from whatever he fears, and giving him glad tidings with what he likes, until it would pause with him in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic.

722 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 22

•

When He^{-azwj} Commands with him (to go to) the Paradise, the resemblance would say to him, 'Receive glad tidings, for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Commanded with you to the Paradise'.

He^{-asws} said: 'He would say, 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on you, who are you? You have been giving me glad tidings from when you came out from my grave and comforted me in my way, and informed me about my Lord^{-azwj}'.

It would be saying, 'I am the gladness which you used to cause entering upon your brethren in the world. Allah azwj Created me from it in order to give you glad tidings, and comfort you in your loneliness'. 723

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Malik Bin Atiyya,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The most Beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} is gladness you cause to enter upon a Momin, repelling his hunger away from him, or removing his distress from him''.⁷²⁴

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Al Hakam Bin Miskeen,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The one who causes gladness to enter upon the Momin, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Create the gladness from that as a creature. It would meet him during his death and it would be saying to him, 'Receive glad tidings, O friend of Allah^{-azwj}, with the prestige from Allah^{-azwj}, and Pleasure'.

Then it would not cease to be with him until it enters into his grave (meeting him), and it would be saying to him similar to that. When he is Resurrected, it would meet him and would be saying to him similar to that. Then it would not cease to be with him during every horror, giving him glad tidings and saying to him similar to that.

 $^{^{723}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 23

⁷²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 24

So he would be saying to it, 'Who are you? May Allah-azwj have Mercy on you'.

It would be saying, 'I am the gladness which you cause to enter upon so and so". 725

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Ahmad Bin Is'haq, from Sa'dan Bin Muslim, from Abdullah Bin Sinan who said,

'There was a man in the presence of Abu Abdullah-asws, and he recited this Verse: **And those** hurting the Momineen and the Mominaat without them having deserved it, so they are bearing slander and a manifest sin [33:58]'.

He (the narrator) said, 'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'What is the Reward for the one who causes the gladness to enter upon him?'

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! Ten good deeds'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, by Allah^{-azwj}, and a thousand, thousand (million) good deeds".⁷²⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl. From Muhammad Bin Awrama, from Ali Bin Yahya, from Al Waleed Bin Al A'la, from Ibn Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who enters the gladness upon a Momin, so he has entered it upon Rasool-Allah^{-saww}, and the one who enters it upon Rasool-Allah^{-saww} so he has connected that to Allah^{-azwj}; and like that is the one who enters distress upon him''.⁷²⁷

⁷²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 25

 $^{^{726}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 26

⁷²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 27

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From the number, from Sahl, from Ismail Bin Mansour, from Al Mufazzal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Whichever Muslim meets a Muslim and gladdens him, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Gladden him''. ⁷²⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the most Beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is entering the gladness unto the Momin, satiating his hunger, or removing his distress, or paying off his debts''.⁷²⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Al Husayn Bin Hashim, from Sa'dan Bin Muslim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The one who takes out a speck from the face of his Momin brother, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Write ten good deeds for him; and the one who smiles in the face of his brother, it would be a good deed for him''. '⁷³⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Jameel Bin Darraj,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who says, 'Welcome' to his brother, Allah^{-azwj} will Write: 'Welcome' for him up to the Day of Qiyamah''.⁷³¹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who comes to his Muslim brother and honours him, so rather he has honoured Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic''.⁷³²

⁷²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 28

⁷²⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 29

⁷³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 30

 $^{^{731}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 31

⁷³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 32

33- كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ نَصْرِ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ الْخَارِثِ بْنِ النَّعْمَانِ عَنِ الْهَيْمَمِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ أَيِي دَاوُدَ عَنْ أَلْفِ عَنْ أَلْفِ مِنْ حَلَمِ الْجَنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Nasr Bin Is'haq, from Al Haris Bin Al Numan, from Al Haysam Bin Hammad, from Abu Dawood, from Zayd Bin Arqam who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'There is no servant in my^{-saww} community who is kind to his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} with anything from (acts of) kindness except Allah^{-azwj} will Make him to be served by the servants of Paradise''.⁷³³

34-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عْنِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَنْهُ كُرْبَتَهُ لَمْ يَزَلْ فِي ظِلّ اللّهِ الْمَمْدُودِ عَلَيْهِ الرّحْمَةُ مَا كَانَ فِي ذَلِكَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Bakr Bin Salih, from Al Hassan Bin Ali, from Abdullah Bin Ja'far Bin Ibrahim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who honours his Muslim brother with a phrase he expresses with, and relieves his distress from him, will not cease to be in the shade of Mercy of Allah^{-azwj} extended upon him, for as long as he would be in that''.⁷³⁴

35-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْغَزِيزِ عَنْ جَبِيلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ إِنَّ بَالْ كَثَرَةُ وَ ذَلِكَ أَنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ يَقُولُ فِي كِتَابِهِ- وَ يُؤْثِرُونَ عَلَى أَنْفُسِهِمْ وَ لَوْ كَانَ يَعِمْ خَصاصَةً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Jameel,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'From what Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Specialised the Momin with, is that he recognises the righteousness with his brethren, and even if it was little; and the righteousness is not with the abundance, and that is because Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic is Saying in His-azwj Book: *and they are preferring* (others) over their own selves, and even though there was extreme poverty with them. [59:9].

ثُمُّ قَالَ وَ مَنْ يُوقَ شُحَّ نَفْسِهِ فَأُولِئِكَ هُمُ الْمُفْلِحُونَ وَ مَنْ عَرَّفَهُ اللَّهُ بِذَلِكَ أَحَبَّهُ اللَّهُ وَ مَنْ أَحَبَّهُ اللَّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى وَفَّاهُ أَجْرَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ بِغَيْرٍ حِسَابٍ

Then He^{-azwj} Said: **And one who preserves himself from stinginess, so those, they are the successful ones [59:9]**. And one who and the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Recognises with that, Allah^{-azwj} would Love him, and the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Loves, He^{-azwj} would Fulfil his Recompense on the Day of Qiyamah without any Reckoning'.

 $^{^{733}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 33

⁷³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 34

ثُمُّ قَالَ يَا جَمِيلُ ارْو هَذَا الْحُدِيثَ لِإِخْوَانِكَ فَإِنَّهُ تَرْغِيبٌ فِي الْبِرِّ لِإِخْوَانِكَ.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'O Jameel! Report this Hadeeth to your brethren, for it arouses desire regarding the righteousness''. ⁷³⁵

تبيان روي من طريق العامة أنها نزلت في أمير المؤمنين ع و أنه مع بقية أهل بيته لم يطعموا شيئا منذ ثلاثة أيام فاقترض دينارا ثم رأى المقداد فتفرس منه أنه جائع فأعطاه الدينار فنزلت الآية مع المائدة من السماء.

Explanation (Hadeeth only) – It is reported from the way of the general Muslims that it was Revealed regarding Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}, and he^{-asws} along with his^{-asws} family members, they had not eaten anything for three days. So he^{-asws} borrowed a Dinar, then he^{-asws} saw Al-Miqdad^{-ra} who told him^{-asws} that he^{-ra} was hungry, so he^{-asws} gave the Dinar to him^{-ra}, so this Verse descended along with a meal from the sky.

36-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ لَتُحْدُ أَخَاهُ التُّحْقَةَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al Husayn, from Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Salih Bin Uqba, from Al Mufazzal,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'The Momin, let him present his brother with a gift'.

قُلْتُ وَ أَيُّ شَيْءٍ التُّحْفَةُ

I said, 'And which thing is the gift?'

قَالَ مِنْ مُجْلِسٍ وَ مُتَّكَإٍ وَ طَعَامٍ وَكِسْءَةٍ وَ سَلَامٍ فَتَطَاوَلُ الجُنَّةُ مُكَافَأَةً لَهُ وَ يُوحِي اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِلَيْهَا أَيِّي قَدْ حَرَّمْتُ طَعَامَكِ عَلَى أَهْلِ الدُّنْيَا إِلَّا عَلَى نَبِيّ أَوْ وَصِيّ نَبِيّ

He^{-asws} said: 'From (allocating) a seat, and a pillow, and food, and clothing, and a greeting. So the Paradise prolongs the reciprocal Rewards for him, and Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Reveals unto it: "I^{-azwj} have Prohibited your food upon the people of the world except upon a Prophet^{-saww}, or a successor^{-as} of a Prophet^{-as}!"

فَإِذَا كَانَ يَوْمُ الْقِيَامَةِ أُوْحَى اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِلَيْهَا أَنْ كَافِيْ أَوْلِيَائِي بِتُحَفِهمْ

When it will be the Day of Qiyamah, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Reveal unto it: "Reward My^{-azwj} servants for their gifts!"

فَتَحْرُجُ مِنْهَا وُصَفَاءُ وَ وَصَائِفُ مَعَهُمْ أَطْبَاقٌ مُعَطَّاةٌ بِمَنَادِيلَ مِنْ لُؤْلُؤٍ فَإِذَا نَظَرُوا إِلَى جَهَنَّمَ وَ هَوْلِهَا وَ إِلَى الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَا فِيهَا طَارَتْ عُقُولُهُمْ وَ امْتَنَعُوا أَنْ يَأْكُلُوا

-

⁷³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 35

So male and female attendants would be coming out from it having platters with them covered by towels of pearls. When they look towards Hell and its horrors, and towards the Paradise and what is therein, their intellects would fly off and they would refuse to eat.

A Caller would Call out from beneath the Throne: 'Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic has Prohibited Hell upon the one who eat from the food of His-azwj Paradise'. The group of people would be extending their hands, and they would be eating''. 736

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Muhammad Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'It is obligatory for the Momin upon the Momin that he should conceal seventy major sins upon him''.⁷³⁷

38-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ يَحْبَى جَبِيعاً عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَسْلَمَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ عَدِيٍّ قَالَ أَمْلَى عَلَى عَبِي قَالَ أَمُلَى عَلَى عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ أَحْسِنْ يَا إِسْحَاقُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٌ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ عَلَي مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ أَحْسِنْ يَا إِسْحَاقُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٌ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ عَلَى عَلَي مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعَانَهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَلَمَ عَنْ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعْلَقُهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَا السَّتَطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعْلَى إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مَالسَّطَعْتَ فَمَا أَحْسَنَ مُؤْمِنٍ إِلَى مُؤْمِنٍ وَ لَا أَعْلَقُهُ إِلَى أَوْلِيَائِي مُ السَّمَانَ عَنْ إِلَيْكُونِ مِن مَالِي مُلْكُولُونَ وَلَا أَعْلَقُلُهِ مُ إِلَيْنِ لَا إِلَيْكُونِ إِلْ أَلْيَالِي مُعْلِي اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعُمْنَ إِلَيْنَائِقُ مُوالْعَلَالَةُ عَالَهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَالَ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُونِ إِلَيْكُولِ عَلَيْكُونِ إِلَى أَلْولِيلِكُونِ إِلَالِيلِي عَلَيْكُونِ إِلَى أَلْتُولُونَا عَلَالِهُ عَلَيْكُولِ إِلَى أَلْولِيلُونِ إِلَيْكُولِ اللَّهِ عَلَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Husayn Bin Muhammad and Muhammad Bin Yahya, altogether from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Sa'ad, from Muhammad Bin Aslam, from Muhammad Bin Ali Bin Aday who said, 'It is dictated to me by Muhammad Bin Suleyman, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'O Is'haq! Be good to my^{-asws} friends as much as you can, for no Momin will be good to a Momin nor assist him except it would scratch the face of Iblees^{-la} and sore his^{-la} heart''.⁷³⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – By the chain to Abu Qatadah, from Dawood Bin Sirham who said,

'Sadeyr Al-Sayrafi entered to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said to him: 'O Sadeyr! The wealth of a man will not become a lot at all except the Argument of Allah^{-azwj} will be mightier against him. So if you are able to push it away from yourselves, then do so'.

⁷³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 36

⁷³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 37

⁷³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 38

فَقَالَ لَهُ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ عِمَا ذَا

He said to him-asws, 'O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww! With what should that be so?'

قَالَ بِقَضَاءِ حَوَائِج إِخْوَانِكُمْ مِنْ أَمْوَالِكُمْ الْخَبَرَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'By fulfilling needs of your brethren from your wealth' – the Hadeeth''. ⁷³⁹

40- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ هَوْدَةَ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ يَحْبَى عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ آبَاثِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَنْ قَضَى لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِن حَاجَةً كَانَ كَمَنْ عَبَدَ اللَّهَ دَهْراً.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ahmad Bin Howzah, from Ibrahim Bin Is'haq, from Abdullah Bin Hammad, from Abu Baseer Yahya,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who fulfils a need for his Momin brother would be like the one having worshipped Allah^{-azwj} for whole lifespan''.⁷⁴⁰

41- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي ابْنُ الصَّلْتِ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْفَصْلِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي يَعْفُورٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّهُ مَنْ عُظَّمَ إِخْوَانَهُ وَ مَن اسْتَحْفَّ بِإِخْوَانِهِ اسْتَحْفَّ بِإِخْوَانِهِ يَا مُحَمَّدُ الحُصُصْ بِمَالِكَ وَ طَعَامِكَ مَنْ ثُخِبُهُ فِي اللّهِ جَلَّ وَ عَلَا.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqdah, from Muhammad Al Fazl Bin Ibrahim, from his father, from Ibn Abu Tafour,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is from the reverence (respect) of his religion, reverence of his brethren, and the one who takes lightly with his religion takes lightly with his brethren. O Muhammad! Specialise with your wealth and your food, the one you love for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Exalted".⁷⁴¹

42- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي ابْنُ الصَّلْتِ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ بْنِ قَيْسٍ عَنْ أَيُّوبَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْمُسْلِيِّ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ تَغْلِبَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَقْدَاهُ. قَالَ: مَنْ كَانَ وُصْلَةً لِأَخِيهِ بِشَفَاعَةٍ فِي دَفْعِ مَغْيَمٍ أَوْ جَرِّ مَغْنَم ثَبَّتَ اللّهُ قَدَمَيْهِ يَوْمَ تَرِلُّ فِيهِ الْأَقْدَامُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Ibn Al Salt, from Ibn Uqdah, from Al Mufazzal Bin Qays, from Ayoub Bin Muhammad Al Musly, from Aban Bin Taghlib,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who connects to his brother by interceding in repelling a creditor, or taking war booty, Allah^{-azwj} will Affirm his feet on the Day the feet will be slipping".⁷⁴²

Page 317 of 462

⁷³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 39

 $^{^{740}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 40

 $^{^{741}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 41

⁷⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 42

43- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ سَعِيدِ بْنِ يَزِيدَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَلَمَةَ الْأُمُويِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ الْأُمُويِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَجْدَ بْنِ السَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ صَ أَوْحَى اللهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى إِلَى دَاوُدُ إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيَانْتِينِي بِالْحُسَنَةِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ فَأُحَكِّمُهُ كِمَا فِي الجُنَّةِ عَنْ السَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ صَ أَوْحَى اللهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى إِلَى دَاوُدُ إِنَّ الْعَبْدَ لَيَانْتِينِي بِالْحُسَنَةِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ فَأَحَكِمُهُ كِمَا فِي الجُنَّةِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ahmad Bin Saeed Bin Yazeed, from Muhammad Bin Salama Al Umawy, from Ahmad Bin Al Qasim Al Umaqy, from his father,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Revealed to Dawood^{-as}: "O Dawood^{-as}! Let the servant come to Me^{-azwj} with the good deed on the Day of Qiyamah, and I^{-azwj} shall Judge him for it to be in the Paradise!"

Dawood^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! And what is this servant who will come to you with the good deed on the Day of Qiyamah, so You^{-azwj} will Judge him due to it to be in the Paradise?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "A Momin servant striving regarding a need of his Muslim brother loving to fulfil it, whether he could fulfil it for him or could not fulfil!"⁷⁴³

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}' – Al Mufassir, from Ahmad Bin Al Hassan Al Hasany,

'From Abu Muhammad Al Askari-asws, from his-asws forefathers-asws having said: 'Al-Sadiq-asws wrote to one of the people: 'If you want to end with best of your deeds until you (your soul is) captured while you are in best of the deeds, then revere to Allah-azwj of His-azwj right by not spending His-azwj Bounties in His-azwj disobedience and even if you are deceived by His-azwj Leniency about you.

And honour every one you find him mentioning us^{-asws}, and he arrogates (claims) our^{-asws} cordiality, then it isn't upon you whether he was truthful or a liar. But rather, for you is your intention and his lie is upon him''.⁷⁴⁴

⁷⁴³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 43

⁷⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 44

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq -

'In a Hadeeth of prohibitions by the Prophet^{-saww}: 'Indeed! And the one who honours his Muslim brother, so rather he has honoured Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic".⁷⁴⁵

46- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ سَعْدَانَ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ اللّهُ لَهُ أَلْفَ حَسَنَةٍ وَ مَحَا عَنْهُ أَلْفَ سَيِّئَةٍ وَ رَفَعَ لَهُ أَلْفَ دَرَجَةٍ وَ غَرَسَ لَهُ أَلْفَ شَجَرَةٍ فِي الجُنَّةِ وَكَتَبَ اللّهُ لَهُ أَلْفَ حَسَنَةٍ وَ مَحَا عَنْهُ أَلْفَ سَيِّئَةٍ وَ رَفَعَ لَهُ أَلْفَ دَرَجَةٍ وَ غَرَسَ لَهُ أَلْفَ شَجَرَةٍ فِي الجُنَّةِ وَكَتَبَ لَهُ اللّهُ لَهُ مُأْنِيَةً أَبُوابِ الجُنَّةِ يُقَالُ لَهُ الدُّحُلُ مِنْ أَيّهَا شِئْتَ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far, from Sahl, from Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Sa'dan, from Is'haq Bin Ammar who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'O Is'haq! One who performs one Tawaaf of this House (Kabah), Allah-azwj will Write for him a thousand good deeds, and Delete from him a thousand evil deeds, and Raise for him a thousand ranks, and Plant for him a thousand trees in the Paradise, and Write for him the Rewards of having freed a thousand persons, until when he comes to Al-Multazim (between the door of Kabah and the Black Stone), Allah-azwj will Open for him eight doors of the Paradise. It will be said to him: 'Enter from whichever you so desire to!'

قَالَ فَقُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ هَذَا كُلُّهُ لِمَنْ طَافَ

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! All of this for the one performs Tawaaf?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ أَ فَلَا أُخْبِرُكَ بِمَا هُوَ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ هَذَا

He-asws said: 'Yes! Shall I inform you with what is better than this?"

قَالَ قُلْتُ بَلَى

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes'.

قَالَ مَنْ قَضَى لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِن حَاجَةً كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ طَوَافاً وَ طَوَافاً حَتَّى بَلَغَ عَشْراً.

He^{-asws} said: 'One who fulfil a need for his Momin brother, Allah^{-azwj} will Write for him a Tawaaf, and a Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} reached ten''.⁷⁴⁶

47- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ عَبَّادِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ الدَّيْلَمِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُخَلَّدِ بْنِ يَزِيدَ عَنِ التُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ قَالَ: مَنْ قَضَى لِأَخِيهِ حَاجَتَهُ فَبِحَاجَةِ اللَّهِ بَدَأَ وَ قَضَى اللَّهُ لَهُ بِحَاجَةٍ فِي إِحْدَاهُنَّ الجُنَّةُ

⁷⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 45

⁷⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 46

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Abbad Bin Suleyman, from Muhammad Bin Suleyman Al Daylami, from his father, from Mukhallad, from Yazeed, from Al Sumali,

'From Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws having said: 'One who fulfils for his brother, his need, so he has begun with a need of Allah-azwj, and Allah-azwj will Fulfil one hundred needs for him due to it, one of these being the Paradise.

And one who removes a distress from his brother, Allah^{-azwj} will Remove from him distress of the Qiyamah, reaching whatever it reaches; and one who assists him against an oppressor of his, Allah^{-azwj} will Assist him upon crossing the Bridge during the slipping of the feet.

And one who strives for him regarding a need until he fulfils it for him, so he feels happy at having fulfilled it, he would be like his having entered the gladness to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}; and one who quenches him from a thirst, Allah^{-azwj} Quench him from the Sealed Nectar.

And one who feeds him from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise; and one who clothes him from bareness, Allah^{-azwj} will Clothe him from brocade and silk, and one who clothes him from non-bareness, he will not cease to be in the responsibility of Allah^{-azwj} for as long as a thread from the cloth still remains.

And one who suffices him with what he was being scorned and suffices his face (honour), and connects by his hand, Allah^{-azwj} will Make him to be served by the eternal youths; and one who carries him from his riding animal, Allah^{-azwj} will Resurrect him on the Day of Qiyamah to the pausing station upon a she-camel from the she-camels of Paradise. The Angels will boast with him.

And one who shroud him at his death, so he has clothed him from a day his mother had given him birth up to the day he died; and the one who gets him married to a wife to be comforted by her and to be tranquil to, Allah^{-azwj} Comfort him in his grace by an image of the most beloved of his family to him.

وَ مَنْ عَادَهُ عِنْدَ مَرَضِهِ حَقَّتُهُ الْمَلَاثِكَةُ تَدْعُو لَهُ حَتَّى يَنْصَرِفَ وَ تَقُولُ طِبْتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الجُنَّةُ وَ اللّهِ لَقَضَاءُ حَاجَتِهِ أَحَبُ إِلَى اللّهِ مِنْ صِيَامِ شَهْرَيْنِ مُتَنَابِعَيْن باعْتِكَافِهِمَا فِي الشَّهْرِ الحُرَام.

And one who consoles him during his illness, the Angels will surround him, supplicating for him until he leaves, and they will be saying, 'You have been good, and the Paradise is good for you'. By Allah^{-azwj}! Fulfilling his need is more Beloved to Allah^{-azwj} fasting for two months consecutively, with their isolations (in the Masjid) during the sacred month''.⁷⁴⁷

48- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ السَّعْدَآبَادِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنِ الْبُرهِيِّ عَنِ الْبُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع مَنْ سَرَّ امْرَأَ مُؤْمِناً سَرَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى مَا مَّنَى وَ يَزِيدُهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ عِنْدِهِ مَا لَمْ يَخْطُرُ عَلَى قَلْبِهِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ قِيلَ لَهُ ثَمَّ عَلَى رَبِّكَ مَا أَحْبَبْتَ فَقَدْ كُنْتَ تُحِبُّ أَنْ تَسُرَّ أَوْلِيَاءَهُ فِي دَارٍ الدُّنْيَا فَيُعْطَى مَا ثَمَنَّى وَ يَزِيدُهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ عِنْدِهِ مَا لَمْ يَخْطُرُ عَلَى قَلْبِهِ عَلَى مَلِيهِ اللَّهُ عِنْدِهِ مَا لَمْ يَخْطُرُ عَلَى قَلْبِهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى مَرِّبَكَ مَا أَحْبَبْتَ فَقَدْ كُنْتَ تُحِبُّ أَنْ تَسُرًّ أَوْلِيَاءَهُ فِي دَارٍ الدُّنْيَا فَيُعْطَى مَا ثَمَنَّى وَ يَزِيدُهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ عِنْدِهِ مَا لَمْ يَخْطُرُ عَلَى قَلْدِهِ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Asadabady, from Al Barqy, from Al Hassan Bin Ali, from Ab Hamza who said,

'One who gladdens a Muslim person, Allah^{-azwj} will Gladden him on the Day of Qiyamah, and it will be said to him: 'With to your Lord^{-azwj} whatever you love to, for you used to love to gladden His^{-azwj} friends in the house of the world!' So he will be Given whatever he wishes for and Allah^{-azwj} will Increase for him from Himself^{-azwj} what had not even occurred on his heart, from the bounties of Paradise''.⁷⁴⁸

49- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ نَصْرِ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ الْخُارِثِ بْنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنِ الْمُيْتَمِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ دَوْدَ عَنْ رَيْدِ بْنِ أَرْقَمَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَا مِنْ عَبْدٍ لَاطَفَ أَحَاهُ فِي اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِشَيْءٍ مِنَ اللَّطْفِ إِلَّا أَحْدَمَهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ حَدَمِ الجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashari, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Nasr Bin Is'haq, from Al Haris Bin Al Numan, from Al Haysam Bin Hammad, from Dawood, from Zayd Bin Arqam who said,

'There is no servant who is kind to his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} with anything from the kindness, except Allah^{-azwj} will Make him to be served by the servants of Paradise''.⁷⁴⁹

50- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ نَصْرِ بْنِ وَكِيعٍ عَنِ الرَّبِيعِ بْنِ صَبِيحٍ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ص قَالَ: مَنْ لَقِى أَحَاهُ بِمَا يَسُرُّهُ لِيَسُرَّهُ اللَّهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ مَنْ لَقِيَ أَحَاهُ بِمَا يَسُوؤُهُ لِيَسُوءَهُ سَاءَهُ اللَّهُ يَوْمَ يَلْقَاهُ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Muhammad Bin Yahya Al Ashari, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Nasr Bin Wakie, from Al Reeh Bin Sabeeh,

'Raising it to the Prophet-saww having said: 'One who meets his brother with what gladdens him, in order to gladden him, Allah-azwj will Gladden him on the Day of Qiyamah; and one who

⁷⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 47

 $^{^{748}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 48

⁷⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 49

meets his brother with what would worsen him, in order to worsen him, Allah^{-azwj} will Worsen him on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁷⁵⁰

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from Abu Muhammad Al Gaffary, from Lut Bin Is'haq, from his father, from his grandfather who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'There is no servant entering gladness upon family members of a Momin except Allah^{-azwj} will Create for him a creature from that gladness. It will come to him on the Day of Qiyamah. Every time an adversity passes upon him, it will say, 'O friend of Allah^{-azwj}, do not fear!'

He will say to it, 'Who are you? May Allah-azwj have Mercy on you! Had the world been for me, I would not view it as being anything (worthy) for you'. It will say, 'I am the gladness which you had entered upon the family of so and so''. 751

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Nahdy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ali Bin Yaqteen,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'There was a Momin man among the children of Israel, and there was a Kafir neighbour for him. He used to be kind with the Momin and did acts of kindness with him in the world.

When the Kafir died, Allah^{-azwj} Build a house of clay for him in the Fire. So it saved him from its heat, and the sustenance came to him from somewhere else, and it was said to him, 'This is due to what kindness you used to enter upon your so and so Momin neighbour and had done from the acts of kindness in the world".⁷⁵²

53– ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي وَلَّادٍ عَنْ مُيَسِّرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ مِنْكُمْ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ لَيَمُوُ بِهِ الرَّجُلُ لَهُ الْمَعْرِفَةُ بِهِ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَ قَدْ أُمِرَ بِهِ إِلَى النَّارِ وَ الْمَلَكُ يَنْطَلِقُ بِهِ

 $^{^{750}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 50

 $^{^{751}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 51

⁷⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 52

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Wallad, from Muyassir,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin from you on the Day of Qiyamah will be passed by the man having done an act of kindness with him in the world, and he would have been Commanded with to the Fire, and the Angel will be going with him'.

He^{-asws} said: 'He will say to him, 'O so and so, help me, for I used to do the act of kindness to you in the world, and I had helped you regarding the need you had sought from me. Is there any reciprocation for you today?'

The Momin will say to the Angel allocated with him, ' (Please) Free his way!"

He^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} will Hear the words of the Momin, and He^{-azwj} will Command the Angel to allow the word of the Momin and free his way".⁷⁵³

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' - Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ahmad Bin Is'haq, from Bakr Bin Muhammad,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A Muslim will not fulfil a need of a Muslim except Allah^{-azwj} will Call out to him: "Upon Me^{-azwj} are your Rewards, and I^{-azwj} will not be Satisfied for you with less than the Paradise". ⁷⁵⁴

55 - ص، قصص الأنبياء عليهم السلام بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى الصَّدُوقِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي الخُطَّابِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ مُقَرِّنٍ إِمَامٍ بَنِي فِتْبَانٍ عَمَّنْ رَوَى عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي الخُطَّابِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ مُقَرِّنٍ إِسَّفَاعَةِ عَبْدٍ صَالِحٍ فَتُوفِيِّ فِي يَوْمٍ الْمَلِكُ الْجَبُّدُ الصَّالِحُ فَقَامَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عِ قَالَ: كَانَ فِي رَمَنِ مُوسَى ع مَلِكُ جَبَّارٌ قَضَى حَاجَةَ مُؤْمِنٍ بِشَفَاعَةِ عَبْدٍ صَالِحٍ فَتُوفِيِّ فِي يَوْمٍ الْمَلِكُ الْجَبُّدُ الصَّالِحُ فَقَامَ عَلْ الْمَلِكِ النَّاسُ وَ أَغْلِقُوا أَبْوَابَ السُّوقِ لِمَوْتِهِ ثَلَاثُةَ أَيَّامٍ وَ بَقِيَ ذَلِكَ الْعَبْدُ الصَّالِحُ فِي بَيْتِهِ وَ تَنَاوَلَتْ دَوَابُ الْأَرْضِ مِنْ وَجْهِهِ

(The book) 'Qasas Al Anbiya^{-as}', may the greetings be upon them^{-asws} – by the chain to Al Sadouq, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Muqarrin, a prayer leader of the clan of Futyan, from the one who reported it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'There was a tyrannous king in the era of Musa^{-as}. He had fulfilled a need of a Momin due to the intercession of a righteous servant. The tyrannous king and the righteous servants both died in one day. The people stood upon (funeral of) the king

 $^{^{753}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 53

⁷⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 54

and they locked doors of the markets at his death for three days, and that righteous servant stayed in his house (unattended). The vermin of the earth ate from his face.

Musa^{-as} saw him after three (days). He^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! He (the king) is Your^{-azwj} enemy and this one is your friend!'

Allah^{-azwj} Revealed to him: 'O Musa^{-as}! My^{-azwj} friend has asked this tyrant for a need and he had fulfilled it, so I^{-azwj} Reciprocated on behalf of the Momin and I^{-azwj} Caused insects of the earth to prevail upon the goodness of the face of the Momin due to his having asked that tyrant (for a need)".⁷⁵⁵

(The book) 'Qasas Al Anbiya^{-as}', may the greetings be upon them^{-as} – by the chain to Al Sadouq, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ali Al Shairy, from Muhammad Bin Qays,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Revealed to Musa^{-as}: "From My^{-azwj} servants is one who draws closer to Me^{-azwj} with the good deeds, I^{-azwj} Judge for him to be in the Paradise!"

قَالَ وَ مَا تِلْكَ الْحُسَنَةُ

He^{-as} said: 'And what is that good deed?'

قَالَ تَمْشِي فِي حَاجَةِ مُؤْمِن.

He^{-azwj} Said: "Walking regarding a need of a Momin!"⁷⁵⁶

(The book) 'Qasas Al Anbiya^{-as}', may the greetings be upon them^{-as} – By the chain to Al Sadouq, from his father, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Ibn Sinan, from Ibn Muskan,

 $^{^{755}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 55

⁷⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 56

'From Al-Reza^{-asws} and from Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Among what Allah^{-azwj} had Whispered to Musa^{-as}, He^{-azwj} Said: 'There are servants for me, I^{-azwj} shall Legalise My^{-azwj} Paradise for them and Judge for them to be in it!"

Musa^{-as} said: 'Who are they, the one You^{-azwj} will Legalise Your^{-azwj} Paradise for and You^{-azwj} will Judge them to be in it?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "The one who enters gladness unto a Momin!"'⁷⁵⁷

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – 'We are reporting, 'The creatures are dependants of Allah^{-azwj}, so the most Beloved of the creatures to Allah^{-azwj} is the one who enters gladness unto family members of a Momin, and he walks with his brother regarding his need".⁷⁵⁸

(The book) 'Misbah Al Sharia' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Shaking hands by brethren of religion, it's origin is from Love of Allah^{-azwj} for them''. ⁷⁵⁹

The Prophet-saww said: 'Two brothers in religion will not shake hands for the Sake of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic except their sins will scatter away until they both return to be like the day their mothers had given them birth (sinless).

And their love and reverence, each one to his companion, will not increase except there would be an increase for him, and their sign of being with religion of Allah^{-azwj} is that he would increase his companion from the beneficial skills which Allah^{-azwj} has Honoured him with, and

⁷⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 57

 $^{^{758}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 58

⁷⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 a

guide him to the straightness, and the satisfaction, and the contentment, and give him glad tidings with the Mercy of Allah^{-azwj} and frighten him from His^{-azwj} Punishment.

And upon the other is that he should be blessed with his guidance, and adhered with what he is calling him to, and be preached by it, and be guided with what he is guiding him to holding fast with Allah^{-azwj} and seeking Assistance with Him^{-azwj} for His^{-azwj} Inclination upon that". ⁷⁶⁰

It was said to Isa^{-as} Bin Maryam^{-as}, 'How are you^{-as} (this) morning?' He^{-as} said: 'I^{-as} do not own what I^{-as} hope for, and I^{-as} am not able (to avoid) what I^{-asws} have to beware of. I^{-as} am commanded with the obedience, Forbidden from the sins. So I^{-as} do not see any poor one poorer than me^{-as}".⁷⁶¹

And it was said to Al-Oweys Al Qarny, 'How are you?' He said, 'How can a man be when he comes to a morning and he does not know whether he will come to an evening, and when he comes to an evening, he does not know whether he will come to a morning". ⁷⁶² (Not a Hadeeth)

Abu Zarr^{-ra} said, 'I^{-asws} have become thanking my^{-ra} Lord^{-azwj} and complaining of myself^{-ra}''.⁷⁶³ (Not a Hadeeth)

And the Prophet^{-saww} said: 'One who comes to a morning and his (main) concern is other than Allah^{-azwj}, he has become from the losers, the transgressors''.⁷⁶⁴

And Luqman $^{\text{-as}}$ said: 'O my $^{\text{-as}}$ son! Do not delay the repentance for the death comes suddenly". 765

⁷⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 b

⁷⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 c

⁷⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 d

 $^{^{763}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 e

 $^{^{764}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 f

⁷⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 59 g

60- م، تفسير الإمام عليه السلام قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ إِنَّ في شِيعَتِنَا لَمَنْ يَهَبُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى لَهُ في الجِّنَانِ مِنَ الدَّرَجَاتِ وَ الْمَنَازِلِ وَ الْخَيْرَاتِ مَا [لا] يَكُونُ الدُّنْيَا وَ خَيْرًا ثُمَّا فِي جَنْبِهَا [إلَّا] كَالرَّمْلَةِ فِي الْبَادِيَةِ الْفَضْفَاضَةِ،

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) – 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Among our^{-asws} Shias would be one for whom Allah-azwj the Exalted would Endow for him in the Gardens, from the ranks and the houses and the goodness, what the world and its goodness in its sides does not happen to be except like a grain of sand in the wilderness of the desert.

فَمَا هُوَ إِلَّا أَنْ يَرَى أَخاً لَهُ مُؤْمِناً فَقِيراً فَيَتَوَاضَعَ لَهُ- وَ يُكْرِمَهُ وَ يُعِينَهُ [وَ يَمُونَهُ] وَ يَصُونَهُ عَنْ بَذْل وَجْهِهِ لَهُ، حَتَّى يَرَى الْمَلائِكَةَ الْمُؤَكِّلِينَ بِتِلْكَ الْمَنازِل وَ الْقُصُورِ [وَ] قَدْ تَضَاعَفَتْ حَتَّى صَارَتْ في الزّيَادَةِ- كَمَا كَانَ هَذَا الزَّائِدُ في هَذَا الْبَيْتِ الصَّغِيرِ- الَّذِي رَأَيْتُمُوهُ فِيمَا صَارَ إِلَيْهِ مِنْ كِبَرِهِ وَ عِظَمِهِ وَ سَعَتِهِ.

So it would not be, except that he would see a Momin brother of his, being poor, so he would be consoling to him, and honour him, and assist him, and favour him, and protect him from falling of his face (respect), until the Angels of Proximity would see those dwelling and the castles to have been Multiplied, to the extent that they would become in the increase - just as this increase in this small room – which you all saw it, in what it came to from its largeness, and its greatness, and its expansion.

فَيَقُولُ الْمَلَائِكَةُ: يَا رَبَّنَا- لَا طَاقَةَ لَنَا بِالْخِدْمَةِ في هَذِهِ الْمَنَازِل، فَأَمْدِدْنَا بأَمْلَاك يُعَاوِنُونَنَا.

So the Angels are saying, 'O our Lord-azwj! There is no strength for us regarding (building) these dwellings, so Help us with (other) Angels to be assisting us'.

فَيَقُولُ اللَّهُ: مَا كُنْتُ لِأَحْمَلَكُمْ مَا لَا تُطِيقُونَ، فَكَمْ تُرِيدُونَ مَدَداً فَيَقُولُونَ: أَلْفَ ضعْفِنَا.

Allah-azwj is Saying: "I-azwj would not Load upon you what you wouldn't be enduring. How many (Angels) are you wanting for assistance?" So they are saying, 'A thousand multiple of us'.

وَ فِيهِمْ مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ يَقُولُ أَمْلَاكُهُ: نَسْتَزِيدُ مَدَدَ أَلْف أَلْف ضِعْفِنَا وَ أَكْثَرَ مِنْ ذَلِكَ- عَلَى قَدْر قُوَّةِ لِهَانِ صَاحِبِهِمْ، وَ زِيادَةِ إِحْسَانِهِ إِلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِن.

And among them from the Momineen, would be one the Angels would be saying, 'We have to be increased for help by a thousand thousand (million) multiple, and more than that – upon a measurement of the strength of the Eman of their owners, and the increase of his favours to his Momin brother'.

فَيُمْدِدُهُمُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى بِبَلْكَ الْأَمْلَاكِ، وَ كُلَّمَا لَقِيَ هَذَا الْمُؤْمِنُ أَحَاهُ فَبَرُّهُ، زَادَهُ اللَّهُ فِي مَمَالِكِهِ وَ فِي حَدَمِهِ فِي الجُنَّةِ كَذَلِكَ.

Allah-azwj the Exalted would be Helping those Angels with that. And every time this Momin meets his brother, so he is righteous with him, Allah-azwj Increases him in his kingdom and in his servants in the Paradise, similar to that". 766

61- م، تفسير الإمام عليه السلام قَالَ عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحُسَيْنِ ع مَعَاشِرَ شِيعَتِنَا أَمَّا الجُّنَّةُ فَلَنْ تَفُوتَكُمْ سَرِيعاً كَانَ أَوْ بَطِيئاً وَ لَكِنْ تَنَافَسُوا في الدَّرَجَاتِ

⁷⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 60

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) – 'Ali^{-asws} Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} said: 'Community of our^{-asws} Shias! As for the Paradise, so it will not be lost by you all, whether you were quick (in getting there) or delayed, but you should compete regarding the ranks.

And know that the higher your ranks, the better would be your castles and houses, and buildings therein, for the best of you in responding to his Momineen brothers, and most frequent of you in consoling to their poor ones.

Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Bring one of you closer to the Paradise due to a goodly word spoken with by his Momin brother, the poor one (in his favour) – by more than a travel distance of one hundred thousand years preceding him, and even though he may be undergoing Punishment with the Fire. Therefore, do not belittle the favours done to your brethren, for soon Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted would Benefit you where nothing would be standing in that place apart from Him^{-azwj}".⁷⁶⁷

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) – *And establish the Salat and give the Zakat and perform Ruku with the Ruku performers* [2:43]. He (Imam Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) said: *And establish the Salat* [2:43] - The prescribed ones which Muhammad^{-saww} came with and establish as well the Salawaat upon Muhammad^{-saww} and his^{-saww} goodly Progeny^{-asws}, the clean ones^{-asws} - who Ali^{-asws} is their^{-asws} Chief and their^{-asws} superior.

And give the Zakat – from your wealth when you can find it, and from your bodies when required, and from your assistances when sought.

And perform Ruku with the Ruku performers – In reverence along with the revering ones to the Magnificence of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in subjugation to the Guardians^{-asws} of Allah^{-azwj} – to Muhammad^{-saww} the Prophet^{-saww} of Allah^{-azwj}, and to Ali^{-asws} the Guardian^{-asws} of Allah^{-azwj}, and to the Imams^{-asws} after them^{-asws}, being the Chiefs of the elites of Allah^{-azwj}'.

.

 $^{^{767}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 61

قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ مَنْ صَلَّى الْخُمْسَ كَفَّرَ اللّهُ عَنْهُ مِنَ الذُّنُوبِ مَا بَيْنَ كُلِّ صَلَاتَيْنِ وَ كَانَ كَمَنْ عَلَى بَابِهِ نَمَرٌ جَارٍ يَغْتَسِلُ فِيهِ خَمْسَ مَرَّاتٍ - لَا يُبْقِي عَلَيْهِ مِنَ الذُّنُوبِ شَيْئاً إِلَّا الْمُوبِقَاتِ الَّتِي هِيَ جَحْدُ النُّبُوّةِ أَو الْإِمَامَةِ أَوْ ظُلْمُ إِخْوَانِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who offers the five Salats, Allah^{-azwj} would Expiate from him, from the sins what are between every two Salats, and he would be like the one upon his door is a river. He bathes in it five times every day – and there would not remain upon him anything from the filth except for the grave sins which are – rejecting the Prophet-hood and the Imamate, or oppressing his brethren, the Momineen, or neglecting the dissimulation to the extent that he harms himself and his Momin brothers.

أَوْ تَرْكُ التَّقِيَّةِ حَتَّى يُضِرَّ بِنَفْسِهِ وَ إِخْوَانِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ وَ مَنْ أَدَّى الزَّكَاةَ مِنْ مَالِهِ طَهُرَ مِنْ ذُنُوبِهِ وَ مَنْ أَدَّى الزَّكَاةَ مِنْ بَدَنِهِ فِي دَفْعِ ظُلْمٍ قَاهِرٍ عَنْ أَخِيهِ أَوْ الضَّرَرَ الشَّدِيدَ عَلَيْهِ بِهِ قَيَّضَ اللَّهُ لَهُ فِي عَرَصَاتِ الْقِيَامَةِ مَلَاثِكَةً يَدْفَعُونَ عَنْهُ نَفَحَاتِ النِّيرَانِ وَيُخُونُهُ إِلَى مَكَلِّ الرَّمُونَ وَيَوْفُونُهُ إِلَى مَكَلِّ الرَّمُونَ وَ الرَّضُوانِ

And the one who pays the Zakat from his wealth would be cleaned from his sins. And the one who pays the Zakat from his body – in defending an injustice of a tyrant from his brother, or assisting him upon a ride of his he has fallen from, or belongings which are not safe from being damaged, or the severe harm upon him, Allah^{-azwj} would Ordain Angels for him in the plains of (the Day of) Qiyamah – who would be defending from him the scorching of the Fires, and welcoming him with the greetings of the inhabitants of the Gardens, and they would be raising him to a place of the Mercy and the (Divine) Pleasure.

وَ مَنْ أَذَى زَكَاةَ جَاهِهِ بِحَاجَةٍ يَلْتَمِسُهَا لِأَحِيهِ فَقُضِيَتْ أَوْ كَلْبٍ سَفِيهٍ يُظْهِرُ بِعَيْبٍ فَٱلْقَمَ ذَلِكَ الْكَلْبَ بِجَاهِهِ حَجَراً بَعَثَ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ فِي عَرَصَاتِ الْقِيَامَةِ مَلَائِكَةً عَدَداً كَثِيراً وَ جَمَّا غَفِيراً لَا يَعْلَمُ عَدَدَهُمْ إِلّا اللّهُ يَحْسُنُ فِيهِ بِحَصْرَةِ الْمَلِكِ الْجُبَّارِ الْكَرِيمِ الْغَفَّارِ مَحَاضِرُهُمْ وَ يَجْمُلُ فِيهِ قَوْلُمُمْ وَ يَكُثُرُ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ أَنْ مَعْلَمُ عَدَدَهُمْ إِلَّا اللّهُ يَحْسُنُ فِيهِ بِحَصْرَةِ الْمَلِكِ الْجُبَّارِ الْكَرِيمِ الْغَفَّارِ مَحَاضِرُهُمْ وَ يَجْمُلُ فِيهِ قَوْلُمُمْ وَ يَكُثُلُ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ أَنْ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ أَنْ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ عَلَيْهِ لَا اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ اللّهَ عَلَيْهِ ثَنَاؤُهُمْ وَ عَلَيْهِ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ فَيْعَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَالِهُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَالِهُمْ وَ يَكُثُونُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهُ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهُ فَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ فَلْتُهُمْ وَ يَكُمُلُونُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيْعُلُمُ عَلَيْهِ فَلَامُ عَلَيْهِ فَيْكُمُ عَلَيْهِ فَيَعْمُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ فَيْعَلَمُ عَلَيْهِ فَيْعِلَمُ عَل

And the one who pays the Zakat of his influence – by a need sought for his brother, so he fulfils it for him (by using his influence), or a foolish dog exposing him during his absence – so he pelts that dog by stones – Allah^{-azwj} would Send Angels upon him, in the plains of the (Day of the) Qiyamah, of a great number and myriads of them, their number not known except to Allah^{-azwj}, orating him in the Presence of the King, the Compeller, the Benevolent, the Forgiver, for the proceedings – and they would beautify their words regarding him, and frequent their praises upon him, and Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Obligate for him, with every word from that – what is more than the kingdom of the world in its entirety, one hundred thousand times over.

وَ مَنْ تَوَاضَعَ مَعَ الْمُتَوَاضِعِينَ فَاعْتَرَفَ بِبُبُؤَةِ مُحَمَّدٍ ص وَ وَلَايَةِ عَلِيٍّ وَ الطَّيِينَ مِنْ آلِيمْ ثُمَّ تَوَاضَعَ لِإِحْوَانِهِ وَ بَسَطَهُمْ وَ آنَسَهُمْ كُلَّمَا ازْدَادَ بِعِمْ بِرَّا ازْدَادَ بِعِمْ اسْتِينَاساً وَ تَوَاضُعاً بَاهَى اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بهِ كِرَامَ مَلَائِكَتِهِ مِنْ حَمَلَةِ عَرْشِهِ وَ الطَّائِفِينَ بهِ

And the one who humbles along with the humbles ones, so he acknowledges with the Prophet-hood of Muhammad^{-saww}, and Wilayah of Ali^{-asws} and the goodly ones from their^{-asws} Progeny^{-asws}, then humbles to his brethren and generous to them and is affectionate to them, every time he increase the righteousness with them, he increases for them affection and humbleness, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Glorifies him with the prestigious ones of His^{-azwj} Angels – from the bearers of His^{-azwj} Throne and the performers of the Tawaaf with it.

He^{-azwj} Says to them: "Are you not seeing this servant of mine – the one humbled to the Majesty of My^{-azwj} Magnificence, equalising his own self with his brother Momin, the poor, and extends (generosity) to him? He does not increase righteousness with him except it increases the humbleness for him.

I^{-azwj} Keep you as witnesses that I^{-azwj} have Obligated My^{-azwj} Gardens for him, and My^{-azwj} Pleasure from My^{-azwj} Mercy, what the wishes of the wishing ones would fall short of. And I^{-azwj} shall Increase for him, from Muhammad^{-saww} the chief of the living beings, and from Ali^{-asws} Al-Murtaza, and from the best of his^{-asws} offspring, the lanterns in the darkness, (increase for him) the affections and the Blessings in My^{-azwj} Gardens, and that would be more beloved to him than the Bliss of the Gardens, and even if it was multiplied by a million times, as a Recompense upon his humbleness to his Momin brother". ⁷⁶⁸

Tafseer of the Imam^{-asws} (Hassan Al-Askari^{-asws}) – Words of the Mighty and Majestic: **And** establish the Salat and give the Zakat, and whatever you are sending ahead for yourselves from goodness, you will find it in the Presence of Allah; Allah Sees what you are doing [2:110].

The Imam (Hassan Al-Askari-asws) said: 'And establish the Salat – by completing its Wudu, and its Takbeers, and its standings, and its recitations, and its Rukus, and its Sajdas, and its limits. and give the Zakat – to its deserving one, not giving it to a Kafir, nor a hypocrite.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The giver of charity to our^{-asws} enemies is like the thief in the *Harrum* (Sanctuary) of Allah^{-azwj} (Kaaba).

And whatever you are sending ahead for yourselves from goodness – from the wealth you are spending in obedience of Allah^{-azwj}. If there does not happen to be wealth for you, then

.

⁷⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 62

from your efforts for your *Momineen* brethren, flow the benefits to them by it, and repelling by it, the harm from them.

You will find it in the Presence of Allah – Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted will Benefit you all by the virtue of Muhammad^{-saww}, and Ali^{-asws}, and their^{-asws} Progeny^{-asws} on the Day of Judgment. So, He^{-azwj} will Delete your evil deeds by it and He^{-azwj} would Multiply your good deeds by it, and He^{-azwj} will Raise your levels by it. Thus, He^{-azwj} Said: '**you will find it in the Presence of Allah**.

Allah Sees what you are doing [2:110] – A Knower. There isn't anything concealed from Him^{azwj} – neither an apparent deeds nor a hidden conscience. So, He^{-azwj} would be Recompensing you upon a reckoning of your beliefs and your intentions. And it isn't that He^{-azwj} is like a king of the world which some of them are pretending upon, so he ends up linking a deed of some of them to other than its performer, and a crime of some of them to other than its perpetrator. His reward and his punishment are by his ignorance with was pretended upon him, with other than its deserving one.

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Servants of Allah^{-azwj}! Obey Allah^{-azwj} in fulfilling the Prescribed Salats, and the Imposed Zakat, and draw closer to Allah^{-azwj} after that with optional (acts of) obedience, for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Magnify the Rewards due to it.

By the One^{-azwj} Who Sent Me^{-azwj} as a Prophet^{-saww}! If a servant from the servants of Allah^{-azwj} pauses on the Day of Judgment at a juncture, there would come out to him a flame from the fire, greater than the entirety of the mountains of the world, to the extent that there would not happen to be a barrier between it and him.

While he would be like that, having been confused, when there would come flying from the air, a loaf of bread or a grain, which he had extended with it to a Momin brother upon addition to it. So it would descend around him and would become like a great mountain, circling

around him, blocking that flame from him. Thus, he would not be affected by anything from its heat or its smoke, up to him entering the Paradise.

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-azwj}! And to this extent is the benefit of his consoling to his Momin brother?'

فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص إِي وَ الَّذِي بَعَثَنِي بِالْحُقِّ نَبِيّاً إِنَّهُ لَيَنْتَفِعُ بَعْضُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ بِأَعْظَمَ مِنْ هَذَا وَ رُبَّكَا جَاءَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ مَنْ ثَمَّكُلُ هُ سَيِّنَاتُهُ وَ اِسَانِهِ فَيَتَحَيَّرُ وَ يَحْتَاجُ إِلَى إِخْوَانِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ وَ هِيَ الَّتِي تَعْظُمُ وَ تَتَضَاعَفُ فَتَمْتَلِئُ كِمَا صَحَائِفُهُ وَ تَفَرَّقُ حَسَنَاتُهُ عَلَى خُصَمَائِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ الْمُظْلُومِينَ بِيَدِهِ وَ لِسَانِهِ فَيَتَحَيَّرُ وَ يَحْتَاجُ إِلَى حَسَنَاتٍ ثُوَازِي سَيِّعَاتِهِ

Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Yes, by the One^{-azwj} Who Sent me^{-saww} with the Truth as a Prophet^{-saww}! It would benefit some of the consoler by greater than this. And perhaps someone would come on the Day of Judgment one for whom his sins, and his good deeds, and his consoling to his Momineen brother would be resembled for him, and it is which would be greater and much more. His parchment would be filled with it and there would be a separation of his good deeds to his adversaries (among the) Momineen – the ones oppressed by his hand and his tongue. So he would be confused and be needy to the good deeds to counter his evil deeds.

A Momin brother of his would come to him —whom he had done a favour to in the world, and he would be saying to him, 'I have gifted to you the entirety of my good deeds, in the face of what was from you to me in the world'.

Therefore, Allah^{-azwj} would Forgive (his sins) for him due to it, and He^{-azwj} would be Saying to the Momin: "So you, with what would you be entering My^{-azwj} Paradise?"

He would be saying, 'By Your^{-azwj} Mercy, O Lord^{-azwj}!' Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would be Saying: "You have been generous upon him with the entirety of your good deeds, and We^{-azwj} are foremost with the Generosity and the Benevolence than you are! I^{-azwj} have Accepted these from your brother, and have Returned them upon you, and Doubled it for you!"

So he would be from the most meritorious ones of the inhabitants of the Gardens". 769

-

⁷⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 63

64- جا، المجالس للمفيد عُمُرُ بْنُ مُحُمَّدٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ بْنِ هَمَّامٍ عَنِ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنِ الْخُستَيْنِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنِ السَّمَ عَنِ الْحُوثُةِ يَقْضِي بَعْضُهُمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ فَبِقَضَاءٍ بَعْضِهِمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ يَقْضِي اللَّهُ حَوَائِجَهُمْ يَوْمَ الصَّادِقِ عَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِخْوَةٌ يَقْضِي بَعْضُهُمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ فَبِقَضَاءٍ بَعْضِهِمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ يَقْضِي اللَّهُ حَوَائِجَهُمْ يَوْمَ الْقِيفِي اللَّهُ حَوَائِجَهُمْ يَوْمَ الْقِيفِي اللَّهُ عَرَائِجَهُمْ اللَّهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَقَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِخْوَةٌ يَقْضِي بَعْضُهُمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ فَبِقَضَاءٍ بَعْضِهِمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ اللَّهُ عَرَائِجَ بَعْضٍ اللَّهُ عَرَائِجَ بَعْضٍ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْكُونَ إِنْ إِنْكِيمُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَقَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِخْوَةٌ يَقْضِي بَعْضُهُمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ فَبِقَضَاءٍ بَعْضِهِمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ يَوْمُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُو اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُولِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَيْمِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَقَالَ قَالَ وَالْوَيْمَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ إِنْ إِلَيْكُولِ عَلْمَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَى اللَّهُمْ عَلَالِكُ عَلْمُ عَلَيْعَ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُولُ اللَّهُ عَلْمُولُولُولُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُولُولُولُولِهُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُولُولِهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُولِهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُولِهُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُولُكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُ

(The book) 'Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Umar Bin Muhammad, from Muhammad Bin Hammam, from Al Himeyri, from Muhammad Bin Isa Al Ashari, from Abdullah Bin Ibrahim, from Al-Husayn Bin Zayd,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momineen are brothers. They fulfil needs of each other. So, by their fulfilling needs of each other, Allah^{-azwj} will Fulfil their needs on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁷⁷⁰

65- مكا، مكارم الأخلاق عَنْ أَبِي الحُسَنِ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: مَنْ لَمْ يَسْتَطِعْ أَنْ يَصِلَنَا فَلْيَصِلْ فَقَرَاءَ شِيعَتِنَا وَ مَنْ لَمْ يَسْتَطِعْ أَنْ يَزُورَ قُبُورَنَا فَلْيَرُرْ قُبُورَ صُلَحَاءِ إِخْوَانِنَا.

(The book) 'Makarim Al Akhlaq' -

'From Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'One who is unable to connect with us^{-asws}, let him connect with our^{-asws} poor Shias, and one who is unable from visiting our^{-asws} graves, let him visit graves of our^{-asws} righteous brethren''.⁷⁷¹

And from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The charity is with ten (multiple of Rewards), and the loan (given) is with eighteen (multiple of Rewards) and connecting (helping) the brethren is with twenty (multiple of Rewards), and maintaining the kinship is with twenty-four (multiple of Rewards)".⁷⁷²

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Walking by the Muslim regarding a need of the Muslim is better than performing seventy Tawaaf of the Sacred House (Kabah)''.⁷⁷³

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The Momin is a brother of the Momin, and his eyes, and his guide. He neither betrays him nor abandons him''.⁷⁷⁴

⁷⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 64

⁷⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 65 a

⁷⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 65 b

 $^{^{773}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 66

⁷⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 67 a

وَ قَالَ عِ الْمُؤْمِنُ بَرِّكَةٌ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ.

And he-asws said: 'The Momin is a Blessing upon the Momin'.'.775

و قال ع مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُدْخِلُ بَيْتَهُ مُؤْمِنَيْنِ فَيُطْعِمُهُمَا شِبَعَهُمَا إِلَّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِنْقِ نَسَمَةٍ وَ مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُقْرِضُ مُؤْمِناً يَلْتَمِسُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ إِلّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِنْقِ نَسَمَةٍ وَ مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُقْرِضُ مُؤْمِناً يَلْتَمِسُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ إِلّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِنْقِ نَسَمَةٍ وَ مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُقْرِضُ مُؤْمِناً يَلْتَمِسُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ إِلّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِنْقِ نَسَمَةٍ وَ مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُقْرِضُ مُؤْمِناً يَلْتَمِسُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ إِلَّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِنْقِ نَسَمَةٍ وَ مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ يُعْرِضُ مُؤْمِناً يَلْتَمِسُ بِهِ وَجْهَ اللّهِ إِلَّا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَنْ مَلْ إِنْ اللّهِ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ اللّهِ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ عَلَيْهِ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ اللّهِ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ اللّهِ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّٰ إِلّ

And he-asws said: 'There is none from a Momin, two Momineen enter his house so he feeds them, satiating them, except that will be better than liberating a person; and there is none from a Momin lending to a Momin, seeking by it the Face of Allah-azwi, except Allah-azwi will Calculate his Recompense for him by a calculation of the charity (given).

And there is none from a Momin walking to his brother regarding a need except Allah^{-azwj} will Write a good deed being for him for every step, and Drop an evil deed for him, and Raise a rank for him due to it, and Increase after that by ten good deeds, and he will be interceded for regarding ten needs.

And there is none from a Momin supplicating for his brother in his absence, except Allah^{-azwj} will Allocated an Angel with him saying, 'And for you is similar to that'; and there is none from a Momin removing distress from his brother, except Allah^{-azwj} will Relieve his distress from him in the Hereafter.

And there is none from a Momin assisting an oppressed Momin, except there would be for him better than fasting a month, and his isolating in the Sacred Masjid; and there is none from a Momin helping his brother, and (although) he is able upon helping him, except Allah^{-azwj} will Help him in the world and the Hereafter".⁷⁷⁶

And he^{-asws} said: 'There is none from a Momin abandoning his brother while he is able upon helping him, except Allah^{-azwj} will Abandon him in the world and the Hereafter''.⁷⁷⁷

⁷⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 67 b

 $^{^{776}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 67 c

⁷⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 67 d

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'A Muslim will not fulfil a need of a Muslim except Allah^{-azwj} Calls out to him: 'Your Rewards are upon Me^{-azwj}, and I^{-azwj} will not be Satisfied for you with less than the Paradise''.⁷⁷⁸

And from the book 'Qaza Al Huqouq' of Abu Ali Bin Tahir Al Sowry who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Assists the Momin for as long as the Momin is in assistance of his Momin brother; and the one who removes from his Momin brother a distress from distresses of the world, Allah^{-azwj} will Remove from him seventy distresses from distresses of the Hereafter''.⁷⁷⁹

And he^{-saww} said: 'The most beloved of deeds to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is a Momin entering gladness unto a Momin, repelling hunger from him or removing a distress from him''.⁷⁸⁰

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'What is upon one of you if he can achieve the good, all of it with the little?'

The reporter said, 'I said, 'With what is that (achieved)? May I be sacrificed for you-asws!'

He^{-asws} said: 'He gladdens us^{-asws} by entering the gladness unto the Momineen from our^{-asws} Shias''.⁷⁸¹

⁷⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 68

⁷⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 a

 $^{^{780}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 b

⁷⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 c

And from him^{-asws} in a lengthy Hadeeth, said in its end: 'When the man knows that his Momin brother is needy, but he does not give him anything until he asks him, then he gives him, he will not be Rewarded upon it".⁷⁸²

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'Your best one are your pardoning ones, and your evils ones are your misers; and from the righteous deeds is the righteousness with the brethren, and the striving regarding their needs, for in that is degradation for the Satan^{-la}, and removal from the fires, and entry into the Gardens. Inform your resplendent companions with this'.

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Who are the resplendent from my companions? May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}!'

He^{-asws} said: 'They are the ones righteous with the brethren in the difficulty and the ease". ⁷⁸³

And from him-asws having said: 'One who walks regarding a need of his Momin brother, Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic will Write for him ten good deeds, and Raise for him ten ranks, and Drop off him ten evil deeds, and Five him ten intercessions''.⁷⁸⁴

And he^{-asws} said: 'Be eager upon fulfilling needs of the Momineen, and entering gladness upon them, and repelling the abhorrence(s) from them, for there isn't anything from the deeds in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, after the Eman, better than entering the gladness upon the Momineen''.⁷⁸⁵

And from Al Baqir^{-asws}, one of his^{-asws} companions said to him^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! The Shias are numerous with us!'

⁷⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 d

⁷⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 e

 $^{^{784}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 f

⁷⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 g

He^{-asws} said: 'Is the rich compassionate upon the poor, and does the good doer overlook from the evil doer, and are they consoling each other?'

قُلْتُ لَا

I said, 'No'.

قَالَ ع لَيْسَ هَؤُلَاءِ الشِّيعَةَ الشِّيعَةُ مَنْ يَفْعَلُ هَكَذَا.

He-asws said: 'They aren't the Shias! The Shia is the one who acts like this'.' 786

وَ قَالَ الْكَاظِمُ عَ مَنْ أَتَاهُ أَحُوهُ الْمُؤْمِنُ فِي حَاجَةٍ فَإِنَّمَا هِيَ رَهُمَّةٌ مِنَ اللهِ سَاقَهَا إِلَيْهِ فَإِنْ فَعَلَ ذَلِكَ فَقَدْ وَصَلَهُ بِوَلَايَتِنَا وَ هِيَ مَوْصُولَةٌ بِوَلَايَةِ اللهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ وَ إِنْ رَدَّهُ عَنْ حَاجَتِهِ وَ هُوَ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهَا فَقَدْ ظَلَمَ نَفْسَهُ وَ أَسَاءَ إِلَيْهَا.

And Al-Kazim^{-asws} said: 'One whom his Momin brother comes to him regarding a need, so rather it is a Mercy from Allah^{-azwj} having Ushered him to him. If he were to do that, so he has connected to him with our^{-asws} Wilayah, and it is connected with Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and if he were to return him from his need (empty handed) while he is able upon it, so he has been unjust to himself as worsened it''.⁷⁸⁷

وَ قَالَ رَجُلٌ مِنْ أَهْلِ الرَّيِ وُلِّيَ عَلَيْنَا بَعْضُ كُتَّابِ يَحْيَى بْنِ حَالِدٍ وَ كَانَ عَلَيَّ بَقَايَا يُطَالِبُنِي بِمَا وَ خِفْتُ مِنْ إِلْزَامِي إِيَّاهَا حُرُوجاً عَنْ نِعْمَتِي وَ قِيلَ لِي إِنَّهُ يَنْتَجارُ هَذَا الْمَذْهَبَ

And a man from the people of Al Rayy said,

'One of the scribes of Yahya Bin Khalid was governor upon us, and there was a remainder (of dues) remaining upon me. He sought me for it, and I feared from my being compelled to extract it from my bounties, and it was said to me, 'He is arrogating this doctrine'.

فَخِفْتُ أَنْ أَمْضِيَ إِلَيْهِ وَ أَمُتَّ بِهِ إِلَيْهِ فَلَا يَكُونَ كَذَلِكَ فَأَقَعَ فِيمَا لَا أُحِبُّ فَاجْتَمَعَ رَأْبِي عَلَى أَنْ هَرَبْتُ إِلَى اللّهِ تَعَالَى وَ حَجَجْتُ وَ لَقِيتُ مَوْلَايَ الصَّابِرَ يَعْنَى مُوسَى بْنَ جَعْفَر ع فَشَكَوْتُ حَالِي إِلَيْهِ فَأَصْحَبَنى مَكْتُوباً نُسْحَتُهُ-

I feared to go to him and seek a means to him by it, for that might not be like that. I thought regarding what I did not like. I gathered my view upon that I should flee to Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, and I performed Hajj and met my Master^{-asws}, the patient, meaning Musa Bin Ja'far^{-asws}. I complained to him^{-asws} of my situation. He^{-asws} accompanied (gave) me a letter. It's copy is: -

يِسْمِ اللّهِ الرَّحْمِنِ الرَّحِيمِ اعْلَمْ أَنَّ لِلّهِ تَحْتَ عَرْشِهِ ظِلًا- لَا يَسْكُنُهُ إِلّا مَنْ أَسْدَى إِلَى أَخِيهِ مَعْرُوفاً أَوْ نَفَّسَ عَنْهُ كُرْبَةً أَوْ أَدْحَلَ عَلَى قَلْبِهِ سُرُوراً وَ هَذَا أَخُوكَ وَ السَّلَامُ

 $^{^{786}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 h

⁷⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 i

In the name of Allah^{-azwj} the Beneficent, the Merciful! Know that there is a shade for Allah^{-azwj} beneath His^{-azwj} Throne. No one will settle in it except the one who does an act of kindness to his brother, or removes a distress from him, or enters gladness into his heart, and this one is your brother. And the greetings!"

He (the narrator) said, 'I returned from Hajj to my city and went to the man at night and sought permission to see him, and I said, 'A messenger of the patient one^{-asws}!' He came out to me walking bare-footed. He opened his door for him and kissed me, and hugged me to him, and went on to kiss between my eyes, and kept repeating that every time he asked me about having seen him^{-asws}, and every time I informed him of his^{-asws} being safe and correctness of his^{-asws} situations, he smiled and thanked Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted.

Then he entered me into his house and had me seated in his seat and he sat in front of me. I brought out his-asws letter to him. He kissed it standing up and read it. Then he called for his wealth and his garments. He apportioned for me Dinar by Dinar, and Dirham by Dirham, and garment by garment, and gave me the value of what was not possible to divide it, and during every thing from that he was saying, 'O my brother, have I gladdened you?' I was saying, 'Yes, by Allah-azwj', and the gladness was increased upon me.

The he called the office-bearer and dropped off whatever was with my name, and gave me a pass from what had been obligated upon me from it, and I bade farewell to him and left from him.

I said (to myself), 'I am not able upon reciprocating this man except if I were to perform Hajj next year and supplicate for him, and I meet the patient one^{-asws} and let him^{-asws} know of his actions'.

I did so and met my Master^{-asws} the patient one^{-asws} and went on to narrate to him^{-asws}, and his^{-asws} face was beaming with happiness. I said, 'O my Master^{-asws}! Has that gladdened vou^{-asws}?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, by Allah^{-azwj}! It has gladdened me^{-asws} and gladdened Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}! By Allah^{-azwj}! It has gladdened Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! By Allah^{-azwj}! It has Gladdened Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted!''⁷⁸⁸

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'And Al-Kazim^{-asws} said to Ali Bin Yaqteen: 'One who gladdens a Momin, so he has begun with Allah^{-azwj}, and with the Prophet^{-saww} secondly, and with us^{-asws} thirdly'.

And he^{-asws} said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} there is a good deed having been treasured for three – a just Imam^{-asws}, and a Momin having decided (apportioned for) his brother in his wealth, and one who strives for his Momin brother regarding his need".⁷⁸⁹

And by his chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said to Kumeyl Bin Ziyad: 'O Kumeyl! Instruct your people to be striving regarding the noble manners and strive regarding needs of the ones sleeping (at night).

By the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is my^{-asws} soul! No one will enter gladness unto the heart of a Momin except Allah^{-azwj} will Create from that gladness a nicety. Whenever a trouble descends with him, it would be quicker to it than the torrent is in its rolling down until it repels it away from him, just as the strange camel is repelled".⁷⁹⁰

(The book) 'Kashf Al Ghumma' - Al Hafiz Abdul Aziz said, 'It is reported by Muhammad Bin Mujeeb,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} grandfather^{-asws} raising it, said: 'There is no Momin entering gladness unto a people, except Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted will Create an Angel from that gladness and it will glorify Him^{-azwj} and extoll His^{-azwj} Oneness.

⁷⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 69 j

 $^{^{789}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 70 a

⁷⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 70 b

When the Momin comes to be in his grave, the gladness which he had entered upon (the people) will come to him. It will say, 'Don't you recognise me?' He will say, 'And who are you?'

It will say, 'I am the gladness which you had entered me unto so and so. Today, I shall comfort your loneliness, and indoctrinate your argument, and affirm you with the firm word, and I shall attend with you the places of Al-Qiyamah, and I shall intercede for you to your Lord^{-azwj}, and I will show you your house from the Paradise". ⁷⁹¹

And from the book 'Qaza Al Hugoug' – from Ibn Mihran who said,

'I was seated in the presence of my Master Al-Husayn^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws}. A man came to him^{-asws}. He said, 'O son^{-asws} of Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! There is money owed to so and so upon me, and he wants to imprison me!'

He^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! There is no wealth in my^{-asws} possession I^{-asws} pay it off on your behalf'.

قَالَ فَكَلِّمْهُ

He said, 'Speak to him!'

He^{-asws} said: 'There is no friendship for me^{-asws} with him, but I^{-asws} heard my^{-asws} father^{-asws} Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who strive regarding a need of his Momin brother, rather it is as if he has worshipped Allah^{-azwj} for nine thousand years, fasting its days, standing (in Salat) its nights''.⁷⁹²

And by his chain,

 $^{^{791}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 71

⁷⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 a

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Selected a people from His^{-azwj} creatures to fulfil needs of the Shias so that He^{-azwj} can Reward them with the Paradise upon that''.⁷⁹³

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'There is none from a Momin going to his Momin brother regarding a need and advises him regarding it, except Allah^{-azwj} will Write a good deed being for him for every step taken, and Delete an evil deed from him, whether the need is fulfilled or not. If he had not advised him regarding it, he has betrayed Allah^{-azwj} and His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww}, and the Prophet^{-saww} would contend him on the Day of Qiyamah".⁷⁹⁴

And by his chain, from Sadaqah Al Hulwany,

'While I was performing Tawaaf, and a man from our companions had asked me of a loan of two Dinars. I said to him, 'Be seated until I complete my Tawaaf', and I had already performed five circuits of Tawaaf.

When I was in the sixth, Abu Abdullah^{-asws} leant upon me and placed his^{-asws} hand upon my shoulder. I completed the seventh and entered into his^{-asws} Tawaaf, disliking to exit from it, and he^{-asws} leaning upon me.

Every time I passed by the man I turned, and he did not know Abu Abdullah-asws. He viewed that I was ignoring his need, so he went on to gesture to me by his hand. Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'What is the matter I-asws see this one gesturing by his hand?'

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! He is waiting until I (complete) performing Tawaaf and go out to him. When you leant upon me, I dislike to go out and leave you^{-asws}'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Go out from me^{-asws} and leave me and go and give him'.

⁷⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 b

⁷⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 c

قَالَ فَلَمَّاكَانَ مِنَ الْغَدَاةِ وَ بَعْدَهُ دَخَلْتُ عَلَيْهِ وَ هُو فِي حَدِيثٍ مَعَ أَصْحَابِهِ فَلَمَّا نَظَرَ إِلَيَّ قَطَعَ الْحَدِيثَ ثُمُّ قَالَ لَأَنْ أَسْعَى مَعَ أَخٍ لِي فِي حَاجَةٍ حَتَّى تُقْضَى أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ أَلْفَ نَسَمَةٍ وَ أَهْمِلَ عَلَى أَلْفِ فَرَس فِي سَبِيلِ اللَّهِ مُسْرَجَةٍ مُلْجَمَةٍ.

He (the narrator) said, 'When it was the morning and after it, I entered to see him^{-asws}, and he^{-asws} was in a discussion with his^{-asws} companions. When he^{-asws} looked at me, he^{-asws} cut the Hadeeth, then said: 'Because my^{-asws} striving with a brother of mine^{-asws} regarding a need until it is fulfilled is more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to liberate a thousand persons, and load (equip) upon a thousand horses in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}, saddled, reined".⁷⁹⁵

وَ بِإِسْنَادِهِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو الْحَسَن مُوسَى ع مَنْ لَمْ يَسْتَطِعْ أَنْ يَصِلْنَا فَلْيَصِلْ فُقَرَاءَ شِيعَتِنَا.

And by his chain, said,

'Abu Al-Hassan Musa-asws said 'One who is unable to connect with us-asws, let him connect with our-asws poor Shias''. 796

And the Prophet-saww said: 'The closest of what the servant can be to Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic is when he causes gladness to enter unto the heart of his Momin brother''. 797

73- نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيِّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص الْمُؤْمِنُونَ إِخْوَةٌ يَقْضِي بَعْضُهُمْ حَوَائِجَ بَعْضٍ فَيَقْضِي اللَّهُ لَهُمْ حَالِيَعَ اللَّهُ لَهُمْ حَالِيَعَ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ حَالِيَعَ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ حَالِيَعَ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ حَالِيَعَ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ حَالِيعَ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ عَلَيْ اللَّهُ لَمُمْ اللَّهِ عَنْ جَعْفُو عَنْ جَعْفُو بَنْ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ لَمُمْ اللَّهُ عَنْ جَعْفُو عَنْ جَعْفُو عَنْ جَعْفُو اللَّهِ عَالَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْ اللَّهُ عَنْ جَعْفُو اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَنْ جَعْفُو اللَّهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُمْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ عِلْمَا عَلَيْكُونُ عَلَيْكُونُ

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy, by his chain,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momineen are brethren. They fulfil each other's needs, so Allah^{-azwj} will Fulfil their needs for them''.⁷⁹⁸

And by this chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who takes responsibility for his Muslim brother of a need for him, Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted will not Look for him into his need until he fulfils the need of his Muslim brother''.⁷⁹⁹

وَ كِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ وَسُولُ اللّهِ ص مَا مِنْ عَمَلٍ أَفْضَلَ عِنْدَ اللّهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ مِنْ سُرُورٍ تُدْخِلُهُ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِ أَوْ تَطْرُدُ عَنْهُ جُوعاً أَوْ تَكْشِفُ عَنْهُ كَرْباً أَوْ تَقْضَى عَنْهُ دَيْباً أَوْ تَكْسُوهُ ثَوْباً.

 $^{^{795}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 d

⁷⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 e

⁷⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 72 f

⁷⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 73 a

⁷⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 73 b

And by this chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'There no deed superior in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic than gladness you enter unto the Momin, or repel hunger from him, or remove distress from him, or pay off debts on his behalf, or clothe him with a garment''.⁸⁰⁰

وَ بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صِ الْخَلْقُ عِيَالُ اللّهِ تَعَالَى فَأَحَبُّ الْخَلْقِ إِلَى اللّهِ مَنْ نَفَعَ عِيَالَ اللّهِ أَوْ أَدْحُلَ عَلَى أَهْلِ بَيْتٍ سُرُوراً وَ مَشْيٌّ مَعَ أَخٍ مُسْلِمٍ في حَاجَتِهِ أَحَبُّ إِلَى اللّهِ تَعَالَى مِن اعْتِكَافِ شَهْرَيْن في الْمَسْجِدِ الْحَرَامِ.

And by this chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The creatures are dependents of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted. The most Beloved of the creatures to Allah^{-azwj} is one who benefits His^{-azwj} dependent or enters gladness unto a family; and walking with a Muslim brother regarding his need is more Beloved to Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted than isolating for two months in the Sacred Masjid''.⁸⁰¹

وَ بِحَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ مَنْ أَكْرَمَ أَحَاهُ الْمُسْلِمَ بِكَلِمَةٍ يُلْطِفُهُ بِهَا وَ مَجْلِسٍ يُكْرِمُهُ بِهِ لَمْ يَزَلْ فِي ظِلِّ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مُمْدُوداً عَلَيْهِ بِالرَّهُمَّةِ مَا كَانَ فِي ذَلِكَ.

And by this chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who honours his Muslim brother with a phrase being kinds with it to him, and a seat he honour him with will not cease to be in the Shade of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Extended upon him with the Mercy for as long as he were to be in that''.⁸⁰²

74- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ هَارُونَ بْنِ مُمَيْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ صَالِحِ بْنِ النَّطَّحِ عَنِ الْمُنْذِرِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ عَنِ النَّبِيّ ص قَالَ: مَنْ أَجْرَى اللّهُ عَلَى يَدِهِ فَرَجاً لِمُسْلِمٍ فَرَّجَ اللّهُ عَنْهُ كُرَبَ الدُّنْيَا وَ الْآخِرَةِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Haroun Bin Humeyd, from Muhammad Bin Salih Bin Al Nattah, from Al Munzir Bin Ziyad, from Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan, from his father, from his grandfather,

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One whom Allah^{-azwj} Causes happiness to flow upon his hands for a Muslim, Allah^{-azwj} will Relieve from him distress of the world and the Hereafter''.⁸⁰³

75- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ صَالِحِ بْنِ فَيْضٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مَحِيسَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ يَوِيدَ عَنْ مَرْوَكِ بْنِ عُبَيْدٍ عَنْ جَبِيلِ بْنِ دَرَّاجٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللهِ ع يَقُولُ خِيَارُكُمْ سُمَحَاؤُكُمْ وَ شِرَارُكُمْ بُخَلَاؤُكُمْ وَ مِنْ حَالِصِ الْإِيمَانِ الْبِرُّ بِالْإِحْوَانِ وَ السَّعْيُ فِي حَوَائِجِهِمْ فِي الْعُسْرِ وَ الْيُسْرِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Salih Bin Fayz, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Isa, from Ahmad Bin Yazeed, from Marwak Bin Ubeyd, from Jameel Bin Darraj who said,

⁸⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 73 c

 $^{^{801}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 73 d

 $^{^{802}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 73 e

⁸⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 74

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Your best ones are your pardoning ones, and your evils ones are your misers; and from sincere Eman is the righteousness with the brethren, and the striving regarding their needs in the difficulty and the ease.

O Jameel! The righteous one is Loved by the Beneficent. Report this Hadeeth from me^{-asws} for in it is arousing regarding the righteousness".⁸⁰⁴

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ubeydullah, from Al Tal'akbury, from Muhammad Bin Ali Bin Ma'mar, from Humran Bin Al Muafy, from Hammawiya Bin Ahmad, from Ahmad Bin Isa who said,

'Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws} said to me: 'A person of need presents it to me^{-asws} so I^{-asws} rush to fulfil it fearing that he might become needless from it".⁸⁰⁵

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn in Ubeydullah, from Al Tak'akbury, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Saeed, from Yaqoub Bin Yusuf Ziyad, from Abu Junada, and Al-Husayn Bin Mukhariq,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who takes responsibility for his brother of a need, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will not Look into his need until he fulfils it''.⁸⁰⁶

78- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الحُسَيْنُ بْنُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ وَهْبَانَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ حَبَشِيٍّ عَنِ الْعَبَّاسِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ عَلَيْ بَذَلَ جَاهَهُ لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ إِلَّا حَرَّمَ اللَّهُ وَجُهَهُ عَلَى النَّارِ وَ لَمْ يَمَسَّهُ يَخْهِ وَ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ أَبِي عُنْدَرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: مَا مِنْ مُؤْمِنٍ بَذَلَ جَاهَهُ لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ إِلَّا حَرَّمَ اللَّهُ وَجُهَهُ عَلَى النَّارِ وَ لَمْ يَمَسَّهُ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Wahban, from Ali Bin Habashy, from Al Abbas Bin Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from his father, from Safwan Bin Yahya, and Ja'far Bin Isa, from Al-Husayn Bin Abu Gundar,

'There is none from a Momin who expends his power (position) for his Momin brother except Allah^{-azwj} will Prohibit his face unto the Fire, and neither deprivation nor disgrace will touch him on the Day of Qiyamah.

وَ أَنْمُا مُؤْمِنٍ بَخِلَ بِجَاهِهِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ وَ هُوَ أَوْجَهُ جَاهاً مِنْهُ إِلَّا مَسَّهُ قَتَرٌ وَ ذِلَةٌ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَ الْاَخِرَةِ وَ أَصَابَتْ وَجْهَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ لَفَحَاتُ النِّيرَانِ مُعَذَّبًا كانَ أَهُ مَغْفُه,اً لَهُ.

⁸⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 75

 $^{^{805}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 76 $\,$

⁸⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 77

And whichever Momin is stingy with his power (position) upon his Momin brother, and he is of more power (influence) than him, except deprivation and disgrace will touch him in the world and the Hereafter, and on the Day of Qiyamah his face will be hit by the flashes of fires, whether he were to be Punished or Forgiven for".⁸⁰⁷

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Wahab, from Muhammad Bin Zakariya, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Fazzal, from Ali Bin Uqbah, from Abu Kahmas,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'Which of the deeds is superior, after the recognition?'

He^{-asws} said: 'There is nothing, after the recognition, equating this Salat, nor after the recognition and the Salat is there anything equating the Zakat, nor after that is there anything equating the fasting, nor after that is there anything equating the Hajj, and all of that is opened by having our^{-asws} recognition, and is ended by our^{-asws} recognition.

And there is nothing after that magnifying the brethren and the consolation by spending the Dinars and the Dirhams, for these two are morphed rocks. Allah-azwj Tests His-azwj creatures by these two, after that which I-asws have counted for you.

And I^{-asws} have not seen anything quicker to riches and nor negating of the poverty than being habitual of the Hajj of this House (Kabah); and the Obligatory Salat equates in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} to a thousand Hajj and a thousand Umrah, accomplished, Accepted, and a Hajj in His^{-azwj} Presence is better than a house filled with gold. No, but better than the world filled with gold spend in the Way of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic.

By the One^{-azwj} Who Sent Muhammad^{-saww} with the truth as a giver of glad tidings and a warner! Fulfilling a need of a Muslim person and removing his distress is better than a Hajj, and a Tawaaf, and a Hajj, and a Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} had counted ten by his^{-asws} fingers.

٠

 $^{^{\}rm 807}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 78

ثُمُّ خَلَا يَدَهُ وَ قَالَ اتَّقُوا اللَّهَ وَ لَا تَمُّوا مِنَ الْحَيْرِ وَ لَا تَكْسَلُوا فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ رَسُولَهُ ص غَيْبَانِ عَنْكُمْ وَ عَنْ أَعْمَالِكُمْ وَ أَنْتُمُ الْفُقَراءُ إِلَى اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بُلُطْفِهِ سَبَباً يُدْخِلُكُمْ بِهِ الجُنَّةَ.

Then he^{-asws} opened his^{-asws} hand and said: 'Fear Allah^{-azwj} and do not be fed up with the good deeds, nor be lazy, for Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and His^{-azwj} Rasool^{-saww} are both needless from you all, and from your deeds, while you are poor (needy) to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and rather Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Wanted a cause for His^{-azwj} Kindness to enter you all into the Paradise due to it".⁸⁰⁸

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Al-Husayn-asws Bin Ali-asws said: 'Needs of the people to you all are bounties of Allah-azwj upon you, so do not give up on the bounties''.809

(The book) 'Dawat' of Al Rawandy -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} there are (special) servants from His^{-azwj} creatures, the (generality) of the servants can panic to them^{-asws} regarding their needs. They^{-asws} will be the secure ones on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁸¹⁰

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'Fulfilling the needs is not straight except with three – belittling it for it to be magnified, and concealing it for it to be revealed, and by hastening it for it to be pleasant".⁸¹¹

And he-asws said to Kumeyl Bin Ziyad Al-Nakhaie: 'O Kumeyl! Instruct your people to be striving regarding the noble manners and strive regarding needs of the ones sleeping (at night).

By the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is my^{-asws} soul! No one will enter gladness unto the heart of a Momin except Allah^{-azwj} will Create from that gladness a nicety. Whenever a trouble descends

⁸⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 79

 $^{^{809}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 80

 $^{^{810}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 81

⁸¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 82 a

with him, it would be quicker to it than the torrent is in its rolling down until it repels it away from him, just as the strange camel is repelled". 812

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One who honours his brother, rather he has honoured Allah^{-azwj}. So what are your thoughts of the one who honours Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, what He^{-azwj} will Do with him?''⁸¹³

And from Ibrahim Al Tameemi who said.

'I was performing Tawaaf of the Sacred House (Kaaba). Abu Abdullah^{-asws} leant upon me. He^{-asws} said: 'O Ibrahim! Shall I^{-asws} inform you what is for you regarding this Tawaaf of yours?'

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you-asws!'

He^{-asws} said: 'One who comes to this House (Kaaba) recognising its rights, so he performs Tawaaf of it, seven (circuits), and prays two Cycles Salat, Allah^{-azwj} will Write for him ten thousand good deeds and Raise for him ten thousand ranks'.

The he-asws said: 'Shall I-asws inform you with better than that?'

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you-asws!'

He^{-asws} said: 'One who fulfils a need for his Momin brother would be like the one who has performed a Tawaaf, and a Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} counted ten, and said, 'Whichever Momin

⁸¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 82 b

⁸¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 83 a

his Momin brothers asks him a need, and he is able upon fulfilling it and he does not fulfil it for him, Allah^{-azwj} will Cause a serpent to overcome upon him in his grave biting his fingers".⁸¹⁴

(The book) 'Mishkat Al Anwar' -

'Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} there are servants in the earth striving regarding needs of the people. They will be the secured ones on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁸¹⁵

85-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْتِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ زَيْدٍ الشَّحَامِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ يَقُولُ مَنْ أَغَاثَ أَخَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ اللَّهِ عَلَى كَبُوبٍ عَنْ زَيْدٍ الشَّحَامِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ يَعْجَلُ لَهُ مِنْهَا وَاحِدَةً يُصْلِحُ كِمَّا اللَّهُ عَلَى خَدَا وَ خَلَّ لَهُ بِذَلِكَ اثْنَتَيْنِ وَ سَبْعِينَ رَحْمَةً مِنَ اللَّهِ يُعَجِّلُ لَهُ مِنْهَا وَاحِدَةً يُصْلِحُ كِمَّا أَمْرَ مَعِيشَتِهِ وَ يَدَّخِرُ لَهُ إِحْدَى وَ سَبْعِينَ رَحْمَةً لِأَفْزَاع يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ أَهْوَالِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Isa, from Ibn Mahoub, from Zayd Al Shaham who said,

'One who helps his Momin brother, the grieved, gasping for breath during his struggle, so he relieves his suffering and helps him upon the success of (fulfilling) his need, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Write for him, due to that, seventy-two Mercies from Allah^{-azwj}, Making one of these as being correction by it the affairs of his life, and Hoards seventy Mercies for him for the panic of the Day of Qiyamah and its horrors''.⁸¹⁶

86-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنِ السَّكُوبِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَنْ أَعَانَ مُؤْمِناً نَفَسَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ عَنْهُ ثَلَاثاً وَ سَبْعِينَ كُرْبَةً وَاحِدَةً فِي الدُّنْيَا وَ ثِنْتَيْنِ وَ سَبْعِينَ كُرْبَةً عِنْدَ كُرِبِهِ الْغُظْمَى

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who assists a Momin, Allah⁻azwj Mighty and Majestic will Remove from him seventy-three distresses, one in the world and seventy-two during the Mighty distress (Day of Qiyamah)'.

قَالَ حَيْثُ يَتَشَاغَلُ النَّاسُ بِأَنْفُسِهِمْ.

He^{-asws} said: 'When the people will be pre-occupied with their own selves".⁸¹⁷

87-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ حُسَيْنِ بْنِ نُعَيْمٍ عَنْ مِسْمَعٍ أَبِي سَيَّارٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ يَقُولُ مَنْ نَفَسَ عَنْ مُؤْمِنٍ كُرْبَةً نَفَّسَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ كُرَبَ الْآخِرَةِ وَ حَرَجَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ وَ هُوَ تَلِجُ الْفُؤَادِ وَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَهُ مِنْ جُهِعٍ أَطْعَمَهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ إِغَارٍ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَاهُ شَرْبَةً سَقَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ الرَّحِيقِ الْمَحْتُومِ.

⁸¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 83 b

⁸¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 84

 $^{^{816}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 85

⁸¹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 86

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Husayn Bin Nueym, from Misma'a Abu Sayyar who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'The one who removes a distress from a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Remove from him distress of the Hereafter, and he will come out from his grave and he would be of a cool heart; and one who feeds him from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise; and one who quenches him a drink, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar''.⁸¹⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla, from Al Washa,

'From Al-Reza^{-asws} having said: 'One who relieves from a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Relieve his heart on the Day of Qiyamah''. 819

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al-Hassan Bin Mahboub, from Jameel Bin Salih, from Zareh who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah-asws saying: 'Whichever Momin relieves a suffering from a Momin and he is insolvent, Allah-azwj would Ease his needs for him in the world and the Hereafter'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And the one who veils upon a Momin an exposure which he fears, Allah^{-azwj} would Veil seventy exposures from the exposures of the world and the Hereafter. And Allah^{-azwj} Assists upon the Momin what the Momin was in assisting his brother, therefore benefit yourselves with the advice and be desiring regarding the goodness''.⁸²⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Bakkar Bin Kardam, from Al Mufazzal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said: 'He^{-asws} said to me: 'O Mufazzal! Listen to what I^{-asws} am saying to you, and know that it is the truth, and do it (yourself) and inform your brothers of the high standing'.

⁸¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 87

 $^{^{819}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 88

⁸²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 89

قُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ وَ مَا عِلْيَةُ إِخْوَانِي

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! And what are my brothers of 'high standing'?'

قَالَ الرَّاغِبُونَ فِي قَضَاءِ حَوَائِج إِخْوَانِهِمْ

He^{-asws} said: 'Those who are desirous in fulfilling the needs of their brethren'.

قَالَ ثُمُّ قَالَ وَ مَنْ قَضَى لِأَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ حَاجَةً قَضَى اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ مِائَةَ أَلْفِ حَاجَةٍ مِنْ ذَلِكَ أَوَّلُمَا الجُنَّةُ وَ مِنْ ذَلِكَ أَنْ يُدْخِلَ قَرَابَتَهُ وَ مَعَارِفَهُ وَ إِخْوَانَهُ الجُنَّةَ بَعْدَ أَنْ لَا يَكُونُوا نُصَّاباً

He (the narrator) said, 'Then he^{-asws} said: 'And the one who fulfils a need of his Momin brother, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Fulfil for him a hundred thousand needs of the Day of Qiyamah – from that the first one is the Paradise, and from that is that he would enter his relatives and his acquaintances, and his brethren into the Paradise, after (it is clarified) that they do not happen to be Hostile ones (*Nasibis*)'.

وَ كَانَ الْمُفَضَّلُ إِذَا سَأَلَ الْحَاجَةَ أَخاً مِنْ إِخْوَانِهِ قَالَ لَهُ أَ مَا تَشْتَهِي أَنْ تَكُونَ مِنْ عِلْيَةِ الْإِخْوَانِ.

And it was so that whenever Al-Mufazzal (the narrator) asked for a need from a brother from his brethren, said to him, 'Do you not desire that you happen to be from the brethren of high standing?''821

91-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ قَالَ حَدَّنَنِي حَالِدُ بْنُ يَزِيدَ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ بْنِ غُمَرَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ اللهَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ حَلْقَ حُلْقاً مِنْ حَلْقِهِ انْتَجَبَهُمْ لِقُضَاءِ حَوَائِج فُقْرَاءِ شِيعَتِنَا لِيُثِيبَهُمْ عَلَى ذَلِكَ الجُنَّةَ فَإِنِ اسْتَطَعْتَ أَنْ تَكُونَ مِنْهُمْ فَكُنْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Ziyad who said, 'It is narrated to me by Khalid Bin Yazeed, from Al Mufazzal Bin Umar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Created creature Selecting them for fulfilling needs of the poor ones of our^{-asws} Shias, so He^{-azwj} would Reward them with the Paradise upon that. So if you are able to be from them, be so'.

ثُمَّ قَالَ لَنَا وَ اللَّهُ رَبُّ نَعْبُدُهُ وَ لَا نُشْرِكُ بِهِ شَيْئاً.

Then he^{-asws} said to us: 'And Allah^{-azwj} is a Lord^{-azwj} we^{-asws} worship and do not associate anything with Him^{-azwj}''.⁸²²

92-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنِ ابْنِ أَيْمَنَ عَنْ صَدَقَةَ الْأَحْدَبِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: قَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ حَيْرٌ مِنْ عِتْقِ أَلْفِ رَقَبَةٍ وَ حَيْرٌ مِنْ مُمْلَانِ أَلْفِ فَرَسٍ فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ.

⁸²¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 90

⁸²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 91

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Ziyad, from Ibn Ayman, from Sadagah Al Ahdab,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Fulfilling a need of the Momin is better than liberating a thousand necks, and better than loading (equipping) a thousand horses in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}''. 823

93-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ صَنْدَلٍ عَنْ أَبِي الصَّبَّاحِ الْكِنَائِيِّ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ لَقَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ امْرِئٍ مُؤْمِنٍ أَحَبُّ إِلَى اللّهِ مِنْ عِشْرِينَ حِجَّةً كُلُّ حِجَّةٍ يُنْفِقُ فِيهَا صَاحِبُهَا مِاقَةً أَلْفِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Ziyad, from Sandal, from Abu Al Sabbah Al Kinany who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Fulfilling a need of a Muslim person is more Beloved to Allah^{-azwj} than twenty Hajj, each Hajj its performer spends in it one hundred thousand (Dirhams or Dinars)''.⁸²⁴

94-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرَقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ الْجَهْمِ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ الصَّيْرُفِيِّ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ الْمُؤْمِنُ رَحْمَةٌ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِن

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Haroun Bin Al Jahm, from Ismail Bin Ammar Al Sayrafi who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! The Momin is a mercy upon the Momin?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ قُلْتُ وَكَيْفَ ذَاكَ

He-asws said: 'Yes'. I said, 'And how is that so?'

قَالَ أَيُّمَا مُؤْمِنٍ أَتَى أَخَاهُ فِي حَاجَةٍ فَإِنَّمَا ذَلِكَ رَحْمَةُ اللَّهِ سَاقَهَا إلَيْهِ وَ سَبَبَهَا لَهُ فَإِنْ قَضَى حَاجَتَهُ كَانَ قَدْ قَبِلَ الرَّحْمَةَ بِقَبُولِمِنَا وَ إِنْ رَدَّهُ عَنْ حَاجَتِهِ وَ هُوَ يَقْدِرُ عَلَى قَضَائِهَا فَإِنَّى رَدَّ عَنْ نَفْسِهِ رَحْمَةً مِنَ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَالَ سَاقَهَا إلَيْهِ وَ سَبَبَهَا لَهُ

He^{-asws} said: 'Whichever Momin comes over to a Momin regarding a need, so rather that is a Mercy from Allah^{-azwj} urging him towards him, and its cause for him. So if he were to fulfil his need, it would be so that he would have accepted the Mercy by accepting it; and if he were to repel him from his need while he is able upon fulfilling it, so rather he would have repelled from himself a Mercy from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic urging him to him, and a cause for him'.

وَ ذَحَرَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ تِلْكَ الرَّحْمَةَ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ حَتَّى يَكُونَ الْمَرْدُودُ عَنْ حَاجَتِهِ هُوَ الْحَاكِمَ فِيهَا إِنْ شَاءَ صَرَفَهَا إِلَى نَفْسِهِ وَ إِنْ شَاءَ صَرَفَهَا إِلَى غَيْرِهِ

⁸²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 92

⁸²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 93

And Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Hoard that Mercy up to the Day of Qiyamah until the one who had been repelled from his need would judge with regards to it. If he so desires to, divert it towards himself, and if he so desires to, divert it towards someone else.

O Ismail! So when it will be the Day of Qiyamah and he would be the judge regarding a Mercy from Allah^{-azwj} having commenced for it (its decision), so to whom do you see that he would be diverting it to?'

I said, 'I don't think he would divert it away from himself'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Do not guess, but be certain, for he would never repel it away from himself.

O Ismail! The one who goes over to his brother regarding a need, him being able upon fulfilling it, but he does not fulfil it for him, Allah^{-azwj} would Cause a hydra to gnaw away his big toe in his grave up to the Day of Qiyamah, whether there is Forgiveness for him or Punishment".⁸²⁵

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Al Hakam Bin Ayman, from Aban Bin Taghlib who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who performs Tawaaf of the House (Kaaba) seven (circuits), Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Write for him six thousand good deeds, and Delete from him six thousand evil deeds, and Raise for him six thousand ranks'.

He (the narrator) said, 'And there is an increase in it by Is'haq Bin Ammar: 'And Fulfil for him six thousand needs'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'And fulfilling a need of the Momin is superior to performing a Tawaaf, and a Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} had counted ten''.⁸²⁶

⁸²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 94

⁸²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 95

96-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَا قَضَى مُسْلِمٌ لِمُسْلِمٍ حَاجَتَهُ إِلّا نَادَاهُ اللّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى عَلَىَّ ثَوَابُكَ وَ لَا أَرْضَى لَكَ بدُونِ الجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Ahmad Bin Is'haq, from Bakr Bin Muhammad,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A Muslim will not fulfil for a Muslim his need except Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted will Call out to him: "Upon Me^{-azwj} is your Reward, and I^{-azwj} will not be Satisfied for you with less than the Paradise". 827

97-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحْمَّدٍ عَنْ سَعْدَانَ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ: مَنْ طَافَ يِهَذَا الْبَيْتِ طَوَافاً وَاحِداً كَتَبَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لَهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ حَسَنَةٍ وَ مَحَا عَنْهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ سَيِّئَةٍ وَ رَفْعَ لَهُ سِتَّةَ آلَافِ دَرَجَةٍ حَتَّى إِذَا كَانَ عِنْدَ الْمُلْتَزَمِ فَتَحَ اللهُ لَهُ سَبْعَةَ أَبُوابٍ مِنْ أَبْوَابِ الجُنَّةِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Sa'dan Bin Muslim, from Is'hag Bin Ammar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'One who performs Tawaaf of this House, one Tawaaf, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Write for him six thousand good deeds, and Delete from him six thousand evil deeds, and Raise for him six thousand ranks, until when he would be by Al Multazim (between the door of the Kaaba and the Black Stone), Allah^{-azwj} will Open for him seven doors from the doors of Paradise'.

قُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ هَذَا الْفَضْلُ كُلُّهُ فِي الطَّوَافِ

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! This merit, all of it is regarding the Tawaaf?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ وَ أُخْبِرُكَ بِأَفْضَلَ مِنْ ذَلِكَ قَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُسْلِمِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ طَوَافٍ وَ طَوَافٍ حَتَّى بَلَغَ عَشْراً.

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, and I^{-asws} shall inform you with better than that – fulfilling a need of the Muslim is better than performing a Tawaaf, and a Tawaaf' – until he^{-asws} reached ten''. 828

98-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْتِي عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ الْخَارِقِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبًا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ مَشَى فِي حَاجَةِ أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ يَطْلُبُ بِذَلِكَ مِثْلَ أَجْرٍ حِجَّةٍ وَ عُمْرَةٍ مَبْرُورَتَيْنِ وَ صَوْمٍ شَهْرَيْنِ مِنْ أَشْهُرِ الْخُرُمِ وَ اعْتِكَافِهِمَا فِي يَطْلُبُ بِذَلِكَ مِثْلَ أَجْرٍ حِجَّةٍ وَ عُمْرَةٍ مَبْرُورَتَيْنِ وَ صَوْمٍ شَهْرَيْنِ مِنْ أَشْهُرِ الْخُرُمِ وَ اعْتِكَافِهِمَا فِي الْمُؤْمِنِ اللهِ عَنَّ وَ جَلَّ لَهُ بِذَلِكَ مِثْلَ أَجْرٍ حِجَّةٍ وَ عُمْرَةٍ مَبْرُورَتَيْنِ وَ صَوْمٍ شَهْرَيْنِ مِنْ أَشْهُرِ الْخُرْمِ وَ اعْتِكَافِهِمَا فِي الْمُؤْمِنِ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَنْ اللهِ عَلَيْ وَمُعْرَاقِهُمْ اللهِ عَلَيْكُ مِثْلُ أَجْرٍ حِجَّةٍ وَ عُمْرَةٍ مَبْرُورَتَيْنِ وَ صَوْمٍ شَهْرَيْنِ مِنْ أَشْهُرِ الْخُرْمِ وَ اعْتِكَافِهِمَا فِي

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibrahim Al Khariqy who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah-asws saying: 'The one who walks regarding a need of his Momin brother, seeking by that what is in the Presence of Allah-azwj, until he fulfils it for him, Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic would Write for him due to that, the like of the Recompense of a Hajj and an Umrah, both having performed correctly, and Fasts of two months from the Sacred months, and both during Itikaaf (isolation) in the Sacred Masjid.

⁸²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 96

⁸²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 97

And the one who walks regarding it with an intention but could not fulfil it, Allah^{-azwj} would Write for him, due to that, similar (Reward) of a correctly performed Hajj. Therefore, be desiring regarding the goodness".⁸²⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from the number, from Sahl, from Muhammad Bin Awrama, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Abu Hamza, from his father, from Abu Baseer who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Compete with each other regarding the acts of kindness to your brethren, and become from its deserving ones, for the Paradise has a Door called 'The acts of kindness', none shall enter it except the one who did the acts of kindness during the life of the world.

If the servant were to walk regarding a need of his Momin brother, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Allocate two Angels to him, one on his right and the other on his left, both seeking Forgiveness for him from his Lord^{-azwj}, and both supplicating for the fulfilment of his needs'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! Rasool-Allah^{-saww} was more joyful with the fulfilment of a need of the Momin when it (news) arrived to him^{-saww} than the needy one was himself".⁸³⁰

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from one of his companions,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'By Allah-azwj! My-asws performing a Hajj is more beloved to me-asws than freeing a neck, and a neck, and a neck, and similar to it, and similar to it until it reaches ten, and similar to it, and similar to it until it reaches seventy.

 $^{^{829}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 98

⁸³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 99

And if asws were to look after a family from the Muslims, satiating their hunger, and clothing their bareness, so that it would preserve their faces from the people, it would be more beloved to me than if I were to perform a Hajj, and a Hajj, and a Hajj, and similar to it, and similar to it, until it reaches ten, and similar to it, and similar to it, until it reaches seventy".831

101-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ صَاحِبِ الشَّعِيرِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ قَيْسٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: أَوْحَى اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِلَى مُوسَى ع أَنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِي مَنْ يَتَقَرَّبُ إِلَىَّ بالحُسَنَةِ فَأُحَكِّمُهُ فِي الجُنَّةِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Ali author of 'Al Shaeer', from Muhammad Bin Qas,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: "From My^{-azwj} servants there is one who comes nearer to Me^{-azwj} by the good deeds so I^{-azwj} Judge him to be in the Paradise".

فَقَالَ مُوسَى يَا رَبِّ وَ مَا تِلْكَ الْحَسَنَةُ

Musa^{-as} said: 'O Lord^{-azwj}! And what is that good deed?'

قَالَ يَمْشِى مَعَ أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِن فِي قَضَاءِ حَاجَتِهِ قُضِيَتْ أَمْ لَمْ تُقْضَ.

He^{-azwj} Said: "Walking with his Momin brother regarding fulfilment of his need, whether it gets fulfilled or does not get fulfilled!"'⁸³²

102-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الْمُعَلَّى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا الْحُسَنِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ أَتَاهُ أَحُوهُ الْمُؤْمِنُ فِي حَاجَةٍ فَإِنَّمَا هِيَ رَحْمَةٌ مِنَ اللَّهِ تَبَارَكُ وَ تَعَالَى سَاقَهَا إِلَيْهِ فَإِنْ قَبِلَ ذَلِكَ فَقَدْ وَصَلَهُ بِوَلَايَتِنَا وَ هُوَ مَوْصُولٌ بِوَلَايَةِ اللَّهِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Al Moalla, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Abdullah,

'From Ali son of Ja'far^{-asws} said, 'I heard Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} saying: 'The one who comes over to his Momin brother regarding a need, so rather it is a Mercy from Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and High being urged towards him. So if he were to accept that, so it would link him with our^{-asws} Wilayah, and it is linked with the Wilayah of Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ إِنْ رَدَّهُ عَنْ حَاجَتِهِ وَ هُوَ يَقْدِرُ عَلَى قَضَائِهَا سَلَّطَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ شُجَاعاً مِنْ نَارٍ يَنْهَشُهُ فِي قَبْرِهِ إِلَى يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ مَعْفُوراً لَهُ أَوْ مُعَذَّباً فَإِنْ عَذَرَهُ الطَّالِبُ كَانَ أَسْوَأَ حَالًا.

And if he were to repel him from his need while he is able upon its fulfilment, Allah^{-azwj} would Cause a hydra of fire to overcome him in his grave, gnawing him up to the Day of Qiyamah, be it as a Forgiveness for him or a Punishment. If in such case (in need of help) the needy accepts his excuse it will be much worse for him".⁸³³

⁸³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 100

 $^{^{832}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 101

⁸³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 102

P.s. - The number 103 is missing

104-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنِ ابْنِ بَزِيعٍ عَنْ صَالِحٍ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الجُعْفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمُفْوْمِرُ لَتَوْدُ عَلَيْهِ لَجُلُهُ وَيُهْتُمُ بِهَا قَلْبُهُ فَيْدُرْخِلُهُ اللّهُ تَبَارَكُ وَ تَعَالَى هِمَتِهِ الْجُنَّةَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from Ibn Bazie, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Abdullah Bin Muhammad Al Jufy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin to whom is referred to a need of his brother, so it does not happen to be in his presence, but he intends it in his heart, so Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Enter would Enter him into the Paradise due to his having intended it".⁸³⁴

105-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ: مَشْيُ الرَّجُلِ فِي حَاجَةِ أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِن يُكْتَبُ لَهُ عَشْرُ حَسَنَاتٍ وَ يُمْحَى عَنْهُ عَشْرُ سَيَّقَاتٍ وَ يُرْفَعُ لَهُ عَشْرُ دَرَجَاتٍ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Muhammad Bin Marwan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The walking of the man regarding a need of his Momin brother would have ten good deeds Written for him, and ten sins Deleted from him, and ten levels would be Raised for him'.

قَالَ وَ لَا أَعْلَمُهُ إِلَّا قَالَ وَ تَعْدِلُ عَشْرَ رِقَابٍ وَ أَفْضَلُ مِنِ اعْتِكَافِ شَهْرِ فِي الْمَسْجِدِ الْحَرَامِ.

He (the narrator) said, 'And I do not know it except that he^{-asws} said: 'And it equates to (freeing) ten necks, and superior to performing Itikaaf (isolation) for a month in the Sacred Masjid''.⁸³⁵

106-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ مُعَمَّرٍ بْنِ حَلَّادٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا الْحُسَنِ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ لِلَّهِ عِبَاداً فِي الْأَرْضِ يَسْعَوْنَ فِي حَوَائِحِ النَّاسِ هُمُ الْآمِنُونَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ مَنْ أَذْخَلَ عَلَى مُؤْمِن سُرُوراً فَرَّحَ اللَّهُ قَلْبَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Muammar Bin Khallad who said,

'I heard Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} saying: 'For Allah^{-azwj} there are servants in the earth striving regarding the needs of the people. They would be secure on the Day of Qiyamah. And the one who causes the gladness to enter upon a Believer, Allah^{-azwj} would Gladden his heart on the Day of Qiyamah''.⁸³⁶

107-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عُبَيْدَةَ الحُذَّاءِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع مَنْ مَشَى فِي حَاجَةِ أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ أَظَلَهُ اللَّهُ بِخَمْسَةٍ وَ سَبْعِينَ أَلْفَ مَلَكٍ وَ لَمْ يَرْفَعْ قَدَماً إِلَّا كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ حَسَنَةً وَ حَطَّ عَنْهُ بِمَا سَتِيَّةً وَ يَرْفَعُ لَهُ بِمَا دَرَجَةً فَإِذَا فَرَغَ مِنْ حَاجَتِهِ كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ حَسَنَةً وَ حَطَّ عَنْهُ بِمَا سَتِيَّةً وَ يَرْفَعُ لَهُ بِمَا دَرَجَةً فَإِذَا فَرَغَ مِنْ حَاجَتِهِ كَتَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ عَنْهُ مِنْ اللَّهُ عَنْ مُشَى فِي عَامِدِهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ بِمُعَلَمُ لَهُ مِنْ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عِنْهُ اللَّهُ عِنْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عِنْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَا عَلَى اللَّهُ عَ

⁸³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 104

 $^{^{835}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 105

⁸³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 106

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad, from Usman Bi Isa, from a man, from Abu Ubeyda Al Haza'a who said,

'Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'The one who walks regarding a need of his Muslim brother, Allah^{-azwj} would Shade him by seventy thousand Angels, and he would not raise a foot except that Allah^{-azwj} would Write a good deed for him, and drop a sin from him due to it, and Raise a level for him due to it. So when he is free from his need, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Write for him, due to it, the Recompense of a performer of a Hajj and an Umrah''.⁸³⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Sinan, from Haroun Bin Kharjah, from Sadaqa a man from the people of Hulwan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to walk regarding a Muslim brother of mine^{-asws}, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to free the necks of a thousand persons and load a thousand horses in the Way of Allah^{-azwj}, saddled and harnessed''.⁸³⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Hammad, from Ibrahim Bin Umar Al Yamani,

From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'There is none from a Momin who walks for his Momin brother regarding a need, except that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Writes a good deed for him with each step taken, and Drop a sin from him due to it, and Elevate a level for him, increasing ten good deeds after that, and (Allow) intercession regarding ten needs".⁸³⁹.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Barqy from Usman Bin Isa, from Abu Ayoub Al Khazaz,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The one who strives regarding a need of his Muslim brother seeking the Face of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Write a million deeds, Forgiving during it, his relatives, and his neighbours, and his brethren, and his acquaintances, and the ones who had done something good for him in the world.

So when it will be the Day of Qiyamah, it would be Said to him: 'Enter the Fire. So the one whom you find who had done something good to you in the world, extract him by the

⁸³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 107

 $^{^{838}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 108

⁸³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 109

Permission of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, unless if he happens to be a Hostile one (*Nasibi*)".⁸⁴⁰

111- كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرِهِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حُلَفِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ سَعَى فِي حَاجَةِ أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ فَاجْتَهَدَ فِيهَا فَأَجْرَى اللهُ عَلَى يَدَيْهِ قَضَاءَهَا كَتَبَ اللهُ لَهُ حِجَّةً وَ عُمْرَةً وَ اعْتِكَافَ شَهْرَيْنِ فِي الْمَسْجِدِ الْحُرَامِ وَ صِيَامَهُمَا فَإِنِ اجْتَهَدَ فِيهَا أَخِيهِ الْمُسْلِمِ فَاجْتَهَدَ فِيهَا فَأَجْرَى اللهُ عَلَى يَدَيْهِ كَتَبَ اللهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ لَهُ حِجَّةً وَ عُمْرَةً .

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from Is'haq Bin Ammar, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'The one who strive regarding a need of his Muslim brother, but he struggles regarding it, Allah-azwj would Cause its fulfilment to flow upon his hands. Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic would Write for him a Hajj, and an Umrah and Itikaaf (isolation) of two months in the Sacred Masjid, and its Fasts; and if he struggles regarding it and Allah-azwj does not Cause its fulfilment to flow upon his hands, Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic would Write for him a Hajj and an Umrah".⁸⁴¹

112 - كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ الْحَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ دَرَّاجٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: كَفَى بِالْمَرْءِ اعْتِمَاداً عَلَى أَخِيهِ أَنْ يُبْزِلَ بِهِ حَاجَتَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Jameel Bin Darraj,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It suffices with the person as a reliance upon his brother, if he were to place his need with him''. 842

113- كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْتِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُمَّالِ قَالَ: كُنْتُ جَالِساً مَعَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع إِذْ دَحَلَ عَلَيْهِ رَجُلٌ مِنْ أَهْلِ مَكَّةَ يُقَالُ لَهُ مَيْمُونٌ فَشَكَا إِلَيْهِ تَعَذُّرَ الْكِرَاءِ عَلَيْهِ فَقَالَ لِي قُمْ فَأَعِنْ أَحَاكَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from one of his companions, from Safwan Al Jammal who said,

'I was seated with Abu Abdullah^{-asws} when a man from the people call Maymoun entered to see him^{-asws}. He complained to him^{-asws} of the impossibility of renting upon him. He^{-asws} said to me: 'Stand and assist your brother!'

فَقُمْتُ مَعَهُ فَيَسَّرَ اللَّهُ كِرَاهُ فَرَجَعْتُ إِلَى مَجْلِسِي فَقَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع مَا صَنَعْتَ في حَاجَةِ أَخِيكَ

I stood up with him, and Allah^{-azwj} Eased his rent, so I returned to my gathering. Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'What happened regarding the need of your brother?'

فَقُلْتُ قَضَاهَا اللَّهُ بِأَبِي أَنْتَ وَ أُمِّي

⁸⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 110

 $^{^{841}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 111

⁸⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 112

I said, 'Allah-azwj Fulfilled it. May my father and my mother be (sacrificed) for you-asws'.

He said, 'As for you, if you were to assist your Muslim brother, it would be more beloved to me than performing seven circuits of Tawaaf of the House (Kaaba) initiating'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'A man came to Al Hasan Bin Ali^{-asws}. He said, 'May my father and my mother be (sacrificed) for you^{-asws}! Assist me upon fulfilling a need'. He^{-asws} went and stood with him.

He^{-asws} passed by Al-Husayn^{-asws} while he^{-asws} was standing praying Salat. He^{-asws} said: 'Where were you from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} to seek his^{-asws} assistance upon your need?'

He said, 'I had done so. May my father and my mother be (sacrificed) for you^{-asws}! It was mentioned that he^{-asws} was in Itikaaf (seclusion)'.

He^{-asws} said: 'But, had he^{-asws} assisted you, it would have been better for him^{-asws} than his^{-asws} seclusion (Itikaaf) for a month''.⁸⁴³

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Abu Jameela, from Ibn Sinan who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: "The creatures are My^{-azwj} dependants, and the most Beloved of them to me it the most kind of them and the most striving of them regarding their needs!"'⁸⁴⁴

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from his father, from one of his companions, from Abu Umarah who said,

 $^{^{843}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 113

⁸⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 114

'Hammad Bin Abu Hanifa, when he met me, said, 'Repeat to me your Hadeeth'. So I narrated it. I said, 'We are reporting that a worshipper of the children of Israel, whenever he reached the peak in the worship, would walk regarding needs of the people, enduring with what was correct for them''.845

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuni,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who comes to a morning nor concerned with affairs of the Muslims, he isn't a Muslim''.⁸⁴⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - By the precious chain,

'He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The most diligent of the people in rituals is the one most sincere in advising them, and the most submissive of them in hearts to the entirety of the Muslims''.⁸⁴⁷

118-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْقَاسَايِّ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ سُلَيْمَانَ بْنِ دَاوُدَ الْمِنْقَرِيِّ عَنْ سُفْيَانَ بْنِ عُيَيْنَةَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبًا عَبْدِ اللهِ ع يَقُولُ عَلَيْكَ بِالنُّصْح لِلهِ فِي حَلْقِهِ فَلَنْ تَلْقَاهُ بِعَمَل أَفْضَلَ مِنْهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Ali Bin Muhammad Al Qasany, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad, from Suleyman Bin Dawood Al Minqary, from Sufyan Bin Uyayna who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Upon you is with the advising among His^{-azwj} creatures, for you will never (be able to) meet Him^{-azwj} with a deed more superior than it''.⁸⁴⁸

119-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ الْهَاشِمِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ لَمْ يَهْتَمَّ بِأُمُورِ الْمُسْلِمِينَ فَلَيْسَ بِمُسْلِم.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Muhammad Bin Al Qasim Al Hashimy,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who is not concerned with affairs of the Muslims, so he isn't a Muslim''. 849

120- كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ سَلَمَةَ بْنِ الْخَطَّابِ عَنْ سُلَيْمَانَ بْنِ سَمَاعَةَ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَاصِمٍ الْكُوزِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ص قَالَ: مَنْ أَصْبَحَ لَا يَهْتَمُ بِأُمُورِ الْمُسْلِمِينَ فَلَيْسَ مِنْهُمْ وَ مَنْ يَسْمَعْ رَجُلًا يُنَادِي يَا لَلْمُسْلِمِينَ فَلَمْ يُجُبْهُ فَلَيْسَ بِمُسْلِم.

 $^{^{845}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 115

⁸⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 116

⁸⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 117

 $^{^{848}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 118

⁸⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 119

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Salamah Bin Al Khattab, from Suleyman Bin Sama'at, from his uncle Aasim Al Kowzy,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'One who comes to a morning not concerned with affairs of the Muslims, so he isn't from them, and one who hears a man calling out, 'O Muslims!' (Crying out for help), and he does not answer him, so he isn't a Muslim''. 850

121-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنِ السَّكُونِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَ الْخَلْقُ عِيَالُ اللَّهِ فَأَحَبُّ الْخَلْقِ إِلَى اللَّهِ مَنْ نَفَعَ عِيَالَ اللَّهِ وَ أَدْخَلَ عَلَى أَهْلَ بَيْتٍ سُرُوراً.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuni,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The people are the dependants of Allah^{-azwj}. Therefore, the most beloved of the people to Allah^{-azwj} is the one who benefits the dependants of Allah^{-azwj} the most and enters the cheerfulness upon the family members''.⁸⁵¹

122- كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنْ سَيْفِ بْنِ عَمِيرَةَ قَالَ حَدَّثَنِي مَنْ سَمِعَ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ سُعِلَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَنْ أَحَبُّ النَّاس إِلَى اللَّهِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Sayf Bin Ameyra who said,

'It is narrated to me by the one who heard Abu Abdullah-asws saying: 'Rasool-Allah-saww was asked, 'Who is the most Beloved of the people of Allah-azwj?'

قَالَ أَنْفَعُ النَّاسِ لِلنَّاسِ.

He^{-saww} said: 'The most beneficial of the people to the people''. 852

123-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْبَرَهِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنْ مُثَنَّى بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ الْخَتَاطِ عَنْ فِطْرِ بْنِ حَلِيفَةَ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَنْ رَدَّ عَلَى قَوْمٍ مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ عَادِيَةً مَاهٍ أَوْ نَارِ أُوحِبَتْ لَهُ الْجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al Bargy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Musanna Bin Al Waleed, from Fitr Bin Khaleefa,

'From Umar son of Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws}, from his father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The one who repels from a group of Muslims, an adversity of water or fire, the Paradise would be Obligated for him'.⁸⁵³

124- كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ ثَعْلَبَةَ بْنِ مَيْمُونٍ عَنْ مُعَاوِيَةَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع فِي قَوْلِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ وَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً قَالَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً وَ لَا تَقُولُوا إِلَّا حَيْراً حَتَّى تَعْلَمُوا مَا هُوَ.

⁸⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 120

 $^{^{851}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 121

 $^{^{852}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 122

⁸⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 123

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Fazzal, from Sa'alba Bin Maymoun, from Muawiya Bin Ammar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said regarding Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *and you shall speak to the people good words [2:83]*. He^{-asws} said: 'Speak good words to the people and do not be saying except good until you know what it is''.⁸⁵⁴

بيان

Explanation (Ahadeeth only)

وَ رَوَى جَابِرٌ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع فِي قَوْلِهِ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً قَالَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ أَحْسَنَ مَا ثُحِبُّونَ أَنْ يُقَالَ لَكُمْ فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ يُبْغِضُ اللَّعَانَ السَّبَّابَ الطَّعَانَ عَلَى الْمُؤْمِنِينَ الْفَاحِشَ الْمُتَفَجِّشَ السَّائِلَ الْمُلْحِفَ وَ يُحِبُّ الْحَفِيفَ الْمُتَعَفِّفَ.

And it is reported by Jabir, from Abu Ja'far asws regarding His-azwj Words: **and you shall speak to the people good words [2:83]**. He-asws said: 'Speak to the people as excellent as what you would love to be said to you, for Allah-azwj hates the cursing one, the reviling one, the one taunting upon the Momineen, the immoral, the obscene, and persistent beggar, and He-azwj Loves the lenient, the chaste, the virtuous".

و في تفسير العسكري قال الصادق ع قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً أي للناس كلهم مؤمنهم و مخالفهم أما المؤمنون فيبسط لهم وجهه و أما المخالفون فيكلمهم بالمداراة لاجتذابهم إلى الإيمان فإن بأيسر من ذلك يكف شرورهم عن نفسه و عن إخوانه المؤمنين.

And in Tafseer of Al-Askari^{-asws} – Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'and you shall speak to the people good words [2:83] – i.e. to the people, all of them, their Momineen and their adversaries. As for the Momin, he should extend his face to them, and as for the adversaries, he should speak to them with the politeness in order to attract them to the Eman, for the least from that, it would restrain their evils from himself and from his Momineen brothers''.

125-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي نَجْرَانَ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ يَزِيدَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَدٍ ع قَالَ: فِي قَوْلِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ وَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ حُسْناً قَالَ قُولُوا لِلنَّاسِ أَحْسَنَ مَا ثُحِبُّونَ أَنْ يُقَالَ فِيكُمْ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Abu Najran, from Abu Jameela, from Jabir Bin Yazeed,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said regarding Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **and you shall speak to the people good words [2:83]**, he^{-asws} said: 'Speak to the people as excellent as what you are loving for it to be said among you".⁸⁵⁵

126-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ يَحْيَى بْنِ الْمُبَارَكِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ جَبَلَةَ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: فِي قَوْلِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ وَ جَعَلَنِي مُبارَكاً أَيْنَ ما كُنْتُ قَالَ نَقَاعاً.

⁸⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 124

⁸⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 125

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Sahl, from Yahya Bin Al Mubarik, from Abdullah Bin Jabala, from a man,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said regarding Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **And He has Made me (Isa^{-as}) Blessed wherever I may be [19:31]**: He^{-asws} said: 'Beneficial (to the people)''.⁸⁵⁶

 856 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 20 H 126

باب 21 تزاور الإخوان و تلاقيهم و مجالستهم في إحياء أمر أئمتهم ع

CHAPTER 21 – VISITING THE BRETHREN, AND MEETING THEM, AND SITTING WITH THEM IN REVIVING THE MATTER OF THEIR IMAMS-asws

1-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْتِي عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ زَارَ أَحَاهُ لِلّهِ لَا لِغَيْرِهِ الْتِمَاسَ مَوْعِدِ اللّهِ وَ تَنَجُّزَ مَا عِنْدَ اللّهِ وَكَّلَ اللّهُ بِهِ سَبْعِينَ أَلْفَ مَلَكِ يُنَادُونَهُ أَلَا طِبْتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الْجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Fazzal, from Ali Bin Uqba, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who visits his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, not for others, seeking Promise of Allah^{-azwj} and accomplishing what is in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} will Allocate seventy thousand Angels with him calling out: 'Indeed! You have done well, and the Paradise is (Made to be) better for you''.⁸⁵⁷

2-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ التُّعْمَانِ عَنِ ابْنِ مُسْكَانَ عَنْ حَيْثَمَةَ قَالَ: دَخَلْتُ عَلَى أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع أُورِعُهُ فَقَالَ يَا حَيْثَمَةُ أَبْلِغْ مَنْ تَرَى مِنْ مَوَالِينَا السَّلَامَ وَ أُوْصِهِمْ بِتَقْوَى اللهِ الْعَظِيمِ وَ أَنْ يَعُودَ عَنِيهُمْ عَلَى فَقِيرِهِمْ وَ قَوِيُّهُمْ عَلَى ضَعِيفِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ جَنَازَةَ مَيِّتِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَتُعْدِهُ وَ أَنْ يَعْودَ عَنِيهُمْ عَلَى فَقِيرِهِمْ وَ قَوِيُّهُمْ عَلَى ضَعِيفِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ جَنَازَةَ مَيِّتِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ عَلَى فَيَرِهِمْ وَ قَوِيُّهُمْ عَلَى ضَعِيفِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ جَنَازَةَ مَيِّتِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ عَلَى فَقِيرِهِمْ وَ قَوِيُّهُمْ عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَنْ اللهُ عَبْدارَةً مَيْتِهِمْ وَ أَنْ يَشْهَدَ حَيُّهُمْ عَلَى فَقِيرِهِمْ وَ قَوِيُّهُمْ عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَلَى عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَلَى عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَنْ عَلَى عَلَى عَلَى عَلَى مَا عَلَى عَل

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Numan, from Ibn Muskan, from Khaysama who said,

'I entered to see Abu Ja'far^{-asws} to bid him^{-asws} farewell. He^{-asws} said: 'O Khaysama! Deliver the greetings to the ones in our^{-asws} Wilayah you come across, and advise them with the fear of Allah^{-azwj} the Magnificent and that their rich ones should be supporting upon their poor ones, and their strong ones upon their weak ones, and their living ones should attend the funerals of their dead ones, and they should meet up in their houses, for the meeting of some of them with others is a revival of our^{-asws} matter (Wilayah). May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a servant who revives our^{-asws} matter.

يَا خَيْثَمَةُ أَبْلِغْ مَوَالِيَنَا أَنَّا لَا نُغْنِي عَنْهُمْ مِنَ اللَّهِ شَيْعًا إِلَّا بِعَمَلٍ وَ أَثَمَّمْ لَنْ يَنَالُوا وَلايَتَنَا إِلَّا بِالْوَرَعِ وَ أَنَّ أَشَدَّ النَّاسِ حَسْرَةً يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ مَنْ وَصَفَ عَدْلًا ثُمُّ خَالَفَهُ إِلَى غَيْرِه.

O Khaysama! Deliver to the ones in our-asws Wilayah that we-asws will not make them needless of anything from Allah-azwj except with deeds, and they will never attain our-asws Wilayah except with the piety, and that the one with the most intense of regrets among the people on the Day of Judgement would be the one who ascribes the justice, then opposes it to something else".858

Page 364 of 462

⁸⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 1

⁸⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 2

3-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُمَرَ الْيَمَانِيِّ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص حَدَّثَنِي جَبْرَئِيلُ أَنَّ اللهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ أَهْبَطَ إِلَى الْأَرْضِ مَلَكاً فَأَقْبَلَ ذَلِكَ الْمَلَكُ يَمْشِي حَتَّى دُفِعَ إِلَى بَابٍ عَلَيْهِ رَجُلٌ يَسْتَأْذِنُ عَلَى رَبِّ الدَّارِ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Ibrahim Bin Umar Al Yamani, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Jibraeel^{-as} narrated to me^{-asws}: 'Allah⁻azwj Might and Majestic Sent down an Angel to the earth. That Angel went on to walk until he arrived to a door, there was a man at it seeking permission to see lord (owner) of the house.

فَقَالَ لَهُ الْمَلَكُ مَا حَاجَتُكَ إِلَى رَبِّ هَذِهِ الدَّار

The Angel said to him, 'What is your need to the lord (owner) of this house?'

قَالَ أَخْ لِي مُسْلِمٌ زُرْتُهُ فِي اللَّهِ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى

He said, '(He is) a Muslim brother of mine. I am visiting him for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted'.

قَالَ لَهُ الْمَلَكُ مَا جَاءَ بِكَ إِلَّا ذَاكَ

The Angel said to him, 'Nothing has made you come except that?'

فَقَالَ مَا جَاءَ بِي إِلَّا ذَاكَ

He said, 'Nothing has made me come except that'.

قَالَ فَإِنِّي رَسُولُ اللَّهِ إِلَيْكَ وَ هُوَ يُقْرِئُكَ السَّلَامَ وَ يَقُولُ وَجَبَتْ لَكَ الجُنَّةُ

He said, 'I am a messenger of Allah^{-azwj} to you, and He^{-azwj} Conveys the Greetings to you and Says: "The Paradise is obligated for you!"

وَ قَالَ الْمَلَكُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ يَقُولُ أَيُّمَا مُسْلِمٍ زَارَ مُسْلِماً فَلَيْسَ إِيَّاهُ زَارَ بَلْ إِيَّايَ زَارَ وَ ثَوَابُهُ عَلَيَّ الجُنَّةُ.

And the Angel said, 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: "Whichever Muslim visits a Muslim, so he isn't visiting him, but he is visiting Me^{-azwj}, and his Reward upon Me^{-azwj} is the Paradise!"'⁸⁵⁹

4-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ النَّهْدِيِّ عَنِ الْخُصَيْنِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ زَارَ أَحَاهُ فِي اللهِ قَالَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِيَّايَ وَلَا اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ إِيَّايَ رُرُتَ وَ ثَوَابُكَ عَلَى وَ لَسْتُ أَرْضَى لَكَ ثَوَاباً دُونَ الجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ali Al Nahdy, from Al-Husayn,

859 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 3

-

'One who visits his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: "It is Me^{-azwj} you have visited, and your Reward is upon Me^{-azwj}, and I^{-azwj} won't be Satisfied for you as Reward less than the Paradise!"'⁸⁶⁰

5-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنْ سَيْفِ بْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ يَعْقُوبَ بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ يَقُولُ مَنْ زَارَ أَحُاهُ فِي جَانِبِ الْمِصْرِ ابْتِغَاءَ وَجْهِ اللَّهِ فَهُو زَوْرُهُ وَ حَقِّ عَلَى اللَّهِ أَنْ يُكُرِمَ زَوْرُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Sayf Bin Ameyra, from Yaqoub Bin Shueyb who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who visits his brother in an outskirt of the city seeking the Face of Allah^{-azwj}, so he has visited Him^{-azwj} and there is a right upon Allah^{-azwj} to honour his visitor''.⁸⁶¹

6-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص مَنْ زَارَ أَحَاهُ فِي بَيْتِهِ قَالَ اللّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ لَهُ أَنْتَ ضَيْفِي وَ زَاثِرِي عَلَىَّ قِرَاكَ وَ قَدْ أَوْجَبْتُ لَكَ الجُنَّةَ بِحُبِّكَ إِيَّاهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Ibn Ameyra, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'One who visits his brother in his house, Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Says to him: "You are My-azwj guest and My-azwj visitor. Your hospitality is upon Me-azwj, and I-azwj have Obligated the Paradise for you due to your love for him". 862

7 - كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَرَّةَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ زَارَ أَحَاهُ فِي اللَّهِ فِي مَرَضٍ أَوْ صِحَّةٍ - لَا يَأْتِيهِ خِدَاعاً وَ لَا اسْتِبْدَالًا وَكُل اللَّهُ بِهِ سَبْعِينَ أَلْفَ مَلَكِ يُنَادُونَ فِي قَفَاهُ أَنْ طِبْتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الْجَنَّةُ وَفَدُ الرَّحُن حَتَّى يَأْتِيَ مَنْزِلَهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Is'haq Bi Ammar, from Abu Azza who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who visits his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} during an illness or well-being, neither coming to him for a deception nor for an exchange (being reciprocal), Allah^{-azwj} would Allocate seventy thousand Angels to him calling out behind his back: 'You have done well, and the Paradise is (Made to be) better for you, for you are a visitor of Allah^{-azwj}, and you are a delegate of the Beneficent', until he comes to his house'.

فَقَالَ لَهُ يُسَيِّرٌ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ وَ إِنْ كَانَ الْمَكَانُ بَعِيداً

Yusayr said to him^{-asws}, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! And even if the place was distant?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ يَا يُسَيْرُ وَ إِنْ كَانَ الْمَكَانُ مَسِيرَةَ سَنَةٍ فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ جَوَادٌ وَ الْمَلائِكَةَ كَثِيرَةٌ يُشَيِّعُونَهُ حَتَّى يَرْجِعَ إِلَى مَنْزِلِهِ.

⁸⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 4

 $^{^{861}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 5 $\,$

⁸⁶² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 6

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, O Yusayr, and even if the place was at a travel distance of a year, for Allah⁻ azwj is the most Benevolent, and the Angels are numerous. They would be escorting him until he returns to his own house''. 863

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ali Al Nahdy,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The one who visits his brother regarding Allah^{-azwj} and for Allah^{-azwj}, would come on the Day of Qiyamah swaying between gowns of light, and not passing by anything except shining upon it, until he pauses in front of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic.

Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would be Saying to him: "Welcome!" And when He^{-azwj} Says: "Welcome!" Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would be Liberal towards him with the Gifts".⁸⁶⁴

9-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ وَ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنِ النَّضْرِ بْنِ سُوَيْدٍ عَنْ يَحْبَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ الْمُلَيِّ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَقَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَ قَالَ: إِنَّ الْعُبْدَ الْمُسْلِمَ إِذَا حَرَجَ مِنْ بَيْتِهِ زَائِراً أَحَاهُ لِلَّهِ لَا لِغَيْرِهِ الْتِمَاسَ وَجْهِ اللَّهِ رَغْبَةً فِيمَا عِنْدَهُ وَكَّلَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ سَبْعِينَ أَلْفَ مَلَكٍ يُتَادُونَهُ مِنْ خَلْفِهِ إِلَى أَنْ يَرْجِعَ إِلَى مَنْزِلِهِ أَلَا طِبْتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Khalid and Al-Husayn Bin Saeed, from Al Nazar Bin Suweyd, from Yahya Bin Imran Al Halby, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'When the Muslims servant goes out from his out to visit his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, not for something else, seeking the Face of Allah^{-azwj} wishing regarding what is in His^{-azwj} Presence, Allah^{-azwj} would Allocate seventy thousand Angels calling out to him from behind him until he returns to his own house: 'Indeed! You have done well, and the Paradise is (Made to be) better for you''.⁸⁶⁵

10-كا، الكافي عَنِ الحُسَيْنِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ بَكْرٍ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: مَا زَارَ مُسْلِمٌ أَحَاهُ الْمُسْلِمَ فِي اللهِ وَ لِلهِ إِلَّا نَادَاهُ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ أَيُّهَا الزَّائِرُ طِبْتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Al-Husayn Bin Muhammad, from Ahmad Bin Is'haq, from Bakr Bin Muhammad,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'No Muslim would visit his Muslim brother regarding Allah^{-azwj} and for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, except that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic would Call out to him: "O you visitor! You have done well, and the Paradise is (Made to be) better for you!"'⁸⁶⁶

⁸⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 7

⁸⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 8

⁸⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 9

⁸⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 10

11- كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ وَ عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ جَمِيعاً عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ فَيْسٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَ قَالَ: إِنَّ لِلْهِ عَنَّ وَ جَلَّ جَنَّةً لَا يَدْخُلُهَا إِلَّا ثَلَاثَةٌ رَجُلِ حَكَمَ عَلَى نَفْسِهِ بِالْحَقِّ وَ رَجُلِ زَارَ أَخَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ رَجُلِ آخَرُ أَخَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ رَجُلِ اللَّهِ عَلَى نَفْسِهِ بِالْحَقِّ وَ رَجُلِ زَارَ أَخَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ رَجُل آخَرَ أَخَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, and from the number, from Sahl, altogether from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Ayoub, from Muhammad Bin Qaya,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has a Garden which none can enter into except for three – a man judging against himself with the truth, and a man who visits his brother Momin regarding Allah^{-azwj}, and a man preferring his Momin brother regarding Allah^{-azwj}". ⁸⁶⁷

12-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ بَرِيعٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الجُعْفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ اللّهِ عَنْ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ بَرِيعٍ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الجُعْفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عَنَاحاً فِي اللّهُ عَنْ وَوَرُهُ فَيُوكِلُ اللّهُ عَنَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ مَلَكاً فَيَضَعُ جَنَاحاً فِي الْأَرْضِ وَ جَنَاحاً فِي السَّمَاءِ يُظِلُّهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn, from Muhammad Bin Ismail Bin Bazir, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Abdullah Bin Muhammad Al Ju'fy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The Momin goes out to his brother to visit him, so Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Allocates an Angel with him, so he places a wing in the earth and a wing in the sky, to shade him.

فَإِذَا دَحُلَ إِلَى مَنْزِلِهِ نَادَى الجُبَّارُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى أَيُّهَا الْعَبْدُ الْمُعَظِّمُ لِحَقِّي الْمُتَّبِعُ لِآثَارِ نَبِيّى حَقٌّ عَلَيَّ إِعْظَامُكَ سَلْني أَعْطِكَ ادْعُني أُجِبْكَ اسْكُتْ أَبْتَدِئْكَ

When he enters into his house, the Subduer, the Blessed and Exalted Calls out: "O you servant! The respector of My^{-azwj} Right and the follower of the traces (Ahadeeth) of My^{-azwj} Prophet^{-saww}. There is a right upon Me^{-azwj} to Respect you. Ask Me^{-azwj}, I^{-azwj} shall Give you. Supplicate to Me^{-azwj}, I shall Answer you. If you are silent, I^{-azwj} shall Initiate you".

فَإِذَا انْصَرَفَ شَيَّعَهُ الْمَلَكُ يُظِلُّهُ بِجَنَاحِهِ حَتَّى يَدْحُلَ إِلَى مَنْزِلِهِ ثُمَّ يُنَادِيهِ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى أَيُّهَا الْعَبْدُ الْمُعَظِّمُ لِحَقِّي حَقٌّ عَلَيَّ إِكْرَامُكَ قَدْ أَوْجَبْتُ لَكَ جَنَّتِي وَ شَفَّعُتُكَ فِي عِبَادِي.

When he leaves, the Angel escorts him, shading him with his wings until he enters into his own house. Then the Blessed and High Calls out to him: "O you servant! The respector of My^{azwj} Right. There is a right upon Me^{-azwj} to Honour you. I^{-azwj} have Obligated My^{-azwj} Paradise for you, and (allowed) your intercession among My^{-azwj} servants!" servants!"

13-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: لَزِيَارَةُ مُؤْمِنٍ فِي اللّهِ حَيْرٌ مِنْ عِتْقِ عَشْرِ رِقَابٍ مُؤْمِنَاتٍ وَ مَنْ أَعْتَقَ رَقَبَةً مُؤْمِنَةً وَقَى اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِكُلّ عُضْو عُضُواً مِنَ النَّارِ حَتَّى أَنَّ الْفُرْجَ يَقِى الْفَرْجَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain, from Salih Bin Ugbah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'For a visitation of the *Momin* regarding Allah^{-azwj} is better than the freeing of ten necks of the Believing women, and the one who frees the neck of a

Page 368 of 462

 $^{^{867}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 11

⁸⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 12

Believing woman, every body part of theirs would free a body part from the Fire to the extent that the private part would save the private part". 869

14-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُمَّالِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: أَيُّمَا ثَلَاثَةِ مُؤْمِنِينَ اجْتَمَعُوا عِنْدَ أَخٍ لَمُمْ يُؤْمِنُونَ بَوَائِقَهُ وَ لَا يَخَافُونَ غَوَائِلَهُ وَ يَرْجُونَ مَا عِنْدَهُ إِنْ دَعُوا اللَّهَ أَجَابَمُمْ وَ إِنْ سَأَلُوا أَعْطَاهُمْ وَ إِنِ اسْتَزَادُوا زَادَهُمْ وَ إِنْ سَكَتُوا ابْتَدَأَهُمْ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Salih Bin Ugba, from Safwan Al Jammal,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Wherever three Momineen gather in the presence of a brother of theirs, feeling secured of his actions, not fearing his ravages, hoping for what is with Him-azwj if they were to supplicate to Allah-azwj, He-azwj would Answer them, and if they were to ask, He-azwj would Give them, and if they was an increase, He-azwj would Increase it for them, and if they are silent, He-azwj would Initiate them''.

15-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ أَبِي أَيُوبَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا حَمْزَةَ يَقُولُ سَمِعْتُ الْعَبْدَ الصَّالِحَ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ زَارَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ لِلَّهِ لَا لَكُ عَنْ وَ جَلَّ وَكُلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَكُلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَكُلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ سَبْعِينَ أَلْفَ مَلَكٍ مِنْ حِينِ يَخْرُجُ مِنْ مَنْزِلِهِ حَتَّى يَعُودَ إِلَيْهِ يُنَادُونَهُ أَلَا لِي يُعَادُونَهُ أَلَا عَنْ وَ طَبْتَ وَ طَابَتُ لَكَ الْجُنَّةُ تَبَوَّاتُ مِنَ الْجُنَّةُ مَنْزِلَهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Ayoub who said,

'I heard Al-Abd Al-Salih-asws (7th Imam-asws) saying: 'The one who visits his brother Momin for the Sake of Allah-azwj, not for anything else, seeking by it the Rewards of Allah-azwj, and accomplishment of what Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Promised, Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic would Allocate seventy thousand Angels with him, from when he goes out from his house until he returns to it, calling out to him: 'Indeed! You have done well, and the Paradise is (Made to be) better for you for assuming a house in the Paradise!"'871

16-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ التَّوْفَلِيّ عَنِ السَّكُونِيّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع لِقَاءُ الْإِخْوَانِ مَغْنَمٌ جَسِيمٌ وَ إِنْ قَلُوا.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Meeting the brethren is a mighty gain, and even if it is scarce''.⁸⁷²

17– ب، قرب الإسناد ابْنُ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْأَرْدِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَا زَارَ مُسْلِمٌ أَحَاهُ الْمُسْلِمَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ لِلَّهِ إِلَّا نَادَاهُ اللَّهُ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى أَيُّهَا الزَّائِرُ طَلْبُتَ وَ طَابَتْ لَكَ الْجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - from Al Azdy who said,

⁸⁶⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 13

 $^{^{870}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 14

 $^{^{871}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 15

⁸⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 16

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'A Muslim will not visit his Muslim brother regarding Allah^{-azwj} and for Allah^{-azwj}, except Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted will Call out to him: "O you visitor! You have done well, and the Paradise is Made good for you!"'⁸⁷³

(The book) Qurb Al Asnaad' - Ibn Sa'ad, from Al Azdy,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'He-asws said to Fuzeyl: 'Are you gathering and discussing (with each other)?'

قَالَ نَعَمْ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ

He said, 'Yes, may I be sacrificed for you-asws!'

قَالَ إِنَّ تِلْكَ الْمَجَالِسَ أُحِبُّهَا فَأَحْيُوا أَمْرَنَا يَا فُضَيْلُ فَرَحِمَ اللَّهُ مَنْ أَحْيَا أَمْرَنَا يَا فُضَيْلُ مَنْ ذَكَرَنَا أَوْ ذُكِرْنَا عِنْدَهُ فَحَرَجَ مِنْ عَيْنِهِ مِثْلُ جَنَاحِ الذُّبَابِ غَفَرَ اللهُ لَهُ ذُنُوبَهُ وَ لَوْ كَانَتْ أَكْثَرَ مِنْ زَبَدِ الْبَحْرِ.

He^{-asws} said: 'That gathering, I^{-asws} love it. Revive our^{-asws} matter, O Fuzeyl! May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on the one who revives our^{-asws} matter. O Fuzeyl! One who mentions us^{-asws}, or we^{-asws} are mentioned in his presence, so there comes out from his eyes (a tear) like a wing of the fly, Allah^{-azwj} will Forgive his sins and even if these were more that foam of the sea".⁸⁷⁴

19- لي، الأمالي للصدوق أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ مَلَكاً مِنَ الْمَلائِكَةِ مَرَّ بِرَجُل قَائِمِ عَلَى بَابِ دَارٍ فَقَالَ لَهُ الْمَلَكُ يَا عَبْدَ اللَّهِ مَا يُقِيمُكَ عَلَى بَابِ هَذِهِ الدَّارِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Jameela, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'An Angel from the Angels passed by a man standing at the door of a house. The Angel said to him, 'O servant of Allah^{-azwj}! What made you stand at the door of this house?'

He (the narrator) said, 'He said, 'A brother of mine is in it. I wanted to greet unto him'.

The Angel said, 'Is there any sparkling kinship between you and him? Or has a need brought you to him?'

⁸⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 17

⁸⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 18

He (the narrator) said, 'He said, 'There is no relationship between me and him nor has any need brought me to him, except brotherhood of Al-Islam, and it's sanctity, and I had promised him, and I shall greet unto him for the Sake of Allah-azwj, Lord-azwj of the worlds'.

فَقَالَ الْمَلَكُ إِنِيّ رَسُولُ اللّهِ إِلَيْكَ وَ هُوَ يُقْرِئُكَ السَّلَامَ وَ يَقُولُ إِنَّمَا إِيَّايَ أَرَدْتَ وَ لِي تَعَاهَدْتَ وَ قَدْ أَوْجَبْتُ لَكَ الجُّنَّةَ وَ أَعْفَيْتُكَ مِنْ غَضَبِي وَ آجَرْتُكَ مِنَ النَّارِ.

The Angels said, 'I am a messenger of Allah^{-azwj} to you, and He^{-azwj} Conveys the Greetings to you and Says: "But rather, it is Me^{-azwj} you intended, and to Me^{-azwj} you had promised, and I^{-azwj} have Obligated the Paradise for you, and I^{-azwj} have Excused you from My^{-azwj} Wrath and Rescue you from the Fire!"'⁸⁷⁵

20– ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنِ الْعَقْرُقُوفِيَّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ يَقُولُ لِأَصْحَابِهِ وَ أَنَا حَاضِرٌ اتَّقُوا اللّهَ وَ كُونُوا إِخْوَةً بَرَزَةً مُتَحَابِّينَ فِي اللّهِ مُتَوَاصِلِينَ مُتَرَاجِينَ تَزَاوَرُوا وَ تَلَاقُواْ وَ تَلَاقُواْ وَ تَلَاقُواْ وَ تَلَاقُواْ وَ لَذَاكِرُوا وَ أَحْيُوا أَمْرَنَا.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawayh, from his father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Al Agarquqi who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying to his^{-asws} companions, and I was present: 'Fear Allah^{-azwj} and be brothers, loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, connecting, merciful, visiting, and meeting, and reminding each other, and revive our^{-asws} matter!''⁸⁷⁶

21- ل، الخصال أبي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ مُمْرَانَ عَنْ حَيْثَمَةَ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي أَبُو جَعْفَرٍ ع تَزَاورُوا فِي بُيُوتِكُمْ فَإِنَّ ذَلِكَ حَيَاةٌ لأَمْرِنَا رَحِمَ اللَّهُ عَدْداً أَحْيَا أَمْرِنَا.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Muhammad Bi Humran, from Khaysama who said,

'Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said to me: 'Visit each other in your houses, for that is a revival of our^{-asws} matter. May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a servant reviving our^{-asws} matter''.⁸⁷⁷

22- ل، الخصال أبِي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَرَّارٍ عَنْ يُونُسَ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ كَانَ فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص عَلِيّاً يَا عَلِيُّ ثَلَاثٌ فَرَحَاتٌ لِلْمُؤْمِن لُقَى الْإِحْوَانِ وَ الْإِفْطَارُ مِنَ الصِّيَام وَ التَّهَجُّدُ مِنْ آخِر اللّيْل.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Marrar, from Yunus,

'Raising it to Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It was among what Rasool-Allah^{-saww} had bequeathed to Ali^{-asws}! Three are joys for the Momineen – meeting the brothers, and the breaking from the fast, and the vigil at the end of the night''.⁸⁷⁸

⁸⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 19

 $^{^{876}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 20

⁸⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 21

⁸⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 22

23- ل، الخصال مَاحِيلَوْيْهِ عَنْ عَقِهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مخْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَمَّارِ بْنِ صُهَيْبٍ قَالَ سَمِغْتُ جَعْفَرَ بْنَ مُحَمَّدٍ ع يُحَدِّثُ قَالَ: إِنَّ صَيْفَ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ كَانَ فِي صَلَاتِهِ فَهُوَ فِي كَنَفِ اللّهِ حَتَّى يَنْصَرِفَ وَ رَجُلَّ زَارَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللّهِ عَزَّ وَجُلَّ كَانَ فِي صَلَاتِهِ فَهُوَ فِي كَنَفِ اللّهِ حَتَّى يَنْصَرِفَ وَ رَجُلَّ زَارَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ رَجُلًا كَانَ فِي صَلَاتِهِ فَهُوَ فِي كَنَفِ اللّهِ حَتَّى يَنْصَرِفَ وَ رَجُلُّ زَارَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ حَرَائِنِ اللّهِ فِي ثَوَابِهِ وَ حَزَائِنِ رَهُمْتِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ammar Bin Suheyb who said,

'I heard Ja'far^{-saww} Bin Muhammad^{-saww} narrating. He^{-asws} said: 'A guest of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is a man performing Hajj and Umrah. He is a guest of Allah^{-azwj} until he returns to his house; and a man who were to be in his Salat, so he is in the Patronage of Allah^{-azwj} until he leaves; and a man visiting his Momin brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, so he is a visitor of Allah^{-azwj} regarding His^{-azwj} Rewards and treasures of His^{-azwj} Mercy".⁸⁷⁹

24– ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي أَبُّوبَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ قَيْسٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لِلَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ جَنَّةٌ لَا يَدْخُلُهَا إِلَّا ثَلَاثَةٌ رَجُلُّ حَكَمَ فِي نَفْسِهِ بِالحَّقِّ وَ رَجُلٌ زَارَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللهِ وَ رَجُلٌ آثَرَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فِي اللهِ عَرَّ وَ جَلَ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Ayoub, from Muhammad Bin Qays,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic there is a Garden, none will enter it except three – a man judging regarding himself with the truth, and a man visiting his Momin brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, and a man preferring his Momin brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic''.⁸⁸⁰

25- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْحَمِيدِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ رَاشِدٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ سَهْلٍ عَنْ سُهَيْلِ بْنِ غَزْوَانَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ امْرَأَةً مِنَ الْجِنِّ كَانَ يُقَالُ لَمَا عَفْرَاءُ وَ كَانَتْ تَنْتَابُ- النَّبِيَّ ص فَتَسْمَعُ مِنْ كَلَامِهِ فَتَأْتِي صَالِحِي الْجِنِّ فَيُسْلِمُونَ عَلَى يَدَيْهَا

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Hameed, from Muhammad Bin Rashid, from Umar Bin Sahl, from Suheyl Bin Gazwan who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'There was a woman from the Jinn called Afra'a, haunting the Prophet^{-saww}. She heard from his^{-saww} speech, so she came to the righteous Jinn. They became Muslim upon her hand.

وَ إِنَّمَا فَقَدَهَا النَّبِيُّ صِ فَسَأَلَ عَنْهَا جَبْرَئِيلَ فَقَالَ إِنَّمَا زَارَتْ أُخْتَاً لَهَا تُحِبُّهَا فِي اللَّهِ

And the Prophet-saww missed her, so he-saww asked Jibraeel-as about her. He-as said: 'She is visiting a sister of hers. She loves her for the Sake of Allah-azwi'.

فَقَالَ النَّبِيُّ ص طُوبِي لِلْمُتَحَابِّينَ فِي اللَّهِ إِنَّ اللَّهَ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى حَلَقَ فِي الْجُنَّةِ عَمُوداً مِنْ يَاقُوتَةٍ حَمْرًاءَ عَلَيْهِ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ قَصْرٍ فِي كُلِّ قَصْرٍ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ غُرْفَةٍ حَمْرًاءَ عَلَيْهِ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ عَرُفَةٍ حَمْرًاءَ عَلَيْهِ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ عَرُفَةٍ مَعْرًاءَ عَلَيْهِ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ عَرُفَةٍ عَمُوداً مِنْ يَاللَّهِ. حَلَقُهَا اللَّهُ عَرَّاءَ عَلَيْهِ سَبْعُونَ أَلْفَ عَرُفَةٍ عَمُوداً مِنْ يَاللَّهِ.

The Prophet-saww said: 'Beatitude is for the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah-azwj! Allah-azwj Blessed and Exalted has Created a pillar of red ruby in the Paradise. There are

⁸⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 23

⁸⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 24

seventy thousand castles upon it. In each castle there are seventy thousand rooms. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Created it for the ones loving each other and visiting each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}".⁸⁸¹

26- جا، المجالس للمفيد ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ حَمْزَةَ الْعَلَوِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ مُوسَى عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْمُفيدُ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ حَمْزَةَ الْعَلُويِّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ الْفُضَيْلِ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ مُوسَى عَنْ عَبْدِ الْعَظِيمِ الْحُسَنِيّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ الثَّانِيٰ عِ قَالَ: مُلَاقَاةُ الْإِخْوَانِ نُشْرَةٌ وَ تَلْقِيخُ الْعَقْلِ وَ إِنْ كَانَ نَزْراً قَلِيلًا.

(The books) 'Al-Majaalis' of Al Mufeed, (and) 'Al Amaali' of Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Al-Hassan Bin Hamza Al Alawy, from Ali Bin Al Fuzeyl, from Ubeydullah Bin Musa, from Abdul Azeem Al-Hassany,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} the 2nd having said: 'Meeting the brethren is a spiritual remedy, and vaccination of the intellect, and even if the visitation was little''.⁸⁸²

27- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ بَحْرٍ السَّقَّاءِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: إِنَّ مِنْ رَوْح اللَّهِ تَعَالَى ثَلَاثَةً التَّهَجُّدُ بِاللَّيْلِ وَ إِفْطَارُ الصَّائِم وَ لِقَاءُ الْإِحْوَانِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Aban Bin Usman, from Bahr Al Sagga,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the comforts of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted there are three – the vigil at night (praying Salat), and breaking the fast, and meeting the brethren''.⁸⁸³

28- ل، الخصال الْمُظَفِّرُ الْعَلَوِيُّ عَنِ ابْنِ الْعَيَّاشِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الْخُسَنِ بْنِ إِشْكِيبَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ أَبِي بَكْرٍ الْحُضْرُمِيِّ عَنْ سَلَمَةَ بْنِ كُهْيْلٍ رَفَعَهُ عَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّسٍ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص سَبْعَةٌ فِي ظِلِّ عَرْشِ اللهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ يَوْمَ لَا ظِلُّ إِلَّا ظِلُّهُ إِمَّامٌ عَادِلٌ وَ شَابٌ نَشَأَ فِي عِبَادَةِ اللهِ عَرْ وَ جَلَّ حَلْيَةِ اللهِ عَنْ وَ جَلَّ عَنْهُ مِنْ حَشْيَةِ اللهِ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Muzaffar Al Alaqy, from Ibn Al Ayyashy, from his father, from Al-Hassan Bin Ishkeyb, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Kufi, from Abu Jameela, from Abu Bakr Al Hazramy, from Salama Bin Kuheyl, raising it from Ibn Abbas having said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Seven (persons) will be in the Shade of the Throne of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic on a Day there will be no shade except His^{-azwj} Shade – a just Imam^{-asws}, and a youth growing in the worship of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and a man giving charity with his right hand, hiding from his left, and a man doing Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in private, so his eyes fill upon from fear of Allah^{-azwj}.

وَ رَجُلٌ لَقِيَ أَحَاهُ الْمُؤْمِنَ فَقَالَ إِنِي لَأُحِبُّكَ فِي اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ رَجُلٌ حَرَجَ مِنَ الْمَسْجِدِ وَ فِي نِيَّتِهِ أَنْ يَرْجِعَ إِلَيْهِ وَ رَجُلٌ دَعَتْهُ امْرَأَةٌ ذَاتُ جَمَالٍ إِلَى نَفْسِهَا فَقَالَ إِنّي أَخافُ اللَّهَ رَبَّ الْعَالَمِينَ.

And a man meeting his brother Momin for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, so he said, 'I am your brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and a man exiting from the Masjid and it is in

⁸⁸¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 25

⁸⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 26

⁸⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 27

his interion that he will return to it, and a man invited by a woman with beauty to herself, so he says, 'I fear Allah^{-azwj}, Lord^{-azwj} of the worlds''.⁸⁸⁴

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' - Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa raising it,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who is not able upon connecting with us^{-asws}, let him connect with our^{-asws} righteous friends, and the one who is not able upon visiting us^{-asws}, let him visit our^{-asws} righteous friends, it shall be Written for him the Rewards of having visited us^{-asws}''. 885

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Jameela, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'An Angel from the Angels passed by a man standing at a door. The Angel said to him, 'O servant of Allah-azwj! What makes you stand at this door?'

He (the narrator) said, 'He said to him, 'A brother of mine is in it. I want to greet unto him'.

The Angels said to him, 'Is there any sparkling kinship between you and him? Or has a need brought you to him?'

He (the narrator) said, 'No! There is no relationship between me and him, nor has any need brought me to him except brotherhood of Al-Islam and its sanctity. But rather I had promised and, and I shall greet unto him for the Sake of Allah-azwj, Lord-azwj of the world'.

The Angel said to him, 'I am a messenger of Allah^{-azwj} to you, and He^{-azwj} Conveys the Greetings to you and Says: "But rather you intended Me^{-azwj}, and you had promised to Me^{-azwj}, and I^{-azwj}

 $^{^{884}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 28 $\,$

⁸⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 29

have Obligated the Paradise for you, and I^{-azwj} have Excused you from My^{-azwj} Wrath and Rescued you from the Fire!"'⁸⁸⁶

31- بشا، بشارة المصطفى ابْنُ شَيْخِ الطَّائِفَةِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الْمُفِيدِ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الْمُفِيدِ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ بَرِكَانَ يَا دَاوُدُ أَبْلِغْ مَوَالِيَّ مِنِّي السَّلَامَ وَ أَيِّ أَقُولُ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ لِدَاوُدَ بْنِ سِرْحَانَ يَا دَاوُدُ أَبْلِغْ مَوَالِيَّ مِنِّي السَّلَامَ وَ أَيِّ أَقُولُ اللَّهُ عَبْداً اجْتَمَعَ مَعَ آخَرَ فَتَذَاكَرَ أَمْرَنَا فَإِنَّ قَالِتَهُمَّا مَلَكُ يَسْتَغْفِرُ لَهُمَا رَحِمَ اللَّهُ عَبْداً اجْتَمَعَ مَعَ آخَرَ فَتَذَاكَرَ أَمْرَنَا فَإِنَّ قَالِتَهُمَّا مَلَكُ يَسْتَغْفِرُ لَهُمَا

(The book) 'Bashaarat Al Musatafa^{-saww'} – Ibn Sheykh Al Taifa, from his father, from Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Ibrahim, from his father, from his grandfather, from Abdullah Bin Hammad Al Anasary, from Jameel Bin Darraj,

'From Muattab a slave of Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said, 'I heard him^{-asws} saying to Dawood Bin Sirhan: 'O Dawood! Deliver the greetings from me to the friends, and I^{-asws} am saying to them: 'May Allah^{-azwj} have Mercy on a servant gathering with another, so they mention our^{-asws} matter, for their third would be an Angel seeking Forgiveness for them both.

And whenever you gather you should pre-occupy with the Zikr, for in your gathering and your Zikr is revival of our-asws matter; and best of the people from after us-asws is the one who reminds of our-asws matter and returns to mentioning us-asws".887

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' - By his chain, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws}, from Al-Husayn^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws}, may the Salawaat of Allah^{-azwj} be upon them^{-asws}, from the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'It is narrated to me^{-saww} by Jibraeel^{-as} that Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Sent down an Angel to the earth.

That Angel came until he was at the door of a man. There was a man seeking permission at the door of the house. The Angel said to him, 'What is your need to the owner of his house?'

He said, 'A Muslim brother of mine. I am visiting him for the Sake of Allah-azwj the Exalted'.

He said: 'By Allah-azwj! Nothing has made you come except that?'

⁸⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 30

⁸⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 31

قَالَ مَا جَاءَ بِي إِلَّا ذَاكَ

He said, 'Nothing has made me come except that'.

He said, 'I am a messenger of Allah^{-azwj} to you, and He^{-azwj} Conveys the Greetings to you and Says: "I^{-azwj} have Obligated the Paradise for you!"

He (the narrator) said, 'He said, 'Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Says: "Whenever a Muslim visits a Muslim, it isn't him that he is visiting, but he is visiting Me^{-azwj}, and his Reward is the Paradise!"'⁸⁸⁸

33- ختص، الإختصاص عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ يَزِيدَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ لِكُلِّ شَيْءٍ شَيْءٌ يَسْتَرِيحُ إِلَيْهِ وَ إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ يَسْتَرِيحُ إِلَى أَخِيهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ كَمَا يَسْتَرِيحُ الطَّائِرُ إِلَى شَكْلِهِ أَ وَ مَا رَأَيْتَ ذَلِكَ.

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' - From Umar Bin Yazeed who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'For everything there is something it is comforted to, and the Momin is comforted to his Momin brother just as the bird is to its form (species). Or have you not seen that?''⁸⁸⁹

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'One who visits his brother Momin for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, Allah^{-azwj} Calls out to him: "O you visitor! You have done well, and the Paradise has been Made good for you".⁸⁹⁰

35- عُدَّةُ الدَّاعِي قَالَ الصَّادِقُ أَيُّمَا مُؤْمِنَيْنِ أَوْ ثَلَاثَةٍ اجْتَمَعُوا عِنْدَ أَخٍ لَهُمْ يَأْمَنُونَ بَوَائِقَهُ وَ لَا يَخَافُونَ غَوَائِلَهُ وَ يَرْجُونَ مَا عِنْدَهُ إِنْ دَعَوُا اللّهَ أَجَاجُهُمْ وَ إِنْ سَكَتُوا البُتَدَأُهُمْ.

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Whichever two Momineen, or three were to gather in the presence of a brother of theirs, they are safe from his remaining and not fearing from his suffering, and hoping for what is in His^{-azwj} Presence, if they were to supplicate to Allah^{-azwj} He^{-azwj} will Answer

⁸⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 32

⁸⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 33

⁸⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 34

them, and if they ask, He^{-azwj} will Give them, and if they seek increase, He^{-azwj} will Increase for them, and if they are silent, He^{-azwj} will Initiate them".⁸⁹¹

And he-asws said: 'One who visits his brother for Allah-azwj, not for something else, but for the seeking of what Allah-azwj has Promised and accomplish what is in His-azwj Presence, Allah-azwj will Allocate seventy thousand Angels calling out to him: 'Indeed, you have done well, and the Paradise has been Made good for you!"⁸⁹²

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imama Wa Al Tabsira' – From Muhammad Bin Abdullah, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Razaz, from his maternal uncle Ali Bin Muhammad, from Amro Bin Usman Al Khazzaz, from Al Nowfali, from Al Sakuny,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The visitation builds the cordiality''.⁸⁹³

وَ قَالَ صِ زُرْ غِبّاً تَزْدَدْ حُبّاً.

And he-saww said: 'Visit intermittently, you will increase in love''.894

-

 $^{^{891}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 35 a

⁸⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 35 b

⁸⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 36 a

⁸⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 21 H 36 b

باب 22 تزويج المؤمن أو قضاء دينه أو إخدامه أو خدمته و نصيحته

CHAPTER 22 – GETTING THE MOMIN MARRIED, OR PAYING OFF HIS DEBTS, OR PROVIDING SERVANT TO HIM OR SERVING HIM, AND ADVISING HIM

1- ب، قرب الإسناد مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَبْدِ الْحُمِيدِ عَنْ عَبْدِ الْمُسْلِمِ بْنِ سَالِمٍ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ سَالِمٍ قَالَ: بَعَثْنِي أَبُو الْحُسَنِ مُوسَى ع إِلَى عَمَّتِهِ يَسْأَلُهَا شَيْئاً كَانَ لَمَا تُوبِدُ فِي مَا تُربِدُ فِي ذَلِكَ تُعِينُ بِهِ مُعَالِّقِ مِنْ اللَّهُ وَ إِلَيْكَ فَاصْنَعْ بِهِ مَا تُربِدُ فِي ذَلِكَ تُعِينُ بِهِ مُعَالِّقِ مِنْ اللَّهُ مِنْ إِلَيْكَ فَاصْنَعْ بِهِ مَا تُربِدُ فِي ذَلِكَ

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Muhammad Bin Abdul Hameed, from Abdul Muslim Bin salim, from Al-Hassan Bin Salim who said,

'Abu Al-Hassan Musa^{-asws} send me to his^{-asws} paternal aunt asking her something which was for her to assist Muhammad son of Ja'far^{-asws} with it regarding his dowry. When she saw the letter, she laughed, then said to me, 'Say to him^{-asws}, 'May my father and my mother be (sacrificed) for me! The matter is up to you^{-asws}, so deal with him whatever you want to regarding that'.

فَقُلْتُ هَا فَدَيْتُكِ أَيْشِ كَتَبَ إِلَيْكِ

I said to her, 'May I be your ransom! Which thing has he asws written to you?'

فَقَالَتْ يُهْدَى إِلَيْكَ قِدْرُ بِرَامٍ أُخْبِرُكَ بِهِ

She said, 'He-asws has guided to you a worthy container. I shall inform you with it'.

قُلْتُ نَعَمْ

I said, 'Yes'.

فَأَعْطَتْنِي الْكِتَابَ فَقَرْأَتُهُ فَإِذَا فِيهِ إِنَّ لِلَهِ ظِلَّا تَحْتَ يَدِهِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ لَا يَسْتَظِلُ تَحْتَهُ إِلَّا نَبِيٍّ أَوْ مُوْمِيُّ نَبِيٍّ أَوْ مُؤْمِنٌ أَعْتَقَ عَبْداً مُؤْمِناً أَوْ مُؤْمِنٌ قَضَا مَغْرَمَ مُؤْمِنٍ أَوْ مُؤْمِنٌ كَفَّ أَيِّكَةَ مُؤْمِنٍ.

She gave me the letter. I read it, and there was (written) in it: 'For Allah-azwj there will be a Shade under His-azwj Hand on the Day of Qiyamah. No one will be shaded until it except a Prophet-as, or a successor-as of a Prophet-as, or a Momin who had liberated a Momin slave, or a Momin having paid off a creditor of a Momin, or a Momin taking responsibility of a widow of a Momin''.895

2- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ النَّهِيكِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَخِيهِ مُوسَى ع قَالَ: ثَلَاثَةٌ يَسْتَظِلُونَ بِظِلِّ عَرْشِ اللَّهِ يَوْمَ لَا ظِلَّ إِلَّا ظِلَّهُ رَجُّلٌ رَوَّجَ أَحْاهُ الْمُسْلِمَ أَوْ أَخْدَمَهُ أَوْ كَتَمَ لَهُ سِرًاً.

 895 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 1

Page 378 of 462

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Bargy, from Al Naheyki,

'From Ali son of Ja'far-asws, from his brother-asws Musa-asws having said: 'Three will be shaded with the Shade of the Throne of Allah-azwj on a Day there will be no shade except His-azwj Shade – a man getting his Muslim brother to be married, or serving him, or concealing a secret for him''. 896

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Salama Bin Al Khattab, from Ibrahim Bin Muhammad Al Saqafy, from Ismail Bin Aban, from Salih Bin Abu Al Aswad, raising it from Abu Al Mu'tamar who said,

'I heard Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Whichever Muslim serves a group of Muslims, Allah^{-azwj} will Give him servants in the Paradise like their number''.⁸⁹⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, form Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Umar Bin Aban, from Isa Bin Abu Mansour,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is obligatory for the Momin upon the Momin that he should advise him''.⁸⁹⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Muawiya Bin Wahab,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It is obligatory for the Momin upon the Momin, the good advice to him during the presence and the absence''. 899

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Riab, from Abu Ubeyda Al Haza'a,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'It obligates for the Momin upon the Momin, the good advice for him''.⁹⁰⁰

 $^{^{896}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 2 $\,$

⁸⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 3

⁸⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 4

⁸⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 5

⁹⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 6

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Ibn Mahboub, from Umar Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww having said: 'Let the man from you be advising his brother like his advising to himself". 901

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'The mightiest of the people in status in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} on the Day of Qiyamah will be their most walking in His^{-azwj} earth with the goodly advice to His-azwj creatures". 902

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From Ali, from his father, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad, from Al Mingary, from Sufyan Bin Uyayna who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah-asws saying: 'Upon you all with goodly advising for the Sake of Allah-azwj among His-azwj creatures, for you will never meet Him-azwj with any deed superior to it".903

901 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 7

 $^{^{902}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 8

⁹⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 22 H 9

باب 23 إطعام المؤمن و سقيه و كسوته و قضاء دينه

CHAPTER 23 – FEEDING THE MOMIN, AND QUENCHING HIM, AND CLOTHING HIM, AND PAYING OFF HIS DEBTS

الآيات

The Verses

الحاقة إِنَّهُ كَانَ لا يُؤْمِنُ بِاللَّهِ الْعَظِيمِ وَ لا يَحُضُّ عَلَى طَعامِ الْمِسْكِينِ فَلَيْسَ لَهُ الْيَوْمَ هاهُنا حَمِيمٌ وَ لا طَعامٌ إِلَّا مِنْ غِسْلِينِ

(Surah) Al Haaqa - Surely, he did not believe in Allah, the Magnificent [69:33] Nor did he urge upon feeding the poor [69:34] So today, there is no friend for him over here [69:35] Nor any food except from pus [69:36]

المدثر و لَمْ نَكُ نُطْعِمُ الْمِسْكِينَ

(Surah) Al Muddasir - And we did not used to feed the poor [74:44]

الدهر وَ يُطْعِمُونَ الطَّعامَ عَلَى حُبِّهِ مِسْكِيناً وَ يَتِيماً وَ أَسِيراً إِنَّا نُطْعِمُكُمْ لِوَجْهِ اللَّهِ لا نُريدُ مِنْكُمْ جَزاءً وَ لا شُكُوراً

(Surah) 'Al Dahr - And they fed the food to a poor, and an orphan and a captive out of love [76:8] (They said): 'But rather, we are feeding you for the Face of Allah, neither wanting any recompense from you nor any appreciation' [76:9]

الفجر وَ لا تَحَاضُونَ عَلى طَعامِ الْمِسْكِينِ

(Surah) Al Fajr - And you are not urging upon feeding the poor [89:18]

البلد أَوْ إطْعامٌ فِي يَوْمٍ ذِي مَسْغَبَةِ يَتِيماً ذا مَقْرَبَةِ أَوْ مِسْكِيناً ذا مَتْرَبَةِ

(Surah) Al Balad - Or feeding during a day of starvation [90:14] (To) an orphan, possessing relationship [90:15] Or a poor person with destitution [90:16]

الماعون فَذَلِكَ الَّذِي يَدُعُ الْيَتِيمَ وَ لا يَحُضُّ عَلَى طَعَامِ الْمِسْكِينِ

(Surah) Al Mamoun - So that is the one who forsakes the orphan [107:2] And he does not urge upon feeding the poor [107:3]

1- مل، كامل الزيارات الحُسَنُ بْنُ عَلِيِّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ الْبَجَلِيِّ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ الْبَجَلِيِّ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ أَتَى بِوَاحِدَةٍ مِنْهُنَّ دَحُلَ الجُنَّةَ مَنْ سَقِّى هَامَّةً ظَامِئَةً أَوْ أَشْبَعَ كَبِداً جَائِعَةً أَوْ كَسَا جِلْدَةً عَارِيَةً أَوْ أَعْنَقَ رَقَبَةً عَانِيَةً.

(The book) 'Kaamil Al-Ziyaraat' – Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Abu Abdullah Al Bajaly, from one of his companions,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Four (things), one who comes with even one of these will enter the Paradise – one who quenches a thirsty head, or satiates a hungry liver, or clothes a bare skin, or frees a captive neck''. 904

2- مل، كامل الزيارات مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عِيسَى الْأَرْمَيُّ عَنِ الْعَرْزَمِيِّ عَنِ الْوَصَّافِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص أَحَبُ الْأَعْمَالِ إِلَى اللهِ ثَلاَثَةٌ إِشْبَاعُ جَوْعَةِ الْمُسْلِم وَ قَضَاءُ دَيْبِهِ وَ تَنْفِيسُ كُرْبَيهِ.

(The book) 'Kamil Al Ziyaraat' – Muhammad Bin Isa Al Armany from Al Azramy, from Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The most Beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} are three – satiating hunger of a Muslim, and paying off his debts, and removing his distress''.⁹⁰⁵

3- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْحَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ فَيْضِ بْنِ الْمُخْتَارِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: الْمُنْجِيَاتُ إِطْعَامُ الطَّعَامِ الطَّعَامُ الطَّعَامُ الطَّعَامُ وَ الشَّلَامِ وَ الصَّلَاةُ بِاللَّيْلِ وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Ibn Ameyra, from Fayz Bin Al Mukhtar,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The saviours are – feeding food, and initiating the greetings, and the Salat at night while the people are sleeping''. 906

4- سن، المحاسن عَلِيُّ بْنُ مُحُمَّدٍ الْقَاسَانِيُّ عَمَّنْ حَدَّثَهُ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْقَاسِمِ الجُعْفَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص حَيْرُكُمْ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ الطَّعَامَ وَ أَفْشَى السَّلَامَ وَ صَلَّى وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ali Bin Muhammad Al Qasany, from the one who narrated it, from Abdullah Bin Al Qasim Al Ja'fary,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Best of you is the one who feeds the food, and initiating the greetings, and praying Salat while the people are sleeping''.⁹⁰⁷

5- سن، المحاسن عُثْمَانُ بْنُ عِيسَى عَنْ سَمَاعَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: جَمَعَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص بَنِي عَبْدِ الْمُطَّلِبِ فَقَالَ يَا بَنِي عَبْدِ الْمُطَّلِبِ أَفْشُوا السَّلَامَ وَ صِلُوا الْأَرْحَامَ وَ تَمَجَّدُوا وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ وَ أَطْعِمُوا الطَّعَامَ وَ أَطْمِبُوا الْكَلَامَ تَدْخُلُوا الْجُنَّةَ بِسَلَامٍ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} gathered the clan of Abdul Muttalib^{-as}. He^{-saww} said: 'O clan of Abdul Muttalib^{-as}! Initiate the greetings, and connect the kinship, and pray the night Salat while the people are sleeping, and feed the food, and be of good speech you will enter the Paradise with the safety". ⁹⁰⁸

 $^{^{904}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 1

⁹⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 2

⁹⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 3

⁹⁰⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 4

⁹⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 5

6- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شِمْرٍ عَنْ جَابِرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ كَانَ عَلِيٍّ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّا أَهْلُ بَيْتٍ أُمِرْنَا أَنْ نُطْعِمَ الطَّعَامَ وَ نُودِي فِي النَّائِيَةِ وَ نُصَلِّىَ إِذَا نَامَ النَّاسُ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Ibn Ameyra, from Amro Bin Shimr, from Jabir,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Ali^{-asws} had said: 'We^{-asws}, People^{-asws} of the Household, we^{-asws} are Commanded to feed the food, and being cordial during the adversities, and pray while the people are sleeping''. ⁹⁰⁹

7- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ الْفَضْلِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنْ عِيسَى بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ الْهَاشِمِيِّ عَنْ حَالِدِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ رَجُلٍ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُنْكَدِرِ قَالَ: أَحَذَ رَجُلٌ بِلِجَامِ دَابَّةِ النَّبِيِّ صِ فَقَالَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ أَيُّ الْأَعْمَالِ أَفْضَلُ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Abdullah Bin Al Fazl Al Nowfaly, from Isa Bin Abdullah Al Hashimy, from Khalid Bin Muhammad Bin Suleyman, from a man, from Abu Al Munkadir who said,

'A man grabbed a rein of a riding animal of the Prophet-saww. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! Which of the deeds is best?'

فَقَالَ إطْعَامُ الطَّعَامِ وَ إطْيَابُ الْكَلَامِ.

He-saww said: 'Feeding the food and the good speech". 910

8- سن، المحاسن ابْنُ فَضَّالِ عَنْ تُعْلَبَةَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْن قَيْس قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ يُحِبُّ إِطْعَامَ الطَّعَامِ وَ هِرَاقَةَ الدِّمَاءِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ibn Fazzal, from Sa'alba, from Muhammad Bin Qays who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far-asws saying: 'Allah-azwj Loves (people) feeding the food and spilling the blood (sacrificial animal)".911

9- سن، المحاسن الحُسَنُ بْنُ عَلِيّ عَنْ تَعْلَبَةَ عَنْ زُرَارَةَ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ اللَّهَ يُحِبُّ إِطْعَامَ الطَّعَامِ وَ إِفْشَاءَ السَّلَامِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Sa'alba, from Zurara who said,

'I heard Abu Ja'far-asws saying: 'Allah-azwj Loves (people) feeding the food and initiating the greetings''. 912

10- سن، المحاسن عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحَكَم عَنِ الْبَطَائِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عِ قَالَ: إِنَّ اللَّهَ يُحِبُّ هِرَاقَةَ الدِّمَاءِ وَ إِطْعَامَ الطَّعَامِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Al Batainy, from Abu Baseer,

⁹⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 6

⁹¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 7

 $^{^{911}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 8

⁹¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 9

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Loves (people) spilling the blood (sacrificial offering) and feeding the food''.⁹¹³

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ja'far Al Ashary, from Ibn Al Qaddah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a Muslim until he satiates him, no one from the creatures of Allah^{-azwj} knows what is for him from the Recompense in the Hereafter, neither an Angel of Proximity, nor a Messenger^{-as} Prophet^{-as}, except Lord^{-azwj} of the worlds'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'From the (actions) obligating the Paradise and the Forgiveness is feeding the food in the time of hunger'.

Then he^{-asws} recited Words of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted: *Or feeding during a day of starvation* [90:14] (To) an orphan, possessing relationship [90:15] Or a poor person with destitution [90:16] Then he would be from those who believe, [90:17]". 914

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Ibn Al Mugheira, from Musa Bin Bakr,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} having said: 'From (actions) obligating Forgiveness by the Lord^{-azwj}, is feeding the food''. ⁹¹⁵

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – from Sa'dan Bin Muslim, from one of his companions,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From (actions) obligating the Forgiveness is feeding the hungry''. 916

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at,

⁹¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 10

⁹¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 11

⁹¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 12

⁹¹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 13

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who satiates a hungry liver, the Paradise is obligated for him''.⁹¹⁷

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - By this chain,

'He-asws said: 'One who satiates a hungry one, a river will flow for him in the Paradise''. 918

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ismail Bin Mihran, from Safwan,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws - similar to it". 919

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Ibn Fazzal, from Maymoun,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'The sustenance is quicker to the one who feeds the food than the Knife is into the hump (of the camel)". 920

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Musa Bin Bakr, from Al Fuzeyl who said,

'He informed me, the one who heard it from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The good is quicker to the house in which the food is fed, than the blade is in the hump of a camel''.⁹²¹

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Al Jamourany, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Abu Hamza, from Ahmad Bin Amro Bin Jumie, from his father raising it, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The house from which the bread is provided, the Blessings are quicker to it than the blade is into the hump of a camel''. 922

 $^{^{917}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 14

⁹¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 15

⁹¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 16

⁹²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 17

⁹²¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 18

⁹²² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 19

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Usman Bin Isa, from Husayn Bin Nueym Al Sahhaf who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said to me: 'Do you love your brethren, O Husayn?' I said, 'Yes'.

قَالَ تَنْفَعُ فُقَرَاءَهُمْ قُلْتُ نَعَمْ

He-asws said: 'Do you benefit their poor ones?' I said, 'Yes'.

He^{-asws} said: 'But rather, it is a right upon you to love the one who loves Allah^{-azwj}. But, by Allah^{-azwj}, you will not benefit anyone of them until you invite them to your house'.

I said, 'I don't eat except and with them are two men from them and three, and less, and more'.

Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'Their merit upon you is mightier than your merit is upon them'.

I said, 'I call them to my house and feed them my food, and I quench them, and I give them my riding animal, and they happen to be superior to me?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes! When they enter your house, they enter with Forgiveness for you and Forgiveness of your dependants, and when they exit from your house, they exit with your sins and sins of your dependants (having been Forgiven)".⁹²³

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Muammar Bin Khallad who said,

'I saw Abu Al-Hassan Al Reza^{-asws} eating. He^{-asws} recited this Verse: **And what will make you realise what the uphill road is? [90:12] Freeing a neck [90:13]** – up to end of the Verse. Then

-

⁹²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 20

he^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Knows that every one of His^{-azwj} creatures isn't able upon freeing a neck, so He^{-azwj} Made a way for them to the Paradise by feeding the food''.⁹²⁴

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan Bin Shamoun, from Abdullah Bin Amro Bin Al Ash'as, from Abdullah Bin Hammad Al Ansary, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Umar Bin Abu Al Miqdam, from his father having said:

'Abu Ja'far-asws said to me: 'O Abu Al Miqdam! By Allah-azwj, if I-asws were to feed a man from my-asws Shias, it would be more beloved to me than if I-asws were to feed an 'Ufq' from the people!'

قُلْتُ كَمِ الْأُفُقُ

I said, 'How many is the 'Ufq'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفٍ.

He-asws said: 'One hundred thousand". 925

23- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ مُقَرِّنٍ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللّهِ الْوَصَّافِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ رَجُلًا مُسْلِماً أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ أُفْقاً مِنَ النَّاس

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Muhammad Bin Muqarrin, from Ubeydullah Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Because my^{-asws} feeding a Muslim man is more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to liberate an 'Ufq' from the people'.

قُلْتُ وَكُم الْأَفْقُ

I said, 'And how many is the 'Ufg'?'

قَالَ عَشَرَةُ آلَافِ.

He-asws said: 'Ten thousand''. 926

24- سن، المحاسن عَلِيٌ بْنُ الْحُكَم عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ حَسَّانَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ صَالِح بْنِ مِيثَم عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ ع قَالَ: إِطْعَامُ مُسْلِم يَعْدِلُ عِتْقَ نَسَمَةٍ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Ibn Ameyra, from Hassan Bin Mihran, from Salih Bin Maysam,

⁹²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 21

⁹²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 22

⁹²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 23

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Feed a Muslim equates to liberating a person''. 927

25- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ الجُنَمَّالِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ رَجُلًا مِنْ أَصْحَابِي حَتَّى يَشْبَعَ أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً وَ لَأَنْ أُعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً فَأُعْتِقُهَا وَ لَأَنْ أُعْطِيهَ وَهُمَّا أَصْحَابِي دِرْهَمَّا أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَنْصَدَّقَ بِعَشَرَةٍ وَ لَأَنْ أُعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً أَحْبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً أَحْبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from one of our companions, from Safwan Bin Mihran Al Jammal who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'If I^{-asws} were to feed a man from my^{-asws} companions until he is satiated, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to go out to the market and buy a neck (slave) and liberate him; and if I^{-asws} were to give a Dirham to a man from my^{-asws} companions, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to give in charity with ten (Dirhams); and if I^{-asws} were to give him ten, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than giving a hundred in charity". ⁹²⁸

26- سن، المحاسن محُمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ يَعْقُوبَ الْهَاتِثِيِّ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ أَيُّوبَ بْنِ الْحِبَّ فِي الْوَصَّافِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لَأَكْلَةٌ أُطْعِمُهَا أَخاً لِي فِي اللّهِ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ مِسْكِيناً وَ لَأَنْ أُشْبِعَ أَخاً فِي اللّهِ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ عَشَرَةَ مَسَاكِينَ وَ لَأَنْ أُعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةَ دَرَاهِمَ أَحَبُ إِلَيًّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ مِسْكِيناً وَ لَأَنْ أُشْبِعَ أَخاً فِي اللّهِ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ مِسْكِينَ وَ لَأَنْ أُعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةَ دَرَاهِمَ أَخبُ إِلَى مِنْ أَنْ أُعْطِيهُ عَشَرَةً دَرُهُم فِي الْمُسَاكِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Ali Bin Yaqoub Al Hashimy, from Haroun Bin Muslim, from Ayoub Bin AL Hurr, from Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'A meal I-asws feed a brother of mine-asws for the Sake of Allah-azwj is more beloved to me than if I-asws were to satiate a poor one, and if I-asws were to satiate a brother for the Sake of Allah-azwj it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to satiate ten poor ones, and if I-asws were to give him ten Dirham, it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to give a hundred Dirhams among the poor ones''. 929

27- سن، المحاسن أبِي عَنِ النَّصْرِ عَنْ يَحْيَى الْحَلَيِّ عَنْ أَيُّوبَ بْنِ الْخُرِّ عَنِ الْوَصَّافِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ أَخاً فِي اللَّهِ أَكْلَةً أَوْ لُقُمَةً أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ عَشَرَةَ مَسَاكِينَ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Al Nazar, from Yahya Al Halby, from Ayoub Bin Al Hurr, from Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'If I-asws were to feed a brother for the Sake of Allah-azwj a meal, or a morsel, it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws satiate a poor one, and if I-asws were to satiate a brother of mine establishing for the Sake of Allah-azwj, it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to satiate a poor one''. 930

28– سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ الحُسَنِ بْنِ شَمُّونٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ عَمْرِو بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ اللَّهِ بْنِ عَمْرِه بْنِ الْأَشْعَثِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ الْأَنْصَارِيِّ عَنْ حَنَانِ بْنِ سَدِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِعِلْمِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبْتُهِ عُنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبْتُ لِي أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبْتُهِ لِلللَّهِ لِنَا مِلْكُولِ عَلَيْكُ لِلللَّهِ عَلَى الللّهِ عَلَى الللَّهِ عَلْ أَبْلِيلًا لِمُنْ أَلْمُ لِللَّهِ عَلْمُ لَلْهِ عَلْمُ لَلْمُ لِللللَّهِ عَلْمُ لِللللللَّهِ عَلْمُ عَلْمُ لِلللَّهِ عَلْمُ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى الللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلْمَ لَلْمُ لَلْمُ لِللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى

⁹²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 24

⁹²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 25

⁹²⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 26

⁹³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 27

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Al-Hassan Bin Shamoun, from Abdullah Bin Amro Bin Al Ash'as, from Abdullah Bin Hammad Al Ansari, from hanan Bin Sadeyr, from his father,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'O Sadeyr! Do you liberate a person every day?' I said, 'No'. He^{-asws} said: 'Every month?' I said, 'No'. He^{-asws} said: 'Every year?' I said, 'No'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Glory be to Allah^{-azwj}! Don't you hold the hand of one of our^{-asws} Shias and enter him into your house, so you feed him to satiation? By Allah^{-azwj}! That is better than liberating a neck from the sons of Ismail^{-as}!''⁹³¹

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam, from Sadeyr Al Sayrafi who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said to me: 'What prevents you from liberating a person every day?'

فَقُلْتُ لَا يَحْتَمِلُ ذَلِكَ مَالى

I said, 'My wealth cannot endure that'.

فَقَالَ أَطْعِمْ كُلَّ يَوْمٍ رَجُلًا مُسْلِماً

He-asws said: 'Feed a Muslim man every day!'

فَقُلْتُ مُوسِراً أَوْ مُعْسِراً

I said, 'Affluent or poor?'

فَقَالَ إِنَّ الْمُوسِرَ قَدْ يَشْتَهِي الطَّعَامَ.

He-asws said: 'The affluent also desires the food''.932

30- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ صَفْوَانَ عَنْ فُصَيْلِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ نُعَيْمٍ الْأَحْوَلِ قَالَ: دَحْلُتُ عَلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع فَقَالَ لِيَ الجَلِسْ فَأَصِبْ مَعِي مِنْ هَذَا الطَّعَام حَتَّى أُحَدِّئُكَ بِحَدِيثِ سَمِعْتُهُ مِنْ أَبِي كَانَ أَبِي يَقُولُ لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ عَشَرَةً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أَحَبُ إِلَىَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ عَشْرَ رَقَبَاتٍ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Safwan, from Fuzeyl Bin Usman, from Nueym Al Ahwal who said,

'I entered to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said to me: 'Be seated and attain with me^{-asws} from this meal until I^{-asws} narrate to you with a Hadeeth I^{-asws} have heard from my^{-asws} father^{-asws}.

⁹³¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 28

⁹³² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 29

My^{-asws} father^{-asws} had said: 'If I^{-asws} were to feed ten from the Muslims, it would be more beloved to me that if I^{-asws} were to liberate ten necks (slaves)".⁹³³

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Safwan, from Abu Al Magra'a, from Rikaz Al Wasity, from Sabit Al Sumali who said,

'Abu Ja'far-asws said to me: 'O Sabit! Are you not able to liberate a neck (slave) every day?'

I said, 'No, by Allah-azwj, may I be sacrificed for you-asws! I am not strong upon (doing) that'.

He-asws said: 'Are you not able upon providing dinner or lunch for four of the Muslims?'

I said, 'As for this, I am strong upon (doing) that'.

He^{-asws} said: 'By Allah^{-azwj}! In the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} it equates to liberating a neck''.⁹³⁴

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ismail Bin Mihran, from Safwan Al Jammal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'He^{-asws} said: 'If I^{-asws} were to satiate a man from my^{-asws} brothers, it would be more beloved to me that if I^{-asws} were to enter this market of yours and but a head (slave) from it and liberate him''.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn Bin Ahmad, from Khalid,

⁹³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 30

 $^{^{934}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 31

⁹³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 32

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Loves, feeding the food and spilling the blood at Mina (sacrificial offering)''.⁹³⁶

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Sayf Bin Ameyra, from Abdullah Bin Al waleed Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Loves spilling of the blood (sacrificial animal), and feeding the food, and helping the aggrieved (distressed)". ⁹³⁷

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Ibrahim Bin Abdul Hameed, from Abu Al Jaroud,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'The most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} is entering the gladness unto the Momin, satiating a Muslim, or paying off his debts''. ⁹³⁸

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ismail Bin Mihran, from Ibn Ameyra, from Aasim Bin Humeyd, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him-asws saying: 'Three characteristics, there are from the most beloved of the deeds to Allah-azwj – A Muslim feeding a Muslim from hunger, and removing distress from him, and paying off his debts". 939

My father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} – satiating hunger of the Momin, or removing his distress, or paying off his debts''. ⁹⁴⁰

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ibrahim, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hammad Bin usman,

⁹³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 33

⁹³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 34

⁹³⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 35

⁹³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 36

⁹⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 37

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the Eman is good manners and feeding the food".⁹⁴¹

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Al Hakam Bin Ayman, from Maymoun Al Ban,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Eman is the good manners, and feeding the food, and spilling the blood (sacrificial animal)". ⁹⁴²

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Sa'dan, from Husayn Bin Nueym who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, 'The brother of min, I enter him into my house, and I feed him my food, and my family and my servants serve him. Which of us is of mightier conferment upon his companion?'

قَالَ هُوَ عَلَيْكَ أَعْظَمُ منَّةً

He-asws said: 'He is of mightier conferment upon you'.

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! I enter him into my house, and I feed him my food, and I serve him by myself, and my family and my servants serve him, and he happens to be of mightier conferment upon me and me upon him?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes because he is ushering the sustenance upon you, and he is carrying the sins away from you (Forgiven)''.⁹⁴³

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Haroun Bin Al Jaham, from Al Mufazzal, from Sa'ad Bin Tareyf,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a hungry one, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise''. ⁹⁴⁴

⁹⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 38

⁹⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 39

 $^{^{943}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 40

⁹⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 41

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Hammad, from Ibrahim Bin Umar, from Al Suali,

'From Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise''. ⁹⁴⁵

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Sa'dan, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'There is none from a Momin who feeds a Momin satiating from good, except Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the food of Paradise, nor will he quench a thirsty one to saturation, except Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar".⁹⁴⁶

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - From Al Batainy, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Muhammad^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws} was asked, 'What equates to liberating a neck?' He^{-asws} said: 'Feeding a Momin man''.⁹⁴⁷

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Ibn Abu Najran and Ali Bin Al Hakam, both together from Safwan Al Jammal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'A meal eaten by the Muslims with me^{-asws} is more beloved to me^{-asws} than liberating a neck (slave)". ⁹⁴⁸

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Abdul Rahman Bin Hammad, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad, from Ismail Bin Ibrahim, from Abu Muawiya Al Ashtar who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'There is none from a Momin feeding a Momin, whether he was affluent or poor, except there would be for him due to that, (Rewards of) liberating a neck from the sons of Ismail''. ⁹⁴⁹

⁹⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 42

⁹⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 43

⁹⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 44

⁹⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 45

⁹⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 46

47- سن، المحاسن مُحُمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْحَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ حَسَّانَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ مِيقَمٍ قَالَ: سَأَلَ رَجُلُّ أَبَا جَعْفَرٍ عَ فَقَالَ أَخْبِرْنِي بِعَمَل يَعْدِلُ عِتْقَ رَقَبَةِ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Ibn Ameyra, from Hassan Bin Mihran, from Salih Bin Maysam who said,

'A man asked Abu Ja'far^{-asws}. He said, 'Inform me of the deed which equates to freeing a neck (slave)'.

فَقَالَ أَبُو جَعْفَر عَ لَأَنْ أَدْعُو ثَلَاثَةً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ فَأُطْعِمَهُمْ حَتَّى يَشْبَعُوا وَ أُسْقِيَهُمْ حَتَّى يَرْوَوْا أَحَبُّ إِلَىَّ مِنْ عِتْق نَسَمَةٍ وَ نَسَمَةٍ حَتَّى عَدَّ سَبْعاً أَوْ أَكْثَرَ.

Abu Ja'far^{-asws} said: 'If I^{-asws} were to invite three from the Muslims, so I^{-asws} feed them until they are satirated, and I^{-asws} quench them until they are saturated, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than freeing a neck of a person, and a person' – until he^{-asws} counted seven or more".⁹⁵⁰

48- سن، المحاسن إِسْمَاعِيلُ بْنُ مِهْرَانَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ دَاوُدَ بْنِ التُعْمَانِ عَنْ مُسَيِّنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبًا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ ثَلَاثَةً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ غَفَرَ اللَّهُ لَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ismail Bin Mihran, from Ibn Ameyra, from Dawood Bin Al Numan, from Husayn Bin Ali who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who feeds three from the Muslims, Allah^{-azwj} will Forgive (his sins) for him''. ⁹⁵¹

49- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ زَكْرِيًّا بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ يُوسُفَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِنَيْنِ شِبَعَهُمَا كَانَ ذَلِكَ أَفْصَلَ مِنْ عِنْق رَقَيَةٍ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Zakariya Bin Muhammad, from Yusuf,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds two Momineen satiating them, that would be better than freeing a neck (slave)". 952

50- سن، المحاسن ابْنُ مِهْرَانَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ دَاوُدَ بْنِ النُّعْمَانِ عَنْ حُسَيْنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبًا عَبْدِ اللهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ عَشَرَةً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أُوْجَبِ الله لَهُ الجُنَّة.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ibn Mihran, from Ibn Ameyra, from Dawood Bin Al Numan, from Husayn Bin Ali who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'One who feeds ten from the Muslims, Allah^{-azwj} will Obligate the Paradise for him''.⁹⁵³

⁹⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 47

 $^{^{951}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 48

⁹⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 49

⁹⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 50

51- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: لأَنْ آخُذَ خَمْسَةَ دَرَاهِمَ ثُمَّ أَخْرُجَ إِلَى سُوقِكُمْ هَذِهِ فَأَشْتَرِيَ طَعَاماً ثُمَّ أَجْمَعَ عَلَيْهِ نَفَراً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أَحَبُّ إِلَىَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْنِقَ نَسَمَةً.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Hammad, from Rabie,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to take five Dirhams, then I^{-asws} go out to this market of yours, so I^{-asws} buy food, then I^{-asws} gather a number of Muslims upon it, it would be more beloved to me than liberating a person (slave)".⁹⁵⁴

52- سن، المحاسن أَبِي عَنْ مُعَمَّرِ بْنِ حُلَّادٍ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الرِّضَا ع فِي قَوْلِ اللَّهِ وَ يُطْعِمُونَ الطَّعَامَ عَلَى حُبِّهِ مِسْكِيناً قُلْتُ حُبِّ اللَّهَ أَوْ حُبِّ الطَّعَامِ. قَالَ حُبِّ الطَّعَامِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Muammar Bin Khallad,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} Al Reza^{-asws} regarding Words of the Exalted: **And they fed the food to a poor, out of love [76:8]**, I said, 'Love of Allah^{-azwj} or love of the food?' He^{-asws} said: 'The love of food''.⁹⁵⁵

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Hareyz, from a man who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'Should I feed a beggar man, I don't know him being a Muslim?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes, you should feed him for as long as you do not know him, either being with the friendship nor the enmity. Allah^{-azwj} Says: '*and you would be saying to the people good words, [2:83]*, and do not feed one who is hostile to something from the truth, or he calls to something from the falsehood". 956

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – From Abu Khadeeja, from a man,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'But rather Yaqoub-as was afflicted with Yusuf-saww (because) he-as had slaughtered a fat ram while a man from his-as companions has called out in the day, 'Needy!' He had not found what he could break fast upon; He-as was heedless of him and did not feed him-as, so he-as was afflicted with Yusuf-as.

وَ كَانَ بَعْدَ ذَلِكَ كُلَّ صَبَاحٍ مُنَادِيهِ يُنَادِي مَنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ صَائِماً فَلْيَشْهَدْ غَدَاءَ يَعْقُوبَ فَإِذَا كَانَ الْمَسَاءُ نَادَى مَنْ كَانَ صَائِماً فَلْيَشْهَدْ عَشَاءَ يَعْقُوبَ.

⁹⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 51

 $^{^{955}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 52

⁹⁵⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 53

And after that, it was so that his-as caller was calling out every morning, 'One who does not happen to be fasting, let him attend the lunch of Yaqoub-as!' So, when it was evening, he would call out, 'One who was fasting, let him attend the dinner of Yaqoub-as!'

55– مكا، مكارم الأخلاق عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ اللَّهَ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ يُحِبُّ الْإِطْعَامَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ يُحِبُّ الْإِطْعَامَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ يُحِبُّ الْإِطْعَامَ فِي اللَّهِ وَ الْبَرَكَةُ فِي بَيْتِهِ أَسْرَعُ مِنَ الشَّفْرَة فِي سَنَامِ الْبَعِيرِ.

(The book) 'Makarim Al Akhlaq' -

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Loves the feeding (others) for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and Loves the one who feeds the food for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, and the Blessings would be quicker in his house than the blade is in the hump of a camel''. ⁹⁵⁸

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Al-Husayn Bin Musa, from Abdul Rahman Bin Khalid, from Zayd Bin Hubab, from Hammad, from Sabit, from Abu Rafie, from Abu Hureyra (a well-known fabricator),

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: "O son of Adam^{-as}! I^{-azwj} was sick but you did not console Me^{-azwj}'.

He said, 'O Lord-azwj! How can I console You-azwj and You-azwj are Lord-azwj of the worlds?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "So and so servant of Mine^{-azwj} had fallen sick. Had you consoled him, you would have found Me^{-azwj} with him! And I^{-azwj} sought you to Quench Me^{-azwj} but you did not quench Me^{-azwj}!"

He said, 'How, and You-azwj are Lord-azwj of the worlds?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "My^{-azwj} servant had asked you to quench him, and had you quenched him, you would have found with Me^{-azwj}! And I^{-azwj} had sought you to be fed but you did not feed Me^{-azwj}!"

⁹⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 54

⁹⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 55

قَالَ كَيْفَ وَ أَنْتَ رَبُّ الْعَالَمِينَ

He said, 'How, and You-azwj are Lord-azwj of the worlds?'

قَالَ اسْتَطْعَمَكَ عَبْدِي فُلَانٌ وَ لَوْ أَطْعَمْتَهُ لَوَجَدْتَ ذَلِكَ عِنْدِي.

He^{-azwj} Said: "My^{-azwj} so and so servant had asked you to be fed, and had you fed him, you would have found that with Me^{-azwj}".⁹⁵⁹

57 - نَوَادِرُ الرَّاوَنْدِيّ، بِإِسْنَادِهِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْن مُحُمَّدٍ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص إِنَّ أَهْوَنَ أَهْلِ النَّارِ عَذَاباً ابْنُ جُذْعَانَ

(The book) 'Nawadir' of Al Rawandy - By his chain,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The least of Punishment from people of the Fire would be Ibn Juz'an'.

فَقِيلَ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ وَ مَا بَالُ ابْنِ جُذْعَانَ أَهْوَنُ أَهْلِ النَّارِ عَذَاباً

It was said, 'O Rasool-Allah^{-saww}! And what is the matter Ibn Juz'an will be of least Punishment of people of the Fire?'

قَالَ إِنَّهُ كَانَ يُطْعِمُ الطَّعَامَ.

He-saww said: 'He used to feed the food''. 960

58- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ مُمَيِّدِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ جَبَلَةَ عَنْ مُمَيْدِ بْنِ جُنَادَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع عَن النّبيّ ص قَالَ: مِنْ أَفْضَل الْأَعْمَالِ عِنْدَ اللّهِ إِبْرَادُ الْكِبَادِ الْحَارَةِ وَ إِشْبَاعُ الْكِبَادِ الْجَائِعَةِ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Humeyd Bin Ziyad, from Al Qasim Bin Ismail, from Abdullah Bin Jabalah, from Humeyd Bin Junada,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'From the superior deeds in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} is cooling the hot liver (by quenching) and satiating the hungry liver.

وَ الَّذِي نَفْسُ مُحَمَّدٍ بِيَدِهِ لَا يُؤْمِنُ بِي عَبْدٌ يَبِيتُ شَبْعَانَ وَ أَحُوهُ أَوْ قَالَ جَارُهُ الْمُسْلِمُ جَائِعٌ.

By the One^{-azwj} in Whose Hand is the soul of Muhammad^{-saww}! He has not believed with Me^{-azwj} , a servant spending the night satiated while his brother' – or said: 'his Muslim neighbour is hungry''. 961

⁹⁵⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 56

 $^{^{960}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 57

⁹⁶¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 58

59- أَعْلَامُ الدِّينِ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ص قَالَ: خَمْسٌ مَنْ أَتَى اللَّهَ بِمِنَّ أَوْ بِوَاحِدَةٍ مِنْهُنَّ وَجَبَتْ لَهُ الجُنَّةُ مَنْ سَقَى هَامَّةً صَادِيَةً أَوْ حَمَلَ قَدَماً حَافِيَةً أَوْ أَطْعَمَ كَبِداً جَائِعَةً أَوْ كَسَى جِلْدَةً عَارِيَةً أَوْ أَعْتَقَ رَقَيَةً عَانِيَةً.

(The book) 'A'laam Al Deen' -

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'Five, one who comes to Allah^{-azwj} with these, or with one of these, the Paradise will be Obligated for him – one who quenches a skull of splitting headache, or carries a bare-footed, or feeds a hungry liver, or clothes a bare skin, or liberates a captive neck". ⁹⁶²

(The book) 'Kitab Al Gayaat' -

'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'The best charity is (given) upon the captive whose eyes have turned green from hunger''. 963

And he^{-asws} said: 'The best charity is quenching the water, and the best charity given is the water''. ⁹⁶⁴

And from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The best charity is cooling a hot liver (by quenching)". 965

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Best of the deeds is cooling the hot liver, meaning quenching the water''. ⁹⁶⁶

And from him, from Alqama a slave of the clan of Hashim^{-as} who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} prayed the morning (Salat) with us, then he^{-saww} turned towards us. He^{-saww} said: 'Community of my^{-saww} companions! Last night I^{-saww} saw my paternal uncle Hamza^{-asws}

 $^{^{962}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 59

⁹⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 60 a

⁹⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 60 b

⁹⁶⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 60 c

⁹⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 60 d

Bin Abdul Muttalib^{-asws}, and my^{-saww} brother Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Abu Talib^{-asws}, and in front of them^{-asws} was a tray of buckthorn.

They^{-as} ate for a while. The buckthorn were transformed to them as grapes. They^{-as} ate for a while. The grapes were transformed as dates. I^{-saww} approached them^{-as}. I^{-saww} said: 'May my^{-saww} father^{-as} be (sacrificed) for you^{-as} both Which of the deeds is best?'

They^{-as} said: 'We^{-as} found the best of the deeds as being (sending) the Salawaat upon you^{-saww}, and quenching the water, and loving Ali^{-asws} Bin Abu Talib^{-asws}''. ⁹⁶⁷

And from him, from Malik Bin Atiya,

'From the one who heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} was asked about the most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. He^{-saww} said: 'From the most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is gladness you enter upon a momin, repelling hunger away from him, or removing a distress from him". ⁹⁶⁸

And from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} is satiating hunger of the Muslim, and paying off his debts, and removing his distress''. ⁹⁶⁹

And from Abu Ubeyda Al Haza'a,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'From the most beloved of the deeds to Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted is satiating hunger of a Momin, and removing his distress, and paying off his debts, and the ones who do that are few''.⁹⁷⁰

63-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ أَبِي يَحْيَى الْوَاسِطِيِّ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَشْبَعَ مُؤْمِناً وَجَبَتْ لَهُ الجُنَّةُ وَ مَنْ أَشْبَعَ كَافِراً كَانَ حَقًا عَلَى اللّهِ أَنْ يُمُلاَّ جَوْفَهُ مِنَ الزَّقُوعِ مُؤْمِناً كَانَ أَوْ كَافِراً.

⁹⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 61

⁹⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 62 a

 $^{^{969}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 62 b

⁹⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 62 c

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Abu Yahya Al Wasity, from one of our companions,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who satiates a Momin, the Paradise is Obligated for him, and the one who satiates a Kafir, there would be a right upon Allah^{-azwj} for fill his inside from the Zaqoum (bitter fruit of Hell), whether he was a Momin or a Kafir''.⁹⁷¹

64-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْيَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ رَجُلًا مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أَحَبُ إِلَىَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُطْعِمَ أُفْقاً مِنَ النَّاس

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from usman Bin Isa, from one of his companion, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to feed a man from the Muslims, it would be more beloved to me than if I^{-azwj} were to feed an 'Ufq' from the people'.

قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْأَفْقُ

I said, 'And what is the 'Ufq'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفٍ أَوْ يَزِيدُونَ.

He-asws said: 'One hundred thousand or more''.972

65-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْتِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ يَحْتِي عَنْ أَبِي حَمْرَةَ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْرَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَوٍ عِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص مَنْ أَطْعَمَ ثَلَاثَةَ نَفَوٍ مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أَطْعَمَهُ اللهُ مِنْ ثَلَاثِ حِنَانِ فِي مَلَكُوتِ السَّمَاوَاتِ- الْفِرْدُوسِ وَ جَنَّةٍ عَدْنٍ وَ طُونِي شَجَرَةٌ تَخْرِجُ فِي جَنَّةٍ عَدْنٍ غَرَسَهَا رَبُّنَا بِيَدِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad, from Safwan Bi Yahya, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who feeds three person from the Muslims, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from three Gardens in the kingdoms of the skies – Al Firdows, and the Garden of Eden, and Tooba, a tree emerging in the Garden of Eden. Our Lord^{-azwj} Planted it by His^{-azwj} Hands".⁹⁷³

66-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُمَرَ الْيَمَايِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: مَا مِنْ رَجُلٍ يُدْخِلُ بَيْتَهُ مُؤْمِنَيْنِ فَيُطْعِمُهُمَا وَشَبَعَهُمَا إِلَّا كَانَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ عِتْق نَسَمَةٍ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from Ali, from his father, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Ibrahim Bin Umar Al Yamany,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'There is none from a man entered two Momineen into his house, so he feeds them satiating them, except it would be better than liberating a person (slave)''.⁹⁷⁴

⁹⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 63

 $^{^{972}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 64

⁹⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 65

⁹⁷⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 66

67-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْرَةَ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ عِ قَالَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً مِنْ جُوعٍ أَطْعَمَهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ أَثْمَارِ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَى مُؤْمِناً مِنْ ظَمَا سَقًاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ الرَّحِيقِ الْمَحْتُومِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain from Abu Hamza,

'From Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a Momin from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise, and one who quenches a Momin from thirst, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar''.⁹⁷⁵

68-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحُمَّدٍ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ مَيْمُونٍ الْقَدَّاحِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً حَتَّى يُشْمِعُهُ لَمْ يَدُر أَحَدٌ مِنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مَنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مِنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مَنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مَنْ خُلْقِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلْمُ اللهِ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ خُلُولُونَا الْعَلَقِيمِينَ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from the number, from Sahl from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Ashary, from Abdullah Bin Maymoun Al Qaddah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a Momin until he satiates him, no one from the creatures of Allah^{-azwj} knows what Recompense there would be for him in the Hereafter, neither an Angel of Proximity, nor a Messenger^{-as} Prophet^{-as}, except Allah^{-azwj}, Lord^{-azwj} of the worlds'.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'From the (actions) obligated the Forgiveness is feeding the hungry Muslim'. Then he^{-asws} recited Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *Or feeding during a day of starvation* [90:14] (To) an orphan, possessing relationship [90:15] Or a poor person with destitution [90:16]". ⁹⁷⁶

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuny,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who quenches a Momin a drink of water from whereby he is able upon the water, Allah^{-azwj} will Give him seventy thousand good deeds for every drink, and if he were to quench him from whereby, he is not able upon the water, it is as if he has liberated ten slaves from the sons of Ismail^{-as''}. ⁹⁷⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Husayn Bin Nueym Al Sahhaf who said,

⁹⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 67

⁹⁷⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 68

⁹⁷⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 69

'Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'Do you love your brethren, O Husayn?' I said, 'Yes'.

قَالَ تَنْفَعُ فُقَرَاءَهُمْ قُلْتُ نَعَمْ

He-asws said: 'Do you benefit their poor ones?' I said, 'Yes'.

He^{-asws} said: 'But, there is a right upon you that you love the one who loves Allah^{-azwj}. But, by Allah^{-azwj}! You will not benefit anyone of them until you love him. Do you invite them to your house?'

I said, 'Yes, I don't each except and with me are the two men, and the three, and the less, and the more'.

Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'But, their merit upon you is greater than your merit upon them'.

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you-asws! I feed them my food, and I give them my riding animal, and they merit upon me happens to be greater?'

He^{-asws} said: 'Yes. When they enter your house, they enter with Forgiveness for you and Forgiveness for your dependants, and when they exit from your house, they exit with your sins and sins of your dependants (having been Forgiven)''.⁹⁷⁸

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Abu Muhammad Al Wabishy who said,

'Our companions were mentioned in the presence of Abu Abdullah-asws. I said, 'I neither have lunch nor dinner except and with me there are two or three of them, and less and more'.

He^{-asws} said: 'Their merit upon you is greater than your merit upon them'.

⁹⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 70

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! How, and I am feeding them, and spending upon them from my wealth, and my dependants serve them?'

He^{-asws} said: 'When they enter upon you, they enter with a lot of sustenance from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and when they exit, they exit with the Forgiveness for you (from Allah^{-azwj})''.⁹⁷⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Muhammad Bin Muqarrin, from Ubeydullah Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'If I were to feed a Muslim man, it would be more beloved to me than if I^{-asws} were to liberate an 'Ufq' from the people'.

فَقُلْتُ وَكُم الْأَفْقُ

I said, 'And how many is the 'Ufq'?'

فَقَالَ عَشَرَةُ آلَافِ.

He-asws said: 'Ten thousand''. 980

73–كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ رِبْعِيٍّ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع مَنْ أَطْعَمَ أَخَاهُ فِي اللّهِ كَانَ لَهُ مِنَ الْأَجْرِ مِثْلُ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ فِقَاماً مِنَ النّاس

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Rabie who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'One who feeds his brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, there would be for him Recompense similar to the one feeding a 'Fi'am' from the people'.

قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْفِئَامُ

I said, 'And what is the 'Fi'am'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفِ مِنَ النَّاسِ.

 $^{^{979}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 71

⁹⁸⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 72

Bihar Al-Anwaar Volume 71 www.hubeali.com

He-asws said: 'One hundred thousand from the people".981

74-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِيهِ عَنْ ابْنِ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هِشَامِ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنْ سَدِيرٍ الصَّيْرَفِيِّ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع مَا مَنَعَكَ أَنْ تُعْتِقَ كُلَّ يَوْمٍ نَسَمَةً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Hisham Bin Al Hakam, from Sadeyr Al Sayrafi who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws said to me: 'What prevents you from liberating a person every day?'

قُلْتُ لَا يَحْتَمِلُ مَالِي ذَلِكَ

I said, 'My wealth cannot endure that'.

قَالَ تُطْعِمُ كُلَّ يَوْمٍ مُسْلِماً

He-asws said: 'Can you feed a Muslim every day?'

فَقُلْتُ مُوسِراً أَوْ مُعْسِراً

I said, 'Affluent or poor?'

فَقَالَ إِنَّ الْمُوسِرَ قَدْ يَشْتَهِي الطَّعَامَ.

He-asws said: 'The affluent does (also) desire the food''. 982

75- كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي نَصْرٍ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُمَّالِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قالَ: أَكْلَةٌ يَأْكُلُهَا أَخِي الْمُسْلِمُ عِنْدِي أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ رَقَبَةً.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Abu Nasr, from Safwan Al Jammal,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'A meal the Muslim eats with me-asws is more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to liberate a slave". 983

76- كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُتَمَّالِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: لَأَنْ أُشْبِعَ رَجُلًا مِنْ إِحْوَانِي أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَدُّوا فِي أَحْبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَشْبِعَ رَجُلًا مِنْ إِحْوَانِي أَحَبُّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَشْبِعَ رَجُلًا مِنْ إِحْوَانِي أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَشْبِعَ رَجُلًا مِنْ إِحْوَانِي أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ismail Bi Mihran, from Safwan Al Jammal,

 $^{^{981}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 73 $\,$

⁹⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 74

⁹⁸³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 75

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to satiate a man from my^{-asws} brethren, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to enter this market of yours, so I^{-asws} buy a head (slave) from it and liberate him''.⁹⁸⁴

77-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحُكَمِ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْنِ بْنِ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ قَالَ: لَأَنْ آخُذَ خَمْسَةَ دَرَاهِمَ [وَ أَدْحُلَ إِلَى سُوقِكُمْ هَذَا فَأَبْتَاعَ كِمَا الطَّعَامَ وَ أَجْمَعَ نَقَراً مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ أَحَبُّ إِلَى مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ نَسَمَةً.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – from the number, from Al Barqy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Aban Bin Usman,

'From Abdul Rahman son of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, from Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'If I^{-asws} were to take five Dirhams and enter into this market of yours, so I buy the food with it and gather a number of Muslims (for a meal), it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} and if I^{-asws} were to liberate a person (slave)". 985

78-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ الْوَشَّاءِ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي خَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: سُئِلَ مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ ع مَا يَعْدِلُ عِنْقَ رَقَبَةٍ قَالَ إِطْعَامُ رَجُل مُسْلِمٍ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Al Washa, from Ali Bin Abu Hamza, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Muhammad Bin Ali^{-asws} was asked, 'What equates to liberating a neck (slave)?' He^{-asws} said: 'Feeding a Muslim man''. ⁹⁸⁶

79-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ أَبِي الْخَطَّابِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ أَبِي شِبْلٍ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ عَمَّا أَرَى شَيْئًا يَعْدِلُ زِيَارَةَ الْمُؤْمِنِ إِلَّا إِطْعَامَهُ وَ حَقٌّ عَلَى اللّهِ أَنْ يُطْعِمَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً مِنْ طَعَامِ الجُنَّةِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn Bin Abu Al Khattab, from Muhammad Bin Ismail, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Abu Shibl who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'I^{-asws} don't see anything equating visiting the Momin except feeding him, and there is a right upon Allah^{-azwj} that He^{-azwj} Feeds the one who feeds a Momin, from the food of Paradise''.⁹⁸⁷

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the previous chain, rom Salih Bin Uqbah, from Rifa'at,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'If I-asws were to feed a needy Momin it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to visit him, and if I-asws were to visit him, it would be more beloved to me-asws than if I-asws were to liberate ten necks (slaves)''. 988

 $^{^{984}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 76 $\,$

⁹⁸⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 77

⁹⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 78

⁹⁸⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 79

⁹⁸⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 80

81–كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ عُقْبَةَ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَيْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ وَ يَزِيدَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْمَلِكِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَقَلَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً مُوسِراً كَانَ لَهُ يَعْدِلُ رَقَبَةً مِنْ وُلْدِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ يُنْقِذُهُ مِنَ الذَّبْحِ وَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً مُحْتَاجاً كَانَ لَهُ يَعْدِلُ مِائَةَ رَقَبَةٍ مِنْ وُلْدِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ يُنْقِذُهَا مِنَ الذَّبْح.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Abdullah Bin Muhammad, from Abu Abdullah -asws, and Yazeed Bin Abdul Malik,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds an affluent Momin, for him would be equating (liberating) a neck from the sons of Ismail^{-as}, saving him from the slaughter; and the one who feeds a needy Momin, there would be for him equating (liberating) one hundred necks from the sons of Ismail^{-as}, saving them from the slaughter".⁹⁸⁹

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – By the chain, from Salih Bin Uqbah, from Nasr Bin Qabous,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Feeding a Momin is more beloved to me^{-asws} than liberating ten necks and performing ten Hajj''.

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'Ten necks (liberated) and ten Hajj (performed)?"

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'O Nasr! If you don't feed him, he would die, or you will disgrace him so he would go to a Nasibi (hostile one) and ask him, and the death is better for him that asking a Nasibi (hostile one).

O Nasr! One who revives a Momin it is as if he has revived the people altogether. If you do not feed him, so you have killed him, and if you were to feed him, you will have revived him''.

83-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْبَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْعَزِيزِ عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ دَرَّاجٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ كَسَا أَحَاهُ كِسْوَةَ شِتَاءٍ أَوْ صَيْفٍ كَانَ حَقًا عَلَى اللَّهِ أَنْ يَكُسُوهُ مِنْ ثِيَابِ الجُنَّةِ وَ أَنْ يُهَوِّنَ عَلَيْهِ سَكَرَاتِ الْمَوْتِ وَ أَنْ يُؤسِّعَ عَلَيْهِ فِي قَبْرِهِ وَ أَنْ يَلْقَى الْمَلائِكَةَ إِذَا حَرَجَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ لِعَلَى اللَّهِ أَنْ يَكُسُوهُ مِنْ ثِيَابِ الجُنَّةِ وَ أَنْ يُهَوِّنَ عَلَيْهِ سَكَرَاتِ الْمَوْتِ وَ أَنْ يُؤمِّنَ عَلَيْهِ فِي قَبْرِهِ وَ أَنْ يَلْقَى الْمَلائِكَةَ إِذَا حَرَجَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ لِعَلَى اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كِتَابِهِ - وَ تَتَلَقَّاهُمُ الْمَلائِكَةُ هذا يَوْمُكُمُ الَّذِي كُنْتُمْ تُوعَدُونَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Jameel Bin Darraj,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who clothes his brother, whether it is winter or summer, would have a right upon Allah^{-azwj} that He^{-azwj} Clothes him from the clothes of Paradise, and Ease upon him the pangs of death, and Expand for him in his grave, and the

⁹⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 81

⁹⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 82

Angels will meet him with the glad tidings when he emerges from his grave, and it is Word of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic in His^{-azwj} Book: *and the Angels would meet them: 'This is your Day which you were Promised'* [21:103]".

84-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْبَى عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ بَكْرِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنِ الْخَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عَ وَالْحَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ عَنْ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ يَعْمُو مِنْ مَعِيشَتِهِ وَكَّلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ سَبْعَةَ آلَافِ مَلَكٍ مِنَ الْمَلَائِكَةِ قَالُ: مَنْ كَسَا أَحَداً مِنْ فُقْرَاءِ الْمُسْلِمِينَ ثَوْباً مِنْ عُرْيٍ أَوْ أَعَانَهُ بِشَيْءٍ مِمَّا يَقُونُهُ مِنْ مَعِيشَتِهِ وَكَّلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ سَبْعَةَ آلَافِ مَلَكٍ مِنَ الْمَلَائِكَةِ يَنْ المُسْلِمِينَ ثَوْباً مِنْ عُرْيٍ أَوْ أَعَانَهُ بِشَيْءٍ مِمَّا يَقُونُهُ مِنْ مَعِيشَتِهِ وَكُلَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بِهِ سَبْعَةَ آلَافِ مَلَكٍ مِنَ الْمَلَائِكَةِ يَتَعْفِرُونَ لِكُلِّ ذَنْبِ عَمِلَهُ إِلَى اللهَ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى الللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى الله

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya Bin Muhammad, from Bakr Bin Salih, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali, from Abdullah Bin Ja'far Bin Ibrahim.

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who clothes anyone from the poor Muslims from bareness with a cloth or assists him with something from what he can subsists from his livelihood, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Allocate him with seven thousand Angels from the Angels seeking Forgiveness for every sin he had worked up to the Blowing into the Trumpet". 992

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad, from Ahmad, from Safwan, from Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from Rasool-Allah^{-saww} – similar to it, except that in it is, 'Seven thousand Angels''. 993

86-كا، الكافي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنْ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ الثَّمَالِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عِ قَالَ: مَنْ كَسَا مُؤْمِناً كَسَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ النِّيَابِ الْخُصْرِ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Ali from his father, from Hammad Bin Isa, from Ibrahim Bin Umar, from Abu Hamza Al Sumali,

'From Ali Bin Al-Husayn^{-asws} having said: 'One who clothes a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will clothe him from the clothes of Paradise''.⁹⁹⁴

وَ قَالَ فِي حَدِيثٍ آحْرَ لَا يَزَالُ فِي ضَمَانِ اللَّهِ مَا دَامَ عَلَيْهِ سِلْكٌ.

And he-asws said in another Hadeeth: 'He will not cease to be in the Guarantee of Allah-azwj for as long as there is still a thread left upon it''. 995

87-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرَقِيِّ- عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ النَّوْبِ خِرْقَةٌ. كَسَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ إِسْتَبْرُقِ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ كَسَا مُؤْمِناً مُؤْمِناً مُؤْمِناً ثَوْباً مِنْ غِنَى لَمْ يَرَلْ فِي سِتْر مِنَ اللَّهِ مَا بَقِيَ مِنَ اللَّهُ مِنْ إِسْتُرْقِ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ كَسَا مُؤْمِناً مُؤْمِناً مُؤْمِناً ثَوْباً مِنْ غِنِي بَرُلْ فِي سِتْر مِنَ اللَّهِ مَا بَقِيَ مِنَ اللَّهُ عِلَى بَرُنْ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ عَنْ الْمُؤْمِناً مُؤْمِناً وَمُنْ اللَّهُ مِنْ إِنْكُوبُ جِرْقَةً .

⁹⁹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 83

⁹⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 84

⁹⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 85

⁹⁹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 86 a

⁹⁹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 86 b

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Bargy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Abdullah Bin Sinan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having had said: 'One who clothes a Momin from bareness with a cloth, Allah^{-azwj} will Clothe him from brocade of Paradise, and one who clothes a Momin from riches, will not cease to be in the Veil of Allah^{-azwj} for as long as a piece from the cloth still remains''. ⁹⁹⁶

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Asadabady, from Al Barqy, from his gather, from Wahab Bin Wahab.

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who feeds a Momin from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise; and the one who clothes him from bareness, Allah^{-azwj} will Clothe him from brocade and silk.

And one who quenches him a drink upon thirst, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar; and the one who assists him or removes his distress, Allah^{-azwj} will Shade him in the Shad of His^{-azwj} Throne on a Day there will be no shade except His^{-azwj} Shade".⁹⁹⁷

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq - Ali Bin Ahmad, from Al Asady, from Sahl, from Abdul Azeem Al Hasany,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd having said: 'When Allah^{-azwj} Spoke to Musa^{-as} Bin Imran^{-as}, Musa^{-as} said: 'My^{-as} God^{-azwj}! What is a Recompense of the one who feeds a poor one seeking Your^{-azwj} Face?'

He^{-azwj} Said: "O Musa^{-as}! I^{-azwj} shall Command a caller on the Day of Qiyamah to call out upon heads of the creatures: 'So and so, son of so and so is from the ones Allah^{-azwj} has Liberated from the Fire!''⁹⁹⁸

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Ibn Tareyf, from Ibn Ulwan,

⁹⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 87

⁹⁹⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 88

⁹⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 89

'From Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who feeds a Momin from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise; and one who quenches him from thirst, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar.

وَ مَنْ كَسَاهُ ثَوْباً لَمْ يَرَلْ فِي ضَمَانِ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مَا دَامَ عَلَى ذَلِكَ الْمُؤْمِنِ مِنْ ذَلِكَ النَّوْبِ هُدْبَةٌ أَوْ سِلْكٌ وَ اللّهِ لَقَضَاءُ حَاجَةِ الْمُؤْمِنِ حَيْرٌ مِنْ صِيَامِ شَهْر وَ اعْتِكَافِهِ.

And one who clothes him a cloth, he will not cease to be in the Guarantee of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic for as long a piece or a thread from that cloth is still upon that Momin. By Allah^{-azwj}! Fulfilling a need of the Momin is better than fasting for a month and it's I'tikaaf (seclusion in the Masjid)".⁹⁹⁹

91- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَّارِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ الجُهْمِ عَنْ ثُويْرِ بْنِ أَبِي فَاخِتَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ الجُهْمِ عَنْ ثُويْرِ بْنِ أَبِي فَاخِتَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَمِيلَةَ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ الجُهْمِ عَنْ أَبِيهُ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مَارُونَ بْنِ الجُهْمِ عَنْ أَبِيهُ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهُ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ الْمَقْدِ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ الْمَقْدِي عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ الْمَقْلِعُ وَ الْمَقَالِعُ الْمِنْ لَعَلِيقًا عَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ أَبِي عَلْمُ عَلَى الْمَقْلِعُ فَيْ سَعْدِ بْنِ طَرِيفٍ عَنْ الْمَقْلِعُ وَلِي الْمُلِيدِ عَنِ الْمَقَلِعُ عَنْ الْمَقِيقِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مَالِولُ وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ الْخُبْرَ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Haroun Bin Al Jaham, from Suweyr Bin Abu Fakhta, from Abu Jameela, from Sa'ad Bin Tareyf,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Three are (high) ranks – initiating the greetings, and feeding the food, and the Salat at night while the people are sleeping' – the Hadeeth''. ¹⁰⁰⁰

ل، الخصال فِيمَا أَوْصَى النَّبِيُّ عَلِيّاً ع مِثْلَهُ وَ فِيهِ ثَلَاثٌ كَفَّارَاتٌ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Amon what the Prophet^{-saww} had bequeathed to Ali^{-asws}' – similar to it, and in it, 'Three are expiators (of sins)". 1001

92- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنِ الْجِهْيَرِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْفَضْلِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنْ عِيسَى بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ الْفَاشِيمِيِّ عَنْ خَالِهِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ رَجُل عَنِ ابْنِ الْمُنْكَدِرِ بِإِسْنَادِهِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص حَيْرُكُمْ مَنْ أَطْعَمَ الطَّعَامَ وَ أَفْشَى السَّلَامَ وَ صَلَّى وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Al Himeyri, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Abdullah Bin Al Fazl Al Nowfaly, from Isa Bin Abdullah Al Hashimy, from his maternal uncle Muhammad in Suleyman, from a man, from Ibn Al Munkadir, by his chain, said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The best of you is one who feeds the food, and initiates the greetings, and prays Salat while the people are sleeping''. ¹⁰⁰²

93– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بإِسْنَادِ التَّمِيمِيِّ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ص خَيْرُكُمْ مَنْ أَطَابَ الْكَلَامَ وَ أَطْعَمَ الطَّعَامَ وَ صَلَّى بِاللَّيْلِ وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ.

⁹⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 90

¹⁰⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 91 a

 $^{^{1001}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 91 b

¹⁰⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 92

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the chain of Al-Tameemi, from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'The best of you is the one of good speech, and feeds the food, and prays the Salat while the people are sleeping''.¹⁰⁰³

94- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ الْحُلَّالِ عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ الْأَنْصَارِيِّ عَنْ رُفَرَ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ أَشْرَسَ الْخُراسَايِّ عَنْ أَيُّوبَ السِّمِسِّتَايِّ عَنْ أَبِي قِلَابَةَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً لُقْمَةً أَطْعَمَهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ ثِجَارٍ الجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَاهُ شَرْبَةً مِنْ مَاءٍ سَقَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ الرَّحِيقِ الْمَكْوَبُكُةُ مَا بَقِيَ فِي ذَلِكَ الظَّوْبِ سِلْكٌ. الْمَحْتُومِ وَ مَنْ كَسَاهُ ثَوْباً كَسَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ الْإِسْتَبْرَقِ وَ الْحُرِيرِ وَ صَلَّى عَلَيْهِ الْمَلَائِكَةُ مَا بَقِي فِي ذَلِكَ الظَّوْبِ سِلْكٌ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Muhammad Bin Al-Husayn Al Hallal, from Al-Hassan Bin Al-Husayn Al Ansari, from Zufar Bin Suleyman, from Ashras Al Khurasani, from Ayoub Al Sijistany, from Abu Qalabah who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'One who feeds a morsel to a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise, and one who quenches him a drink of water, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench from the Sealed Nectar, and one who clothes him a cloth, Allah^{-azwj} will Clothe him from the brocade and the silk, and the Angels will send Salawaat upon him for as long that a thread still remains from that cloth''.¹⁰⁰⁴

95- ع، علل الشرائع مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَمْرِو الْبَصْرِيُّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ حَارِجٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْجُنْيْدِ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ سَعْدٍ عَنْ عَلِيَّ عَنْ جَابِرٍ الْأَنْصَارِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص يَقُولُ مَا اتَّخَذَ اللَّهُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ حَلِيلًا إِلَّا لِإِطْعَامِهِ الطَّعَامَ وَ صَلَاتِهِ عَنْ جَرِيرٍ عَنِ الْأَعْمَشِ عَنْ عَطِيَّةَ الْعَوْقِيِّ عَنْ جَابِرٍ الْأَنْصَارِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص يَقُولُ مَا اتَّخَذَ اللَّهُ إِبْرَاهِيمَ حَلِيلًا إِلَّا لِإِطْعَامِهِ الطَّعَامَ وَ صَلَاتِهِ بِاللَّيلِ وَ النَّاسُ نِيَامٌ.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – Muhammad Bin Amro Al Basry, from Muhammad Bin Ibrahim Bin Kharij, from Muhammad Bin Abdullah Bin Al Juneyd, from Amro Bin Sa'ad, from Ali Bin Dahir, from Jareer Al Amsh, from Atiya Al Awfy, from Jabir Al Ansari who said,

'I heard Rasool-Allah^{-saww} saying: 'Allah^{-azwj} did not Take Ibrahim^{-as} as a friend except for his^{-as} feeding the food, and his^{-saww} praying Salat at night while the people were sleeping''. ¹⁰⁰⁵

96- مع، معايي الأخبار أبِي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرَةَ عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ الْوَلِيدِ قَالَ: دَخَلْنَا مَعَ أَبَانِ بْنِ تَغْلِبَ عَلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عِ فَقَالَ لَأَنْ أُطْعِمَ مُسْلِماً حَتَّى يَشْبَعَ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُطْعِمَ أُفْقَاً مِنَ النَّاسِ

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Kufi, from Al-Hassan Bin Ali Bin Yusuf, from Ibn Ameyra, from Saeed Bin Al Waleed who said,

'We entered with Aban Bin Taghlib to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. He^{-asws} said: 'He^{-asws} said: 'If I^{-asws} were to feed a Muslim until he is satiated, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to feed an 'Ufq' from the people'.

قُلْتُ كم الْأَفْقُ

 $^{^{1003}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 93

¹⁰⁰⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 94

¹⁰⁰⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 95

I said, 'How many is the 'Ufq'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفِ.

He-asws said: 'One hundred thousand''. 1006

سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِي مِثْلَهُ وَ فِي آخِرِهِ مِائَةُ أَلْفِ إِنْسَانٍ مِنْ غَيْرِكُمْ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' -

'Muhammad Bin Ali-asws – similar to it, and in its end: 'One hundred thousand human beings from others''. 1007

97- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنِ الْكُلَيْنِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ يُونُسَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ أَبِي مُحَمَّدٍ الْوَابِشِيِّ قَالَ: ذَكَرَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَصْحَابَنَا فَقَالَ كَيْفَ صَنِيعُكَ بِهِمْ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ibn Qawlawiya, from Al Kulayi, from Ali Bin Ibrahim, from Muhammad Bin Isa, from Yunus, from Muhammad Bin Ziyad, from Abu Al Muhammad Al Wabishy who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws mentioned our companions. He-asws said: 'How is your dealings with them?'

فَقُلْتُ وَ اللَّهِ مَا أَتَغَدَّى وَ لَا أَتَعَشَّى إِلَّا وَ مَعِى مِنْهُمُ اثْنَانِ أَوْ ثَلَاثُةٌ أَوْ أَقَلُ أَوْ أَكْثَرُ

I said, 'By Allah^{-azwj}! I neither have lunch nor dinner except with me there are two of them, or three, or less, or more'.

فَقَالَ فَضْلُهُمْ عَلَيْكَ يَا أَبَا مُحَمَّدِ أَكْثَرُ مِنْ فَضْلِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ

He^{-asws} said: 'O Abu Muhammad! Their merit upon you is more than your merit upon them'.

فَقُلْتُ جُعِلْتُ فِدَاكَ فَكَيْفَ ذَلِكَ وَ أَنَا أُطْعِمُهُمْ طَعَامِي وَ أُنْفِقُ عَلَيْهِمْ مَالِي وَ أُحْدِمُهُمْ حَادِمِي

I said, 'May I be sacrificed for you^{-asws}! How can that be so, and I am feeding them my food, and I am spending my wealth upon them, and I am getting my servants to serve them?'

فَقَالَ إِذَا دَحَلُوا دَحَلُوا بِالرِّرْقِ الْكَثِيرِ وَ إِذَا حَرَجُوا حَرَجُوا بِالْمَغْفِرَةِ لَكَ.

He^{-asws} said: 'When they enter, they enter with a lot of sustenance for you, and when they exit, they exit with the Forgiveness (of Allah^{-azwj}) for you''.¹⁰⁰⁸

¹⁰⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 96 a

 $^{^{1007}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 96 b

¹⁰⁰⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 97

98- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُمَرَ عَنِ الثُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْخُسَيْنِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُؤْمِناً مِنْ جُوع أَطْعَمَهُ اللّهُ مِنْ ثِمَارِ الجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَى مُؤْمِناً مِنْ ظَمَإِ سَقَاهُ اللّهُ مِنَ الرَّحِيقِ الْمَحْتُومِ وَ مَنْ كَسَا مُؤْمِناً كَسَاهُ اللّهُ مِنَ الثِّيابِ الْخُضْر.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Hammad, from Ibrahim Bin Umar, from Al Sumali,

'From Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws having said: 'One who feeds a Momin from hunger, Allah-azwj will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise, and one who quenches a Momin from thirst, Allah-azwj will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar, and one who clothes a Momin with a cloth, Allah-azwj will Clothe him from the green clothes''. 1009

(The book) 'Al Majalis' of Al Mufeed – Ibn Qawlawiya, from his father, from Sa'ad –

'Similar to it, and there is an increase in its end: 'And he will not cease to be in the Guarantee of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic for as long as a thread from it is still upon him''. ¹⁰¹⁰

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – By the chain to Hammad, from Rabie,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'One who feeds a brother for the Sake of Allah-azwi, there would be Recompense for him similar to Recompense of the one who feeds a 'Fi'am' from the people'.

قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْفِئَامُ

I said, 'And what is the 'Fi'am'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفِ مِنَ النَّاسِ.

He^{-asws} said: 'One hundred thousand from the people". 1011

101- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَارِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْغِفَارِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ اللّهَمِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْغِفَارِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي عَلِيٍّ اللّهِ عِنَ الصَّقَارِ عَنْ أَحْمَدُ اللّهُ مِنْ ثَلَاثِ حِنَانِ مَلَكُوتِ السَّمَاءِ- الْفِرْدَوْسِ وَ جَنَّةِ عَدْنٍ وَ طُوبَى وَ هِيَ شَجَرَةٌ مِنْ جَنَّةِ عَدْنٍ غَرَسَهَا رَبِّي بِيَدِهِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ahmad Bin Abu Abdullah Bin Muhammad Al Ghifari, from Ali Bin Abu Ali Al Lahby,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds three persons from the Momineen. Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from three Gardens of the kingdoms of the skies – Al-Firdows, and the

¹⁰⁰⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 98

 $^{^{1010}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 99

¹⁰¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 100

Garden of Eden, and Tooba, and it is a tree from the Garden of Eden. My^{-asws} Lord^{-azwj} Planted it with His^{-azwj} Hands''.¹⁰¹²

102- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنِ الحِّيْمَيِرِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنِ الْفُصْيَلِ بْنِ يَسَارٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ عِ قَالَ: شِبَعُ أَرْبَعَةٍ مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ تَعْدِلُ مُحَرِّزً مِنْ وُلْدِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Al Himeyri, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad, from Aban Bin Usman, from Al Fuzeyl Bin Yasaar,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Satiating four from the Muslims equates to freeing (slaves) from the sons of Ismail^{-as''}. ¹⁰¹³

103- ثو، ثواب الأعمال مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَقِهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يُوسُفَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَشْبَعَ جَوْعَةَ مُؤْمِنٍ وَضَعَ اللَّهُ لَهُ مَائدَةً فِي الْجِنَّة يَصْدُرُهُ عَنْهُ النَّقَلَان جَمِيعاً.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' - Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Bargy, from Muhammad Bin Yusuf,

'From Muhammad son of Ja'far^{-asws}, from his father^{-asws} having said: 'One who satiates hunger of a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Place a Table (meal) for him in the Paradise, the 'Saqalaan' (human beings and the Jinn) will partake from it, altogether''.¹⁰¹⁴

104- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَّارِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْقَدَّاحِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ أَطْعَمَ مُسْلِماً حَتَّى يُشْبِعَهُ لَمْ يَدْرِ أَحَدٌ مِنْ حُلْقِ اللَّهِ مَا لَهُ مِنَ الْأَجْرِ فِي الْآخِرَة- لَا مَلَكٌ مُقَرَّبٌ وَ لَا نَيِّ مُرْسَلٌ إِلَّا اللَّهُ رَبُّ الْعَالَمِينَ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffat, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad, from Ubeydullah, from Ibn Al Qaddah,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who feeds a Muslim until he satiates him, no one from the creatures of Allah^{-azwj} know what Recompense there is for him in the Hereafter – neither an Angel of Proximity, nor a Messenger^{-as} Prophet^{-as} except Lord^{-azwj} of the world'.

ئُمُّ قَالَ مِنْ مُوجِبَاتِ الْمَغْفِرَة إِطْعَامُ الْمُسْلِمِ السَّغْبَانِ ثُمُّ تَلَا قَوْلَ اللّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- أَوْ إِطْعامٌ فِي يَوْمٍ ذِي مَسْغَبَةٍ- يَتِيماً ذا مَقْرَبَةٍ- أَوْ مِسْكِيناً ذا مَتْرَبَةٍ.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'From the (actions) obligating the Forgiveness is feeding the hungry Muslim'. Then he^{-asws} recited Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *Or feeding during a day of starvation* [90:14] (To) an orphan, possessing relationship [90:15] Or a poor person with destitution [90:16]". ¹⁰¹⁵

105- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أبي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنِ الْخُسَيْنِ بْنِ نُعَيْمٍ عَنْ مِسْمَعٍ كِرْدِينٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ مَنْ نَفَّسِ مِنْ عُوْمِنٍ كُرْبَةً نَفَّسَ اللّهُ عَنْهُ كُرَبَ الْآخِرَةِ وَ حَرَجَ مِنْ قَبْرِهِ وَ هُوَ ثَلِجُ الْفُؤَادِ وَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَهُ مِنْ جُوعٍ أَطْعَمَهُ اللّهُ مِنْ ثَجَارٍ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَاهُ شَرْبَةً سَقَاهُ اللّهُ مِنْ عُرْمِ وَ هُو ثَلِجُ الْفُؤَادِ وَ مَنْ أَطْعَمَهُ مِنْ جُوعٍ أَطْعَمَهُ اللّهُ مِنْ ثَمَالٍ الْجُنَّةِ وَ مَنْ سَقَاهُ شَرْبَةً سَقَاهُ اللّهُ مِنْ الرَّحِيقِ الْمَحْتُومِ.

¹⁰¹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 101

¹⁰¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 102

 $^{^{1014}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 103

¹⁰¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 104

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Al-Husayn Bin Nueym, from Misma'a Kirdeen who said,

'One who removes a distress from a Momin, Allah^{-azwj} will Remove distress of the Hereafter from him, and he will emerge from his grave and he would be of a cool heart; and one who feeds him from hunger, Allah^{-azwj} will Feed him from the fruits of Paradise; and one who quenches him a drink, Allah^{-azwj} will Quench him from the Sealed Nectar''. ¹⁰¹⁶

106- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: لَأَنْ أَتَصَدَّقَ عَلَى رَجُلٍ مُسْلِم بِقَدْرٍ شُبْعَةٍ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُشْبِعَ أَفُقاً مِنَ النَّاسِ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far, from Musa Bin Imran, from Al Nowfaly, raising it to,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to give charity to a Muslim man a measurement of satiation, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to satiate an 'Ufq' from the people'.

قَالَ قُلْتُ وَ مَا الْأَفْقُ

He (the narrator) said, 'I said, 'And what is the 'Ufq'?'

قَالَ مِائَةُ أَلْفٍ أَوْ يَزِيدُونَ.

He-asws said: 'One hundred thousand or more''. 1017

107- ثو، ثواب الأعمال مَاحِيلَويْهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ الْعَطَّارِ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنِ الْجَامُورَانِيَّ عَنِ الْبِنِ أَبِي عُثْمَانَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدٍ بْنِ سُلَيْمَانَ عَنْ دَاوُدَ الرَّقِيِّ عَنِ الريان [الرَّبَابِ] امْرَأَتِهِ قَالَتْ اثَّخَذْتُ حَبِيصاً فَأَدْخُلُتُهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع وَ هُوَ يَأْكُلُ فَوَضَعْتُ الْخَبِيصَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ وَكَانَ يُلَقِّمُ أَصْحَابَهُ فَسَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ مَنْ لَقَّمَ [الرَّبَابِ] امْرَأَتِهِ قَالَتْ اثَّخَذْتُ حَبِيصاً فَأَدْخُلُتُهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع وَ هُوَ يَأْكُلُ فَوَضَعْتُ الْخَبِيصَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ وَكَانَ يُلَقِّمُ أَصْحَابَهُ فَسَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ مَنْ لَقَمَّ مُؤْمِنَ لَقَعْمَ وَارَقَ يَوْمِ الْقِيَامَةِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Majaylawiya, from Muhammad Al Attar, from Al Ashary, from Al Jamourany, from Ibn Abu Usman, from Muhammad Bin Suleyman, from Dawood Al Raqqy, from Al Rayyan (his wife) who said,

'I took 'Khabeys' (sweet dish) and took it to Abu Abdullah^{-asws} while he^{-asws} was eating. I placed it in front of him, and he^{-asws} was feeding his^{-asws} companions. I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'One who feeds a Momin, feeding him a sweet dish, Allah^{-azwj} will Turn away from him bitterness of the Day of Qiyamah''.¹⁰¹⁸

108- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْتَى عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ الْأَصْبَغِ عَنِ ابْنِ مِهْرَانَ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ يُحْتَى عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: مَنْ أَشْبَعَ جَائِعاً أَجْرَى اللَّهُ لَهُ كَمَراً فِي الْجُنَّةِ.

 $^{^{1016}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 105

 $^{^{\}rm 1017}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 106

 $^{^{1018}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 107

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil from Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Al Ashari, from Ibrahim Bin Is'haq, from Muhammad Bin Al Asbagh, from Ibn Mihran, from Safwan Bin Yahya,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who satiates a hungry one, Allah^{-azwj} will Flow for him a river in the Paradise''.¹⁰¹⁹

109- ثو، ثواب الأعمال بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ سَمَاعَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: مَنْ أَشْبَعَ كَبداً جَائِعَةً وَجَبَتْ لَهُ الْجُنَّةُ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – By this chain from Ibrahim Bin Is'haq, from Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'One who satiates a hungry liver, the Paradise will be obligated for him''. ¹⁰²⁰

110- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ النَّامِ عَلْ عَلَيْ بْنُ الخُسَيْنِ ع مَنْ كَانَ عِنْدَهُ فَضْلُ ثَوْبٍ فَعَلِمَ أَنَّ بِحَضْرَتِهِ مُؤْمِناً يَخْتَاجُ إِلَيْهِ فَلَمْ يَدْفَعُهُ إِلَيْهِ أَكَبُهُ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي النَّارِ عَلَى مَنْخِرَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Furat Bin Akhnaf who said,

'One who were to have a surplus of clothing with him, and he knows that there is a Momin in his presence who is needy to it, but he does not hand it to him, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will Fling him into the Fire upon his nostrils''. 1021

111- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أبي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْمُرْفِيِّ عَنِ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ فُرَاتِ بْنِ أَحْنَفَ قَالَ قَالَ عَلِيُّ بْنُ الْحُسَيْنِ صَلَوَاتُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِمَا مَنْ بَاتَ شَبْعَاناً وَ بِحَضْرَتِهِ مُؤْمِنٌ جَائِعٌ طَاوٍ قَالَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مَلَائِكَتِي أُشْهِدُكُمْ عَلَى هَذَا الْعَبْدِ أَنَّنِي أَمْرَتُهُ فَعَصَابِي وَ أَطَاعَ غَيْرِي وَكُلتُهُ إِلَى عَمَلِهِ وَ عِرَّتِي مَنْ بَاتَ شَبْعَاناً وَ بِحَضْرَتِهِ مُؤْمِنٌ جَائِعٌ طَاوٍ قَالَ اللهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مَلَائِكُمْ عَلَى هَذَا الْعَبْدِ أَنَّنِي أَمْرَتُهُ فَعَصَابِي وَ أَطَاعَ غَيْرِي وَكُلتُهُ إِلَى عَمَلِهِ وَ عِرَّتِي وَكُلتُهُ إِلَى عَمَلِهِ وَ عِرَّتِي وَكُلتُهُ إِلَى عَمَلِهِ وَ عِرَّتِي وَكُلتُهُ لِلْ عَفَرْتُ لَهُ أَبَداً.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from Al Kufy, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Furat Bin Akhnaf who said,

'Ali-asws Bin Al-Husayn-asws, may the Salawaat of Allah-azwj be upon them-asws both, said: 'One who spends a night satiated and, in his presence, there is a hungry Momin, folding (out of hunger), Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Says: "My-azwj Angels! I-azwj Keep you as witnessed upon this servant. I-azwj have Commanded him, so he disobeys Me-azwj and obeys others. I-azwj hereby Allocate him to his deed. By My-azwj Mighty and My-azwj Majesty! I-azwj will not Forgive for him, ever!"1022

وَ فِي رِوَايَةِ حَرِيزٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مَا آمَنَ بِي مَنْ بَاتَ شَبِعاً وَ أَلحُوهُ الْمُسْلِمُ طَاوٍ.

And in a report by Hareyz -

•

¹⁰¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 108

¹⁰²⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 109

 $^{^{1021}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 110

 $^{^{1022}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 111 a

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Says: "He has not believed in Me-azwi, the one who spends a night satiated while his Muslim brother is folding (from hunger)!""1023

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - In a report by Al Wassafy,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Allah-azwj the Exalted Says: "He has not believed in Me-azwj who is satiated in the evening, and his neighbour is hungry in the evening!"'1024

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - My father, from Abdullah Bin Al Fazl, from his maternal uncle Muhammad Bin Suleyman, raising it, said,

'A man grabbed hold of a rein of a riding animal of Rasool-Allah-saww. He said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! Which of the deeds is superior?'

فَقَالَ إطْعَامُ الطَّعَامِ وَ إطْيَابُ الْكَلَامِ.

He-saww said: 'Feeding the food and good speech". 1025

 $^{^{1023}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 111 b 1024 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 112

¹⁰²⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 23 H 113

باب 24 ثواب من كفي لضرير حاجة

CHAPTER 24 – REWARD OF THE ONE SUFFICING FOR AN EMERGENCY NEED

1- لي، الأمالي للصدوق في حَبَرٍ مَناهِي النَّبِيِّ ص أَنَّهُ قَالَ: مَنْ كَفَى ضَرِيراً حَاجَةً مِنْ حَوَائِجِ الدُّنْيَا وَ مَشَى فِيهَا حَتَّى يَقْضِيَ اللَّهُ لَهُ حَاجَتَهُ أَعْطَاهُ اللَّهُ لِللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ حَتَّى يَوْجِعَ. بَرَاءَةً مِنَ النِّفَاقِ وَ بَرَاءَةً مِنَ النَّارِ وَ قَضَى لَهُ سَبْعِينَ حَاجَةً مِنْ حَوَائِجِ الدُّنْيَا وَ لَا يَزَالُ يَخُوضُ فِي رَحْمَةِ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ حَتَّى يَوْجِعَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadoug -

'In a Hadeeth of prohibitions by the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One who suffices for an emergency deed from needs of the world and walks regarding it until Allah^{-azwj} Fulfils his need for him, Allah^{-azwj} will Give him a freedom from the hypocrisy, and a freedom from the Fire, and Fulfil seventy needs for him from needs of the world, and he will not cease to be immersed in Mercy of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic until he returns''. ¹⁰²⁶

باب 25 فضل إسماع الأصم من غير تضجر

CHAPTER 25 – MERITS OF LISTENING TO THE DEAF WITHOUT GETTING WEARY

1- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أبِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ يَزِيدَ قَالَ وَجَدْثُ فِي كِتَابِ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ أَبِي الْبَحْتَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: إِسْمَاعُ الْأَصْمَ مِنْ غَيْرِ تَضَجُّر صَدَقَةٌ هَنِيقَةٌ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashary, from Ibn Yazeed who said, 'I found in the book of Ibn Fazzal, from Abu Al Bakhtary,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Listening to the deaf from without getting weary is a pleasant charity''.¹⁰²⁷

 1026 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 24 H 1 $\,$

Page 417 of 462

¹⁰²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 25 H 1

باب 26 ثواب من عال أهل بيت من المؤمنين

CHAPTER 26 – REWARD OF THE ONE WHO SUPPORTS A FAMILY FROM THE MOMINEEN

1- ثو، ثواب الأعمال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ السَّغْدَآبَادِيِّ عَنِ الْبَرِقِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ خَلَفِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ الْجُوْهَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: لأَنْ أَحُجَّ حِجَّةً أَحَبُّ إِلِيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أُعْتِقَ رَقِبَةً حَتَّى انْتُهَى إِلَى عَشْرٍ وَ مِثْلَهَا وَ مِثْلَهَا حَتَّى انْتُهَى إِلَى سَبْعِينَ

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Asadabady, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from Ismail AL Jowhary, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'If I^{-asws} were to perform a Hajj, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to free a neck (slave)' – until he^{-asws} ended to ten – 'And similar to it, and similar to it' – until he^{-asws} ended to seventy.

وَ لَأَنْ أَعُولَ أَهْلَ بَيْتٍ مِنَ الْمُسْلِمِينَ وَ أُشْبِعَ جَوْعَتَهُمْ وَ أَكْسُوَ عُرْيَهُمْ وَ أَكُفَّ وُجُوهَهُمْ عَنِ النَّاسِ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ أَحُجَّ حِجَّةً وَ حِجَّةً حَتَّى انْتَهَى إِلَى عَشْرِ وَ مِثْلَهَا وَ مِثْلَهَا حَتَّى انْتَهَى إِلَى سَبْعِينَ.

And if I^{-asws} were to support a family from the Muslims and satiate their hunger, and clothe their bareness, and restraining their faces (honour) from the people, it would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if I^{-asws} were to perform a Hajj, and a Hajj, and a Hajj' – until he^{-asws} ended to ten – 'and similar to it, and similar to it' – until he^{-asws} ended to seventy''.¹⁰²⁸

2- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ هَارُونَ بْنِ حُمَّدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنِ الْمُنْذِرِ بْنِ زِيَادٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَن النَّمِينَ يَوْمَهُمْ وَ لَيُلَتَهُمْ غَفَرِ اللَّهُ لَهُ ذُنُوبَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Muhammad Bin Haroun Bin Humeyr, from Muhammad Bin Salih, from Al Munzir Bin Ziyad, from Abdullah Bin Al-Hassan, from his forefathers,

'From the Prophet^{-saww} having said: 'One who supports a family from the Muslims of their day and their night, Allah^{-azwj} will Forgive his sins for him''.¹⁰²⁹

-

 $^{^{1028}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 26 H 1

 $^{^{1029}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 26 H 2

باب 27 من أسكن مؤمنا بيتا و عقاب من منعه عن ذلك

CHAPTER 27 – ONE WHO SETTLES A MOMIN IN A HOUSE, AND PUNISHMENT OF THE ONE WHO PREVENTS HIM FROM THAT

1- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ عَنِ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ مَنْ كَانَ لَهُ دَارٌ وَ احْتَاجَ مُؤْمِنٌ إِلَى سُكُنَاهَا فَمَنَعَهُ إِيَّاهَا قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ مَلَائِكَتِي عَبْدِي بَخِلَ عَلَى عَبْدِي بسُكْنَى الدُّنْيَا وَ عِزَّقَ لَا يَسْكُنُ جِنَانِي أَبْداً.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Al Qasim, from Al Kufi, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al Mufazzal who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'One who were to have a house for him and a Momin is needy to settle in it, but he prevents it from him, Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: "My^{-azwj} Angels! My^{-azwj} servant has been miserly upon My^{-azwj} servant with a dwelling of the world. By My^{-azwj} Might! He will not settle in My^{-azwj} Gardens, ever!"'¹⁰³⁰

باب 28 التراحم و التعاطف و التودد و البر و الصلة و الإيثار و المواساة و إحياء المؤمن

CHAPTER 28 – SHOWING THE MERCY, AND THE KINDNESS, AND THE CORDIALITY, AND THE HELPING, AND THE PREFERRING, AND THE CONSOLATION, AND MODESTRY OF THE MOMIN

الآيات

The Verses

الفتح وَ الَّذِينَ مَعَهُ أَشِدَّاهُ عَلَى الْكُفَّارِ رُحَمَاهُ بَيْنَهُمْ

(Surah) 'Al Fatah' - and those with him are hard upon the Kafirs, merciful between themselves. [48:29]

الحديد و جَعَلْنا فِي قُلُوبِ الَّذِينَ اتَّبَعُوهُ رَأْفَةً وَ رَحْمَةً

(Surah) 'Al Hadeed' - and We Made kindness and mercy to be in the hearts of those that followed him. [57:27]

-

¹⁰³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 27 H 1

البلد و تواصَوْا بالْمَرْحَمَةِ

(Surah) 'Al Balad' - and enjoin the patience and enjoin the compassion [90:17].

1- ع، علل الشرائع لي، الأمالي للصدوق الْقَامِيُّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدٍ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ عَنِ ابْنِ صَدَقَةَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ص قَالَ: إِنَّ اللهَ تَبَارَكُ وَ تَعَالَى إِذَا رَأَى أَهْلَ قَرْيَةٍ قَدْ أَسْرَفُوا فِي الْمَعَاصِي وَ فِيهَا ثَلاَئُةُ نَفَر مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ نَادَاهُمْ جَلَّ جَلَالُهُ وَ تَقَدَّسَتْ أَسْمَاؤُهُ

(The books) 'Ilal Al Sharaie', (and) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Al Famy, from Muhammad Al Himeyri, from his father, from Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqah,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Sees people of a town to have been extravagant in the disobedience, and in it there are three persons from the Momineen, He^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Majesty, and Holy are His^{-azwj} Names, Calls out to them:

يَا أَهْلَ مَعْصِيَتِي لَوْ لَا مَنْ فِيكُمْ مِنَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ الْمُتَحَاتِينَ بِجَلَالِي الْعَامِرِينَ بِصَلَاقِيمْ أَرْضِي وَ مَسَاحِدِي وَ الْمُسْتَغْفِرِينَ بِالْأَسْحَارِ حَوْفاً مِتِي لَأَنْزَلْتُ بِكُمْ عَذَابِي ثُمُّ لَا أُبَالِي.

"O people disobeying Me^{-azwj}! Had it not been for the Momineen being among you, the ones loving each other for My^{-azwj} Majesty, the ones living in My^{-azwj} earth and My^{-azwj} Masjids with their Salats, and the ones seeking Forgiveness at pre-dawn out of fear from Me^{-azwj}, I^{-azwj} would have Sent down My^{-azwj} Punishment, and I^{-azwj} would not have cared!"'¹⁰³¹

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' - Ibn Sa'ad, from Al Azdy who said,

'The most of what Abu Abdullah^{-asws} had advised us with was the righteousness and the connecting (the kinship)". 1032

3- ب، قرب الإسناد هَارُونُ عَنِ ابْنِ صَدَقَقَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع امْتَحِنُوا شِيعَتَنَا عِنْدَ مَوَاقِيتِ الصَّلَاةِ كَيْفَ مُحَافَظَتُهُمْ عَلَيْهَا وَ إِلَى أَسْرَارِنَا كَيْفَ حِفْظُهُمْ هَا عِنْدَ عَدُونَا وَ إِلَى أَمُوالِمُ كَيْفَ مُواسَاقُهُمْ لِاخْوَانِهِمْ فِيها.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Haroun, from Ibn Sadaqa who said,

'Test our^{-asws} Shias at the timings of Salat how they are preserving upon it, and to our^{-asws} secrets how protective they are in the presence of our enemies, and to their wealth how consoling they are to their brethren regarding it".¹⁰³³

4- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ قَالَ: سُئِلَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع مَا أَذْنَى حَقِّ الْمُؤْمِنِ عَلَى أَخِيهِ

 $^{^{1031}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 1

 $^{^{1032}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 2 $\,$

¹⁰³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 3

(The book) 'Al Khisal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Al Fuzeyl who said,

'Abu Abdullah-asws was asked, 'What is the least right of the Momin upon his brother?'

قَالَ أَنْ لَا يَسْتَأْثِرَ عَلَيْهِ بِمَا هُوَ أَحْوَجُ إِلَيْهِ مِنْهُ.

He^{-asws} said: 'That he should not preferred (himself) upon it with what he is more needy to it than him''. 1034

5- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّل عَن الْحِمْيَرِيّ عَن ابْن عِيسَى عَن ابْن مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْن يَزِيدَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع تَقَرَّبُوا إِلَى اللّهِ تَعَالَى بَوُاسَاةٍ إِخْوَانِكُمْ.

(The book) 'Al Khisal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Himeyri, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Umar Bin Yazeed who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Draw closer to Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted with consoling as brethren''. ¹⁰³⁵

6- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ عَلِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَمَّنْ ذَكَرَهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عِ فِي وَصِيَّتِهِ لِابْيهِ مُحَمَّدِ بَنِ الْحَنَفِيَةِ ٱلْرِمْ نَفْسَكَ وَ الْمُذُلُ لِصَدِيقِكَ نَفْسَكَ وَ مَالَكَ وَ لِمَعْرِفَتِكَ رِفْدَكَ وَ مُخْضَرَكَ وَ لِلْعَامَّةِ بِشْرَكَ وَ مَجَبَّتَكَ وَ لِعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ الْعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ الْعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ الْعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ اللّهَ مِنْ عَلَى مَعُونَاتِ النَّاسِ نَفْسَكَ وَ الْعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ لِمَعْرِفَتِكَ رِفْدَكَ وَ مُخْضَرَكَ وَ لِلْعَامَّةِ بِشْرَكَ وَ مَحَبَّتَكَ وَ لِعَدُوكَ عَدْلَكَ وَ إِنْمُ لَكِينِكَ وَ كُنْيَاكَ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - My father, from Ali, from his father, from Hammad, from the one who mentioned it,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen-asws said in a bequest to his-asws son Muhammad Bin Al-Hanafiya: 'Necessitate yourself the cordiality and patience upon your assisting the people yourself, and expend for your friend yourself and your wealth, and for your acquaintance your support and your presence, and for the generality your smile and your love, and for your enemy your justice and your fairness, and be miserly with your religion and your honour from every one, for it is safer for your religion and the your world''. 1036

7- ل، الخصال الْعَطَّارُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ عُمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ عُمَّدِ بْنِ ضَبَيَانَ وَ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ طَبَيَانَ وَ اللَّهِ عَنْ يُونُسَ بْنِ ظَبَيَانَ وَ اللَّهِ فَاعْزُبْ ثُمُّ اعْزُبْ ثُمُّ اعْزُبْ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Attar, from his father, from Al Barqy, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Kufy, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Al Khaybari, from Yunus Bin Zabyan, and Al Mufazzal Bin Umar,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Two characteristics, one who were to have these in him (fine) or else

قِيلَ وَ مَا هُمَا

 $^{^{1034}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 4

 $^{^{1035}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 5 $\,$

¹⁰³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 6

It was said, 'And what are these?'

قَالَ الصَّلَاةُ فِي مَوَاقِيتِهَا وَ الْمُحَافَظَةُ عَلَيْهَا وَ الْمُوَاسَاةُ.

He $^{-asws}$ said: '(Praying) the Salat during its timings, and the preserving upon these, and the consolation''. 1037

8– ل، الخصال مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنِ الثُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ: أَرْبَعٌ مَنْ كُنَّ فِيهِ بَنَى اللّهُ لَهُ بَيْدًا في الجُنَّةِ مَنْ آوَى الْيَتِيمَ وَ رَحِمَ الضَّعِيفَ وَ أَشْفَقَ عَلَى وَالِدَيْهِ وَ رَفَقَ بِمَمْلُوكِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Sinan, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Four (traits) one who has these in him, Allah^{-azwj} will Build a house for him in the Paradise – one who shelters an orphan, and is merciful to the weak, and compassionate upon his parents, and kindness with his slave".¹⁰³⁸

9- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَرَّارٍ عَنْ يُونُسَ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ كَانَ فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص عَلِيّاً يَا عَلِيُّ سَيِّدُ الْأَعْمَالِ ثَلَاثُ خِصَالٍ إِنْصَافُكَ النَّاسَ مِنْ نَفْسِكَ وَ هُوَاسَاتُكَ الْأَخَ فِي اللهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ وَ ذِكْرُكَ اللهَ تَعَالَى عَلَى كُلِّ حَالٍ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ali, from his father, from Ibn Marrar, from Yunus,

'Raising it to Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'It was among what Rasool-Allah^{-saww} had bequeathed with to Ali^{-asws}: 'O Ali^{-asws}! Chief of the deeds are three characteristics – your being fair to the people from yourself, and your consoling the brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic, and your doing Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted upon every situation''.¹⁰³⁹

10– ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْأَسَانِيدِ الثَّلاَثَةِ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص لَا تَزَالُ أُمَّتِي بِخَيْرٍ مَا تَحَابُوا وَ تَحَادُوا وَ أَدُوا الْأَمَانَةَ وَ اجْتَنَبُوا الْحَرَامَ وَ قَرَوُا الصَّلاَةُ وَ آثَوُا الزَّكاةَ فَإِذَا لَمْ يَلْعَلُوا ذَلِكَ ابْتُلُوا بِالْقَحْطِ وَ السِّنِينَ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'My^{-saww} community will not cease to be with goodness for as long as they love, and gift each other, and fulfil the entrustment, and shun the Prohibitions, and entertain the guest, and they establish the Salat and give the Zakat. When they do not do that, they will be Tried with the drought and the years (of starvation)". ¹⁰⁴⁰

11- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام كِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صِ التَّوَّدُّدُ نِصْفُ الدِّينِ وَ اسْتَنْزُلُوا الرِّزْقَ بالصَّدَقَةِ.

¹⁰³⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 7

 $^{^{1038}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 8

 $^{^{\}rm 1039}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 9

¹⁰⁴⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 10

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}, may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by this chain, he^{-asws} said, 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The cordiality is half the religion, and cause the sustenance to come down by (giving) the charity''.¹⁰⁴¹

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}' – by this chain, he^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The chief of intellect after the religion is being cordial to the people, and doing the good to every one, righteous and the immoral''.¹⁰⁴²

(The book) 'Al Majaalis', (and) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Isa, from Muhammad Bin Ajlan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Beatitude is for the one does not replace a bounty of Allah^{-azwj} (by committing) Kufr! Beatitude is for the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}''.¹⁰⁴³

14- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْولِيدِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمْرٍ عَنْ صَبَّاحٍ الْخَذَّاءِ عَنِ التُّمَالِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُمْرٍ عَنْ صَبَّاحٍ الْخَذَّاءِ عَنْ اللَّهُ الْخَلَائِقَ فِي صَعِيدٍ وَاحِدٍ وَ نَادَى مُنَادٍ مِنْ عِنْدِ اللَّهِ يَسْمَعُ آخِرُهُمْ كَمَا يَسْمَعُ أَخِرُهُمْ كَمَا يَسْمَعُ أَوْمُ الْقِيَامَةِ جَمَعَ اللَّهُ الْخَلَائِقَ فِي صَعِيدٍ وَاحِدٍ وَ نَادَى مُنَادٍ مِنْ عِنْدِ اللَّهِ يَسْمَعُ آخِرُهُمْ كَمَا يَسْمَعُ أَوْمُولُ أَيْنَ أَهْا لِ اللَّهِ لَكُولِيدِ عَنْ أَنْهُمْ اللَّهُ الْقَامِةِ مَعْ اللَّهُ الْخَلَائِقَ فِي صَعِيدٍ وَاحِدٍ وَ نَادَى مُنَادٍ مِنْ عِنْدِ اللَّهِ يَسْمَعُ آخِرُهُمْ كَمَا يَسْمَعُ أَخِرُهُمْ كَمَا يَسْمَعُ أَوْمُ اللَّهِ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللَّهُ الْمُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ اللللْهُ الللللْهُ اللللْهُ اللللْهُ الللْهُ الللْهُ الللللْهُ اللللْهُ الللللْهُ الللْهُ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Ahmad Bin Al Waleed, from his father, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Abu Umeyr, from Sabbah Al Haza'a, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'When it will be the Day of Qiyamah, Allah^{-azwj} will Gather the creatures in one plain, and a caller will call out from the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}. Their last one will hear just as their first one will. He will say: 'Where are the people of patience?''

He^{-asws} said: 'Necks from the people will stand. A group of Angels will receive them. They would be saying to them, 'What was this patience which you were patient with?'

فَيَقُولُونَ صَبَّرْنَا أَنْفُسَنَا عَلَى طَاعَةِ اللَّهِ وَ صَبَّرْنَاهَا عَنْ مَعْصِيتِهِ

 $^{^{1041}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 11

 $^{^{1042}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 12

¹⁰⁴³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 13

They will say: 'We were patient ourselves upon obedience of Allah^{-azwj}, and we were patience from disobeying Him^{-azwj}'.

He^{-asws} said: 'A caller will call out from the presence of Allah^{-azwj}: "My^{-azwj} servants speak the truth! Free their way for them to be entering the Paradise without any Reckoning!"

He^{-asws} said: 'Then another caller will call out. Their last one will hear just as their first one will hear. He will say: 'Where are the people of merit?'

Necks from the people will stand. The Angels will receive them saying: 'What is this merit of yours which you have been called out with?'

They will be saying, 'We were being ignored in the world, so we endure, and we were offended to, so we pardoned".

He^{-asws} said: 'A caller will call out from the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted: "My^{-azwj} servant speaks the truth. Free their way for them to be entering the Paradise without any Reckoning!"'

He^{-asws} said: 'Then a caller will call out from Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. Their last one will hear just as their first one will hear. He will say: 'Where are neighbours of Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Majesty, in His^{-azwj} House?'

Necks from the people will stand. A group of Angels will receive them. They would say to them: 'What were your deeds in house of the world, so today you have become neighbours of Allah-azwj the Exalted in His-azwj House?'

They will be saying: 'We used to love each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic and spend on each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} and visit each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}'.

He^{-asws} said: 'A caller will call out from the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted: "My servants speak the truth. Free their way for them to be going to the neighbourhood of Allah^{-azwj} in the Paradise without any Reckoning!"

He-asws said: 'They will be going to the Paradise without any Reckoning'.

Then Abu Ja'far-asws said: 'They are neighbours of Allah-azwj in His-azwj House. The people will fear, and they will not be fearing, and the people will be Reckoned with, and they will not be Reckoned''. 1044

15- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ الْحُسَنِيّ عَنْ عَلِيّ بْنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيّ بْنِ عَلِيّ بْنِ عَلِيّ عَنْ مُسَيّْنِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ كُسَيْنِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنْ كُسَيْنِ بْنِ عَلِيّ عَنْ مُسَيِّنِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ صِ الْمُؤْمِنُ غِرِّ كَرِيمٌ وَ الْفَاحِرُ حَبُّ لَئِيمٌ وَ حَيْرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ مَنْ كَانَ مَأْلُفَةً لِلْمُؤْمِنِينَ وَ لَا حَيْرُ فِيمَنْ لَا يَأْلُفُ وَ لَا يَؤُلُفُ الْخَيْرَ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – A group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Hasany, from Ali Bin Al Hasan Bin Ali Bin Umar Bin Ali, from Husayn Bin Zayd,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The Momin is with self-esteem (Ghayra), benevolent, while the immoral is a swindler, a rogue; and best of the Momineen is one who gets along with the Momineen, and there is no goodness in the one who neither gets along (with anyone), nor (does anyone) get along with him".¹⁰⁴⁵

16- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَصَّلِ عَنِ ابْنِ عُقْدَةَ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ يَحْيَى بْنِ زَكَرِيّا عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سَعِيدٍ عَنْ شَرِيكٍ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ الحَّارِثِ عَنْ عَلِيّ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص إِنَّ اللّهَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ رَحِيمٌ ثُحِبُّ كُلَّ رَحِيمٍ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ibn Uqdah, from Ahmad Bin Yahy Bin Zakariya, from Muhammad Bin Saeed, from Shareek, from Abu Is'haq, from Al Haris,

'From Ali-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic Loves every merciful ones''. 1046

17– ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبَانٍ عَنِ الْحَلَيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الصَّبْرُ وَ الْبِرَّ وَ الْحِلْمَ وَ مُحسْنَ الحُلُقِ مِنْ أَحْلَاقِ الْأَنْبِيَاءِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Aban from Al Halby,

¹⁰⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 14

 $^{^{1045}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 15

¹⁰⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 16

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The patience, and the righteousness, and the leniency, and good manners after from the mannerisms of the Prophets^{-as}". ¹⁰⁴⁷

18- جا، المجالس للمفيد ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنِ ابْنِ قُولَوَيْهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ هَمَّامٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْعُلَاءِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ سَهْلٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَقَالَ: خِيَارُكُمْ شُمَحَاؤُكُمْ وَ شِرَارُكُمْ مُخَلَاؤُكُمْ وَ مِنْ صَالِحِ الْأَعْمَالِ الْبِرُّ بِالْإِخْوَانِ وَ السَّعْيُ فِي حَوَائِجِهِمْ وَ فِي ذَلِكَ مَرْغَمَةُ الشَّيْطَانِ وَ تَزَحْرُحٌ عَن النِّيرَانِ وَ دُحُولُ الْجِنَانِ يَا جَمِيلُ أَخْبِرْ هِكَذَا الْحَدِيثِ غُرَرَ أَصْحَابِكَ

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed, (and) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – from Ibn Qawlawiya, from Muhammad Bin Hammam, from Abdullah Bin A'ala, from Sahl, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Jameel

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Your best ones are your pardoning ones, and your evil ones are your misers; and from the righteous deeds is the righteousness with the brethren, and the striving regarding their needs, and in that is degradation of the Satan-la, and displacement from the fires, and entering the Gardens. O Jameel! Inform this Hadeeth to your resplendent companions'.

قُلْتُ مَنْ غُرَرُ أَصْحَابِي

I said, 'Who are my resplendent companions?'

قَالَ هُمُ الْبَارُونَ بِالْإِخْوَانِ فِي الْعُسْرِ وَ الْيُسْرِ

He^{-asws} said: 'They are the ones being righteous with the brethren, during the hardship and the ease'.

ئُمُّ قَالَ أَمَا إِنَّ صَاحِبَ الْكَثِيرِ يَهُونُ عَلَيْهِ ذَلِكَ وَ قَدْ مَدَحَ اللهُ صَاحِبَ الْقَلِيلِ فَقَالَ وَ يُؤْثِرُونَ عَلَى أَنْفُسِهِمْ وَ لَوْ كَانَ بِمِمْ خَصاصَةٌ وَ مَنْ يُوقَ شُحَّ نَفْسِهِ فَأُولِئِكَ هُمُ الْمُمْلِحُونَ.

Then he^{-asws} said: 'As for the owner of a lot, that would be easy upon him, and Allah^{-azwj} has Praised owner of the little. He^{-azwj} Said: *and they are preferring (others) over their own selves, and even though there was extreme poverty with them. And one who preserves himself from stinginess, so those, they are the successful ones [59:9]".* 1048

19- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى أَبِي قَتَادَةَ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُتَمَّالِ قَالَ: دَحَلَ مُعَلَّى بْنُ خُنَيْسٍ عَلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يُوَدِّعُهُ وَ قَدْ أَرَادَ سَفَراً فَلَمَّا وَدَّعَهُ قَالَ يَا مُعَلَّى اعْتَزِزْ باللَّهِ يُعْزِزْكَ

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – By the chain to Abu Qatadah, from Safwan Al Jammal who said,

'Moalla Bin Khuneys entered to see Abu Abdullah^{-asws} to bid him^{-asws} farewell, and he had intended a journey. When he bade him^{-asws} farewell, he^{-asws} said: 'O Moalla! Seek strength with Allah^{-azwj}, He^{-azwj} will Strengthen you'.

¹⁰⁴⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 17

¹⁰⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 18

قَالَ بِمَا ذَا يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللهِ

He said, 'With what, O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww?'

قَالَ يَا مُعَلَّى حُفِ اللَّهَ يَخَفْ مِنْكَ كُلُّ شَيْءٍ

He^{-asws} said: 'O Moalla! Fear Allah^{-azwj}, He^{-azwj} will Cause all things to fear you.

يَا مُعَلَّى تَحَبَّبْ إِلَى إِحْوَانِكَ بِصِلَتِهِمْ فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ جَعَلَ الْعَطَاءَ مَحَبَّةً وَ الْمَنْعَ مَبْغَضَةً فَأَنْتُمْ وَ اللَّهِ إِنْ تَسْأَلُونِي أَعْطِكُمْ أَحَبُ إِلَيَّ مِنْ أَنْ تَسْأَلُونِي فَلَا أَعْطِيَكُمْ فَتُبْغِضُونِ

O Moalla! Become beloved to your brethren by helping them, for Allah^{-azwj} has Made the gifting as love, and the preventing as hatred. By Allah^{-azwj}! If you were to ask me^{-asws}, my giving to you would be more beloved to me^{-asws} than if you were to ask me^{-asws}, and I^{-asws} do not give you, so you will be hating me^{-asws}.

وَ مَهْمَا أَجْزَى اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ لَكُمْ مِنْ شَيْءٍ عَلَى يَدِي فَالْمَحْمُودُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى وَ لَا تَبْعُدُونَ مِنْ شُكْرٍ مَا أَجْرَى اللَّهُ لَكُمْ عَلَى يَدِي.

And whatever thing Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Flows upon my^{-asws} hand to you all, the praise-worthy is Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, and do not be distancing from thanking for whatever Allah^{-azwj} has Caused to flow for you upon my^{-asws} hands!"¹⁰⁴⁹

20- ل، الخصال فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ النَّبِيُّ ص عَلِيّاً ع يَا عَلِيُّ ثَلَاثٌ لَا تُطِيقُهَا هَذِهِ الْأُمَّةُ الْمُوَاسَاةُ لِلْأَخِ فِي مَالِهِ وَ إِنْصَافُ النَّاسِ مِنْ نَفْسِهِ وَ ذِكْرُ اللَّهِ عَلَى كُلّ حَالٍ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Among what the Prophet^{-saww} had bequeathed with to Ali^{-asws}: 'O Ali^{-asws}! Three (matters) this community will not tolerate – the consolation to the brother in his wealth, and fairness to the people from himself, and Zikr of Allah^{-azwj} upon every situation''.¹⁰⁵⁰

21- ل، الخصال أبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ عَمَّارٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص قَالَ اللّهُ جَلَّ جَلَالُهُ إِنِيّ أَعْطَيْتُ الدُّنْيَا بَيْنَ عِبَادِي فَيْضاً فَمَنْ أَقْرَضَنِي مِنْهَا قَرْضاً أَعْطَيْتُهُ بِكُلِّ وَاحِدَةٍ مِنْهُنَّ عَشْراً إِلَى سَبْعِمِائَةِ ضِعْفٍ وَ مَا شِئْتُ مِنْ ذَلِكَ وَ مَنْ لَمْ يُقْرِضْنِي مِنْهَا قَرْضاً فَأَحُذْتُ مِنْهُ قَسْراً

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Is'haq Bin Ammar, from Abdullah Bin Sinan who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj}, Majestic is His^{-azwj} Majesty, Said: 'I^{-azwj} have Given the world abundantly between My^{-azwj} servants. The one who lends me a loan from it, I^{-azwj} shall Give him for every one of these, ten up to seven hundred multiple,

¹⁰⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 19

 $^{^{1050}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 20

and whatever I^{-azwj} so Desire from that; and one who does not lend me a loan from it, I^{-azwj} shall Seize from it from him by Force.

I^{-azwj} have Given him three characteristics. If I^{-azwj} were to Give even one of these to My^{-azwj} Angels, they would be satisfied – The Salawaat, and the guidance, and the Mercy. Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Says: *Who, when a difficulty befalls them, are saying: We are for Allah and we are returning to Him* [2:156] Those, upon them is the Salawat from their Lord - one of the three - and Mercy; - two - those, they are the Guided ones [2:157] – three".

Then Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'This is for one something is taken from him by force''. 1051

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - From Saeed Bin Ilagah,

'From Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} having said: 'Consoling the brother for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic increases in the sustenance''. ¹⁰⁵²

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al Fahham, from Al Mansouri, from an uncle of his father,

'From Abu Al-Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws}, from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'Three supplication are not veiled from Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted – the supplication of a parent for his son when he is righteous and his supplication against him when he disowns him; and the supplication of an oppressed against his oppressor and his supplication of the one who is helping to him from him.

And a Momin man supplicating for a Momin brother of his having advised him regarding us^{-asws} and his supplication against him when he does not advise him with the power upon it, and the desperation of his brother to it". ¹⁰⁵³

24- مع، معاني الأخبار ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ الرَّازِيِّ عَنْ نَصْرِ بْنِ الصَّبَاحِ عَنِ الْمُفَضَّلِ قَالَ: كُنْتُ عِنْدَ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع فَسَأَلُهُ رَجُلٌ فِي كُمْ يَجِبُ الرَّكَاةُ مِنَ الْمَالِ فَقَالَ لَهُ الزَّكَاةُ الظَّاهِرَةَ أَم الْبَاطِئَةَ تُرِيدُ

 $^{^{1051}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 21

 $^{^{1052}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 22

¹⁰⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 23

(The book) 'Ma'any Al Akhbar' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashary, from Abu Abdullah Al Razy, from Nasr Bin Al Sabbah, from Al Mufazzal who said,

'I was in the presence of Abu Abdullah^{-asws}. A man asked him regarding how much from the wealth obligates the Zakat. He^{-asws} said to him: 'The apparent Zakat or the esoteric Zakat do you intend?'

قَالَ أُريدُهُمَا جَمِيعاً

He said, 'I intend both of them together'.

He^{-asws} said: 'As for the apparent, so in every thousand, twenty-five Dirhams, and as for the esoteric, do not prefer yourself upon your brother with what he is more needy to you it than you are''.¹⁰⁵⁴

(The book) 'Al Tawheed' – Al Qattan, from Ibn Zakariya, from Ibn Habeeb, from Ahmad Bin Yaqoub Bin Matar, from Muhammad Bin Al Hassan Bin Abdul Aziz, from his father, from Talha Bin Yazeed, from Ubeydullah Bin Ubeyd, from Abu Ma'mar Al Sa'dany,

'From Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} regarding Words of the Exalted: **they would be entering the Paradise, being Sustained therein without measure [40:40]**.

He^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic Said: "My^{-azwj} Benevolence is justified" – or Said: "My^{-azwj} cordiality (is justified) for the one who watches out for Me^{-azwj} and is awed by My^{-azwj} Majesty!" On the Day of Qiyamah, their faces will be of Noor, upon minarets of Noor. Upon them will be green clothes'.

قِيلَ مَنْ هُمْ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ

It was said, 'Who are they, O Rasool-Allah-saww?'

قَالَ قَوْمٌ لَيْسُوا بِأَنْبِيَاءَ وَ لَا شُهَدَاءَ وَ لَكِنَّهُمْ تَحَابُوا بِجَلالِ اللَّهِ وَ يَدْخُلُونَ الجُنَّةَ بِغَيْرٍ حِسَابٍ نَسْأَلُ اللَّهَ أَنْ يَجْعَلَنَا مِنْهُمْ بِرَحْمَتِهِ.

Page 429 of 462

¹⁰⁵⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 24

He^{-saww} said: 'A group of people who are neither Prophets^{-as} nor martyrs, but they would have been loving each other due to the Majesty of Allah^{-azwj}, and they will be entering the Paradise without any Reckoning. We ask Allah^{-azwj} to Make us being from them by His^{-azwj} Mercy''.¹⁰⁵⁵

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'In a Hadeeth by Nowf Al Bikaly, 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'O Nowf! Be merciful, you will be Shown Mercy''. ¹⁰⁵⁶

27- ل، الخصال أبي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ الرَّانِيِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عُثْمَانَ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ إِدْرِيسَ عَنِ الْأَشْعَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ الرَّائِي عَنْ ابْنِ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ يَقُولُ سَبْعَةٌ يُفْسِدُونَ أَعْمَالَهُمُ الرَّجُلُ الخَلِيمُ دُو الْعِلْمِ الْكَثِيرِ - لَا يُعْرَفُ بِذَلِكَ وَ لَا يُدْكُرُ بِهِ وَ الْحَكِيمُ الَّذِي يُدِينُ مَالَهُ كُلَّ كَاذِبٍ مُنْكِرٍ لِمَا يَؤْفِلُ سَبْعَةٌ يُفْسِدُونَ أَعْمَالُهُمُ الرَّجُلُ الْمَكْرِ وَ الْعِلْمِ الْكَثِيرِ - لَا يُعْرَفُ بِذَلِكَ وَ لَا يُذْكُرُ بِهِ وَ الْحَكِيمُ اللّذِي يُدِينُ مَالَهُ كُلَّ كَاذِبٍ مُنْكِرٍ لِمَا يَوْمَ

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – My father, from Ahmad Bin Idrees, from Al Ashary, from Abu Abdullah Al Razy, from Ibn Abu Usman, from Ahmad Bin Umar, from Yahya Al Halby who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Seven are spoilers of their deeds – a lenient man with a lot of knowledge who is neither known with that, nor being mentioned with it; and the wise one who lends to every lying denier of what he gives to him; and the man who trusts the one with the plots and the betrayal.

And the harsh chief having no mercy for him; and the mother who does not conceal the secret from the child and divulges to him; and the one quick to blame his brothers; and the one who quarrels his brother contending to him". 1057

28- ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنِ ابْنِ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ أَبِي الْحَسَنِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ إِنَّ الْمُتَحَاتِينَ فِي اللهِ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ عَلَى مَنَابِرَ مِنْ نُور قَدْ أَضَاءَ نُورُ وُجُوهِهِمْ وَ أَجْسَادِهِمْ وَ نُورُ مَنَابِرِهِمْ كُلَّ شَيْءٍ حَتَّى يُعْرَفُوا أَثَّكُمُ الْمُتَحَاتُونَ فِي اللهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' - My father, from Sa'ad, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Fazzal,

'From Abu Al Hassan^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I heard him^{-asws} saying: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} will be upon pulpits of Noor, the Noor of their faces and their bodies and their pulpits will illuminate all things until it will be known that they are the one having loved each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Maiestic". ¹⁰⁵⁸

¹⁰⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 25

 $^{^{1056}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 26

 $^{^{\}rm 1057}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 27

¹⁰⁵⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 28

29– ثو، ثواب الأعمال أَبِي عَنْ مُحْمَّدِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنْ مُحْمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عُمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ عُمَّدِ اللهِ عَ عَالَ: مِنْ فَصْل الرَّجُل عِنْدَ اللَّهِ مُحَبَّثُهُ لِإِخْوَانِهِ وَ مَنْ عَرَّفُهُ اللهُ مُحَبَّةُ إِخْوَانِهِ فَقَدْ أَحَبَّهُ اللهُ وَ مَنْ أَحَبَّهُ اللهُ أَوْفَاهُ أَجْرَهُ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ.

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Ahmad Bin Khalid, from Muhammad Bin Ali, from Umar Bin Abdul Aziz, from Jameel Bin Darrai,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'From the merits of a man in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} is his love for his brethren, and the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Introduces to him his love for his brethren, so Allah^{-azwj} has Loved him, and the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Loved, He^{-azwj} will Fulfil his Recompense on the Day of Qiyamah''.¹⁰⁵⁹

30- سن، المحاسن مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَسْلَمَ عَنِ الْخُطَّابِ الْكُوفِيِّ وَ مُصْعَبِ الْكُوفِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَ أَنَّهُ قَالَ لِسَدِيرٍ وَ الَّذِي بَعَثَ مُحَمَّداً بِالنَّبُوّةِ وَ عَجُّلَ رُوحَهُ إِلَى الْجُنَّةِ مَا بَيْنَ أَخَدِكُمْ وَ بَيْنَ أَنْ يَغْتَبِطَ وَ يَرَى سُرُوراً أَوْ تَبَيَّنَ لَهُ النَّدَامَةُ وَ الْحَسْرَةُ إِلَّا أَنْ يُعَايِنَ مَا قَالَ اللّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كِتَابِهِ-عَن الْيَمِين وَ عَن الشِّمالِ قَعِيدٌ وَ أَنَاهُ مَلَكُ الْمَوْتِ يَقْبِضُ رُوحَهُ فَيُنَادِي رُوحَهُ فَيَخْرُجُ مِنْ جَسَدِهِ

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Aslam, from Al Khattab Al Kufi and Mus'ab Al Kufy,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said to Sadeyr: 'By the One-azwj Who Sent Muhammad-saww with the Prophet-hood and Hastened his-saww soul to the Paradise! There is nothing between one of you and his exultation and seeing gladness, or the regret and the remorse to be manifested for him except his witnessing what Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic has Said in His-azwj Book: seated on the right and on the left [50:17], and the Angel of death will come to him to capture his soul. He will call his soul, so it would exit from his body.

فَأَمَّا الْمُؤْمِنُ فَمَا يُحِسُّ بِحُرُوجِهَا وَ ذَلِكَ قَوْلُ اللَّهِ سُبْحَانَهُ وَ تَعَالَى- يا أَيْتُهَا النَّفْسُ الْمُطْمَئِنَةُ- ارْجِعِي إِلَى رَبِّكِ راضِيَةً مَرْضِيَّةً- فَادْخُلِي فِي عِبادِي وَ ادْخُلِي جَنِّتِي

As for the Momin, he will not even feel its exit, and that is the Word of Allah^{-azwj}, Glorious and Exalted: *O you the contented soul!* [89:27] Return to your Lord, being well-pleased, He being Well-Pleased [89:28] So enter (to be) among My servants [89:29] And enter into My Garden [89:30].

Then he-asws said: 'That is for the one who were to be devout, consoling to his brethren, connecting to them and if he were to be other than devout, not connecting to his brethren'.

قِيلَ لَهُ مَا مَنَعَكَ مِنَ الْوَرَعِ وَ الْمُوَاسَاةِ لِإِخْوَانِكَ أَنْتَ بُمَّنِ انْتَحَلَ الْمَحَبَّةَ بِلِسَانِهِ وَ لَمْ يُصَدِّقْ ذَلِكَ بِفِعْلٍ وَ إِذَا لَقِيَ رَسُولَ اللّهِ ص وَ أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ لَقِيَهُمَا مُعْرضَيْن مُقطِّبَيْن مُقطِّبَيْن في هِجْهِه غَيْرَ شَافِعَيْن لَهُ

He^{-asws} said to him: 'What prevents you from the devoutness and the consoling to your brethren? You are from the ones arrogating the love with his tongue and that is not ratified

_

 $^{^{}m 1059}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 29

by action, and when he meets Rasool-Allah^{-saww} and Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}, he will be meeting them^{-asws}, turning away, frowning in his face, not interceding for him'.

قَالَ سَدِيرٌ مَنْ جَدَعَ اللَّهُ أَنْفَهُ

Sadeyr (narrator) said, 'One who Allah-azwj Cuts his nose (pride)?'

قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ فَهُوَ ذَاكَ.

Abu Abdullah-asws said: 'He is that!''1060

31- سن، المحاسن ابْنُ مَحْبُوبٍ عَنْ أَبِي وَلَادٍ عَنْ مُيَسِّرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الْعَزِيزِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمُؤْمِنَ مِنْكُمْ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ لَيَمُرُّ عَلَيْهِ بِالرَّجُلِ وَ قَدْ أُمِرَ بِهِ إِلَى النَّارِ فَيَقُولُ لَهُ يَا فُلَانُ أَعِنِّى فَقَدْ كُنْتُ أَصْنَعُ إِلَيْكَ الْمَعْرُوفَ فِي الدُّنْيَا

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Wallad, from Muyassir Bin Abdul Aziz,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the Momin from you would be passed by a man, and he would have been Commanded with to the Fire. He will say to him, 'O so and so, assist me, for I used to do the act of kindness to you in the world!'

فَيَقُولُ الْمُؤْمِنُ لِلْمَلَكِ حَلّ سَبِيلَهُ

The Momin will say to the Angel, 'Free his way!'

فَيَأْمُرُ اللَّهُ الْمَلَكَ أَنْ أَحِزْ قَوْلَ الْمُؤْمِنِ فَيُحَلِّى الْمَلَكُ سَبِيلَهُ.

Allah^{-azwj} will Command the Angels: "I^{-azwj} am Allowing the word of the Momin!" So the Angel will free his way".¹⁰⁶¹

32- سن، المحاسن الْبَرَنْطِيُّ وَ ابْنُ فَضَّالٍ عَنْ صَفْوَانَ الجُمَّالِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: مَا الْتَقَى مُؤْمِنَانِ قَطُّ إِلَّا كَانَ أَفْضَلُهُمَا أَشَدَّهُمَا حُبَّاً لِأَخِيهِ.

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Al Bazanty and Ibn Fazzal, from Safwan Al Jammal,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'No two Momineen meet at all except the superior of the two would be their more intense of love to his brother''. ¹⁰⁶²

وَ فِي حَدِيثِ آخَرَ أَشَدُّهُمَا خُبّاً لِصَاحِبهِ.

And in another Hadeeth: 'The most intense of them in love to his companion''. 1063

33- سن، المحاسن عُثْمَانُ عَنْ سَمَاعَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عِ قَالَ: إِنَّ الْمُسْلِمَيْنِ يَلْتَقِيَانِ فَأَفْضَلُهُمَا أَشَدُّهُمَا حُبّاً لِصَاحِبِهِ.

¹⁰⁶⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 30

 $^{^{1061}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 31

 $^{^{1062}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 32 a

¹⁰⁶³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 32 b

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Usman, from Sama'at,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The two Muslims meet, so their superior is their most intense of love to his companions''. ¹⁰⁶⁴

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' - Muhammad Bin Ali, from Muhammad Bin Jabalah, from Abu Al Jaroud,

'From Abu Ja'far-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah-azwj will be upon a land of green emeralds, in the Shade of His-azwj Throne, on His-azwj Right Hand, and both His-azwj Hands are right. Their faces will be intensely whiter than the snow, and more illuminating than the emerging sun.

They will be envied of their status by every Angel of Proximity, and Messenger^{-as} Prophet^{-as}, and the people will be saying, 'Who are they?' It will be said: 'They are the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}''. ¹⁰⁶⁵

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – Al Washa, from Ali Bin Abu Hamza, from Abu Baseer who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'On the Day of Qiyamah, the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} will be upon pulpits of Noor. The Noor of their bodies and Noor of their pulpits will illuminate all things until they are known by it, so it will be said, 'They are the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}''.¹⁰⁶⁶

(The book) 'Al Mahasin' – My father, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Ammar Bin Marwan, from Muhammad Bin Ajlan,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Woe be to the one replacing a bounty of Allah^{-azwj} by committing Kufr! Beatitude be for the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}''.¹⁰⁶⁷

¹⁰⁶⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 33

 $^{^{1065}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 34

¹⁰⁶⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 35

¹⁰⁶⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 36

37- جا، المجالس للمفيد مُحُمَّدُ بْنُ جَعْفَرٍ التَّويمِي عَنْ هِشَامِ بْنِ يُونُسَ النَّهْشَلِيِّ عَنْ يَخْبَى بْنِ يَعْلَى عَنْ حُمَيْدٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحَارِثِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحَارِثِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ الْحَارِثِ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ بْنِ اللَّهِ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةٍ مِنْ يَاقُوتٍ أَحْمَرَ فِي الْجُنَّةِ يُشْرِفُونَ عَلَى أَهْلِ الْجُنَّةِ فَإِذَا اطَّلَعَ أَحَدُهُمْ مَلاَّ حُسْنُهُ بِيُونَ أَهْلِ الْجُنَّةِ وَ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةٍ مِنْ يَاقُوتٍ أَخْرَ فِي الْجُنَّةِ يُشْرِفُونَ عَلَى أَهْلِ الْجُنَّةِ فَإِذَا اطَّلَعَ أَحَدُهُمْ مَلاً حُسْنُهُ بَيْنِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةً مِنْ يَاقُوتٍ أَخْرَ فِي اللَّهِ عَلَى أَهْلِ الْجُنَّةِ فَإِذَا اطَّلَعَ أَحَدُهُمْ مَلاً حُسْنُهُ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعْرَاقِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةً عَلَى أَعْمِدَةً مِنْ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى أَمْلِ الْجُنَّةِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةً مِنْ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى أَمْ الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْمَلِهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى أَعْمِدَةً عَلَى الْمُعْرِقِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعْمِلُونَ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعْمَالِ عَلَى الْمُعْمِلَةِ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعْتَقِ عَلَى الْمُعْمَلِ عَلَى الْمُعْمِلِ عَلَى الْمُعْمَلِ عَلَيْمُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْنُهُ الْمُعْلَقِلَ الْمُعْلِقِ عَلَى الْمُعْلِقِ عَلَى الْعُلْمَ الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَقِ عَلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلِمُ الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلِى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى عَلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلِى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ الْمُعْلَى اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهِ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهِ اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ ع

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Tameemi, from Hisham Bin Yunus Al Nahshaly, from Yahya Bin Ya'la, from Humeyd, from Abdullah Bin Al Haris, from Abdullah Bin Masoud who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will be upon pillars of red rubies in the Paradise. They will be overlooking upon the people of Paradise. Whenever one of them emerges, his beauty would fill upon houses of the people of Paradise.

The people of Paradise will say, 'Come out to look at the ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic!'

He^{-asws} said: 'They will come out and look at them. One of them, his face will be like the moon during a night of the full moon. Upon their foreheads (would be written), 'The ones loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic''.¹⁰⁶⁸

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'Whichever Momin connects an act of kindness to his Momin brother, so he has connected to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}''. ¹⁰⁶⁹

39– ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ سِنَانٍ عَنْ كُلَيْتٍ الْأَسَدِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ تَوَاصَلُوا وَ تَبَارُوا وَ تَرَاحَمُوا وَ كُونُوا إِخْوَةً بَرَرَةً كَمَا أَمَرَكُمُ اللَّهُ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Kuleyb Al Asady who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Connect, and be righteous and mercy each other, and be as righteous brothers just as Allah^{-azwj} has Commanded you all!''¹⁰⁷⁰

40- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الحُسَيْنُ بْنُ عُبَيْدِ اللَّهِ عَنِ التَّلَّعُكْبَرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مَعْمَرٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ صَدَقَةَ عَنْ مُوسَى بْنِ جَعْفَرٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَ لَا تَزَالُ أُمَّتِي خِيْرٍ مَا تَحَابُّوا وَ أَقَامُوا الصَّلاةَ وَ آتَوُا الزَّكَاةَ وَ قَرَوُا الضَّيْفَ فَإِنْ لَمْ يَفْعَلُوا ابْتُلُوا بِالسِّنِينَ وَ الجُنْدِ

¹⁰⁶⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 37

 $^{^{1069}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 38

¹⁰⁷⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 39

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the Sheykh Al Tusi – Al-Husayn Bin Ubeydullah, from Al Tal'akbury, from Muhammad Bin Ali Bin Ma'mar, from Muhammad Bin Sadaqa,

'From Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'My^{-saww} community will not cease to be with goodness for as long as they love each other, and establish the Salat, and give the Zakat, and entertain the guest. If they don't do so, they will be Tried with the years (of hunger) and the drought'.

He^{-asws} said: 'We^{-asws}, People^{-asws} of the Household do not wipe upon our^{-asws} socks (during performing the Wud'u)". ¹⁰⁷¹

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Your brother should not be stronger upon cutting you off than you are upon connecting with him, nor should he be stronger upon offending than you are upon the favouring (being good to him)".¹⁰⁷²

And he-ass said: 'How ugly is the humbleness during the need, and the antipathy during the riches''. 1073

Al-Husayn^{-asws} said: 'The most generous of the people is one who gives to the one who does not hope for (it), and the most pardoning of the people is one who pardons during his power, and the most connecting of the people is one who connects to the one who cuts him off". 1074

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'There is nothing more beloved to me^{-asws} than a man there is a hand (of favour) to him from me^{-asws}, so I^{-asws} follow it up with its counterpart (another favour), and I^{-asws} am good at nourishing it, because I^{-asws} have seen, prevention of the last one cuts off the appreciation of the first ones''.¹⁰⁷⁵

¹⁰⁷¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 40

¹⁰⁷² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 41 a

¹⁰⁷³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 41 b

 $^{^{\}rm 1074}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 41 c

¹⁰⁷⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 41 d

(The book) 'Da'waat' of Al Rawandy -

'It is reported that when it will be the Day of Qiyamah, every one who arises from his grave will call out, 'O Allah-azwj, have Mercy on me! O Allah-azwj, have Mercy on me!'

They will be answered: 'Had you been merciful in the world, you will be Mercied today!' 1076

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said in his^{-asws} bequest during his^{-asws} expiry: 'Upon you all is with the connecting and the exchanging (gifts) and beware of the abandoning and the cutting off''. ¹⁰⁷⁷

(The book) 'Uddat Al Daie' -

'From the Prophet-saww having said: 'My-saww community will not cease being with goodness for as long as they love each other, and they fulfil the entrustment, and they establish the Salat, and give the Zakat. If they don't do so, they will be Tried with the drought and the years (of hunger).

وَ سَيَأْتِي عَلَى أُمَّتِي زَمَانٌ غَنْبُثُ فِيهِ سَرَائِرُهُمْ وَ خُسُنُ فِيهِ عَلاَنِيتُهُمْ طَمَعاً فِي الدُّنْيَا يَكُونُ عَمَلُهُمْ رِنَّاءً لَا يُخَالِطُهُمْ حَوْفُ أَنْ يَعُمَّهُمُ اللَّهُ بِبَلاهٍ فَيَدْعُونَهُ دُعَاءَ الْغَرِيقِ فَلَا يَسْتَجِيبُ لَمُمْ.

And there shall come a time upon my^{-asws} community, their secretive action will be wicked during it, and their open actions will be good during it, out of greed regarding the world. Their deeds will be a show-off. Fear will not mingle in them. Allah^{-azwj} will Generalise them with afflictions. They will be supplicating to Him^{-azwj} with 'supplication of the drowning one' (Dua Al-Ghareek), but it will not be Answered for them".¹⁰⁷⁸

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' – from Sahl Bin Ahmad, from Muhammad Bin Muhammad Bin Al Ashas,

 $^{^{1076}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 42

 $^{^{1077}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 43 a

¹⁰⁷⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 43 b

'From Musa Bin Ismail son of Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Chief of the intellect after the religion, is being cordial to the people and doing the good to all, righteous and immoral''.¹⁰⁷⁹

45-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ مُخْبُوبٍ عَنْ شُعَيْثٍ الْعَقْرْقُوفِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ لِأَصْحَابِهِ اتَّقُوا اللّهَ وَكُونُوا إِحْوَةً بَرَرَةً مُتَحَاتِينَ فِي اللّهِ مُتَوَاصِلِينَ مُتَرَاحِمِينَ تَزَاوِرُوا وَ تَلَاقَوْا وَ تَذَاكُرُوا أَمْرَنَا وَ أَحْيُوهُ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Al Hassan Bin Mahboub, from Shueyb Al Aqarquqy who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying to his^{-asws} companions: 'Fear Allah^{-azwj} and be as righteous brothers, loving each other for the Sake of Allah^{-azwj}, connecting, merciful, visiting, and meeting each other, and mentioning our^{-asws} matter and reviving it''.¹⁰⁸⁰

46-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ يَحْيَى عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ كُلَيْبٍ الصَّيْدَاوِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: تَوَاصَلُوا وَ تَبَارُوا وَ تَرَاحَمُوا وَ كُونُوا إِحْوَةً بَرَرَةً كَمَا أَمَرُكُمُ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَ جَلَ.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ibn Isa, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Kuleyb Al Saydawi,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Connect, and be righteous, and be merciful to each other, and be as rightful brothers just as Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has Commanded you all''.¹⁰⁸¹

47-كا، الكافي بِالْإِسْنَادِ الْمُتَقَدِّمِ عَنِ ابْنِ سِنَانٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ الْكَاهِلِيّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبًا عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع يَقُولُ تَوَاصَلُوا وَ تَبَارُوا وَ تَرَاحَمُوا وَ تَعَاطَفُوا.

(The book) 'Al Kafi' - By the previous chain, from Ibn Sinan, from Abdullah Al Kahily who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah^{-asws} saying: 'Connect, and be righteous, and be merciful, and be kind to each other''. ¹⁰⁸²

48-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ عُثْمَانَ بْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ سَمَاعَةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ عِ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لَهُ قَوْلُ اللهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ- مَنْ قَتَلَ نَفْساً بِغَيْرِ نَفْسٍ ... فَكَأَمَّا قَتَارَ النَّاسَ جَمِيعاً ... فَكَأَمَّا قَتَارً النَّاسَ جَمِيعاً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Usman Bin Isa, from Sama'at,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws}, he (the narrator) said, 'I said to him^{-asws}, 'The Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: the one who kills a soul for other than a soul (in retaliation), or (for) mischief in the earth, then it would be as if he killed the entirety of the people; and the one who revives it (a person), so it would be as if he has revived the entirety of the people. [5:32]'.

¹⁰⁷⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 44

 $^{^{1080}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 45

 $^{^{1081}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 46

¹⁰⁸² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 47

قَالَ وَ مَنْ أَخْرَجَهَا مِنْ ضَلَالِ إِلَى الْهُدَى فَكَأَنَّنَا أَحْيَاهَا وَ مَنْ أَخْرَجَهَا مِنْ هُدًى إِلَى ضَلَالِ فَقَدْ قَتَلَهَا.

He^{-asws} said: 'And the one who extracts if from straying to the guidance, it is as if he has revived it, and the one who extracts if from guidance to straying, so he has killed it''.¹⁰⁸³

49-كا، الكافي عَنِ الْعِدَّةِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ عَنْ أَبَانِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ عَنْ فُضَيْلِ بْنِ يَسَارٍ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَوْلُ اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ فِي كَتَابِهِ- وَ مَنْ أَحْياها فَكَأَنَّما أَحْيَا النَّاسَ جَمِيعاً

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From the number, from Al Barqy, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Aban Bin Usman, from Fuzeyl Bin Yasaar who said.

'I said to Abu Ja'far-asws, 'Words of Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic in His-azwj Book: and the one who revives it (a person), so it would be as if he has revived the entirety of the people. [5:32]'.

قَالَ مِنْ حَرَقٍ أَوْ غَرَقٍ

He-asws said: 'One who is burning or drowning'.

قُلْتُ فَمَنْ أَحْرَجَهَا مِنْ ضَلَالٍ إِلَى هُدًى

I said, 'So the one who extracts if from straying to guidance?'

قَالَ ذَاكَ تَأُويلُهَا الْأَعْظَمُ.

He-asws said: 'That is it's mightiest interpretation". 1084

50-كا، الكافي عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ يَخْنِي عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ حَالِدٍ عَنِ النَّضْرِ بْنِ سُوَيْدٍ عَنْ يَخْبَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ الْحَلَبِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي حَالِدٍ الْقُمَّاطِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ سُويْدٍ عَنْ يَخْبَى بْنِ عِمْرَانَ الْخُلَبِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي حَالِدٍ الْقُمَّاطِ عَنْ مُحُمَّانَ قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِأَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ أَسْأَلُكَ أَصْلَحَكَ اللَّهُ

(The book) 'Al Kafi' – From Muhammad Bin Yahya, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Muhammad Bin Khalid, from Al Nazr Bin Suweyd, from Yahya Bin Imran Al Halby, from Abu Khalid Al Qammat, from Humran who said,

'I said to Abu Abdullah-asws, 'Can I ask you-asws? May Allah-azwj Keep you-asws well!'

فَقَالَ نَعَمْ

He-asws said: 'Yes'.

فَقُلْتُ كُنْتُ عَلَى حَالٍ وَ أَنَا الْيَوْمَ عَلَى حَالٍ أُحْرَى كُنْتُ أَدْخُلُ الْأَرْضَ فَأَدْعُو الرَّجُلَ وَ الاِثْنَيْنِ وَ الْمَرْأَةَ فَيُنْقِذُ اللَّهُ مَنْ شَاءَ وَ أَنَا الْيَوْمَ لَا أَدْعُو أَحَداً

 $^{^{1083}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 48

 $^{^{1084}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 49

I said, 'I used to be upon a state, and today I am upon another state. I used to enter the land and call (to the Wilayah) the man, and the two, and the woman, so Allah^{-azwj} Saved the one He^{-azwj} so Desires, and today I don't call anyone'.

He^{-asws} said: 'And what is upon you if you were to leave alone between the people and their Lord^{-azwj}? The one whom Allah^{-azwj} Wants to Extract him from darkness to light, He^{-azwj} will Extract him!'

Then he-asws said: 'Nor it is upon you if you were to sense goodness from anyone to divulge to him the secretive thing'.

I said, 'Inform me about Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: **and the one who revives it** (a person), so it would be as if he has revived the entirety of the people. [5:32]'.

He^{-asws} said: 'From burning or drowning'. Then he^{-asws} was silent, then said: 'It's mightiest interpretation is that he calls it (a soul) so he is answered to it''. ¹⁰⁸⁵

 $^{\rm 1085}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 28 H 50

_

باب 29 من يستحق أن يرحم

CHAPTER 29 – ONE WHO IS DESERVING OF BEING MERCIED

1- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّقَّارِ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ سِنَانِ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع يَقُولُ إِنِيّ لَأَرْحَمُ ثَلَاثَةً وَ حَقٌّ لَهُمُّ الْخَنَى وَ عَالِمٌ يَسْتَخِفُ بِهِ أَهْلُهُ وَ الْجُهَلَةُ. أَنْ يُرْحَمُوا عَزِيزٌ أَصَابَتُهُ مَذَلَةٌ بَعْدَ الْعِزّ وَ غَنَيٌّ أَصَابَتُهُ حَاجَةٌ بَعْدَ الْغِنَى وَ عَالِمٌ يَسْتَخِفُ بِهِ أَهْلُهُ وَ الْجُهَلَةُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abdullah Bin Sinan who said,

'I heard Abu Abdullah-asws saying: 'I-asws am merciful to three and it is a right for them to be mercied – a mighty (honourable) one afflicted with disgrace after the honour, and a rich one afflicted by need after the riches, and a scholar his people and the ignoramuses take lightly with him''. 1086

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Haroun, from Ibn Sadaga,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'The Prophet^{-saww} said: 'Be merciful to a mighty (honourable) one becoming disgraced, and a rich one impoverished, and a scholar wasted in the time of the ignoramuses''.¹⁰⁸⁷

الدُّرَّةُ الْبَاهِرَةُ، مِثْلَهُ وَ فِيهِ وَ عَالِماً تَتَلَاعَبُ بِهِ الجُّهَّالُ.

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'Similar to it, and in it: 'And a scholar the ignoramuses play with him''. 1088

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'He^{-asws} said: 'Forgive for the ones with chivalry of their stumbles. No stumbling one from them will stumble except and his hand would be in the Hand of Allah^{-azwj}, Raising him''. ¹⁰⁸⁹

¹⁰⁸⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 29 H 1

 $^{^{1087}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 29 H 2 a

 $^{^{1088}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 29 H 2 b

¹⁰⁸⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 29 H 3

باب 30 فضل الإحسان و الفضل و المعروف و من هو أهل لها

CHAPTER 30 – MERIT OF THE FAVOUR, AND THE GRACE, AND THE ACT OF KINDNESS, AND ONE WHO IS RIGHTFUL FOR IT

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq – Ibn Al Barqy, from his father, from his grandfather, from Al-Husayn Bin Saeed, from Ibrahim Bin Abu Al Bilad, from Abdullah Bin Al waleed Al Wassafy who said,

'Abu Ja'far Al-Baqir^{-asws} said: 'Doing the act of kindness saves from the evil death, and every act of kindness is charity, and the people of the act of kindness in the word are the people of the act of kindness in the Hereafter, and the people evil in the world and the people of evil in the Hereafter.

وَ أَوَّلُ أَهْلِ الْجُنَّةِ دُخُولًا إِلَى الْجُنَّةِ أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ وَ إِنَّ أَوَّلَ أَهْلِ النَّارِ دُخُولًا إِلَى النَّارِ أَهْلُ الْمُنْكَرِ.

And the first people of Paradise to enter the Paradise will be the people of act of kindness, and the first people of the Fire to enter the Fire will be the people of evil (actions)". 1090

2- لي، الأمالي للصدوق الطَّالقانيُّ عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ الْقاسِمِ الْأَنْبَارِيِّ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي يَعْقُوبَ الدِّينَوَرِيِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ أَبِي الْمِقْدَامِ الْعِجْلِيِّ قَالَ يُرْوَى أَلِي الْمُؤْمِنِينَ إِنَّ لِي إِلَيْكَ حَاجَةً أَنَّ رَجُلًا جَاءَ إِلَى عَلِيّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ ع فَقَالَ لَهُ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ إِنَّ لِي إِلَيْكَ حَاجَةً

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of Al Sadouq - Al Talaqany, from Muhammad Bin Al Qasim Al Anbary, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Abu Yaqoub Al Deynawary, from Ahmad Bin Abu Al Miqdan Al Ijaly who said,

'It is reported that a man came to Ali-asws Bin Abu Talib-asws. He said to him-asws, 'O Amir Al-Momineen-asws! There is a need for me to you-asws'.

فَقَالَ اكْتُبْهَا فِي الْأَرْضِ فَإِنِّي أَرَى الضُّرَّ فِيكَ بَيِّناً

He^{-asws} said: 'Write it in the ground for I^{-asws} can see the harm in you clearly'.

فَكَتَبَ فِي الْأَرْضِ أَنَا فَقِيرٌ مُحْتَاجٌ

He wrote in the ground, 'I am poor, needy'.

فَقَالَ عَلِيٌ ع يَا قَنْبَرُ اكْسُهُ حُلَّتَيْن

Ali-asws said: 'O Qanbar! Clothe him two garments!'

¹⁰⁹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 1

Page 441 of 462

فَأَنْشَأَ الرَّجُلُ يَقُولُ-

فَسَوْفَ أَكْسُوكَ مِنْ حُسْنِ الثَّنَا حُلَلًا-وَ لَسْتَ تَبْغِي بِمَا قَدْ نِلْتَهُ بَدَلًا-كَالْغَيْثِ يُحْيِي نَدَاهُ السَّهْلُ وَ الجُبَلَا-فَكُلُ عَبْدٍ سَيُجْزَى بِالَّذِي فَعَلا كَسَوْتَنِي خُلَّةً تُبْلَى مَحَاسِنُهَا-إِنْ نِلْتَ خُسْنَ ثَنَائِي نِلْتَ مَكْرُمَةً-إِنَّ الثَّنَاءَ لَيُحْيِي ذِكْرَ صَاحِبِهِ-لَا تَزْهَدِ الدَّهْرَ فِي عُرْفِ بَدَأْتَ به-

The man recited (a poem) saying, 'You have clothed me with a garment its beauty will decay, soon I shall clothe you from the goodly praise extollations. If you were to attain the goodness of my praise, you have attained honour, and I am not seeking a replacement with what I have given you. The praise tends to revive the mention of its owner, like the rain tends to revive the coast and the mountain. Do not forsake the eternity in knowing what you had begun with, for every servant shall be Recompense with that which he had done'.

فَقَالَ عِ أَعْطُوهُ مِائَةَ دِينَارٍ

He-asws said: 'Give him one hundred Dinars!'

فَقِيلَ لَهُ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ لَقَدْ أَغْنَيْتَهُ

It was said to him-asws, 'O Amir Al-Momineen-asws! You-asws have enriched him'.

فَقَالَ إِنِّي سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ص يَقُولُ أَنْزِلِ النَّاسَ مَنَازِهُمٌ

 $He^{\text{-}asws}\ said: \text{'}I^{\text{-}asws}\ heard\ Rasool-Allah^{\text{-}saww}\ saying: \text{'}Accord\ the\ people\ according\ to\ their\ status'.$

ثُمُّ قَالَ عَلِيٌّ ع إِنِّ لأَعْجَبُ مِنْ أَقْوَامٍ يَشْتُرُونَ الْمَمَالِيكَ بِأَمْوَالِحِمْ وَ لَا يَشْتَرُونَ الْأَحْرَارَ بِمَعْرُوفِهِمْ.

Then Ali-asws said: 'I-asws am astonished at the people buying the slaves with their wealth, and they are not buying the free ones with their acts of kindness!" ¹⁰⁹¹

3- ب، قرب الإسناد ابْنُ طَرِيفٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عُلْوَانَ عَنِ الصَّادِقِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللّهِ ص إِنَّ لِلْجَنَّةِ بَاباً يُقَالُ لَهُ بَابُ الْمَعْرُوفِ- لَا يَدْحُلُهُ إِلّا أَمْعُرُوف.

(The book) 'Qurb Al Asnaad' – Ibn Tareyf, from Ibn Ulwan,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'There is a door for the Paradise call 'The door of the act of kindness'. No one will enter it except the people of the acts of kindness''.¹⁰⁹²

 $^{^{1091}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 2

¹⁰⁹² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 3

4- فس، تفسير القمي قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع مَا مِنْ شَيْءٍ أَحَبَّ إِلَيَّ مِنْ رَجُلٍ سَبَقَتْ مِنِّي إِلَيْهِ يَدٌ أَتْبِعُهَا أَخْتَهَا وَ أَحْسَنْتُ مُرَبَّمَا لِأَيِّ رَأَيْتُ مَنْعَ الْأَوَاخِرِ يَقْطَعُ لِسَانَ شُكْرِ الْأَوَائِلِ.

Tafseer Al Qummi -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'There is nothing more beloved to me^{-asws} than a man, a hand of favour from me^{-asws} had preceded to him, so I follow it up with its counterpart (another favour), and I^{-asws} make good its nourishing, because I^{-asws} view refusal of the last one cuts off the appreciation of the first one".¹⁰⁹³

5- فس، تفسير القمي أَبِي عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ أَبِي بَصِيرٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص لِعَلِيٍّ ع عَلَيْكَ بِصَنَائِعِ الْخَيْرِ فَإِنَّمَا تَدْفَعُ مَصَارِعَ السَّوْءِ.

Tafseer Al Qummi – My father, from Hammad, from Abu Baseer,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Rasool-Allah-saww said to Ali-asws: 'Upon you is with doing the good, for it repels the evil death''. 1094

6- ل، الخصال مَاحِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَنِ الْبَرْقِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ يَرِيدَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ الْمَعْرُوفُ شَيْءٌ سِوَى الزَّكَاةِ فَتَقَرَّبُوا إِلَى اللَّهِ عَزَّ وَ جَلَّ بالْبِرِّ وَ صِلَةِ الرَّحِم.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from Ibn Mahboub, from Umar Bin Yazeed who said.

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The act of kindness is something besides the Zakat, so draw closer to Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic with the righteousness and connecting the kinship". ¹⁰⁹⁵

7- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْمُتَوَكِّلِ عَنِ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنِ ابْنِ مُحْبُوبٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عَمِيرةَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: لَا تَصْلُحُ الصَّيِيعَةُ إِلَّا عِنْدَ ذِي حَسَبٍ أَوْ دِين.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Al Mutawakkil, from Al Himeyri, from Ibn Isa, from Ibn Mahboub, from Ibn Ameyra,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'The goodly dealing is not correct except with someone of pedigree or religion''.¹⁰⁹⁶

8- ل، الخصال مَاجِيلَوَيْهِ عَنْ عَمِّهِ عَنِ الْبَرْهِيِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ سَعْدَانَ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ حَاتِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي عَنْ الْمَعُووفَ لَا يَصْلُحُ إِلَّا بِثَلَاثِ عَنْ الْمَرْهِي عَنْ الْمَعُووفَ لَا يَصْلُحُ إِلَّا بِثَلَاثِ عَنْ مَعْدِاهِ وَ سَعْرَهُ عَظْمَهُ وَ نَكَّدُتُهُ. خِصَالَ تَصْغِيرِهِ وَ سَتْرُهُ وَ تَعْجِيلِهِ فَإِنَّكَ إِذَا صَعَّرُهُ عَظْمَهُ وَ نَكَّدُتُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Majaylawiya, from his uncle, from Al Barqy, from his father, from Sa'dan Bin Muslim, from Hatim,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'I^{-asws} view the act of kindness as not being correct except with three characteristics – your belittling it, and concealing it, and hastening it. When you belittle it, it will magnify it in the presence of the one you have done it to, and when you

 1094 Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 5

¹⁰⁹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 4

 $^{^{1095}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H $\rm 6$

¹⁰⁹⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 7

conceal it, you complete it, and when you hasten it, you make it pleasant, and if it were to be other than that, you will eradicate it and embitter him". 1097

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Askary, from Muhammad Bin Abdul Aziz, from Al Hassan Bin Muhammad Al Zafrany, from Ubeyda Bin Humeyd, from Abu Al Za'ra, from Abu Al Ahwas, from his father Malik Bin Nazlah who said,

'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The hands (favours) are three. The Hand of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic is the highest, and a hand of the giver, is which follows it (in highness), and a hand of the beggar is the lowest. Therefore give the grace and do not frustrate yourself".¹⁰⁹⁸

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Ibn Hamza Al Alawy, from Ali, from his father, from Ja'far Bin Muhammad Al Ashary, from Al Qaddah,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Every act of kindness is charity, and the pointer upon the good is like its doer, and Allah^{-azwj} Loves helping the aggrieved''.¹⁰⁹⁹

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'(The Hadeeth) 'Al-Arbamiya' – Amir Al-Momineen-asws said: 'Do the act of kindness with what you are able upon doing it, for it saves from the evil death!''¹¹⁰⁰

And he^{-asws} said: 'The good dealing is not correct except with the one with pedigree or religion''.¹¹⁰¹

And he^{-asws} said: 'For every thing there is a fruit, and the fruit of an act of kindness is hastening it". 1102

 $^{^{1097}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 8 $\,$

¹⁰⁹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 9

¹⁰⁹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 10

¹¹⁰⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 11 a

 $^{^{1101}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 11 b

¹¹⁰² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 11 c

12- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِالْأَسَانِيدِ الثَّلَاقَةِ عَنِ الرِّضَا عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص اصْطَنِعِ الخَيْرُ إِلَى مَنْ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ وَ إِلَى مَنْ لَيْسَ هُوَ مِنْ أَهْلِهِ فَإِنْ لَمْ تُصِبْ مَنْ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ فَأَنْتَ أَهْلُهُ.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – by the three chains from Al-Reza^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} having said: 'Do the good to the one who is rightful of it, and to the one who isn't from its rightful ones. So if you cannot find the one who is rightful of it, then you are its rightful one''. ¹¹⁰³

13- ن، عيون أخبار الرضا عليه السلام بِمَذَا الْإِسْنَادِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص رَأْسُ الْعَقْلِ بَعْدَ الدِّينِ التَّوَدُّدُ إِلَى النَّاسِ وَ اصْطِنَاعُ الْخَيْرِ إِلَى كُلِّ أَحَدٍ بَرٍّ وَ فَاحِر.

(The book) 'Uyoun Akhbar Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws}, by this chain, he^{-asws} said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'The chief of intellect after the religion, is the cordiality to the people, and doing good to every one, righteous and immoral''.¹¹⁰⁴

14- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْمُفِيدُ عَنْ أَبِي غَالِبٍ الرُّرَارِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي الْخُطَّابِ عَنِ ابْنِ مَخْبُوبٍ عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنْ بُرَيْدٍ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْمَرٍ عَنْ آَبِي جَعْمَرٍ عَنْ جَعْمَرٍ عَنْ جَمِيلِ بْنِ صَالِحٍ عَنْ بُرَيْمَ عَنْ بُرَعْمَتِي وَ مِنْ بُرَعْمَتِي وَ مِنْ وَ إِنْ رَدَّهَا فَبِذَنْبِهِ حُرِمَهَا وَ مِنْهُ لَا آبَائِهِ عِ قَالَ وَاللّهِ مِنْ مُنِي وَ إِنْ رَدَّهَا فَبِذَنْبِهِ حُرِمَهَا وَ مِنْهُ لَا مُعْرُوفُ هَدِيَةٌ مِنْ عَلَيْ بُو جَيْرًا.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Mufeed, from Abu Ghalib Al Zurary, from Ibn Al Khattab, from Ibn Mahboub, from Jameel Bin Salih, from Bureyd,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted Says: 'The act of kindness is a Gift from Me^{-azwj} to My^{-azwj} servant. If he were to accept it from Me^{-azwj}, it is due to My^{-azwj} Mercy and from Me^{-azwj}, and if he were to reject it, it is due to his sins he is deprived of it and from him, not from Me^{-azwj}, and whichever servant I^{-azwj} Create, I^{-azwj} Guide him to the Eman, and I^{-azwj} Make his morals to be good, and I^{-azwj} do not Try him with the miserliness, for I^{-azwj} Want good with him!"'¹¹⁰⁵

15- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى أَبِي قَتَادَةَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللهِ ع أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الدُّنْيَا هُمْ أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ لِأَكَّمْ فِي الْآخِرَةِ تُرجَّحُهُ هُنُمُ الْحَسَنَاتُ فَيَجُودُونَ بِمَا عَلَى أَهْلِ الْمَعَاصِي.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – By the chain to Abu Qatadah who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The people of acts of kindness in the world, they are the people of the acts of kindness in the Hereafter, because in the Hereafter, the good deeds will outweigh for them, so they will be generous with these upon the people of disobedience''. ¹¹⁰⁶

¹¹⁰³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 12

 $^{^{1104}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 13

 $^{^{1105}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 14

¹¹⁰⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 15

16- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنِ الْحُسَيْنِ بْنِ أَحْمَدَ الْمَالِكِيِّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ هُلَيْلٍ عَنْ زِيَادٍ الْقَنْدِيِّ عَنِ النَّوِيِّ عَنِ الْبَوِّ عَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ عَنِ النَّمِيِّ صَ قَالَ: كُلُّ مَعْرُوفٍ صَدَقَةٌ إِلَى غَيِّ أَوْ فَقِيرٍ فَتَصَدَّقُوا وَ لَوْ بِشِقِّ تَمْرَةٍ وَ اتَّقُوا النَّارَ وَ لَوْ بِشِقِّ التَّمْرَةِ فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ عَنِ النَّهِيِّ صَ قَالَ: كُلُّ مَعْرُوفٍ صَدَقَةٌ إِلَى غَيِّ أَوْ فَقِيرٍ فَتَصَدَّقُوا وَ لَوْ بِشِقِّ تَمْرَةٍ وَ اتَّقُوا النَّارَ وَ لَوْ بِشِقِ التَّمْرَةِ فَإِنَّ اللَّهُ عَرَّ وَ جَلَّ يُرْتِي أَحْدُكُمْ فَلُوهُ أَوْ فَصِيلَهُ حَتَّى يُوفِيَهُ إِيَّاهَا يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَ حَتَّى يُكُونَ أَعْظَمَ مِنَ الْجُبَلِ الْعَظِيمِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Al-Husayn Bin Ahmad Al Maliky, from Ahmad Bin Huleyl, from Ziyad Al Qandy, from Al Jarrah, from Abu Is'haq, from Al Haris,

'From Ali-asws, from the Prophet-saww having said: 'Every act of kindness is charity, be it to a rich one or a poor one, therefore give charity, and even if it were to be with a piece of date, and fear the fire and even if it were to be with a piece of date, for Allah-azwj Mighty and Majestic will Nourish it for its owner just as one of you nourishes his foal or young camel, until He-azwj will Fulfil it on the Day of Qiyamah, and until it would be mightier than the might mountain". 1107

17- ع، علل الشرائع أَبِي عَنْ سَعْدٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ مَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ أَخِيهِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُهْزِيَارَ عَنْ أَخِيهِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عُهْزِيَارَ عَنْ أَخِيهِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ أَخِيهِ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بْنِ عَهْزِيَارَ عَنْ أَخِيهُ عَلِيٍّ عَنْ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ إِبْرَاهِيمَ بُونِ فَي عَلَى وَ صَنَائِعُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فَإِنَّا تَدْفَعُ مِيتَةَ السَّوْءِ وَ تَقِى مَصَارِعَ الْهَوَانِ.

(The book) 'Ilal Al Sharaie' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Ibrahim Bin Mahziyar, from his brother Ali, from Hammad, from Ibrahim Bin Umar raising it to,

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} having said: 'The best of what the beseechers can seek a means with, is the Eman with Allah^{-azwj'} – and he^{-asws} continued the Hadeeth up to he^{-asws} said: 'And doing the act of kindness, for it repels the evil death, and saved from the demeaning death''. ¹¹⁰⁸

18- ل، الخصال أَبِي عَنِ الْكُمُنْدَايِّ عَنِ ابْنِ عِيسَى عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ الْحَكَمِ رَفَعَهُ إِلَى أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ ع قَالَ: أَرْبَعَةٌ يَذْهَبْنُ ضَيَاعاً الْبَذْرُ فِي السَّبَحَةِ وَ السِّرَامِجُ فِي الْقَمَرِ وَ الْأَكُلُ عَلَى الشِّبَعِ وَ الْمَعْرُوفُ إِلَى مَنْ لَيْسَ بِأَهْلِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - My father, from Al Kumundary, from Ibn Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, raising it to,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Four go to waste – the sowing in the swamp, and the lamp in the (full) moon, and the eating upon the satiation, and the act of kindness to the one who isn't rightful of it''. 1109

ل، الخصال فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ النَّبِيُّ ص عَلِيّاً مِثْلَهُ وَ فِيهِ وَ الصَّنِيعَةُ عِنْدَ غَيْرٍ أَهْلِهَا.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' -

'Among what the Prophet^{-saww} bequeathed with to Ali^{-asws} – similar to it, and in it: 'And the good dealing with other than its rightful ones''. 1110

¹¹⁰⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 16

 $^{^{1108}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 17

 $^{^{1109}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 18 a

¹¹¹⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 18 b

19- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الْفَحَّامُ عَنِ الْمَنْصُورِيِّ عَنْ عَمِّ أَبِيهِ عَنْ أَبِي الْحُسَنِ الثَّالِثِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع خَمْسٌ تَذْهَبُ ضَيَاعاً سِرَاجٌ تُعِدُّهُ فِي شَمَّسٍ الدُّهْنُ يَذْهَبُ وَ الضَّوْءُ لَا يُنْتَفَعُ بِهِ وَ مَطَرٌ جَوْدٌ عَلَى أَرْضٍ سَبِحَةٍ الْمَطَرُ يَضِيعُ وَ الْأَرْضُ لَا يُنْتَفَعُ بِهَا وَ طَعَامٌ يُحْكِمُهُ طَاهِيهِ يُقَدَّمُ عَلَى شَبْعَانَ فَلَا يَنْتَفِعُ بِهِ وَ امْرَأَةٌ حَسْنَاءُ تُرَفُّ إِلَى عِبِّين فَلَا يَنْتَفِعُ هِمَا وَ مَعْرُوفٌ تَصْطَنِعُهُ إِلَى مَنْ لَا يَشْكُرُهُ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – Al Fahham, from Al Mansoury, from an uncle of his father,

'From Abu Al Hassan^{-asws} the 3rd, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Five go to waste – a lamp you prepare in the sun (shine), the oil goes away and the illumination you cannot benefit with it; and new rain upon swampy group. The rain is wasted and the ground you cannot benefit with it; and food cooked by its chef forwarded to a satiated one. He cannot benefit with it; and a beautiful woman escorted to an impotent man. He cannot benefit with her; and an act of kindness to the one who does not thank for it''.¹¹¹¹

20- ل، الخصال ابْنُ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّفَّارِ عَنِ الْيُقْطِينِيِّ عَنِ اللِّهْقَانِ عَنْ دُرُسْتَ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَ قَالَ: أَرْبَعَةٌ يَذْهَبْنَ ضَيَاعاً مَوَدَّةٌ تَمُنْحُهَا مَنْ لَا وَفَاءَ لَهُ وَ عِلْمٌ عِنْدَ مَنْ لَا اسْتِمَاعَ لَهُ وَ سِرٌّ تُودِعُهُ عِنْدَ مَنْ لَا حَصَافَةً لَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' - Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Al Yaqteeny, from Al Dihqan, from Dorost,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Four go to waste – cordiality you bestow upon the one having not loyalty for him, and an act of kindness with the one having not appreciation for him, and knowledge with the having not listening for him, and a secret you entrust with the one having no wisdom for him''.¹¹¹²

21- ل، الخصال الحُسَنُ بْنُ حَمْزَةَ الْعَلَوِيُّ عَنْ يُوسُفَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ الطَّبَرِيِّ عَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ نَجْدَةَ عَنْ وَكِيعٍ عَنْ زُكُويًّا بْنِ أَبِي زَائِرَةَ عَنْ عَامِرٍ الشَّعْبِيِّ عَنْ أَمِيرِ الْمُؤْونِينَ عَقَالَ: امْنُنْ عَلَى مَنْ شِفْتَ تَكُنْ أَمِيرُهُ وَ احْمَجْ إِلَى مَنْ شِفْتَ تَكُنْ أَسِيرَهُ وَ اسْتَعْنِ عَمَّنْ شِفْتَ تَكُنْ نَظِيرَهُ.

(The book) 'Al Khisaal' – Al Hassan Bin Hamza Al Alawy, from Yusuf Bin Muhammad Al Tabary, from Sahl Bin Najdah, from Wakie, from Zakariya Bin Abu Zaira, from Aamir Al Shaby,

'From Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} having said: 'Confer upon the one you so desire to, you will become his commander, and be needy to the one you so desire to, you will become his captive, and be needless from the one you so desire to, you will become his peer". ¹¹¹³

22- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي فِيمَا أَوْصَى بِهِ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ ع عِنْدَ وَفَاتِهِ أُوصِيكَ بِحُسْنِ الْجِوَارِ وَ إِكْرَامِ الضَّيْفِ وَ رَحْمَةِ الْمَجْهُودِ وَ أَصْحَابِ الْبَلَاءِ وَ صِلَةِ الرَّحِمِ وَ حُبِّ الْمَسَاكِينِ وَ مُجَالَسَتِهِمْ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi -

'Among what Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} bequeathed with at his^{-asws} expiry: 'I^{-asws} advise you with good neighbourliness, and honouring the guest, and being merciful to the rejected and the

¹¹¹¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 19

 $^{^{1112}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 20 $\,$

¹¹¹³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 21

one hit by the affliction, and connecting the kinship, and loving the poor and sitting with them $^{\prime\prime}.^{1114}$

From Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws}: 'Repeat with the grace upon the one who deprived you". 1115

And in part of it: 'Connect to the one who cuts you off and repeat with the grace upon them''. 1116

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad, from Ibn Mahboub, from Abu Muhammad Al Wabishy,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'When the Momin servant does good, Allah^{-azwj} Multiplies his deeds for him, seven hundred multiple for each good deed, and what is the Words of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic: *and Allah Multiplies for the one He so desires to; [2:261]*". ¹¹¹⁷

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – By this chain, from Ibn Mahboub, from Jameel, from Hadeed or Murazim who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Whichever Momin connects an act of kindness to his Momin brother, so he has connected that to Rasool-Allah^{-saww}'. 1118

(The book) 'Sawaab Al Amaal' – My father, from Sa'ad, from Al Barqy, from his father raising it, said,

'The people of acts of kindness in the world are people of acts of kindness in the Hereafter'.

قِيلَ يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ وَ كَيْفَ ذَلِكَ

It is said, 'O Rasool-Allah-saww! And how is that so?'

¹¹¹⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 22 a

¹¹¹⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 22 b

 $^{^{1116}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 22 c

 $^{^{1117}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 23

¹¹¹⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 24

He^{-saww} said: 'He^{-azwj} will Forgive for them due to the leniency from Him^{-azwj} upon them, and they will be handing their good deeds to the people, so they will be entering the Paradise due to it, so they will be the people of acts of kindness in the world and the Hereafter''. ¹¹¹⁹

26- ص، قصص الأنبياء عليهم السلام بِالْإِسْنَادِ إِلَى الصَّدُوقِ عَنِ ابْنِ الْوَلِيدِ عَنِ الصَّفَارِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي الخُطَّابِ عَنِ ابْنِ أَسْبَاطٍ عَنْ حَلَفِ بْنِ حَمَّادٍ عَنْ قُتَيْبَةَ الْأَعْشَى عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عِ قَالَ: أَوْحَى اللّهُ تَعَالَى إِلَى مُوسَى عَكَمَا تَدِينُ تُدَانُ وَ كَمَا تَعْمَلُ كَذَلِكَ بُخُرَى مَنْ يَصْنَعُ الْمَعْرُوفَ إِلَى الْمِئِ السَّوْءِ فَتَيْبَةَ الْأَعْشَى عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللّهِ عِ قَالَ: أَوْحَى اللّهُ تَعَالَى إِلَى مُوسَى عَكَمَا تَدِينُ تُدَانُ وَ كَمَا تَعْمَلُ كَذَلِكَ بُخُرَى مَنْ يَصْنَعُ الْمَعْرُوفَ إِلَى الْمِئِ السَّوْءِ عَنْ اللهُ سَيْرَا.

(The book) 'Qasas Al Anbiya^{-as'}, may the greetings be upon them^{-as} – by the chain to Al Sadouq, from Ibn Al Waleed, from Al Saffar, from Ibn Abu Al Khattab, from Ibn Asbat, from Khalaf Bin Hammad, from Quteyba Al A'ash,

'From Abu Abdullah-asws having said: 'Allah-azwj the Exalted Revealed to Musa-as: "As you-as judge, so you-as shall be judged, and just as you-as work like that you-as shall be Recompensed, one who does the act of kindness to an evil person, will be Recompensed evil". 1120

27- ضا، فقه الرضا عليه السلام أَرْوِي عَنِ الْعَالِمِ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الدُّنْيَا أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الدُّنْيَا أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْأَنْيَا وَ بَقِيَتْ حَسَنَاتُكُمْ فَهَبُوهَا لِمَنْ تَشَاءُونَ فَيَكُونُونَ كِمَا أَهْلَ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ ذُنُوبَكُمْ فَهَبُوهَا لِمَنْ تَشَاءُونَ فَيَكُونُونَ كِمَا أَهْلَ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ

(The book) 'Fiqh Al-Reza^{-asws}', may the greetings be upon him^{-asws} – It is reported from the scholar^{-asws} having said: 'The people of the acts of kindness in the world are people of the acts of kindness in the Hereafter, because Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic will be Saying to them: "I^{-azwj} have Forgiven your sins for you all as a Grace upon you, because you were people of the acts of kindness in the world, and your good deeds remain, so gift these to the one you so desire so!" Thus, due to it, they would be people of acts of kindness in the Hereafter'.

وَ قَالَ إِنَّ لِلَّهِ عِبَاداً يَفْزَعُ الْعِبَادُ إِلَيْهِمْ فِي حَوَائِجِهِمْ أُولَئِكَ الْآمِنُونَ كُلُ مَعْرُوفٍ صَدَقَةٌ

And he-asws said: 'From Allah-azwj there are such servants, the (generality of) the servants panic to them regarding their needs. They are the secured ones. Every act of kindness is charity'.

فَقُلْتُ يَا ابْنَ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ وَ إِنْ كَانَ غَنِيّاً

I said, 'O son-asws of Rasool-Allah-saww, and even if he were to be rich?'

فَقَالَ وَ إِنْ كَانَ غَنِيّاً.

He-asws said: 'And even if he were rich". 1121

¹¹¹⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 25

 $^{^{1120}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 26

¹¹²¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 a

وَ أَرْوِي الْمَعْرُوفُ كَاسْمِهِ وَ لَيْسَ شَيْءٌ أَفْضَلَ مِنْهُ إِلَّا ثَوَابُهُ وَ هُوَ هَدِيَّةٌ مِنَ اللَّهِ إِلَى عَبْدِهِ الْمُؤْمِنِ وَ لَيْسَ كُلُّ مَنْ يُعْرُوفَ إِلَى النَّاسِ يَصْنَعُهُ وَ لَا كُلُّ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يُؤْذَنُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا مَنَّ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَبْدِ الْمُؤْمِنِ جَمَعَ لَهُ الرَّغْبَةَ وَ الْهُدْرَةَ وَ الْإِذْنَ فَهُنَاكَ تَمَّتِ لَوَ لَا كُلُّ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يُؤْذَنُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا مَنَّ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَبْدِ الْمُؤْمِنِ جَمَعَ لَهُ الرَّغْبَةَ وَ الْهُدْرَةَ وَ الْإِذْنَ فَهُنَاكَ تَمَّتِ السَّعَادَةُ.
السَّعَادَةُ.

And it is reported, 'The act of kindness is like it's name, and there isn't anything superior to it except it's Reward, and it is a Gift from Allah-azwj to His-azwj Momin servant; and it isn't every one He-azwj Loves that he does the act of kindness to the people, does so, nor does every one desirous regarding it is able upon it, nor is every one able upon it, it is Permitted for him regarding it. When Allah-azwj Confers upon the Momin servant, He-azwj Gathers for him the desire, and the ability, and the Permission, so over there, the happiness is completed". 1122

وَ نَرْوِي عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ص مَنْ أَدْحَلَ عَلَى مُؤْمِنٍ فَرَحاً فَقَدْ أَدْحَلَ عَلَيَّ فَرَحاً وَ مَنْ أَدْحَلَ عَلَيَّ فَرَحاً فَقَدِ اتَّخَذَ عِنْدَ اللَّهِ عَهْداً وَ مَنِ اتَّخَذَ عِنْدَ اللَّهِ عَهْداً وَ مَنِ اتَّخَذَ عِنْدَ اللَّهِ عَهْداً جَاءَ مِنَ الْآمِنِينَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ.

And we are reporting from the Prophet-saww: 'One who enters happiness upon a Momin, so he has entered happiness unto me-asws, and the one who enters happiness upon me-asws so he has taken a pact with Allah-azwi, and the one who takes a pact with Allah-azwi will come from the secured ones on the Day on the Qiyamah''. 1123

وَ رُوِيَ اصْطَنِعِ الْمَعْرُوفَ إِلَى أَهْلِهِ وَ إِلَى غَيْرِ أَهْلِهِ فَإِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ مِنْ أَهْلِهِ فَكُنْ أَنْتَ مِنْ أَهْلِهِ.

And it is reported: 'Do the act of kindness to its rightful ones, and to other than its rightful ones, for if he does not happen to be from its rightful ones, then you will be from its rightful ones''. 1124

وَ رُوِيَ لَا يَتِمُّ الْمَعْرُوفُ إِلَّا بِثَلَاثِ خِصَالٍ تَعْجِيلِهِ وَ تَصْغِيرِهِ وَ سَتْرِهِ فَإِذَا عَجَّلْتَهُ هَنَّأْتَهُ وَ إِذَا صَغَرْتَهُ عَظَّمْتَهُ وَ إِذَا سَتَرَّتُهُ أَثَمْمَتُهُ.

And it is reported: 'The act of kindness is not complete except with three traits – hastening it, and belittling it, and concealing it. When you hasten it, you will make it pleasant, and when you belittle it, you will magnify it (with its recipient), and when you conceal it, you will complete it''. 1125

وَ رُوِيَ إِذَا سَأَلَكَ أَحُوكَ حَاجَةً فَبَادِرْ بِقَضَائِهَا قَبْلَ اسْتِغْنَائِهِ عَنْهَا.

And it is reported: 'When your brother asks you of a need, then rush to fulfil it before he becomes needless from it''. 1126

وَ نَرْوِي عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع أَنَّهُ قَالَ: مَنْ سَرَّ مُؤْمِناً فَقَدْ سَرَّنِي وَ مَنْ سَرَّنِي فَقَدْ سَرَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ص وَ مَنْ سَرَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَنْ سَرَّ اللهَ أَدْحَلُهُ جَنَّتُهُ.

 $^{^{1122}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 b

¹¹²³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 c

¹¹²⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 d

 $^{^{1125}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 e

¹¹²⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 f

And we are reporting from Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'One who cheers a Momin so he has cheered me^{-asws}, and one who cheers me^{-asws} so he has cheered Rasool-Allah^{-azwj}, and one who cheers Rasool-Allah^{-saww} so he has cheered Allah^{-azwj}, and one who cheers Allah^{-azwj}, He^{-azwj} will Enter him into the Paradise''.¹¹²⁷

28– شي، تفسير العياشي عَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي حَمْزَةَ عَنْ أَبِي جَعْفَرٍ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص يَأْتِي عَلَى النَّاسِ زَمَانٌ عَصُوضٌ يَعَصُّ كُلُّ المْرِئِ عَلَى مَا فِي يَدَيْهِ وَ يَنْسَوْنَ الْفَصْارُ بَيْنَكُمْ قَالَ اللَّهُ وَ لا تَنْسَوُا الْفَصْارُ بَيْنَكُمْ.

Tafseer Al Ayyashi – from Ibn Abu Hamza,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'A biting time shall come unto the people, every person will bite upon what is in his hands and forget the grace (favours) between them. Allah^{-azwj} Says: *and do not forget the favours between you; [2:237]*". ¹¹²⁸

29- شي، تفسير العياشي عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ عُثْمَانَ قَالَ: حَرَجَ عَلِيٌّ ع عَلَى أَصْحَابِهِ وَ هُمْ يَتَذَاكُرُونَ الْمُرُوءَةَ فَقَالَ أَيْنَ أَنْتُمْ أَ نَسِيتُمْ مِنْ كِتَابِ اللَّهِ وَ قَدْ ذَكَهُ ذَلكَ

Tafseer Al Ayyashi - From Amro Bin Usman who said,

'Ali^{-asws} came out to his^{-asws} companions and they were discussing the manliness. He^{-asws} said: 'Where are you? Are you forgetting from the Book of Allah^{-azwj} and that has been Mentioned?'

قَالُوا يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ فِي أَيِّ مَوْضِع

They said, 'O Amir Al-Momineen-asws! In which place?'

قَالَ فِي قَوْلِهِ إِنَّ اللَّهَ يَأْمُرُ بِالْعَدْلِ وَ الْإِحْسَانِ وَ إِيتَاءِ ذِي الْقُرْبِي وَ يَنْهِي عَنِ الْفَحْشَاءِ وَ الْمُنْكَرِ فَالْعَدْلُ الْإِنْصَافُ وَ الْإِحْسَانُ التَّفَضُّلُ.

He^{-asws} said: 'In His^{-azwj} Words: *Surely Allah Commands with the justice, and the kindness, and giving to the near of kin, and Forbids from the immoralities, and the evil, [16:90]*. The justice is the fairness, and the kindness is the gracing (favouring)". ¹¹²⁹

30- جا، المجالس للمفيد عُمَرُ بْنُ مُحَمَّدٍ الصَّيْرِيُّ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ الْحَسَنِ الصُّوفِيّ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ بْنِ مُطِيعٍ عَنْ حَالِدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ عَنْ أَبِي لَيْلَى عَنْ عَطِيئَةَ عَنْ كَعْبِ الْأَحْبَارِ قَالَ: مَكْتُوبٌ فِي التَّوْرَاةِ مَنْ صَنَعَ مَعْرُوفاً إِلَى أَحْمَقَ فَهِيَ حَطِيئَةٌ تُكْتَبُ عَلَيْهِ.

(The book) 'Al Majaalis' of Al Mufeed – Umar Bin Muhammad Al Sayrafi, from Ahmad Bin Al Hassan Al Sowfy, from Abdullah Bin Mutie, from Khalid Bin Abdullah, from Abu Layli, from Atiyya, from Ka'ab Al Ahbar who said,

'It is written in the Torah: 'One who does an act of kindness to an idiot, so it is a mistake (sin) Allah^{-azwj} will Write against him''.¹¹³⁰

¹¹²⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 27 g

¹¹²⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 28

 $^{^{1129}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 29

¹¹³⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 30

31- مكا، مكارم الأخلاق عَنِ الصَّادِقِ ع قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ الْمَعْرُوفَ كَاسْمِهِ وَ لَيْسَ شَيْءٌ أَفْضَلَ مِنَ الْمَعْرُوفِ إِلَّا ثَوَابُهُ وَ ذَلِكَ يُرَادُ مِنْهُ وَ لَيْسَ كُلُّ مَنْ يَرْغَبُ فِيهِ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا كُلُّ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يُؤْذَنُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ يُحِبُ أَنْ يَرْغَبُ فِيهِ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا كُلُّ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يُؤْذَنُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ الْمُدَّالِقِ وَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا كُلُ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يَعْدِلُ عَلَيْهِ يَعْدُرُ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا كُلُ مَنْ يَرْغَبُ وَ اللهُ مَنْ يَرْغَبُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ الْمُعْرُوفَ إِلَى النَّاسِ يَصْنَعُهُ وَ لَيْسَ كُلُ مَنْ يَرْغَبُ فِيهِ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ وَ لَا كُلُّ مَنْ يَقْدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يَعْدُلُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ اللهُ وَلِي اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَلَا كُلُ مَنْ يَقُدِرُ عَلَيْهِ يُؤُذِنُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ وَ لَلْ كُلُ مَنْ يَقُودُلُ مَنْ يَقُدُونُ لَهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ الْقُدْرَةُ وَ اللَّهُ مُنْ يَعْدُلُ عَلَيْهِ يُو لَوْ لَا كُلُ مَنْ يَقُدُرُ عَلَيْهِ يَعْدُولُ عَلَيْهِ وَلَوْلُ لَلْهُ فِيهِ فَإِذَا اجْتَمَعَتِ الرَّغْبَةُ وَ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ مُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ وَلَا لَاسْتَعَادَةُ لِلللَّهُ اللَّهُ لَا لَكُنْهُ لِي اللَّهُ اللَّهُ لَالِكَ لَهُ لَهُ لَا لَعُلْلُولُ وَلَا لَهُ اللَّهُ لَا لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لَا لِلللَّهُ لَا لَهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلْكُولُ لِلْكُولُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْهُ لَا لَاللَّهُ لِلللللَّهُ لَا لِلللَّهُ لِللللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللللَّهُ لِلْكُولِلْكُولُولُ لَلْلِكُ لِلْكُولُولُ لَلْلِكُولُ لِللللَّهُ لِلْلِلْكُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْلِلْكُولُ لَلْكُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَا لَمُعَلِّلُولُولُ لَلْلُهُ لَلْلُولُولُ لَا لَاللَّهُ لِلْلَهُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَلْكُلُولُ لَلْكُولُولُهُ لَلْكُولُولُ لَا لَمُعْلِقُولُولُهُ لَلْلَهُ لَلْلُولُولُولُولُولُولُولُ لَاللَّهُ لَلْلُولُولُول

(The book) 'Makarim Al Akhlaq' -

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws} having said: 'I^{-asws} view the act of kindness as being like its name, and there isn't anything superior to the act of kindness except its Reward, and that is intended from it; and it isn't so that every one who loves to do the act of kindness to the people does so, and not every one desirous regarding it is able upon it, nor is every one able upon it, there is Permission for him regarding it. So when the desire, and the ability, and the Permission are gathered, over there is the happiness for the seeker and the one sought to it". ¹¹³¹

وَ عَنْهُ عِ قَالَ: إِذَا أَرَدْتَ أَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَ شَقِيٌّ الرَّجُلُ أَمْ سَعِيدٌ فَانْظُرْ مَعْرُوفَهُ إِلَى مَنْ يَصْنَعُهُ فَإِنْ كَانَ يَصْنَعُهُ إِلَى مَنْ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ فَاعْلَمْ أَنَّهُ خَيْرٌ وَ إِنْ كَانَ يَصْنَعُهُ إِلَى عَيْرٍ أَهْلِهِ فَاعْلَمْ أَنَّهُ لَيْسَ لَهُ عِنْدَ اللَّهِ خَيْرٌ.

And from him^{-asws} having said: 'When you want to know whether the man is wretched or fortunate, then look at his acts of kindness to the he does it to. If he does it to the one who is its rightful, then know that he is good, and if he was doing it to other than its rightful one, then know there isn't any goodness for him in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj''}. 1132

32-كشف،كشف الغمة في دَلَاثِلِ الحِّمْيَرِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي هَاشِمِ الجُنْغَفَرِيِّ قَالَ سَمِعْتُ أَبَا مُحُمَّدٍ ع يَقُولُ إِنَّ فِي الجُنَّةِ لَبَاباً يُقَالُ لَهُ الْمَعْرُوفُ- لَا يَدْخُلُهُ إِلَّا أَهْارُ الْمَعْرُوفِ

(The book) 'Kashf Al Ghumma', in 'Dalail' of Al Himeyri, from Abu Hashim Al Ja'fari who said,

'I heard Abu Muhammad^{-asws} saying: 'In the Paradise there is a door called, 'The act of kindness'. No one will enter it except the people of the acts of kindness'.

فَحَمِدْتُ اللَّهَ فِي نَفْسِي وَ فَرِحْتُ بِمَا أَتَكَلَّفُهُ مِنْ حَوَائِحِ النَّاسِ فَنَظَرَ إِلَيَّ أَبُو مُحُمَّدٍ ع وَ قَالَ نَعَمْ فَدُمْ عَلَى مَا أَنْتَ عَلَيْهِ فَإِنَّ أَهْلَ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الدُّنْيَا هُمْ أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ جَعَلَكَ اللَّهُ مِنْهُمْ يَا أَبًا هَاشِم وَ رَجِمَكَ.

I praised Allah^{-azwj} within myself and was happy with what I had undertaken from needs of the people. Abu Muhammad^{-asws} looked at me and said: 'Yes, so be constant upon what you are upon, for the people of the acts of kindness in the world, they are people of the acts of kindness in the Hereafter. May Allah^{-azwj} Make you to be from them, O Abu Hashim, and have Mercy on you!"¹¹³³

33- ختص، الإختصاص مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ جَعْفَرِ بْنِ أَبِي شَاكِرٍ رَفَعَهُ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: جَزى اللهُ الْمَعْرُوفَ إِذَا لَمْ يَكُنْ يُبْدَأُ عَنْ مَسْأَلَةٍ فَأَمَّا إِذَا أَتَاكَ أَحُوكَ فِي حَاجَةٍ كَادَ يُرَى دَمُهُ فِي وَجْهِهِ مُخَاطِرًا- لَا يَدْرِي أَ تُعْطِيهِ أَمْ تَمْنُعُهُ

 $^{^{1131}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 31 a

 $^{^{1132}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 31 b

¹¹³³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 32

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' – Muhammad Bin Ja'far Bin Abu Shakir raising it,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Recompenses the act of kindness when it has not been initiated from a request (from the needy one). As for when your brother comes to you regarding a need, his blood almost being seen in his face from danger – he does not know whether you will feed him or refuse him.

By Allah^{-azwj}! Then, by Allah^{-azwj}! If you were to bring out to him from entirety of what you own, you will not have sufficed him". 1134

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisaas' – Muhammad Bin Ali, from his father, from Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from Muhammad Bin Ali Al Kufi, from Muhammad Bin Sinan, from Ali Bin Jameel Al Ghanawy, from Abu Hamza Al Sumali who said,

'There was a man from the sons of the Prophets^{-as}. For him was abundance of wealth, and he was spending upon the weak people, and the poor people, and the needy people.

It was not long before he died. His wife stood regarding his wealth like his standing. It was not long before the wealth depleted, and a son of his grew up. He did not pass by anyone except he (asked Allah^{-azwj} for) Mercy upon his father.

And he asked his mother to inform him. She said, 'Your father was a righteous man, and there was a lot of wealth for him. He used to spend the weak people, and the poor people, and the needy people. When he died, I stood regarding his wealth like his standing. It was not long before the wealth ran out'.

He said to her, 'O mother! My father was Recompense regarding what he spent, and you were sinful'.

قَالَتْ وَ لِمَ يَا بُنَيَّ

She said, 'And why, O my son?'

¹¹³⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 33

He said, 'My father had spent his wealth and you were spending wealth (which was) not yours'.

She said, 'You speak the truth, O my son, and I do see you restricting (money) upon me'.

He said, 'You are in freedom and vastness. Is there anything in your possession to seek from the Grace of Allah^{-azwj} by it?'

She said, 'There are one hundred Dirhams in my possession.

He said, 'When Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Wants to Bless in something, He^{-azwj} Blesses in it'.

She gave him one hundred Dirhams. He took these, then went out seeking from the Grace of Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic. He passed by a man having died on the surface of the road, being of handsome as could be in appearance. He said, 'I don't want to trade after this. I shall take him, and wash him, and enshroud him, and I shall Pray Salat upon him, and dig his grave'.

He did so. He spent eighty Dirham upon him, and there remained twenty Dirhams with him. He went out on his direction seeking by it from the Grace of Allah^{-azwj}. A person met him. He said, 'Where are you intending, O servant of Allah^{-azwj}?' He said, 'I want to earn'.

He said, 'And is there something with you to seek by it from the Grace of Allah^{-azwj}?' He said, 'Yes, there are twenty Dirhams with me'.

He said, 'And where will twenty Dirhams occur from (earn for) you?' He said, 'When Allah^{-azwj} Blessed and Exalted Wants to Bless in something, He^{-azwj} Blesses in it'?' He said, 'You speak the truth'.

Then he said, 'I shall guide you and you will participate me (in the profits)'. He said, 'Yes'.

He said, 'People of this house will host your for three (days), so be hosted by them. Every time the servant comes to you having a black cat with him, say to him, 'Will you sell this cat?' And be persistent upon him, for you will wear him down. He will say, 'I shall sell it to you for twenty Dirhams'. When he sells it to you, give him the twenty Dirhams and take it and slaughter it, and take its head and burn it.

Then take its brain then head to such and such city, for their king is blind. Inform him that you can treat him, and do not be awed by the killed ones and the crucified ones, for they had been tested upon his treatment. When he could not see anything, he had them killed. So do not let it terrify you.

And inform him that can treat him and stipulate upon him. Treat him and do not increase on the first day more than a Kohl (eye liner). He will say to you, 'Increase for me!' Do not do it. Then apply another Kohl (eye liner) the next morning. You will be seeing what you like. He will say to you, 'Increase for me!' Do not do it. When it were to be the third (day), then apply Kohl (eye liner), and you will see what you like. He will say to you, 'Increase for me!' Do not do it.

When that is done, he was cured. He said, 'You have ransomed my kingdom and have returned it to me, and I am marrying my daughter to you'.

He said there is a mother for me'. He said, 'Stay with me whatever comes to you. Whenever you want to go out, then go out'.

He said, 'I stayed in his kingdom for a year, managing it with excellent management and excellent conduct. When the year had passed upon it, he said to him, 'I want to leave'. He did not leave out anything except he provided it, from riding animal, and sheep, and utensil, and chattels.

Then he went out until he ended to the place in which he had seen the man. There, the man was seated upon his (same) situation. He said, 'What occurred?' The man said, 'Make me to be in release from what has passed'.

He (narrator) said, 'Then he gathered the things and divided these into two segments. Then he said, 'Choose one of these (piles)'.

Then he said, 'Have I fulfilled?' He said, 'No'. He said, 'And why not?' He said, 'The woman is from what you attained'. He said, 'You speak the truth, so take what is in my hand to be for you in place of the woman'. He said, 'No, and I will not take what isn't for me, nor will be more with it'.

He (narrator) said, 'So he placed a saw upon her head, then said, 'Shall I dissect?' He said, 'You have fulfilled, and all what is with you and all what you have come with, it is for you, and rather, Allah^{-azwj} Blessed, and Exalted has Sent me in order to Suffice you about the deceased who was upon the road. So this is reciprocation for you upon it".¹¹³⁵

(The book) 'Nahi Al Balagah' -

'And from a speech of his-asws: 'And there isn't any share for placing the act of kindness in other than its right, and with other than its rightful in what is given, except praise by the ignobles, and praise by the evil ones, and words by the ignoramuses, for as long as it is refused upon them, 'How generous is his hand!', and he is a miser about the Self of Allah-azwj.

-

¹¹³⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 34

فَمَنْ آتَاهُ اللَّهُ مَالًا فَلْيَصِلْ بِهِ الْقَرَابَةَ وَ لْيُحْسِنْ مِنْهُ الضِّيَافَةَ وَ لْيَفُكَّ بِهِ الْأَسِيرَ وَ الْعَانِيَ وَ لْيُعْطِ مِنْهُ الْفَقِيرَ وَ الْغَارِمَ وَ لْيُصْبِرْ نَفْسَهُ عَلَى الْحُقُوقِ وَ النَّوَائِبِ اثْبِعَاءَ النَّوَابِ فَإِنَّ فَوْزًا بِمَنْدِهِ الْخُرْصَالِ شَرَفُ مَكَارِمِ الدُّنْيَا وَ دَرْكُ فَضَائِلِ الْآخِرَةِ.

So the one whom Allah^{-azwj} Gives wealth, let him connect (help) the relatives with it, and let him of good hosting from it, and let him free the captive with it, and the one in suffering, and let him give from it to the poor and the indebted, and let him be patient himself upon the rights and the misfortunes seeking the Rewards, for the success with these characteristics is a noble mannerism of the world, and realising merits of the Hereafter". ¹¹³⁶

36– ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي جَمَاعَةٌ عَنْ أَبِي الْمُفَضَّلِ عَنْ أَحْمَدَ بْنِ عَبْدِ الرَّحِيمِ عَنْ إِسْمَاعِيلَ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ إِسْحَاقَ عَنْ أَخِيهِ مُوسَى بْن جَعْفَر عَنْ آبَائِهِ ع قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ص اسْتِتْمَامُ الْمَعْرُوفِ أَفْضَلُ مِن ابْتِدَائِهِ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi – a group, from Abu Al Mufazzal, from Ahmad Bin Abdul Raheem, from Ismail Bin Muhammad Bin Is'haq, from his father, from his grandfather Is'haq,

'From his brother Musa^{-asws} Bin Ja'far^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Completing the act of kindness is better than beginning it''.¹¹³⁷

37- ما، الأمالي للشيخ الطوسي الحُسَيْنُ بْنُ عُبَيْدِ اللّهِ الْغَضَائِرِيُّ عَنِ التَّلَّعُكُبْرِيِّ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ هَمَّامٍ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللّهِ اللّهِ عَلْمُ بْنِ عُبَيْدِ اللّهِ قَالَ لِلْمُفَضَّلِ بْنِ عُمَرَ يَا مُفَضَّلُ إِذَا أَرَدْتَ أَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَ شَقِيّاً الرَّجُلُ أَمْ سَعِيداً فَانْظُرْ بِرَّهُ وَ مَعْرُوفَهُ إِنَّ عَلَى مِنْ عَوْمِرَةً عَنْ أَيِّي عَبْدِ اللّهِ قَالَ لِلْمُفَضَّلِ بْنِ عُمَرَ يَا مُفَضَّلُ إِذَا أَرَدْتَ أَنْ تَعْلَمَ أَ شَقِيّاً الرَّجُلُ أَمْ سَعِيداً فَانْظُرْ بِرَّهُ وَ مَعْرُوفَهُ إِلَى مَنْ عَوْمَ أَنْهُ لَيْسَ لَهُ عَنْدَ اللّهِ حَيْرٌ.

(The book) 'Al Amaali' of the sheykh Al Tusi — Al-Husayn Bin Ubeydullah Al Gazairy, from Al Talakburi, from Muhammad Bin Hammam, from Abdullah Al Himeyri, from Ahmad Bin Muhammad Bin Isa, from Ali Bin Al Hakam, from Sayf Bin Ameyra,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said to Al-Mufazzal Bin Umar: 'O Mufazzal! Whenever you want to know whether a man is wretched or fortunate, then look at his righteousness, and his acts of kindness to the one he does it to. If he does it to the one who is its rightful, then know that he is going to goodness, and if he were to do it to other than its rightful, then know there isn't any goodness for him in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj''}. 1138

38- الدُّرَّةُ الْبَاهِرَةُ، عَنِ الحُسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ ع قَالَ: الْمَعْرُوفُ مَا لَمْ يَتَقَدَّمْهُ مَطْلٌ وَ لَمْ يَتَعَقَّبُهُ مَنٌ وَ الْبُحْلُ أَنْ يَرَى الرَّجُلُ مَا أَنْفَقَهُ تَلَفَأَ وَ مَا أَمْسَكُهُ شَرَفًا.

(The book) 'Al Durr Al Bahira' -

'From Al-Hassan^{-asws} Bin Ali^{-asws} having said: 'The act of kindness is what is not preceded by procrastination, and is not followed up by reproach, and the stinginess is that the man sees what he is spending as being extravagant, and what is withholding as being a nobility". ¹¹³⁹

وَ قَالَ ع مَنْ عَدَّدَ نِعَمَهُ مَحَقَ كَرَمَهُ.

¹¹³⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 35

 $^{^{1137}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 36

 $^{^{1138}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 37

¹¹³⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 38 a

And he-asws said: 'One who counts his favours deletes his benevolence". 1140

وَ قَالَ عِ الْإِنْجَازُ دَوَامُ الْكَرَمِ.

And he-asws said: 'The fulfilment is permanence of the benevolence''. 1141

39- نهج، نهج البلاغة قَالَ أَمِيرُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ عَ لَا يُرَهِدَنَّكَ فِي الْمَعْرُوفِ مَنْ لَا يَشْكُرُهُ لَكَ فَقَدْ يَشْكُرُكَ عَلَيْهِ مَنْ لَا يَسْتَكُنِّ بِشَيْءٍ مِنْهُ وَ قَدْ تُدْرِكُ مِنْ شُكْرِ الشَّاكِرِ أَكْثَرَ بِمَّا أَضَاءَ الْكَافِرُ- وَ اللَّهُ يُحِبُ الْمُحْسِنِينَ.

(The book) 'Nahj Al Balagah' -

'Amir Al-Momineen^{-asws} said: 'Do not let him abstain you regarding the act of kindness, one who does not thank you for it, for he will be thankful to you, one who did not enjoy with anything from it, and you will realise from the thanks of the grateful one more than is wasted by the Kafir, and Allah^{-azwj} Loves the good doers''.¹¹⁴²

وَ قَالَ عِ مَنْ ظَنَّ بِكَ خَيْراً فَصَدِّقْ ظَنَّهُ.

And he-asws said: 'One who thinks good with you, ratify his thinking". 1143

وَ قَالَ ع لِجَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللّهِ الْأَنْصَارِي يَا جَابِرُ قِوَامُ الدُّنْيَا بِأَرْبَعَةٍ عَالِمٍ مُسْتَعْمِلٍ عِلْمَهُ وَ جَاهِلٍ لَا يَسْتَنْكِفُ أَنْ يَتَعَلَّمَ وَ جَوَادٍ لَا يَبْحَلُ بِمَعْرُوفِهِ وَ فَقِيرٍ لَا يَبِيعُ آخِرَتُهُ بِدُنْيَاهُ

And he^{-asws} said to Jabir Bin Abdullah Al Ansari: 'O Jabir! Standing of the world is with four – a scholar utilising his knowledge, and an ignoramus who does not disdain learning, and a generous one not being stingy with his acts of kindness, and a poor one not selling his Hereafter for his world.

When the scholar wastes his knowledge the ignoramus disdains to learn, and when the rich ones is stingy with his act of kindness the poor one will sell His-azwj Hereafter for his world.

يَا جَابِرُ مَنْ كَثُرَتْ نِعَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ كَثُرَتْ حَوَائِجُ النَّاسِ إِلَيْهِ فَمَنْ قَامَ لِلَّهِ فِيهَا بِمَا يَجِبُ عَرَضَهَا لِلدَّوَامِ وَ الْبَقَاءِ وَ مَنْ لَمْ يَقُمْ لِلَّهِ فِيهَا بِمَا يَجِبُ عَرَضَهَا لِلرَّوَالِ وَ الْفَنَاءِ.

O Jabir! One who is of a lot of bounties of Allah^{-azwj} upon him, needs of the people will be more to him. The one who stands for Allah^{-azwj} in it with what is obligated, would expose it for the permanency and the lasting, and one who does not stand for Allah^{-azwj} in it with what is obligated, would expose it to the decline and the annihilation".¹¹⁴⁴

 $^{^{1140}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 38 b

¹¹⁴¹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 38 c

¹¹⁴² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 a

 $^{^{1143}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 b

¹¹⁴⁴ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 c

And he^{-asws} said: 'For Allah^{-azwj} the Exalted, there are such servant, He^{-azwj} has Specialised them with the bounties to benefit of the (generality) of the servant. So He^{-azwj} Settles these in their hands for as long as they spend these. When they refuse is, He^{-azwj} Snatches these away from them, then Transfers it to others''.¹¹⁴⁵

And he^{-asws} said to Ghalib Bin Sa'sa Abu Farazdaq in a conversation between them: 'What happened to your many camels?'

فَقَالَ ذَعْذَعَتْهَا الْحُقُوقُ يَا أَمِيرَ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ

He said, 'I (lost them in) discharged the rights, O Amir Al-Momineen-asws!'

فَقَالَ ذَاكَ أَحْمَدُ سُنُلهَا.

He^{-asws} said: 'That is the most praise-worthy of ways (of losing them)". 1146

وَ قَالَ عَ يَأْتِي عَلَى النَّاسِ زَمَانٌ عَضُوضٌ يَعَضُّ الْمُوسِرُ عَلَى مَا فِي يَدَيْهِ وَ لَمْ يُؤْمَرْ بِذَلِكَ قَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى وَ لا تَنْسَؤا الْفَصْلَ بَيْنَكُمْ يَنْهَدُ فِيهِ الْأَشْرَارُ وَ يُسْتَذَلُّ الْأَخْيَارُ وَ يُبَايَعُ الْمُضْطَرُّونَ وَ قَدْ نَهَى رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص عَنْ بَيْعِ الْمُضْطَرِّينَ.

And he-asws said: 'There shall come a biting time upon the people. The affluent will bite upon what is in their hands, not having been Commanded with that. Allah-azwj the Exalted Says: **and do not forget the favours between you; [2:237]**. The evils ones will rise up during it and the good ones will be humiliated, and the desperate ones will be bought from (at cheap prices), and Rasool-Allah-saww had prohibited from buying (cheaply from) the desperate ones". 1147

40-كِتَابُ الْإِمَامَةِ وَ التَّبْصِرَةِ، عَنْ مُحُمَّدِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللَّهِ عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ جَعْفَرِ الرَّزَّازِ عَنْ خَالِهِ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ الْخَرَّازِ عَنِ النَّوْفَلِيِّ عَنِ السَّكُونِيَّ عَنْ جَعْفَر بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عَ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص زينَةُ الْعِلْمِ الْإِحْسَانُ.

(The book) 'Al Imamah Wa Al Tabsira' – from Muhammad Bin Abdullah, from Muhammad Bin Ja'far Al Razzaz, from his maternal uncle Ali Bin Muhammad, from Umar Bin Usman Al Khazzaz, from Al Nowfaly, from Al Sakuni,

'From Ja'far^{-asws} Bin Muhammad^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Adornment of the knowledge is doing the good deeds''.¹¹⁴⁸

41- ختص، الإختصاص قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الدُّنْيَا أَهْلُ الْمَعْرُوفِ فِي الْآخِرَةِ يُقَالُ لَهُمْ إِنَّ ذُنُوبَكُمْ قَدْ غُفِرَتْ لَكُمْ فَهَبُوا حَسَنَاتِكُمْ لِمَنْ شِئْتُمْ

¹¹⁴⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 d

¹¹⁴⁶ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 e

 $^{^{1147}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 39 f

¹¹⁴⁸ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 40

(The book) 'Al Ikhtisas' -

'Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'The people of acts of kindness in the world are people of the acts of kindness in the Hereafter. It will be said to them: 'Your sins have been Forgiven for you all, so gift your good deeds to the one you so desire to!'

And doing the act of kindness is obligatory upon every one, with his heart, and his tongue, and his hand. So the one who is not able upon doing the act of kindness with his hands, then with his heart and his tongue. The one who is not able upon it with his tongue, then let him intend it with his heart". 1149

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Ibn Abu Al Bilad, from Ibrahim Bin Abbad who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'The goodly dealing cannot happen except with the one with pedigree (noble) or religion''.¹¹⁵⁰

43- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر ابْنُ أَبِي الْبِلَادِ عَمَّنْ أَخْبَرَهُ عَنْ بَعْضِ الْفُقَهَاءِ قَالَ: يُوقَفُ فُقَرَاءُ الْمُؤْمِنِينَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ فَيَقُولُ لَهُمُ الرَّبُّ تَبَارَكَ وَ تَعَالَى أَمَا إِنِّى لَمَّ أُفْقِرُكُمْ مِنْ هَوَانِكُمْ عَلَىَّ وَ لَكِنْ أَفْقَرُتُكُمْ لِأَبْلُوَكُمْ انْطَلِقُوا فَلَا يَبْقَى أَحَدٌ صَنَعَ إِلَيْكُمْ مَعْرُوفًا فِي الدُّنْيَا إِلَّا أَحَدُّمُ بِيَدِهِ فَأَدْحَلْتُمُوهُ الْجُنَّةَ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' - Ibn Abu Al Bilad, from the one who informed it,

'From one of the jurists (Imams^{-asws}) having said: 'The poor Momineen will be paused on the Day of Qiyamah. The Lord^{-azwj}, Blessed and Exalted will Say to them: 'I^{-azwj} had not Impoverished you due to your being lowly to Me^{-azwj}, but I^{-azwj} had Impoverished you in order to Try you. Go! There should not remain anyone who had done an act of kindness to you in the world except you should grab hold of his hand and enter him into the Paradise!"'¹¹⁵¹

44- ين، كتاب حسين بن سعيد و النوادر ابْنُ أَبِي عُمَيْرٍ عَنْ بَعْضِ أَصْحَابِهِ عَنْ أَبِي عَبْدِ اللهِ ع قَالَ: اصْنَعِ الْمَعْرُوفَ إِلَى مَنْ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ وَ مَنْ لَيْسَ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ فَانْ لَا تَكُنْ هُوَ أَهْلُهُ فَأَنْتَ أَهْلُهُ.

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ibn Abu Umeyr, from one of his companions,

'From Abu Abdullah^{-asws} having said: 'Do the act of kindness to the one who is rightful of it, and the one who isn't rightful of it. If he does not happen to be its rightful, then you are its rightful''.¹¹⁵²

¹¹⁴⁹ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 41

¹¹⁵⁰ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 42

 $^{^{1151}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 43

¹¹⁵² Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 44

The book of Husayn Bin Saeed, and 'Al Nawadir' – Ibn Sinan, from Al Raqqy, from Al Sumali,

'From Abu Ja'far^{-asws} having said: 'Allah^{-azwj} Mighty and Majestic has made rightful ones for the acts of kindness from His^{-azwj} creatures. He^{-azwj} Made the acts of kindness beloved to them, and its actions beloved to them, and Obligated upon the seekers of acts of kindness the seeking to them, and He^{-azwj} Eased His^{-azwj} Decrees upon them just as He^{-azwj} Eased the rain to the dry earth in order to revive it and revive its people.

وَ إِنَّ اللَّهَ جَعَلَ لِلْمَعْرُوفِ أَعْدَاءً مِنْ حُلْقِهِ بَغَّضَ إِلَيْهِمُ الْمَعْرُوفَ وَ بَغَّضَ إِلَيْهِمْ فَعَالَهُ وَ حَظَرَ عَلَى طُلَّابِ الْمَعْرُوفِ الطَّلَبَ إِلَيْهِمْ وَ حَظَرَ عَلَيْهِمْ قَضَاءَهُ كَمَا يَخْظُرُ الْغَيْثَ عَلَى الْأَرْضِ الْمُجْدِبَةِ لِيَهْلِكَ بِهِ أَهْلَهَا وَ مَا يَعْفُو اللَّهُ عَنْهُ أَكْثَرُ.

And Allah^{-azwj} has Made enemies to the acts of kindness from His^{-azwj} Creatures. He^{-azwj} Made the acts of kindness to be hateful to them, and its doers hateful to them, and He^{-azwj} has Cautioned upon the seekers of the acts of kindness to seek to them and Suppressed His^{-azwj} Decrees upon them just as He^{-azwj} Suppresses the rain upon the dry land in order to destroy its people by it, and what Allah^{-azwj} Pardons from, is (much) more".¹¹⁵³

46- ين بَعْضُ أَصْحَابِنَا عَنِ الْقَاسِمِ بْنِ مُحَمَّدٍ عَنْ إِسْحَاقَ بْنِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ قَالَ قَالَ أَبُو عَبْدِ اللّهِ ع إِنَّ اللّهَ حَلَقَ حُلْقاً مِنْ عِبَادِهِ فَانْتَجَبَهُمْ لِفُقَرَاءِ شِيعَتِنَا لِيُثِيبَهُمْ بذَلِكَ.

One of our companions, from Al Qasim Bin Muhammad, from Is'haq Bin Ibrahim who said,

'Abu Abdullah^{-asws} said: 'Allah^{-azwj} has Created creatures from His^{-azwj} servants. He^{-azwj} Selected them for the poor ones of our^{-asws} Shias in order to Reward them due to that''.¹¹⁵⁴

47- أَعْلَامُ اللِّين، قَالَ الْمُفَضَّلُ بْنُ عُمَرَ لِلصَّادِقِ عَ أُحِبُّ أَنْ أَعْرِفَ عَلَامَةَ قَبُولِي عِنْدَ اللَّهِ

(The book) 'A'lam Al Deen' -

Al-Mufazzal Bin Umar said to Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, 'I would love to know a sign of my Acceptance in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj}'.

فَقَالَ لَهُ عَلَامَةُ قَبُولِ الْعَبْدِ عِنْدَ اللَّهِ أَنْ يُصِيبَ بِمَعْرُوفِهِ مَوَاضِعَهُ فَإِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ كَذَلِكَ فَلَيْسَ كَذَلِكَ.

He^{-asws} said to him: 'A sin of Acceptance of the servant in the Presence of Allah^{-azwj} is that he would achieve with his acts of kindness, its (rightful) place. If it does not happen like that, so he isn't like that''.¹¹⁵⁵

¹¹⁵³ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 45

 $^{^{1154}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 46

¹¹⁵⁵ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 47 a

وَ قَالَ الصَّادِقُ ع مَا تَوسَّلَ إِلَى َّأَحَدٌ بِوَسِيلَةٍ أَحَبَّ إِلَىَّ مِنْ إِذْكَارِي بِنِعْمَةٍ سَلَفَتْ مِنّى إِلَيْهِ أُعِيدُهَا إِلَيْهِ.

And Al-Sadiq^{-asws} said: 'No one has requested to me with any means more beloved to me^{-asws} than his reminding me^{-asws} of a favour previous from me^{-asws} to him, I^{-asws} can repeat it to him'. ¹¹⁵⁶

48-كِتَابُ الْإِمَامَةِ وَ التَّبْصِرَةِ، عَنِ الْحُسَنِ بْنِ حُمْزَةَ الْعَلَوِيِّ عَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِ أَبِي الْقَاسِمِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ هَارُونَ بْنِ مُسْلِمٍ عَنْ مَسْعَدَةَ بْنِ صَدَقَةَ عَنِ الطَّادِقِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ آبَائِهِ عِ قَالَ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ص صِلَةُ الْفَاحِرِ لَا تَكَادُ تَصِلُ إِلَّا إِلَى فَاحِرٍ مِثْلِهِ.

(The book) 'Kitab Al Imama Wa Al Tabsira' – from Al Hassan Bin Hamza Al Alawy, from Ali Bin Muhammad Bin Abu Al Qasim, from his father, from Haroun Bin Muslim, from Mas'ada Bin Sadaga,

'From Al-Sadiq^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} father^{-asws}, from his^{-asws} forefathers^{-asws} having said: 'Rasool-Allah^{-saww} said: 'Connecting the immoral almost does not connect except to an immoral like him''.¹¹⁵⁷

Page 462 of 462

 $^{^{1156}}$ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 47 b

¹¹⁵⁷ Bihar Al-Anwaar V 71 - The book of relationships - Ch 30 H 48